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			For Lippy, who always knew the way home.
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			Note on Language

			The British Army has certain written conventions, in particular an enthusiastic use of capital letters, which can be difficult for a lay reader to understand. A number of these and other conventions — such distinctions as when a military formation should be referred to using a cardinal or an ordinal number — have been disregarded here for ease of understanding. Ranks are spelled without hyphens throughout, on the same grounds.

			Transliteration of Arabic place names — a notoriously inexact science — is made in accordance with Reuters style, the exception being individuals who consciously identify themselves differently in English, or where alternative spellings have entered common British usage. For example, the airbase that became a major British installation outside Basra is written Shaibah throughout, rather than Shuaiba, as the wider transliteration policy would suggest. Afghan names are given using the spelling conventions from Mike Martin’s book An Intimate War. (Hurst, 2014)
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			They’re changing guard at Buckingham Palace 
Christopher Robin went down with Alice. 
Alice is marrying one of the guard.
‘A soldier’s life is terrible hard.’

			A.A. Milne, ‘Buckingham Palace’

			All those long colonial campaigns, much as they demanded from the troops in the way of exertions and of supporting privations, great as were the difficulties of War Office administration which they involved, had also this great disadvantage that they were prejudicial to the understanding of war on a large scale.

			Colonel W.H.H. Waters, The German Official Account of the War in South Africa (1904)

		




			Introduction

			Over the Top

			Kantorek kept on lecturing at us in the PT lessons until the entire class marched under his leadership down to the local recruiting office and enlisted. I can still see him, his eyes shining at us through his spectacles and his voice trembling with emotion as he asked, ‘You’ll all go, won’t you lads?’

			Erich Maria Remarque, All Quiet on the Western Front (1929)

			Never go back to a place where you have been happy. Until you do it remains alive for you. If you go back it will be destroyed.

			Agatha Christie, An Autobiography (1977)

			Over southern Afghanistan, 14 April 2014

			They tell you to put your body armour on when you’re half an hour out. The heavy Osprey sets, apparatus that weighs upwards of 12kg in its full incarnation, come down from the overhead compartments. The lights dim; blinds fall over the portholes. It is every hitting-the-beach scene you’ve ever watched, mated with the pre-landing banality of commercial jet travel.

			You sit in the red emergency glow; it is fearful. You look left and right. Despite the armour no one is scared, or no more so than before. A British Hercules was shot down out of Baghdad in January 2005, but these troop flights are generally safe. Indeed, the aircraft we are on now, the RAF’s new Voyager, is much larger than a C-130 and is basically a militarised airliner. So here, sitting in the dark in your flak jacket in an atmosphere of relative unconcern, you realise local emotional conditions may be a more accurate barometer in this place than what they tell you. In particular if your flak jacket is blue rather than green-grey and has a patch embroidered with ‘Press’ Velcroed to the front.

			It is night-time on the tarmac. I have never been here before. Never flown into QOX, as the RAF baggage tags term Camp Bastion, the Anglo-American-Afghan conurbation in the Helmand desert that is the hub for the British of this war that has already lasted thirteen years. I see the curious architecture of contemporary fortification. Razor wire runs like last year’s tinsel.

			It is my first time here. It is not my first time in this company. Part of me has always wanted to be a soldier, but I have struggled to reconcile the image of the army in my head with the reality of the army in the world. There is a gap between the two that is ever-widening, a gap shaped in part by what has happened since 2001, and by what has or has not been done about it.

			To explain, we have to rewind further than Afghanistan in 2014.

			*

			I grew up in Cambridge. My academic parents, placing their principles to one side after my brother struggled1 at the local state secondary, sent me aged eleven to a private school just under three miles away. It was that school, more or less, that got me into the army.

			Within the school, one man did much of the militarisation: AJ. I met AJ in my first year in 1996–7, in his history class. AJ did not drink alcohol, nor tea, coffee or, as he put it, ‘carbonated beverages’. AJ was also obsessed by war: a phenomenon of which he had no personal experience. He had refined opinions on how the military competence of men like the first Duke of Marlborough, victor at Blenheim in 1704, prevailed despite the fact that eighteenth-century British officers literally purchased their commissions.2 He gave exceptionally well-informed battlefield tours to Flanders. Most dramatically though, as major-domo of the school’s cadet force, AJ wandered in his reservist combats and major’s crowns all over Stanford Training Area in nearby Norfolk and other military estates on summer camp, and autumn and spring field days. He revelled in the army slang of ‘compo’ for rations, and would often use the Edwardian phrase ‘no names no pack drill’.3

			As Erich Maria Remarque once wrote, of his teachers in Germany, before the First World War:

			They were supposed to be the ones who would help us eighteen-year-olds to make the transition, who would guide us into adult life, into a world of work and responsibilities, of civilised behaviour and progress — into the future. Quite often we ridiculed them and played tricks on them, but basically, we believed in them.

			When I was eleven, AJ taught me the history of the Crusades. I was terrified of him, but the lessons were fully thrilling. On one occasion he acted out a vexed interaction between Saladin and some red-cross-tabard-wearing knight. He used swear words, as though such language, which he usually renounced, could be appropriate in the service of HISTORY. We, form 1 Aleph, were a-tingle with warry excitement.

			Fear of AJ mellowed with age. Specifically, he mellowed as we aged, though his martial passions went undimmed. 

			AJ was lord of the cadet force. On Monday afternoons, he was there, drilling those who had not absconded to the softer world of community service. AJ in military mode had a sidekick: the permanent staff instructor attached to the CCF, an ex-regular signaller. He smoked, daringly, and claimed to have once cut his own arm from a plaster cast in order to attend Operation Granby, the British contribution to the first Gulf War, in 1991. This man folded out the kit we received with its odd military nomenclature (shirt, man’s; jersey, heavy, wool). We smelled for the first time that cigarettes-and-gun-oil quartermaster’s smell. It was that black and sunny first year of the millennium. The army was becoming half of my world. 

			In the sixth form, AJ was a different species. He was an extraordinary teacher, a source of inspiration rather than fear. His Early Modern History A-level was invariably oversubscribed. The class became a sixteenth-century stage show, with actions and voices and ebullient enthusiasm. AJ was also, by the sixth form, my personal tutor. 

			One day I came into the sixth-form centre to see a boy in the year above glued to the TV. We watched the twin towers fall, teatime in Cambridge, high morning in New York. I cycled home and found my parents sitting before our own even smaller television. They said, correctly: you will remember this day. 

			So I decided to ‘go for a soldier’, as they say, but I copped out and took the easy option, a Short Service (Limited) Commission, or SSLC. It was also known as a Gap Year Commission. You join for a year, see if you like it. Given the limited training you have time to receive, you were considered ‘undeployable’. 

			I could make my point, rebel against my parents, and I would not have to kill, which already at that moment seemed a bigger obstacle than my fear of being killed. 

			From that school in the fens, a steady stream went to the army: James Nierinck, in direct parallel to me, to the Engineers for a Gap Year Commission; another boy — still serving, so nameless here — to the Artillery; Ben Simmons, to the Royal Tank Regiment; George Harper and his brother Doug, both to the Engineers; Daniel von Barloewen, on reservist service to Afghanistan; Emile Simpson, to the Gurkhas; little Rich Whittle, to the Paras, by way of the Queen’s Medal at Sandhurst for performance primus inter pares in military, practical and academic subjects.

			All of us, to varying degrees, ‘went for a soldier’. All of us did it — to a greater or lesser extent — because AJ inspired us.

			AJ inspired us all to join the army. 

			AJ has never been to war. 

			*

			The September after my A-levels I set out for Germany in a little hatchback with a young man named Richard Palmer and one other aspirant officer. After a long drive, we arrived at Fallingbostel station, out at the end of the world, for our own Royal Scots Dragoon Guards (SCOTS DG) potential officers’ visit. The SCOTS DG was an ostensibly Scottish cavalry regiment, and a frightfully smart one. I wanted to be smart. 

			A subaltern took us to the tank park for a desultory spin in a turret still painted yellow from the Gulf, with rocket-propelled grenade smudges on the paintwork. We went to the officers’ mess, and drank there. 

			They took me.

			I drove back to England, starry-eyed for the cavalry. On the way back, we listened to Where is the Love by the Black Eyed Peas. ‘I wonder if this will change anything,’ Richard said. He meant, wholesale, whether the song might change the world.

			*

			I commenced, and then completed, my baby course at Sandhurst. I went back to Fallingbostel, to the regiment. There was Northern Ireland training at Lydd by Dungeness before Christmas, where I almost shot someone by accident with a pistol. In true gap-year-officer fashion, they took great pains to get me drunk. A glorious winter followed, spent in the Alps at the army’s adventurous training centres. After the thaw, I headed back north. There were tank ranges on Bergen-Hohne with the vehicles still yellow; the wagons, as soldiers call armoured vehicles, patrolled the lanes between trees. There was a naïve idea that the Iraq war was now over.

			I got appendicitis. In May, once recovered, I left the army and absconded to Africa for four months, where all I wanted was to be master of my own time again. That autumn of 2004, I went to university. That was it. My brief personal association with the military was done.

			There were other things I wanted to do with my life. But it did mean that I now spoke the language of the army, and had a bit of a feeling for its wider culture. And, as I realised later, my weird adolescent rebellion meant I saw the British Army first-hand at the start of what proved to be a period of momentous transformation.

			I didn’t fight. I didn’t go to Iraq. AJ himself would step down from running the CCF around 2005, resigning his reservist commission after over twenty years of service, and without his enthusiasm, the military institution at school withered. There is no army section any more now.

			*

			Part of me wondered what it would have been like to have stayed in the army. Many I knew did stay. None of the Cambridge schoolboy warriors inspired by AJ died, but many others did, and for most of them there would have been another AJ. The outcome of a decade of unbroken and often disastrous warfare is not what I thought it would be. It is a different story altogether. 

			Two years after I left, in April 2006, Richard Palmer, the PO who drove me to Germany in 2003, was blown up and killed by an improvised explosive device in Ad Dayr outside Basra. 

			Seven years after that, in the summer of 2013, I found myself at the launch of British Generals in Blair’s Wars, a book to which senior officers who served in Iraq and Afghanistan had contributed essays describing their experiences. Brass was everywhere. It was rapidly clear that the generals had all known each other for decades. Therefore, while the event was ostensibly a clear-eyed stare into the mirror, it was really a pally get-together. I was not the only one to find this strange, given wider historical realities. At the end Robert Fox, defence correspondent of the Evening Standard and a man with vast experience of the British military, rose. I do not recall his exact words, but the sense was clear: what on earth are you doing? You’ve lost two wars in a row, and here you are slapping each other’s backs.

			It was becoming increasingly clear to me by this stage just how badly awry Britain’s military adventures since 9/11, and since I last saw the army, had gone. The grandiose notion of capability that I remembered from my gap year, the idea of the ‘Best Little Army in the World’, was looking increasingly threadbare. But there appeared to be absolute denial.

			But perhaps it could not be any other way. I began to conduct interviews, to read and to research, and to understand the fundamental difficulties armies have had throughout history at adapting to change. I learned how the rigid structures they create, and probably require, to allow them to function amid the terror and gun-smoke of war make it incredibly difficult for them to adapt. I began to see how change often only happens when there is disaster, and when that disaster is really undeniable.

			By the summer of 2013, I more or less understood already that a gaggle of British generals could really only complete a serious act of self-reckoning if Russian Armata tanks were scraping the Strand outside, the Royal Family had fled to Canada, and men in soft felt boots were knifing the Holbeins in the National Gallery and raping hipsters in Dalston. Then the army might try and work out how it had failed and make serious changes. But would it happen now? With the peerages and the revolving-door jobs to the defence contractors, and the wars far away and almost done, and only 600 or so dead?

			It was not important enough, Iraq and Afghanistan. That was the central problem. Already, in 2013, I knew this was true. I knew why it was true. I was also starting to think I could maybe do something about it. My next stop was Afghanistan.

			*

			Eventually, there would be five years of research and writing. I moved in a military academic world — I had a visiting fellowship at the Changing Character of War programme at Oxford for part of this project. I found much of that realm populated by men who were trying to work out — consciously or otherwise — why they had not been soldiers. It would be churlish to say that was not a factor for me. I started this book when I was twenty-seven, when the fact I had only seen guns fired once in anger in my life weighed heavily on me. I finished it at thirty-three, when that concern seemed juvenile. The timescale is important for other reasons, too. As I began this book, my military peers were junior captains, the angry young officers who felt often betrayed by what had happened in Iraq and Afghanistan. As I finished, those that were still serving were majors, passing out from staff college, about to become company or squadron commanders or to take up serious staff jobs. They were military grown-ups, concerned about their careers, and sometimes balding and podgier than they should be. No doubt they seemed very old to the new second lieutenants of 2018.

			Likewise, everyone else is growing up. As I worked on the book, I would often see postings on LinkedIn from Richard Williams, who commanded the SAS (then busy in Iraq) from 2005 to 2007. Once, as Williams congratulated the employees of the mining firm where he then worked on the achievement of higher health and safety standards, I wondered how he felt about that, whether it was quite the same as what he used to do, or if anything could ever be quite the same again. Likewise, when a Lebanese friend of mine called the militia leader, and onetime scourge of the British in Basra, Ahmed Fartosi, she heard a baby crying unmistakably in the background. Everyone grows up, and I grew up through the writing of this book.

			*

			This is the army’s story, not mine. But then again, it is really everyone’s story. The army, the ultimate unreconstructed British institution, is a microcosm for all that we do — and do not do, and indeed maybe should not do — as a country.

			It is a complicated story. To tell it, we have initially to return to the beginning. We go back to the regiment whose uniform I fleetingly wore, in the year before I arrived. 




		
			Part 1

			Preparation for Battle

			The Royal Scots Dragoon Guards and 7th Armoured Brigade

			CANADA, GERMANY, POLAND, KUWAIT, IRAQ
MAY 2002–MAY 2003

			They had all had miserable institutional boyhoods, tough adolescent years in the military academy, grim years on duty at the frontier. They were waiting for war.

			Joseph Roth, The Radetzky March (1932)

			Most of the overseas countries to which soldiers go are warmer than ours.

			I. and J. Havenhand, The Ladybird Book of the Soldier (1966)

		




			Chapter 1

			Canada

			British Army Training Unit Suffield (BATUS), Alberta, Canada, 17 May 20021

			Stewart Orr puts his dressing-up clothes on for his last day on the prairie.2 It is the climax of the first exercise of the season, and the weather is sunny and mild. The Canadian ground is dry, hard and very dusty. Conditions are changeable, though. Twelve days earlier, on Orr’s forty-third birthday, they woke to snow.

			Orr, who is 180 cm tall and weighs 105kg, is a considerable size to fit in a cramped armoured vehicle. From his Bergen rucksack3 he takes a plain black shirt with Hauptsturmführer collar patches. The officer-rank shirt is incorrect; Orr as a staff sergeant4 remains within the non-commissioned universe. But drama sometimes requires licence.

			He dons a black Panzer ski cap, which bears an eagle and the Totenkopf death’s head skull of the SS. He attaches to his neck a Knight’s Cross, the highest German award for gallantry during the Second World War.

			The kit comes from a mail-order outlet and a militaria shop in Soltau, near the regiment’s base at Fallingbostel, back in Germany. It is all reproduction, otherwise Orr would never wear it out. An original Knight’s Cross, for example, can go for thousands of the still-new euros. Other genuine Nazi kit is sufficient costly that, when the wife of another NCO in the regiment wanted to buy him a gift and proposed a laptop, it was said he chose instead an original Waffen SS smock, in the reversible poplin cloth familiar from a thousand morally uncomplicated war films.5 But that would be too special for regular wear. Stewart Orr can by contrast take his black shirt to a mythical military place.

			He can take it into the field.

			Over the top of the SS shirt Orr wears his issued camouflage tank suit, and over that his own — British — smock.

			*

			This story is about the perils of peace. It is the story of Stewart Orr’s regiment, the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards, and 7th Armoured Brigade, the higher formation that in 2002 commanded that regiment. Equally, it is a story about the entirety of the British Army. It concerns what happens to armies when they exist for a long time without fighting; how they can ossify and become obsessed with matters that are trivial and incidental to their real purpose. While this story relates to a smallish group of mostly men, other, similar stories were taking place across the British Army at the same time.

			Soldiering is unique. Unlike almost any other career, it is possible to spend a working lifetime as a soldier without ever doing the job for real. No doctor trains forever on cadavers and dummies without seeing the real sick. Actors that only understudy go back to waiting tables. That difference makes it very hard to keep the military blade sharp in peacetime. And when that blade has to come out of the scabbard in short order, as it did for the British Army when it went to war in Iraq in 2003, there may be nicks and rust marks on the steel that went unnoticed before.

			*

			Stewart Orr was born in 1959 and grew up in Greenock on the south bank of the Clyde, outside Glasgow. He enlisted as a sixteen-year-old, into the Junior Leaders’ Regiment of the Royal Armoured Corps.6 Orr wanted to be a tank commander, like his father — who pointed him towards two regiments, the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards and 4th Royal Tank Regiment. He went for the former, an entity only in existence since an amalgamation in 1971.7

			Orr joined the regiment in January 1977 in Catterick. After a year and a half in Berlin, he re-joined the main body of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards in Athlone Barracks in Sennelager, back in West Germany. In 1980 the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards went to Northern Ireland, and Orr was based with the rest of B Squadron in the old Grand Central Hotel in Belfast city centre. The commanding officer, Lieutenant Colonel Notley, said it would probably be the regiment’s last tour of the province, and he proved correct.

			In 1981 Orr, still just a trooper, went on posting to the Armament Wing of the Military Vehicles and Engineering Establishment at Kirkcudbright in southern Scotland. He returned to the SCOTS DG (as the regiment is known in the army’s official abbreviation), still based in Sennelager at that point, in March of 1983. He completed a training season, including a BATUS exercise in Canada, before transferring to the regiment’s Pipes and Drums; he had once played in a Boys’ Brigade bugle band as a drummer. That move spared him much of the quotidian bullshit of the tank park, though on exercise the musicians did still serve as tank crew. The Pipes and Drums were coming out of an extraordinary decade; in 1972 their version of ‘Amazing Grace’ had reached number one in the charts. The commanding officer supposedly did not know what Top of the Pops was until his men appeared on it, but subsequently used the band to his advantage and to cement the identity of the newly-amalgamated regiment.

			But Orr was not fully liberated; the war was still cold, and still on. In the 1980s, he took part in the last of the great Cold War Germany field training exercises, or FTXs. Alongside their training at BATUS, late in the year in Europe (to minimise damage to the crops), formations impossibly large by the standards of the twenty-first-century army — divisions, and sometimes an entire corps — played war across the German countryside, well outside the bounds of any formal training areas. They practised how they would fight should the Russians indeed stream westwards.

			Those who took part in these exercises, who had no later involvement in the nineties let alone the 2000s, wax lyrical about the ferocious ‘realism’ of these manoeuvres. It is true that they practised operations — such as mass river crossings, conducted in radio silence with only the knock of a wrench on the side of the turret to tell the driver to advance — that have fallen out of the later army’s lexicon, and at a scale it simply could not match. Yet it is also true that, not least due to the astonishing unreliability of the vehicles, and the fact that the exercises had over the decades become an institutionalised process, for those at the coalface the FTXs often translated into days on end sitting in a wet German wood in a broken tank. The mechanics from the Royal Electrical and Mechanical Engineers (REME) would come and fix the tank. Then, following a brief and thrilling instant of actual movement, it would break down again.

			Orr was there too for the Active Edge callouts — the operational readiness exercises — when word came suddenly from higher headquarters, and almost always at 2 a.m. (so that the vehicles would be off the civilian roads by rush hour). Some of the crews would at that point still be shit-faced on tax-free, Germany-posting booze.

			Soldiers died on these exercises, crushed usually, in the hundred odd and ugly ways that can occur when tanks and young people meet. But still, neither the FTXs nor Active Edge were real. The central feature of conflict, the willingness to kill and to risk being killed yourself, cannot be truly simulated, at least by a country that deems itself civilised. For those who passed their military careers in the British Army in the decades pre-2001, the world was not quiescent. Between 1969 and 1997, the year the Provisional IRA declared an indefinite ceasefire, 763 servicemen were killed in Northern Ireland, the majority of them from the army.8 Britain also took forty-five casualties in the first Gulf War in 1991, twenty-four to hostile action, and seventy-two in the Balkans, thirteen to hostile fire.9 But nevertheless, the intensity was much lower than that which would follow after 2001. And nearly half the Ireland casualties took place in the first ten years of the Troubles.

			After two years at Bhurtpore Barracks at Tidworth in Wiltshire in the mid-1980s, the SCOTS DG returned to Germany — further east now, to Fallingbostel (or ‘effing-B’, as the old lags, who had been there pre-amalgamation with the Scots Greys, had it) in the woods between Hanover and Hamburg. The regiment was in Fallingbostel when, even further to the east, the Berlin Wall fell. ‘Options for Change’, a 1990 defence review, folded half the army’s cavalry regiments into the other half in search of a ‘peace dividend’. The Royal Scots Dragoon Guards avoided amalgamation.

			The FTXs, now without a geopolitical reason to justify the environmental mayhem they unleashed, came to an end. Soltau, the training area on the Lüneburg Heath so scarred from tank movement that it was a dust-bowl in summer and quagmire in winter, lasted a little longer. Wolfgang Meier, a legendary figure with a fast-food van selling fish and chips and bratwurst, roamed this apocalyptic landscape. No matter how tactical and camouflaged the troops were, Wolfgang would always find them, announcing his arrival by playing Elvis music.10 Soltau closed permanently in 1994.

			In 1991, Orr went on Operation Granby. The anodyne British term contrasted sharply with the bellicose names the Americans chose for their operations in the Persian Gulf: Desert Shield and Desert Storm. Back as far as the Second World War, the British Army defined itself in binary opposition to perceived American proclivities. They are brash; we are reserved. They are casual; we are smart. They have mass; we have skill. Indeed, for the pre-2001 British Army as a whole, ‘we are not the Americans; ergo we are’. During the first Gulf War Orr personally destroyed several Iraqi vehicles.

			After the first Gulf War came the Balkans. The regiment left a portion of their tanks, Challenger 1s, in Bosnia when they left that theatre in 1997, and the remainder of their complement of vehicles disappeared during the tour. Back in Germany, the regiment had training simulators, but without the tanks themselves it was as though the soul of the barracks had died. Orr was there on the frigid November night in 1998 when the eighteen-month wait ended and the first of the Challenger 2s at last arrived, fresh from Vickers. There were five regular ‘gun tanks’ and one command tank — destined to be Callsign 11B, the colonel’s personal ride — in that first package.11 They had to be painted with their markings for the following morning so they could go on show. Down on the tank park Orr, now an old man by the standards of this world,12 was the one who painted them.

			*

			With Soltau closed, the army arranged to train at Drawsko Pomorskie in north-west Poland. Orr went to Poland with the first deployment of Challenger 2s around 1999. The train clanked eastwards through the former Inner German Border he had spent the first 60 per cent of his career protecting — now disregarded. That first year in Poland, there were still two of what appeared to be V-2 rockets, German Second World War vengeance weapons painted red and white, at the bottom end of a location the British called the Tricorn. By Orr’s next visit they had vanished. Post-Falklands, the 1960s notion of the army sitting in Germany boozily waiting for the Russians had been replaced in the public imagination with a new idea of elite professionalism, all Mount Tumbledown cum (later on) Bravo Two Zero. The national service boys who could remember cutting grass with nail scissors and whitewashing stones were growing long in the tooth. The Conventional Armed Forces in Europe Treaty of 1992 bore down on troop numbers and armoured vehicle tallies. The regiment had passed the 1980s without an operational tour after Ireland at the start of the decade, but the 1990s saw Granby in 1991 and a Bosnia tour in 1996–7, reflecting a trend across the Army.

			Yet the Rhine Army was still there, under the new name ‘British Forces Germany’. By the mid-1990s half the army was, in fact, still sitting in Germany boozily waiting for the Russians. Still, things were changing. Part of this creeping professionalisation was driven by technology. Since their time at Tidworth in the late 1980s, the SCOTS DG vehicles had new thermal observation and gunnery sights, or TOGS. The big spotlights on the turrets vanished. There was suddenly, at least in the world as viewed through tank sights, no more night or day. There was no longer a good, operational rationale for parking up the wagons at nightfall on exercise, lighting a fire and drinking, drinking, drinking.

			As late as the end of the 1990s, when the regiment had entrained for Poland on exercise, the boys had boarded with Bergens rectangular and sloshy with booze. By the time the train chugged out eastwards, the Royal Electrical and Mechanical Engineers (REME) were already naked.13 Yet on exercise, the smokers14 — the squadron occasions when the huge recovery vehicles would angle their dozer blades down and clear the training area scrub, when there would be barbecues and all would ‘drink till you die’ — became less common. The booze was drying up, although the change was relative: by the millennium the British Army in Germany still drank vastly, spectacularly more than much of British civilian society.

			*

			In May 2002, twenty-seven years after he joined the army, Stewart Orr is back at BATUS. The final day has come, and Orr is very, very good at what he does. Over his long career he has done BATUS so many times he cannot remember the exact tally: probably ten exercises. The acronym comes capitalised, as they always do. For the exercising troops, BATUS really just means the prairie, a tranche of shortgrass in southern Alberta roughly the size of Dorset. The military use of the land runs back to the Second World War, when the Canadian Federal Government purchased territory in the Suffield Block from the Canadian Pacific Railway and the Hudson’s Bay Company to test chemical weapons for the British military. The British left in 1946, but returned twenty-five years later, after Colonel Gaddafi closed the installations at El Adem and Tobruk where the British had practised tank chess since it was real at El Alamein.15

			BATUS is Canada: loyal and dull and, crucially, empty, host to Second World War aircrew training schools and planned receptacle for the monarchy in exile; Canada, with its developed world infrastructure, direct inbound transatlantic flights, an Anglophone population and blessed, blessed space. In 1971 the British Army acquired a ten-year lease, later much extended, on the Suffield block, and BATUS began. In 2002, a Chieftain tank sits rakishly on a plinth outside the new range control building. British children attend the local Canadian primary school in Ralston Village.16

			Staff at BATUS are divided into permanent, mainly on two-year accompanied postings with their families, and temporary, who deploy for shorter periods, usually no more than six months.17 Staff are either ‘Prairie’ or ‘Base’; the former run the training on the area, while the latter staff the REME vehicle workshops, the quartermasters and other administrative functions. Some of the permanent staff enjoy their postings, BATUS being the central site for the worship of combined arms manoeuvre warfare — the institution’s central creed in 2002. For many, however, BATUS gives the Falkland Islands a run for its money for the title of worst posting in the entire British Army.18

			Orr’s Challenger 2 main battle tank is 22B, the radio callsign painted on the side. Though the wagons are less than five years old, and individual vehicles do only a two-year tour at BATUS before going to be reconditioned, they are out on the prairie from May until September, for weeks at a time. The tank’s paint is a little worn, with red oxide primer starting to show in places inside. Outside, the green undercoat peeks through the dark green and sand top-coat, worn by the boots of innumerable rotating crews. The ubiquitous prairie dust films the tank’s innards, including the electronic screens, although the hands of the crew keep the controls reasonably clean. By 17 May Orr and his crew have been on exercise for around twenty days. Their tank smells of them, unwashed, along with an electronic smell that originates from the radios and the fire control system as they heat up. Depending which way the wind blows, there are exhaust fumes in the mix, although the air conditioning keeps the turret reasonably fresh.

			There are no weapons fumes. The commander’s exterior independent sight still rotates on top of the turret like the neck of an inquisitive bird. Out through the scope the world appears silent and much magnified. If required, it switches to the imaginative hues of thermal imagery. But the actual shooting is handled by DFWES, the Direct Fire Weapons Effect Simulator that the army purchased from Saab and brought online in the mid-1990s. It is laserquest now, albeit with tanks.

			Earlier that morning, Orr lost Callsign 10, his troop leader, to enemy fire. Orr ‘kills’ both of the enemy tanks responsible, before Major Douglas Allen, his squadron leader, calls him over to his command vehicle some 700m distant. Orr places his tank in a small depression, around 30m from Allen’s wagon, dismounts, and walks over. Allen points out that Orr is the only one left of his troop — information Orr already knows. While they are talking, Allen notices a large dust cloud on the far horizon. This is probably the reserve from the OPFOR– the exercise’s opposing force, the ersatz enemy — coming to attack in the flank.

			Orr knows his regimental history, and referencing Wellington at Waterloo in 1815, he quips, ‘Now was the time for the heavy cavalry.’ They both know it would be suicidal — in the gentle, non-lethal form of DFWES battle — to attack their attackers in such small numbers, but they wish to spoil the onslaught, to buy time for the right flank of their own battlegroup to form some kind of defence. After conferring with Allen, Orr returns to his tank. Now he points out the dust cloud, and tells his crew they will attack the OPFOR from where they are. Ideally, they will cut right through to the left flank, taking a few of the ‘enemy’ before they themselves are ‘killed’.

			Sitting in his tank at BATUS in May 2002, Orr is still dressed as a Nazi. But the clothes are not the only German import here. Like other men in the regiment, when Orr and his crew sling their sleeping bags over the back decks of the tank, warmed by the vast Perkins diesel underneath, they say they are going to schlaf. They say schimpf for ‘moan’ and call a traffic jam a stau. These words have seeped into the regiment from its long, long stay in Germany, through the same linguistic osmosis that once pushed dhobi and buckshee and other terms of subcontinental origin into the British military lexicon. But Nazi clothes are a little different to German words.

			The tank gun is the link. Its calibre, the width of the barrel, is a hefty 120mm. That girth runs back through the lineage of post-World War Two British Army tanks, from Challenger 2 to 1 to Chieftain. All these big-gunned 120mm tanks are themselves a response to an earlier folk memory, or indeed nightmare, of 1944, and before that the earlier tank mediocrity of the mid-war years. A whole succession of vehicles, including the iconic Sherman, were outgunned in the Normandy bocage and the desert by rangy German tanks and the 88mm Flak. The Germans destroyed British tanks easily while British projectiles — if they reached at all — tended to bounce harmlessly off German armour like peas from a shooter.

			From that experience came a determination never again to be outgunned. Hence the large 120mm L30 gun now in Stewart Orr’s wagon, its barrel engraved with grooves to cause the projectile to spin, increasing stability in flight. The best way to out-German the Germans is to do as they do, or did: this trope, by 2002, is everywhere in the Army. The set-up here in Canada — and the leftover British Army in Germany itself — is German in origin and design. The infantry, mounted in their Warrior armoured fighting vehicles, are latter-day Panzergrenadiers.

			Mission command, the sacred code of British military doctrine, stipulates that, in theory at least, when the regiment’s commanding officer Lieutenant Colonel David Allfrey instructs Major Allen, he will say what ‘endstate’ he wishes achieved, but not explicitly how to achieve it. He will leave the mechanics to the better-informed junior commander at the scene. Originally, this was Auftragstaktik, a system of speeding up command decisions that originated with the Prussian army around 1806, after defeat by the French.19 This Canadian prairie practice for a twentieth-century European armoured Götterdämmerung, which has never taken place since the enemies were actually German, is by origin a German sport. That truth holds, despite all the furious post-war historiography on the true wartime effectiveness of the Wehrmacht, 1939–45.

			*

			The SCOTS DG set-up at BATUS is irregular. Before the regiment went to Canada, Allfrey, the commanding officer, repurposed D Squadron as a new outfit focusing on Intelligence, Surveillance and Target Acquisition — ISTAR. They obtained three extra Spartans20 and, from the Royal Dragoon Guards,21 a similarly titled but distinct regiment, four additional Challenger 2 main battle tanks. There was talk of more exotic properties — a signals electronic warfare unit and unmanned aerial vehicles — though everyone knew these were assets too important to be hived off at the squadron level. Duly, they never appeared. Three of the Challenger 2s comprised first troop, with Stewart Orr as troop sergeant.

			When the regiment arrived at BATUS, the training staff did not take to the idea of an ISTAR squadron as they did not have the extra vehicles required to outfit it — the training regiments use BATUS’ own vehicle fleet, rather than bringing their own. The SCOTS DG had to compromise instead. The regimental second-in-command gave up his command tank, Callsign 22B. Along with two tanks from the BATUS reserve pool, that provided the three wagons necessary for Orr’s first troop. However, just prior to deployment onto the training area, they had to surrender one of these three tanks to B Squadron, who had a higher priority on the vehicles. Therefore, before matters even started, Orr’s troop was one tank down.22 So it is that, with one of his troop mates missing from the get-go and the other ‘destroyed’ in the morning, on the last day of the exercise Orr makes what is effectively a solo attack.

			Orr tells Lance Corporal Andy McMinn, the gunner, that the targets will be on their right, roughly between 12 and 3 o’clock, and to take as many as he can. He tells Trooper Andy Clements, his driver, to pick his ground and floor it on the way to a small knoll he spotted earlier. The dust cloud is approaching. At the foot of the cloud, tiny specks resolve into Salamanders and Sturgeons, old British vehicles repurposed with drainpipe and paint to resemble Soviet kit. It is the reserve tank and infantry companies of the OPFOR, played by the 9th/12th Royal Lancers.23

			Orr’s tank takes off and drives right into the flank of the OPFOR. He keeps his head out of the turret to avoid any collision, and lets McMinn have free rein with the gun. Following them is their safety umpire, Captain Mack of the Queen’s Royal Lancers, in a Land Rover. On the first pass they go right through, taking out two tanks and two Sturgeons. The attack causes chaos among the OPFOR, as it is totally unexpected. 22B, Orr’s tank, arrives at the first knoll. The game is afoot.

			*

			Orr’s BATUS proficiency matters because how one oneself and one’s regiment does in tank laserquest really, really matters in 2002. There is no actual war ongoing. The early excitement of post-9/11 Afghanistan has wound down into a berets-and-Land-Rovers patrolling gig in Kabul; the apocalyptic predictions of the reality of operating in that country will not materialise for some years. BATUS performance is therefore a key factor when the Army Personnel Centre in Glasgow has to assess and decide career progression. It influences their ‘star charts’, the ruthless displays that show where officers rank in relation to their peers, and therefore when they can expect to promote.

			It is imperative for a regimental commanding officer to do well at BATUS, both selfishly and for his regiment. If the regiment does badly, the whole outfit risks being parked sideways for a number of years, deprived of interesting and career-enhancing deployment opportunities, and torpedoing a slew of careers alongside that of the colonel.

			It is that vaunted, miscast word ‘professional’ again. Being a professional army means that careers really do matter, in a way they did not for many in the Second World War. And, in a trait common to armies in general, the penalties for fucking up are so much more than the rewards for risking something innovative — ergo, few innovate. Yet while the game is designed to prepare men for war, it is an imperfect simulation. You can win the game in ways that would not really win the war.

			And real war is coming now. There are developments ongoing in the military-political stratosphere. Partly they pivot on Kosovo, and Bosnia before that, but the roots run back to Northern Ireland, now in hopeful ceasefire. They run back, too, to the ghosts of British late imperial policing in Malaya and Palestine. These swirling notions came to a head in Tony Blair’s April 1999 speech to the Chicago Economic Club, in the thick of the war in Kosovo. Blair proposed a ‘doctrine of the international community’, criteria for deciding when to go to war to protect a country’s own inhabitants. Arguably, Blair’s hubris in Chicago matched anything the army itself would later show in Iraq or Afghanistan.

			The following year, the notion received profound stiffening in a West African jungle. Brigadier David Richards, commanding British forces in Sierra Leone, overextended his London orders to evacuate civilians,24 and decided to stop a limb-chopping internecine African war. His gamble paid off. The British forged an ad-hoc pro-government militia to fight the Revolutionary United Front (RUF), involving an outfit called the West Side Boys, traditional hunters known as the Kamajors, and the rump of the Sierra Leonean Army. On 17 May British paratroopers fought a short, sharp action at Lungi Lol with rebels from the RUF. Rebel leader Foday Sankoh was captured. Later that year, in September, by which time David Richards had left the country, the SAS shot up the camp of the West Side Boys, who by now had changed their stripes and taken a patrol of the Royal Irish Regiment captive.

			That raid was messier than it was portrayed at the time. A liaison officer attached to the Para company supporting the SAS overran the assaulting troops and, in his enthusiasm to kill or capture retreating West Side Boys, ran into their fire. He was hit in the body armour and bruised, but otherwise not hurt. One SAS trooper, Brad Tinnion, was killed. Afterwards, according to one former Parachute Regiment officer, the African bodies were dumped in the river. Yet the raid was clearly a success; none of the hostages were injured, their equipment was recovered and the West Side Boys’ ringleader was captured alive and tried. For the press, the story was clean and morally simple. Sierra Leone burnished both the Hereford UK Special Forces halo and the idea that going far away and trying to do good with a rifle actually works. It also forged a twin idea that the British are really, really good at this stuff.

			The Best Little Army in the World had found a new skillset.

			Then came 9/11. Back on that pivotal September Tuesday on the other side of the brutal Canadian winter, there was another major exercise going on at BATUS.25 General Mike Jackson, the bag-eyed British commander who once faced down the American Supreme Allied Commander Europe,26 and at that point commander-in-chief, land command (a post responsible for generating and preparing forces for operations),27 was visiting the training area.28 US airspace was closed down and Jackson could not get back to London. There was a planned dinner at one of the houses used for visiting generals and other dignitaries.29 Major General John McColl, then the commander of 3rd (UK) Division, offered to host Jackson at dinner to talk about the exercise. Major Chris Brannigan, a SCOTS DG officer on McColl’s staff, remembers a TV on in the corner of the room, and that the whole tone of the planned event had changed. As those present — who alongside Jackson and McColl included Jim Askew, the deputy chief of staff from 3rd Division and Royal Marine Robert Magowan30 — discussed the day’s extraordinary events, Jackson asked them what they thought. How many people did they think had been killed? What might happen next? For Brannigan, it was almost like an informal ‘estimate’ — the army’s formal planning process — but conducted in real time. Officers ventured their views based on what little they knew, but everyone contributed. When their carefully-couched, more-junior-to-very-senior-officer musings were over, Jackson turned to his men. ‘Tonight, gentlemen,’ he said, ‘is the equivalent for our generation of the Duchess of Richmond’s Ball before the Battle of Waterloo.’

			In 1815, Wellington’s officers danced at a junket in Brussels the night before the Battle of Quatre Bras, itself two days before the main scrap that bested Napoleon. Mike Jackson’s phraseology on 9/11 was powerful. Within ninety days McColl, Magowan and Askew had all been into Kabul. Within a hundred, the rest of the 3rd Division headquarters crew followed. Inside two years, the army would be in Iraq.

			But Jackson’s analogy was also profoundly wrong. Waterloo was a conventional battle, between national armies. It was the sort of fight that, 156 years later, BATUS was set up to train for. The wars that followed 9/11 would be a very different sort of conflict.

			*

			On the prairie, after his initial attack, Stewart Orr is involved in a running fight. As his tank, its base weight upwards of 60 metric tonnes, moves over the uneven prairie, a stabilisation system keeps the barrel of the main armament level relative to the ground. Inside the turret, the breach of the L30 gun thrashes around like a wild, limb-trapping steel fish. There is, however, a sliding guard to keep the operator’s elbows out of its maw.

			Orr is always in reverse, continually chased by multiple enemy vehicles trying to hit him with their DFWES lasers. They try to outflank him from both right and left, but he keeps moving and engaging. They think that when he moves he will go back one ‘bound’ — a flexible military unit whose length varies, depending on terrain — and they move to try and ‘kill’ him accordingly. Instead Orr goes twice as far, moving where possible into a ‘hull-down’ position in a hollow with just the turret of his tank exposed. Then he ‘kills’ the OPFOR when they come in front of him. He keeps this tactic up for about two hours, all in his reproduction SS uniform.

			When they abolished conscription — the last British national servicemen left the army in May 1963 — and needed a model for a professional force, many rich-world armies looked to the German World War Two example.31 Stewart Orr similarly conceives his Nazi enthusiasm as wholly apolitical. Those German luminaries he has read about fought predominately in Russia, in the Eastern Front furnace. They are all heroes to Orr, but there is one World War Two German who stands above the others. It is this man who is in Orr’s mind as he sits in his turret and blasts the OPFOR with his lasers.

			Michael Wittmann, by the time of the Allied invasion in 1944, was already celebrated as a German ‘Panzer ace’, credited with 137 Russian tank kills on the Eastern Front.32 On 13 June 1944, Wittmann’s detachment of five Tiger tanks from 101st SS Heavy Panzer Battalion lay hidden in a wood outside the town of Villers-Bocage in Normandy. Wittmann was thirty, almost a third younger than Orr is now in 2002. His rank was Hauptsturmführer — captain — the same as that shown on Orr’s black shirt.

			D-Day was barely a week gone. The British 22nd Armoured Brigade, led by Brigadier William ‘Looney’33 Hinde, took the town. Wittmann saw British tanks from the 4th County of London Yeomanry (the Sharpshooters) halt on a high-banked stretch of road. Wittmann’s gunner, peering through the sights, saw British crews dismount, and apparently remarked that they were behaving as though they had already won the war. Wittmann emerged from the wood and destroyed one Cromwell tank after another. He entered the town, rammed aside a Bren gun carrier, and descended the main street. He attacked the Sharpshooters’ regimental headquarters, then B Squadron. Those British tanks able to fire back saw their 75mm guns prove impotent, the same old horror of weapons undermatch that had played out throughout the war. Wittmann’s exact tally that day is disputed, but one account claims that within fifteen minutes his unit destroyed thirteen or fourteen tanks, two anti-tank guns and thirteen to fifteen transport vehicles. Wittmann survived the day, though he died in another engagement two months later.

			If he is dressed up as anyone in particular, Stewart Orr is dressed as Michael Wittmann. He does not beat the German’s overall score, but his tally is nonetheless considerable. Overall, using the DFWES simulation kit, on his last day on the prairie Orr dispatches between thirteen and seventeen vehicles over three or four hours. There is no explosive report. The lasers shoot out through the prairie air, and catch the receptors on the OPFOR vehicles. In the first Gulf War in 1991, Orr destroyed real Iraqi tanks. But his simulated victories this day at BATUS are numerous, even if he does not quite match Wittmann’s tally.

			After it is over, Captain Mack tells them they are calling ENDEX — the end of the exercise — for the safety vehicles. Between thirty and forty-five minutes after the end of the engagement, Orr’s tank receives its own ENDEX message.

			Play war is over. Laserquest has closed. The scores are on the doors.

			*

			Mike Jackson was not the only British Army officer to make a prediction on 11 September 2001. On the same day, on the other side of an ocean in Kosovo, Major Chris Parker, chief of staff of 7th Armoured Brigade, walked into the brigade’s headquarters in Pristina — a portacabin next to a barracks destroyed by American bombs.34 Parker’s role as principal planning and staff officer to the brigade commander was deemed one of the best jobs in the army out of staff college, the mid-career training establishment that officers first attend around the age of thirty.35 That prestige reflected where the Germany-based armoured brigades then sat in the institution’s overall hierarchy. From his vantage point in the portacabin in Kosovo, Parker could not see, as other British soldiers did, the Serbs at the border, previously the targets of American bombs, whooping and sounding car horns with delight at the 9/11 tidings.36 Still, Parker did as he had learnt to do at the new tri-service staff college at Shrivenham. He factored.

			He factored the American presidential cycle that would prohibit war in the vote year of 2004. He factored Bush Jr’s unfinished business inherited from his father. He factored the need to fight before the oppressive summer heat in the Gulf, and the impossibility of getting the requisite armies in place by 2002. He factored closer to home too, taking in the British Army’s training cycle, the great mechanism supposed to take the three Germany-based deployable brigades, the premier heavy components of the whole army, through a sequential ‘Training Year’, ‘High-Readiness Year’ and ‘Other Tasks Year’.

			On 9/11 itself, 4th Armoured Brigade seemed closest to Middle Eastern war. They were deployed that Tuesday in Oman on Exercise Saif Sareea II, practising desert armoured warfare.37 Parker knew that, lingering Omani tans notwithstanding, 4th Brigade would not be still in high-readiness when the likely time came. If anyone was to go with tanks in 2003, 7th Brigade would go.

			When his factoring was done, Parker walked to a whiteboard in Pristina and drew a palm tree on it. Underneath it in marker pen he wrote, ‘Baghdad March 2003’. Eight months later at BATUS, though, Parker’s prediction is still uncertain. It will be another two months before Tony Blair sends his ‘Note on Iraq’ to the White House, beginning with the loaded phase ‘I will be with you, whatever’.38 But for those who have a nose for these things, it is clear that there is something on the wind.

			By May 2002, Chris Parker is out in Canada as his brigade rolls through its exercise programme. Some perceive the young chief of staff as abrasive, over-confident in his abilities, and not one to suffer fools gladly. He is, though, highly able, coming from outside both Germany and the armoured corps. He was a Royal Hampshire before they became, through amalgamation, the Princess of Wales’s Royal Regiment (PWRR).39 Before the army, Parker spent two years in the RAF, completing forty flying hours, including ten solo, and flying training jets, before failing to qualify as a pilot.

			Now, the BATUS tank-orientated training game seems to him trite and ossified, all about commanders’ career preservation. He also thinks there is too much exciting galloping across the prairie and insufficient realistic simulation of boring necessities like proper ammunition resupply. Pieces of paper stand in for pallets, with none of the inconvenience of actually shifting heavy objects. And there is no proper air element. Almost 2,000 kilometres to the south in Nevada, in another tranche of under-populated North America, the Royal Air Force conducts its own cross-continental manoeuvre. In Exercise Red Flag, Tornados make gossamer dogfights with American F-16s, low above the canyons and mesas. Parker wonders why they cannot combine BATUS and Red Flag, and have real fast air on call above the tanks in Canada. The proposal is rejected. The official line is that the jets cannot fly safely over tanks when the vehicles fire live. Parker knows, though, that Red Flag occupies a similar career-critical position for RAF pilots as BATUS does for army commanders. No one wants to upset that apple-cart. Furthermore, no mere major would ever be allowed to make a decision of such gravitas as merging huge exercises.

			All this game-playing and fakery matters, though, now that there may be real war on the horizon. If it will hinge on anything, this war will hinge on apparent weapons of mass destruction, primed from Baghdad. Parker pushes for more training in nuclear, chemical and biological drills, making troops don the hated protective ‘noddy suits’. He pushes for more casualty evacuation.40 He is scratchy, restless, annoyed. On the other side of the hill, Colonel Simon Caraffi, a Royal Tank Regiment officer and the commander of BATUS in 2002, regards Parker as the latest in a line of difficult brigade chiefs of staff, chomping at the bit over something they do not fully understand.41

			*

			After the exercise, Stewart Orr’s crew receive instructions to rendezvous with their other callsigns at Jadex Junction, prior to moving into camp. At Jadex they park and jump down from the tank to stretch their legs. Lieutenant Matt Wilkinson and his crew greet them and congratulate them. So do the boys from the REME — they were listening to the engagement on the radio.

			Now the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards’ commanding officer, David Allfrey, drives up in his Land Rover.42 He comes straight up to Orr, shakes his hand and says, ‘Bloody well done and thank you.’43 Orr has to walk away; he stands alone, a distance from the tanks. He sheds a tear; this was his last exercise in the army, and he knows he is finished for good with his beloved fighting machines. ‘Jump in my rover,’ Allfrey says. ‘They want you at EXCON.’ EXCON is Exercise Control, aka Mount Olympus, the place where the gods live.

			Olympus largely comprises low buildings. There is a theatre with a screen for viewing the progress of exercises. There are many antennae towers. Everything on the vast prairie is controlled from here and, in all his numerous visits to BATUS, Orr has never set foot in it. And now he is wearing the rank of an SS Captain beneath his smock, complete with Knight’s Cross.

			All the BATUS vehicles are equipped with GPS transmitters,44 which require officers to download information from each vehicle and physically bring it back to EXCON.45 In the theatre, they play back Orr’s final battle, digital imagery of vehicle locations on a map background. Brigadier Graham Binns, the commander of 7th Armoured Brigade, talks through the manoeuvres. He makes Orr stand up. ‘That’s the type of aggression I want from my commanders,’ he says. ‘Well done.’46

			Assembled men gather around Orr. Here he is, the boy from Greenock, in the presence of, and personally congratulated by, the brigadier. Today seems the apotheosis of all that he has done in twenty-seven years in green.

			Now someone reaches across and pulls down the zip of Orr’s tank suit, revealing his Nazi uniform.47

			Surely it is not OK now.

			But it is fine. They do not say it, but clearly they too appreciate the German connection — Michael Wittmann, and all the other wrong-sided Panzer aces.

			‘That makes sense,’ Binns says.

			The brigadier himself understands. Orr is taken through to lunch. Everyone wants to shake his hand.

			But the fact that it is fine is telling too, because of course it is really not fine at all. Not in the outside world.48 BATUS, though, is firmly within the army, with miles and miles of Canadian prairie all about. There are no prying eyes. The army is a total institution, a body that claims entire lives, not only through the ‘contract of unlimited liability’ that soldiers accept, that willingness to put their lives on the line for their country, but more prosaically as an environment in which men sleep, eat and socialise, as well as work.

			*

			Yet, the army is also a remarkably siloed place. Orr’s DFWES heroics brought him into exercise control, high up in officer-land. Once there, though, seemingly unknown to him, analysis of his actions fed into a wholly separate phenomenon, a tension festering between the regiment, the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards, and the headquarters of 7th Armoured Brigade. The origins of this tension are bizarre, and different participants dispute how severe it was, but with the benefit of hindsight, it was a major factor both in Canada and through the subsequent year, running up to the invasion of Iraq.

			For Orr, the fact that he conducted the final attack solo was happenstance. Yet to Chris Parker and Graham Binns, respectively the brigade chief of staff and the brigade commander, Orr’s actions looked like a premeditated attempt by David Allfrey, the regimental commander, to send his best tank commander, a man who knew the terrain intimately, off to beat the OPFOR alone, in a way that works with lasers but would be suicidal in real war. And tolerance for this sort of thing is decreasing, given that real war is looming.49

			Yet Allfrey’s tactical choices were not the point of departure for the feud. Informed observers, the subaltern wags of the regiments’ officers’ mess, pointed to the visit of the Queen in the summer of 2001 as the potential origin for the bad blood between SCOTS DG and its supervisory formation.

			The Queen was turning 75 and came to visit her regiment,50 having been colonel-in-chief — an honorific position — since her accession in 1952.51 The grass was high on Truppenübungsplatz Bergen, the 284km2 near the Fallingbostel garrison cleared in the mid-1930s as a training area for the resurgent Wehrmacht. There, at a table set up outside, the Queen dined with her officers. The men wore combats. Opposite her was David Allfrey. With them sat the regimental second-in-command (a major), and Graham Binns, the brigade commander, senior to all the regimental officers there.

			Some said later the crux of the disaster was a joke — a particular wisecrack involving horses made by Colonel David, which gripped his monarch and his equally horse-mad deputy with paroxysms of hopeless mirth, but which Binns, a non-equestrian — an infantry officer — did not understand. Others said no joke was made. Rather it was the general, incessant equine tenor of the conversation that alienated Binns, and led to his sensation of snubbing.52

			Of course, it cannot be that simple. The joke that regal lunchtime — if it occurred at all — was what a therapist would call a ‘telling event’, an individual incident later grasped upon as a turning point, when in fact the mood had longer gestation. That irreconcilable divide, like so much else in Britain in the fifth year of New Labour and Cool Britannia, concerned class. Graham Binns had been selected to command the Desert Rats, the cavalry-dominated lead armoured brigade of the British Army. Yet Binns was a northern line infantry officer;53 his background was not ‘pukka’.

			The view of the cavalry within the brigade, of course, was that the problem merely concerned professional competence and Binns’ limited previous experience with armour. David Allfrey in particular recalls an incident when insufficient fuel was provided on a training exercise. Binns, meanwhile, claimed to have had a high regard for the ethos, traditions and junior leadership of the SCOTS DG, but felt that operational, administrative and fitness standards in the regiment were unacceptably low, owing to a failure of leadership. Still, he acknowledged that the relationship between his brigade headquarters and the regiment was not as good as it should have been during the initial period of his time in command. This was partly due to his and his staff’s inadequate understanding of the pressures facing an armoured regiment. ‘On reflection, I think this caused me to make a judgment on operational standards that I now think was unwarranted,’ Binns added.

			Of course, class tension existed within the regiment itself too. When Chris Brannigan, a major by 2003, arrived on transfer from the Royal Scots in 1996, he believed himself to be the first direct-entry state-school-educated officer in the history of the regiment. Those of Brannigan’s vintage who had gone to the SCOTS DG direct from Sandhurst in the late 1980s included Prince Pavlos of Greece. However, as the 1990s progressed and creeping professionalism arrived on exercise, so the officer class dynamic was shifting. In the late 1990s, SCOTS DG took as a subaltern Patrick Trueman, who had not only been to a decidedly minor public school, but also came from the north. Trueman was the son of an officer in the Royal Tank Regiment, which the SCOTS DG disparagingly termed the ‘council house cavalry’.54 Things were changing internally. But at BATUS in 2002, the tension between regiment and brigade was real, at least in part rooted in class, and at risk of festering.

			At one stage on the prairie that year, SCOTS DG A Squadron leader Major Tim Brown was tasked to move his sub-unit of tanks in withdrawal. Brown asked brigade if he could beforehand recce the ground, which was difficult and rocky, akin to Dartmoor. It would be difficult to reverse through, as the tanks would have to in order to keep their guns facing the enemy. Brigade refused the recce. The ensuing retreat was like Mons or Moscow: chaos, with 90% of the tanks ‘annihilated’ in situ. According to Brown, in the debrief afterwards Binns lacerated him.55 In violation of all rank and propriety, Brown eventually snapped and spoke back. He said his unit was wiped out as a recce was forbidden, and he should have been allowed one. Implicit behind that statement was the belief that recces are absolutely necessary on unfamiliar ground with tanks. Unsaid, though, was the punchline: what do you know, you who have come from the infantry?

			The incident became a joke — that time Major Brown torpedoed his own military career. Later cartoons of the occasion appeared in a BATUS magazine. But Tim Brown’s outburst spoke of real tensions.




			Chapter 2

			Germany

			Fallingbostel Garrison, Lower Saxony, Northern Germany, summer 2002

			The regiment returns home. The vehicles stay in Canada for the next battlegroup. It is high summer by the time they are back in camp at Fallingbostel. There is, though, a coldness about the place that sunlight does not shift. By 2002, the regiment has been in Germany for seven long years — but spiritually, it has been here since 1945. That long existence abroad, largely in peacetime, has created a decidedly weird way of life. As with all armies in peacetime, form and function have blurred. Over the next eight months the archaic ways of peacetime soldiering will have to gear up for the prospect of war. None of that is going to be easy.

			Fallingbostel is connected to Hamburg by Bundesautobahn 7, a stretch of highway with a passing claim to being the fastest road in Europe, particularly when taken by British soldiers in tax-free sports cars. The woods around it seem to belong to the great wood of Mitteleuropa. The boles of the trees run arrow-straight, like an exercise in perspective. It is as though in the receding vertical distance between the trunks, fragments of a disturbed past could easily emerge: cavalry of the Thirty Years’ War, polygamous Anabaptists or Wehrmacht half-tracks.

			The last war looms much larger for the British than the Germans, but from either side these are concentration-camp woods, the same forest that lay beyond the electrified chain-link and the Alsatians at Ravensbrück or Dachau. Half an hour’s drive from Fallingbostel, on the other side of the ranges with their alphanumeric titles for tank gunnery lanes, lies the Gedenkstätte Bergen-Belsen, the memorial to that concentration camp. Brigade headquarters is nearby at Hohne, and the concentration camp relic remains an activity for a wet weekend with a girlfriend of a historical bent. Nearly seventy years on, they say still no birds fly over Belsen. Celle nearby is cheery enough though, with its half-timbered houses and bars.

			The camp at Fallingbostel has wartime pedigree. It was not a Konzentrationslager. Rather, Stalag XI B and the nearby Stalag XI D were prisoner-of-war camps.1 They held captives taken in the early stages of the war when the Nazis were ascendant. Once processed, down by the railway sidings the prisoners were divided. French, Belgian and Dutch prisoners lived together. Russians were separated and kept in much inferior conditions. Lice woke up in crotches and underarm seams. There was no stopping the typhus, and yellow fever ran rampant too, among a population weakened by poor nutrition and accommodation. Just how many Russians died remains controversial — the German authorities did not deem it necessary to keep precise records. Six decades later, though, British soldiers in Fallingbostel joke that their camp is so secure because 10,000 Russians are dug in outside.2

			Beyond the wire fences of the camp and through the woods lies the German town of Bad Fallingbostel itself. The Germans have no fondness for genteel poverty or the tumbledown picturesque. They like their houses bequem — comfortable — and well-heated. Kaffee und Kuchen is available mid-afternoon, around the same time that the Pink House in nearby Walsrode — the local outpost of the commercial sex industry that has hemmed armies since the Iliad — opens for business.

			Back inside the British Army camp, up beyond Queen’s Avenue with its houses for majors, there is some modernity. The new tank sheds have high ceilings and dehumidifier hoses that plug into the chain-gun ports on the Challenger 2 tanks. There is a gym, a dining hall. But the core of the place, the original blocks, is old Germany, a relic of the Nazi time when the camp was first built.

			In front of regimental headquarters lies a square with squadron offices on the right and the quartermasters on the left. One bound further lies the parade ground, ruled off by the squadron accommodation blocks. HQ Squadron’s block is known as ‘Heartbreak Hotel’ for the preponderance of older divorced NCOs who return as refugees from the married quarters, after their relationships break down.3

			When the regiment returns from BATUS, it theoretically moves into its high-readiness year on the three-year cycle; that is a major reason why it will go to Iraq in the spring. However, in summer 2002, that development is still far from certain.

			The regiment is around 430 strong. There are no women in the tank squadrons, as there are none in the infantry, although here as elsewhere there are a few attached: Adjutant General’s Corps clerks, teachers from the Educational and Training Services, and among the medics spliced to the tank units Emma Silvester, who does not lack admirers.

			For soldiers, life revolves around the tank park. The term suggests a false bucolic: there is no greenery here, rather hard-standing, flanked on one side by the glib new hangars with their roller doors. On the far side sits the REME workshop. The Regimental Light Aid Detachment (LAD) conducts frontline maintenance and repair on the vehicles. It is equipped with cranes, winches and hydraulic lifts to exchange the all-in-one engine transmission assemblies known as ‘Power Packs’. The REME will also conduct maintenance on an officer’s tax-free SLK or Porsche in exchange for a slab of beer.

			There are theoretically fifty-eight tanks in all, although some will be absent for rear echelon maintenance or depth repair, the serious mechanical surgery that lies beyond the capability of the LAD. The numbers break down to four sabre squadrons of fourteen tanks, with another tank for the colonel and one for the regimental second-in-command.4

			In between the Challengers are the CVR(T) Scimitars — light baby tanks — of the recce troop, one of which the younger members of the Pipes and Drums recently stole and hid in the officers’ mess as a prank. Present too are other variants of the aged CVR(T) vehicular line:5 Spartan personnel carriers and Samaritan ambulances.

			Junior officers call the tank park Camelot, a place that may or may not exist.6 For ‘the boys’ though, as the officers paternalistically term their charges, the tank park is both hub and horizon of their days in barracks. Vehicle maintenance sometimes seems as if it has become the basic purpose of life itself.

			The tanks do break all the time.7 They require a ‘halt parade’ every time they stop to ensure nothing significant has fallen off or worked its way loose from the ferocious vibration. They need endless ‘track bashing’ with sledgehammers to replace worn links on their traction.

			There is a huge microfiche bible of spare parts that Dean Gibbs, a lance corporal in A Squadron, has to consult through stationary binoculars whenever he goes to the quartermasters to try and order a replacement part.8 It is frustrating, comparing a broken spigot dripping oil on his hands to an exploded diagram. He flicks through the film with the tracking controls until he finds something that looks similar to the part he seeks. He orders it with fingers crossed, hoping that when it finally arrives — sometimes as much as six weeks later — it will be the right thing. It is not always.

			Sitting in Germany waiting for the Russians is what a Type 58 Challenger 2 regiment is for. But the Russians are not coming now, not in mid-2002. The boys work all day on their vehicles in order to keep them serviceable — but the constant tinkering is also a serviceable way to fill the time. Similarly, burning beeswax into the toe-caps of boots and spending hours with the regulation ‘light circular motion’ is not really about making the boots shiny at all: that time is believed to have military therapeutic and character-building properties. It is about defining a difference from the outside world in a time when there is no fighting to make that distinction clear.

			*

			The boys work on the tank park until NAAFI break — the mid-morning interval when they can go to the Navy, Army and Air Force Institutes outlet on camp for coffee and cigarettes. The wan thin Scots boys continually smoke tax-free Lambert and Butler (officers take Marlboro Lights and Silk Cut),9 a visual representation of the catastrophe that is Scottish public health. Among them, the smattering of huge Fijians who have arrived to top up limp domestic recruiting learn ayes and ochs by verbal osmosis, until they too sound as Scottish as the rest. Baffled by their unpronounceable Pacific names, the regiment re-named the first three Fijians to arrive — one of whom was an attached female — Hamish, Jock and Heather.10

			There is lunch in the cookhouse, then back to the tank park. Several times per week there is PT, but here in the armoured corps it does not compare in rigour to what the infantry do. Afterwards it is home: for the singles, to blocks where the rooms — shared for the more junior, individual for those who have served longer — are swagged with soft pornography and PlayStations. The married go to the ‘pads’ or, if they are lucky, to the block the army has downtown on Heidemark Strasse.

			Even there, outside the wire, the nightly escape is incomplete. Nicole Behre lives in the Heidemark Strasse block with her husband, a transplanted corporal from the Newcastle-recruited Light Dragoons named Robin ‘Skinny’ Gowland.11 She speaks English with a curious mixed Geordie-German accent. Elsewhere in the Heidemark Strasse block each night, a soldier from another unit in the garrison drinks and drinks, and his children go neglected. Behre makes sure that when they get new furniture, such as a bed, they give the item replaced to their neighbours, so that the kids get something.

			To the civilian observer, this way of life is incredibly bizarre. It is less rigid, here in the cavalry, than it would be in a Guards battalion. But although there is less screaming and long-range saluting, it is still a deeply authoritarian environment. The institution can lock up a man for failing to shave. Here in Germany too, as an overseas garrison, the brigadier holds devolved UK legal power. He can potentially lock up dependants too.12

			While in 2002 long-term peace has rusted much that is going on, there are nevertheless reasons why the system does these things that appear savage and crude. The real purpose is to create social structures able to withstand occasions of significant stress, pressure and privation: the kind that occur in the war there has not been for some time. In order to be kept ready for that eventuality, shouting and polishing must be maintained into the peace.

			In order to make life tolerable on a day-to-day level, there has to be a parallel system of rule-breaking alongside all the rule-making.13 That is why the regimental quartermasters have supplies of kit that exist on no store ledgers — termed buckshees. Should a favoured individual lose some crucial item, they can be granted another without the formal disciplinary system moving into gear and smashing the malefactor.

			Actions such as these are institutional smoothing, the necessary small cheats that have to take place to keep the machine running. The army’s human structure — the Green Machine itself — needs lubrication, just as the vehicles need their petroleum, oil and lubricants that so distress the Germans when they seep out onto grass verges. The problem, though, is which rules are there to be kept rigidly and which are broken daily can be a matter of dispute. Interpretations can change post hoc, after the deed is done. In the years to come, these blurred lines will play a major role in some of the scandals that will engulf the army in Iraq and Afghanistan.

			*

			There is another crucial lubricant that keeps the system running: booze. Alcohol is pivotal to the existence of the regiment, and to the army as a whole, in particular in Germany. It has been this way for a long time, but it still sits very awkwardly with the institution’s notion of itself as thoroughly professional, and speaks to the British Army’s impressive institutional capacity for cognitive dissonance.

			In Germany in 2002, alcohol on the base is still uncomplicatedly, completely tax-free. There is a bar in the basement of each squadron block. There are further examples in both the sergeants’ and corporals’ messes. You can pub-crawl solidly around the camp without even having to get in a taxi and go to Cha-Cha or the Copper Kettle in town, or to the brothel at Walsrode (though you can certainly do that if you wish; the taxis know all about the Pink House).

			With the booze, as with the inverted notion of maintenance on the tank park, another transformation has occurred. The army has managed to distil an already problematic British — and in this case explicitly Scottish — turbo-drinking culture into a wildly dysfunctional spirit that treats alcohol not as an ancillary to any social situation but rather as its own entity: alcohol is something to do, not to drink. ‘Action, load booze,’ subalterns boom, echoing the official turret instructions (‘Action, load HESH, Action load FIN’14) that they are taught on the troop leaders’ course in Bovington in Dorset, along with Soviet tank tactics. ‘Drink, till you die,’ is the principle. Some do, of course, in car crashes mostly. The others are just pickled.

			There is a theoretical ‘two-can rule’ on operations, but that has become the most widely flouted piece of military regulation since the Geneva Convention. In the Balkans in particular, the supply of slivovitz — the local firewater — was plentiful. The system struggles here too to demarcate between legitimate and illegitimate infractions. It underwrites the drinking culture not only with tax-free booze, but also by tacitly acknowledging that it is OK for a soldier down on the tank park to curl up in a turret with his hand clasped around a wrench, if destroyed from the night before. If disturbed, he will appear to be merely committing an act drawn from that other legendary repertoire: vehicle maintenance.

			Yet when the compulsory drug-testing teams descend on the camp, unannounced to all but the very top of the command tree, and the obligatory piss tubes detect even a whiff of other drugs on a soldier’s urine, the brutal official system swings into action. There can sometimes be leniency, but a soldier can also be drummed out of the army for a tinge of marijuana. But soldiers are not stupid, even in the infantry. So, according to the girls in the Pink House at least, the boys take cocaine and ecstasy, which will wash out of their systems faster.15 Here as ever, if you are going to play the system, you must know the odds.

			*

			The officers, meanwhile, drink champagne. The class issue, so crucial in the regiment’s tension with its higher command, and most obviously apparent in the fact that in a Scottish regiment none of the direct-entry officers have Scottish accents,16 reaches its apotheosis with sparkling wine. If alcohol here is a sacrament, then Pol Roger champagne — Churchill’s old favourite, though Winston was a 4th Hussar, not a Grey or a Dragoon Guard — is the communion drink for the officers’ mess. In peacetime, without its real job to do, the leadership of the regiment has turned in on itself. Mess life is playtime. But it is a playtime that is profoundly destructive, both to the quality of life of its inhabitants, and, arguably, to the professional capabilities of the regiment, and the army itself.

			Conceptually, the mess means all the officers in the regiment. Physically, it is a complex of low buildings, flanked by trees, a few hundred metres to the right of the squadron blocks as you look out from regimental headquarters. Between the central building, and flanking parking for officer-suitable autos such as Audi A3s and BMW 3 series coupés, stand three exterior accommodation blocks. One is for second lieutenants and lieutenants, another for captains, the third for majors (few of whom live in). The rooms come with army-issue single beds, but officers tend to retire those to the attics and replace them with doubles from IKEA.

			Through the porch, there are pigeonholes for mail. Inside also is an Abyssinian drum, an elephant’s foot dustbin and, further in, a looted portrait of Saddam dating from the regiment’s participation in the first Gulf War. To the right lies the dining room with a long table. There is a portrait of Tsar Nicholas II, sometime honorific colonel-in-chief of the Scots Greys, and all the table silver.

			On regular days, before lunch officers drink fiery tomato juice peppered by the mess sergeant major in the ante-room. At supper, they sink a pre-prandial gin and tonic before filing next door to dine. They sit in rank order, with the senior in the middle and juniors at either end. Junior officers at the ends of the table may not speak to those in the middle unless they are spoken to. Occasionally the older ones play a game where they suddenly fall silent to humiliate the new arrivals. After supper, they process back to the ante-room, where there are sofas and a leather bum-warmer rail around the fire.17

			This is where the real business of the mess goes on. Boozing here is mandated and miserable. No one is allowed to go to bed until everyone senior to them has departed. Nights regularly run until one or two — or later — in the morning. There are endless rounds of drinking games,18 conducted with all the seriousness of religious observance.19 However, the really important use of alcohol here, and champagne in particular, is as a sanction.

			Any more-or-less senior individual can punish a supposed breach of mess etiquette by a more-or-less junior by crying, ‘Bottle’. Such offences include arriving late, wearing clothes deemed to be wrong,20 holding a mobile phone, or leaving to use the loo (never, never toilet) during a meal. At the cry of ‘Bottle’, the mess sergeant major, the wizened creature who acts as ringmaster for the perverse rites of this place, brings out the Pol Roger on a tray. (The regiment has a longstanding association with Maison Pol Roger; regularly a crack team drives west out of Germany into France to Épernay for a resupply.) He adds it to the perpetrator’s mess bill, and everyone drinks at the perpetrator’s expense. The offending officer also receives a glass. Such is military charity, five years before the launch of Help for Heroes.

			The whole hazing process takes place under the watchful eye of the senior living-in-member (SLIM), usually an unmarried major. It is bullying, of course, pure and simple. There are other messes in Germany — cavalry mostly — that are as bad, if not worse, but the SCOTS DG mess is nonetheless a pretty extreme environment in 2002. The officers think of themselves and their regiment as informal, as cavalry-relaxed rather than Guards-shouty. Yet, seemingly without their realising it, their mess has in fact become one of the most formal in the entire army. Junior officers live in terror of the system.

			In another telling indication of what happens to armies when they have been at peace too long, the entire place is built on a worship of seniority — although things are changing a little. When a glut of new officers arrived within a year in the late 1990s, it was clear that the old method, whereby no one would talk to them for a period of months, was unsustainable: they could happily talk among themselves, thereby breaking the character-forming isolation.

			Those who have been in the regiment for two, three, five or fifteen years do know vastly more than those who have newly arrived. They have done the training cycles; they have even been on tours to the Balkans. But all that has been peacetime experience, with the exception of, for the oldest, a hundred hours eleven years ago. The essential paradox in 2002 is that the mess of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards, and by extension the British Army as a whole, is in thrall to the idea of seniority as a proxy for experience, and yet hardly anyone, really, has ever done it for real. Yes, there has been Ireland — although this is the cavalry, so they did not really go. And maybe 10 to 15 per cent of the boys were in the first Gulf. Back then they had all the fear and build-up, and very real thinking: it will be violent, and some of us will die. Later they did see the Basra road, with its bodies broiled and cooked from the airstrikes. They took their nerve agent pre-exposure prophylaxis. Ultimately though, the land war took a hundred hours, just four and a bit days. Afterwards they came home. Yes, the Balkans had its crunchy moments. But no one could confuse those tours in Bosnia and Kosovo — especially the calmer, later ones — with war. Not only was there all that slivovitz and the two-can rule. There were also portaloos.21

			Like all dysfunctional systems, the mess perpetuates itself. Through time served, you eventually cease to be an NIG — a New-In-Germany — or a cub or pup, as the young officers are otherwise known. In two or so years, once you are un-cubbed, you enact exactly the same miseries you endured on your successors. Why should they escape it?

			The rationale is that the mess is itself a form of training, building both cohesion and manners. It is true that when girlfriends fly out from south-west London — because all officers’ girlfriends live in Fulham — they are astonished by the politeness they are shown. Officers effortlessly cycle through, to give them three-to-five minutes of apparently deeply-interested-in-them conversation. This nineteenth-century manner of living, the theory goes, makes officers better not just at cocktail time but also on the battlefield. If having worked together for eight hours, they spend five hours every night drinking together, they will know each other better, and work together better in extremis. Military sociological work suggests there is also some truth to this idea. Nevertheless, endless boozing only works as preparation for war when there is no real war that needs to be attended to.

			In the army, no one ever comes in from outside at a senior enough level to shake things up. Only, therefore, when people start trying to kill you do things change. Fortunately for the SCOTS DG mess, that will happen soon enough. And when it gets real, as it will before twelve months is up, that experience is also not going to be neatly distributed in accordance with time served and rank obtained. Instead, experience of combat will seep up from the bottom. It is lieutenants and corporals out on the ground who get shot at first, not generals or brigadiers, or even colonels or majors. The subaltern generation, who here in Germany are forbidden from going to bed before everyone senior to them has retired, will be the first to see war. The result is that both here, and elsewhere across the army, a crucial piece of military architecture is going to start to creak.

			It is here as it was for Robert Graves, tormented by the mess seniors and deemed a ‘wart’ in a ‘peacetime survival’ mess in the Royal Welch Fusiliers before the First World War annihilated such institutions. ‘I said under my breath, “You damned snobs! I’ll survive you all. There’ll come a time when there won’t be one of you left in the battalion to remember this mess at Laventie,”’ he later wrote in Goodbye to All That. So, too, for Lieutenant Andrew Wilson, an officer of the Buffs, a flame-throwing Crocodile tank unit of 79th Armoured Division, training in England before D-Day in 1944. ‘He and the other young officers of his unit found themselves condemned to months of routine soldiering on the South Downs under the command of ageing senior officers who knew nothing of war, but were expert in the disciplines of mess life,’ wrote Max Hastings in his history Overlord.22 Notably, ‘at the beginning of 1944, all the senior officers were abruptly removed and replaced by others from a quite different mould, who began training and exercising the regiment to the very limits of its endurance.’

			*

			Back now to summer 2002 in Fallingbostel. The officers play polo and the regiment’s mounted troop takes part in a parade in Edinburgh for the Queen’s Golden Jubilee. Lieutenant Colonel Hugh Blackman succeeds David Allfrey as the commanding officer. Allfrey has in his regulated two-year stint in command taken the regiment through its training cycle. Now though, in accordance with the rules, he must step down in advance of the high-readiness period to follow — continuity of experience be damned. Allfrey asks to have his command extended, given the prospect of war. The system refuses.

			Colonel David’s replacement, Hugh Blackman, is known as ‘Chuggie’ by the boys, in the usual Scots contraction of his first name. On his arrival, Blackman establishes a different rhythm. His first officers’ weekend — a kind of boys-y getting-to-know-you session — sees the officers’ mess actually having to go for a run. While Blackman is thought boring by some, compared to his flamboyant predecessor, he is free from Colonel David’s tendency to get sucked down rabbit holes (such as the production of radio recruitment jingles).23 Blackman, although he has not supervised the training year, will be the one to take the regiment to war. Colonel David ascends into a series of administrative jobs.

			And by November, the war is clearly looming. In Hohne, Graham Binns, the brigade commander, calls in Chris Parker, his chief of staff.24

			‘You were right,’ he says.

			Parker knows the reference immediately: Kosovo on 9/11 and the palm tree he drew on the Pristina whiteboard. Binns has heard from Major General Robin Brims — the commander of 1st (UK) Armoured Division in Herford.25 7th Brigade are warned off to ‘participate in contingency planning’. For Parker, it is a serious lump-in-the-stomach moment. It looks as if tanks may go. The game is on. But Parker’s concern comes from another area too: the issue of spare parts and equipment.

			‘Military action was now seen as inevitable,’ reported a secret Downing Street memo on 23 July. ‘But the intelligence and facts were being fixed around the policy … We should work on the assumption that the UK would take part in any military action.’26

			But that decision was private. Because it has not gone to parliament, and also because the exact scale of the British contribution to the Iraq invasion force will not be determined until late in the day, the decision to go must be kept on the tightest of all possible leashes. Not only must word not seep out. Crucially — and incredibly problematically for the army — it must not appear to an informed observer that the decision has been made.

			This situation is further complicated by another factor: just-in-time logistics, which the military has recently adopted, reducing its spares holdings.27 The eventual decision to send to Iraq a division composed of three brigades reflects a belief that any smaller contribution will not allow Britain to be taken seriously by the Americans. If Britain is to go to war in the Gulf in the spring at divisional scale, for just-in-time logistics to work they must immediately start placing orders for desert uniforms, ammunition and vehicle spare parts, including theatre-specific items like desert air filters. On 25 July 2002, Desmond Bowen, director general for operational policy at the Ministry of Defence, writes to Geoff Hoon.28 A fully prepared and sustained armoured division (one which could fight a significant Iraqi force) would take ten months. Deployment of an armoured division (minus) — a division configured on a smaller scale — would only be possible ‘within six months of a decision to deploy’, and would have ‘limited sustainment and reach’. In the end, discussion with industry on kit orders is prohibited until 15 October 2002. The army will be neither fully prepared, nor sustained.

			The spare-parts issue is first obvious at BATUS, in Canada, in the form of a savage drought of ‘track miles’. The track mile is a metric to quantify — in conjunction with tables for mean distance between failures — how much vehicles can be used given the level of spare parts and maintenance support available. The track mile can be used backwards, to indicate how many spare parts must be ordered to permit a vehicle fleet to move a certain distance.

			BATUS becomes the frontline in a giant game of compromise. It is increasingly clear that the army will be at war within twelve months. Somewhere deep in the equipment support system, someone senior enough to make the call decides to screw the nut. And so Chris Parker, the 7th Brigade chief of staff, that summer involved with exercises for other units in the brigade after the SCOTS DG have had their run-out, finds his track-mile allocation dwindling before his eyes.29 Availability collapses just as, for the first time in a military generation, the prospect of real war has arisen.

			They work around the situation — they have no alternative. They call their limited resources ‘dog track miles’, like dog years, seven times a regular one. Black humour is important. But surely, thinks Chris Parker, surely this is no way to take an army to war.30

			Certainly not the Best Little Army in the World.

			There is another indication that summer in BATUS that something is on the wind: they have stopped practising the manoeuvre the army calls withdrawals, but a general observer might have another term for: retreats.

			*

			The brigadier knows. The chief of staff knows. The units of the brigade, scattered across Fallingbostel, Celle and Hohne, strongly suspect. Binns breaks the news to those who need to know in order to plan, but nothing is publicly confirmed.31 From late November to Christmas, for between three and five days per week, Parker drives to divisional headquarters at Herford,32 spending four hours each day in a car. He travels often with Major Peter Langford, the deputy chief of staff, whose responsibility includes logistical matters such as vehicle spares. Parker is shattered, and his wife, who is expecting their second child, has antenatal complications. He asks about helicopters to shorten the commute. He is told there is no availability. It is winter, and there is a ridge between Herford and Hohne, so even had there been any availability, it is unlikely a chopper could have flown each day. So they drive.

			At Herford, Parker blends with another pack of initiates who are permitted to know the real tidings. This fraternity starts to plan. Division, the layer in the military hierarchy above brigade, is the entity that will co-ordinate the British contribution. Exactly what that contribution will be is not yet confirmed. Initial American requests were for Special Forces and use of bases. Discussion in London had proposed three different ‘packages’, or force levels, ranging from use only of assets already in the region to deployment of a British division. In the end, the contribution will be at the larger end of the scale, but that call is made late, complicating provisioning.

			The planning is conducted primarily with Justin Maciejewski, a Green Jacket major, who as the divisional staff officer for operations/organisation and deployments has the complex task of matching troops to task.33 The planning takes place under the aegis of the divisional commander Robin Brims, an ex–Light Infantry major general.34 The plan at this initial stage is to take a northern route into Iraq. They project a boat-head at the port of Mersin in Turkey. Thence the brigade will move to the border. Once into Iraq, they will punch down towards Mosul. The initial intention is for 1st (UK) Armoured Division to be made up of 7th Armoured Brigade and 19th Mechanised Brigade.

			When the plan is still to go via Turkey, Parker looks at the maps. The intelligence they are now receiving includes low-angle photographs of bridges, taken from adjacent river banks and clearly indicating live surveillance assets on the ground. The proposal is to cross the Tigris with the whole brigade 50km before Mosul. This will be the largest river crossing since the famous Rhine traverse in the Second World War. There are just enough M3 bridging rigs in the army’s inventory to make it possible. Parker doubts they would all make it on the 650km route from Mersin by road. If the plan was put forward in one of the tabletop exercises at staff college, Parker suspects the directing staff would fail it.

			Meanwhile, there is the question of how to prepare 7th Armoured Brigade properly, given the extreme drought of track miles. It has been warned off for war, and really needs to train. With the completion of the BATUS season, the brigade has reached Level Four collective training in its preparation cycle.35 It ought to get to Level Five collective training before going to war, which means live, multi-battlegroup manoeuvres administered by a live brigade headquarters. Level Five training is usually conducted at Drawsko Pomorskie in Poland. But there is insufficient track mileage available for the Level Five exercise required to achieve the good-to-go tick.

			Parker and Binns’ compromise solution is a giant TEWT. A Tactical Exercise Without Troops is the most Heath-Robinson-sounding of all military acronyms, seemingly not so distant from its parody of NEWD, a Night Exercise Without Darkness. A good TEWT, though, is a real and valuable training tool. That autumn36 brigade headquarters in Hohne summons the leadership elements from its subsidiary units. There are lieutenant colonel battalion and regimental commanders, majors at squadron leader and company commander level, and some more junior individuals. They will go to Poland for a brigade TEWT.

			Parker, meanwhile, has maintained the public line, telling those who call up hoping for off-the-record gen to ‘carry on normal jogging’. It is a line they all know, the phrase Sandhurst PT instructors use to intersperse more vigorous moments of exercise. But now they are going to Poland for a Level Five TEWT. Even the most cloistered of these men now know the prospect of war is firming up by the day.

			They leave for the east. At Drawsko Pomorskie, Parker aims for a boys’ weekend atmosphere, to foster brigade camaraderie. They sit inside a big German beer tent on staged seating around a large model of a battlefield — an attempt to replicate the halls at Warminster in the UK that host similar TEWTs. They work out in theory how they will perform the complex fighting ballet of whole-brigade movement.

			At BATUS, they had moved away from the training conceit of a war, towards the war they will have to fight — hence the increased focus on nuclear, biological and chemical (NBC) work.37 Here in Poland, they rehearse obstacle crossing and ‘passage of lines’, the complexity of moving one set of vehicles through another. That is no trivial task, especially at night with tired and confused teenage drivers, even more so if the vehicles are closed down with hatches battened. Parker wonders why all those before him had never devised any doctrine for this manoeuvre, especially in combat? He and the commanders work it out on a floor model on the eve of war. Parker suspects now that the decades of Germany warriors before him had not all been quite so professionally thorough as they liked to claim. Holes are appearing and there is little time left.

			In the breaks, the officers walk the training area: mixed heathland and pine forest with a few isolated areas of beech woodland. One evening Ralph Lucas, a horse-mad junior SCOTS DG officer, rolls up his trousers and paddles in a pond so clear he can see the trout. By night there are beers.

			*

			Back in Germany, an apparently final force-generation conference takes place at Herford to settle the order of battle for the division. Present are Brims, the divisional commander, and Maciejewski, the Green Jackets staff officer for organisation and deployments. Parker and Binns are there too, and Peter Langford, the deputy chief of staff from 7th Brigade. The two manoeuvre brigades, 7th Armoured and 19th Mechanised, are still confirmed as participants, but there is discussion as to what shape 7th Brigade should take. One option is to make it ‘triangular’, with two armoured battlegroups and one infantry-led unit. Another possibility is to pass across one of the two mechanised battalions from 19th Brigade to 7th Brigade. This would create two equally-sized brigades, each comprising three armoured or armoured infantry battlegroups and a mechanised infantry battlegroup.38 Brims and Colonel Patrick Marriott, the divisional chief of staff, favour this set-up, which they believe has genuine balance and ability to manoeuvre. Brims asks Binns, who is his junior by one rank but upon whom will fall the responsibility of actually fighting the thing, how 7th Armoured Brigade should be configured for the war. Binns does not agree with the plan.

			‘If we are to do this, we should do this properly,’ Binns says. ‘I want the biggest brigade possible.’39 7th Brigade staff fear they will be left on their own, under-equipped against an unknown enemy. They are conscious, too, that a lot of bluffing has been going on at the MoD and other headquarters for years about the capabilities of formations, but now 7th Brigade will really have to fight.

			Brims concedes. They will go foursquare: four full battlegroups, each with two tank squadrons and two infantry companies. That will require inserting units from other brigades who have not completed their training cycles, but the decision is that it would be a greater risk to life to go undermanned than undertrained.

			Shortly afterwards, in December 2002, Maciejewski attends another conference in Stuttgart with the US European Command to look in detail at mobilising the line of communications through Turkey. It is clear to Maciejewski that the USA has not asked the Turks for permission to move through their territory. It is also clear that the American mobilisation timeline will mean that the 1st (UK) Armoured Division and the American 4th Division coming in from the north will not be able to make it to the Iraqi border in time for the likely invasion. After the conference, Maciejewski sends a written report up the British chain of command: things are looking difficult. Yet, when Maciejewski leaves on 24 December for a short Christmas break, the plan is still for a square 7th Brigade and 19th Brigade at ‘best effort’, entering Iraq via Turkey. Once deployed, divisional staff believe, they can re-balance resources between these two formations.

			*

			Shortly before Christmas, in the village of Alpbach in the Austrian Tyrol40 where they train, the alpine ski team of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards find their commanding officer Hugh Blackman standing in his salopettes in the hallway of their chalet.41 Skiing, a legacy of Cold-War winters, is important in the regiment, and the team drove south in November as per usual despite all the swirling rumours of war. But now Blackman, who is married to an Alpbacher, announces that war is definitely on and skiing off. He gives the team two options. They could remain in Alpbach over Christmas until early January, when the regiment will reconvene in Fallingbostel. Alternatively, they can spend Christmas with their families before a last hurrah in Alpbach to see in the New Year. All take the second option.

			Across the regiment and brigade, that Christmas is a fraught one. Graham Binns, still in Alpbach with his family, is on a chairlift when he fields a call informing him that the Turkey option is off. Geoff Hoon, the defence secretary, visiting Ankara to try and square matters, ends up on national television being grilled over the Treaty of Sèvres, the post-First World War pact that began the dismemberment of the Ottoman Empire and led to the Turkish War of Independence.

			Turkey, a NATO ally, says no to its use as a jumping-off point. Nothing is going into Iraq from the north. They will have to go from Kuwait. The starting point will be the limit of exploitation from 1991. After Christmas, the SCOTS DG ski team reunite in Alpbach. For New Year, a regimental piper plays in the snow. There are fireworks. But attention is already on the coming year, and the war scheduled for the spring.

			*

			Justin Maciejewski returns from leave to divisional headquarters in Herford on 28 December to find a changed world. The fact that they will now come into Iraq from the south is not a big surprise — they had talked about this in the run-up to Christmas. The big change is the order of battle. 19th Mechanised Brigade has been removed and instead they have 16 Air Assault Brigade, paratroopers with only light, scantily armoured vehicles. That change is a blow to the divisional planning staff; they have lost the ability to manoeuvre at divisional level that two balanced brigades would grant. The staff at Herford do not know who made the decision; they all suspect Mike Jackson, as the incoming head of the army is a former paratrooper, was heavily involved in the creation of 16 Brigade, and could be looking for an option to prove the utility of his baby.42

			In January the SCOTS DG crash out of the back gates of the Fallingbostel camp onto the Bergen-Hohne ranges for a final pre-deployment exercise. The weather is vile, extraordinarily cold — recollections vary as to whether it is minus 18 or 16C. There are bitter jokes about fit preparation for the desert.

			The tanks slide on the ice and frozen turf like an armoured glissade. C Squadron troop leader Rick Le Sueur’s shaving water freezes mid-air as he pours it boiling off a hexamine burner.43 Emma Silvester leaves her sleeping bag in the padre’s Land Rover;44 the padre leaves the exercise and drives back into camp. Without a sleeping bag, Silvester is bitterly cold. She fears frostbite.

			Justin Simons, a REME mechanic attached to C Squadron, cuts around the frozen heath picking up broken tanks.45 In A Squadron, a vehicle ends up on its side.46 They roll into camp at last after two miserable days. They see the Black Watch, their neighbours in barracks and with whom A Squadron is now battlegrouped, attempting to paint their Warrior armoured fighting vehicles desert yellow over the green temperate base. The yellow paint is water-soluble and comes off in the snow after the Jocks apply it. There will be many streaky vehicles, badger-toned like a girl’s cheap highlights, in the Persian Gulf this spring.

			Changes have occurred, too, to the structure of the regiment. Colonel David Allfrey’s experimental ISTAR D Squadron is shut down, and the regiment is reworked as three sabre squadrons. A, under Tim Brown, will join the Black Watch battlegroup. B and C will mate with two companies of the Irish Guards to form the SCOTS DG battlegroup. Within the regiment, some individuals are removed from jobs and those deemed stronger put in place. Many in extra-regimental employment pull strings to get back as the regiment swells. Among those left behind is Stewart Orr, on his way out of the army now. He still asks Hugh Blackman if he can come to the Gulf. Blackman says he would love to have him, but he cannot face the response from Orr’s wife. The coldest warrior in NATO will instead watch the war on television from home in Scotland. Elsewhere, Chris Parker is lobbied outside his home by an ambitious officer from the 9th/12th Lancers who wants his unit to deploy.47 But that is in vain. The Queen’s Dragoon Guards will go in their place as recce troops.

			At both the individual and collective level, this is not just machismo. Iraq appears to be about to become the war of their generation, what Granby was to the previous one and the Falklands for their military grandfathers. To be absent will have career implications.

			All the world is now a stage.

			*

			British troops form only a small part of the gathering invasion force, and in the Gulf the brigade will be operating close by the American Marine Corps. A team from an air naval gunfire liaison company, or ANGLICO, arrive in the SCOTS DG mess in Fallingbostel on a familiarisation visit. Jonny Williamson, the captain made unit press officer for the duration, mixes the ANGLICOs ‘rusty nails’, his signature drink.48

			Fraser McLeman, another troop leader in C Squadron, bets a case of Pol Roger champagne that the regiment will be complete in the Gulf by a particular date. Endless debate ensues about what ‘complete’ really means. The stake is recorded in the mess ledger book.49

			McLeman is the only junior officer to lack a girlfriend. When it comes to determining someone to lead the party accompanying the tanks for the journey out via Suez to Kuwait, that task falls to him. He is marked for three weeks on board an ex-Soviet navy roll-on, roll-off vessel. Before the deployment, Justin Simons drives to Emden, the port on the river Ems opposite Holland that serves as a marine entrepot for British Forces Germany. He sets up shop in a railway carriage as more vehicles are sprayed with desert paint, dried this time using space heaters.50

			In the mess, the officers hold a departure party. Stefan Diepold, the German farrier who shoes the regiment’s horses, is invited, but finds the occasion a subdued one.51 There are social occasions, too, with the other units in the battlegroup. The Irish Guards are a smart bunch and considered by the SCOTS DG mess to be their social equals. The Mick officers understand about tailored suits and chunky socks and the abhorrent nature of single cuffs and pockets. A less comfortable fit are the sappers of 32 Engineer Regiment, based in Hohne with their engineering vehicles on ancient Chieftain chassis.52

			*

			On 6 February, A Squadron of the SCOTS DG load their tanks onto snow-covered flatbed rail cars at the Fallingbostel railhead.53 Fraser McLeman and his band of temporary marines head to Emden to meet the ship. Around this date, a convoy carrying armoured vehicles passes the Pink House brothel in nearby Walsrode. As it passes, a group of women appear from inside.54 They wave. Some are crying.

			Among the Pink House girls in early 2003 is Nadine.55 She is in her mid-twenties and came westwards of Thüringen in the old East Germany to follow a boyfriend. He worked in the gym that Wolfgang Heer, owner of the Pink House, also owns. She thought she would trial sex work, cognisant of the fact it would pay a multiple of her previous wage. In 2003, Nadine has already been here two years and has seen it all, in particular the madness of the army’s monthly payday, when soldiers appear en masse in their taxis, as though adhering to that central plank of British military doctrine that holds a successful assault requires a three to one numerical advantage.

			On paydays, Nadine will sometimes sleep with eight or ten men in one night. She has learned British military slang and specific jock terms like aye and och. She has overcome her early fear of the big dark Fijians whom she and her colleagues call ‘Gorilla’. She has learnt other mission-specific English vocabulary like ‘blowjob’, and ‘upstairs’, the universally nodded or winked suggestion to go to the bedrooms — though the Pink House, as a single-story structure, is technically devoid of stairs.

			Nadine sees the soldiers club together to buy sex for their virgin comrades, and the weird homoeroticism of men-at-arms as they share women. She sees the odd and rare occasions when women soldiers come down to the Pink House. Nadine has also seen those raucous occasions, often payday nights too, when the military police turn up in their van and take away the lairiest of her clients. It is rare for the soldiers to be aggressive to the girls — although they often are to each other. Now though, with the war looming, Nadine and the other women at the Pink House are on the frontline of emotional support for an institution far from good at talking about its feelings.

			The bordello will see a lot of wildness in its time, with soldiers running off without paying56 and stealing the girls’ possessions, notably underwear and shoes, as souvenirs. But there are others who come now and pay 100 euro an hour (per girl, double for two),57 or more for extras like anal — but pay really because they are very scared and long for an opportunity to talk that is almost wholly absent within the testosterone-drenched confines of the camp. The Pink House is one of the few places within this whole infrastructure where they are permitted to cry.

			*

			Back in camp, now that the vehicles have gone, there is a curious sense of calm. There are limits to the further preparation that can still be carried out. When the desert kit arrives the clothing supply is partial, bedevilled by the same just-in-time logistics affront. Ancient sandy garb from 1991 is rooted out to bolster the scant supplies that have arrived. If you are lucky, it fits. While tactically unsound, this scarcity is more harmful for morale. Soldiers’ clothing is about much more than camouflage. It is about ‘ally’ — army cool — and looking the part, an acutely important factor for an institution composed primarily of 16-to-30-year-old men.

			There are no issued goggles for the upcoming dust either, and so commercial brands start to appear. The designs are for skiing, not armoured vehicle command in a desert environment, but needs must. A soldier from the garrison is photographed wearing goggles configured to look like the eyes of a snake, an image that appears in the British press.58

			The SCOTS DG mess take their own approach to the clothing situation. The old hands who were there on Granby in 1991 say it will be cold in the desert at night. Rick Le Sueur puts in an order for Guernsey sweaters.59 Some officers pack their Guernseys for the Gulf along with the riding crops they carry with their service dress and the forage caps with their zig-zag blue and gold banding. While obsolete, they take them to war for the sake of panache.

			The officers in the mess have to clear their rooms and box their belongings in case they are killed. When that task is done, a huge pile of unclaimed pornography lies in the corridor of the subalterns’ block. No one wants their parents to receive these legs-akimbo publications and graphic films as their dead son’s last effects.

			There are goodbyes too. Before they depart, the girlfriend of troop leader Harry Jameson flies out to Fallingbostel. She asked not to be named, so we will call her Sally Thirlwell.60 Thirlwell has been to Germany before and knows the drill. She understands the Friday-night flight to Hanover and the discussion with the other women as to what one can and cannot wear in the officers’ mess. She knows the thrill of the fast drive down the autobahn to the barracks. She knows about the need to stay in the hotel in the town, though the mess ban on girlfriends is relaxing.

			This time, though, is different. They are going to the wars, and for the women it is the last weekend. Alongside Thirlwell, Rick Le Sueur and Nick Foulerton’s girlfriends also fly out. They are not bound for the mess either. Their destination is Prague. The boys are at the airport to meet them in their punchy autos.

			Now they’re at the border, and into Czecho and the old East. The Porsche is brook-smooth on the highway and eats up the kilometres, on through endless sad little towns. Working girls with bleached white blonde hair stand on the hard-shoulder slush in mini dresses.

			Prague is quite wonderful in the glinting dark with its firmament of winter snow. They go to the ballet, and to a restaurant with wallpaper and candles where supposedly Tom Cruise had eaten, and the whole place is baroque in the freeze. The setting astride the Vltava helps, but the real scaffolding behind the heightened emotional state for this weekend is nothing to do with Prague or the sports cars, but rather the fact that their men-boys are going off to wage real war.

			On the final day, Thirlwell and Jameson lock the key in the boot of the navy-blue Porsche Boxster. They call Porsche Assistance. The hours are passing now; the remorseless equations of time, manner and place required to get them back to meet Thirlwell’s flight — and Jameson’s war — are becoming more and more unforgiving. Eventually it is Thirlwell who sorts it out. She arms herself with a coat hanger and wiggles it underneath the bonnet, just reaching the fob to release the central locking. They embark, but manage to drive down a tramway. Some Czech policemen pull them over. They are able to clear matters up with a fine on the spot.

			Up through snowbound Germany and out onto the wide plains they go. They reach their respective aerodromes with just sufficient time in hand. The Prague magic is gone, evaporated. The sadness is powerful. The troop leaders of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards manoeuvre girlfriends towards departure.

			*

			Finally — truly finally — the day is upon them. The flights for Kuwait are leaving. Nicole Behre remembers 1996 when her husband was in Bosnia with the Light Dragoons and three men were killed by a landmine in the Glamoč area of operations.61 Then, it was Nicole and not the new widow who could not stop crying, and back then it was not even a proper war. Now, Robin Gowland forbids Nicole from coming to camp. He makes her say goodbye at the married quarters in town.

			Those who have not got desert kit are told to emplane in their temperate clothing and existing boots, with promises that lightweight boots and sand-coloured kit will be forthcoming on arrival. In fact, many will still be wearing green kit and leather boots at the end of the fighting.

			They take their rifles on board with them. Emma Silvester, the medic, wonders if they will be fighting as soon as the aircraft lands. No one has told her otherwise.




			Chapter 3

			Invasion

			Mediterranean and the Suez Canal, February–March 2003

			Chris Parker is not on the ships, but soon realises that the spreadsheets for projected time of arrival are as fictional as the Germany readiness cycle.1 On exercises, the logistics vessels moved with constant simulated speed, like the Union Jack and Swastika arrows in the opening credits of Dad’s Army. But with the ships real, deep-hulled and plimsoll-lined, that is not how it is at all. The freighter carrying the armour from the Fusiliers is due to arrive first, but starts to lag behind and is overtaken by the ship holding the brigade headquarters. The ballet of setting up in Kuwait becomes much more complicated. The clock is ticking, and the invasion of Iraq is potentially ‘on’ in only a few weeks’ time.

			The shipping exercise is ferociously expensive — chartering ninety-six vessels for the British division at essentially zero notice, in a commercial environment in which all the other players can see clearly that the vessels will be needed. A canny South African has sensed what is on the wind and block-chartered the majority of the world’s supply of the huge drop-jawed Antonov cargo planes for the first quarter of 2003. He is now selling hours in these flying warehouses back to the so-called ‘coalition of the willing’ at vastly inflated prices. The cost makes Parker wince, but that is not, thankfully, one of his many responsibilities.

			After years of waiting — twelve since the first Gulf, twenty-one since the Falklands, and more since the old, old days — the British Army is once again going to war. But for how long is a less certain matter. So, too, is the small question of how the war will be fought and won. The kind of war Iraq will become is inconceivable at this stage. But most are excited to be going, shaking off the dust of decades. The experiences of Chris Parker, the 7th Brigade chief of staff, Rick Le Sueur, the troop leader in C Squadron of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards, and Emma Silvester, the medic attached to the SCOTS DG battlegroup, are only three among thousands from 2003. But together they speak to the broader reality of what took place.

			By 22 January, Parker is in Kuwait, emirate now of a thousand coalition uniforms, as the state fills up with the bureaucratic apparatus of upcoming war. Tented cities sprout in the desert to accommodate the troops. Parker arrives on a civilian flight from Frankfurt with a scratch brigade headquarters of just ten staff. The ‘battle boxes’ containing map dividers, staff tables, waterproofed Nyrex files for documentation and radio headsets came with his band of merry men as hold luggage.

			In Kuwait, Camp Commando is an ever-expanding cantonment of marquee-type tents with steel pegs, their heads mushroomed from mallet blows, driven into the hard scrub at the regulation 45 degrees to the horizontal. The internal roads, levelled and graded without asphalt sealant, are often muddy due to the seasonal rain. The cold nights, down to 2–3C, surprise many.

			The Paras and the Commandos, the two light-role brigades (largely without armoured vehicles) who will now team with 7th Armoured Brigade to make up the British division, are already here. There are already endless jokes from taut, muscled men in maroon or green berets about the late arrival, or possible non-arrival at all, of the armour. They smirk that the ‘tankies’ may miss the party. All know that war will come soon, because it is already almost 20C in the day and the fighting has to commence before the death-heat of the summer.

			At last the squat CVR(T)s, ancient baby tanks, emphysemic 432s, armoured personnel carriers of 1960s vintage, and the four-tonne lorries of brigade headquarters arrive out of the logistical maelstrom of the container port. These are the vehicles that will transport the high command of 7th Brigade. While the Americans aim for Baghdad, the British role in the invasion is to take Basra, Iraq’s main port, just over the border.

			Now the brigade signals squadron sergeant major, still wearing green kit, briefs Parker. It is already 4 p.m.; it will be fully dark in two hours. Rather than wait until morning, Parker tells his sergeant major to spring the headquarters up overnight. It is a drill, after all, frequently practised in all weather in the rain and mud of Germany.

			‘Like it,’ the sergeant major replies, smarting from the ribbing from the Paras and the Commandos. The drivers wave the clanking vehicles into a demarcated space about the size of a football field. The tracks clink-clink as the vehicles back into place. Scrim nets and guy lines go up and pull taut. The low hum of diesel generators fills the air, and the waft of fumes and oil changes the atmosphere. By nightfall, the headquarters is already in action, after just two hours of effort: a buzzing entity rather than a sorry lay-by. The Desert Rats have arrived.

			*

			The broader equipment situation is diabolical. There are as yet no high-explosive squash head (HESH)2 rounds that are one form of the tanks’ ammunition load alongside the depleted uranium armour-piercing fin-stabilised discarding sabot (APFSDS) darts. Even small-arms ammunition is in short supply.3 Tank crews have to hand in ‘Enhanced Combat Body Armour’ so the infantry can have it. While most fighting troops arriving still have green combats and black leather boots, the RAF liaison teams are resplendent in the latest windproof desert combats and sand boots.4

			In SCOTS DG, Staff Sergeant Tam McVey cuts open a box with a Stanley knife, hoping for desert kit, and finds blue-and-white checked chef’s trousers.5 There is nothing to do but laugh. The hastily-applied yellow paint is streaking already from the vehicles in the sand and the wind. Still, amid these inadequacies, and the periodic false alarms for Scuds and gas, there is considerable excitement. Inevitably too, the SCOTS DG regard their initial position as brigade reserve as another example of anti-cavalry prejudice from the staff of 7th Armoured Brigade.6

			The tanks are bore-sighted, the complex process of matching the view from the sights with the exact orientation of the barrel. Once complete, bore-sighting leaves the vehicle’s fighting capacity vulnerable to any accidental knock. The metal monsters cannot shoot straight if the barrel gets snagged and the alignment goes. Here, too, paucity of kit surfaces. Ali Gemmell, a junior officer in SCOTS DG, has the mirror required for the bore-sighting process on his tank cannibalised for use in another battlegroup.7 The B Squadron REME section attach a spare wing mirror to the end of his tank’s barrel and take a photograph as something of a joke (the picture finds its way to brigade headquarters).

			Live firing training begins on Kuwait’s Udairi ranges, squadrons tracking up through the desert with the crews’ torsos out of the turrets, dolled up in their shemagh scarves and third-party goggles. The ranges, like a square with a bite taken out of the top right-hand corner, are only a few kilometres from Iraq, within range of the tanks’ own guns. Here the troops have their first experience firing depleted uranium kinetic rounds; they are unexpectedly powerful, and the tanks rock violently during firing.8 After the initial firing on the ranges, they conduct manoeuvres at the squadron and company level, and all-arms live firing exercises. The tanks can still make 65kph over the sand.

			In C Squadron, squadron leader Major Johnny Biggart is tense and sweating, conscious of the command responsibility already on his shoulders.9 He tells the squadron that on the return leg from the ranges, anyone who experiences a ‘barrel strike’ will be formally charged. A barrel strike is the euphemistic term for the vehicles meshing, for the vulnerable, newly bore-sighted tank gun impacting with another object.

			Biggart leaves separately. All shot out, the tank crews plod back from the ranges. The wind rises. The windblown sand becomes ubiquitous: in the teeth, in the eyes, working in through the foam surrounds on the aftermarket ski goggles. The crews were shattered already and the weather exacerbates their fatigue. Individuals fall asleep for a few seconds before starting at the kick of a commander in the small of their back.

			A crash judders through the tank of Rick Le Sueur. He realises with a deep, sickening feeling that his driver has lodged his barrel right through the rear turret bin of the tank of Larry Lamb, one of the most competent NCO commanders in the squadron. Back in Le Sueur’s tank, the gunner’s face ploughs into the sight mechanism. Johnny Biggart is livid when they eventually limp home. He declares he will do as he threatened and charge Le Sueur, a formal complaint under military law that could see him lose a month’s salary. (Le Sueur was not charged; Biggart did not follow through with the threat).

			The tanks finally receive their fit of specialised desert equipment and extra armour — a process some had thought might never take place. Geordies in coveralls, individuals who seem to the young soldiers to be of an impossibly advanced age, work in a temporary engineering shop. Desert air filters are inset into each vehicle’s mechanical trachea. Reactive armour, designed to dissipate the energy of an enemy tank round by bursting outwards in response, now hangs halfway down over their tracks. At last there is issued GPS.10 ‘Blue Force Tracker’, an American GPS-enabled system, is installed on a few British vehicles. This device will show on ruggedised screens where friendly units are, and in the theory of its designers, finally clear the fog of war.

			Back at the SCOTS DG camp, Rick Le Sueur is withdrawn and despondent after the barrel strike and Biggart’s threat to charge him. Chris Brannigan, the leader of B Squadron, seeks him out. ‘I hear you’ve had a tough day,’ he says. ‘Johnny’s call is not the one I would have made.’11 Le Sueur is comforted. Brannigan does not need to add that which is self-evident to all the old guard — and meaningless to the new. Where they are now is exactly the same place that they finished in 1991. In a dozen years, they have made a circle.

			*

			The reconnaissance troop of the SCOTS DG, the apparent elite of the regiment, equipped with lightweight Scimitar vehicles and led by Captain Will Leek, prematurely starts the war.12 They return from practising firing on a range by the berm of bulldozed sand that marks the border. The little tanks encounter a group of border guards. At this last antebellum moment, these men resemble boxing referees holding two prize-fighters apart until the bell goes. Robin Gowland watches from his Scimitar turret as the Kuwaitis emphatically give directions in a mixture of broken English and hand signals. Will Leek nods and speeds off. Only later do they realise that, if not actually in Iraq itself, they had at least entered into some kind of no-man’s-land between that country and Kuwait: there were what looked like observation posts in the middle. This navigational embarrassment becomes a running joke in the regiment — recce troop crossed the border early, before the war began.

			On 14 March, Lieutenant General Jeff Conway, the commander of the American 1st Marine Expeditionary Force, addresses the British troops, standing on top of a Challenger tank flying the Union Jack and the Stars and Stripes, and flanked on either side by AS-90 self-propelled artillery pieces with their barrels pointed skywards.13 A bridging rig stands half-unfurled in the background like a giant articulated McDonald’s sign.14 The British acknowledge on an intellectual level that the Americans are in charge. Many appreciate that the real reason they are here is to maintain British military standing in American eyes. The projected blood sacrifice — which is significant, with the British estimating it will cost several hundred fatalities to take Basra15 — is earmarked for that cause and, really, that cause alone.

			Yet the atmosphere in which they have spent their careers, the whole idea of what they are as a British military institution, is defined by not being American. So they listen to Conway — but afterwards they go back to joking and smoking, and remarking pointedly that the Yanks are the most dangerous people in theatre.

			The sheer scale of the American contingent impresses those who see it closely, though. Chris Parker is informed that the Americans have a refuelling brigade. A whole brigade just to handle fuel. The British army is straining to put a single armoured brigade into the field. The Americans have plans to roll enormous hoses north, and land fuel bladders on highways in C-130 aircraft. In another meeting with the US air planners, it is explained to Parker that the Americans will dispatch two fast jets ahead of the British every ten minutes, along with a permanent swarm of Bell Cobra attack helicopters. Parker asks how long they can keep that act up for. As an ex-pilot, he knows about catapult maintenance cycles on the carriers and engine-change schedules and the other massive logistical challenges of airpower. The Americans reply, ‘Indefinitely, Sir.’ Parker’s jaw drops so far that another American — out of genuine attempted kindness — elaborates: ‘That means for ever, sir.’ Chris Parker knows, too, that this swarm of projected airpower means the war will, even in this ostensibly British corner, be fought largely by American helicopters, not British tank guns.

			Parker also knows another uncomfortable truth, which is not in wide circulation. The British objective of Basra, Iraq’s second city, is just across the border. The Americans, by contrast, are going all the way to Baghdad, upwards of 500km further north-west. This division of labour reflects hard limits to British capability. Due to shortages of spare parts 7th Armoured Brigade’s maximum reach is 95km. Were they to be heading further afield, the brigade’s vehicles would have to go into self-cannibalisation mode, lifting parts from each other as required.16 (Parker doubts the politicians could survive the images of lines of hulks on the road to Baghdad and only twenty-five vehicles making it there on ‘Iraqi-scabbed fuel’, but theoretically it is possible.) Likewise, they could if necessary use transporters to move the tracked vehicles north, potentially with one squadron fighting in the lead on their tracks. But without the spare parts they were forbidden to stockpile, 7th Armoured Brigade’s maximal theoretical reach without extreme measures only allows them to take Basra, just over the border.

			The Americans are understanding. ‘We’re sorry, guys,’ they tell Chris Parker at a planning conference. ‘We know it’s not your fault. It’s your politicians.’

			In the van of the invasion come the engineers: troops from 32 Engineer Regiment in Hohne, where Guy Couper-Marsh is a young officer.17 The sappers are tasked with breaching the border berm in their combat engineering tractors. The Armoured Vehicle Royal Engineers (AVRE) has a dozer blade and carries two fascines, bound bundles of poles used to fill obstacles, atop its chassis like a reflection of the ur-tanks of the First World War.18 The reliability of the AVREs is spectacularly bad.19 To account for this weakness, the plan demands they advance to the border berm on tank transporter lorries. Only for the final stretch of a few hundred metres must they wheezily self-propel. The AVREs will also move forward in pairs; if one vehicle breaks down, there will be another on hand to continue the mission.

			The SCOTS DG battlegroup, along with other 7th Armoured Brigade units, draws up in Assembly Area Barnsley — the name reflects Binns’ Yorkshire roots. The tanks are parked in neat lines. In between them stand the Warrior fighting vehicles of the two attached Irish Guards companies. Green sleeping bags, incongruous in the desert, unfurl over the back decks over the engines. In between the fighting vehicles lies a humanitarian exception: two CVR(T) Samaritan ambulance variants stand by with wheeled vehicles — the regimental aid post. Emma Silvester’s war is about to start.

			*

			Silvester is twenty-nine, daughter of a warrant officer in the Queen’s Dragoon Guards.20 Growing up in a military environment has granted her an early view of the army’s often-Neanderthal gender politics. Her experiences in Iraq speak to those of women in the army in general in 2003, and how complex their existence could be in an institution that is overwhelmingly male not only in terms of numbers but also in culture.

			At sixteen, back in Swansea with her father out of the army, Silvester began studying travel and leisure at an FE college. After a month she left to enlist. Her father suggested the army. He thought that — unlike her sisters, both of whom were rebellious — Emma could cope with the discipline. The sergeant presiding at the careers office suggested she could be a driver in the Royal Corps of Transport (as it was then), which appealed less than a little. Silvester reported the ‘C’ she had scored for GCSE science. The sergeant replied that the Royal Army Medical Corps was now recruiting women as combat medical technicians, tasked to go out in the field with the infantry with field dressings and Asherman chest seals. To Silvester, that sounded much more appealing than becoming a driver.

			In 1994 at Guildford, the home depot of the Women’s Royal Army Corps,21 Silvester found the culture of an all-female military unit — in which more senior lesbians often showed an interest in new recruits — intimidating. She was hopeless at basic training, her rifle disintegrating into a maelstrom of component rods and loosed springs when she tried to strip it. On exercise at night, she once halted for a long time, her unit baffled behind her, until someone discovered she did not know where they were meant to go.

			When that ghastly bootcamp time was done, though, Silvester found herself in field hospitals that were properly mixed environments, where women held real jobs with concomitant professional expertise, and were respected. She felt the system had space for her — until Bosnia in 1996, when 22 Field Hospital went to Tomislavgrad up in the hills. They installed themselves in a disused cable factory and a prefab complex built for them by the engineers who camped nearby. One week, an RAF Chinook stopped by for an unexpected refuel. The aircrew ate in the cookhouse and saw, drop-jawed, how many women were present. After that, a Chinook appeared every Friday afternoon to take the nurses down to Split. Silvester realised then why her female medic colleagues had brought make-up on tour. She rebelled when the liberty-bird pilots refused to let her male colleagues — including the man she had become engaged to — onto the Chinook.

			Silvester’s idealism crumbled a little. Then she realised a senior NCO, whom she had respected and thought a decent man, was sleeping with a nurse even though he was married. When the tour ended, she flew home and turned in her papers. She thought she might become an air stewardess. But in camp at Gosport in 1997, something changed her mind. She rescinded her resignation, split up with her partner and, when the offer came in 2002 of a Germany posting, turned down 1st Armoured Field Ambulance in Hohne and went instead to the SCOTS DG as a squadron medic. She arrived in Fallingbostel in autumn 2002 as matters were heating up for the Gulf. They billeted her in the tiny woman’s block by the med centre. There she lived with the Fijian clerk girls who were confused by the rhythms of army life; they drank heavily, sometimes did not know the days of the week and thought the important thing to do in the morning was parade somewhere on camp at 8.30 a.m., regardless of whether you stood in the ranks of your regiment or another one entirely.

			Once in Kuwait, on one horrible night she is told to go off on stag — sentry duty — with a loaded rifle. She spends the night pacing around the parked Samaritan ambulance in terror that she might really have to shoot someone, even though they have not yet crossed the border.

			That was still not when Emma Silvester’s war started. Rather, it is now, in the assembly area, with vehicles to the left of them and vehicles to the right of them, like some Tennyson parody, and nowhere at all to go that is private, and her now in desperate need of the bathroom. Thus far, the boys in her vehicle have been good with these things. The other two of them in the Samaritan decided wordlessly that she would have the stretcher to sleep on while they kipped outside. They looked away when she washed. But here in Assembly Area Barnsley there is literally no privacy, just line after parallel line of tanks and other caterpillar-tracked vehicles. Silvester asks her commander: he replies that she can’t head off; who knows when they’ll move. In the end, in full public view, she squats by the side of her vehicle.

			When that is done, it seems that there can be nothing worse, that she has crossed over the Rubicon. But worse things there will be.

			*

			On 18 March, Parliament votes for war by 412 to 149 votes.22 The war begins on 19 March. The first move is an attempted precision airstrike on the Dora Farms complex outside Baghdad, aimed at killing Saddam and decapitating the regime.23 The intelligence is flawed and Saddam is not there. Shock and awe follows, a wholesale party of cruise missiles and congested airspace. At Permanent Joint Headquarters at Northwood on the outskirts of London, they watch on television like everyone else, but with the distinction that they hold in their hands the running order, a programme printed out like an opera handbook that shows the progression of airborne sorties and missile strikes for this night of destruction.24

			On 22 March, both the SCOTS DG battlegroup, containing C and B Squadrons, and the Black Watch battlegroup, with A Squadron, cross the border into Iraq.25 On the other side, ‘the scene that greeted us would have been familiar to any invading army’, the B Squadron account in the regimental journal later reads.26 ‘A population with a dazed expression, plumes of smoke on the horizon and destroyed and abandoned enemy vehicles by the roadside.’ The Black Watch battlegroup replaces a unit of the 1st (US) Marine Expeditionary Force, an exercise much messier than it is planned to be,27 and takes up blocking positions around the town of al-Zubayr. On their first day inside Iraq, B Squadron also moves around 100km to the outskirts of the town.28 They spend the night on a position south-west of Shaibah airfield centred on some road junctions. The debris of destroyed Iraqi armoured vehicles is scattered around, still smoking. Their sleep is fitful and uncomfortable inside the turrets, disturbed by chemical alerts.

			C Squadron on its first day advances to positions around Basra, and sees its first action the following evening on an isolated peninsula to the north of the city.29 This transition, the move from all those years of practice and peace to real war, is ragged. Trigger-happy gunners start to kill easily; elation is apparent on the radio. Johnny Biggart shuts that up promptly and crisply.30 In the east, 4th Troop, with Captain Harry Jameson and Larry Lamb, comes under heavy fire around Hayy al-Intisar.31

			B Squadron receives orders the next morning to advance as part of a battlegroup move north of Basra, to cut off northern routes into the city, and prevent infiltration and extraction of Iraqi reinforcing elements. One objective is to capture a power station on the banks of the Euphrates. They advance over precariously-structured bridges, which visibly sag and groan under the weight of the armoured vehicles. Chris Brannigan glances from his turret as they cross. Lying on the ground is a pair of upright boots, and draped around them a perfectly pooled pair of combat trousers, creating the image of an Iraqi soldier who must have literally undone his belt and stepped out of his uniform. Brannigan wonders where the owner of the trousers has gone, what he’s done with his weapon, who else has gone with him and what they were wearing now. It is his first indication that the enemy has changed form, from a uniformed formation into something else.

			The squadron waits as the Queen’s Dragoon Guards, the recce troops who went to war instead of the 9th/12th Lancers, extract from the area.32 The narrow levee road into their designated area seems to go on forever, and as the order of march changes, sub-units become entangled. B Squadron finds itself at the back of the column as darkness falls. They untangle themselves from No. 1 Company of the Irish Guards and thread towards a point marked on their maps as ‘Nick number 104’, a patch of scrubby open marsh ground they do not trust, for fear of the vehicles bogging in.

			C Squadron have been in contact here already and the mood is still not right. B Squadron spends the night conscious of enemy infantry probing the edge of the position, watching Iraqi rocket fire from the north arcing high through the dark sky towards the positions in Basra. They are mortared an hour before dawn. Rounds fall into the middle of 3rd Troop and onto the front decks of the squadron leader’s tank.33 They receive hasty orders to withdraw, injecting a sense of urgency into the situation that implies something has drastically changed. They pull out on the route they advanced the previous night. The squadron’s CRARRV (Challenger Armoured Repair and Recovery Vehicle), designed to retrieve stuck tanks, becomes disorientated and, attempting a series of lumbering turns on the narrow and rapidly-disintegrating levee, demolishes an outbuilding. The squadron rendezvous on the home bank of the Shatt al-Basra canal, unclear as to what pulled them back with such urgency. The withdrawal is rounded off when troop leader Ranneth de Silva throws both the tracks on his tank as he climbs a muddy incline and attempts to turn. He is subject to much ribald abuse.

			Meanwhile, A Squadron is involved in intense fighting in al-Zubayr, 20km south of Basra, raiding into the town with D Company of the Black Watch.34 A mistake by an experienced late-entry Royal Engineer captain sends two men — Sapper Luke Allsopp and Staff Sergeant Simon Cullingworth — into an uncleared location in the town in a soft-skinned Land Rover; a mob pulls them from the vehicle and drags them off, then kills them.35 It is the kind of incident that Parker had attempted to prepare for at BATUS with his ‘missing REME and medical vehicles’ drills. Now, in the reality of the war, some deep military — and indeed human — instinct to recover your own engages. 4th Troop from A Squadron hurl into the town with Warriors from the Black Watch. As in other engagements elsewhere, there is small-arms fire and RPGs, but both those irritants largely bounce off the Challengers. They do not, though, find the missing men.

			The official Iraqi Army and feared Republican Guard, so much discussed beforehand, appear to have faded away. Instead, the talk in the turrets is rapidly of fedayeen, irregulars, in red scarves and white pickup trucks.

			On 28 March at around 11.30 p.m., A Squadron comes under accurate fire from a multi-barrelled rocket launcher.36 They take shelter in their turrets. Afterwards, Major Tim Brown, the squadron leader, makes a ‘Charlie Charlie 1’ call, addressing every callsign on the net. There is a ghastly pause before anyone answers and he wonders how many may be injured or dead. Thankfully, casualties turn out to be limited to three wounded.

			After their initial engagements, C and B Squadrons pull into Shaibah airfield south-west of Basra.37 B Squadron set up in an abandoned Iraqi hangar, and settle into the unsettling nature of being in reserve.38 They plan a mission they have been given to storm the College of Literature in the centre of Basra. The commanders spend hours drawing ideas, schemes of manoeuvre and urban tactics on walls in chalk. Brannigan cadges satellite communications from passing journalists, and uses them to access the internet and read up on Israeli armour tactics in urban environments.39

			Inland, the American V Corps — a military entity about as large as the entire British Army — is punting north towards Baghdad. The American tanks are M1 Abrams, which feature gas turbine engines and a ferocious appetite for hydrocarbons. The refuelling brigade that has so awed the British unfurls its great hose behind the leading units of this Yankee Blitzkrieg.

			They are covering ground; the British, less so.

			Within the British contingent, issues continue with 16 Air Assault Brigade, the airborne formation substituted into the order of battle at the last moment in place of 19th Mechanised Brigade. The configuration of 16 Brigade means it sucks up the majority of British helicopter support,40 depriving the two other brigades of those assets and leaving them reliant on American helicopters.41 In return 16 Brigade, and 3 Commando Brigade as well, have very limited protection, mobility and firepower. The British division as a whole is therefore unbalanced, and has limited ability to manoeuvre. Brigadier ‘Jacko’ Page, commander of 16 Brigade, persistently requests tank and armoured support throughout the invasion; his own brigade lacks any such capability beyond a squadron of light Scimitars from the Household Cavalry. The issue of 16 Brigade reaches its apotheosis with the debacle of Qalaat Siker.42 According to Justin Maciejewski, during the invasion the British division comes under direct pressure from London and Mike Jackson to demonstrate the utility of the air assault capability by conducting an air assault operation.43 The British divisional staff approach the American 1st Marine Expeditionary Force and ask if there is an objective that they could take using a Para battlegroup from 16 Air Assault Brigade. The Americans propose Qalaat Siker, an Iraqi airbase in Maysan. Planning this operation, beyond the boundaries of the British division, proves a major distraction. ‘It really showed to me the degree to which institutional politics surrounding the utility of 16 Brigade was driving decisions,’ Maciejewski says.

			In the end, the Qalaat Siker mission does not happen. The commander of the British helicopter force decides that the risk of losing a Chinook helicopter is too great and divisional commander General Brims calls it off. This leads to embarrassment with the (US) Marines; having asked them for a task, the British then fail to deliver.44 16 Air Assault Brigade’s pathfinder unit, already forward deployed towards the airfield, gets badly shot up. These dalliances show the widespread belief that this war, which most think will not last long, must be used up to the maximum ability, things done for real and legends manufactured. At this stage, many believe the ending will be clean.

			*

			The initial approach taken by Graham Binns, the commander of 7th Armoured Brigade, is to send raiding parties — columns of tanks and warriors — into Basra. These armoured columns prod the southern suburbs and return bearing multiple RPG hits. The rockets are like acupuncture to the crews: noticeable, but they cause limited pain, such is the superiority of British armour over Iraqi arms. On a raid on 6 April, the tank of SCOTS DG officer Ranneth de Silva takes a direct hit on the nose from an Iraqi T-55, a Russian tank of immediate post-Second World War vintage. The British previously thought the T-55 was abandoned.45 De Silva’s whole troop respond; the T-55 is swiftly destroyed.

			It is clear that, in technological terms, it is car versus bicycle. The Iraqi dead lie by the roadsides. On 29 March, Tim Brown’s squadron, a BBC camera strapped to the barrel of its command tank, fell a 300m mast in order to limit the regime’s ability to broadcast in Basra.46 There is a sense, too, of something new, doctrinally. In their Challengers, they are upturning old and deeply-held wisdom that it is a disaster, an inevitable Stalingradian nightmare, to take a tank into a town.47 There are already British casualties though, not all of them inflicted by the enemy. On 25 March, two soldiers from the Queen’s Royal Lancers are killed by a shot from a Royal Tank Regiment Challenger in a friendly-fire incident. It is real now.

			16 Brigade is not alone in requesting support. 3 Commando Brigade, fighting on the al-Faw peninsula and likewise short on protected vehicles, makes a similar bid. The Royal Marines have no armour with them beyond the light Scimitars of the Queen’s Dragoon Guards, and are now expecting Iraqi T-55s to break out south from Basra. At Divisional headquarters, General Brims asks Patrick Marriott, his chief of staff, and Colonel Andy Cowling, the deputy chief of staff, whether it would be possible to move a tank squadron.48 The deputy chief of staff replies that it would not, but he will make it happen.49

			At Shaibah, Johnny Biggart’s C Squadron from SCOTS DG receives orders to detach from the battlegroup. As the Challenger squadron rolls off the airport, Alex Marjoribanks, a non-graduate troop leader fresh out of Glenalmond and the youngest officer in the squadron, sees his troop sergeant’s tank catch on barbed wire.50 The wire wraps fiendishly around the tracks, immobilising the vehicle for an hour. Biggart, furious, announces that the next person to catch their tank on barbed wire will be formally charged. Some time later, the next person to do just that is the squadron leader.

			To reach the al-Faw peninsula, C Squadron must cross the southern end of the Shatt al-Arab waterway. They move at night, Justin Simon’s CRARRV assisting the bogged and the broken-down.51 The tanks arrive at the water’s edge well before dawn. A gloopy mud slope descends to the water. Here they meet the M3 rigs, floating pontoons manned by reservists who have come in darkness, like Charon at the River Styx, to ferry them across. In the gloom, the tanks slip and slide down from the banks onto the rigs. On the far side, Biggart meets a sergeant major from the Queen’s Dragoon Guards, attached as a liaison officer to 3 Commando Brigade. The orders come on a scrap of paper.52

			The tank squadron splits on two axes. One, under Major Biggart, will advance along a raised pipeline to a road junction codenamed ‘Taku’, followed by a 13km stretch along a wide surfaced carriageway to an interchange code-named ‘Coriano’. The other, under Ben Cattermole, the second-in-command, will take a more complicated parallel off-road route 3km to the south. Rick Le Sueur is point tank for much of the operation.53 He never sees any heavy vehicles firing, although he experiences extensive incoming small-arms fire. ‘Action, load,’ go the fire-control orders. Le Sueur’s tank alone destroys seven vehicles, from armoured personnel carriers to tanks. The overall tally for the squadron is fourteen. At the far end of the advance Le Sueur’s vehicle meets a marine — he is wearing no rank, though his confident demeanour suggests a senior NCO.

			‘Really good to see you guys,’ says the marine. ‘Thank you for that. How was it?’

			‘Well, you know, we did what we did,’ Le Sueur replies, consciously underplaying.

			‘No, come on, that looked like a lot of fucking fun.’

			‘Well, how did it look?’

			‘Awesome.’

			The war has come. Yet still there is an element of game to all this.

			C Squadron encountered numerous Iraqi vehicles, but the British tank soldiers believe most were already abandoned. When it reaches England, however, the news is of the greatest British tank battle since the Second World War.54

			*

			For several subsequent days on the al-Faw peninsula, C Squadron of the SCOTS DG live in awkward congress with the marines.55 The commandos clamber over the vehicles as a familiarisation exercise. This is the first time since the Second World War that the marines have worked with heavy armour, and there are misunderstandings to do with logistics. Fraser McLeman brings his Challenger up to demonstrate its capability, only to bog it hopelessly in the soft ground.56

			Soon the interregnum is over. C Squadron is to move forward with the marines on metalled roads into the suburbs of Basra: date palms and small urban areas crossed by canals and ditches.57 There are four lines of attack, and two will be supported by troops of Challengers. The undertaking is codenamed ‘Operation James’, as in James Bond, and the individual objectives correspond to that trope: objectives ‘Pussy’ and ‘Galore’ are crossroads controlling the main routes into Basra from the south. ‘Objective Moore’ is a police barracks 6km to the west of ‘Pussy’.58

			The tanks move forward, each of the two groups accompanied by a CRARRV; before moving off from Shaibah, Johnny Biggart insisted they double the recovery support for the operation. Alongside Justin Simons’ vehicle, there is another from 2 Battalion REME. The enormous dozer machines are tasked to clear obstacles as well as providing mechanical support. On the advance, the tanks blow up ammunition depots in the middle of fields, using bullets and HESH rounds. The orders were initially to destroy anything that could be of use to the enemy, but soon they are told to stop shooting the dumps, as they are sparking up everywhere.

			The problem comes on the advance to Objective Pussy. They encounter fierce resistance. Le Sueur’s troop corporal is initially point tank. There is a problem — Le Sueur thinks the corporal’s turret-mounted general purpose machine gun (GPMG) has been knocked out by a rocket-propelled grenade. They come back and regroup.

			The marines are close in behind them. ‘Right,’ the marine company’s commander says. ‘I’m going to take my guys and we’re going to tab out two kilometres that way and come back.’59 They are mortared. The tank troops jump into their wagons and batten down. Ahead lies a Pinzgauer, a wheeled vehicle the marines abandoned earlier when they came under heavy fire. It is riddled with bullet holes on its left-hand side and the cab windows are shot out. There is limited room, a two-foot margin perhaps, for a tank to squeeze between it and a deep ditch. Callsign 21’s driver, trooper Ilivia ‘Mac’ Macawai, successfully negotiates a path around the obstruction. However, once they are through, a range of date palms nearby erupts with fire — small arms and RPGs streak in towards the tank.60 Macawai slams on the brakes. Bullets smash his vision block, reducing his already-limited situational awareness. An RPG strikes the commander’s cupola. The gunner returns fire with the chain gun, only for it to jam.

			Inside, the crew start to panic. The other two tanks in the troop fire into the enemy positions. Inside, Callsign 21’s commander, David ‘Charlie’ Baird, attempts to calm his crew, and tells Macawai to reverse back past the Pinzgauer. The intercom has been malfunctioning all week, and the shouting in the turret strains matters further. Baird turns around in his seat. Despite the damage to the sights, he still has some vision through the blocks behind him. He guides the driver. But the others are shouting instructions too; the message is confused.

			The Fijian pulls the wrong stick. The rear of the tank slumps off the road and into the trench. For a moment it looks as though the vehicle may roll over, but that does not happen. However, it does throw both its tracks: the sprockets at the back turn uselessly, no longer driving the treads. The main gun points at the ground. Callsign 21 is blind, immobile, and unable to fight.

			Inside the crippled vehicle, battened down, four men are screaming at each other.

			Le Sueur, 200m back, tries to impose order over the squadron radio net. He brings his own tank and that of his troop corporal up. Together, the two functioning tanks hose the enemy position. It is only a temporary expedient. The crew of Callsign 21 are still panicking.

			While the functioning tanks provide fire support, the crew of 21 evacuate the turret. Baird and Macawai take cover behind the squadron leader’s tank. The gunner and operator scramble into the CRARRV. The REME crew attach a towing cable, but the stricken tank is too heavy to move — the cable snaps.

			It is starting to get dark now. The stranded tank continues to take incoming fire. Among the RPGs and small arms, a more substantial rocket streaks inbound.61 When the second CRARRV arrives, the crew initially refuse to dismount into the maelstrom outside. It is now that Johnny Biggart has his real command moment; he orders an artillery observer nearby to fire smoke shells, to provide a screen to obscure the British from the enemy, and the REME to meet him at the rear of Callsign 21. He dismounts from his tank and walks — walks rather than runs, despite the fire — to where the REME are standing with their backs to the stranded tank. The thoughts of many men here have been turning to ‘denial’, as destroying their own tank is euphemistically termed.

			Biggart explains that they are not going to abandon their vehicle. There will be no denial. Justin Simons calculates the estimated pull required to move the stranded tank.62 The maximum capacity on the CRARRV is 100 tonnes: a straight line pull of 50 tonnes from the winch, run through a pulley block to double the effort. He estimates the weight of the tank with its up-armouring as above 70 tonnes. It has two thrown tracks, is bogged in, and lies at an angle of around 30 degrees. He gets to work with the formula the recovery mechanics are taught in their training. For a bog, ground factor is two (a road would be seven). Rolling resistance is the weight of the vehicle over the ground factor, so something over 70 over 2. Then he needs to include gradient resistance. There is damage resistance to be included — the two thrown tracks. There is a safety factor. All in all, his estimated pull is around 140 tonnes. Technically, the recovery is unfeasible. Yet if he ditches the safety factor, he thinks, it just might go. You could not do this in a trade test, but this is not a trade test.

			The REME attach their tow cable. Tension builds in the metal cord. Up above, another REME NCO, Jason Garrett, mans the GPMG on the CRARRV, his upper body exposed — the recovery vehicle has no internally-operated weapons. The stranded tank starts to move. But the relief is temporary. In ten minutes, they move it 45m. Then the bank gives way. The tank lurches; the cable snaps.

			Charlie Baird’s tank is stuck once more.

			The troops are exasperated, exhausted too. Biggart confers with the REME. It is now that the issue of a peace establishment unready to go to war and the army’s failure to gear itself up to a conflict footing in a timely manner makes itself felt on the ground. If they had plastic explosive, they could use it to cut through the thrown tracks, allowing the tank to be pulled out easily on its road wheels. Tank support units have carried plastic explosive since the Second World War, expressly for the purpose of blowing thrown tracks, but C Squadron has none.63 There is certainly no shortage of the material in theatre — Guy Couper-Marsh’s vehicle is crammed with plastic explosive,64 but it is far away. They consider the use of grenades for the task, but deem that impractical. They could attempt to remove the tracks using the welding equipment carried on the CRARRV — far from ideal. It is pitch black, and welding will burn hot and visible. They will be seen. But there are no better options.

			Inside Rick Le Sueur’s still-functional tank, they have been closed down for over ten hours.65 The gunner, a piper from the Pipes and Drums, develops a severe cramp. He is desperate, too, to defecate. There are bags for the latter, but for the former there is no option but to get out. Le Sueur pops the turret and clambers up. He takes shelter from the incoming fire in the lee side of the turret to let his gunner scramble past. The cables for his headphones are just too short and he has to remove his headset. Johnny Biggart calls him while the gunner is squatting trackside. The squadron leader thinks Le Sueur has fallen asleep and is furious. Le Sueur’s tank gets through the majority of its load of 7.62mm ammunition for the chain gun and its HESH rounds. The chain-gun barrel is meant to be alternated with a spare after a set amount of firing, otherwise it becomes dangerously hot.66 Le Sueur blows one barrel; later he will be pulled up in front of the squadron leader, the sergeant major and the tiffy (artificer sergeant major) from the REME to justify his actions.

			Back at the stranded tank, Simons advances from the CRARRV, spooling out the welding kit, which is electrically driven from a slave socket on the recovery vehicle.67 Simons struggles to see; to weld, he needs to wear a mask to protect his eyes, but it is dark. When he begins, the light produced is intense. It can be seen 3km back at friendly lines, and can most definitely therefore be seen by the Iraqis, who are much closer. Even though the British tanks respond in kind, there is still much incoming fire.

			The tank is at an angle and there is water at one side. Simons tries six or seven times to cut the weakest point of the web of the track, but to no avail. He tries splitting the track conventionally with tools, but this approach, too, is futile. The tracks are under considerable tension. The vehicle has also done so much mileage that the pads have worn down and chamfered the nuts that he needs to loosen. The situation is a mess. Eventually he gives up. Johnny Biggart gets out and speaks to him on the ground.

			Simons explains that there is one final possibility — they can link the two CRARRVs together with chains and attach them to the stricken tank with rigid A-frames in place of the busted winches. A-frames, which have no give at all, are not best practice for tank recovery, but there is no alternative.

			Biggart gives them the go-ahead. They attach the A-frames. The second CRARRV pulls on the first. Slowly, ever so slowly, the blinded tank extracts itself from the gloop and returns to the road. They pull back out of range to the squadron hide at Taku. There the REME finally free the tracks, and Callsign 21 is pulled back 32km on its road wheels to Shaibah. It has taken fourteen direct RPG strikes, a hit from a plundered British anti-tank weapon, endless small-arms impacts;68 it is severely damaged, but not beyond repair.69 Callsign 21 is back at the frontline within seventy-two hours.70




			Chapter 4

			Occupation

			Shaibah remains the main centre of gravity of the British effort, the line of departure for raiding parties into Basra and a place for refuelling, rearming, vehicle maintenance and, of course, waiting. At the airfield the remaining tanks of A and B Squadrons of the SCOTS DG are drawn up with the Warriors of the Irish Guards’ infantry companies and the Black Watch.

			Guy Couper-Marsh fights his way in to Shaibah with the Irish Guards.1 The journey is picaresque. At one stage, he is tasked to a lot of abandoned engineering plant that the guardsmen have discovered. One of his corporals reports that enterprising Micks2 have hotwired the machines and undertaken pneumatic duels with them, like full-sized robot wars.3 Couper-Marsh takes a procession of the diggers, using them to build roadblocks for vehicle check-points. This task accidentally exposes the telephone cabling beneath a central motorway reservation — he hears that some of the system in Basra was disrupted. On another occasion, an infantry officer asks Couper-Marsh to drop a building to clear fields of fire around the Basra University complex. That done, the furious owner stands outside; Couper-Marsh is struck by the fact that they are already alienating the local population.4

			The British are now on the bridges around the city. Basra is effectively under siege, though civilians, whatever that may mean in this context of fedayeen irregulars, are allowed through. On the secure video conference to London, General Brims says he could go into Basra now but he does not want to risk a Stalingrad.5 Despite political pressure for rapid results, they continue with the raiding approach. So far, the SCOTS DG Battlegroup is yet to lose anyone. That is about to change.

			On 6 April, the battlegroup’s aid post, workplace of medic Emma Silvester, is set up in the shattered lobby of the electronics department of Basra Technical College. They establish an area to the rear for those with diarrhoea and vomiting, a resuscitation position in a large stairwell, and a private room for routine consultations just off the lobby.6 Present too is a medical section from 1 Close Support Medical Regiment. One member of the medical section has worked as an electrician in civilian life, and he crafts two sets of surgical-style lights for each of the resuscitation bays. They also build waist-high wooden barriers to ensure that anyone looking on will not interfere with treatment being provided by the resuscitation teams.7 Emma Silvester takes a photograph of her driver, headquarters squadron NCO Billy Gilchrist, standing outside the doors in a mortarboard and gown he found in the abandoned classrooms. In the picture, he smiles like the student he never was.

			In battlegroup headquarters, Corporal James Johnston, on night radio stag, hears a contact report.8 Someone from the Irish Guards reports ‘two killed’. Confusion follows. Someone else on the net assumes the verb is active, that they have killed two people. They are wrong.9

			It is just after 9 p.m. At the aid post, a medical sergeant — probably the company medic from the Irish Guards — arrives first in a 432 from the scene of the incident. He thrusts a British helmet into the hands of a Zimbabwean medic.10 The helmet cover is soaked in blood. ‘Deal with it,’ he says. The medic blanches. Moments later, two Warriors scream up, grit spewing from their tracks. Irish Guardsmen heft in two bodies, two soldiers who have been shot dead and three other casualties. A narrative of what has happened emerges. A gunman sprayed the open back door of a Warrior with rifle fire. At the aid post, the two dead are taken to a back room. There is time enough for the Zimbabwean medic to see that one of those killed is a relative of hers serving with the Irish Guards, Piper Christopher Muzvuru. The medic collapses into sobs.

			Others lift the wounded into the resuscitation beds. One is a straightforward case: shrapnel in the shoulder. Emma Silvester jimmies it out with forceps under local anaesthesia.11 Others are more seriously injured. There are two doctors at the aid post, Craig Pope, the medical officer of the SCOTS DG, and Major Kevin Burgess from the Royal Army Medical Corps. Burgess is a GP with 1 Close Support Medical Regiment.12 Burgess allows Pope to lead the team as he had finished a busy Accident and Emergency job in Birmingham around seven months earlier.13 Most of the team have never seen trauma treated in a surgical environment.

			As they deal with the casualites, Emma Silvester thinks she hears Pope say: ‘Get 50ml morphine.’

			‘You mean 10ml, sir?’ Silvester replies. Pope confirms. 50ml is a vastly excessive dose.14

			The live casualties are finally stabilised, but the night is not over. A local fighter — seemingly not an Iraqi — is brought in. He is covered in mud, naked and holed like a colander. Silvester is tasked to take the wounded man to the field hospital at Shaibah, 14km away, which has more capability than both the regimental aid post and the dressing station 4km to the south-west. Silvester drags the wounded man into her Samaritan ambulance. With Gilchrist’s help, she shoulders him onto the stretcher that until now has served as her bed. The medical officer gets an intravenous line into him, but as the vehicle starts to move, everything that goes into him seems to flow immediately out of the holes. She squeezes at the fluids as hard as she can. The Samaritan jerks over the rough ground. There are no windows to provide even a smidgeon of exterior reference point. It is fully pitch-black in there except for the glow of her head torch.

			Ten minutes in, the man sits up and vomits all over her. Bafflingly, he starts speaking in French. Well before they reach Shaibah, Silvester, squeezing the set used to give intravenous fluids with hands slicked with blood and vomit in the churning Samaritan, is starting to despair. At the hospital at Shaibah, they delay in taking him in. The theory is that Iraqis get the same treatment as the British; it seems the practice is different.15 The next morning a four-tonne truck, its windows blacked out, arrives at the regimental aid post to take the British bodies away. The Zimbabwean medic vanishes too. The aid post staff never see her again.

			*

			On the night of 5–6 April, at about 2.30 a.m. local time, the intelligence cell in 7th Armoured Brigade headquarters receives information that a convoy of white land cruisers is leaving Basra over the one bridge that the British have deliberately left open.16 It is Ali Hassan al-Majid, known as ‘Chemical Ali’ for his earlier role in gassing Kurds, and now the regime’s key man in Basra. Earlier, al-Majid narrowly avoided an airstrike targeted on the basis of information from local Iraqi sources.

			On the night that al-Majid leaves Basra, there are two British raiding parties in the city, from the Black Watch and SCOTS DG battlegroups. At Brigade headquarters, Chris Parker wakes Graham Binns.17 Binns looks at the maps and sees there is potential now to turn the raids into an occupation, by the simple measure of staying put rather than withdrawing. Binns orders the raiding parties inside the city to halt. Brigade headquarters hurriedly brings into action the Fusiliers battlegroup (which is meant to be on a twenty-four-hour rest and repair period).18 Within an hour, the unit heads into north Basra. That afternoon, the Royal Tank Regiment battlegroup moves through the Black Watch in near radio silence, using one of the manoeuvres designed in the tent in Poland a few months before.

			The battle is over by sunset on 6 April 2003. The winding streets of Basra’s Old Town are difficult for armoured vehicles to check thoroughly. The Paras, whose largely uneventful war has focused so far on the gas oil separation plants,19 are brought forward to clear the old city during the next morning. They are itching for a scrap, but no opportunity presents itself.20

			The British are now in occupation of Basra.

			There is no plan — really none at all — for what should follow. Chris Parker, as brigade chief of staff, finds himself trying to run a port city twice the size of Liverpool.21 ‘Where are the suits?’ he asks, exasperated, as Blair and Alastair Campbell fly in for a visit. Parker means the development people, the proper civil engineers who can do more than the sappers can, the folk from DfID and the senior civil servants. However, the Department for International Development, under Clare Short, an avowed opponent of the war, has failed to gear up to assist post-invasion.22

			Baghdad falls soon afterwards. Paul Bremer, an American diplomat, rapidly succeeds retired general Jay Garner as the effective US viceroy. At the helm of the new Coalition Provisional Authority, Bremer disbands the Baath Party and the entire Iraqi military and security infrastructure, putting thousands of militarily-trained men out of work, with disastrous consequences for the occupation.

			In Basra, looters — known as ‘Ali Babas’ by the British and locals alike — are ubiquitous. British Military Police major Nadine Heron is named chief of police for Basra. She wants to start registering recruits for a new police force.23 Lieutenant Colonel Mike Riddell-Webster, the commanding officer of the Black Watch, calls most of her team off to start throwing up vehicle checkpoints. Heron has to send the Iraqi volunteers away. ‘It is overwhelming, we do not have the assets to do this,’ she tells a cameraman. ‘This is a city with 1.6 million people in it.’

			The red-capped military police are trying to hold back the tide. Alex Matheson of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards finds himself firing his pistol in the air to keep crowds back.24 Rick Le Sueur ends up in a back alley with a gung-ho military police staff sergeant, prising loose an apparently kidnapped girl.25 They are alone with no radio. In two months’ time, six Royal Military Police will die in a similar situation in the town of al-Majar al-Kabir, but for now it is still a honeymoon. At least here, in parts of the largely Shia south that hated Sunni Saddam, the British are welcomed. In Abu al-Khasib, west of Basra, Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq, a schoolgirl in 2003, remembers her first meeting with British troops. Her younger brother befriended a soldier called Alex, taking him to the market to make sure that the foreigners, unfamiliar with Iraqi dinars, would be charged a fair price for fruit and vegetables.26

			The sense of licence and mayhem, the demob happiness, extends to the British too. Colin Dobeson, a SCOTS DG battle captain and classicist, vanishes to visit the site of ancient Babylon. At Shaibah, the boys sit in their tank turrets and spin the magnification sights to observe the female clerks and medics under the showers.27 Someone rigs up a screen and shows movies. It is like the Balkans again.28

			Sickness comes, too. There are initially no proper latrines at Shaibah. Even when the engineers dig trenches, they are primitive. Within days diarrhoea and vomiting are widespread.29 Soldiers shit everywhere, clinging to the pickets that the sappers drive in above the trenches. One story holds that a female soldier falls off into an improvised latrine in the night and is unable to clamber out. Afflicted soldiers lie groaning by their vehicles. It looks like Gallipoli or the Crimea, a scene from some past war pre-Listerine. The medics turn to robust measures. Along with NAPS, the nerve agent pre-exposure prophylaxis, each soldier has received BAPS, biological agent pre-exposure pills. Many refused to take them as directed, sceptical of their efficacy and concerned about side effects. Word comes through now that the BAPS are strong antibiotics. They may, therefore, be able to calm ravaged guts.

			Back in London, Geoff Hoon tells a cameraman, ‘We’re still confident that we’ll find weapons of mass destruction, because they’re there.’30 4,500km away at Shaibah, the counter-measures are already spent like super-strength Imodium. No WMD will ever be found in Iraq.

			*

			Amid the sickness, and although the invasion is only just complete, mythmaking — that deep military need to manufacture legend — is already underway. One form it takes is the commissioning of new mess paintings. The agent here is David Rowlands,31 an artist specialising in the practice, and a fit man of fifty.

			In March 2003, soon after returning from a tour with the army in Kabul, Rowlands was at home in Bristol, watching the endless television of the invasion, when he received a telephone call from a bridge outside Basra.

			‘If you can get to Kuwait,’ the warrant officer said, ‘we’ll get you in from there.’

			In London, someone at a regimental headquarters persuaded the shuttered Kuwaiti embassy in Knightsbridge to open especially for Rowlands. He flew commercial to Kuwait and was whisked to the Iraqi border, where he drove past the assembled members of the international press corps, whom the British military were still forbidding to cross. Rowlands smiled at the mutinous reporters. Plumes of oil smoke rose on the horizon.

			‘Battle bowlers on, boys,’ the vehicle commander said as they neared Basra, and the men strapped on their helmets. They had no spare helmet to lend to Rowlands, who was excited at the prospect of entering the battle zone. Rowlands was taken to meet Brigadier Binns in his new headquarters at the gaudy Saddam-vintage palace overlooking the Shatt al-Basra waterway. Binns knew Rowlands’ work and gave him the all-clear to move wherever he wished. For the army, Rowlands was on their side, a personal artist in the Renaissance sense: mythmaker and dreamweaver. He was of the in-group, not the out-group.

			He went to the al-Faw peninsula with Johnny Biggart, in this strange time post-war and pre-insurgency. He heard about the recovery of Callsign 21, Charlie Baird’s tank, still only a matter of days old. Justin Simons and Jason Garrett were told to explain their actions to the painter. By this time, they were relaxed, conducting routine maintenance jobs on their recovery vehicles, and looking forward to returning home. Major Johnny Biggart drove Rowlands up in a Land Rover to see the exact ground where it all happened. Justin Simons rigged his CRARRV to a Challenger tank with a cable and A-frame to show just how the recovery was done. Rowlands made sketches, working rapidly. The scene — which will in due course be titled ‘Thrown Tracks’ — was one of many local actions he was told about. Everyone here wanted to commission canvases from Rowlands. He realised he would be busy for years. They had won a war, after all.

			*

			By now, the tanks have pulled back to Shaibah so that their tracks will do no further damage to the kerbstones and subsurface pipes of Basra itself. The ludicrously under-resourced task of preventing looting falls to the poor bloody infantry. Divisional headquarters takes its one and only move to Basra Airport, and very senior visitors start to appear. As well as Blair and Campbell, there is General Mike Jackson, now fully badged as chief of the general staff (CGS) and head of the army.32 A crew are selected to represent the SCOTS DG battlegroup to him. Emma Silvester is one of these individuals. Justin Simons is another.

			‘Good day for the recy trade,’33 Jackson tells Simons, referring to Simons’ professional specialism: vehicle recovery.

			Jackson sits up late with his battalion commanders.34 The head of the army is increasingly concerned that the coalition plans post-manoeuvre have not been properly thought through. He is nonetheless proud of what his army has achieved.

			On Friday 9 May SCOTS DG are taken off the line for operations. Around 15 May they fly back to Germany. They have been in Iraq for a mere ten weeks. Fraser McLeman has lost his champagne bet on a technicality about what constituted the regiment as ‘complete in theatre’.

			Despite the brigade’s protestations that at this stage they need more troops not less, the heavy armour are not retained. The Paras and the Commandos have already gone as the MoD has no strategic readiness left, should any other global emergency arise. 19th Mechanised Brigade, the next UK unit due to rotate into Iraq, will not be ready to take over in Basra for two months. The issue is sequential: there is in turn no one ready to take over from them until late 2003 at the earliest. The interim brunt falls on the infantry, who remain in theatre until the changeover can take place. As troop numbers dwindle, Chris Parker reminds everyone he can, including generals and Tony Blair, that in 1947, two years post-war, there were still 170,000 British troops in benign northern Germany.35

			The Military Police ask everyone to hand in souvenirs, claiming those that are permitted will be returned. No one ever sees anything again; it is not like the first Gulf War, when actual Iraqi tanks were brought back, as well as countless smaller items.

			*

			Germany is green and soft in the early summer. They arrive at Fallingbostel in the early hours of 16 May, and meet their families in front of the old Nazi blocks. It is early and there are no staff in the officers’ mess. Alex Matheson orders pizzas from the NAAFI. Horrifyingly, there is no Pol Roger.36 The rear party of the Black Watch comes to the rescue and lends a quantity of its own champagne. That morning, officers hold a game ‘which could only be described as a cross between polo, rugby and British bulldogs’ on the officers’ mess lawn.37 It turns mad and violent for reasons they cannot really understand. No officer came to physical harm in Iraq. Rick Le Sueur loses a front tooth now.

			There is drinking among the soldiers too. ‘The boys’ sink booze heavy and fast. Outside the camp, the German reaction is one of pity. There is sympathy for the arme Britische Soldaten — the poor British soldiers — sent far away over the water on an unjust war.38 There is one notable exception to these sentiments. Wolfgang Heer, the owner of the Pink House brothel, has commissioned a banner around a metre in height and wide enough to stretch across a road.39 It reads: ‘Welcome back our brave heroes.’ Heer strings it outside his brothel at telegraph-pole level. He prints white t-shirts with the same slogan in cursive pink across the chest. Whether a brothel actually needs to advertise to an army returning from war is a question for other historians.

			Demand for the Pink House is insane. In the guardroom at camp, Billy Gilchrist fields a call from the brothel asking politely if the British Army can slow down the influx of its soldiers, as the Pink House’s girls are struggling to cope.40 Daryn Lucas, a REME officer attached to the regiment, goes down to inspect on orderly officer duty. He sees men emerging from the brothel and straight away joining the back of a great queue like some scene from a French town in 1916.41 Heer — ever the businessman — pulls in extra girls from his other establishments until there are around forty working in Walsrode.42 He parks a fleet of campervans outside, ignoring the usual class system between the privileged girls inside and their counterparts who turn grimmer tricks in the wagon-lits. Both groups of girls fuck soldiers everywhere now: in the official rooms, in the bar, in their own private rooms, in the parked vans, even in the cupboard and on the grass outside. The atmosphere is mad, a collective release: pay-day times a hundred.

			Nadine, the East German woman who works in the Pink House, watches two male soldiers kiss each other.43 Another soldier stays for three days. For much of that time he requires two girls. His eventual bill is around 18,000 euro. Nadine also ends up in the swimming pool with a rowdy soldier who will not leave though it is nearly dawn. She pads to the bar and asks his friends for help. A gaggle responds, charging out to the pool. One leans down over the aspirant lothario. Nadine sees blood spurt. She realises, with horror, that the man has bitten a section of his compatriot’s nose clean away. They summon an ambulance.

			Other men, in the private rooms, weep for the war that has been and the things they have done.

			In September there is a ball, in white tie, at the Banqueting House on Whitehall in London for the officers of the battlegroup, organised by Patrick Trueman.44 The regiment’s officers attend, and the smart Irish Guards. Guy Couper-Marsh has been posted out of his regiment by this time, but does not receive an invitation.45 Stefan Diepold, the regiment’s civilian farrier, flies over from Germany to attend. He is there among all that period garb that is their mess kit, glinting in the nightlight.46

			On a dank day in October 2003, a SCOTS DG officer who served in Iraq tries to commit suicide.47 The affair is hushed up. One mess story has it that the individual had stopped taking his anti-depressants in order not to cloud his judgement in Iraq. No one talks about whose judgement much higher up the chain may have been equally clouded when it came to the whole bloody venture.

			*

			In 2006, the SCOTS DG will be back in Iraq. A corporal, Gordon Pritchard,48 and a lieutenant, Richard Palmer, will both die in roadside bomb strikes.49 The regiment will deploy to Afghanistan in 2011, when Craftsman Andrew Found, serving with the regiment’s REME attachment, will be killed in another explosion.50

			Fallingbostel garrison will close in 2015, as the British Army at last begins its withdrawal from Germany. The next occupants of the camp are Flüchtlinge, refugees, driven to Germany by the post-Arab Spring migration crisis.51

			In Bristol, it will take David Rowlands years to work up his early Iraq sketches into finished paintings.52 He paints the Royal Engineers breaching the border. He paints a CRARRV with fascines bundled atop crashing the barricades on its way into Basra. He paints two pictures of Challenger tanks of the Queen’s Royal Lancers in action on the outskirts of Basra.

			Finally, in 2007, Rowlands is in his studio in a Georgian house in Bristol, where the first-floor windows face south into full light. He is putting the final touches to his 2003 painting, ‘Thrown Tracks’, working with a fine brush on the CRARRV on a 145cm-width canvas. The painting shows Justin Simons attaching the towing cable and Jason Garrett up on the CRARRV, torso out of the hatch and spitting fire. It is at this point that Rowlands receives a phone call telling him that Jason Garrett has taken his own life: he developed post-traumatic stress disorder after 2003. Some time later, ‘Thrown Tracks’ is handed over to the REME, who commissioned it, at a muted ceremony at their corps headquarters at Arborfield.

			By 2007 Rick Le Sueur is out of the army, running a shopping centre in Lincoln, when the same news reaches him.53 Le Sueur cannot make the funeral. He hears later that Garrett was the longest-serving NCO in the military unit of the Priory psychiatric hospitals. Not once did the system get in touch with any of the troop leaders from C Squadron who were out in Iraq with Garrett in 2003 to report what he was going through.

			As the wars continue, the regiment’s recruiting broadens; there is, eventually, at least one officer with a Scottish accent. When the SCOTS DG move from Fallingbostel back to a former RAF station at Leuchars in Scotland, in 2015, they have to share a new mess with the REME. There is a story that the grubby REME officers dance on their priceless dining table.

			However, the old ways are not completely gone. In June 2017, a court martial in Bulford54 finds Captain Rupert Nurich of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards guilty of ‘negligently damaging service property’. In July 2016 a ‘fathers and sons’ dinner at Allenby Barracks in Bovington descended into ‘improvised gladiatorial style combat’. The officers built a pontoon-style bridge on a swimming pool, from planks of wood and a kayak, with the intention of fighting each other using brooms with pillows on the ends. The action was inspired by the 1990s TV show Gladiators.55 Nurich, who had drunk two glasses of Pimms and six glasses of wine, fired off pyrotechnic flares ‘found’ by his brother SCOTS DG officer Lieutenant Tim Carpenter. One flare shot through an upper window of a seven-storey residential building, setting fire to a room and corridor. The blaze, brought under control eventually by ten fire crews, caused £400,000 of damage and destroyed all the personal possessions of a civilian steward. She too suffered PTSD and mild depression.

			During the fire, someone took a photograph of a cheeseboard carefully preserved and laid on the ground in front of a fire engine and snaking hoses, as though to indicate that, despite the chaos, the important things had been saved from the conflagration.

			High spirits continue in the mess.




		
			Part 2

			Something Happened

			The Black Watch and the reorganisation of the infantry

			IRAQ, WARMINSTER, LONDON, SCOTLAND
OCTOBER 2004 — MARCH 2006

			The North is full of tangled things and texts and aching eyes,

			And dead is all the innocence of anger and surprise.

			G.K. Chesterton, Lepanto (1911)

			Traditions and uniforms … are indeed important to us but they have no intrinsic right to a permanent place in our existence unless they serve a specific and current purpose.

			Lieutenant General Sir Alistair Irwin, ‘What is best in the regimental system?’ (2004)

		




			Chapter 5

			Inbound

			North Babil, Iraq, night of 28–29 October 2004

			A portion of the Black Watch arrive by helicopter from Baghdad, in waves from around 10 p.m. to 4 a.m.1 The two-rotor Chinooks are familiar but the pilots are American, foreign and drawling on their radio sets.

			In the darkness, there is no sense of scale or place. When dawn comes it is wasteland: flat empty desert. Above is Mesopotamian sky.2 The American name of ‘Dogwood’ will become the one that sticks, although the official British title for the group of relatively undamaged buildings is Camp Ticonderoga, after an eighteenth-century battle in North America.3 This place is not in the least worth fighting for, bar the fact that it marks a strategic void south of Fallujah: a potential route into, and out of, that city. In March, the bodies of captured American Blackwater contractors were hung from a bridge over the Euphrates in Fallujah. Now, in the autumn of the second year of the war, the truculent city remains uncrushed.

			The Scottish Black Watch men in Dogwood include Guy Williams, a lieutenant at twenty-four, and eighteen months out of the officer factory at Sandhurst.4 Williams is in no way Scottish and — in further violation of all junior officer etiquette — is also married. He met Natalie — Nats, he calls her — through close friends when he was sixteen. Nats is at the battalion’s base — now at Warminster on the edge of Salisbury Plain — upwards of 5,000km away, with the other grown-up wives and the incessant TV. In Nats’ mind already loops a phrase that came as though from nowhere, and has nowhere else to go: ‘Triangle of Death’.

			The troops that came in by air meet up with those already arrived by road with the vehicles needed for their stay. Williams was among those who made the road move, a process still ongoing on the morning of the 29th. Their Warrior vehicles were introduced in the late 1980s as infantry runabouts for the next fixture with the Soviets on the North German Plain.5 Two men sit in the turret, the driver is forward and low down, and there is space for seven, knee-to-knee with rifles ported, in the hold at the back. In 2004, the Warrior equips all ten armoured infantry battalions in the army. There are no windows beyond a tiny prism in the rear door; at this still-early juncture in the war, no digital screens give external reference points. Crucially, in this scorched country, the Warriors also lack air-conditioning.6

			The wagons are crammed, packed with ten-man ration packs and varied ammunition. There are belts for the chain guns and extra shells for the 30mm Rarden cannon. There are pistol rounds and mortar shells and above all, in ribbed two-litre bottles, there is water.7 All in all, there are 459 vehicles in the two convoys making the journey from Basra;8 the first convoy alone includes over 300, split into nine ‘packets’. By the morning of the 29th, five packets are still en route — they passed the night at an American base called Duke near Karbala.9 Early in the morning, A and D Companies of the Black Watch move out in the Warriors to guard the route into Dogwood for the arrival of the remaining convoy packets.10 The driver in Guy Williams’ Warrior is Private Kevin McHale, twenty-seven years old, and unlike his boss a proper Jock. In the army for five years, McHale hails from Lochgelly in Fife.

			Ahead of them advances the American ‘Task Force Pathfinder’, a specialist unit mounted in M113 armoured personnel carriers for the detection and destruction of roadside bombs. Pathfinder soon finds and deals with six 120mm shells, connected as a ‘daisy chain’ improvised explosive device (IED).

			The Black Watch have lost a man already in a Warrior. On 12 August, Marc Ferns, a 21-year-old from Glenrothes in Fife, was driving in Basra with his hatch open.11 A device, believed to be an Iranian anti-tank mine, activated roadside and sprayed shrapnel across the prow of the vehicle, killing Ferns. Ferns’ head was out of his hatch, beyond the capabilities of vehicular armour. Trust in their vehicles was not shaken. Now, though, they are about to lose another man.

			Some hours after leaving Dogwood with the rest of A Company, Guy Williams’ vehicle pauses for twenty minutes on a corner by a building to grab some breakfast. They continue down a narrow dirt road that runs perpendicular to the Euphrates, and reach a ditch. It is a narrow divide cut for irrigation; murky sediment clouds the water, and reeds cluster near the banks. Two cylinders lie across the gap. Mud first poured and later stamped down around the cylinders serves as a rudimentary bridge.

			Williams’ vehicle is the first in the convoy. He is up in the commander’s hatch with the lid sprung behind him. He looks with sleepless eyes at this pathetic excuse for a bridge. He thinks of the Platoon Commanders’ Battle Course at Brecon in Wales; those endless exercises on Sennybridge, and the later conversion to armour at Warminster, all infantry-based and all more rugged than anything the junior cavalry officers do. The ‘Directing Staff’ solution here would be a prior engineer recce — for someone technically qualified to decide whether the bridge is strong enough to take the Warrior’s weight. But there are no engineers present, and there is no time to wait. The radios — still unencrypted in 2004 — hiss below him. The exhaust of the serried vehicles makes the horizon shimmer. Williams tells Dan Dixon, his gunner, to get out and advance on foot to guide him over the bridge. Two privates, Steve Ambrose and Phil Wright, are also in the vehicle, down in the hold. Dan Dixon begins the vehicle marshalling signals with clenched fists and straight arms. Williams tells his driver to advance over the intercom. Down in the hull, in the same driver’s seat where Marc Ferns sat eleven weeks ago, is Kevin McHale. Warrior Callsign 10 crunches forward.

			They are halfway across when the bridge starts to go. First the sand cracks off and slips away from the supporting tubes like a premonition of an earthquake. In an instant, the entire jerry-rigged structure collapses down into the reeds. The Warrior, a vehicle with a base weight of over 25 tonnes, seems to fall impossibly slowly. Up in the turret, Williams’ head is full of Nelsonian injunctions to stay with the ship — to not leave before McHale and the boys in the back. He thinks that, once they have settled in the ditch, he will be able to step off and stagger away mucky but safe. That read of the situation is hopelessly wrong. The Warrior turns on its side as it meets the surface: the force of the water is immense. It catches Williams by surprise, punching him into the turret and forcing him to the gunner’s side. The vehicle is intact, but upside down. Williams is inverted with the turret lid below him. Had the water not forced him inside he would have been crushed, but now he is trapped. The turret is instantly full of water, with the only air pocket disappearing in seconds. It is just Williams here and the driver God knows where down in the hull, which is now above him in the drowning vehicle. The water is stinking and muddy. There should be another way out, not down out of the closed-off hatch but rather back into the hull. However, the cage is there, the metal contraption that sits between turret and hull to forestall crush injuries when the turret rotates. The cage is known to be an immersion hazard. If a Warrior falls into the water, as this one has done, then the cage’s robust nature — the fact that it cannot easily be kicked out — means it will drown the crew. There is a programme underway to replace it with a more easily removed alternative, but that replacement is yet to materialise.

			The cage is not the only obstacle. When the vehicle fell, all the ammunition poured out of the stowage racks in the rear. The radio sets toppled too. Williams is flailing; the water is above his head. He thinks, simply, that he is a dead man. He wants to say to Nats, ‘I really fucked this one up.’ But Nats is still asleep in the institutional house in Wiltshire with army-issue furniture, three hours behind in the brief night-time respite from the news. In Iraq, Guy Williams is drowning in a cage erected for his own safety.

			*

			This is a story about things going wrong. It is about the reality of war seeping into, and eventually saturating, the British Army’s preconception of what that experience might be like. It is about a deployment in Iraq in 2004 conceived — at least in part — as a political gesture, which cost men’s lives, and another regiment wedded to tradition working out which of those inheritances have value in the modern world and which do not. It is about the British Army’s cherished antebellum view of the American military suddenly encountering that institution at close quarters, and finding out that the US behemoth is capable of change faster than might be expected.

			Finally, but perhaps most importantly, it is about the new war starting to interface with — and ultimately to influence — the complex assortment of tribal loyalties, interest groups and lobbies that combine to form the management of the British Army as an institution. One fight takes place in Iraq, but another, equally bitter, takes place in the UK, at Westminster and Warminster. In both countries things fall apart; the centre cannot hold.

			*

			By October 2004, the British are approaching the end of Operation Telic 4,12 their fourth six-month troop rotation in Iraq. Nineteen months have passed since the initial invasion; things have already started to sour. There was an initial honeymoon: that mad cowboy time of cheering crowds in Basra, day trips to Babylon, and the conviction that we understood peacekeeping from Northern Ireland. As looting grew, however, British troops threw Basrawi looters into canals in a process known as ‘wetting’.13 The real curdling began in June 2003, when the six Royal Military Police were surrounded in a police station in al-Majar al-Kabir in Maysan Province; they were carrying only fifty rounds of ammunition each, a third of the amount they should have had, and had antiquated radios. A mob killed them, in the worst loss of life by enemy fire in a single British unit since the Falklands in 1982. The incident reminded many in the army of events in 1988, when two Royal Signals corporals were killed after they drove into an IRA funeral in Belfast.14

			The same month 19th Brigade, the next roulement unit for Basra, began to fly out to the Gulf from its garrison at Catterick.15 At this point there were 9,500 British troops in Iraq,16 and the intention was for that number to reduce by half by the end of September 2003. British units were stretched across enormous areas: in Maysan Province, the King’s Own Scottish Borderers battlegroup, around 1,000 strong, was responsible for an area the size of Wales, with a population above 800,000. In Basra itself, Brigadier Bill Moore had only around 2,000 troops — half a brigade — to secure a city with a population of well over a million.17

			The division was commanded on the second Telic rotation by Special Forces veteran Major General Graeme Lamb. Already in July there were firefights and riots, with British battlegroups seeing ten to twelve incidents per day. Temperatures soared; humidity was extreme. 80 per cent of the population in Basra was out of work, and the water supply was intermittent. The eventual catalyst for chaos was a five-day breakdown in power supplies. On 10 August, huge riots broke out in Basra. A British truck was looted and burned. The disturbances spread to al-Amarah, al-Zubayr and the al-Faw peninsula. On 12 August, an IED was thrown into a King’s Regiment base, but failed to explode. On the 14th, a rocket-propelled grenade hit a Saxon — a truck-like armoured personnel carrier — operated by the Queen’s Lancashire Regiment. The RPG warhead ricocheted off the road and exploded, injuring three soldiers. On the same day, an IED struck a QLR ambulance, killing Captain David Jones. Five days later, Brigadier Moore’s Land Cruiser was attacked by another IED; the blast blew out the windows of his protection team’s vehicle. On the 23rd, three military police were shot in a Land Cruiser; a soldier from the King’s Own Scottish Borderers was killed in a convoy attack.

			The situation required major measures. The British sent a convoy of tankers to Kuwait to obtain fuel, and to pay $5 million to key workers. Lamb ordered the division’s ‘main effort’ to switch to essential services, and launched a £127 million infrastructure strategy developed by the Royal Engineers. Most significantly, though, the disturbances derailed, and eventually reversed, the plans to reduce troop numbers.

			In September, the QLR and the King’s Regiment mounted a series of raids in Basra. On one of these operations the QLR arrested nine Iraqis, including a 26-year-old receptionist named Baha Mousa, during and after a raid at a hotel. The frustrations of an asymmetric war, in which British soldiers were now facing countless hidden attacks, were reflected in a grievous breakdown of discipline. The Iraqis were abused at the battalion’s headquarters and Mousa died of his injuries. The incident, and the subsequent series of investigations — culminating in a public inquiry that was to report in 2011 — became one of the most prominent British scandals of the Iraq War.18 At the end of his tour, Graeme Lamb issued a message to his troops. ‘Operations are what we live and die for, Iraq has been no exception,’ he wrote. ‘You have made a real difference here, touched people who have never been shown a shred of decency, and made their lives significantly better. What we do in life is the foundation of our humanity.’

			The autumn of 2003 saw the formation in Basra of the first units of the Mahdi Army, a Shia militia. Its leader was Muqtada al-Sadr, son-in-law of a leading cleric murdered by Saddam’s secret police. In 2003, al-Sadr was less than thirty years old.

			From late 2003, the Mahdi Army began low-level attacks on British troops. They assassinated staff from the Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA) and ransacked alcohol shops. In January 2004, there were two days of rioting in al-Amarah after protests about unemployment got out of control. The first three months of 2004 saw public disorder, political violence and daily attacks on British troops. However, it was in March, as 20th Armoured Brigade handed over to 1st Mechanised Brigade, that matters really escalated. On the 28th, Paul Bremer, the head of the CPA, shut down a Sadr-supporting newspaper. Three days later, the US contractors were killed in Fallujah; the US Marines geared up for an offensive. On 2 April, Sadr issued a sermon to be read at Friday prayers, attacking the US occupation and praising Osama bin Laden. Afterwards, Bremer ordered the arrest of a top Sadr lieutenant. Within twenty-four hours southern Iraq and Sadr City in Baghdad were in uproar. Sadr’s forces seized police stations and municipal buildings in Shia areas. Ukrainian, Spanish, and El Salvadoran troops in central Iraq withdrew to their bases. CPA compounds in Najaf, Kut and Nasiriyah were besieged and abandoned. The Polish-led Multi-National Division — Centre-South nearly collapsed.

			There was rioting in al-Amarah. A Warrior column returning from a patrol on the Iranian border ran a gauntlet of seventeen ambushes. On 5 April, the Iraqi interim governing council building in Basra was overrun. The US pushed for an attack in response, but Brigadier Nick Carter, the commander of 20th Armoured Brigade, negotiated its hand-back. Around this time, planning in the brigade, where Major Alastair Aitken, a Black Watch officer, was chief of staff, began to look at possible reinforcement options, originally to cover for the beleaguered Multi-National Division — Centre-South. It was this process that eventually led to the Black Watch’s return to Iraq, in the summer of 2004.19 In the autumn, the regiment was chosen to deploy north, outside the British area of responsibility in Basra, to flank for American forces during operations in Fallujah. This would be the only time in the entire war that regular British troops, as opposed to Special Forces, would operate in numbers outside south-east Iraq.20

			So it is, that on a Friday morning in October 2004, in the heart of Iraq, Guy Williams and Kevin McHale are drowning in a sunken Warrior in a ditch in North Babil.

			*

			Eighteenth-century regiments were businesses, effectively the property of their colonels. As military historian Hew Strachan writes, ‘an officer invested money in the business either by purchasing his commission or by raising men for the crown in return for rank. He supplemented his inadequate pay by the surpluses derived from the money provided by the state to equip and sustain his men.’21 The regiment that resulted would often bear the name of the colonel who had raised it.

			When the permanent establishments began, the army was therefore already a federation of self-generated units. The advantage was that the system — unlike the million-strong, centrally-administered armies of the continent that arose in the nineteenth century — required minimal central bureaucracy. Regiments raised and trained themselves, and additions were easy to find in time of need. Regiments were numbered, and downscaling after war could be achieved by disbanding those raised most recently — those with the higher numbers, deemed most ‘junior.’ This tight, devolved way of building an army had the concurrent advantage of generating esprit de corps.

			The 2004 Black Watch are, by lineage, the old 42nd and 73rd of Foot.22 The 42nd dates back to the seventeenth century, when their role was to keep peace in the Highlands, and to guard against lawlessness and cattle theft — the origin of the name ‘The Watch’.23 In one of the great bluffs of British military history, an institution built in part as an instrument of political repression, supported by Hanoverian clans to keep the Jacobite clans down, within a handful of generations became a crucial part of a more national Scottish firmament. In the early days, military service was the only opportunity for clansmen to wear the otherwise-banned tartan and to carry a weapon, which inevitably played a role in this transformation. So did combat; among other engagements, the Black Watch attended the fight at Ticonderoga in present-day upstate New York in 1758, when the French defeated the British.

			A century later, part of a wider series of reforms instigated by Secretary of State for War Edward Cardwell — which also included the abolition of the purchase of officers’ commissions — paired the existing numbered regiments of the infantry ‘so that the regiment at home could provide drafts for the regiment overseas’.24 In 1881, the process continued as part of the Childers Reforms, which created seventy new two-battalion regular regiments out of the 141 numbered infantry battalions then in the army.25 It was as part of this move that the 42nd of Foot paired up with the 73rd of Foot, creating two battalions of the Black Watch.26

			In the First World War, the Black Watch, in common with other British infantry regiments, expanded enormously. By the end of that conflict, it comprised twenty-five battalions.27 The regiment’s personal death toll by 1918 was above 8,000. Lady Elizabeth Bowes-Lyon, later the Queen Mother, had several brothers serving in the Black Watch in 1914–18, which speaks to what the regiment had become: smart and monied.28

			After the First World War, the conscript masses evaporated, but the British military world would never be the same again, in particular not for the infantry. The enormous centralised administrative organs required to manage an army of millions persisted. In time, the Second World War further fractured the Cardwell regimental system; recruiting and training were again centralised. The efficiency cost of maintaining multiple single-battalion infantry regiments also became inescapably clear, as equipment became more sophisticated after the Second World War. Eventually, the infantry split between armoured units, with tracked vehicles like the Warrior, mechanised, with wheeled Saxons, and light role, largely on foot. To grant individuals career variation — and to ensure that no single battalion was stuck forever in a particularly grim garrison that would wither its numbers — the army used a mechanism called the ‘Arms Plot’. Roughly every three years, like an enormous game of military musical chairs, battalions in the British infantry upped sticks and re-roled, often changing from one form of equipment to another. With all their attendant train of wives and children, battalions rotated from German garrisons to Tidworth and Warminster in the UK, or horrid stations like Ballykinler in Northern Ireland. With all the associated training courses and other administrative necessities, this re-rolling process could take a full year. While it was staggered, the demands of the Arms Plot still meant that a large portion of the infantry (estimates vary between 20 per cent and a third) was effectively out of commission at any one time.

			From the 1950s onwards, a potential solution to these issues became clear: large regiments, with three or even more constituent battalions, spread out across the different roles and garrisoned in different places. That way individuals could be ‘trickle-posted’ between regiments, without the huge disruption of whole-battalion moves. Some units took up the offer.29 Numerous smaller single-battalion regiments, however,30 chose not to join up with anyone. Many believed their identity and culture was the foundation of their success, and in particular that a close regional tie was key for successful recruiting.

			The next big opportunity for reform, again provided by a round of military retrenchment, came with the ‘Options for Change’ review in 1990. The total size of the army was set for 116,000, a reduction of 40,000. The infantry was to reduce to forty battalions.31 The products of single-battalion regiments dominated the top of the army at that point, however, and once more, the infantry staved off reform.32 This time, though, the reprieve was not for long.

			*

			By the end of the twentieth century, the Black Watch still regarded itself as the elite of the Scottish Division of Infantry, a non-deployable formation that included five other regiments, both militarily and socially. In one iteration of the complex pecking order — from the Black Watch’s perspective — immediately below the Black Watch came the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders, followed by the Royal Highland Fusiliers and the Highlanders. At the bottom of the heap were the Lowland regiments, the King’s Own Scottish Borderers and the Royal Scots.33 At Brecon, the infantry’s spiritual home in rain-smashed Wales, a colour sergeant instructor was once asked, ‘Are there any rivalries in the Jock Div?’34 ‘Aye,’ he replied. ‘Every fucking cunt fucking hates the Black Watch.’

			The Black Watch were in Hong Kong for the handover to China in 1997. Subsequently the battalion moved to Fort George outside Inverness. When Neil Tomlin, who would be adjutant and a captain in 2004, arrived as a fresh second lieutenant, he found sports and mess life much as he had read about in the army careers brochures as a schoolboy.35 A visiting New York Times correspondent was baffled by their mess traditions, and was told (prophetically, as it turns out) by then-captain Alastair Aitken, who would be a major and company commander in 2004, that ‘they would not rule out taking a piper into battle today to stir the fighting spirit’.36

			Fort George was frustrating for those who aspired to real soldiering. They were light role, stuck up a narrow road to the deep north on a theoretical reserve tasking for Northern Ireland. But peace was breaking out in Ulster, and Ireland was no longer there for the taking. The Good Friday Agreement was signed in April 1998.37

			Based on the assumption that Northern Ireland would soon go ‘non-operational’, the MoD proposed a further reduction in the infantry’s forty battalions. The initial proposal was to reduce to fewer than thirty;38 ‘after a long attritional struggle with the MoD Central Staff beancounters, we got the figure up to 36,’ Mike Jackson later wrote.39 The Army Board — the institution’s top-level management committee — then had to decide which four battalions to remove.

			In December 2000, Lieutenant General Alistair Irwin, a Black Watch officer, took up the post of general officer commanding Northern Ireland.40 In 2002, Irwin, who had graduated from St. Andrew’s at a time when it was rare for army officers to attend university, and a man with a reputation as cerebral and thoughtful, was asked to write a paper on the advantages and disadvantages of the British regimental system as then constituted. The Irwin paper began by suggesting that, contrary to widespread assumption, ‘fighting spirit, unit cohesion and retention’ depended on good leadership rather than ‘the existence of homogenous regimental entities’.41 Traditions and uniforms, another fêted component of the system, were ‘neither good nor bad in themselves’. The regimental system provided a sense of belonging42 and continuity;43 regional recruiting was another positive, although Irwin pointed out that most regionally-recruited units had substantial numbers of soldiers from outside their patch.44 The final positives in this list were ‘famous names and traditions’ and ‘esprit de corps’.45

			Irwin then moved to the negatives. He wrote that shifting units between roles made it difficult to appoint the right individual to the right job.46 He addressed the instability produced by Arms Plot moves, in particular for wives and families, but also for those individuals who were posted into a unit shortly before the unit itself underwent an Arms Plot move.47 Finally, he stated that the reduction of establishments — allowed numbers of troops — within particular units had made their existence increasingly precarious; they struggled to achieve ‘critical mass’.

			Irwin’s paper was a relatively balanced and thoughtful document. It was not, as some later argued, a clear blueprint for a large regiment model. However, its authoring, along with Irwin’s other responsibilities, put the general in an almost impossible position. In November 2002, Irwin became colonel of the Black Watch, and responsible for lobbying for the regiment’s interests. In January 2003, he became colonel commandant of the Scottish Division of Infantry — a similar role, but for all six Scottish battalions. The same month, he was appointed adjutant general, responsible for all of the army’s personnel policies. ‘I think you’ve got one too many jobs,’ Mike Jackson told Irwin.48

			Meanwhile, the battalion’s situation changed. In 2000, the Black Watch moved to Germany, based in Fallingbostel as part of 7th Armoured Brigade, next to the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards. In June 2001, they went to Kosovo on sleepy peacekeeping duties. For the Oxbridge graduate in his late 20s who would be a captain and operations officer in 2004, and whom we will call Tom Foulds as he asked not to be named, Kosovo was at least an operational tour, after all that sitting around in the quiet north country. (Like many of his compatriots in the Black Watch mess, Foulds was the son of another Scots Div. officer). In September that year in Northern Ireland, Alistair Irwin, serving as general officer commanding, watched the second plane fly into the Twin Towers on a television at Stormont. He turned to Jane Kennedy MP, the security minister in the Northern Ireland Office. ‘This means war,’ he said.49

			Two years later, in early 2003, the Black Watch deployed to the Gulf with 7th Brigade. Tim Brown’s Challenger tanks from A Squadron SCOTS DG spliced onto the Black Watch’s infantry companies, along with another armoured squadron from the Royal Tank Regiment. They rolled into Iraq in the van of the invasion, losing one man, Lance Corporal Barry Stephen.50 After three weeks of war-fighting, they moved into the first hot summer of Basrawi peacekeeping. Afterwards, they returned to Germany, and in March 2004, moved to Warminster in England as the demonstration battalion at the Land Warfare Centre, to assist the training of other troops. And it was here, on Salisbury Plain, that it really became clear just how much danger the regiment was in.

			*

			In 2003, Mike Jackson succeeded General Michael Walker as chief of the general staff. Jackson saw the requirement to shed four battalions as an opportunity. He was by background a paratrooper, already a large-regiment man. Before transferring to the Paras, he served for several years in the Intelligence Corps. He saw beyond parochial loyalty and was determined to ‘grasp the nettle’ of the infantry restructure avoided in the 1960s and 1990s.

			On 11 December 2003, Geoff Hoon, the secretary of state for defence, published a white paper, ‘Delivering Security in a Changing World’. The paper announced a reduction of the army’s six fighting brigades by one, and the creation of an all-arms light brigade.51 The following July, Hoon addressed the House of Commons on ‘the need to transform our armed forces to deal with the challenges of the twenty-first century’. He explained a new structure based on ‘regiments of two or more battalions, in largely fixed locations’. There were two options on the table for regiment formation: ‘small-large’, with two or possibly three battalions, and ‘large-large’, with four or five. Jackson favoured the latter, but the Army Board left the choice to the infantry themselves.

			Brigadier Jamie Balfour, the director of infantry, was tasked with handling the specifics of the restructuring programme. Ensconced in an office in Wiltshire, Balfour was outside the operational chain of command. Headquarters Infantry is traditionally a snoozy place, with a population of Labradors and retired officers in cord trousers and jackets helping the serving staff.52 It was about to become a significantly more intense location.

			The first instrument required by Balfour and his team — Michael O’Dwyer, an Irish Guards major, arrived as his principal staff officer in mid-2004 — was a metric: a measuring stick to decide who would face the chop, which four infantry battalions out of forty in the army were doomed. Historically, as at the very beginning, the measuring stick had often been seniority; which regiment had been raised earliest. Seniority, though, does not correlate to the contemporary condition of a military unit — except in snobbish ways — and Balfour rejected it. Instead, the team selected as their key metric manning; despite centralised training, when it came to recruiting, individual infantry regiments retained considerable autonomy at that point,53 staffing their own recruiting parties, parades and information days. The manning metric revealed great variation. Four Scottish battalions featured in an ignominious list of the top ten worst-recruited battalions in the entire army.54

			Using only the recruiting metric would mean that Scotland could lose two infantry battalions out of the four to be cut. They avoided that fate — losing two would be politically inexpedient — but still, they had to chop one. As a sop to federation, Jamie Balfour told each individual administrative division of infantry to make its own plans for how to proceed into large regiments and how to amalgamate or cut, where necessary. All could go small-large or large-large, but there was no option on the central issue: none could remain as a single-battalion infantry regiment.

			On the day in 2004 when the Executive Committee of the Army Board (ECAB) made the critical decision, Richard Dannatt, then a lieutenant general and commander of NATO’s Allied Rapid Reaction Corps, saw Alistair Irwin, the only ‘born and bred infantrymen’ on the ECAB, with his head in his hands.

			‘What’s up?’ Dannatt asked.

			‘This is the worst day of my life,’ the Black Watch’s tribal chief replied.55

			In Wiltshire, Jamie Balfour received an endless series of deputations.56 O’Dwyer sometimes fielded the calls, as cantankerous officers referred to the European royalty who would be outraged by the demise of certain regiments, and made other pleas and threats.57 The Guards, who in many ways already operated like a large regiment, would be saved this process, but to avoid the suggestion of favouritism Mike Jackson determined that they must also make their case. He told Horse Guards their first submission was inadequate; the second, which argued that collectively the Irish, Scots, Welsh, Coldstream and Grenadier Guards represented different areas of the UK, was stronger, and deemed workable.58 The Paras, well manned and already three battalions strong, were also safe.

			In 2004, the fast-decaying situation in Iraq and the long-delayed re-organisation of the British infantry collided for the Black Watch. The battalion deployed to Basra in the summer, and initially faced piecemeal and frustrating duties; the mayhem that had caused their additional deployment from the UK had for the time being died down. The proposal that took the battalion to Dogwood was not the first such request from the Americans. In late July, there was discussion of using them to support an American operation on the Syrian border, around the town of al-Qaim, to disrupt the flow of munitions into Iraq. Operation ‘Phantom Linebacker’ would involve a 1,000km move through the most difficult parts of Iraq; London vetoed the idea.59 When General Mike Jackson visited the battalion in Iraq, he had no idea that the Americans had made this request.60

			However, the planning was not in vain. It exposed the complexities of moving armoured vehicles over considerable distances, which had lessons for the eventual Dogwood move. Underpinning the vetoed scheme was a broader idea, too: an American belief that the British, in their quieter southern corner of Iraq, were carrying an insufficient burden. Despite refusing to take part in Phantom Linebacker, the British felt they did need to get involved outside their current area.

			The rotation of British units made the Black Watch and their armoured vehicles available; the incoming brigade, 4th Armoured, had two Warrior battalions, while the outgoing had only one. Tom Foulds, the operations officer, was called into battlegroup headquarters by Lieutenant Colonel James Cowan, the Black Watch’s commanding officer, around 20 September, following a brief period of leave.61 Cowan explained a new request to take up a position outside Fallujah during the upcoming American offensive,62 for five or six weeks. Cowan seemed excited and pleased; this appeared, at last, to be a proper task for the Black Watch. Foulds and his commanding officer chuckled about the fact that their destination had acquired the nickname the ‘Triangle of Death’.

			The next day, they went to divisional headquarters to thrash out how to go about the potential deployment. Two things were clear to Foulds early on. The first was that they were not allowed to engage with the Americans at any level, in order to avoid raising expectations. The UK had already bailed on the al-Qaim plan; if they were to go on with this variant, the real motivation would be to do with maintaining the coalition. The move had also not yet been agreed politically. Foulds saw the letter from the American general Thomas Metz to British divisional headquarters requesting a British battlegroup. All the objections that London raised about al-Qaim were answered; the British would have a discrete area, for a discrete period of time, with a discrete mission, and whatever resources they wanted.63

			Without a formal political decision, even making reconnaissance of the area was banned. Eventually, on 18 October, Geoff Hoon made a holding statement to the House of Commons. That night at 9 p.m., Tom Foulds was about to leave his office when the phone rang; it was divisional headquarters. He was told to be ready to leave at 4 a.m. by Hercules from Basra airport. The recce was on, even without the formal decision. For the early flight, they loaded two Snatches,64 the soft-skinned Land Rover variants whose acute vulnerability to roadside bombs was still emerging. The Black Watch were told they could take the vehicles and as many people as they could fit in them. The regiment’s planned team included, among others, the commanding officer Cowan, Foulds, Rob Sandford the intelligence officer, Hugo Guthrie the doctor and Brian Cooper the regimental sergeant major.

			On arrival in Baghdad, shortly after 8 a.m., the black-bodied transport dove in hard in a tactical approach. Cowan and his tiny band were acutely conscious of the gathering media circus at home.65 At Baghdad, that sense of importance immediately evaporated. They were expecting to be met by an American escort and driven to the headquarters of the 24th Marine Expeditionary Unit (MEU), the American formation with whom they were to operate, but no one was there. Three hours passed. Eventually, around 11 a.m., the American escort commanders arrived. Quizzed as to where they had been, he replied, ‘Well, my guys have been in Kalsu for a while and haven’t had access to Burger King and Pizza Hut, so I thought I’d treat them.’66 The British did not find this start an auspicious one.67

			Kalsu, 32km south of Baghdad and named after Bob Kalsu, an American football player killed in Vietnam in 1970, was the headquarters of the 24th MEU. The US base was equipped with concrete T-walls and barriers of HESCO, the fortification system of wire cages lined with mesh to hold earth that would become synonymous with Iraq.68 Kalsu was receiving indirect fire around three to four times per week at this point. The commander of the 24th MEU was a US Marine colonel named Ron Jonson, rarely seen without an M4 carbine and a large cigar. He was known as ‘Jawbreaker’, a codename he inherited from a Vietnam-era commander when the Marine Corps moved away from alpha-numeric callsigns.

			To the British, who at this time still worked such facilities off mushy voice-only radios, paper and whiteboards, and map transparencies, the American headquarters appeared to be a transplant from some indeterminate point in the future. Eric Terashima, a 35-year-old US marine major who served as ‘current operations officer’ of the MEU, sat in front of seven screens and two telephones. All were plugged into the Americans’ new digitised battlefield management systems.69 This was the revolution in military affairs of which the British had read so much. It was impressive — but it was also signally failing to win the local war.

			The British asked Jonson if they could drive out and see the area they were tasked to occupy, should the operation — which would eventually, in truly bland British fashion, be termed ‘Bracken’ — actually go ahead. Jonson responded, ‘Guys, if you go out on the ground, I can guarantee you will not have a dull afternoon.’70 His marines were facing an average of twenty ‘incidents’ daily, including indirect fire attacks and IEDs.71 They had already lost about twenty men, with ten times that number wounded in action.72 This was a much more aggressive situation than anything the British were facing in the south.

			Jonson settled on a compromise. He offered a helicopter from his own aviation detachment for Cowan to conduct a less perilous aerial recce of the area; Jonson went too. That afternoon, around 5 p.m., they took off. They rose above the dust of Kalsu until the camouflage netting over the camp looked like cobwebs below them.73 From the air, a number of issues became clear to Cowan. There were two possible locations to base the battlegroup. The first was a large expanse of desert to the west of the river, a former industrial complex. This was ‘Dogwood’. Its advantages were open arcs of fire and remoteness, though it was barren, and the few ruined buildings appeared uninhabitable. The second location, code-named ‘Elm’, was to the east of the Euphrates, in the ruined al-Qaqa74 munitions plant.75 The factory’s years of operation meant that perhaps 15 per cent of the local male population had expertise with explosives; the plant itself also provided a supply for the raw materials for roadside bombs.

			It was clear to Cowan that to block movement to Fallujah, the ideal would be for the British to control both banks of the river. There was also a clear threat from roadside bombs, meaning armoured vehicles were important — yet the ground was not open and made their use complicated. The Americans were spread thin and had little detailed knowledge of the area. To reach the site from Basra, the Black Watch would have to move 673km without having sited their base in detail. Nonetheless, Cowan believed the deployment was possible.

			When the helicopter landed back at Kalsu, Cowan was told that the decision had already been made. They were to go. A Scottish infantry battalion at severe risk of amalgamation or disbandment was bound for a high-profile and potentially hazardous operation in the Middle East.

			*

			Cowan received an email from his very first company commander in the Army asking if he was worried. In a message later leaked, Cowan wrote that he expected ‘every lunatic terrorist from miles around to descend on us like bees to honey’. ‘I hope the government knows what it has got itself into,’ he added. ‘I’m not sure they fully appreciate the risks.’76

			The Black Watch had a hundred soldiers back in the UK on courses.77 Only with the operation green-lit could they start to bring them back to Iraq — otherwise news of the deployment would be de facto confirmed. When arrangements were finally made, a couple of the soldiers in the UK went absent without leave.78

			In Iraq, the significant task of splicing together a scratch battlegroup continued; the Black Watch alone did not have the resources required for the operation. The battalion was to be joined by B Squadron of the Queen’s Dragoon Guards on CVR(T) vehicles — although they had just arrived in Iraq as part of 4th Armoured Brigade, so were not immediately ready to deploy. There was more to the battlegroup than the traditional armour and infantry pairing, too; there were Royal Military Police, intelligence, lots of medics. Cowan had the Joint Force Headquarters’ tents flown out. This rapid splicing pioneered a type of multifaceted formation that would become more common in years to come,79 although the fact that disparate units were meeting each other on the hoof, in a kind of military blind date, brought its own complexities. The battlegroup’s total headcount would eventually be around 900.

			The wagons gathered at Shaibah. Many of them, following a bizarre decision that vehicles should be green not desert yellow in ‘post-war’ Iraq, bore temperate paint jobs. With some exceptions, the battlegroup’s fleet were mostly tracked. The distance of 673km to Dogwood, which had been chosen over ‘Elm’ as the upcountry location for the Black Watch, was more than far enough to destroy their running gear. The Warriors would instead travel on low loaders, a mixture of civilian, military and American trucks. Neil Tomlin, the battalion’s adjutant, commanded the move, sitting in a portacabin at Shaibah with a satellite phone.80

			The Warriors were to travel with men in the turrets and drivers present, so that they could use the vehicles’ weapons if attacked. There was some pantomime to this concept. The limited depression possible with the Warriors’ main armament reduces their effectiveness when fired from a raised platform like the low loaders. Releasing them to drive down to ground level would take time and be complex under fire. There would also be considerable discomfort for the scratch crews in the turrets, strapped in and blasted by hot desert air for a minimum of two full days. But the feeling of psychological security that stemmed from manning the turrets was real. The remainder of the crews, the dismounts who usually rode in the back of the wagons, were to fly to Baghdad, before going on by helicopter to Dogwood.

			The deployment was attracting intense media attention. Embedded journalists gathered.81 They made provisions for security, and the circle of information remained as tight as possible. Nonetheless, as the first ‘packets’ of the massive convoy rolled out of Shaibah on 27 October, Reuters reporters lined the route.82 The move was on the wires within minutes, but the first part of the journey went smoothly. On the first night, the convoy reached the American base at Tallil, near Nasiriyah, where at least seventeen Italians had died in a bomb blast eleven months earlier.

			The next day was more complicated. The last stretch took the convoy along a route code-named ‘Boston’, running due north to the west of Karbala, and then to the east of the Razaza Lake.83 The plan was to take a sharp turn at a point halfway up the side of the lake to the east, along a dirt track code-named ‘Midland’, which led to Dogwood. Given recent rain, the reconnaissance party believed Midland might prove difficult for several hundred wheeled vehicles. By contrast, the commander of the American Pathfinder counter-IED task force believed Midland was usable.

			He was wrong. Many of the inexperienced Kuwaiti drivers in the low loaders began to bog in. After an IED detonated without damage, Mark Ewing, commanding the lead packet of the convoy, ordered A Company to offload their Warriors and use them to pull the bogged transporters free. A Company then pushed on, on its tracks, reaching Dogwood by mid-afternoon. The next two packets were re-routed to the south, along the route code-named San Juan. Given the time this all took, the remaining packets were held at the US ‘Duke’ base near Karbala. That night, the dismounts began to fly in from Baghdad. It had been a busy and complicated day.

			But still, everything is largely going to plan, until Guy Williams starts to drown.

			*

			Later, Williams will estimate he is stuck in the water-filled turret of Callsign 10 for around a minute.84 His life does not flash before his eyes; nor does he feel he has done anything wrong. He just feels resigned to the fact he is going to die. He is sorry for his wife.

			Finally, down in the silt and the dark, he feels a hand on his ankle. It is tentative at first but becomes stronger, grabbing at his leg. It is Private Jonetani Lawaci, one of the many Fijians who top up numbers in Scottish regiments, the driver of the vehicle immediately behind Williams’ wagon. Even before the lead Warrior settled upside down in the mud of the ditch, Lawaci dived into the dank and murky water. He swam down and pressed the electric button which commands the ram that opens the thick armoured back door. Later, the fitters from the REME will say that attempt should not have worked; the water should have already shorted out those electronics. Even with the ram functioning, the pressure differential inside and out could have prevented the door from opening too. But by some unclear mechanical miracle, the door swings ajar. Great bubbles gasp up from the air pocket left within. As the muddy water crashes into the hull as the pressure equalises, Williams remains pinned inside.

			Lawaci is able to rescue the two soldiers who are in the rear of the vehicle: Privates Phil Wright and Steve Ambrose. Then he fights his solid 1.75m frame forward and down towards the exterior of the turret. Inside, the cannon ammunition lies piled on top of the safety cage, along with the dead radios. Outside Lawaci dives down through the silt to access the commander’s hatch on the turret. He reaches in and finds Williams’ right leg, still thrashing around like a fish. Williams follows Lawaci’s arm downwards toward the turret hatch and squeezes himself, like a worm, through the mud. The turret continues to sink into the ground. On seeing light, Williams knows he can make it to the surface. He is going to live.

			They lay Williams on the mud of the track, stinking and slime-covered. At Sandhurst they suggested that as an officer, when the shit hit the fan, or whatever phrase they used for that complex eventuality, you should be collected and calm. Williams is instead in shock; white-faced, he is unable to do much more than sit and watch. Men gather on the bank from the vehicles to the rear and dive into the ditch, again and again. They are trying to access the driver’s compartment of the Warrior where McHale is. Williams knows that McHale must be dead by now, and some time ago too.

			Company commander Alastair Aitken is as clipped as ever on the crackling radio as he passes news of the situation upwards. For security, they throw out a cordon of men with eyes to their riflescopes but minds to what is going on behind them. Williams continues to watch. Finally, hours later, after they have tried and failed to pull the Warrior out with tow cables attached to their own vehicles, American assistance arrives. An M88, a hulking tank recovery vehicle with an A-frame and a 140-tonne 2:1 onboard winch — the US version of the CRARRV — jimmies the sunken Warrior out. They extract McHale’s body. As they wait for the helicopter, Alastair Aitken nods to the company quartermaster sergeant, Lawrie McDougall. Both men take Williams and sit him in the back of another Warrior.

			‘Sit in here, gather yourself, have a cry if you need,’ Aitken says. ‘We’ll be back for you in ten minutes.’

			That night, the convoy finally crawls back to Dogwood. At sunset, Williams sits on a berm and explains how, stuck in the turret, he was convinced that he was already dead. He does not say he is also now convinced that he will not leave this place alive. Williams believes — completely irrationally — that he proved himself inadequate when they needed him most and that therefore he will be purged from the ranks, seemingly a form of survivor guilt. That night he is sent to the medical building.

			‘That’s just the thing about being an officer,’ a medic says. ‘You just have to sort of suck it up and get on with it.’

			The next morning Williams sees James Cowan. ‘Hello Guy, how’s life?’ the commanding officer asks.

			‘Still going, sir,’ the subaltern replies.

			As far as Williams can recall, Cowan only says one word in response: ‘Good.’ But the manner says much more. Williams feels reconnected with the battalion, and reminded that they are a family, of which he is a valued part.




			Chapter 6

			Dogwood

			North Babil, Iraq, November 2004

			The objective of the Black Watch battlegroup is to block routes to and from Fallujah. Yet they have made no detailed reconnaissance of the ground, and they have no actionable intelligence to work from.1 They believe those opposed to them are a mixture of ‘former regime elements’ and ‘hard-line Sunni elements’, including potentially foreign fighters. It soon becomes apparent that the locals are generally unwilling to talk, and are terrified of appearing to be cooperating. Early on, they find two bodies, clearly executed, with signs around their necks explaining they have been killed for talking to the coalition.2 On the first evening the camp is mortared, an indication of a form of attack that will become commonplace.3 After another rocket attack on the morning of 1 November, James Cowan ends communal eating, which bunches individuals and makes them vulnerable. From now on, they will be on individual boil–in-the bag rations, for weeks.

			After a marathon journey, the second convoy, including the squadron of the Queen’s Dragoon Guards (QDG), a detachment of Royal Marines and eleven embedded journalists, arrives at Dogwood in pouring rain in the small hours of 2 November. The battlegroup is now at full capacity and the specified thirty days of deployment begin. Locations for operations are given Scottish place names. The QDG in their Scimitars will move out to the west and operate in ‘Perth’, desert running out to the Razaza Lake. A Company of the Black Watch will control the west bank of the Euphrates. B Company will be the reserve, and conduct security tasks around Dogwood. D Company, under Major Robin Lindsay, will move to the east bank of the river and establish a forward base to dominate an area code-named ‘Dundee’.

			A large roadside bomb strikes one of the D Company Warriors. None of the crew is hurt, but the vehicle is in a bad way.4 They suspect another device inside the body of a dead cow nearby, and use the vehicles’ chain guns to put that fear to rest. Later in the same afternoon, another Warrior, taking evasive action after a rocket is fired at it, slides into a ditch. The recovery of these vehicles takes twelve hours. The majority of D Company only arrives at the industrial site at the north of ‘Dundee’ chosen for their base forty-five minutes before dawn. At 9 a.m., the company leaves the industrial site, towing the bomb-damaged Warrior. They hope to rendezvous with a US unit, but another gun battle delays the Americans.

			A section of D Company under Sergeant Stuart Gray establishes a vehicle checkpoint at the front of the company. It is a typical Northern Ireland, 1990s-style checkpoint. For an hour all goes well; vehicles approach and wait in an orderly queue. At 1 p.m., a car driven by an unshaven man with pale features approaches the checkpoint. His speed is unremarkable.5 He detonates a suicide bomb. The blast kills Stuart Gray, Privates Scott McArdle and Paul Lowe, and an Iraqi interpreter from Basra who had delayed his wedding to come north. The interpreter’s wedding was due to take place on this very day.6 Another eight Black Watch soldiers are injured. Corporal Peter Laing, known as ‘Pedro’, and a man who won a Military Cross during the initial invasion of Iraq in 2003, starts giving first aid despite a head wound and a damaged eye.7

			In his own Warrior, parked on high ground in the desert by the river to rebroadcast radio messages between D Company and Dogwood, Second Lieutenant Ben Collis hears Robin Lindsay’s voice calm but clearly shaken on the net.8 When Collis was a cadet at Sandhurst, Lindsay was one of his instructors; Collis first called Lindsay by his Christian name at the commissioning ball at the academy. Now he is hearing his old instructor manage an incident, which, for the British Army, is largely unheard of at this time in scale, violence and casualties. Suddenly the automatic rebroadcast facility on the vehicle radio fails. Collis has to repeat Lindsay’s messages on the same frequency in order to ensure they get through to Dogwood and to Tom Foulds. They bring in an American Black Hawk helicopter for medical evacuation. They have recently adopted the ‘9-liner’,9 an American method for formatting a medical evacuation request; later, in Afghanistan, the 9-liner will become standard British practice.

			At the scene of the bombing, the worst task falls to David ‘Harry’ Hood, the company sergeant major. He gathers the wreckage of his men’s bodies and puts them in the back of his own Warrior, to save the junior soldiers the sight. By the time the convoy crawls back into Dogwood, the rumours are flying around.10 This kind of suicide bombing with multiple victims — D Company has suffered 10 per cent casualties — has become normal now for the Americans, but it is not for the British. Neil Tomlin identifies the corpses.11 Later he and Tom Foulds speak. They know now that this will happen again. They determine they will take turns to do the ugly job of formal identification; between them they know most of the battalion, and the task is best kept away from individuals’ close friends.

			Just after 9 a.m. on 7 November, the bomb disposal team, which includes a 24-year-old Royal Signals corporal named Neil Heritage, is preparing to return to the east bank.12 Heritage is standing behind a Warrior, with its half-opened rear door between him and the road.13 Next to him is another corporal, Mick Brennan. A car is passing, part of a queue of traffic held up by a cordon. Initially they do not realise it is a threat. There is a moment of confusion, bordering on panic, as the car’s destination becomes clear. Heritage is 3m away at the moment of explosion. The blast is largely deflected by the Warrior’s door away from his body, except at ground level where there is nothing in the way. Heritage looks down and sees that the bottoms of his legs are completely gone. There is a great deal of blood. Brennan is blown away from the Warrior; his legs are also destroyed. Again, clipped voices speak on the radio. Again, the American helicopters circle.

			Heritage vanishes into the US medical evacuation chain, first to a field hospital in Baghdad. Some twenty hours later, and still heavily sedated, he flies in a gigantic C-5 Galaxy transport to Ramstein in south-west Germany.14

			The next evening, a rare rainy night, Tom Foulds is in the ops room. ‘IED, one fatality,’ the radio reports.15 They use zap numbers, the first two letters of a surname and the last four digits of an army number, to identify casualties over the radio. The system is designed to ensure anonymity, but for anyone within a smallish unit it is rapidly possible to work out who is being referred to. The dead man is Private Pita Tukatukawaqa, another Fijian, aged twenty-seven. Foulds knows him from playing rugby. Another Warrior from D Company was leaving Dogwood to the north when it struck a huge IED. The blast ripped off six road wheels.16 The Warrior was designed for the Cold War European battlefield; its armour is frontal and side-facing. The hull is weak and thin, and crucially also flat, rather than the V-shape that is required to deflect blasts of this kind. The explosion rips into the driver’s compartment. Two other soldiers, Privates Gellatly and Munro, are also injured. The REME work into the night to recover the vehicle; the mortar troop of the Royal Marines fire illumination rounds to support them.

			It is Foulds’ turn in his grim ballet with Tomlin to go to the medical centre to formally identify the body.17 There he sees Guthrie, the doctor, and the medical sergeant. Both are just covered in blood. Tukatukawaqa’s body lies largely covered by green plastic sheeting. Foulds walks around to the top; there are significant injuries to the head. The medics ask Foulds if he is happy to perform the identification. ‘That’s him,’ he says. Only around twenty minutes later does he realise something is wrong. Tukatukawaqa was a large man — around 1.95m tall. The body in the med centre is not that long. A large slice of its torso is missing, taken out by the bomb. Five years later, in Fiji, Tukatukawaqa’s mother will speak to a reporter from the Observer. ‘Nobody offered us psychological help to deal with the pain,’ she will say. ‘I have spoken to many other mothers and it’s the same. A flurry of activity and letters around the funeral, then we are left behind and forgotten. No explanation for why our sons died, for what point.’18 These experiences are harrowing; they are perhaps not that different from those of many British families who lost sons too. The riposte, always, is that young people join the army aware of the risks involved.

			That night, Tom Foulds decides that he is done with soldiering. Beyond the family trade of the Scottish infantry, medicine had always been another possibility. He decides he will at the first opportunity leave the army and retrain as a doctor. But he cannot leave immediately; they are all at Dogwood for the duration.

			Following Tukatukawaqa’s death, the men know that the Warriors are not invulnerable — certainly not for drivers. The Iraqi interpreters also go on strike. The Black Watch had already started changing their drills and tactics. They stop conducting static vehicle checkpoints that make easy targets for suicide bombers. Instead, they use roadblocks. Any Iraqi driver will be stopped with warning shots. If the driver fails to heed the warning, his car will be shot at: it is much more brutal now. Traffic will not be allowed near the Warriors, and motorists will either have to be patient enough to wait until the block is lifted or turn around. They continue mounting mobile vehicle checkpoints from helicopters or out in the desert using Warriors and Scimitars. Some soldiers are reluctant to follow these new rules — they fear they could face prosecution for improper violence. Cowan himself shoots at several cars to set an example; his account claims ‘no damage or injury was recorded’, although another former infantry officer — not present at Dogwood — disputes that.

			In the QDG squadron, Huw Longmore, a troop leader, observes as the squadron leader Major Jasper de Quincey Adams goes through the new tactics.19 For a roadblock, two Scimitar light tanks will stand off on either side of the highway. Their turrets, with their main armament, will face towards oncoming vehicles. The road itself is to be blocked and chicaned with barbed-wire entanglements. Only one soldier will approach a halted vehicle, and he will do so in full body armour with his helmet on; there are no protective glasses or gloves among the British-issued equipment in 2004, but any idea of wearing soft hats to avoid looking threatening is now out of the window. The British Army never encountered suicide bombers in Northern Ireland. There is nothing in the books, or rather the green-backed ‘tactical aide memoires’ with their waterproof pages, detailing how to respond to them. De Quincey Adams has worked this all out on the hoof.

			The QDG begin conducting checks on the major routes through their area to the west of Dogwood about two weeks into the deployment. Longmore’s troop is the first to use the new tactics. They want to trial them with the best Arabic speaker in the squadron; the Iraqi interpreters are on strike, but 27-year-old Longmore attended a course at the Defence School of Languages at Beaconsfield before the deployment.20 The night before the first checkpoint, Longmore barely sleeps.

			By 17 November, Longmore’s Scimitar patrol is out approximately 25km to the west of Dogwood. Until now the QDG’s contribution to Bracken has proved enjoyable. The recce troops are on their own, with responsibility for the western side of the zone — empty desert, unlike the crowded territory by the river. It is a chance to be a little Rommel in a baby tank, the thing Longmore joined up for. Longmore’s driver sees a pickup truck and saloon car acting suspiciously. Both are moving relatively slowly along a nearby track, keeping to a steady 100m spacing between the two vehicles. It is odd to see two vehicles on this stretch of road at all, let alone two vehicles driving in this way.

			The pickup truck has three passengers, an older driver and two younger men riding shotgun. The second saloon, a red early-1980s VW Passat, is driven by a bearded man looking straight ahead. The QDG’s Scimitars are older than the Black Watch’s Warriors but faster; they can reach 95kph, sufficient to give chase when a vehicle does not pull over, especially on rough terrain. A chase begins. The pickup speeds up and the armoured vehicles follow, in the process overtaking the Passat saloon.

			After a mile, they box in the suspicious pickup. Longmore’s corporal’s vehicle ploughs onto the sand to the east of the metalled road, grit flying up from its tracks. Longmore stays on the main track. The pickup slows to a crawl and the soldiers set up a hasty vehicle checkpoint, with half the number of vehicles and men they would use in a pre-planned operation.

			Longmore is out now, standing with his Scimitar and driver between him and the track. The QDG men order the three passengers out of the pickup and begin searching them and their vehicle. In the process they find a video camera.21 Moments later, Longmore’s corporal shouts a warning that the Passat is pulling up behind the Scimitar. Longmore’s driver shouts out, asking if he should dismount. Another soldier orders him to do so while Longmore questions the pickup driver in his basic Arabic. As the driver is reaching for his weapon, the Passat explodes, enveloping the Scimitar in dust and smoke.

			The blast shoots up and over the top of the light tank. Miraculously, Longmore and his operator are still alive. Longmore’s first thought is of his driver, who was still in the vehicle when the bomb exploded. He is shocked and has ruptured eardrums. Longmore sees the bomber’s torso, limbless and little more than a trunk, rolling charred in the dust. Longmore’s driver is unable to hear and is flecked with gore. In the shock and confusion after the explosion, the three men they apprehended from the pickup truck disappear, running off into the desert.22

			There are numerous other incidents. Among them are two on 10 November. Just after 11 a.m., a Lynx helicopter bound from Dogwood to Baghdad receives small-arms fire. One round penetrates the rear of the helicopter. Another damages the engine, but not sufficiently to make the aircraft unstable. A third penetrates the cockpit, striking one of the pilots under the arm and coming to rest within an inch of his heart. The other pilot wrestles for control of the helicopter while applying dressings over his colleague’s entry and exit wounds. The Lynx makes it back to Dogwood, where the pilot becomes another visitor to Hugo Guthrie’s busy medical operation. Stabilised, he is later evacuated by an American helicopter.23 Shortly after 1 p.m., three rockets land inside Dogwood. Shrapnel hits Lieutenant Alistair Colville in the arm while he is on the telephone to his girlfriend Marina.24

			Throughout this period Eric Terashima, commander of all American troops at Dogwood, sits in the Black Watch’s operations room.25 The space is a reclaimed shack with no windows and canvas curtains to hide the fluorescent lights that run off the generators. For Terashima, the British establishment is like a relic from a different time; the battlegroup’s staff officers still use paper notebooks and lay transparent tracers over maps. Nothing is digitised.26 The Americans used to work things that way when Terashima commissioned in 1991.27 Born in 1968 to Asian-American parents in California, to the alarm of his British counterparts Terashima shaves both his head and his face daily in the wing mirror of a Snatch Land Rover using the same cutthroat razor. Midway through the three weeks that he spends at Dogwood, Terashima also realises that he is living through a moment of highly condensed military change for the Black Watch — a concentrated version of an experience that the entire twenty-first-century British Army will have to undertake sooner or later. They are learning what war is really like.

			Terashima sees that for the local British military, a soldier’s death is like a family bereavement. His marine units were like that once. Now that they have lost a dozen men in three months, they have calcified and hardened. Watching, largely silently, from atop his radio sets, as five men die and several more lose their legs, Terashima sees a similar hardening among his immediate coalition allies.

			When the Black Watch arrived, they showed Terashima the flier they planned to distribute to the local population. It showed a stylised outline of a soldier in a tam o’shanter soft hat with a regimental hackle, a clipped feather plume, rising proud above. It said, in both English and Arabic, that the Black Watch were British, explicitly Scottish, and not American. Terashima perceived that between those bilingual lines ran an equally clear message of not just ‘different’ but ‘better’. The demeanour of the battlegroup was pinned on a sense of superiority.28 Vehicle checkpoints and other driving procedures focused the issue; the British in the first few days repeatedly told Terashima that they thought the American posture, driving in the middle of roads and using heavy armoured vehicles to build chicanes to slow traffic before checkpoints, was brutal and counterproductive. Now, as British soldiers start to die, this hubris begins to unravel. Change accelerates.29 The new tactics for vehicle checkpoints are part of the picture, but it goes deeper than that.30

			Between 29 October and 8 November, the battlegroup has taken five dead; many more are injured. There is screaming media coverage at home. Craig Lowe, brother of Paul Lowe, killed in the first suicide bomb attack, tells a Guardian reporter, ‘He thought they shouldn’t be there, they should all just be back here because it’s a war which nobody knows why it was started or what it was done for … We are all absolutely devastated — our mother is in floods of tears.’31

			The amalgamation issue collides with the news from theatre. On 17 November, coinciding with the funerals for the first three Black Watch soldiers killed in Iraq, SNP MP Pete Wishart introduces a second debate in the House of Commons: ‘While those regiments and those brave young men are out there doing the government’s bidding in Iraq, the government plans to stab them in the back by amalgamating the regiments out of existence.’32 Adam Ingram, minister of state for the armed forces, answers back. ‘Throughout its history the army has been subject to change — sometimes that change has been dramatic,’ he says. ‘Not to engage in the modernisation of our armed forces would weaken our defence at precisely the time it needs to be strong,’ adds Geoff Hoon. On 24 November, Hoon receives a delegation of Scottish grandees, comprising Brigadier Gary Barnett, former honorary colonel of the Black Watch, Colonel Alex Murdoch, the Lord Provost of Dundee, and the provosts of Angus, Fife and Perth. The delegation wants a reprieve for the Black Watch, and hands in to Downing Street a petition with over 150,000 signatures.

			In Iraq, a group of US Marines who have been fighting in Fallujah visit the Black Watch at Dogwood. Guy Williams recalls the marines have taken perhaps seventy dead in two weeks,33 a scale of loss that lies beyond twenty-first-century British military comprehension. The Black Watch express their empathy. ‘Hey man, that’s the price of freedom,’ a marine responds. There is a different culture here, a warrior-monk asceticism. Before, the British mocked it. Now, they realise that if they are to operate in these conditions, they must try to copy it.34

			On 25 November, as the Dogwood deployment nears its end, James Cowan launches a battlegroup operation. The operation is entitled ‘Tobruk’, for another of the Black Watch’s Second World War battle honours. The objective is Qaraghouli Village, a long strip of housing along the east side of the river which the British have nicknamed ‘millionaire’s row’, and which they believe houses former Baathists and Republican Guard. A Company, led by Alastair Aitken and swollen with three additional platoons35 to a total of 247 people and nearly fifty vehicles, will clear the village. Aitken has a BBC journalist in his vehicle for the operation; there is a cameraman and Channel 4 reporter with 1 Platoon, and a still photographer with 3 Platoon. Given the clear risk from suicide bombers, Black Watch officer Mark Ewing devises a plan of enormous complexity for vehicle movement, so that every avenue of approach to their route is closed down.36 There is considerable air support: a British Nimrod jet and Puma helicopter for surveillance, and Harriers for direct attack. The Americans contribute Cobra and Huey helicopters, as well as an AC-130 Spectre gunship, a variation on the Hercules transport that carries a formidable collection of weaponry.37 Before the operation, Cowan gives a speech. ‘This may be the last attack for the 1st Battalion, the Black Watch,’ he says. ‘Let us make sure it goes as well as anything we have done in the past and is one that we can be proud of.’38

			To some observers, the operation looks like an orchestrated press event, to raise the profile of the battalion as it reaches the end of its tour and faces a profoundly uncertain future in the UK. Both Cowan39 and Aitken strongly dispute this point of view. Cowan describes it as ‘really just one operation among many’. Aitken also points out that alongside Tobruk, there were many near-constant operations on both sides of the river during the deployment; the Black Watch were operating as part of a wider endeavour, and Tobruk was conducted at scale because of the threat, and ‘because in order to search and disrupt a large area we needed a certain number of troops’. The embedded press, he notes, were also living with the battalion and sharing the risk. ‘This was not an operation which we “wanted” filmed, it was one of a daily routine of coverage,’ Aitken says. These sentiments are valid, but not completely convincing, given the level of emotion engendered by the amalgamation process.

			At 4 a.m., before the operation begins, Tom Foulds is in the operations room when they receive a phone call from the Permanent Joint Headquarters watch-keeper in Basra, asking for ten-figure grid references to relay back to the UK of all the bridges they will be crossing. To Foulds, this request is the opposite of how matters should be — mission command replaced by a very long, micro-managing screwdriver.40 When the operation begins, loudspeakers attached to A Company vehicles play bagpipe music — including ‘Highland Laddie’ — as they arrive. After sunrise, the pipe major himself arrives to play in a cleared area. To Robert Knauer, an American marine air controller attached to the battlegroup, the bagpiping is one of the most surreal visions of his entire time in Iraq.41 As A Company reaches the target area, Aitken counts down over the radio. Pausing at ‘one’, he shouts, ‘Forward the Forty-Twa,’ referencing a famous exhortation to the Black Watch’s antecedent regiment in the Crimea in 1854.42 The company detains eighty locals but makes no spectacular finds. Before midday, they are back on the west bank of the river. Two days later, when they release sixteen detainees, they realise the Iraqis had expected to be executed.43

			For some, the operation is anticlimactic. Again, Aitken and Cowan dispute this. The commanding officer points out that the idea behind counter-insurgency is not to have a climactic fight: ‘this would have resulted in needless civilian casualties. The proper metric of success in counter-insurgency is when you can dominate the battlespace without killing people needlessly. The fact that, after our first few days of casualties, we achieved that dominance and did not kill or [were] killed is evidence of a professional battlegroup doing its work without a thirst for blood.’ ‘Was it “anticlimactic”?’ Aitken adds. ‘For those who had never been shot at before, probably, yes. For the majority, no. Were we expecting a large response? Yes. Did it happen? No. So did the plan work? Yes.’

			As the deployment enters its final stages, a sense of resentment sets in for some. ‘It started to become apparent to everybody that we were just used as this political pawn to go and join the Americans, show some face,’ Guy Williams remembers.44 It is made out in the press, too, that they are handing over to an American unit — there are photographs of Cowan shaking hands with an American commander. But the reality is they are just leaving the area empty. ‘We were just scurrying away, leaving the Americans to it, having done some coalition building for five weeks. It was a bit of an uncomfortable time,’ says Foulds.

			They begin to pull out on the night of 2–3 December. A ‘D Notice’, an official request to editors asking them not to print or broadcast news relating to national security, is used to keep the date secret. In the evening, Chinooks take troops to Baghdad. As the waves of helicopters leave, Foulds and Cowan wander around the buildings at Dogwood, checking that no one is left behind. For Foulds, the experience is curious. He has known Cowan since he flew to Ballykinler in Northern Ireland as a seventeen-year-old schoolboy visiting the battalion — Cowan was the intelligence officer. Foulds went to Hong Kong as a cadetship officer in 1993–4 when Cowan was the adjutant. Cowan is around ten years older than Foulds. While Cowan has his detractors, those who deem him archaic or pompous even if they in parallel respect his military competence, Foulds likes working with him.45

			For Huw Longmore, the weeks after his bomb blast are ghastly, soaked in a belief that his squadron leader disapproved of his failure.46 By turns he feels useless and guilty. For Guy Williams, near-drowned on the first day and conscious of the battalion’s position as a political pawn, the final weeks of the deployment provide a kind of happiness. His existence becomes so simple, camped out each night in the bare desert by the vehicles to get away from the mortar fire inside Dogwood. Life narrows perfectly to him, his platoon, food and safety. He is in some ways sad to leave.47

			Back in Basra, James Cowan organises a function that pre-empts the more formal ‘decompression’ the army will enact in later years, with troops spending a short time in Cyprus on the way home from Afghanistan. In 2004, matters are less organised, but at Shaibah they find a band, the quartermaster orders four cans of beer per man, and they lay on food. They lock the camp down, with all the sergeant majors on duty. Some men do not drink all their tinnies, so there is a surplus for others. The soldiers, wasted and thin after weeks on rations, are shit-faced if they seek to be. Pizza comes at 11 p.m. In the morning, there are a couple of sleeping bags hung out to soak off vomit or piss, and a couple of black eyes. But the RSM and the sergeant majors deal with it all. The air clears.48

			On 11 December, 200 soldiers from the Black Watch arrive at Warminster in Wiltshire, with the others due to arrive in the coming days. At around 9.30 a.m. the following morning, the first tranche appears out of the mist over Salisbury Plain to the sound of another single piper playing ‘Highland Laddie’. Their families, clutching balloons and saltires, greet them.49 Later, they march through Warminster; this event is in some ways the birth of the twenty-first-century homecoming parade.

			Out of Iraq, though, the amalgamation issue is reaching its climax. On 16 December General Mike Jackson writes to all the army’s commanding officers. ‘What matters is that the regimental system adapts to changing circumstances,’ he says.50 Geoff Hoon also makes an announcement.51 At last, the exact details of the new system are clear. Within the Scottish Division, the Royal Scots will be amalgamated with the King’s Own Scottish Borderers to become the 1st Battalion of a new ‘Royal Regiment of Scotland’. The Royal Highland Fusiliers will become the 2nd Battalion. As the oldest Highland Regiment, the Black Watch becomes the 3rd Battalion. 4th is the Highlanders, the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders 5th. Contrary to expectation, they are going large-large, not small-large. There will also be two territorial battalions.52 Unlike in the other new ‘super regiments’, where antecedent names will go in brackets at the end of the title, in the Royal Regiment of Scotland the former regimental names will be retained at the front. The Black Watch will be ‘The Black Watch, 3rd Battalion, the Royal Regiment of Scotland’, rather than ‘3rd Battalion, the Royal Regiment of Scotland (The Black Watch)’. The difference is significant despite seeming semantic: a small victory for the old ways. Still, officers and men will be cross-posted between the battalions of the new regiment to a much greater extent than before. The central fact of the reform remains.

			Alistair Irwin writes to the members of the Black Watch, as well as to potential officers and readers of the regimental magazine. ‘There is not a single one of us, serving, retired or related, the whole regimental family who would have wanted us to face cuts and amalgamations, or would not have wanted to contemplate happily more years of the regiment as we know it,’ he says. ‘For my part, despite the profound pain of being the colonel of the regiment presiding over this change, I intend to do everything that I can to make these new arrangements work for the sake of those who have made Black Watch history in Iraq and who will keep the Black Watch name and Hackle to the fore.’

			In early 2005,53 the regiment undertakes a week of parades around its traditional recruiting area in Perthshire, Dundee and Fife. Small towns in this area like Methil and Ballingry send thirty or forty soldiers to the battalion. In the evenings, serving soldiers go into the branches of the regimental associations for a drink; Korean War and other veterans are present. Many of these ‘old and bold’ are violently opposed to the new structure.54 They write angry letters to Irwin,55 failing to appreciate that without his lobbying they would probably be in a worse position; if he had resigned, as some wish, the Black Watch would have had no one to fight their corner at all.

			Tony Blair attends the Dundee Parade. On 7 April there is a remembrance service at St. John’s Kirk in Perth. Later that day, a monument is unveiled in the grounds of Balhousie Castle to the memory of the six Black Watch men killed in 2003 and 2004. It is a black cross, the base narrowing towards a circle that runs between the protruding arms. ‘IRAQ’ is written across it in capital letters.

			*

			Discontentment at the new structure continues. Two days after the unveiling of the monument, ‘Save the Scottish Regiments’ campaigners march from Speakers’ Corner to Hyde Park. ‘Amalgamation is not a popular move,’ says Brigadier Gary Barnett. ‘To be fully up to strength we need to recruit locally and this depends on those links to our local community.’56

			By the summer of 2005, the battalion are back in Warminster, in a demonstration role. After Operation Bracken, much has changed. There are discipline issues and soldiers go AWOL.57 Meanwhile, the architects of the reform face more opprobrium. ‘Hundreds of years of sacrifice, courage, honour and tradition are about to be wiped out by pen-pushers and armchair generals in London,’ says Lieutenant Colonel Stephen Lindsay, a descendant of the regiment’s first colonel John Lindsay, Earl of Crawford.




			Chapter 7

			Amalgamation

			Glasgow, Scotland, May 2005

			Vicky Featherstone becomes director of the new National Theatre of Scotland in 2004. New in post, she is expected to commission original drama reflecting contemporary Scotland. She does not want to wait the typical two years required for a playwright to write, and then rehearse, a play on a subject of their choosing. She decides to speed up the process by riffing on contemporary events. On a May morning in 2005, she sits in her office in the centre of Glasgow and scans a newspaper, where she finds a headline relating to the amalgamation of the Scottish regiments. She telephones Gregory Burke, a 36-year-old playwright with an emerging reputation built primarily on Gagarin Way, a single-act piece that examines life in a small town in Fife that used to be a communist stronghold. Featherstone asks if Burke is interested in the story of the Scottish regimental amalgamations. Burke had an uncle and grandfather in the Black Watch, and at school felt there were essentially four career options available to young working-class boys: the pit, the shipyards, the army or jail. The first two have now shut, and one of them he has written about. The third is both in flux and at war. Burke accepts the commission.1

			Featherstone finds him a young woman to work as a researcher. She also directs Burke to collaborate with director John Tiffany. Burke and Tiffany choose not to interact directly with the army to research the project. Instead, in the late summer of 2005, they place adverts in four Scottish newspapers seeking soldiers who served on the Black Watch’s second Iraq deployment, and in particular on Operation Bracken, who have left the army, and so are in a position to talk freely. Responses filter in through the autumn. Time is tight as Featherstone’s intention is for the play — still at present without a title — to premiere at the Edinburgh Festival in August 2006.

			For a few weeks in deep midwinter, Burke sits in a pub in Fife with four men who served with the Black Watch in Iraq, all in their mid-twenties. Much of the play will take place in a pub, and while Burke builds in extra scenes that never happened in reality (most notably a fight), the core of the drama — four men sitting in a pub in Scotland talking about their war — is drawn from life. The way they hit on the researcher is verbatim.

			Burke begins to work up two scripts, one for the pub scenes and the others for those in Iraq. In June, rehearsals begin in the National Theatre of Scotland’s rehearsal space in Springburn in Glasgow. Tiffany introduces a movement element to the auditions, and the eventual company take easily to the collective movements of soldiering. They persuade an ex-regimental sergeant major of the Black Watch to come and drill the actors for an afternoon. Burke, more and more convinced this is a play about a workplace, and a vanishing one at that, watches astonished for an hour as a grizzled military lifer works the middle-class theatre boys like putty. By the end, Burke is pretty sure the actors would gladly go into battle for him. David Loyn, a BBC correspondent who was at Dogwood, comes to another rehearsal and provides further advice. Burke writes a final speech for an officer inspired in part by Michael Caine’s soliloquy in Zulu, to be delivered in Sandhurst RP as opposed to broad Jock. Burke aims to show that the Black Watch’s gentry officers are just as trapped by the system as the working-class soldiers they command. They have a generous seven rather than the usual four weeks to rehearse. The August premiere date at the festival is confirmed. Still, both Burke and Tiffany feel that they have created a mess that does not gel. If they could, they would back out. They are trapped in a play they cannot escape that is about other men trapped in a situation they cannot escape.

			On the first preview night, two young actors knife their way upwards through the baize top of a pool table to mark the first scene shift between the pub and Iraq. A hush spreads around the auditorium; the crowd are rapt. Tiffany and Burke, sitting on either side of the open square that forms the performance space, realise that Black Watch — as it is now termed — really works as a piece of theatre.

			It becomes a phenomenon. Sold out at Edinburgh, there is later a revival in London and a US tour with a different company, culminating in an off-Broadway run in 2007. The army, never consulted, not only do not complain but also start to embrace the play. It is not the hatchet job they feared; it gets to something profound about the regimental system. Speculation as to the real-life models for the four characters, named after the four warring clan chiefs who first raised the regiment, becomes fervid.

			The Black Watch brand is strong in the theatre; less so in the regiment. Before the May 2005 general election, Owen Humphrys, grandson of the most senior Black Watch officer in history, Field Marshall Earl Wavell, organises a ‘battle bus’ to travel to Westminster to support political parties who oppose the merger of the Scottish regiments.2 Humphrys retired from the Black Watch as a captain in 1978. After the election Gary Barnett, the former colonel of the regiment, writes to the new secretary of state for defence, John Reid, asking him to reverse the decision to cut four battalions at a time of increasing military commitments. Adam Ingram, still minister of state for the armed forces, responds that the government will not be moved. Barnett also writes to Mike Jackson, questioning his claim that larger regiments will increase recruitment. Jackson is likewise unyielding.

			In late 2005, the Black Watch’s tenure at Warminster comes to an end with a demonstration exercise on Salisbury Plain. Their next posting, to the chagrin of those who wish to stay in an armoured role with the prospect of a return to Iraq or a deployment to the emerging theatre of Afghanistan, is to Northern Ireland. Finally, on 28 March 2006, the Black Watch parade for the last time in front of Alistair Irwin. After a fifteen-minute break the battalion, now commanded by Lieutenant Colonel Lindsay MacDuff, who during the Dogwood deployment had the extremely complex task of commanding the rear party in Warminster, re-form as the 3rd Battalion of the Royal Regiment of Scotland. Wives attend the parade wearing black and dark glasses. There is a ‘mourning’ party in the evening, with squid-ink pasta and Guinness.3

			After the Dogwood deployment, Tom Foulds, determined to leave the army and become a doctor, spends his last spell in the military in a desk job in the headquarters of the Scottish Division in Edinburgh Castle, looking at the work required to amalgamate six regular battalions into five parts of a new whole. There are important discussions of manning, but also endless trivia, in particular about dress. Foulds witnesses raging conversations about which of the three types of spats in the Scottish Division should be used in the new regiment: some have curved ends, some have squared-off ends, some have black buttons, some have white. Then there is the question of which metal sporran top of the five available to use, and whether there will be two tassels, five or three. The Scottish regiments are very publicly arguing about buttons at a time when the rest of the infantry are focused on operations. Foulds feels the respect of the rest of the infantry for the Scottish Division slipping away.

			The Royal Regiment of Scotland ultimately proves a much less happy construct than those large regiments that really embrace the new system — notably the Rifles, formed in 2007 from the Royal Green Jackets, the Light Infantry, the Devon and Dorsets, and the Royal Gloucestershire, Berkshire and Wiltshire Regiment. The Rifles chooses a fully corporate identity, badging itself 1 to 5 Rifles and renouncing its old regimental names. Its new identity is further forged by challenging, and often bloody, tours in late Iraq and Afghanistan. The Rifles soon became one of the most desired destinations for Sandhurst cadets. The Royal Regiment of Scotland, by contrast, loses cachet.4

			Looking back, one former army officer of this period, who did not serve in a Scottish infantry regiment but whose father had done, believes that the Black Watch were pivotal to these difficulties with the new structure, largely because of their preoccupation with regimental parochialism. While other regiments tried to make the best of an unhappy situation, the Black Watch resisted hard.5 Others accuse James Cowan, the commanding officer during Dogwood, and later the colonel of the full Royal Regiment of Scotland, of personal intransigence. Nonetheless, the same individual emphasises that military peers of his who worked for James Cowan later, when he was a brigade commander in Afghanistan and in the Ministry of Defence, had a very high opinion of him, in particular his military competence and aggression.

			Post-Dogwood, James Cowan’s rise is meteoric. In 2006, as a colonel, he serves as chief of staff to Multi-National Division — South-East in Iraq, under Major General Richard Shirreff. By the following year the army, stretched by parallel operations in Iraq and Afghanistan, needs to stand up a new brigade headquarters to deploy to Helmand. Cowan, by this stage a brigadier, commands this formation, 11th Light Brigade. In 2013, as a major general, he is appointed as commander of 3rd (United Kingdom) Division, by this stage the only deployable division in the army.

			Then things go wrong.

			In March 2014, Cowan sends a 1,600-word instructional email to a group of officers in his divisional headquarters. Early sections focus on writing, the problems of military acronyms, and words to avoid (here the tone is decidedly Mitfordian — ‘toilet’ and ‘serviette’ are banned; Cowan also includes John Betjeman’s poem ‘How to Get on in Society’). However, it is the later sections on etiquette that are the root of the uproar that follows. Cowan bans sandwiches from his mess (‘a gentleman or lady uses a knife and fork’). When cutlery is used, he observes, it is not used properly. He bemoans the fact that his officers appear not to stand up any more when the commanding officer enters the ante-room. He reports that a Burns Night supper was spoilt by the fact that husbands sat next to wives: ‘the secret of a successful marriage is never to sit next to your spouse at dinner, except when dining at home where no alternative is possible.’ He devotes a lengthy section to the ‘art’ of the thank-you letter.

			Much of this missive is classic Black Watch stuff, although in fairness to Cowan such etiquette lessons occur too at Sandhurst and in some other regiments. Many army officers would tacitly agree with Cowan’s points, if not the manner in which they were delivered, and some would suggest his subsequent ruination owed itself to the media, not the message. Cowan is also capable of self-parody; the email may have been intended as such. Yet by 2014, the ground has moved beneath his feet. Divisional headquarters includes officers from very different backgrounds, many with scant tolerance for such views. As an email, by 2014 the message is also one click away from a journalist; it is eventually published in full in the Sun on 5 March, alongside a graphic showing crosshairs superimposed over sandwiches and other offending items.

			A day later, an individual using the moniker ‘EarlofSandwich’ posts a riposte to ‘Cowan’s edict’ on the Army Rumour Service website, or ARRSE.6 ‘We note from an army spokesman that your original missive was intended as a light-hearted dialogue, and not at all a serious attempt to impose proto-Victorian behaviours which make senior officers, who are never in the mess, feel more comfortable while alienating junior officers, who live here,’ the response reads. It addresses Cowan’s suggestion about the role of army wives, and the importance of thank-you letters:

			Many [wives] see it as a bit of an imposition to agree to go to a work function of ours so they can be plied with copious amounts of drink while being banned from visiting the ladies’ room, encouraged to watch paunchy middle-aged men get smashed, and make inappropriate comments before staggering off to piss in a sink, and then be made to write to thank you for the pleasure.

			Most of all, one paragraph in particular draws attention to the fact that Cowan’s letter comes after over ten years of war.

			We note your observation that few junior officers stand when you — apologies, the commanding officer — enter the room. This is of course entirely wrong, and we will correct it immediately. Please excuse Capt George RLC [Royal Logistic Corps] and Capt MacDonald RE [Royal Engineers], however: the prosthetics make it a bit problematic. While on the subject, please be assured that Capt Fraser RLC is not, in fact, ‘giving you the finger’ when saluting — it’s just that he only has the one remaining.7

			Widely tipped beforehand to become chief of the general staff, or at least to rise further within the army, Cowan leaves in 2015 as a major general after completing his tour as commander of 3rd Division. Many believe the leaked email had a role in his departure. Cowan, though, maintains his reasons were twofold and unrelated to this incident. His wife had been training as a doctor since 2009; when the army asked Cowan to return to Afghanistan in 2015, it was clear to the couple that between two demanding careers and young children, something had to give. Moreover, Cowan had been approached by the landmine clearance organisation the Halo Trust, offering him the role of chief executive.8 Cowan was fifty-one at this point; he did not want to try to start a second career at fifty-five, the age at which he might otherwise have left the army. The Halo Trust offer seemed to him an ideal opportunity to change direction.9

			In his departure interview with Forces TV, as he prepared to leave the military, Cowan referenced the importance of armies not ossifying after war. ‘There have been previous times in our past when the British Army has finished a war and failed to prepare for the future. Now, 200 years since the Battle of Waterloo … what happened then was that the army didn’t prepare for the future, and when the next war did come round, in the Crimea, it was disastrous. We mustn’t ever allow that to happen again.’10

			In the years that follow, others from Dogwood get on with their lives too, including the injured. Neil Heritage, his legs taken off by that blast under the Warrior’s back door, is one of those from the battlegroup on Bracken who receive a maiming that the system euphemistically terms a ‘life-changing injury’. After his spell at Ramstein, he wakes up in Selly Oak Hospital in Birmingham for the first time since the incident a week previously. He thinks initially that they have flown his family to Iraq. The first news he hears is that his girlfriend is pregnant. That helps; he has something else to focus on now.

			In mid-January 2005, Heritage arrives at Headley Court, the military rehabilitation centre built around a red-brick mansion in Surrey. Shortly afterwards Mick Brennan, injured alongside Heritage, also arrives. In three years’ time the place will be full of limbless young men from Iraq and Afghanistan, but in early 2005 Headley Court is still dominated by peacetime injuries — back and knee problems; among the more seriously injured are those who have been in car accidents or come off a bike. They have not dealt with bilateral amputees. At this time, getting individuals ‘back into work’ is the priority; only later will it become clear that getting them mobile and adapting their housing is more significant. The first prosthetics Heritage receives — termed the ‘Ultimate Knee’ — are basic. After six months, he can walk for a short time on a flat gym floor with sticks. Effectively, he is wheelchair-bound.

			The Royal Signals give Heritage a job maintaining and updating their website at their headquarters at Blandford in Dorset. He dislikes it, and moves to another IT role in network engineering. Every time a visitor arrives, Heritage is literally wheeled out to meet them. The team in which he is working goes to Afghanistan; he is stuck in the office. When a new compensation scheme for injured soldiers kicks in, the start date for injuries to be counted is April 2005, five months after Heritage was blown up. He misses out on a lump sum: the maximum available is £570,000. He misses out on about £450,000.11

			Heritage is discharged from the army in 2007. He marries his girlfriend the following year. Within six months, they separate; his wife never really came to terms with the fact that he lost his legs. Heritage, by contrast, feels that given how nearly he died on Bracken, the fact that he lived at all seems a bonus. The separation, however, hits him very hard. After leaving the army Heritage works as a financial advisor, and then at a sports college, initially in an IT role, before getting into sports coaching. He becomes a fitness coach on a residential ‘bootcamp’ in Bridport in Dorset. He does all the sessions with the clients. It is difficult for them to say they cannot continue when there is a man with no legs next to them, just getting on with it.

			Around 2006 they started giving soldiers better prosthetics; Heritage received high-tech legs on his way out of the army. Five or six years later, an upgraded model arrives, with an intelligent knee joint, made by the German company Ottobock. It is worth £110,000.12 In the bleak aftermath of his divorce, Heritage applies to row the Atlantic with the Row2Recovery team. The crossing takes place in 2012: fifty-one days on the water, two hours on, two hours off. It is gruelling, but in terms of his mental health it turns things around. It gives him a new identity beyond that of a man who got blown up. He attempts, and finally suceeds, to climb the Matterhorn.13 He likes these activities; it feels as if he has actually done something. In Iraq, he was called a hero, but was, he thinks, just a man in the wrong place at the wrong time.

			When a bomb disposal officer Heritage used to work with tells him about a video from a jihadist website which he believes shows the incident in which Heritage was injured, Heritage decides to watch it.14 The picture is blurry: a straight road, what appears to be a water tower in the distance.15 The blast shoots out and up like a detonation in a video game. ‘Allahu Akhbar,’ shouts a voice, over wailing and chanting. God is great.

			Meanwhile, Huw Longmore’s driver, his back drenched in gore by that car bomb, and previously an outstanding soldier with a bright future in uniform, is out of the army in two years, riddled with post-traumatic stress disorder and suffering from a perforated eardrum.16 Longmore spends the remainder of his military career obsessively wondering how he failed to apprehend the remainder of the bombing party after the blast. No matter how good his confidential reports — the regular appraisals of job performance — are, he always feels inadequate,17 and leaves in 2010, without promoting to major. Guy Williams leaves in August 2012, two years after promoting to the same rank.18 Like many of his military generation, their experiences shaped by war, Williams becomes dismayed at the ‘institutionalised, archaic and apathetic’ leadership of the previous generation that he encounters in cushy staff jobs as he rises up the hierarchy.19 Rare, too, are the days when he does not think about Kevin McHale, drowning in his Warrior.




		
			Part 3

			Storytime

			The YouTube war film and other tales

			IRAQ, AFGHANISTAN, HEREFORD, YORKSHIRE, LONDON
AUGUST 2004 — JUNE 2010

			On the walls of the cave, only the shadows are the truth.

			Plato, The Allegory of the Cave, The Republic (c. 375 BC)

			Swords are not to be worn.

			‘Instructions for Dress at Investitures (Army)’, Joint Service Publication 761, Honours and Awards in the Armed Forces

		




			Chapter 8

			Post-production

			Camp Bastion, Helmand Province, Afghanistan, September 20061

			The task takes Major Jamie Loden barely half an hour.2 His fingers flutter on the keyboard filmed with the fine sand — they call it moondust3 — that travels everywhere, even here into the company commanders’ tent with the flaps rolled to ground level. The camp is new at this stage. HESCO forms a membrane between this British world of tentage and desert combat fatigues, and the Dasht-e Margo, the so-called ‘Desert of Death’. In Afghanistan, they have chosen to build in open country, to learn the lesson from all those bases in Iraq, mortared at length from their encompassing conurbations.

			Loden is a major at thirty-three, pulled back off staff college onto the deployment after the officer scheduled to take command of A Company of the 3rd Battalion of the Parachute Regiment was medically downgraded. Loden’s father was a paratrooper too; he won a Military Cross with the regiment’s 1st Battalion in Aden in 1967. Now, this not-obviously-martial task with the laptop takes the younger Loden very few minutes, because he has done it before; an enthusiast for gadgetry, he has taught himself video editing. In 2000, he made a clip mixing promotional material from recruitment videos — jumps at Brize Norton and in Kenya, footage of exercises and training — with the opening scene from Gladiator and the command ‘at my signal, unleash hell’, in Russell Crowe’s profound diction. In 2003, he served as an exchange officer with the US 82nd Airborne Division in Afghanistan, and became acquainted with their fondness for homemade commemorative videos. Loden will become his battalion’s de facto video-editing officer — not a position that appears on the formal order of battle, but one for which there is now a requirement nonetheless.

			The product Loden is working on will become an unofficial visual record of Operation Herrick 4 for the 3rd Battalion of the Parachute Regiment, abbreviated in army language to 3 PARA. It is a film that will change the way war is seen (and arguably fought). Much of the footage comes from B Company, not Loden’s own mob. A Company took over in Sangin on 27 July, before the attacks on that British outpost escalated and became increasingly sophisticated. Still, the material, filmed by soldiers on handheld cameras and phones, is strong — orders of magnitude more powerful than the peacetime training shots Loden has previously worked with. This new footage shows a ‘two-way range’, to use the Parachute Regiment’s preferred euphemism for actual fighting.

			As a soundtrack, Loden chooses the Eminem track ‘Lose Yourself’. As with all the creative choices that go into this film’s production, Loden’s selection is rapid and unlaboured; he thinks about the music much less than the thousands who subsequently watch the film will do. Loden flips the clips around in Apple’s iMovie. In each frame, the same colours predominate: the beige and brown of uniform and ground and dust; occasionally a brilliant blue from the sky.

			Loden begins the film with a scrolling poem, ‘Message to Terry Taliban’, similar to a text someone graffitied in the District Centre compound in Sangin. The term ‘Terry’, for ‘Taliban’, was born on this tour. In the first seconds, the poem scrolls in sans-serif font over a still of the breech of a GPMG (the 7.62mm support weapon the army has used since the 1950s and which is also nicknamed, on occasion, ‘The General’), its serial number ‘1005–13–103–25’ etched in gunmetal grey at stage right. The poem scrolls before the backing beats of the rap track start to throb.

			Watch out Terry, we’re hunting you down

			There’s nowhere to hide in Sangin town

			You’ll shit yourself when the 50s are fired

			No point in running you’ll only die tired

			Got A10s on call for brassing you up

			No food or water, we don’t give a fuck

			So do one Terry, you’ve plenty to fear

			We run this town now, the Paras are here

			The words ‘Airborne Forever’ follow the poem, justified at the centre of the screen.

			Beyond the poem, a shot zooms in on two rough wooden signs. One points up, reading ‘Stairway to hell’. The other points down: ‘Stairway to heaven’. Much shooting follows: scenes on the rooftop of the Sangin District Centre compound, and in the fortified sangars — another imported word, borrowed far in the past from Hindi and Pashtu, meaning a small protected structure for observing or firing from, built up from the ground — erected at each interstice. Bombs shoot down like arrows, bursting into flamboyant explosions. Soldiers fire rifles, a shoulder-launched missile, and mortars. There are shots through a riflescope and others in greenish night vision. An A-10 Thunderbolt, the snub-nosed American close-support aircraft the poem eulogises, wings overhead. Eminem thunders throughout, verses interspersed with a chorus that refers to losing oneself in the music and how you only get one shot, one chance. The message is an old one: carpe diem. Seize the day.

			In its three minute and thirty-four second entirety, the film is a distillation of two metrics. Before launching British troops into Helmand Province that summer, at a press conference in Kabul on 23 April, Defence Secretary John Reid said, ‘We’re in the south to help and protect the Afghan people, to reconstruct their economy and democracy. We would be perfectly happy to leave in three years’ time without firing one shot.’4 By the end of the summer, the 3 PARA battlegroup has in fact fired half a million small-arms rounds.5 The men were told that was more than ten times the total that a significantly larger organisation — the entire 1st (UK) Armoured Division — expended during the initial invasion of Iraq in 2003.

			The second metric is that the 3 PARA battlegroup also nearly exhausted UK war stocks of 81mm mortar ammunition. Prior to handing over to A Company in Sangin, B Company received a resupply with US ammunition. One of the clips in the Eminem film shows a helicopter bringing in these mortar rounds. Although the same calibre as the British projectiles, the American charges were different. The soldiers needed to use different tables to calculate ranges. Loden’s 81mm mortars ran down to their last ten or twelve rounds per firing tube during his spell in Sangin.

			Loden will never know who leaks the film, nor who will give it the title for which it becomes universally known; ‘the Rooftop’, after the rooftop of the Sangin District Centre compound. Nor will he know how — though he will perhaps understand why — the film becomes a phenomenon.

			*

			This is a tale about storytelling. It concerns the changing ways that British soldiers related their experiences, or had their experiences related for them, by the army and a range of external actors, during the Iraq and Afghanistan conflicts. It is largely a tale of technology. The optical miniaturisation and digitisation that installed cameras into surveillance drones put sub-five-megapixel cameras, and later iPhones and GoPros, into soldiers’ hands. The networked computing that brought terminals into remote, isolated bases made feasible video editing by the semi-skilled. The social media platforms that became a venue for ideological warfare permitted rapid dissemination of product.

			Yet while the technology was new, what soldiers produced with it fitted into a much longer tradition: fast-twitch artistic response to war. That lineage runs back to songs in Vietnam and lyric poetry in the First World War, and arguably, far earlier than that too. The new films were vulnerable to the same biases and issues of misrepresentation that have forever dogged stories of conflict. Nor did the advent of new technology eclipse the old ways of military storytelling (especially memoir and painting). Finally, and most importantly, both the new and old forms of storytelling did not only have an impact on how people back home perceived the conflicts. They also influenced what took place on the battlefield, with often-problematic results. Never was that more true for the British than in the summer of 2006 in Helmand.

			*

			The most significant development in the way British soldiers told their stories in the years immediately prior to 9/11 was the advent of the SAS memoir. In 1992, in the aftermath of the first Gulf War, General Peter de la Billière, the ex-Special Forces officer who was commander-in-chief of British forces in the desert under the American General ‘Stormin’’ Norman Schwarzkopf, published with HarperCollins a book called Storm Command, ‘a personal account of the Gulf War’. Storm Command included extensive descriptions of SAS activities in Iraq, including a full chapter on the escape to Syria of one member of a compromised patrol, ‘Bravo Two Zero’, whose objective has since been variously described as observing traffic on a supply route and destroying Scud missile launchers. Three of the eight-man patrol died; four were captured, one escaped on foot.

			De la Billière claimed that the SAS played an important strategic role in the Gulf War by destroying Scuds and suppressing their launch. Some question these claims: in a 2009 essay on ‘The Special Air Service and the Concentration of Military Power’, military sociologist Anthony King wrote:

			In fact, B Squadron achieved nothing beyond the disastrous insertion of the Bravo Two Zero patrol. Although it destroyed some significant communications cables, A Squadron found no Scuds and assaulted a strategically pointless aerial whose communications facility had already been destroyed by air, while D Squadron recorded the destruction of one Scud. The SAS may have had some limited deterrent effect in the desert, though it is difficult to disaggregate its influence from the impact of the coalition’s total air superiority.6, 7

			Storm Command was only part of a lengthy promotional campaign for the SAS on the part of de la Billière. First raised by David Stirling in North Africa in 1941, the Special Air Service was disbanded at the end of the Second World War before reconstitution a few years later. It served in Malaya, Borneo, Radfan and Dhofar, but during the Cold War some senior army officers regarded it with antipathy, as a distraction from the army’s main business of defending Western Europe from the Russians.8 Deployment to Northern Ireland in the 1970s, and the highly public success of the SAS’s rescue of hostages from the Iranian embassy in London in 1980, changed matters.9 De la Billière was Director SAS10 between 1978 and 1982, and cultivated a close personal relationship with Margaret Thatcher,11 especially after the Iranian embassy episode. He convinced Thatcher of the SAS’s centrality in re-capturing the Falklands in 1982. De la Billière subsequently secured his own selection as commander of British forces for the 1991 Gulf War. His American superior General Norman Schwarzkopf was sceptical of the utility of Special Forces, following his own experiences in Vietnam, where such troops often had to be rescued after their operations misfired. Nonetheless, de la Billière persuaded Schwarzkopf to deploy the SAS into the desert.

			Storm Command was therefore far from de la Billière’s first act of lobbying on behalf of his old regiment. It did, however, take that lobbying outside the army and into the public sphere. It was not the first ‘SAS book’: Tony Jeapes, who commanded the regiment in the 1970s, had published on SAS operations in Oman, and in 1989 Soldier I related another individual’s involvement in the Iranian Embassy siege, the Falklands and other operations. But Storm Command opened the book floodgates, not least because such a high-ranking SAS officer going public made it hard to contain those further down the military food-chain.

			In 1992, in Hereford, the SAS staff sergeant12 who would later become known as ‘Andy McNab’, the man who led the ill-fated Bravo Two Zero patrol in the Gulf, and who had, after his capture, spent time in Iraqi custody, received an invitation to supper at de la Billière’s house outside nearby Hay-on-Wye.13 Storm Command had already been published, and there was grumbling among the men of the regiment at the way that book had used their photographs from Iraq. Rumours swirled, too, that de la Billière was one of the ‘names’ affected by the collapse of the Lloyd’s insurance market, and, unable to extricate himself from poorly performing syndicates because of his overseas military service, had reportedly taken to writing to help cover his losses.14 (‘His business at Lloyd’s is something I’m sure he would rather not talk about,’ de la Billière’s literary agent told the Independent four years later15). McNab was at the eighteen-year point of his twenty-two-year engagement, and had decided to leave the army. He had taken part in counter-narcotic operations in Colombia in the 1980s and had an offer to return there as a private contractor.

			There were a number of senior officers at the Hay-on-Wye dinner. De la Billière explained to McNab that he was looking to write a second book. He proposed that McNab should tell him the story of the Bravo Two Zero patrol, which he would then interweave with higher-level decision-making and what was going on in Riyadh.16

			At the Red Cross in Baghdad, McNab had met John Nichol, an RAF navigator whose Tornado was shot down during the Gulf War on his first mission and who, along with pilot John Peters, was held in Iraqi custody and paraded, beaten, on television. After their release, Nichol and Peters worked with writer William Pearson on a book about their experiences. Michael Joseph published Tornado Down in 1992 and sold 75,000 copies in hardcover, confounding the expectations of those who thought such a title could at best work as a more downmarket ‘paperback original’.17 Now, having received de la Billière’s offer, the SAS staff sergeant telephoned John Nichol. In McNab’s recollection, Nichol ‘fell about on the floor laughing’ when he told the pilot what de la Billière had proposed.18 The staff sergeant went to see his commanding officer. ‘If I’m going to do it, I’ll do it myself,’ he said. Despite having joined the army as a sixteen-year-old with a reading age of eleven, McNab — who was the British Army’s most highly decorated serving soldier when he left the SAS in February 1993 — would in time become a hugely successful author. Nichol introduced him to his literary agent, Mark Lucas. Lucas was then in his late thirties and working at the agency Peters, Fraser and Dunlop.19

			In retrospect, Lucas believes the origin of the publishing phenomenon that became ‘Andy McNab’ is rooted in an earlier democratisation of the memoir. Lucas had previously represented Terry Waite and John McCarthy, hostages held in Beirut in the 1980s. McCarthy’s memoir Some Other Rainbow, a joint narrative co-authored with his girlfriend Jill Morrell, sold 550,000 copies in hardcover. In Lucas’ view, this success proved that memoir by private individuals, as opposed to major public figures, could make profitable books. The success of Tornado Down cemented that fact.

			At their first meeting in Lucas’ office, McNab sported a large moustache and the agent was struck by his ‘wonderfully dry delivery’.20 Together, they assembled a book proposal about the Bravo Two Zero patrol. Lucas had found McNab’s initial pitch formal, too much like a patrol report. He told the staff sergeant to read Touching the Void, Joe Simpson’s 1988 account of a disastrous mountaineering trip to Siula Grande in the Peruvian Andes. The proposal that publishers eventually received for the SAS book was ‘Hollywood trailer style’: a number of bitesize chunks relating episodes from the patrol, disregarding chronology but strung together with commentary. McNab would write under a pseudonym; that choice was less to do with his work with the SAS itself, he says, than with activities in Northern Ireland attached to a shadowy intelligence unit, variously referred to as 14th Intelligence Company, the Det, or Joint Communications Unit Northern Ireland.21 Opinions differ about how the pseudonym was selected: ‘McNab’ believes it was drawn from an early Pac-Man game called ‘Munchkin McNab’, while Bill Scott-Kerr, now McNab’s publisher, remembers it as being drawn from John Macnab, a 1925 novel by John Buchan.22 The first and last names were also roughly symmetrical in length, so fitted well on a book cover.

			There was considerable theatre to the subsequent sale of the book to publishers. Mark Lucas told commissioning editors they could only read the Bravo proposal in his office, having signed a non-disclosure agreement. One publisher produced an envelope from his top pocket with a written-down offer for five books. Bill Scott-Kerr, then at Macmillan, put up £250,000, in the early 1990s a spectacular advance for a first-time non-fiction title — with no joy.23 The book eventually went to Patrick Janson-Smith at Transworld. The manuscript went to the Ministry of Defence, who asked for a series of minor changes.24 At this stage, no one really understood what impact the book would have. In a sales conference at Transworld’s headquarters on Uxbridge Road in London, McNab told his story to an enraptured team from the publisher. A projected swift meeting became a multi-hour, sandwich-fuelled epic. Garry Prior, the sales director, stood up. ‘I’m going to sell 50,000 copies, personally,’he said.25

			That proved a massive understatement, as did the scepticism of a journalist at the Sun who, when discussing possible serial rights with Lucas, said, ‘It’s not the most obvious serial book, this; tomorrow, more torture?’26 Bravo Two Zero initially sold 300,000 in hardback, shifting more than a million in paperback on its publication in 1994. It has now been published in 17 countries, translated into 16 languages, and remains in print, almost 30 years later. In 1994–5 McNab, out of the army now, found himself in Los Angeles on the set of the action film Heat. Robert De Niro had read Bravo Two Zero and requested him. McNab choreographed action scenes for director Michael Mann with Tonka Toys and brought Val Kilmer, who was playing a supporting role, up to competition standard in pistol technique.

			McNab followed up Bravo Two Zero with a second book, Immediate Action, his life story from a tough childhood through to the Gulf War.27 This time, the MoD sought an injunction. At a meeting at the Ministry, Graeme Lamb, who had served as McNab’s squadron commander when he first joined the SAS (and who, years later, would command the British division in Basra in 2003 immediately after the invasion), finally smoothed matters through to publication. The injunction furore inevitably stoked sales; Immediate Action sold 600,000 copies in hardback.28 McNab moved into fiction, producing a series of novels featuring a character called ‘Nick Stone’ and later another one called ‘Tom Buckingham’ (the original name, ‘Tom Mullen’, was deemed to be insufficiently English-sounding by his American publishers).

			Between them, Andy McNab and Mark Lucas created a completely new genre of British military storytelling. Firmly non-commissioned, and revelling in saltiness and earthiness, it appealed to a generation raised on the muscle-bound action films and actors of the 1980s: Terminator and Rambo; Arnold Schwarzenegger and Sylvester Stallone.

			Within publishing, they also transformed by an order of magnitude the expectation of the number of such books it was possible to sell. Unsurprisingly, others wanted in on the act. The one member of Bravo Two Zero who had escaped capture or death by walking 300km to Syria brought out his own account of the patrol in 1995, titled The One that Got Away, under the pseudonym ‘Chris Ryan’. That too proved a bestseller. Other imitators followed, including individuals who had not taken part in the fated patrol but had served elsewhere with the SAS. McNab recommended some to Mark Lucas. The military system eventually reacted: 1996 saw the introduction of confidentiality agreements for SAS soldiers, effectively cutting off the prospect of future titles. One former SAS officer also refers to a bottom-up agreement among the sergeants’ mess at Hereford, aiming to cut those who did write ‘tell-all’ books out of the lucrative private military contracting ‘circuit’ once they left the army.29 A 2004 report in the Telegraph claimed that Peter de la Billière, perceived as the man who opened the floodgates on the ‘SAS book’, was no longer welcome at SAS bases, and that in 2003 he was asked to leave a wake for a former regimental sergeant major.30 (De la Billière said in 1997 that he did not receive a formal letter banning him from bases, as did other SAS authors,31 and that his books were cleared by the SAS and MoD before publication.32 In 2004 he added that he was still allowed to attend regimental funerals.33)

			The ‘Andy McNab’ origin story is more than a publishing tale. Books are powerful things: they have the ability to fundamentally change the way we think, and in particular the way we think about war. The lessons of history are clear here. When Field Marshall Douglas Haig, the commander of the British Expeditionary Force in France from 1915 to the end of the First World War, died in 1928, an estimated million people lined the streets of London for his funeral.34 In the years immediately after 1918, the later conception of the First World War as an epic of futile sacrifice was uncommon. A major catalyst for the subsequent change in viewpoint came from literature. Three pivotal British memoir accounts of World War One were published between 1928 and 1930 — Edmund Blunden’s Undertones of War (1928), Robert Graves’ Goodbye to All That (1929), and Siegfried Sassoon’s Memoirs of an Infantry Officer (1930). Along with R.C. Sherriff’s 1928 play Journey’s End, and the simultaneous publication in Germany in 1929 of Erich Maria Remarque’s All Quiet on the Western Front, these books were instrumental in developing the enduring idea of the ‘Great’ War as futile and tragic, a view stoked as the suffering of the Great Depression suggested that the enormous sacrifices of 1914–18 had not really changed anything material.35 Books matter.

			Few would contend that McNab’s works, and all the other gung-ho SAS titles that followed, were literary artefacts to match Sassoon, Blunden or Graves. But their vast distribution ensured their significance. By McNab’s own estimation, he was responsible for ‘nearly 90 per cent of the infantry intake post-Bravo Two Zero’.36 He would go on to contribute extensively to the Sun newspaper, and feature in a series of YouTube videos firing a variety of British army weapons.37 Of course, all the usual factors that drive army recruitment continued to operate at this time — lack of alternative employment, family and local links, a search for adventure. McNab was far from the only influence. But still, many of those who went to Iraq and Afghanistan a decade and some after the publication of Bravo Two Zero had been inspired to join the army by McNab’s work. Inevitably, given their choice of trade, and the circumstances the army found itself engaged in, some were injured. Others died.

			It is for that reason important to grapple with controversies that have swirled over the past few decades, the first surrounding allegations that McNab did not write his own books, the second centering on claims that at least the first of them — Bravo Two Zero, the one that kicked off the whole phenomenon — was, in places, embroidered.

			In 2000, a writer called Caroline Sylge interviewed Mark Lucas, who by now had co-founded his own literary agency, Lucas Alexander Whitley, for a piece in the Bookseller, the publishing industry’s trade magazine. The story was about the use of ghostwriters. ‘There is still this curiously old-fashioned view that ghosted books are of an inferior quality. But why?’ Lucas was quoted as saying. ‘A terrifically good cricketer doesn’t make his own bats, so why should terrific protagonists necessarily be able to write?’ The Bookseller identified Lucas as representing ‘a stable of ghostwriters’ at his agency. Regarding McNab, the article claimed he was ‘tutored when he first began to write his bestseller Bravo Two Zero’. ‘Andy needed a lot of help at the beginning, but he is a natural storyteller,’ Lucas said. However, he denied a rumour, described by Sylge as ‘longstanding’, that Bravo Two Zero was ghostwritten.38

			Since then, a stream of internet commentary has speculated on the process behind McNab’s books, with threads on the Army Rumour Service and other forums. In an interview, McNab described the writing assistance he receives as ‘a 24/7 editor’. He added that he had invested in Mark Lucas’ agency. Companies House documents from 2019 show that of the four class-A shares allotted by the Soho Agency (as Lucas Alexander Whitley became after a merger in 2019), two are owned by Andy McNab and one by Martyn Forrester (the third is owned by Edward Whitley). 39 Martyn Forrester is described on the agency’s website as ‘the most widely sold unheard-of author in Britain. His catalogue of Sunday Times bestsellers includes 12 ghosted autobiographies (three of them at No.1); three humour titles at No.1, and 14 other books in the Top Three (three of them at No.1).’40

			Could Forrester’s bestsellers include, in some way, McNab’s books? When contacted to clarify whether his books were ghostwritten, a London law firm acting for McNab first acknowledged ‘assistance given to a former soldier, who left school with no educational qualifications at the age of 16 and acquired his literacy skills in the army’, but added ‘the fact is that the structure, ideas and content of Bravo Two Zero was the work product of Andy McNab’ and that ‘with the assistance that he very properly received, Andy McNab set a seal on every sentence in the book’. Subsequently contacted again to clarify the exact role that Martyn Forrester could have played, McNab’s lawyers said: ‘Martyn Forrester’s role is irrelevant. The position is as we have stated and no useful purpose is served by going into further detail.’

			Bill Scott-Kerr, McNab’s current publisher, added that McNab ‘brings a lot to the party; it’s not just someone writing a book and then he puts a name to it’. Still, even if this is accepted practice in the arena of the celebrity memoir, it is not authorship as traditionally conceived and practised, where the individual named on the cover is both not a pseudonym and primarily responsible for the contents.

			Granted, publishing has evolved in all manner of ways from the era of the Great War memoir. Today, ghostwriting is part of its fabric. But if we can accept the ghosts in the machine, what of the claims that Bravo Two Zero was not so much economical with the actualité but, at times, fantastical? The second allegation is surely crucial. 

			After the Gulf War, Peter Ratcliffe, then regimental sergeant major of 22 SAS, watched the official, video-taped debriefs of the Bravo Two Zero patrol. In 2000, Ratcliffe went on to publish his own book; unlike other SAS authors, he wrote under his own name and co-credited his ghostwriters on the cover. ‘No member of the Regiment can, or will, tell the whole truth about his service, if only for operational reasons,’ he wrote, ‘but some of these Gulf War books are so highly fictional in places that they have almost no value at all. As far as I’m concerned the truth is sensational enough without anyone having to embellish it with fictionalised incidents, or heroics involving desperate firefights with hordes of enemies, or wild exploits with mythical “fighting knives”. These fantasists may have hidden their real identities from the public by writing under pseudonyms, but the guys in the Regiment know exactly who they are and talk of them either with contempt or ridicule, or both.’

			Regarding Bravo Two Zero in particular, Ratcliffe wrote:

			Having been present at the official debriefings of the five survivors of the patrol, and having several times seen the videos made at the time, I was somewhat taken aback by many of ‘McNab’s’ anecdotes as he recounted them in Bravo Two Zero ... During the debriefings at Stirling Lines [the SAS base in Hereford], there was mention of the patrol being involved in several firefight skirmishes with Iraqi infantry, and of returning fire as they fought their way out. There was no suggestion at the time, however, that they had accounted for hordes of the enemy. But in Bravo Two Zero, McNab writes about having been involved in extremely heavy and dramatic contacts with Iraqi armoured vehicles and substantial contingents of infantry, actions far larger and more colourful than anything mentioned in the Hereford debrief.

			Ratcliffe summed up his view on the phenomenon of the ‘SAS book’ as follows:

			If there is to be any purpose to history, it has to be written as accurately as people can recall it — otherwise its lessons, good or bad, will be lost. It is for this reason that the Regiment held the debriefings of those of its members who had fought in the Gulf, to get at the truth and thereby learn what had gone right, and what wrong. To obscure that truth by trying to exact revenge for real or imagined slights, or by awarding oneself a greater and more heroic part in events, is not only to mislead — and thus defraud — the readership, it is to debase history itself. And I can see no reason, even for the sake of writing a bestseller, why the proud history of the Special Air Service Regiment should be dragged down to level of cheap war fiction.’41

			It did not stop there. A decade after the original Bravo Two Zero patrol took place, Michael Asher, a former paratrooper and member of the reservist Special Forces unit 23 SAS, interviewed a range of local people in Iraq who had interacted with the 1991 SAS patrol. The allegations he subsequently published in his 2002 book The Real Bravo Two Zero were extraordinary. In the original Bravo Two Zero, McNab had estimated that his patrol killed around 250 Iraqis, and described an engagement with Iraqi armoured personnel carriers. In The One that Got Away, the Bravo Two Zero soldier who escaped capture — pseudonym Chris Ryan — wrote of destroying Iraqi vehicles with a rocket launcher, and killing two Iraqi soldiers shortly before he crossed into Syria.

			Asher claimed that none of this was backed up by his interviews in Iraq, nor by his own discussions with Peter Ratcliffe. In the conclusion to The Real Bravo Two Zero he wrote:

			If what I had discovered was correct ... the patrol ... had not been attacked by masses of Iraqi infantry and armour, but by three civilians. They had not charged, and they had not been shot up by S60s [a Soviet-made anti-aircraft gun]. They had carried 95 kilos per man not twenty kilometres over flat desert, but only two kilometres. They had not been pursued by the enemy. They had not covered the distances they claimed on the first night of the escape and evasion plan. They had not hijacked a New York Yellow Cab, had not had a shoot-out at the vehicle checkpoint ... McNab and Coburn had not shot up a large convoy. They had not been mistreated by their captors, at least not initially, but had been shown acts of kindness. ... Ryan did not destroy two vehicles nor gun down their occupants. Neither did he kill any sentries with his bare hands. Finally, far from clocking up 250 Iraqis killed, Bravo Two Zero did not inflict anything like the massive casualties McNab and Ryan claim in their book[s].42

			Amid these serious, and strenuously denied, allegations, Asher emphasised that the achievements of the patrol were still considerable; Bravo Two Zero, he wrote, ‘displayed a determination and resourcefulness that were almost incredible given the terrible conditions they were obliged to work under’.43 He laid the blame for what, in his view, was a sensationalised account on ‘us, the reading public, who demand of our heroes not endurance, but the resolution of all problems by force’.

			Finally, in 2004, the fifth member of the Bravo Two Zero patrol also published an account, under the title Soldier Five and the name Mike Coburn, after an epic multi-year legal fight with the British government, trying to overturn the 1996 confidentiality agreements. ‘I made a deliberate decision that the time had come to correctly record the events that had occurred during the Bravo Two Zero mission,’ he wrote. ‘This decision came as a direct result of the books and films surrounding Bravo Two Zero, publications that were allowed by the MoD and publications that ultimately generated much negative speculation and commentary. The latter had continued unchecked to the extent that the patrol had become so misrepresented that I ... felt that silence was no longer an option.’44

			Amid claim, rumour and counter-claim, who to believe? At the time of the broadcast of a parallel film by Michael Asher in 2002 (shown by Channel 4, and also called The Real Bravo Two Zero) ‘allies of McNab’ told the Guardian that the figure of 250 killed came from US military intelligence, and Mark Lucas was quoted in the paper saying, ‘The great British public set a great deal more store by accounts by men who were there than by the evidence of highly unreliable Iraqis with extraordinarily clear memories.’45 At the same time, Chris Ryan expressed to the Guardian ‘contempt and disgust’ for ‘what Asher had said about [him]’, adding: ‘If he wants to come and meet me face to face, alone somewhere, we can sort this out in the way that SAS men do. All I will say now is that I know I killed a number of Iraqi soldiers. I am not proud of having killed — it still gives me nightmares — but I am proud of having ... evaded capture.’)

			Today, McNab still stands by his story. In 2020, the London law firm acting for him added that Bravo Two Zero ‘is a true account of the patrol’, beyond ‘certain changes made for security reasons’ such as Special Forces callsigns, some locations and the names of the surviving members of the patrol. Although it is UK government policy to ‘neither confirm or deny’ Special Forces operations, and although, as mentioned earlier, the British government did specifically introduce confidentiality clauses for Special Forces troops in 1996, three years after the publication of Bravo Two Zero, prohibiting such memoirs in future, the law firm added that, during the security vetting of McNab’s book, the MoD would have objected if it contained falsehoods. They said no one was deceived by the book, nor killed or injured in consequence, and highlighted a lecture McNab gave at Sandhurst shortly after the publication of Bravo Two Zero. He would not have been invited to the event, at which a number of SAS officers were present, the lawyers said, if the book contained falsities. 

			In response to the points made by Peter Ratcliffe, the lawyers said that the regimental sergeant major’s ‘role at the time was essentially administrative and he had very limited interaction with Andy McNab and was in a different squadron.’ They mentioned McNab’s charity work and his 2017 CBE for services to literacy, awarded 24 years after the publication of Bravo Two Zero (by which time, they said, it would have been exposed as fiction if such were the case, making it inconceivable that McNab would be honoured), as indications of his integrity. They also pointed out that in 1991 McNab was held by his Iraqi captors for six weeks and ‘relentlessly and savagely tortured’, suffering nerve damage to his hands, a dislocated shoulder, kidney and liver damage, and that he contracted hepatitis. Moreover, they said McNab had turned down approaches to acquire the book’s film rights precisely because he was worried about Hollywood fictionalising his account.

			But whether accurately written by an author in the traditional sense of the word, or ghostwritten (again with fidelity to the truth), or even, as Asher and Ratcliffe allege of Bravo Two Zero, embellished at times because of public demand, McNab and the genre he helped pioneer provoke concern that any form of post hoc account of dangerous events, in the military or elsewhere, is likely to include massive confirmation bias. You have to survive in order to write them. To their critics, these books gave their readers — the generation that would in due course fight the post-9/11 wars — the impression that war is dangerous in the abstract, but that death only happens to other people — just as the literature of mountaineering implies that only others die in avalanches. None of this is to derogate from McNab’s remarkable achievements, both as a soldier and author. Nor is it to doubt that McNab did indeed ‘set the seal on every sentence’ of his first book. But it is to ask a question perhaps more pressing than ever, in an era of endemic ‘alternative facts’ and given the myriad stories emerging from the SAS: how reliable are our narrators? How do we know the truth of their stories?

			*

			Eleven years after the publication of Bravo Two Zero, and a year after the 2003 invasion of Iraq, the new manner of storytelling pioneered by McNab starts to interface with both new technology, and more traditional methods of documenting war, in unexpected ways. 

			The line between fact and fiction in the depiction of the military has long blurred in film. That blurring will continue into the Iraq and Afghan wars. Yet in 2004, another line is crossed, too. The British Army film moves from a story told about soldiers to a story that soldiers tell about themselves.

			On 27 April 2004, at the start of Operation Telic 4, the fourth rotation of British troops in Iraq, the 1st Battalion of the Princess of Wales’s Royal Regiment (PWRR), replaces the Light Infantry in al-Amarah in Iraq. The PWRR was born out of a 1992 merger of the Royal Hampshire Regiment and the Queen’s Regiment.46 The two battalions of the PWRR in 2004 are line infantry, neither socially smart nor militarily elite, nor with a prominent public image. The first battalion is armoured infantry, equipped largely with Warrior vehicles. The battalion’s Y Company does not have Warriors; in al-Amarah they have unprotected Wolf and lightly-protected Snatch Land Rovers, and two assault boats for operations on the Tigris River.47

			The PWRR’s tour in al-Amarah in 2004 coincides with the Sadrist uprising. Around a hundred men from Y Company hold the city’s ‘CIMIC House’, so called for the theoretical civil-military cooperation meant to take place there. CIMIC is a former provincial governor’s residence, complete with pool (there is a rumour that in previous times it had even housed an exotic menagerie, including a caged lion).48 The building itself is a lightly-constructed two-storey complex, about the size of a football pitch, with some reinforcement in the form of corrugated screening walls and sangars on the main gate. Its location, backed against a junction of the Tigris on two sides, does not aid defence; it was occupied as it lies adjacent to the ‘Pink Palace’, the complex of buildings that houses the provincial government for Maysan.49

			Officially, Y Company PWRR is a ‘ground-holding company’, its mission to maintain security and stability in al-Amarah. Tasks include mentoring and training local police and military forces, enabling CIMIC teams to operate from the location, and helping to transition authority to local governance and away from the Coalition Provincial Authority. That is the theory; in reality, in August 2004, as the Sadrist uprising gains pace, Y Company is besieged. Their mission changes, to hold the ground of CIMIC House and the Pink Palace, and to disrupt insurgent efforts to take control of the city of al-Amarah.

			CIMIC House is endlessly mortared; patrols outside are engaged. The cookhouse and soft-skinned vehicle fleet are destroyed within the first ten days of the battle. In the following two weeks, several Warrior vehicles, which have managed to reach CIMIC House to reinforce its defence, are rendered inoperative by numerous mortar bombardments and RPG attacks. There is irreparable damage to their engines and weapons systems. The assault boats, used for the insertion of night-fighting patrols during the second week of the battle, are badly holed by shrapnel and unusable by the third week. For twenty-three days cumulatively, Y Company PWRR undertakes the longest continual British action since the Korean War of the early 1950s.50

			Y Company’s commander is Major Justin Featherstone, a stocky 34-year-old,51 who had been a Royal Hampshire prior to the amalgamation that created the PWRR. When Featherstone realises his men are filming their firefights with handheld video cameras and the video capture mode on digital stills cameras, he has to devise policy on the fly.52 In Northern Ireland the rules were clear and explicit, although not rigorously followed: no photos were allowed except those taken on a military-registered camera, for legal reasons. In al-Amarah, the new rules the major devises from first principles are simple, but firm. There will be no filming of dead bodies, Iraqi or British. There will be no filming of the wounded from either side. ‘We are humans and I was concerned about such images being seen out of context, and the impact of them on soldiers looking at them after the deployment, in terms of mental health,’ Featherstone says.53 Anything else, though, is fair game. Featherstone makes the rules; his company sergeant major disseminates them. Neither man checks the soldiers’ cameras individually. If they cannot trust them with a Sony or Samsung, there is little enough point giving them a rifle, Featherstone reasons.

			It is a third party that translates the mass of raw footage, and Featherstone’s diktat regarding what can and cannot be filmed, into the artefact that will gain massive viewership. Captain Nick Thasarathar, the company’s 37-year-old operations officer and second-in-command during the battle, is a reservist in 2004, but also an ex-regular. He served as a Fusilier officer in the first Gulf War in 1991, before leaving the army and taking up a career in the City. His crucial skillset stems from the time between his two military careers. In the 1990s, Thasarathar established a recording studio in Brighton and learned how to edit video. Now, at CIMIC House, the boys ask him to convert the myriad combat rushes and stills they have gathered on their cameras into what they really want: a coherent war film.

			IT facilities at CIMIC are primitive; the Windows PC cannot play Apple QuickTime files, and so Thasarathar sometimes has to play film on-screen and re-record it with a handheld camera to transfer it to a usable file type. The eventual film is around two minutes forty seconds long;54 the soundtrack is the Lost Prophets’ track ‘Last Train Home’, chosen by the men in memory of Private Christopher Rayment. Rayment died on 4 August after being struck on the head by a falling traffic barrier; he was the only PWRR fatality at CIMIC.55

			The title screen reads ‘Y Coy 1 PWRR, The Defence of Cimic House, Al Amarah 5th-28th August 2004’. Statistics follow, spun out using text animation like newspaper front pages in a film from the 1930s: ‘incoming mortar rounds: 595, RPG attacks: 57, 107mm rocket attacks: 5, small arms engagements: 86’.56 Much of what follows is animated stills, moving like a slide show and some tinted sepia, reflecting the relative paucity of cameras with video capability among the soldiers in 2004. There are moving images too, though, some with streaky sound. Round after round collapses into the horizon across the Tigris from the CIMIC House rooftop, white in green night vision. Soldiers fire mortars.

			It is the purest of war porn, and the film goes viral. Lieutenant Colonel Matt Maer, the battalion’s commanding officer, knows nothing of its production until his adjutant shows it to him on a morning when General Mike Jackson is due to arrive on a visit. After Jackson has appeared, Maer delivers a brief to the battalion in Camp Abu Naji in al-Amarah. Maer later re-enters the briefing room to see some of the battalion’s officers watching the video on a drop-down screen, Jackson in the background. Maer is unsure what the general’s reaction will be, but he sees Jackson smile.57

			There is still a year to go before the advent of YouTube, so the initial process of dissemination is a physical one, on burnt CDs and USB sticks. Thasarathar, with Featherstone’s approval, distributes one CD of the film to each member of the company at the end of the tour; that provides the initial stock.58 Featherstone is posted to Sandhurst, to the position of SO2 Leadership (a major-level staff officer job). His tasks at the academy include working on ‘officership’ — the things an officer must be, rather than what they do, in terms of skills. With the glut of emerging misconduct scandals from Iraq, ideas of ethical or moral leadership are much on the army’s mind. At Sandhurst, Featherstone teaches Princes William and Harry. The CIMIC house video forms the culmination of the presentations that he gives cadets, after the talk on ‘the realities of war’. Featherstone shows the video in 2005 at Saint-Cyr, the French officer academy in Brittany.59 In 2005 also, YouTube launches (in February). Back at Sandhurst, cadets continue to dissect the film furiously. Barney Campbell, who attends the Academy from September 2006 to August 2007, and who will later write up his Afghanistan experiences with the Household Cavalry in the novel Rain, remembers a lengthy discussion, and eventual agreement that the ‘best’ scene in the PWRR video is not the shooting but rather an instant when a soldier slides an ammunition case across a rooftop in the middle of a firefight to resupply his comrades.60 In his memoir The Junior Officers’ Reading Club, published first in 2009, Patrick Hennessey of the Grenadier Guards also eulogises the film, which he encountered on the platoon commanders’ course post-Sandhurst at Brecon in Wales:

			The Lost Prophets’ ‘Last Train’ was the perfect backing track, a poignant enough ending for the obligatory lingering shot of the guys who didn’t make it but with enough heavy guitar in the mid-section for the action scenes … Once we’d seen the PWRR video, seen how simply Windows Movie Maker fused the images we wanted to take and the music we listened to to psych ourselves up for it, and then gave us the medium by which we would show our efforts to everyone back home, we’d seen the perfect art form.61

			Everyone in the British Army sees the video. Everyone wants to hose across a Middle Eastern river with tracer fire and slide ammunition crates across a rooftop. At the time of writing, versions of the film have racked up over 100,000 views on YouTube.62 The video, and the host of imitations it inspires, is to the twenty-first century what the lyric poem was in the First World War: an immediate artistic response to combat made by combatants themselves.63

			But the Y Company PWRR video also becomes acutely aspirational, in a way that Anthem for Doomed Youth never was. British soldiers see the film and want to be the men it depicts. The film does not valorise peacekeeping, reconstruction or any of the watchwords of the previous decade that the army tried — and they really tried — to get excited by. Rather, it valorises combat and extreme violence. Yet every historical analogue for the kind of counter-insurgency war that the British Army is now engaged in — Malaya, Ireland, Borneo; all the history the army ostentatiously talks about — indicates that such behaviour is counterproductive.

			There will be examples of the YouTube war film that go in a different direction to that of the PWRR production. In 2005, the Royal Dragoon Guards, on a quiet tour in Iraq, produce a parody of the Tony Christie/Peter Kay version of ‘(Is this the way to) Amarillo’, replete with miming soldiers in varied fancy dress (ranging from Arab robes and headdresses to naked except for boots, underwear, rifles, webbing and sun hats). This musical comedy hit proves so popular that dissemination of the file crashes MoD email servers, and opens up another sub-genre with subsequent countless imitations. But in prestige terms, and therefore in what is aspirational for soldiers, when it comes to the YouTube war film, musical comedy will always rank below extreme violence. The RDG on their tour did not experience the fighting that would allow them to create a PWRR-type video; their lighter-hearted workaround reflects absent visual resources. The musical YouTube war film, therefore, does not have the same shaping impact as its ultra-violent cousin. And so overall, with the advent of the genre, the incentives for British soldiers in Iraq and Afghanistan cease to correlate with those of the institution as a whole.

			The new form of storytelling does not completely eclipse older variants. The link that ties the emerging form back to the previous decade’s innovation, the McNab-esque memoir, is something older than both: the medals system. Here too, the same problem — incentivising the wrong behaviour — emerges. Cumulatively, these false rewards are of war-losing significance.

			*

			Between halfway and two-thirds of the way through the PWRR’s 2004 tour, commanding officer Matt Maer asks his company commanders, Justin Featherstone of Y, Major James Coote of C, Major Simon Thomsett of A and Major Andy Carre (whose B Company is in Basra with another battlegroup),64 to submit material for medal citations. Y Company did not have a monopoly on action in the battalion; in particular, C Company had the unenviable task of conducting supply runs for CIMIC House, in which their Warriors repeatedly had to run the gauntlet of small-arms and RPG fire.65

			After Maer’s request for ‘honours and awards’ information, notes from the company commanders ascend first to Captain Simon Doyle, who as 1 PWRR’s adjutant is principal staff officer to Maer.66 Doyle’s recollection is that they have to filter their citations for onward submissions into groups of ‘high’, ‘medium’ and ‘low’, which he believes probably equated to Victoria Cross/Conspicuous Gallantry Cross/Distinguished Service Order in the high, Military Cross/Member of the Order of the British Empire in the medium and Mention in Dispatches or Queen’s Commendation for Valuable Service in the low.67

			Already prominent is Johnson Beharry, a Grenadian private from C Company. On two separate occasions on 1 May and 11 June, Beharry drove his Warrior through ambushes in al-Amarah, receiving serious head injuries on the second date. The Victoria Cross, Britain’s highest award for valour in the face of the enemy, was instituted in 1856 to honour acts of bravery during the Crimean War.68 In 2004, it has not been awarded since the Falklands, when Victoria Crosses went to Lieutenant Colonel ‘H’ Jones, the commanding officer of 2 PARA in 1982, and Sergeant Ian McKay of 3 PARA. Both were posthumous — Jones died at the Battle of Goose Green and McKay on Mount Longdon — and both were controversial.69 The most recent living British Army recipient of a Victoria Cross at this point is a Gurkha, who won the medal in the Indonesian confrontation in 196570.

			Now, twenty-two years after the previous VC, a comprehensive campaign begins among the leadership of 1 PWRR for the little-known battalion to earn another example of the British Army’s top award. One of the candidates they propose (though not the only one) is Johnson Beharry. Form Honours 770 mandates citations should be written in 11-point Arial type in a box roughly two-thirds of an A4 page in size. James Coote and Matt Maer deliberately write an overlong citation for Beharry; the rubric at the time says that two pages can only be used if pitching for the Victoria Cross and George Cross, its equivalent medal for actions not in the face of the enemy. Maer’s citation writing takes place in the small hours of the morning, when the general weight of army bureaucracy, the postings and reports that deployed units were still expected to continue with even though during the day they were engaged in intense fighting,71 had to be dealt with.

			Initially the headquarters of 1st Mechanised Brigade, the PWRR’s supervisory formation, pushes back at the extended citations. According to Doyle, the brigade staff at captain and major level are incredulous that a Victoria Cross could be awarded on Telic 4, long after the ‘war’ of spring 2003, and so very long since the Falklands. Initially, brigade tries to enforce the policy that no citation can be more than one page long, and asks for the PWRR to edit theirs down. Maer successfully convinces the chief of staff to maintain the two-page length; thus begins the shaping campaign for the VC. He also tells his adjutant to rewrite some of the citations to ‘make the wording a little more interesting and read like a commando comic, rather than a curriculum vitae or promotion application’. ‘There was a clear recognition as we continued to push for the highest level of award, and to break the apparently stringent and absurd limit on awards for an operation, that the text of the citations needed to pop off the page and grip the attention,’ Doyle adds. Even here, writing matters.

			The commander of 1st Mechanised Brigade is Brigadier Andrew Kennett, a Parachute Regiment officer. Kennett’s recollection is that he and Maer ‘exchanged the citation twice, each time to determine its accuracy and improve the wording’.72 A VC requires two witness statements; these are checked too. When Maer runs out of time, Kennett steps in. That is Maer’s last contact with the citation on the tour. Kennett works on the brigade’s package of citations, which numbers nearly one hundred documents, with his deputy chief of staff.

			Kennett neither endorses nor rejects a VC for Beharry; he leaves that decision to someone further up the chain. The next step is Major General Bill Rollo, the commander of Multi-National Division — South-East, and Kennett’s boss. Rollo remembers reading all the citations, sometimes several times, discussing the key ones with Kennett, putting them into an approximate order, and then adding his own recommendation, in manuscript, to reinforce those which he feels merit it most strongly. ‘As with the others, this was late-night activity,’ he says.73 ‘My overall conclusion was that the standard of courage across the division was high. I was struck also by how many of the citations involved rescuing someone who had been wounded, under fire.’

			Having passed through four steps in Iraq (sub-unit commander, battlegroup commander, brigade commander and divisional commander), back in the UK 1 PWRR’s citations pass into the purview of Richard Bird, a retired lieutenant colonel who is at that time the guardian of the British Army’s medals system.74 His job title is the esoteric ‘ROPrin MS Hons’ — translating out of civil-service speak as ‘Head of the Military Secretary’s Honours Branch’. Bird commissioned into the Royal Artillery in the 1960s, spent a tour flying Sioux helicopters, primitive machines used for reconnaissance duties and aerial observation, and later transitioned into logistics, working, among other jobs, for the Household Division in London. His last role in the army, as a lieutenant colonel, was running the medals, beginning in 1993. Contrary to his previous insistence that he would never become a ‘retired officer’, Bird continued in position after he hung up his uniform.75 Bird is guardian of the metrics that aim to maintain the ‘value’ of medals — the scales, running back to the Korean War, that determine how many level 1–3 awards (Victoria Cross/George Cross to Distinguished Service Order, Military Cross and Distinguished Flying Cross, and so on) and how many level 4 awards (Mention in Dispatches and Queen’s Commendations) will be awarded per capita of troops on operations in the twice-yearly Operational Awards Lists. The scales are devised on the apparent severity of conditions on operations; ultimately, they correlate to casualties. In the late 1990s, with Northern Ireland as the main venue where medals could be won, but limited action in that theatre, the scales were set at approximately one level 1–3 award per 1,000 troops, and one level 4 award per 300 or 400 troops.

			The medals procedure in England changed with the advent of the Permanent Joint Headquarters (PJHQ) at Northwood in the late 1990s, but by 2004 it is a well-instituted one. The citations from the PWRR’s tour that year, and others from the same period in Iraq, go to a board at PJHQ run by the major general who is the deputy commander of the headquarters. Richard Bird is invited to attend. Another retired officer, the ‘services secretary’, grades the citations and marks them out of ten. It is at this stage that Bird often calls commanding officers, to ask if they can elaborate a little on citations or bring particular elements out.

			Usually, the main recommendations for awards are made at the PJHQ board, with the next level up the chain — the Armed Forces Operational Awards Committee, an MoD body that meets twice yearly under the auspices of the two-star defence services secretary — referred to only to agree its recommendations formally. However, in 2004–5, as the prospect of a Victoria Cross for Johnson Beharry firms up, Richard Bird has to institute another level of decision-making which, since the reforms of the early 1990s, has only existed in theory rather than practice.

			The composition of the Victoria Cross Board is already determined as the chief of the defence staff, the permanent under-secretary at the Ministry of Defence and the chief of the service in question (in this case the army). Yet even the fact that the board is due to sit could let the cat out of the bag. In London, Bird compiles briefing documents, including citations from past Victoria Crosses, for points of comparison. He sends the board members documents under an ‘eyes-only’ rubric — he knows that if outer office staff, military assistants and the like, get wind of it then the confidentiality that is so crucial to the process will be compromised. Bird finds the process exciting; he is conscious of its historical nature. Eventually the decision is made: Johnson Beharry will receive the first Victoria Cross since the Falklands, and become the first living recipient since the 1960s. Bird talks to the MoD press people as to how to manage the news.

			Beharry is not the only award recipient from the PWRR’s 2004 tour. There are two Conspicuous Gallantry Crosses, the next award down, for Sergeant Christopher Broome and Corporal Terence Thomson. There are five Military Crosses, for Major Justin Featherstone, WO2 David Falconer, Sergeant David Perfect, Lance Corporal Sean Robson and Lance Corporal Brian Wood. At a stroke, the PWRR — short on glamour and not a hardcore unit, unknown outside the army and little-known within, and only thirteen years old as an entity — is decked with decorations. They receive thirty-seven in all.

			The dissemination of the news proves challenging. They will be announced in the London Gazette on Friday 18 March 2005,76 but the news needs to be broken in person earlier. Around a year after his battalion’s return from Iraq, and after they have moved to Germany, Matt Maer, still the commanding officer, is sitting at his desk in Paderborn when the telephone rings on his desk. It is someone from London. ‘I can’t go into details of who this is, but what I can say to you is one of your soldiers has just been awarded a Victoria Cross,’ the caller says. ‘We need to now speak about how we go forward on this.’

			Maer is told he will receive a list of names; he is to get them and their wives to a hotel in London on a specified evening, but he is not allowed to tell the men why, nor even that the trip involves honours and awards. Time is short, and a couple of the soldiers on the list, including Beharry, who due to his injuries is classed as ‘medically downgraded’, are away from the battalion. ‘Right, we’re going to have to think up something,’ Maer tells his RSM and adjutant. Reasoning that if you are going to tell a lie, it is best to tell one close to the truth, he explains to the soldiers that the MoD is seeking background on Telic 4, and they have been selected to talk about their experiences. Wives are invited too, as the Ministry would also like to hear their take. Maer knows that if the message comes from him it will be clear that something more serious is up, and tells his adjutant and RSM to make the phone calls.

			The ruse works; shortly afterwards, the men assemble at a London hotel, near the Aldwych. It is two days before the public announcement, and there are a couple of men hanging around in suits who look like bodyguards, but are in fact the MoD media folk. A big press conference is scheduled for the following day in the Ministry of Defence’s pillared hall.

			‘When I took command, I told you one thing, which was I would never lie to you and I would never bullshit you,’ Maer says to his men. That was back in October 2003, when he, a new CO, announced on his first day in post that the battalion would be going to Iraq the following year. ‘I’m afraid I’ve broken that rule,’ Maer continues. ‘You are here because you are recipients of honours and awards. I will now tell you what you have … Private Beharry, the Victoria Cross.’ The list continues. There is a stunned silence, followed by two questions. One man says, ‘Hang on a minute, sir, what about …?’ He mentions another man’s name. Another, one of the CGC winners, says, ‘Why did I get that?’

			Maer now calls the wives in. The women have no idea what’s coming, but want to use this potentially valuable time to talk to the commanding officer — one of them has an issue with accommodation she wants him to address. Maer discloses what their husbands have won. One of the wives bursts into tears. She punches her husband ‘really hard, not play hard’.77 He told her he never left camp in Iraq; now he has won the Conspicuous Gallantry Cross. As for Beharry, Maer suspects the Grenadian does not really know what the Victoria Cross is.

			They do the big press conference, and fly back to Germany. In Paderborn, Maer gathers the battalion into the cinema; not all the recipients were in London. He announces the rest of the awards; one of the Military Cross winners is hung-over and asleep at the back of the cinema. They adjourn to the sergeants’ mess. It is Johnson Beharry’s first time back with the regiment. At some stage, Maer notices that Beharry is missing: he has gone back up into the accommodation block with a couple of friends; he just wants to be a bloke again. But that is impossible now.

			*

			In the decades prior to Iraq, there was scant opportunity to win medals. General Richard Dannatt, who in 2006 becomes chief of the general staff, won an MC in an Ulster February in 1973; a few others had similar gongs. Most medals in the immediately pre-Iraq army, though, were the universally-distributed tour awards, received for thirty days spent in an operational theatre, be that Northern Ireland or Bosnia.

			Now, with the PWRR surfeit, it is transparent that opportunities to win medals in quantity have returned. The 1-in-1,000 and 1-in-300 or 400 scales from late Northern Ireland go out the window. ‘These ratios were increased considerably in both Iraq and Afghanistan to reflect the increased intensity of operations, thereby enabling a greater number of awards to be made,’ Richard Bird says.78, 79 To some observers it seems that for the ambitious, medals will once again become career-significant. ‘Post nominals’, letters such as MC, CGC or even VC, sit on the front page of the reports when promotion boards meet to discuss individuals at the army’s personnel centre in Glasgow. Some perceive the lack of an MC as much more of a concern when another of the company commanders thrusting for a job as a battalion or regimental commanding officer has one. As Paul Hollingshead, a Gurkha officer who will serve in Helmand in 2006, says with regard to another officer on that tour:

			He’s got an MC because he’s had three platoons in contact and he’s called in air power; and he’s up for looking at his lieutenant colonelcy … he’s up against a guy who’s run Bisley [the shooting range in Surrey] as his major command appointment for the year. The guy who’s run Bisley is probably thinking, fuck, I wish I’d done the same sort of thing.80

			One individual who worked at the army’s personnel centre in Glasgow disputed that medals did have an impact on promotion; a dissertation by a Royal Marines officer came to the same conclusion — but did add that they do incentivise overly aggressive behaviour. ‘You don’t get an MC for fixing a school; you get an MC for smashing the enemy,’ commented Will Pike, who would also serve as a company commander with 3 PARA in Helmand in 2006. ‘The honours and awards system is definitely tilted towards combat.’

			From 2004 onwards it becomes increasingly important, as well as simply appealing, to be decorated. And, as the PWRR has comprehensively shown, despite all the careful checks and balances in the awards procedure, the clearest way to win medals is by scrapping, whatever history says is in fact the best way to win the current war.

			These forces, alongside the equal celebration of violence by the YouTube war film, will have a significant shaping effect as the army’s wars continue in the years after 2004. Yet the distribution of medals within 1 PWRR itself also raises a major issue. The lion’s share goes to James Coote’s C Company. In Y Company, which held CIMIC House all through the siege, Justin Featherstone wins an MC, his company sergeant major gets an MBE, and there are some commendations and mentions in dispatches. There are, though, no other medals. Simon Doyle believes that the quality of writing had a major role in the discrepancy of the haul between companies in the regiment.81

			‘C Company (James Coote) wrote thirty or more citations for a hundred-man unit including very many aimed at VC/CGC/MC level, and they were excellently written,’ says Doyle. ‘A Company on the other hand submitted very few citations, and they were poorly written despite very similar levels of experience and combat and deserving individuals … This caused some considerable conflict between the two companies when the awards were announced.’82

			There is also major discrepancy between the thirty-seven awards given to the PWRR and those received by other units in theatre at the same time. As Telegraph correspondent Sean Rayment later writes:

			Whilst 1 PWRR were fighting for their lives in al-Amarah, the 1st Battalion the Cheshire Regiment were embroiled in an equally bitter battle with insurgents in Basra. The battalion was involved in battles from the middle of July until the end of August. In Basra City, a small detachment from the Cheshires based at Old State Building, were attacked every night from dusk to dawn and on several occasions faced the very real prospect of being overrun. But while 1 PWRR won thirty-seven medals and awards, the Cheshire Regiment received a single Mention in Dispatches. 83

			Within 1 PWRR, despite their similarly paltry haul of rewards, the defenders of CIMIC House were less upset than A Company, Doyle believes. ‘Y Company … viewed the MC for the OC (Justin Featherstone) and MBE for the company sergeant major as collective awards for the whole company,’ he says.84 Still, there was at least one disgruntled individual in Y Company. And Sergeant Dan Mills goes very public indeed with his gripe, courtesy of a collaboration with Tom Newton Dunn, a tall, languid ex-public schoolboy, and in 2004 the defence correspondent of the Sun newspaper. In the same unit that just invented the British war film, the McNab-style macho memoir is about to get drastically updated for the twenty-first century.

			Tom Newton Dunn is there that day in Germany when Johnson Beharry, newly crowned VC, retreats to the block.85 But the journalist’s interactions with the battalion run back further.86 In 2004, a friend in the army got in touch with Newton Dunn and mentioned al-Amarah, saying there were incredible events there and, significantly, ‘someone’s going to come out of that with a Victoria Cross’. Another source told the journalist he had to hear about Johnson Beharry and his valorous actions. Newton Dunn spent a month persuading the army to take him to al-Amarah and embed him with 1 PWRR. He succeeded, eventually, only to arrive in the middle of a ceasefire. Fighting was limited, but still he filled notebook after notebook with ‘the most extraordinary story’. Beharry was still in hospital, but Newton Dunn wrote up his experiences for the first time. The front page of the Sun ran with the screaming headline ‘Give him a VC’. When word of that coverage filtered back to Iraq, Matt Maer hauled Newton Dunn into his office at Camp Abu Naji.

			‘How dare you write that?’ the commanding officer shouted. ‘How dare you decide who’s going to get a VC or not? You’ve probably ruined his only ever chance of getting a Military Cross.’ Newton Dunn yelled back, ‘You’re 1 PWRR, you’re a basic line infantry regiment, you probably suffer from recruiting, and you’ve got me out here telling the world, courtesy of the front page of the Sun … that you guys are a bunch of fucking heroes. And you’re bollocking me for that?’ About two days later Maer apologised. Newton Dunn put the men from the battle of Danny Boy on the Sun’s front page under the headline ‘Cold Steel’. But he left before the siege of CIMIC House really began.

			Later, back in the UK, Rowland White, a publisher friend who works for Penguin, approaches Newton Dunn. White explains that a soldier who seems like he has a good story to tell has approached him out of the blue. The soldier is Dan Mills, a sniper who was with Y Company at CIMIC House. Mills is not, in White’s estimation, up to the task of writing a book himself — hence the need for a ghost. As Newton Dunn finds out, while money is part of Mills’ motivation, anger at the fact that his company received few medals is also a major driver for him wanting to tell his story in public.87

			This series of events leads to a new type of military book. The confidentiality agreements of 1996 mean that, no matter what the SAS and the Special Boat Service (SBS) get up to in Iraq and Afghanistan, the opportunity for Bravo Two Zero-type memoirs will never arise again. Prior to 2004, the military book market — at least the participant end of it — was fully bifurcated between McNab-style on the one hand, almost all relating to Special Forces, and on the other retired generals who have turned to the pen — such as Rupert Smith, commander of 1st (UK) Armoured Division in the Gulf in 1991, whose cerebral The Utility of Force, aiming to get the army to think beyond a Cold War, first Gulf War mindset, appeared in 2005. That is about to change: together Dan Mills and Tom Newton Dunn, spurred on by the vagaries of the medal system, are about to create a Bravo Two Zero for the regular army. Given the fact that the CIMIC House/Lost Prophets video is already in existence, they are also undertaking what is in effect an act of reverse adaptation — turning a film back into a book. By the middle of the first decade of the new century, British military storytelling is getting as complicated as the wars themselves.

			Newton Dunn interviews Mills at length about his experiences in Iraq, and sends the tape off to be transcribed. In the summer of 2006, the journalist arranges two and a half months off from work at the Sun and retreats to a cottage in Oxfordshire. He writes in a gruelling blitz, distracted on occasion by the emerging situation in Helmand; he is still defence correspondent, after all.

			The result, published in 2007, is Sniper One, a book-length text written largely in short paragraphs. Written in the first person, the book is thick with firefights from the roof of CIMIC House, anecdotes of shitting in cling film to avoid leaving ‘sign’ during days in sniper hides on training courses on Salisbury Plain, and lots and lots of swearing.88 ‘I supposed that made them feel like they were really helping the people of Iraq,’ reads one line, referring to the civilian team from the Coalition Provisional Authority who shared CIMIC House with the PWRR. ‘Twats.’89 The text is acutely bloodthirsty. Mills suggests he and his men took great joy in killing ‘OMS’, the abbreviation he uses (Office of Muqtada al-Sadr) for the militia fighters who besieged the PWRR at CIMIC House. The book’s bellicosity seems cartoonish, as though intentionally designed to outrage pinkish liberal civilian sensibilities90. Newton Dunn maintains the story is all true, and points out that he spoke to others in Mills’ platoon as well as to the sniper himself. On release Sniper One goes to number one during the August quiet of 2007. Andy McNab provides a cover quote: ‘One of the best first-hand accounts of combat that I’ve ever read.’ Matt Maer and many others in the battalion (according to Maer) are furious. Maer believes the record should be collective. He does not see why Mills has to grandstand.

			*

			For Johnson Beharry, as for so many others before him, Britain’s highest award for gallantry proves an exceptionally difficult kind of cross to bear. As Max Hastings points out in an article in the Daily Mail in 2006, in the nineteenth century seven of 111 VC winners killed themselves. In the twentieth century, recipient after recipient, in those cases where the awards were not posthumous, found being anointed as a ‘hero without compare’ an extraordinarily difficult experience to cope with. Lieutenant Ian Fraser of the Royal Navy, who won a VC in July 1945 for taking his midget submarine into Singapore harbour to cripple a Japanese cruiser, wrote long afterwards, ‘A man is trained for the task that might win him a VC. He was not trained to cope with what follows.’ The commanding officer of Sergeant Major Stan Hollis of the Green Howards, who won a VC on D-Day in 1944, later said of him, ‘I am afraid it was easier to get him a VC in the war, than a decent job after it.’ Lance Corporal Bill Speakman, who won his award in 1951 defending a hill in Korea against the Chinese with the King’s Own Scottish Borderers, ‘scarcely drew a sober breath after his investiture’.91

			In Beharry’s case, there is anxious consulting of precedent in the battalion as to whether senior officers should salute him, rather than the other way around.92 He has to be fitted for Blues (No. 1 ceremonial uniform) and a greatcoat; as a living VC recipient he is now eligible to become a pallbearer should the Queen die.93 Other complexities are more serious. A month after his investiture at Buckingham Palace in April 2005, his marriage breaks down. In 2006, Beharry tells a journalist from the Telegraph that — alongside continued pain from his head injuries, ‘like there’s things inside, scratching’ — relations with his extended family are difficult. ‘Everyone thinks, because I receive the Victoria Cross, I get a wall of money,’ he says, ‘and they expect me to give them whatever they ask for. But the VC is just a medal.’94

			Beharry gets a book deal; his agent, at the request of the MoD, is inevitably Mark Lucas. ‘This is like Bravo Two Zero but with a VC, and with the best-looking black boy you ever saw,’ Lucas recalls thinking.95 The ghostwriter is Nick Cook, former aviation editor of Jane’s Defence Weekly. Lucas secures a £1.3 million advance. Yet Barefoot Soldier sells only 29,000 copies. Considering the amount publisher Little, Brown spent on it, Beharry’s biography is an abject failure. The fact that the British public has forgotten what the Victoria Cross is, so long has passed since it was last awarded, may have played a role. Mark Lucas thinks Max Hastings’ Daily Mail article did not help. Ultimately, racism may have played a part too, in Mark Lucas’ view: the man on the cover of Barefoot Soldier, published in 2006, is indeed black.

			There is a case — mentioned by Hastings again in the Mail — that the VC is such an impossible burden for an individual that it should only be awarded posthumously. Yet Beharry is not the only highly decorated soldier from the PWRR’s 2004 tour to experience subsequent difficulties. In 2006, Conspicuous Gallantry Cross recipient Chris Broome, by now a colour sergeant, is fined £1,000 by a court martial after he admits to eight counts of ill treatment and one of battery. His actions took place while he was training recruits in Winchester. Using his finger to wipe dust off the floor, he made soldiers lick the dirt off his fingers. On one occasion he forced a soldier to eat boot polish. When another soldier addressed him by the wrong rank, he hit him on the head.96 The lightness of the sentence reflects Broome’s diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder. ‘He should have got a little bit of jail time. Anyone in civilian life who assaulted somebody would not have got just a £1,000 fine,’ one of his victims, eighteen-year-old Simon Ikins, tells a BBC reporter.97

			*

			The pieces are falling into place. The British YouTube war film is invented; the medals system likewise is enthusiastically rewarding scrapping. The McNab-style book has circumvented the 1996 Special Forces’ confidentiality agreements by the simple act of moving its subject matter to the regular army. But there is still one other element that must be in place before the wild summer of 2006 in Helmand can commence: the Army Rumour Service, or, to use its ubiquitous abbreviation, ARRSE.

			At the end of 2001, Dominic Robinson, a thirty-year-old Army Air Corps Lynx helicopter pilot based at Dishforth Airfield in Yorkshire, drove up to a New Year’s Eve party in Newcastle with Robert Freeman, a fellow graduate of the Royal Military College of Science at Shrivenham.98 Both men were acting majors, but Freeman’s own military career had come to an abrupt halt following a medical downgrade. Freeman was on his way out of the army. Robinson, while still serving, was also in a fractious mood. 9/11 had come and gone, the navy’s commandos were deploying to Afghanistan, but there seemed limited prospect of the army joining that conflict at scale. The fabulous time Robinson was having driving helicopters was about to come to a screeching halt as the prospect of a dull staff job loomed.

			In the pub, Freeman and Robinson discussed the possibility of a British Army web bulletin board with another infantry officer called Jonny Laws. From his flying experience Robinson was familiar with PPRuNe, the Professional Pilots’ Rumour Network; that site provided inspiration for their own project. The following day, the first of 2002, while driving back south to Yorkshire grievously hung-over, Freeman and Robinson turned into a Curry’s PC World. They bought a copy of a book entitled How to Build Your First Website. It proved of limited use, but both men had a technical bent, and in ten days, using all their off-duty hours in Robinson’s house in Boroughbridge, they built a workable prototype. They chose to name their site the Army Rumour Service, nodding both to PPRuNe’s full name, and to junior officers’ fondness for puerile humour (the obvious abbreviation being ARRSE). Initially they kept their own involvement secret, putting word out about the site only to friends and colleagues.

			From a handful of early posts in January 2002, use of the site rocketed. Freeman and Robinson hit the right cultural moment; internet penetration was expanding, even reaching into officers’ messes, but there were as yet no smartphones, dial-up connectivity only and limited alternative social media. The army, too, was in a state of flux, gearing up for its post-9/11 wars, and its rigid hierarchy made the prospect of an online space for anonymous venting extremely appealing. By late 2002 ARRSE had 20,000 monthly unique visitors.

			The decision in 2004 by Piers Morgan, then editor of the Daily Mirror, to publish photographs of British soldiers from the Queen’s Lancashire Regiment apparently torturing an Iraqi captive in Basra stoked the status of the site. One of the photos that the Mirror published on 1 May showed a soldier urinating on a hooded man; in another a hooded man was being hit with a rifle in the groin.99 The Abu Ghraib prisoner abuse scandal had broken the previous month in the USA and the atmosphere was fervid. ‘Vile … but this time it’s British soldiers degrading an Iraqi,’ the Mirror’s front-page headline screamed.100 The 1st of May was a Saturday. On the Friday night, 30 April, before the printed paper had even dropped, a thread appeared on ARRSE titled ‘British troops accused of mistreating Iraqi prisoners’.

			‘Just seen the BBC showing images from tomorrow’s Daily Mirror, supposedly some British troops have been mistreating Iraqi prisoners. Not on the main news websites yet,’ read the first post, from an individual using the handle ‘scotscop’.101 The initial posts expressed contrition and concern, but soon scepticism appeared. The next day, the Saturday, a user with the handle ‘ViroBono’ wrote: ‘Looking at the pic of the soldier apparently jabbing his rifle butt into the prisoner’s groin, and the one where the soldier seems to be kicking his neck — both look rather stiff — there is no sense of movement, suggesting either that the pictures were posed, or that a very high shutter speed was used, again suggesting very good quality equipment and a skilled photographer.’102

			Other users pointed to the unfastened pouches on the soldier’s webbing. ‘The vast majority of squaddies would cringe with embarrassment if they looked like that,’ wrote ‘PoisonDwarf’. Soon questions were raised as to whether the rifle in the image was an SA80 A2, the modified version now in service with the army, or the earlier A1. ‘Speckled_Jim’ wrote: ‘The SA80 could be a kit jobby like you get in model shops — full size and if done well could look the part.’

			It became clear that ARRSE was not only commenting on the story — it was part of the story. Shortly after 1 p.m. on the Saturday afternoon, an article appeared on the BBC News website quoting Air Marshal Sir Timothy Garden. ‘Sir Timothy said he had been on an army chatroom where serving soldiers had been expressing their ‘revulsion’ over the photos,’ the story read.103 The questions continued on ARRSE itself. ‘Maninblack’ wrote, ‘The two photos showing both arms have no wristwatch … I would think this unusual especially in a combat zone … In a photo showing a leg from the side the trousers appear to be tucked into the boots, something I have not seen since Pirbright in 1984.’104

			Just after 10 a.m. on Sunday morning, the BBC carried another story: ‘Doubt cast on Iraq torture photos’. ‘The BBC’s defence correspondent Paul Adams says sources close to The Queen’s Lancashire Regiment believe many aspects of the photographs are suspicious,’ the text read, before reeling off points close to those discussed on ARRSE the previous day. On 3 May, ITV News showed screenshots of the ARRSE thread, to much amusement online. The army undertook its own investigation. On 13 May, Armed Forces minister Adam Ingram stood up in parliament and told MPs that the Mirror’s photos were ‘categorically not taken in Iraq’. Senior officers claimed they were in fact taken at a Territorial Army barracks in Preston. Piers Morgan was fired as editor of the Mirror the next day. ARRSE had earned its spurs; its prominence rose.105 Later, it will also play a significant role in the dissemination of the RDG’s parody of the Amarillo video too.

			By 2006, ARRSE is generating sufficient traffic for sale of web advertising to pay Robert Freeman a small salary, around £10,000, allowing him to return to full-time study on an IT MSc in Germany. By 2010 that pay will rise to about £40,000.106 The ARRSE founders find themselves de facto publishers, determining as they go along a policy to stop the announcement of casualties before they pass through the chain of command — and how to deal with the vocal far right and aggressively homophobic minorities that the site attracts (on one occasion, Land Rover pulls advertising after a LGBT campaign group points out to the carmaker the existence of an ARRSE thread called ‘all gays must be gassed’). Later, Google Ads — which they have relied on to block-sell space on the website to individual firms — will cast ARRSE adrift too as excessively controversial. The founders turn to an alternative Russian ad-selling operation.

			There is less pressure internally within the army. The founders’ initial fear, that someone military would try to shut them down, or that ARRSE would ruin Robinson’s continuing military career, proves without foundation. Soon it is clear that senior officers are reading the site; Mike Jackson, the chief of the general staff, confirms he was one of them.107 Air Marshal Timothy Garden is involved again, quoting ARRSE in the House of Lords as he campaigns to improve the rates of voting amongst service people. Before his death in 2007, Garden will post on ARRSE using his handle ‘tgarden’.

			Most significantly, though, ARRSE also comes into its own just in time for the new Afghan War. On 1 July 2006, a user called ‘hansvonhealing’ starts up a new thread with the title ‘Afghan fighting — the latest reports’. Twelve years later, in the summer of 2018 the thread will still be going strong, onto its 759th page and 15,177th post. This is a war that is going to be fought, and watched, online.

			*

			By the time Jamie Loden’s paratroopers go to Helmand in the sixth year of the new millennium, then, all the elements are in place. The genre of the YouTube war film is established. There are comedic options for such films, but within the army they register lower in prestige than records of extreme violence. Access to operational theatres by journalists, who could provide more even-handed depiction of what is really going on, is acutely restricted. The Army Rumour Service website is proven both as a megaphone to trumpet new soldier-generated cultural responses to war, and as a place for fervid dissection of what is going on in theatre.

			Together, it spells a long hot summer in the Desert of Death.




			Chapter 9

			Enter Helmand

			Wiltshire, England, December 2005

			Around Christmas 2005, Lieutenant Colonel Stuart Tootal, the commanding officer of the 3rd Battalion of the Parachute Regiment, goes for a drink at the Beckford Arms, a leaf-trimmed pub in the Wiltshire village of Fonthill Gifford, outside Tilsbury. Tootal’s companion is Lieutenant General David Richards, a 53-year-old Royal Artillery officer with a schoolmasterly air. In 2000 Richards had led the Sierra Leone operation. Five years later, in January 2005 he took charge of the Allied Rapid Reaction Corps (ARRC), an international institution the British Army pushed to create in the early 1990s, in part to maintain its ability to conduct corps-level command as it downsized at the end of the Cold War. Based then in Rheindahlen in Germany, close to the Dutch border, the ARRC is due to deploy to Afghanistan in 2006 to take command of the International Security Assistance Force. Richards is about to head the coalition Afghanistan mission.

			Richards and Tootal are not strangers. Tootal served as Richards’ military assistant when the latter was assistant chief of the general staff, from roughly spring 2003 to December 2004.1 At the Beckford Arms the two men take a napkin and draw what they think the strategy in Afghanistan is, based around an ‘ink spot’ approach: they will secure areas and then grow out of them.2 The British used this method in the Malayan Emergency in the 1950s.

			At a North Atlantic Council meeting in Brussels in February 2005, four years after the Northern Alliance first entered Kabul, NATO powers announced an expansion to their Afghanistan commitment.3 Since 2001, with international attention largely focused on Iraq, the Afghan mission had run with a light footprint and limited numbers. The new project was to become a wholesale nation-building exercise, and NATO members parcelled up portions of southern Afghanistan between them. Kandahar Province, home to Afghanistan’s second-largest city, is the historic lynchpin of the south. That plum went to the Canadians, who had fielded a battlegroup in Kandahar since 2002. The Dutch took Uruzgan. The British eventually acquired Helmand, around 59,000km2 of largely waterless desert bisected by a narrow irrigated zone around the Helmand River. From the start, the signs in Helmand were inauspicious.

			In February 2005, Lieutenant Colonel Richard Westley was commanding the 1st Battalion of the Worcestershire and Sherwood Foresters regiment, spread between Mazir-i-Sharif and Kabul, and part of the small British force then resident in Afghanistan. Prior to his command job, Westley worked at Joint Force Headquarters, the section of Permanent Joint Headquarters at Northwood responsible for campaign planning. Peter Wall, a Royal Engineer major general and deputy chief of joint operations at PJHQ, the number two in the headquarters, came to see Westley in Kabul.

			‘Have you kept up your old campaign planning skills?’ Wall asked.4

			‘Yes,’ Westley replied. ‘But I’m a CO now.’

			‘The UK is going to commit forces to southern Afghanistan,’ Wall said. ‘We’re not sure if it’s going to be Uruzgan, Helmand or Farah.’ Farah is another province, bordering Iran to the west.

			‘Correct me if I’m wrong, DCJO,’ Westley said. ‘My view is that seeing UK has taken the lead for counter-narcotics, they’ll find it very difficult not to opt for Helmand, where the majority of it is made?’ Wesley was referring to opium, of which Afghanistan is the world’s largest producer.

			‘Be that as it may,’ Wall replied. ‘I don’t want to send a recce team out from PJHQ because that may send unnecessary signals out at this stage. So it needs to be done quite subtly, and you’re already here in theatre as the CO of the ARIB [the Afghan Reinforcement Increment Battalion].’

			With a small team, including Dan Jarvis from the Parachute Regiment, who would later become a Labour MP and mayor of Sheffield, Westley flew by helicopter to Uruzgan before heading to Helmand. They landed in Gereshk, a town around 120km north-west of Kandahar on the Helmand River, and then flew on to Musa Qala, another Helmand town. After they landed, locals welcomed them and gave them tea.

			‘What part of Russia are you from?’ the Afghans asked through an interpreter. The party explained that they were British. About twenty minutes later, a man in a black turban — a colour that can indicate Taliban allegiance — said, again through an interpreter, ‘We don’t like you. You’ve got ten minutes to call your helicopter in, or we’re going to kill you. Leave now; don’t come back.’

			Westley flew to Lashkar Gah. He spoke with the PJHQ team and with the operations team at Northwood. They told him to do the estimate, to assess the resources required for a deployment to Helmand. Westley told PJHQ they needed a brigade, 6,000 troops, a ‘Role 3’ medical facility (a hospital with capacity for sophisticated surgery), numerous Apache attack helicopters and the ability for every platoon to talk both to the Apaches and to ‘fast air’ — jet aircraft.

			Northwood sent the estimate straight back. It was, they said, unfeasible. The operation had to be done within ‘existing resources’, meaning a single infantry-based battlegroup with the supporting elements, notably logisticians, required to operate in an isolated environment. Westley communicated with London via the Joint Operations Communications System, a laptop-type interface that allowed instant messaging. He received a message from the operations team at Northwood.

			‘Don’t fight the white,’ a staff officer said, a military term drawn from the name for the instruction sheets given for problems at staff college — meaning a template had already been worked out for the operation, and it would be best to go with that. ‘I cannot sign this estimate, it’s too small a force,’ Westley replied. At the end of the tour, he flew back to London, where Wall asked to see him. They discussed plans for additional Apache attack helicopters and a training exercise in the Middle East. It seemed to Westley that the political will to resource Afghanistan to the level in the estimate did not exist.

			Wall, who later became chief of the general staff and head of the British Army, today acknowledges that the decision to enter Helmand in 2006 with the eventual force levels used was a mistake. ‘The real judgement there was ultimately being made at chief of staff level, but based on the advice given by us as two-stars and three-stars [officers at the rank of major general and lieutenant general],’ he said in an interview in 2018. ‘Did we give complacent advice on the viability of a force of 3,150 in Afghanistan with a bungled command chain? Yes, we did.’5

			The British Army’s enthusiasm for the deployment overrode these concerns. Increasingly bogged down in southern Iraq, in a campaign that was becoming politically more poisonous by the day, Afghanistan, with its firmer public support, had much better optics. The war there still seemed a direct, and legitimate, response to 9/11, and offered an attractive alternative to dismal Basra. The hope was that troops could withdraw from Iraq, and combined with the scheduled end of operations in Northern Ireland in 2007, that would free up units. Deploying them to Afghanistan would then prevent their cut in a future defence review. ‘It’s use them or lose them,’ Sherard Cowper-Coles, British ambassador to Afghanistan from 2007 to 2009, claims General Richard Dannatt, chief of the general staff, told him in the summer of 2007.6

			Before the deployment, knowledge about Helmand was extraordinarily scant. Little account was taken of the fact that the Helmandis cherished the memory of the Battle of Maiwand, an engagement on 27 July 1880 in which local Afghan forces defeated a smaller British force under Brigadier General George Burrows. The dislike Richard Westley encountered on the recce in Musa Qala was both real and deep-rooted. For the Helmandis, the British were the ‘Angrez’ — the old enemy, returning for another round.7

			When the Royal Marines first deployed into Afghanistan in 2001, there was extensive discussion in the British press about the intractable nature of that country as a venue for land operations. The shadow of the brutal Soviet experience in the 1980s loomed long. The years since then, in which a small British force had suffered only a handful of casualties — a proportion of them in accidents — had softened the edges of Afghanistan in the planners’ minds. It no longer seemed a location for inevitable horrors. Britain would therefore go to Helmand in 2006; 3 PARA would go first.

			The Paras’ regimental culture emphasises aggression; indeed, almost deifies it. So does their training. ‘P Company’ is an arduous course to qualify aspirant paratroopers to attend the parachute ‘jumps’ training, after which they are awarded the coveted ‘wings’ badge. P Company is a trial largely unchanged since the 1940s. It stands along with the Commando tests that Royal Marines (and some others) undertake as one of the toughest physical challenges in the British military. While there is endless internal debate about which is tougher, the two assessments actually have much in common, with an emphasis on movement while carrying weight. Alongside loaded marches, log and stretcher races, and the ‘trainasium’, an elevated assault course constructed from scaffolding and designed to reveal latent vertigo in candidates, during P Company recruits also have to undertake ‘milling’, an activity in which soldiers — today, though not in the past, wearing boxing gloves, head protection and gumshields — swing at each other for a minute; blocking is forbidden.

			This obsession with physical challenges has a less obvious consequence, too; unlike more traditional elements of the army, the Paras’ officer recruiting is much more egalitarian. They do not care where you’ve been to school (though they do take young men from major public schools). They only care how fit you are.8

			The Paras’ fondness for violence got them into trouble well before 2006. The 1st Battalion killed thirteen civilians on Bloody Sunday in the Bogside in Londonderry in 1972 (another died months later), an event after which the regiment’s maroon beret became a despised insignia across Northern Ireland. Some external observers thought Bloody Sunday indicated permanently how unsuitable the regiment was for internal security duties. The same event was commemorated by 1 PARA themselves in a rather different vein, in song.

			We shot one, we shot two,

			We shot thirteen more than you,

			With a knick-nack paddywack, give a dog a bone,

			Paras thirteen, Provos none.

			Chorus: Bring out, bring out,

			Bring out your dead,

			We’re going to make the streets run red,

			When the red, red beret goes bob-bob bobbing along,

			There be no more paddies when we start singing our song …9

			On 11–12 June 1982, 3 PARA fought the Battle of Mount Longdon in the Falklands. During the battle, 27-year-old Corporal Stewart ‘Scouse’ McLaughlin was killed. After his death, his platoon commander went through his webbing to see if he was carrying any useful food; instead, he found that one of McLaughlin’s ammunition pouches contained a number of human ears.10

			The bloodlust of the regiment is reflected too in their gruesome barrack rituals. In Green-Eyed Boys, their 1996 book on the Battle of Mount Longdon (which reported the ear find), Christian Jennings and Adrian Weale also reported on a ‘vogue for urinating and defecating on each other’. ‘We’d get some guy’s respirator out of his webbing and crap in it, then stick it back in the pouch and leave it in his locker,’ reported one soldier.11 ‘He wouldn’t find it until he next got his respirator out, usually when he was on exercise …’

			Adrian Weale believes the publication of Green-Eyed Boys in 1996 led to a change in Para culture.12 However, some shocking behaviour certainly continued after that point. One individual who served as a private soldier in the regiment in the late 1990s, and spoke on condition of anonymity given he is still in the army, remembers being sent to collect a set of ‘No. 2s’ — formal uniform — for one of his corporals.13 The No. 2s were in the accommodation of a platoon known within the battalion for ‘deviant’ behaviour. The individual went to the barrack block; he could hear music playing inside. He walked in and saw No. 2s hanging up. More importantly, he saw ‘a woman, legs akimbo, while the platoon were lined up to take their turns’. The chief of proceedings was dressed as a Nazi and the woman appeared to be the platoon sergeant’s wife.

			‘I was told, “Get in line, Paratrooper,”’ the individual recalls. He ran for the No. 2s and grabbed them, knowing that if he failed in his mission he would be beaten when he got back to his own block. He managed to escape by jumping through the ground-floor window. As the platoon tried to yank him back in, he dropped the uniform. On his return to his accommodation, he naturally was clouted for handing over dishevelled clothing.

			These stories of Para transgressions need to be seen in context. The fact that paratroopers sometimes do terrible things to each other, and other people, does not necessarily mean they are bad at their jobs — quite the opposite, arguably, because their job is to fight. As Jennings and Weale surmise in their study of Mount Longdon:

			There were negative aspects to 3 PARA’s campaign in the Falkland Islands and it is easy, with the benefit of hindsight, to harp on them. But, if nothing else, Mount Longdon proved that when the chips are down, the ‘Maroon Machine’ will deliver.14

			The time between the two campaigns is twenty-four years, right on the edge of military living memory. Most soldiers serve for twenty-two years maximum, but some, such as those who gain late-entry commissions, can linger longer. There are a handful of people who deploy with 3 PARA in 2006 to Helmand who were with the battalion in 1982. For years the tales of those who had ‘gone south’ to the Falklands have been the currency, the go-to level for heroics within the battalion. The Paras’ 1st and 3rd Battalions deployed to Iraq in 2003, following the meddling with the order of battle that so confounded Justin Maciejewski at 1st (UK) Armoured Division. They had, though, little to do in that campaign. By 2006, then, the Falklands remains for 3 PARA the gold standard of the war story. ‘None of us had any combat experience at that point,’ remembers Will Pike, a company commander with 3 PARA in 2006. ‘I’d been in the army for — whatever it was — sixteen, seventeen years at that point … I’d never had cause to fire my weapon.’15 In Helmand, that is about to rapidly change.

			Stuart Tootal, 3 PARA’s commanding officer, did not begin his military life as a Parachute Regiment officer. He commissioned into the Queen’s Own Highlanders in 1988, but became frustrated with the routine monotony of life in a line-infantry battalion serving in Germany.16 Beyond repetitive exercises and constant maintenance of ageing armoured vehicles, there was little to look forward to apart from tours in Northern Ireland and the brief interlude of deploying to the Middle East during the first Gulf War in 1991. In 1994, Tootal applied for a place on P Company, and passed. He went on to complete parachute training — eight jumps, including one at night, and carrying tactical equipment loads — and received the right to wear wings on his uniform. In 2000, Tootal was seconded to 1 PARA as a rifle company commander. He transferred permanently out of the Highlanders and into the Parachute Regiment as a major. After serving in 1 PARA and completing a lieutenant colonel’s staff appointment in the MoD, he went on to be selected as commanding officer of 3 PARA in 2005.

			At the start of the tour, the intention is to stick to the ink-spot principle Tootal discussed with David Richards at the Beckford Arms, initially deploying British troops in a so-called ‘Afghan Development Zone’, a lozenge taking in Lashkar Gah and Gereshk. Focusing on a tight area will also focus the limited number of British forces. Although around 3,000 troops are scheduled to go to Helmand on Operation Herrick 4, many will be support units, based at the new base of Camp Bastion in the Dasht-e Margo desert. The available fighting soldiers, from 3 PARA and other units including the Royal Irish and the Gurkhas, will be less than a third of that number.17 Even concentrating troops in a small area, however, will not iron out the baroque and over-complicated chain of command in theatre.

			When the Para battlegroup arrives in Afghanistan in the spring of 2006, the Americans are in overall charge, under the banner of Operation Enduring Freedom, which had been launched in the wake of 9/11. They are due to hand over to the NATO-led International Security Assistance Force, headed by the British general David Richards, at the end of July.18 Operations in the south are controlled by a Canadian brigade, under Brigadier General David Fraser.

			3 PARA’s parent formation is 16 Air Assault Brigade, led by Brigadier Ed Butler, an Etonian and previously commanding officer of 22 SAS, and grandson of Conservative politician Rab Butler. Joint command with the Canadians is ruled out, in writer James Fergusson’s words, as it is ‘deemed improper for Butler to be subordinate to Fraser on grounds of military protocol’. Butler still deploys to Afghanistan, outside the ‘architecture of command’. That is not the end of the complexity. An Irish Guards colonel, Charlie Knaggs, is put in charge of the Helmand Task Force, and is therefore in theoretical command of British soldiers in the province. Finally, American commander Major General Ben Freakley also has a purview. As such, for the first four months of the tour, Stuart Tootal has no fewer than four bosses: the Canadians, the Americans, Charlie Knaggs and Ed Butler.

			Ed Butler later said that he and his headquarters highlighted the problems with the command arrangement from the fourth quarter of 2005 — after they were told news of the deployment in August.19 He was particularly critical of the decision to appoint as task force commander a lieutenant colonel (Knaggs) who was still commanding his battalion until shortly before the deployment (and therefore could not participate in the build-up exercises), and who was not on the career track to command a deployable, fighting brigade (as opposed to a merely administrative grouping). Butler believed if he did need to stand aside for reasons of protocol with the Canadians, a better choice to stand in would be a high-flying full colonel who was being lined up to be the next commander of 16 Brigade.

			Stuart Tootal reaches Camp Bastion on 18 April.20 Already present are a company of Gurkha soldiers, earmarked in theory for no more than a perimeter security job at Bastion, but under an ambitious major who sees the potential to expand their portfolio. On 6 May, a Lynx helicopter is shot down in Basra; the men of the new Afghanistan deployment are glued to the coverage on Sky News.21 They do not want to miss out on any fighting. As 3 PARA gather at Bastion in the early summer of 2006, it seems to some that the most bellicose section of the British Army is itching for a scrap. Will Pike says the ‘narrative that says a Parachute battalion is the army’s attack dogs’ is ‘patently unfair, untrue and suggests that we’re an unprofessional organisation’, but in his view, too, there was excessive bellicosity further up the chain in 2006. ‘I think [Tootal] and Butler were looking for a fight,’ he said.22, 23

			The initial plan to confine British activities to the Afghan Development Zone does not last. In late 2005, American forces raided the compound of the governor of Helmand, Sher Mohammed Akhundzada. They found nine tons of opium; Akhundzada claimed the drugs had been recently confiscated, and he was on the point of handing them in.24 Britain lobbied, successfully, for Akhundzada’s removal. His replacement was Mohammed Daoud, a technocrat closely connected to the Afghan President Hamid Karzai, and a man who had the disadvantage of not belonging to any of Helmand’s tribes. In 2006, Daoud begins to place pressure on Brigadier Ed Butler to expand the British presence. Daoud cannot understand why a task force of more than 3,000 can muster no more than 650 fighting men. Robert Johnson of the Changing Character of War Programme in Oxford argues that Daoud panicked, knew he was going to anger ‘True Helmandis’ and wanted the British as a deterrent.

			By April, the Taliban — as the British will this summer, and for years to come, monolithically refer to the individuals they are fighting, although in reality the ‘Taliban’ are a much more complex spectrum of groupings and individuals than that term suggests — are also on the march. An American Provincial Reconstruction Team clinic in the village of Bashling, just north of the Kajaki hydroelectric dam, is burned to the ground. News follows that the Taliban have taken over a village in the district of Baghran, further to the north.25 British pathfinders later see civilians streaming out of Musa Qala, indicating the Taliban have taken control of that town too.26 Robert Johnson will also later argue that the British deployment into Helmand in 2006 coincided with the Taliban preparing for what they believed was their final offensive.27 Conversely, Will Pike believes the idea of the threat of Taliban in quantity ‘sweeping down from the north’ in an organised offensive was highly questionable, given that they already appeared to be in Gereshk, far to the south.

			On 24 May, Butler briefs the chief of staffs committee in London on a ‘Platoon House’ strategy: the idea of deploying small units to isolated towns upcountry,28 to widen the British influence29 and prevent their fall to the Taliban; the technique was used in previous British counter-insurgency campaigns.

			There is disagreement about the manner in which this decision is actually made. Major General Peter Wall, then deputy chief of joint operations at PJHQ, says that he was visiting Afghanistan, and was in the governor’s residence in Lashkar Gah with Butler; the two of them discussed the matter. ‘We weighed it all up, we completely understood the pros and the cons — if the governor falls, that’s bad for everyone and will cause significant political fallout in London,’ Wall says. ‘We’re three months into the operation. I authorised [Butler] to deploy the forces and then told London what we’d done.’30 Ed Butler claims that there had been ‘constant discussion across all government departments in theatre’ about a deployment to the platoon houses from April onwards.

			However, one senior officer who was present at Northwood at the time, and asked to speak anonymously, said that on one Friday afternoon Wall took a phone call from Ed Butler. Butler said he was being put under pressure by Governor Daoud, and wanted to deploy the troops into the platoon houses. He mentioned precedent from Malaya and Kenya. The witness recalls that Butler was told, ‘“Ed, you may not do that until I’ve spoken to people in London, which I won’t be able to do effectively until Monday morning.”’ In this telling, Butler does not wait until Monday; on Friday and Saturday, troops go into Sangin. On Sunday they go to Musa Qala and Now Zad. Ed Butler says he has ‘absolutely no recollection’ of disobeying an order from Peter Wall.

			NATO will not take over in Afghanistan until 31 July, so British troops at this stage are not under David Richards’ command. Richards, however, is angry with the platoon-house move.31 There is a major irony here: this is the same David Richards who six years previously, as a brigadier in Sierra Leone, had exceeded his orders from London. But this new gamble, whether it is Butler’s alone or a broader project, does not pay off. History belongs to the winners.

			On 31 May and 1 June, Gurkha lieutenant Paul Hollingshead joins Stuart Tootal’s tactical headquarters party for a reconnaissance by helicopter. They fly to Now Zad, Musa Qala and the hydroelectric dam at Kajaki. A rumour arises of a sighting of a group of Taliban, and there is excited discussion of going to look for them. ‘That, if anything, gives you a feel for the puerile, boyish, “let’s go on and have a scrap” scenario,’ Hollingshead says.32 Equally significant is another comment Hollingshead overhears during this recce, from his company commander. ‘MCs!’ the major says with glee. Here are those newly-available medals, hanging over the Desert of Death as incentive for all sorts of ill-advised action. (Tootal, like Butler, disagrees strongly that 3 PARA went looking for a fight in Helmand in 2006; ‘no one who knows combat goes looking for trouble’. Yet it had been twenty-four years since Mount Longdon. There were very few men in 3 PARA on Operation Herrick 4 who did truly ‘know combat’.)

			Shortly after the battlegroup deploys units forward to the platoon houses, the tone for the rest of the tour is set by Operation Mutay in Now Zad, on 4 June. Before deploying into Now Zad, Paul Hollingshead receives orders loaded with so-called ‘effects’ verbs, indicating what he is meant to do. His tiny unit is meant to ‘reassure’ local population, ‘protect’ local police, and ‘defeat’ militia that are ‘anti-coalition’, where encountered (the term ‘Taliban’ is not used at this stage). ‘I remember thinking, I’m not sure this is realistic,’ he says. At Bastion, he raised the issue with his company commander; the major was furious that, having lobbied so hard to get into the fight, one of his ‘joshi-est’ platoon commanders (to use the Gurkhas’ term, drawn from Nepali, for keen or enthusiastic) seems to be expressing doubts. But those doubts are valid.

			The intention with Mutay is to arrest a supposed Taliban commander in Now Zad; it is part of a wider American operation called ‘Mountain Thrust’ that seeks to apprehend ‘high value’ targets. The Gurkhas will cordon the eastern boundary. The ‘Patrols Platoon’ from 3 PARA will cover the western boundary. Meanwhile, A Company from 3 PARA will land with three Chinooks and arrest the suspect. Hollingshead’s initial role, still in the austere vocabulary of effects verbs, is to ‘fix’ the Afghan National Police commander so he cannot betray the operation. They will not tell him about it until the Chinooks are in the air. When Hollingshead receives the indication — a hand signal from his company commander — he tells the Afghan police commander where the British plan to mount an arrest.

			‘Don’t go there,’ the Afghan replies. ‘It’s full of Taliban.’

			He is right. The British officer who earlier had told Hollingshead, ‘You’ll be lucky to see a couple of guys with an AK,’ was wrong. Hollingshead wonders, given the Russians had had such a hard time out here in the 1980s, why the British appear to be treating Mutay like a Bosnia-style peace support operation: cordon the hotel, there’s a person indicted for war crimes, go in and grab him.

			The operation goes wrong from the outset. Hollingshead hears the helicopters are inbound. The Para Patrols Platoon leaves the compound. Hollingshead is due to leave straight afterwards, but the road is blocked. They try to go outside the town, mounted in a variety of soft-skinned vehicles — Snatch Land Rovers, a Pinzgauer, a WMIK (weapons-mount installation kit Land Rover, a variant of the standard vehicle, usually carrying several machine guns). They pass a village on the northern edge of town called Alizai, enter a kind of wadi, and stop to do a map check. Shots are fired; it turns out they are British shots at a man toting an RPG.

			Mayhem ensues. It’s unclear whether they are facing prepared positions or an ambush. In the firefight, they leave the vehicles to collect themselves. The Gurkha party goes on the offensive, aiming to retrieve the vehicles and get them out of the killing zone. Hollingshead, the platoon commander, ends up acting as a fire team commander (or at most a multiple commander) — a corporal’s role. The Afghan National Police do not follow them; the men from the National Directorate of Security (NDS), the Afghan spy agency, do. Meanwhile, the Paras that arrive by Chinook enter a prolonged firefight on landing; they have to call in support from Apache helicopter gunships. The search of the compound itself is fruitless. They find Kalashnikov rounds, a single grenade and a few pieces of kit, as well as some opium. They do not find their target.33

			Afterwards, for Hollingshead and his men, it is like winning a rugby match. They took no casualties. They have witnessed A-10 Warthogs strafing, Apaches firing their ordnance. There are high-fives. Underlying this exhilaration, though, is a much more serious issue. The army, fuelled by all these interlocking strands of medals and movies — self-made and Hollywood — and books and thrill, as well perhaps by something innate in what it is to be a young man, really wants to scrap. There are those who today suggest a scrap was inevitable in 2006; that the Taliban were on the march, that given historical antipathies to the British a fight was inevitable. But in the view of others, scrapping, the army’s idealised activity, was not what was required. Due to the tiny numbers of troops, and outposts that could survive only through lavish use of airpower, scrapping was liable to make the situation — in which the consent of the local people was the real prize — much, much worse.

			*

			After Mutay, the situation deteriorates rapidly around the platoon houses across the province. Stray single shots multiply into persistent incoming fire, and eventually co-ordinated mortar and RPG attacks. Spread thin in numbers at the far end of tenuous helicopter lifelines, the British troops turn to heavy and — despite smart weaponry — relatively indiscriminate use of airpower to defend their positions. Their chain of command sanctions such measures, knowing that the political ramifications at home of a British position being overrun are unthinkable.

			In Now Zad, the airstrikes Hollingshead’s beleaguered unit call in hit the hospital and the school. Eventually there is no one left in the town — all have fled. Beyond this destruction, Hollingshead feels that their presence, in tiny numbers with manpower only sufficient to man the sangars and, if they put a patrol out, no capacity at all to send help should that patrol be attacked, violates all the precepts of effects-based planning that he learned at Sandhurst and Brecon. They can achieve no effect, so there is no point being there. In Helmand that summer, the British Army is killing a lot of people, but it is losing its agency.

			Similar situations arise in Sangin and Musa Qala. In the former in August, Jamie Loden becomes frustrated with British air support. Over southern Afghanistan, jets hang on to refuelling tankers, waiting for tasking in a formation known as the ‘racetrack’. There are Dutch F-16s and American F-15s, as well as British Harriers based at Kandahar. On both 17 and 20 August the same RAF Harrier, crewed by a female pilot, fails to strike the target. Unlike the American and Dutch planes, which carry 500lb (227kg) laser-guided bombs, the smallest smart munition in the Harrier’s repertoire is 1,000lb (454kg),34 which requires a longer stand-off — the distance from the target at which friendly troops are safe.

			On the morning of 20 August, a patrol from the District Centre in Sangin is attacked and unable to move; they repeatedly call for air support. The patrol has taken three casualties, and a section commander, Corporal Bryan Budd, is missing in action. The quick-reaction force that has retrieved the casualties has also been pinned down. Other elements of the company are in contact with the enemy from multiple firing points. Nobody is able to move. The RAF Harrier pilot on station says she cannot engage with her bombs because the distance between the enemy and the forward elements of 1 Platoon is too close, given the inaccuracy of the ordnance. She also narrowly misses the Paras’ own base position with a phosphorus rocket strike. At last, the paratroopers find Corporal Budd, dead, surrounded by three dead Taliban fighters.

			The Para company has an encrypted satellite phone provided by the welfare chain for soldiers’ communication with their families. Some days after the incident with Bryan Budd, Jamie Loden sits in the relative cool of the evening, and taps out on the cramped and dusty keyboard of the device an email to James Coote, who was a member of the same ‘syndicate’, or small tuition group, as Loden at staff college at Shrivenham, before Loden was pulled off to join the tour. This is the same James Coote whose assiduous citation-writing in Iraq secured the huge haul of medals for C Company of the PWRR. Coote asked Loden what the air force support is like in Helmand; he is curious to compare it with his experience in Iraq.

			The RAF has been ‘utterly, utterly useless’, Loden replies to Coote. In contrast, the US air force has been ‘fantastic’. ‘I would take an A-10 over Eurofighter any day,’ he adds.35

			*

			Outside the military, at first little news of what is really going on in Helmand makes it back to the UK. As the aim of reconstruction goes by the wayside and intense fighting breaks out across the province, the MoD has little desire to present the truth. News first breaks when, on 27 June, Sunday Times foreign correspondent Christina Lamb and photographer Justin Sutcliffe accompany a patrol from Camp Price in Gereshk to a village called Zumbelay. Before they leave, the atmosphere is calm; unlike A Company, involved in Mutay, none of this detachment of soldiers has so far experienced a ‘contact’. Major Paul Blair, their company commander, even went so far as to organise an ‘iron man’ contest, involving flipping a giant tyre and sprinting around the camp carrying boxes of ammunition. The patrol, a convoy of fifteen Snatches and WMIKs, sets off with cold drinks and Pringles, laughing about going on a picnic. ‘Aggressive camping is what I call it,’ says Colour Sergeant Michael Whordley.

			However, the patrol comes under heavy attack from small arms and rocket-propelled grenades. Sutcliffe’s recollection is that they were ‘one casualty away from being rolled up … we were totally enclosed and under small arms fire, Dushka, RPG.’36 Lamb’s 4,700-word piece, published the following Sunday, tells vividly of the unexpected turn of events:

			‘Have you ever used a pistol?’ yelled Sergeant Major Mick Bolton amid the Kalashnikov fire and bursts from a machine gun as we ran across a baked-mud field and dived for cover. ‘If it comes down to it, everyone’s going to have to fight.’ 37

			Lamb, whose experience of Afghanistan runs back to the 1980s when she travelled there as a young reporter to cover the Soviet invasion, also writes critically of the entire British venture. ‘More and more senior military officers are saying it has been an enormous mistake for British troops to move out of the main urban centres of Lashkar Gah and Gereshk and into outlying areas,’ she writes. ‘They blame the Americans — and some over-enthusiastic British generals — for dragging British forces into Operation Mountain Thrust, a large offensive against the Taliban in which some 500 people have died across the south, creating much local resentment.’

			Access for other reporters is acutely restricted. Journalists, among them Patrick Bishop of the Telegraph, gather at Kandahar airfield trying to get permission to travel to Sangin, which never comes.38 The army has recently established a new facility to deploy a lieutenant colonel, an individual deemed ‘senior enough to be credible, junior enough to be disposable’, to brief the press on operations in theatre. In Helmand in 2006, that man is Kevin Stratford-Wright, a Royal Engineers officer, and at Kandahar he delivers terse briefs to the corralled journalists as the violence continues.39 Back in the UK, a major clearing-house for what little news is coming out of Afghanistan is the Army Rumour Service’s new thread, ‘Afghan fighting — the latest reports’.

			Patrick Bishop eventually makes it to Bastion, where he encounters Stuart Tootal. Bishop, a war correspondent of considerable experience, has moved to writing books, publishing Fighter Boys in 2001, an account of the battle of Britain in 1940.40 Bishop knows Tootal’s father, Patrick Tootal, an RAF officer who sat with Bishop on a committee set up to save Bentley Priory, the stately home in Stanmore on the northern edge of London that was the headquarters of RAF Fighter Command during the Battle of Britain. Before Bishop went to Afghanistan, Patrick Tootal told him, ‘Introduce yourself to my son.’41

			‘I know all about you,’ the younger Tootal tells Bishop. ‘You wrote Fighter Boys. Well, I’d really like it if you can do the same for 3 PARA.’ ‘Sounds interesting,’ Bishop says, not thinking too much over the idea at this stage. ‘When we’re both back in the UK, let’s talk about it.’ Already, while the fighting is ongoing, the commanding officer of 3 PARA is considering how the events of the summer can be retold. As Bishop says, ‘the recording of the event is part of the event.’

			*

			It ends in September. On the evening of the 12th, Governor Daoud calls Ed Butler to tell him of an offer of a ceasefire from the elders of Musa Qala. In Butler’s later account to Patrick Bishop:

			… [the] elders had turned to the Taliban and said, ‘You’ve now caused so much destruction here our people aren’t being fed, we haven’t got our crops in … winter’s approaching, hospitals are being blown apart, no one’s in the bazaars, the kids can’t go back to school. You created this situation as much as the Coalition, you must stop fighting.42

			The British were happy to make a deal.

			On the 13th, Butler holds a shura — a meeting — in the desert west of Musa Qala with the town elders. They agree terms; at David Richards’ request, a ceasefire has to hold for a month before a British withdrawal from the town can begin. A month later, Easy Company of the Royal Irish pull out of Musa Qala in local jingly trucks.43 It is a humiliating manner of withdrawal, and the peace accord, which the Americans never recognise, only lasts fourteen weeks. In due course, the British will return to ‘take back’ Musa Qala. But as an ending to the summer, it is in some ways darkly appropriate. Throughout the Herrick 4 tour, British soldiers fought with great bravery. Fifteen members of the 3 PARA battlegroup died. But compared to what it set out to achieve, the deployment was completely different: a purported reconstruction mission turned into a violent fight. Crucially, though, a violent fight was also what much of the army wanted. Cause and effect became confused.

			The summer of 2006 will be transmogrified and re-spun, again through methods both formal and informal, into a simply heroic achievement. The rest of the army will heed and absorb these tales, and as a consequence seek to emulate them, when they in turn deploy to Afghanistan. Counterproductive behaviour, therefore, continues. The British Army got to the state it is in in 2006 by telling itself the wrong kind of stories; it applies this technique to the events of that year too.




			Chapter 10

			Feedback

			The first story to make it out of the summer is Jamie Loden’s emailed criticism of the RAF.1 James Coote forwards Loden’s comments to everyone else from their syndicate at Shrivenham, with the additional comment, ‘What do you think?’2 In accordance with the ‘purple’ or tri-service nature of the new staff college, that grouping includes RAF and navy officers as well as army majors.3 Within a matter of days the emails, forwarded again and again, rise to the respective summits of the air force and army. Loden believes a meeting or phone call occurs between the chief of the air staff and the chief of the general staff.4 Still in Helmand, Stuart Tootal discusses the matter with Loden, warning him of the need to be sensitive to inter-service issues. At this stage, though, the matter is considered unfortunate but no big deal.

			Several days later, that changes. The emails leak to the media; after the press inquire of the MoD whether they are genuine, the Ministry officially releases the messages. Loden’s father warns him what is coming when a friend of his, working as a retired officer within the MoD, is handed a copy of all three emails merged together. On 23 September, the Telegraph runs a story headlined ‘Major attacks “useless” RAF in leaked emails’. The furore continues into early October when the battlegroup returns to the UK. Loden, like James Cowan before him with the email leak during Operation Bracken, finds himself in an acutely uncomfortable, and now deeply public, position of exposure.

			Later the female RAF pilot who flew the Harrier involved in the incidents contacts Loden. In Loden’s words, they ‘exchanged extensive apologies for how things had worked out’. The pilot accepts Loden’s explanation that his comments were both made in the crucible of an extremely stressful situation and never meant for public dissemination. Loden proposes that he should bring a contingent — a minibus of leaders: platoon commanders, corporals, platoon sergeants and company headquarters — from his parachute company, command of which he retains for another eighteen months, up to RAF Cottesmore, the Harrier base in Rutland. The pilot has footage from the cameras on the Harriers; she is keen for the soldiers to understand the pilots’ perspective. ‘We in turn recognised that we were not perfect at calling in air support, and could definitely improve by understanding the pilot’s perspective better,’ says Loden.

			The goal is to improve army and air force performance and cooperation on operations, based on the shortcomings of recent experience. The pilot agrees; the two officers start to plan the occasion. However, according to Loden, the station commander at Cottesmore vetoes the project as politically potentially damaging. The visit never takes place. Loden feels that the ‘arse-covering’ move embodies much that is wrong with the contemporary military.5 For his part Sean Bell, who was the RAF officer in charge at Cottesmore at the time, denies cancelling the visit, and points to an appearance on Sky News to indicate he did not try to cover up the incident. ‘We worked tirelessly with our SAS and army colleagues to improve understanding of the benefits and limitations of airpower to ensure we maximised our collective effectiveness on the battlefield,’ Bell said. The pilot herself declined to comment.

			The next artefact to jump the fence is another Loden production: the ‘Rooftop’ video. It is on YouTube within a month of 3 PARA’s return to England.6 On 2 November, the Metro freesheet runs a piece on it, titled ‘Paras make Eminem battle film’.7 The story reports that the video has already had almost 6,500 views. The comment from the MoD, while oblique in reference to the film, has no hint of condemnation. ‘We recognise the fantastic work done by our armed forces in southern Afghanistan,’ the ‘spokesperson’ says. ‘We are immensely proud of them and all those serving on operations around the world, who continue to perform brilliantly in all circumstances.’ This is not official endorsement, but neither is it anything that looks like criticism.

			3 Commando Brigade, the marines, replace the Paras in Helmand, but they will also only stay for another six months, for Operation Herrick 5. There is an increasing realisation that this show in southern Afghanistan will go on for some time. It will involve more than the traditional spear points of the military too; on Operation Herrick 6 in 2007, the Royal Anglians and the Worcestershire and Sherwood Foresters, line infantry like the PWRR before them in Iraq, will deploy. In late 2006 there is little analysis of the ill-conceived nature of the initial Helmand deployment.

			The ‘Rooftop’ video promulgates the idea that, unlike Iraq, where at times bullets were accounted for down to the individual round (just as they were in tedious old Northern Ireland), Afghanistan offers a venue — and a continuing one — for sanctioned violence. It also becomes a powerful military artefact because it showcases a specific aesthetic. The troops rushing up the Sangin stairs in the grainy footage are accoutred in a specific way. Theoretically, they wear standard desert-pattern British uniform. Yet in 2006, they wear this garb distinctively. Some sport chest rigs over bare chests. Another has his combat trousers cut down into shorts, and wears them in a firefight with sandals. The presented justification for this kind of get-up is necessity: the detachments in the platoon houses were cut off, as the Australians were at Tobruk in 1941, or on a thousand other occasions of celebrated military isolation. That statement is not without truth, but the garb also shows considerable affectation. Internally within the Parachute Regiment, Herrick 4 will be remembered by some as the ‘red tats and gimpies’ tour.8 Exposed biceps with maroon Para Reg tattoos made endless use of the GPMG; a GPMG opens the ‘Rooftop’ video.

			The verbal definition of this aesthetic is ‘ally’, pronounced as in ‘alleyway’, and a word with uncertain etymology. One possibility is that it is a contraction of ‘aluminium’, as airborne troops were issued lighter-weight mess tins made from that metal.9 Regardless of where it originates, the look is clear. ‘Ally’ is rifle magazines taped together — it draws inspiration from films as well as finding exhibition through the same medium. Ally is beards. Ally is non-regulation scarves and shemagh cloths. Ally is belts of 7.62mm link machine-gun ammunition draped over shirtless muscled torsos. Ally is liberal use of sniper tape on bits of kit, scrim netting pulled taut over the issued helmet, or ‘hero sleeves’ — sleeves rolled only halfway up the forearm. A strong influence, ironically given the outcome of that conflict, is Vietnam. At Sandhurst in 2006, Barney Campbell remembers his platoon obsessing about ace-of-spades inserts in helmet headbands and other visual touchstones from that earlier conflict: Zippo lighters, Aviator sunglasses, Vietnam-era flak jackets.

			Of course, the two quantities of violence and ally are entwined. Fighting is ally. It seeps into Iraq, too: Major Stuart Nicholson, a Fusiliers officer serving on an exchange post with the Anglians in Basra in 2006, sees one sub-unit who keep one set of totemic combats to wear every time they go out on patrol, regardless of how dirty and disgusting they become. Nicholson catches one of this crew deliberately driving a Warrior armoured vehicle over a helmet cover to make it look already battered. Others attach England flags to the antennae of their vehicles, despite their locally problematic echo of Crusader insignia and — at the most extreme, and echoing the old Nazi enthusiasm — paint SS decals on the backbins of their Warriors. ‘When people start going a bit ally, it means they’re generally going a little bit rogue,’ Nicholson says.10

			These notions of military cool may seem trite as a force to shape the behaviour of an entire institution. But the army is predominantly composed of young men. Young men have always, intimately and perpetually, shown an elaborate concern for what will make them look cool.

			*

			Once again, medals reinforce the situation. During the Herrick 4 tour, Stuart Tootal set up a small awards board at battlegroup level.11 The board consisted of those majors not in the field, 3 PARA’s regimental sergeant major, the adjutant and the second-in-command. These men met in the small hours of the morning and considered each application. Tootal then discussed them with brigade headquarters, wrote them up and submitted them. As with the PWRR before them, they initiated a Victoria Cross citation, this time posthumous, for Corporal Bryan Budd. They submitted 120 citations in total, ranging from commendations to the VC.12

			Unlike the events on the ground, the medal campaign is enormously successful. On 14 December 2006, the London Gazette publishes the citation for Bryan Budd’s VC, writing, ‘His determination to press home a single-handed assault against a superior enemy force despite his wounds stands out as a premeditated act of inspirational leadership and supreme valour.’13 (Eleven months later, an inquest will declare that Budd was probably killed by a bullet shot by his own men.)14 In addition, the battlegroup receives one George Cross, one MBE, two Distinguished Service Orders, two Conspicuous Gallantry Crosses, nine Military Crosses, one George Medal, one Queen’s Gallantry Medal, some twenty Mentions in Dispatches and two Queen’s Commendations for Valuable Service. The RAF’s 18 Squadron, who were not officially part of the battlegroup but effectively served as 3 PARA’s ‘air wing’ in Helmand, receive three Distinguished Flying Crosses. Two US Air Force medics who lifted British wounded out of a minefield at Kajaki also receive the QCVS.15

			As previously in Iraq, the distribution of medals between units is profoundly uneven, and much depends on the citation-writing skills of commanders. According to a Telegraph account, in contrast to the dozens of honours and awards for the Paras and other units from 16 Air Assault brigade, the hundred members of 1st Battalion, the Royal Irish, who held out for weeks in Musa Qala and took three dead, receive a single Mention in Dispatches.16

			There is no doubt that members of 3 PARA and the attached units in the battlegroup exhibited extreme bravery in exceptionally difficult conditions on Herrick 4. But the operation was never meant to be a massive fight; it became one — at least in part — because of bad decision-making. Nevertheless, the army rewarded this accidental behaviour to the hilt. It becomes a loop: as more and more of these high-powered awards become available, the fact of possessing them is normalised, and so behaviour that wins them is further incentivised.17 ‘I’m super proud of my MiD,’ Hollingshead says, referring to his own mention in dispatches. ‘But my MiD is basically because we got the first question wrong … what is the enemy doing and why? We totally fucked it up. We ended up in this ridiculous firefight and had to somehow extract from it. But you are incentivised to get involved in stuff like that. It’s perverse.’

			As with Iraq before it, the Helmand deployment will become a series of discrete six-month rotations. The Marines follow the Paras on Operation Herrick 5; the Anglians follow on Operation Herrick 6. This swift rotation has grievous consequences for continuity of command and experience. But it also means that each deployment becomes a timebound opportunity to match up to the standards already set. Extreme violence is not working, yet many want more of it. The army is violating a central principle of military strategy: never reinforce failure. It is no surprise that on these early Herrick tours, air controllers use the tonnage of ordnance dropped as their personal metric for success while deployed in Afghanistan, regardless of the effect of all those bomb strikes on the opinions of the Afghan people regarding the British.

			Taken together, this is a way to lose a war.

			*

			Back in England, Patrick Bishop18 meets up with Stuart Tootal to discuss in more detail the idea for a book on 3 PARA on Herrick 4. The central factor they must negotiate is the MoD’s extremely restrictive policy on access by reporters or writers. The same closed doors that kept news of what was really happening in Helmand off front pages and screens in the early summer of 2006 extends into the world of retrospective accounts. To allow Bishop, or any other writer, access to serving soldiers, the army demands, under the aegis of a document called the ‘Green Book’ (‘A guide to UK Ministry of Defence procedure for working with the media’) pre-publication oversight of the eventual product. (This book was written outside the Green Book system.) Officially, the policy allows the Ministry to scan for breaches of ‘operational security’ (OPSEC) and ‘personnel security’ (PERSEC). Tootal takes the lead in getting Bishop’s project through the MoD process, which Bishop remembers as ‘pretty laborious’. By late 2006, they have finally nailed down a deal. Bishop agrees to pay the MoD 10 per cent of the project’s proceeds, and earmarks another 10 per cent for the 3 PARA Afghanistan Trust charity, which later became the Parachute Regiment Afghanistan Trust.

			Bishop’s previous publisher was HarperCollins, and he discusses the project with Arabella Pike, his editor there. Pike’s father was Hew Pike, who commanded 3 PARA at Mount Longdon in the Falklands in 1982, and who later became a lieutenant general. Her brother is Will Pike, who led 3 PARA’s A Company on Herrick 4 in 2006. Bishop had been in the Falklands as a correspondent with Hew Pike in 1982. Arabella Pike is keen to publish the book, which will be called, simply, 3 Para. Bishop previously wrote a book about the Falklands campaign, which he covered as a reporter, but this project is very different. In 1982 he was there from beginning to end, effectively a soldier who did not fire a rifle. In Afghanistan, Bishop had not been able to get beyond Bastion during the tour in 2006; his account will have to be reported retrospectively. Tootal turns over his diaries. He explains to the battalion that Bishop will be coming up to Colchester to interview soldiers. Bishop stays in the mess, and conducts ‘industrial interviewing’. Alongside 3 PARA, he speaks to individuals from other units who deployed, such as the Gurkhas. Bishop interviews over a hundred people. He is struck by how tremendously important Herrick 4 was to the men, emotionally; the traditional Para machismo falls away rapidly.19

			Bishop writes up his book over the summer of 2007. It goes to the MoD censors — ‘it was the usual jerking around’,20 Bishop recalls — and is published in September 2007. During the selling season, when publishers aim to get new titles into bookshops, Bishop’s written account of the tour now merges strangely with Jamie Loden’s video version. Stuart Tootal organises an event at the Cavalry and Guards Club on Piccadilly, inviting the buyers from Waterstones and the other big chains. Paratroopers turn up from Colchester in uniform. They show a new video Loden has made, a twelve-minute cut as opposed to the three minute thirty-four second version that went viral. Soldiers speak about their experiences. They are polite; they are not macho. The event is a great success, which Bishop is somewhat surprised by, given that the book buyers are mostly ‘Guardian reading women’. Here, in 2007, military storytelling is transcending its traditional reach. 3 Para becomes an immediate bestseller.

			More significantly, it invents yet another new genre, the ‘six-month tour book’. The Marines follow the Paras into Helmand on Herrick 5. Ewen Southby-Tailyour, a former marine whose knowledge of the waters around the Falklands proved critical in 1982, eventually writes an account of their tour titled 3 Commando Brigade (subtitle: ‘Sometimes defence is the best form of attack’). The Royal Anglians and other units take over on Herrick 6 in 2007. That tour also spawns a book, Attack State Red, by Chris Hughes and Richard Kemp. When the Paras return to Helmand in 2008, Bishop accompanies them, writing another title called Ground Truth: 3 Para return to Afghanistan. The 2008 fighting also spawns Desperate Glory: At War in Helmand with Britain’s 16 Air Assault Brigade, by Sam Kiley, in due course foreign affairs editor of Sky News. Other tour books follow, some from virtual journalistic unknowns.

			There is no suggestion that these books are as susceptible to the competing claims of truth and exaggeration as the earlier burst of SAS memoirs in the 1990s. Nonetheless, the fact that they had to be written within the Green Book system loomed over them. Just as newspaper correspondents in the field embedded with British units had to show their copy to media minders before they filed, these books were always pored over by the MoD pre-publication. While British journalists had little choice but to accede to the ways of the Green Book, many American reporters would regard such pre-publication approval practice as anathema. America had no similar system for embedded correspondents, instead using much narrower definitions of what it considered ‘secret’. ‘I was never asked to show my copy to any US military official before filing,’ says Tom Ricks, who covered the US military for the Wall Street Journal and the Washington Post, and wrote the books Fiasco and The Gamble on the American war in Iraq. ‘Nor would I have signed any agreement to do so.’21 ‘The US military never asked for any kind of review prior to publication,’ adds Sebastian Junger, who embedded with American troops in Afghanistan’s Korengal Valley to write his book War. ‘In fact a press officer at one point misunderstood my request for fact checking [Junger asking to verify specific points] as a request to review the manuscript and said, “I couldn’t do that, it would be illegal.” So in my experience it was pretty much unfettered access.’22

			In Green Book negotiations, that which the British Army sought to cut often extended well beyond what could strictly be termed OPSEC or PERSEC, in particular because the organs of the MoD responsible also had a wider public relations remit. Kevin Stratford-Wright, in 2006 an army spokesman in Helmand, later worked on book projects in London. He remembers in particular that Operation Snakebite, an account based on Sunday Times journalist Stephen Grey’s 2007 reporting in Afghanistan, was heavily cut. ‘There was a version of the book written that had to have an awful lot taken out of it,’ Stratford-Wright says.23

			Herrick 4 invented a new kind of military literature, but its relationship with the truth was as vexed as any of those that came before.24

			*

			On 10 May 2007, thirteen months after Stuart Tootal first arrived at Bastion, the British Army officially joins YouTube and uploads a video of its own. Bizarrely, the clip opens with a shot of a diver tickling a large grey manatee: ‘British Army diving with sea cows’ is the title.25 The rest of the fifty-one-second clip features several manatees ‘swimming graciously and grazing on the sea bed’. There is no sound; just a caption stating the footage came from ‘The British Army conservation project to help save the manatee’. No other uploads follow the sea cows on official Army YouTube for almost a year. When at last it arrives, the next contribution is less offbeat. Titled ‘Apache in Afghanistan’, it features helicopters flying, soldiers talking about ‘the threat of enemy forces’, and weapons being loaded with rounds.

			Thirty-five videos follow over the next year, with titles like ‘British troops patrol in Afghanistan’, ‘Afghan artillery’ and ‘Attack dogs get their man in Afghanistan’. Not everything on the official channel will be starkly gung-ho. In 2013, by which point the official PR message is focused on extraction from Helmand, the army’s channel will carry a series of short documentaries with such banal titles as ‘The work of a Biomedical Scientist in Camp Bastion, Afghanistan’. Yet the music-and-firing combination pioneered for the British by Nick Thasarathar and Jamie Loden has a very long shadow. In 2015, after the army has withdrawn from Helmand, it will upload a video titled ‘Live Firing | British Army’. The clip depicts an exercise on Salisbury Plain, not real combat. Yet the rolling Challengers and Warriors, and hovering Apaches, are accompanied by a stirring musical background.

			Scholars such as Rhys Crilley, meanwhile, will begin to describe the way Western militaries present themselves on social media as an idea of ‘clean war’. You show exciting kit and smiling soldiers. You do not show death or gore, or often the Afghan civilians in whose name, officially, the army is fighting. It is propaganda for a new era, a fact best shown by some of the responses such material generates. In early 2012, the British Army posts a series of ‘relatively mundane’ photographs of a training exercise on its Facebook page.26 The first comment left below the pictures reads: ‘I’m only ten but I’m ready for war!’27 In 2015, the army sets up a new unit, 77th Brigade, to use ‘non-lethal engagement and legitimate non-military levers’ to impact the behaviour of enemies.28 Named in honour of Orde Wingate’s Chindits, who used unconventional methods to fight the Japanese in the Burma campaign of the Second World War, 77th Brigade acquires a different nickname: the press calls them ‘Facebook warriors’.29

			In the years after 2006, the YouTube war film begins to influence conventional television’s depiction of conflict. The snatches of soldier-shot footage that air on broadcasters and newspaper websites in 2006 give way to a full series compiled using footage shot by soldiers: the BBC’s Our War, which first appears in 2011. Soap-star-turned-documentarian Ross Kemp’s subsequent escapades in Afghanistan will also, in their breathy style, pay a tribute to the earlier work created by soldiers themselves.30 This mixing of the homemade and the shop-bought will continue until 2011, when Royal Marine Sergeant Alexander Blackman will kill a wounded Afghan fighter while, unknown to him, being filmed on a helmet camera. The court case that follows (discussed in detail later in this book) dramatically ends the chain of command’s tolerance for soldier-shot footage. The role of Helmand as a venue for ally mayhem will diminish too. In 2010 US General Stanley McChrystal promulgates a new (and controversial) doctrine of ‘courageous restraint’ to reduce civilian casualties. In 2006, though, that is still four years away.

			Meanwhile, the Army Rumour Service grows up. In the years after 2006, the site’s founders have periodic contact with the MoD. Dominic Robinson liaises with Robin Riley, the MoD’s new head of digital engagement, to work out policies with regard to casualties, to avoid giving such news away prematurely. In parallel, the army develops policies for its own soldiers with regard to social media use. Guidelines published in 2009 state that:

			Service and MoD civilian personnel are encouraged to talk about what they do, but within certain limits to protect security, reputation and privacy … Personnel may make full use of these but must: follow the same high standards of conduct and behaviour online as would be expected elsewhere; always maintain personal, information and operational security, and be careful about the information they share online; get authorisation from their chain of command when appropriate.31

			In 2011, ARRSE founder Dominic Robinson goes to Whitehall and for the first time physically meets someone from the press office at the MoD. It is clear by now that the authorities have realised all hopes of putting the military social media genie back in the bottle are in vain. The change in attitude with regard to soldiers’ storytelling in the seven years from the production of the PWRR’s video in 2004 is profound. The MoD perhaps also realises the advantage of having the main British Army forum run by two relatively sympathetic officers, one of whom is still serving, rather than by complete outsiders.

			Robinson formally confesses his role founding ARRSE when he undergoes developed vetting before taking up command of the Special Forces helicopter flight in Hereford in 2008. Slowly but surely, the once rebellious site becomes an accepted part of the British military firmament. It evolves its own codes of speech and jokes, and even becomes a source of psychosocial support for the casualties of the wars it covers. Ken Bellringer, a Royal Logistics Corp bomb-disposal operator with 11 Explosive Ordnance Disposal Regiment, joins ARRSE around 2005, posting under the handle ‘Dingerr’. After Bellringer is blown up in Afghanistan in 2009, losing both legs high above the knee, shattering his pelvis and damaging his hands,32 support from the site is a significant part of his unofficial welfare package.33 ARRSErs club together and send Bellringer a cake, passing it from individual to individual until it reaches the wounded soldier at Headley Court rehabilitation centre. ‘People who had never met each other before were meeting in pub car parks and supermarket car parks, and things like that, passing on this cake and cards and well wishes,’ Bellringer recalls. ‘It was pretty special.’ By the time it reaches Bellringer, the cake is inedible, but in his wounded state he continues to post regularly on ARRSE.

			Alongside ‘Afghan fighting — the latest reports’, another thread, titled ‘Reality of Herrick’ and also deconstructing operations in Afghanistan, swells to 1,000 pages. National newspaper defence correspondents read the site religiously. ARRSE traffic peaks in 2012 at 7 million unique views per month. In 2016, Vice will run a piece titled ‘What’s the Deal with This Super Racist British Army Forum?’,34 but by then much of the rebelliousness — and some of the popularity — has seeped away from ARRSE.35

			*

			The continuing, and arguably increasing, importance of and desire for medals is best shown by an incident in 2009. Robert Armstrong, a Royal Artillery major attached to the Royal Irish Regiment, exaggerates an attack on a convoy in Afghanistan, claiming that after an IED strike they came under attack from machine guns and rocket-propelled grenades. Armstrong receives the Military Cross, only to be arrested two months later. Subsequent investigation reveals he had been involved in writing his own citation. Corporals present at the incident acknowledge the IED strike but said no other attack took place. Military police find 160 illegally-stored classified documents on Armstrong’s personal computer, along with an inoperative pistol, more than 270 rounds of ammunition and a morphine injector. The officer who makes the complaint about Armstrong, a captain, seeks the advice of none other than Richard Westley, the man who made the Helmand recce in 2005, and by this stage a colonel commanding the Operational Training and Advisory Group, the unit which prepares troops for combat in Afghanistan.36

			At a court martial in February 2012, in Colchester, Armstrong admits four charges of conduct prejudicial to good order and military discipline. He is dismissed and sentenced to a year in prison, suspended for two years. In 2014 he is stripped of his Military Cross,37 the first time the Queen has rescinded such an award. That case is extreme. Yet even where citations are accurate, the structural issue persists.

			The individuals involved in Herrick 4 experience different afterlives. Jamie Loden, previously star of his staff college course, and both company commander and video editor in 2006, signs off from the army four years later when a job offer comes from Barclays in East Africa. Many of Loden’s peers believe the email scandal drummed him out, or at least poisoned his career prospects; today he says that was not a factor.

			Ed Butler does not become Director Special Forces, a job that, as a former commander of 16 Air Assault Brigade and 22 SAS, he was a natural fit for. Instead, he too leaves the army, stating he does so to spend more time with his family.38

			Today, David Richards, the ISAF commander in Afghanistan in 2006, disputes both analogues between his behaviour in Sierra Leone in 2000 and Butler’s in Afghanistan six years later, and any suggestion that he marked Butler’s cards in career terms. ‘In Sierra Leone I was the theatre commander … I had to devise the campaign plan and then direct its implementation,’ he says. ‘In Afghanistan Ed Butler was formally under the US commander and was clear that what he was doing would be contrary to my intentions, knowing he would shortly be coming under my command. Furthermore, I for one am clear that “London” acquiesced in Butler’s plan.’39

			Stuart Tootal also resigns from the army and goes to work for Barclays. His reasons were many and varied, but the poor treatment his wounded soldiers received counted among them.40 Selly Oak and Headley Court are better than in 2004, but still have a way to go. Tootal publishes his own account of Operation Herrick 4, Danger Close, in 2009. Paul Hollingshead serves a tour on the directing staff at Brecon, where he finds his relations with the colour sergeant instructors difficult. He is still only a lieutenant, but has seen combat of an intensity many of these older men have not. He knows the bullets do not do the things they claim, like going through the mud-brick walls of Afghan compounds. He decides he does not want to join the SAS after all, and leaves the army.

			Richard Westley, architect of the Helmand recce, also leaves. In 2010, he is contacted by Carl Dinnen, a journalist working for Channel 4 News and an old friend, who says he is going to put the whole issue of the Helmand estimate to John Lorimer, a Parachute Regiment officer who in 2006 had a pivotal role in briefing the estimate at PJHQ, and who in 2010 is about to promote to major general. By this point, the total number of British and American troops in Helmand is a multiple of the 3,300 of the initial deployment. Westley suggests to Dinnen that Lorimer still has a career to protect, and offers to respond himself. ‘When I look at what we’re trying to do now on the ground, and still quite thinly spread in the areas we want to have influence, yes, I was wrong in my estimate — I’m happy to stand up and say that,’ Westley says to Dinnen, according to an account on Channel 4’s website. ‘But my estimate was considerably more than the appetite existed for back in the UK.’41

			Likewise not long for the military world is the full aesthetic of ally, as pioneered in 2006. A widely-reported story holds that some time after Herrick 4, with the Helmand mission bogged down, a senior American visited a British forward operating base. There the soldiers are bearded and scruffy — and carefully cultivated as such. The American remarked, ‘You look like our army at the end of Vietnam.’42 After that intravenous shock, all changes; commanders reintroduce mandated shaving in the field. They require the rolling-down of sleeves for blast protection and the wearing of ballistic eyewear — so uncool it is almost inverse ally — on every venture outside the wire. In part this development is about protection. Yet the ally clampdown is also a knee-jerk response to a realisation that something has got out of control. Some elements of ally survive, in particular the Paras’ interest in taping up bits of their gear. That is harder to stamp down on.

			The book machine rolls on. After the success of Sniper One, Tom Newton Dunn ghosts another boisterous account, this time of aerial operations in Helmand. Apache Dawn appears in 2008, with the strapline ‘Always Outnumbered, Never Outgunned’. With the six-month-tour books, however, the innate conflict between reportorial instinct and the British Army’s censorious arrangements with the media come to a head in 2011. Two years earlier, after the Welsh Guards’ losses in Helmand included, among others, a platoon commander, a company commander and, in their commanding officer Rupert Thorneloe, the first lieutenant colonel to be killed in action since ‘H’ Jones in 1982, Toby Harnden turned his attention to the six-month-tour book. A former naval officer and experienced war correspondent, Harnden worked for four years as the Telegraph’s Ireland correspondent in the late 1990s, and wrote a book on the IRA and South Armagh called Bandit Country.43 Harnden knew Thorneloe from Northern Ireland, and also spent time with the Welsh Guards in South Armagh in 1996 and al-Amarah in 2004.44 After Thorneloe was killed, Harnden talked to various Welsh Guards contacts and decided he wanted to write about the battlegroup’s ill-starred tour. Harnden also wanted to raise the bar with the genre. ‘I wanted to do something that stood out,’ he says, adding that he felt some previous books in the genre, and much of the journalism that had been produced by heavily stage-managed defence correspondents, was deeply problematic.

			In 2008, the head of army public relations is a brigadier called Ben Bathurst, a Welsh Guards officer who was a company commander in South Armagh and commanded the battalion when Harnden reported on it in Iraq in 2004. During his naval career, Harnden also knew Bathurst’s father, Admiral of the Fleet Sir Benjamin Bathurst, who was first sea lord from 1993 to 1995. The younger Bathurst worked with the Americans in Baghdad after the invasion of Iraq and was in favour of a more open policy of media access.

			There has also not been a book-length study of the Welsh Guards since Trevor Royle’s Anatomy of a Regiment in 1990 (although they featured in an extraordinary, and often-hilarious, Molly Dineen documentary from 1995 called In the Company of Men, examining their work in Northern Ireland before the first IRA ceasefire). Senior figures from the Welsh Guards hierarchy were on side and sold the project to the MoD. ‘I think there was a recognition right at the beginning that it would be warts and all, but it would be a proper book,’ Harnden remembers.

			Harnden is determined to go to Afghanistan to catch the last portion of the tour, and, like all writers in such a position with the British Army, he has to sign the contract offering pre-publication approval for this book. ‘I signed this contract thinking, God, this is pretty bad,’ Harnden says, ‘but I need to get out there, we’ll worry about all that stuff later.’ In the end, Harnden gets between three and four weeks in Afghanistan towards the end of the tour, Operation Herrick 10. Several publishers are interested. One wants almost instant publication, but Harnden goes instead with Quercus, who will give him nine months to work on the book after his return from Afghanistan. He interviews as many people as he can from the regiment, who are then based in Aldershot, to build on his interviews and reporting from Helmand. He also receives several thousand documents from the Welsh Guards, including intelligence summaries, watch-keeper logs, radio logs, incident reports and maps. ‘It took the book to a new level, because I was able to cross-reference everything, and it also was a great resource for knowing who to talk to because I knew who was there for every single incident,’ Harnden says. He wants the book to address the full battlegroup, not just the Welsh Guards, which means taking in elements of 4 Rifles — who are much more difficult to work with — and the Royal Tank Regiment (who are very open).

			Harnden writes up the manuscript and submits it for MoD approval. He knows the process is going to be uncomfortable. He has written in graphic detail about casualties, and there is much material about Thorneloe complaining about resources, notably helicopters, before his death. The manuscript is sent out to dozens of people in different departments within the MoD. Some of the objections that come back are questionable. Someone tells Harnden he cannot mention electronic counter-measures (ECM), the systems used to defeat remote detonation of IEDs, fitted to the Viking vehicles. Harnden goes through the manuscript and blacks out all mention of ECM. Then he googles the issue and finds that the Viking’s ECM suite is listed on an official website. Issues surface with the regiment, as is inevitable when the subject of a work of reportage has a quasi-editorial role too. Additionally, Harnden starts to pick up that, at the more political level, the MoD are still unhappy. They argue that there had not been a shortage of helicopters, or inadequate armoured vehicles in Afghanistan in 2009. Towards the end of the process, Harnden’s point of contact for the review becomes Brigadier Tim Radford, the commander of Task Force Helmand during the Welsh Guards’ tour. This is a Kafka-esque situation, given that Radford is a character in the book and Harnden has interviewed him. Radford even attempts to change quotes that Harnden has on tape. Meanwhile, print deadlines are approaching. Harnden is endlessly rewriting and changing his manuscript. It is at last signed off by the MoD. Quercus prints the book. Then Harnden is told of two problems. One issue is the way he has written about the casualties of the Estonian contingent deployed with the Welsh Guards — notably, the fact that an RPG took off the head of one soldier. At this stage, Harnden finds that the manuscript has apparently passed from the MoD to the Foreign Office, who are worried about their relationship with the Estonians — although the information in question came from the Estonians themselves, and maintaining a diplomatic relationship is outside the official grounds for review.45

			The MoD also tells Quercus the manuscript is not safe to publish; they raise safety of personnel and the apparent identification of an individual who had served with the SAS.46 The notion that the Special Forces background is confidential is questionable. It is a matter of public record that this individual served with the Joint Special Operations Command in Iraq, and that he won a Distinguished Service Order at a time when the Welsh Guards were not in Iraq. Nonetheless, a huge fight develops.

			The MoD invites the publisher to a meeting at its main building on Whitehall. The CEO of Quercus, an Australian named Mark Smith, declines, reasoning that the Ministry will pack the meeting with uniforms and spooks in suits, and hold it with maximum secrecy and theatre. Smith tells the Ministry that if they want a meeting they can come to Quercus’ offices. There is a minor panic when Harnden cannot at first track down the email indicating the book had been signed off before the furore started. Meanwhile, the MoD launches an intense lobbying campaign. There are personal telephone calls from General David Richards, now the chief of the defence staff, to Mark Smith at Quercus, and General Peter Wall, now chief of the general staff, to Harnden.

			Quercus now has two options. It could publish, stating that it does not believe SAS soldiers are at risk and that the Estonian issue is nothing to do with security or accuracy, but rather an attempt to protect a diplomatic relationship. Going ahead would generate publicity — the book the MoD tried to ban — but it would put Harnden in an acutely difficult position with the regiment and Charlie Antelme, Rupert Thorneloe’s successor as commanding officer, and leave him vulnerable to the charge that he had recklessly put lives at risk. Harnden and Quercus decide therefore to make some changes to satisfy the censors. The MoD try to excise all details of casualties. Quercus tells them that is unreasonable. Eventually the excisions are narrowed down to around a hundred words — a few things about the former SAS officer and a few about the Estonians. The Ministry seeks a gagging clause; the publisher refuses. The Ministry agrees to pay £150,000 for reprints, and Quercus thinks this should be public knowledge. The company hammers out a deal whereby the MoD has explicitly to buy the first set of printed books, rather than paying a sum for no specific reason.

			The final details are thrashed out in the early hours of the morning during a flurry of conference calls between Quercus executives, and lawyers and counsel for the Treasury solicitor. Defence Secretary Liam Fox is involved behind the scenes — he is furious with MoD officials. At last the book, titled Dead Men Risen, appears. It is more substantial than many of the six-month-tour titles that preceded it, and wins the Orwell Prize in 2012. It burns all Harnden’s bridges with the MoD and leads to a major overhaul of the army’s process of reviewing books. But most fundamentally, Dead Men Risen reveals just how fraudulent the army’s system of tight control for journalists is, and ultimately how counterproductive. Muzzling reporters avoids short-term pain for the army in Iraq and Afghanistan, but neutering accountability journalism does the institution no long-term good at all, in particular as it starts to lose its wars.47

			*

			One final act of storytelling came out of the maelstrom summer of 2006. It lay at one remove from operations in Helmand, but speaks explicitly to another narrative at play during much of the Iraq and Afghanistan period: the army’s own, often strange, attempts to brand itself as a more modern institution in terms of those twenty-first-century touchstones, race and class. With Jamie Loden’s company in Sangin during the summer of 2006 was a detachment of the Household Cavalry, providing light armoured support on antiquated and often broken CVR(T) tracked vehicles. Ralph Johnson, a 24-year-old Household Cavalry second lieutenant, died in a CVR(T) Spartan on 1 August, along with a captain from 7th Regiment Royal Horse Artillery and a lance corporal from the Royal Signals. After Johnson’s death, his replacement as troop leader was another junior officer, 26-year-old Lieutenant Tom Burne. On 20 September, after all the weeks of media blackout, an ITN news crew was at last permitted to fly into Sangin. The landing site was attacked the moment their Chinook touched down. James Fergusson, married to Burne’s cousin, described the event in his later account of the summer, A Million Bullets.

			The cameraman dived to the ground, cracking his lens. Dust swirled madly from the rotor blades. Rocket-propelled grenades (RPGs) whooshed past at head height. Paratroopers stood or knelt in the open alongside soldiers of the ANA, the Afghan National Army, and blazed back with their own weapons, the deafening pop-pop-pop confounding the journalists’ microphones, as it always did. And there unmistakably in the background was Tom, perched on the turret of a Scimitar, his tall physique bent as though huddling against rain rather than horizontal metal, directing cannon and machine-gun fire at the enemy-infested tree-line. 48

			Back in London, away from the bullets and bombs of Helmand, Burne became involved in a project to construct a new identity for his unit. The Household Cavalry, the senior regiment of the British Army, splits between a ceremonial unit, the ‘Mounted Regiment’, based with its horses in Basil Spence’s perpendicular barracks on the south side of Hyde Park in London, and an operational unit then based at Windsor equipped with CVR(T). Officially, soldiers and officers are badged either as members of the Blues and Royals or the Life Guards, the two constituent regiments that amalgamated in 1992 to form the present set-up. Their uniforms vary accordingly.49

			Soldiers and officers of the Household Cavalry rotate between Knightsbridge and Windsor. For officers, horses at Knightsbridge means fancy parties in SW7; in the past, it required a substantial private income. The regiment claims to have become more egalitarian, and also to be surer in its smart status than the line cavalry, and therefore less vulnerable to pretension.50 There is no doubt, though, of the gulf between the lives of officers and men. For soldiers, horses in Knightsbridge means unrelenting toil, mucking out and prepping ceremonial kit, on a salary that leaves the capital largely unfeasible for fun. Unlike other ceremonial units abroad, the Household Cavalry has firmly resisted all advances of twentieth-century materials science when it comes to their kit. Not for them the stainless steel or lighter aluminium breastplates, or patent leather boots that require only a single wipe to prepare to a high shine. The official line is that the old kit, which requires hours of labour with Brasso and spit-polish to bring it to readiness, ‘looks better’.

			In the mess on Hyde Park is a nineteenth-century painting of the regiment’s officers. Dating from 1857, it shows an all-male, whiskered and blue-blooded ensemble got up in their elaborate dress. Two years after Operation Herrick 4, the regiment decided to commission a new painting; it was to be an update of the 1857 canvas, showcasing how the Household Cavalry had changed. It now has black officers and a Sikh; in common with other infantry and armoured corps units, there were still no women directly involved, but there were now attached women (including a vet). The architects of this painting project were Tom Burne and another officer: Ed Olver, a 29-year old who was then adjutant of the mounted regiment at Knightsbridge. The resulting exercise came to embody many of the army’s confused attitudes to diversity in the first years of the twenty-first century.

			In 2008, at a birthday party at a restaurant in Fulham, Olver met a tall 26-year-old called Louise Pragnell. Pragnell studied fine art at Edinburgh, graduating with a distinction in painting, and then trained in Florence. Having returned to London, Pragnell was planning to make her way as a portrait painter. At the Fulham party, Olver explained the painting project — he initially described it as a mural. Pragnell said a project of that nature would take a year. At this early stage in her career, she could charge nothing like a year’s salary for a single commission. However, as she was trying to make her name, neither could she afford to be too fussy. She took the project on. Eventually, the huge work, on a 3m-by-1m canvas, would almost drive her insane. Olver explained the concept: ‘We’ve got these two women here, and we’ve got a Sikh and we’ve got two black guys.’51 Burne and Olver arranged that each officer would make a contribution to the cost of the project.

			The sitting took place on 27 May 2008 at the barracks on Hyde Park, beyond the Serpentine and the bare earth of the equine practice track. Twenty-three of twenty-five officers were present; soldier doubles stood in for the absentees. They wore an infinite variety of dress, from ‘state kit’ with its breastplate to the scarlet bum-freezer jacket of mess kit, service dress, and combats. Each chose their own get-up; some eschewed uniform altogether, coming in polo gear, hunting gear and Ascot tails. There was a strong equine theme. As a message, the scene was a mixed one: we have black people, it said. We have women. But we’re all still really posh.

			Pragnell found the officers excellent sitters. She also found their attitude to art odd. Elsewhere in the mess was an extraordinary painting by the equine artist Alfred Munnings, which Pragnell estimated could be worth £5 million. The officers played cricket in front of it. She sensed, too, a mix of ‘wannabe smart’ in some of the individuals, combined with genuine toffs. ‘I think they wanted to see that they were all very, smart capable officers, but that they weren’t so old-fashioned and such old snobs that they could allow women,’ Pragnell recalls, adding, ‘I do have a huge amount of respect for them; also every single one of them served in Afghanistan and Iraq.’ The women who were present, one of whom was a vet, seemed much less posh. One of the black officers was Ghanaian, the other Zimbabwean. Both spoke with received pronunciation. Class and race were meeting, but not in a way usually recognised by that choice twenty-first-century term ‘intersectionality’.

			The officers did not want the layout of the painting to be too hierarchical. Pragnell said she could not direct a pack of shouting men, so they should gather themselves into groups. ‘Silver Stick’, the title given to the commander of the Household Cavalry, was present, but did not sit in the middle. Instead Ed Olver went there, with a briefcase to symbolise, according to Pragnell, how successful he was to be in business after leaving the army. (Olver rather holds that ‘the briefcase was very much part of my identity and uniform, even while in the army … it absolutely represented my “business-like” approach to running the regiment as the adjutant.’)52

			One man liked the idea of a soldier servant pouring him a glass of champagne while he stared imperiously in the other direction. Pragnell thought that look somewhat questionable — it hardly concurred with the diversity message — but included it. Pragnell took photographs at the sitting and then, back at her Chelsea studio, got to work on the canvas. The background was fictional. The officers posed at Knightsbridge in a grubby room like a painted squash court, as the only place with the right dimensions. For a more interesting background, Pragnell ‘lifted’ paintings that in reality hung in the dining room of the mess. She added five inches of height to one man so that his likeness worked relative to the others. She included the officers’ dogs. One man posed reading a copy of Horse and Hound that featured a photograph of him on the cover; he really wanted Pragnell to include that, and emailed her a photo. Another held a cigarette even though they were not allowed to smoke inside. Working from photographs meant that the classical techniques Pragnell learned in Florence were not really applicable, but John Singer Sargent is the nearest inspiration she had.

			The unveiling takes place over lunch in 2010, at the mess at Knightsbridge. The regiment invites Lucian Freud, then the grand old man of British portraiture, but also an octogenarian with advancing Alzheimer’s.53 When Pragnell is told Freud is coming, it is as though ‘Dostoevsky is going to read your book,’ she says. In a way, Pragnell is following Freud’s example. His painting The Brigadier, dating from 2003–4, showed Andrew Parker-Bowles, also a former Household Cavalry officer, decked out in swanky garb, with scarlet stripes down his trousers, yet also thrown back on a sofa with jacket unbuttoned and belly spilling out.54 Pragnell attends the lunch, and is seated next to Freud. She has dressed up in a trouser suit; he comes in paint-covered trousers. He cannot remember what he is doing here, though he remains sharp when discussing his work. Pragnell keeps politely trying to orientate the other painter. ‘Knightsbridge is that way,’ she says. ‘And Hyde Park is over there.’

			‘Who are these people?’ Freud asks, baffled. Around the table, everyone is pretending to talk while in fact listening to what Freud is saying.

			‘They’re officers of the household cavalry,’ Pragnell says.

			‘So why is there a negro here?’ Freud asks. You can hear a pin drop. All at once, the whole awkwardness of the regiment’s diversity experiment — the fundamental weirdness of ‘we’re multi-ethnic but we’re still posh’ — is dragged into the open by a moment of Alzheimic grandfather racism. The Emperor truly has no clothes, though the painted officers are drawn from a fantastic wardrobe.

			*

			The regiment do a superb job with promotion, and Pragnell’s practice booms on the back of the commission. In particular, she becomes an in-demand artist for solo military portraits. This genre is a distinct form of art to the battle scenes from which David Rowlands made a career. Pragnell will go on to paint several of the key men who ran Iraq and Afghanistan. She paints Peter Wall, involved in the key decision to charge up the valley in Helmand in 2006. Wall will also engage in an act of painterly self-modernisation, eschewing braid and splendour to appear in a simple white shirt. Pragnell will paint Graham Binns, who commanded 7th Brigade during the invasion of Iraq in 2003, and who will also play a pivotal role in the endgame for the British in Iraq. She paints General Nick Houghton, who for three pivotal years from 2006 to 2009 serves as chief of joint operations at Northwood, the man directing the British Army, out in the world. As that army tries to depict itself in a new light, Louise Pragnell becomes the woman to go to, to get its leadership down in oils.

			As for the Household Cavalry painting itself: she hears a rumour later that it was vandalised; one night someone approached the canvas in the mess, and with a permanent marker removed the rank badges of Ed Olver, the co-creator of this irony-free production, and the man who installed himself at the centre of the canvas. Olver says he ‘never heard about, or indeed saw, any evidence of this vandalism’.




		
			Part 4

			Endgame

			Operation Charge of the Knights and the Iraq denouement

			IRAQ, LONDON, DORSET, WILTSHIRE, NORFOLK
MAY 2006 — MARCH 2010

			A means can be justified only by its end. But the end in its turn needs to be justified.

			Leon Trotsky, Their Morals and Ours (1938) 

			Nothing more awful than to watch a man who has been found out.

			Joseph Conrad, Lord Jim (1900)

		




			Chapter 11

			The Bad Day

			Basra Airport, 24 March 2008

			When the major general goes skiing, Brigadier Julian Free is left holding the baby. Free is an artillery officer by background, now the 45-year-old commander of 4th Mechanised Brigade. This week in March was meant to be Free’s rest and recreation slot, his mid-tour opportunity to go back to Europe. However, Major General Barney White-Spunner, in charge of the division and Free’s boss, asked to swap R&R slots with him. White-Spunner outranks Free. On this fateful Monday morning the Iraqi prime minister is inbound by jet from Baghdad with half of his government in tow. Nouri al-Maliki is hoping against hope to salvage his clearance operation, impulsively launched two days earlier to attempt to finally address the festering sore that Basra has become by 2008. By Monday, the operation is already careering off the rails, and so it is Deputy Free that stands waiting for the prime minister at Basra Airport. And it is Barney White-Spunner who is in the Austrian ski resort of Zürs.

			Nouri al-Maliki is no fan of the British Army by 2008.1 He has publicly blamed them for the baleful situation in south-east Iraq, and Basra in particular; he has expressed his feelings to the US chain of command. But Maliki wishes to get from the airport to Basra Palace downtown, Saddam’s old edifice on the banks of the Shatt al-Arab. With mayhem in the city, the only viable way into the palace is via helicopters from the British base at the airport.

			Julian Free meets Maliki at the terminal building. Maliki shakes his hand before realising who Free actually is. Free holds onto Maliki’s hand with both of his, in the Iraqi fashion — and also providing better purchase; the prime minister cannot pull away, and Free can get a message across to him. Free will later say this message is that ‘we would do whatever was required to support the Iraqi forces entering Basra’.

			They certainly need help. A day earlier, Iraqi troops began to turn up in quantity at the COB, aka Coalition Operating Base, the huge British cantonment at Basra Airport. In the end, 28,000 Iraqis and Americans (the majority of them Iraqi) will come; provisioning them will require 250,000 halal rations and 60,000 litres of fuel. Around the same time, the 14th Division of the Iraqi Army, theoretically trained by the British, has plunged into Basra to quell insurrection. One of the division’s three constituent brigades simply dissolves, ceasing to exist as a military entity. In the first week, 650 casualties and fifty dead will pass through the British hospital at the COB.

			That is what is going on beyond the terminal. Inside, in a corner, stands Lieutenant General Mohan al-Furayji, the Iraqi head of the Basra Operations Command (BOC) and the man who was, for the British, meant to be the great white hope to fix matters in Basra. General Mohan looks terrified — he thinks he is going to be sacked by Maliki, and has pleaded with Free to intervene.2 However, Maliki, once he gets his hand back, wants no contact with the British leadership at all. His intention is merely to transfer his party onto a selection of British and Iraqi helicopters to get to the palace. A standoff ensues. Maliki sits in one corner of the terminal with Mohan. Free sits opposite with Ben Ryan, a major from the Royal Dragoon Guards.3 Maliki eventually rises when informed the helicopters are ready. Recollections vary as to whether Mohan flies to the palace in an Iraqi aircraft or a British Merlin. Ben Ryan and Julian Free are left in the airport. Ryan’s recollection is they stood with ‘jaws on floor’ — Free suggests that is an exaggeration, but acknowledges it had been an extraordinary event. The Iraqi prime minister has just publicly snubbed the senior British officer in southern Iraq; the head of the people the British have long claimed they are in Iraq for has made it clear he does not want to see them.

			‘What now?’ Ryan asks.

			‘I’m not entirely sure, Ben,’ Free replies.4

			*

			Three days later, on Thursday 27 March, Lieutenant General Lloyd Austin arrives in Basra.5 This Iraqi operation was meant to take place months hence and with careful preparation, but has at Maliki’s behest been rushed into immediate and chaotic action. The Americans have, however, decided that no matter how disorganised it is, Maliki’s political life is invested in it, and Maliki is their man. In order to maintain the trillion-dollar venture of the war in Iraq, the prime minister’s hasty operation cannot be allowed to fail. As a result, Austin, the commander of Multi-National Corps — Iraq, an entity larger than the entire British Army, and second in seniority in country only to General David Petraeus, descends on Basra. Austin is alien as a very concept in British military circles: he is a three-star general, and also a black man.

			Free takes Austin to the palace, again by helicopter, to meet Maliki. ‘Look, Julian, I don’t think you can come in,’ Austin says outside the palace. Free says he understands; Maliki still wants to see no Brits. Even so, the Iraqi keeps the American general waiting for three hours. It is chaos at the palace, with local sheikhs coming in to see the prime minister; the full Iraqi government is effectively now in residence. There are soldiers lounging around, but the site is also under periodic rocket attack. If a rocket strikes a three-star American general on my watch, just let me be next to him, Free thinks. The aftermath of such a situation is unfaceable.

			Austin holds his meeting, but getting him out proves difficult. The US pilots refuse to land. Free summons a British helicopter. The term ‘Palace’ is a misnomer — really the site is a series of palaces within a vast enclosed compound, with an overall perimeter of 8km. The Iraqis take them to the wrong landing site; the helicopter takes off without them. Free calls on the radio, and the pilot circles around and returns. They bundle Austin in. It is chaos on board — the helicopter is also carrying out Iraqi wounded. Lloyd Austin, senior soldier, ends up holding an intravenous drip. The Merlin jinks all over the place; they go underneath a pylon line. After they land at the COB, Austin turns to his command sergeant major, the senior NCO who accompanies a senior American officer, and a position at the time with no direct equivalent in the British Army. ‘On a scale of one to ten of life experiences, how do you judge that ride?’ Austin asks.

			‘That was a ten, sir.’

			‘No, that was an eleven.’

			The lighter interlude is brief. Back in Free’s office, Austin asks the British brigadier how he is going to address the baleful situation in the city. Free says he will do what he has been forbidden to do so far: he will send British troops into town and partner Iraqi units. ‘We will MiTT,’ he says, using the acronym for ‘Military Transition Team’ that refers to such joint undertakings. It feels like a liberation.

			‘Have you got the authority?’ Austin asks.

			‘No.’

			‘Will you do it?’

			‘Yes.’

			‘Is that a promise?’

			‘Yes.’

			The view Free has come to by this stage in his tour is that for the Americans ‘your word’ and ‘telling the truth’ are absolutely vital. That is how they operate. In return, Free lists his requirements. He says he needs Blue Force Tracker, the American technology for monitoring the location of friendly units. He needs personal locator beacons, so that if forces operating with Iraqis are kidnapped they can be traced.

			For the first time on this tour, the phone from the UK has stopped ringing. The last word came from Brigadier Patrick Marriott, the one-star officer at Permanent Joint Headquarters in London responsible for operations. ‘Crack on and I’ll try and keep people off your back,’ Marriott said.6 Now, in Basra, an MI6 officer enters the headquarters. ‘You can’t go in,’ he says to Free. He is referring to the ‘accommodation’, the deal with the militia that has kept the British tied to the airport and out of the city, and which has, in many ways, precipitated this entire baleful situation. ‘That game is off,’ Free replies.

			The brigadier tells Lieutenant Colonel Gary Deakin, the commanding officer of the 1st Battalion of the newly-formed Duke of Lancaster’s super-regiment, to start preparing his men. 1 LANCS and 1 SCOTS, the first battalion of the also-newly-formed Royal Regiment of Scotland, are the most readily available British units; some present earlier in the tour have already departed theatre, slave to the overwhelming requirement from London to exhibit ever-decreasing troop numbers. Others are further away, down in the port at Umm Qasr.

			Meanwhile, Lloyd Austin flies back to Baghdad. But he is not the only American to visit Basra. The US needs to make this work, and suddenly, for the first time in this half-decade-long venture, Basra is the main focus of events in Iraq: the so-called ‘corps main effort’. More Americans arrive the following day, Friday 28 March. Major General George Flynn, Lloyd Austin’s deputy at Multi-National Corps — Iraq and a short, punchy New Yorker, flies to Basra. With Flynn are Colonel Chuck Otterstedt, a planning officer from the US 18th Airborne Division, an aide and Flynn’s field security detail. There are five Americans in this second southbound wave. In time, there will be upwards of 700 in Basra.7

			Flynn attends the morning orders group. The American sits in the seat of Barney White-Spunner.8 Free introduces him, then chairs the meeting. Exactly what Flynn says at this stage is disputed. ‘I’ve been sent here to ensure that overwatch does not fail again,’ is the version that Julian Free remembers, and which later finds its way into an official presentation on the event. ‘Overwatch is all about situational awareness, which you do not have.’9 Paul Harkness, then a lieutenant colonel on the British headquarters staff, remembers the atmospherics: ‘It was the moment of ultimate humiliation and embarrassment for those of us who were staff officers.’10

			Whatever George Flynn says on the first morning after he comes to rescue the British, less equivocal is the American graffiti penned onto the blue wall of a Basra portaloo that appears about this time, errant capitalisation and all.

			Q: How many Brits does it take to clear Basrah?

			A: NONE. THEY COULDN’T HOLD IT SO THEY SENT THE MARINES.

			TOP A THA MORNING CHAPS!11

			*

			This is a story about the nadir, the end of days. The fateful Monday at Basra Airport in March of 2008 is five years to the month after the British Army arrived in Iraq, preaching to the Americans their apparent expertise in counter-insurgency operations and understanding of the manifold ways of ‘the Arab’. This is the story of how that complacency finally comes home to roost: the ‘we-say-recce-you-say-recon’ hubris; the cant of ‘berets-not-helmets’, the claimed legacy of imperial policing, Londonderry and the Bogside and Northern Ireland, Northern Ireland, Northern Ireland and Greece-to-your-Rome and barely-disguised Anglo-American contempt.

			The British Army here commits that bafflingly common twenty-first-century failing: it despises, and exudes superiority towards, an exterior entity, then feels genuine surprise when that mean-spiritedness does not generate admiration and fellow feeling in return. And as the British Army in Basra is experiencing what some observers will later describe as the greatest British military disaster since Suez in 1956, or the fall of Singapore in 1942 — though others dispute the drama of those comparisons — the same institution is, on a wider level, starting to engage in a wholesale (and needed) programme of reform. In 2008, for the British Army, the paths of failure and improvement are crossing.

			*

			Following the Shia uprising of 2004, a period of relative calm fell on southern Iraq. The violence and casualties experienced by the Black Watch during the Dogwood deployment meant there was never again appetite to deploy regular British troops north in quantity, beyond the SAS squadron that operated in concert with American Special Forces in Baghdad, and a few other isolated detachments.12 On Operation Telic 5, between November 2004 and April 2005, no soldier was killed by hostile fire or IED in southern Iraq.13 However, the Iraqi parliamentary elections held in January 2005 saw a number of Shia parties and politicians, whose interests were fundamentally opposed to those of the British, inserted into positions of power on provincial councils in Basra and elsewhere. Democracy, the instrument the coalition sought to introduce, was in practice a problematic tool.

			Post-invasion British troop numbers peaked at this time. The seven battlegroups on the ground represented a more potent force than would be present later, as incessant force-level reviews, driven by the political need at home to indicate drawdown, began to bite. The main occupation in 2005 of these troops, a task concerning around 5,000 out of 8,000 soldiers on a daily basis, was ‘security sector reform’. British policy had pegged withdrawal to building up Iraqi security forces. But the Royal Military Police deaths in al-Majar al-Kabir in June 2003 made the British military acutely aware of the potential risks for small groups of troops operating in isolation with Iraqi forces.

			At the highest level, a decision was therefore made not to embed training teams. British troops and civilian advisors conducted training packages for Iraqi units, undertook visits, and sometimes conducted joint patrols. But they did not live with them, and rarely deployed out with them on high-risk operations. That had a vast effect on what they could deliver in terms of instruction, and also a grinding psychological impact: as the risk was not shared, bonds did not form. This decision would have enormous consequences, coming to a head in 2008.

			By 2005, while the south was much calmer than Baghdad and other American areas, there were indications that the British were less accepted than they liked to believe. An opinion poll in 2005 in Basra revealed that 48 per cent of the population wanted British troops to leave within six months. 67 per cent felt less safe when they saw British troops. However, the British, who had entered the war at the Americans’ shoulders, were tied to US withdrawal plans. By 2005, the Americans were facing a full-on insurgency in Baghdad and other central areas. While much more moderate, the violence the British experienced in Basra also saw increasing technical sophistication. In mid-2005, IED attacks featuring ‘explosively formed projectiles’ (EFP) proliferated: dishes of copper that, when struck by an explosive charge, formed a molten slug that could punch through vehicle armour. Meanwhile, passive infrared detection systems, triggered in situ by the heat of a vehicle engine passing over a sensor, do not rely on the mobile phone or other transmissions used to detonate bombs from a distance, and so were less easily interrupted by electronic counter-measures.

			The first confirmed use of an EFP was an attack on 29 May on a Land Rover patrol from the King’s Royal Hussars, near the Iranian border east of Maysan. The strike killed one soldier and injured two others. On 16 July, an EFP penetrated a Snatch, the form of armoured Land Rover developed for public-order work in Northern Ireland and now deployed in quantity to Iraq. Three soldiers died, and another two were seriously injured. Further EFP attacks followed on 30 July, on a Foreign Office vehicle operated by the private firm Control Risks, on 18 and 26 August, and on 5 and 11 September.

			In response, commanders restricted movement to armoured Warrior vehicles rather than the lightly-protected Snatches. The British brigade commander in Basra, Parachute Regiment officer Brigadier John Lorimer, also decided to take direct action. Exasperation with the Iraqi police, who were believed to have been infiltrated by the Jaysh al-Mahdi (JAM) militia, was widespread. However, the coalition government in Baghdad under Prime Minister Ibrahim al-Jaafari, dependent on Shia support, vetoed US and British arrest operations against Shia political figures and insurgent leaders. Among those on the no-arrest list by September 2005 was Ahmed Fartosi,14 the leader of JAM in Basra.

			In the 1990s, Fartosi had taken part in resistance to Saddam’s rule and spent time with Hizbollah in Lebanon. After the invasion in 2003, he became a pivotal figure in resistance against the British; in a 2008 interview in Lebanon with Hala Jaber of the Sunday Times, he said he used Google Earth to identify targets for rockets inside British bases and tracked the movement of specific regiments in and out of Basra.15 In September 2005, Fartosi lived openly in Basra, protected by his position on the no-arrest list. Brigadier John Lorimer, however, had authority to overrule the Baghdad government if he believed British lives were at risk. In September, when his superior Major General Jim Dutton was on holiday in the south of France, Lorimer ordered action against Fartosi. The operation took place on the night of 17 September, following a surveillance operation targeting Fartosi and other insurgent leaders, including Captain Jaffar, a police officer with notorious ties to the militia. Troops from the Coldstream Guards and the Royal Anglian Regiment provided a cordon, and a detachment of SAS troops raided Fartosi’s home. In author Tim Ripley’s account, ‘he was carried kicking and screaming from his home into the back of a Warrior, before being delivered to the Divisional Detention Facility at Shaibah Logistics Base’.16

			From his position of incarceration, Fartosi would eventually become another key figure in the endgame for the British in Basra. There was also, though, a more short-term reaction to his arrest. On 19 September, while trying to track Captain Jaffar in western Basra, two SAS soldiers were apprehended by Iraqi police, who surrounded their car, overpowered them, and took them to the Jameat police station, where they fell into the hands of a faction loyal to Shia supporters in Baghdad. They were beaten and filmed; the images were broadcast on Arabic television. British troops searched for the soldiers, eventually locating them at the Jameat. A standoff occurred; a British negotiating team entered while Warriors and infantry from the Staffords, the Coldstream Guards and the Royal Regiment of Wales cordoned the site.

			Crowds began to harass the British cordon. In a Staffords Warrior, driver Ryon Burton, a twenty-year-old private, heard the gunner say that his sights had been smashed.17 A petrol bomb followed, coming over Burton’s hatch. The platoon sergeant, 29-year-old George Long, shouted that the bomb had entered the turret. He was on fire, with flames on his back, down the back of his arms and on part of his face. A Reuters photographer took a series of shots as Long prepared to bail from the turret. One showed him standing up in the right-hand hatch, his back and helmet on fire, as flames engulfed the other side of the vehicle. Another, taken moments later, showed him airborne as he hurled himself from the turret.

			These images, and subsequent interviews with the soldiers, received massive media play. The image of a British soldier on fire during the riots revealed the emperor’s-new-clothes reality of British statements about the quiescence of Iraq’s second city. On that day, the British responded to Iraqi RPGs and petrol bombs with 127 live rounds. Eight Iraqis died; forty-three were wounded. Alongside the two badly-burned Staffords, seven other British troops were seriously injured. Seven Warriors were damaged, two beyond repair.

			At the airport, John Lorimer tried to persuade the Baghdad government to free the SAS men. There was mayhem in London in attempting to determine a response. In Baghdad, Lieutenant Colonel Richard Williams, chief of staff to Graham Binns at 7th Armoured Brigade before Chris Parker took that job, was now commanding officer of 22 SAS. He sent a squadron of his troops to Basra, to storm the police station; by the time they were ready, though, the hostages had been moved. A Sea King helicopter spotted the two soldiers being loaded into a car. Lorimer gave permission for Warriors from the Royal Regiment of Wales and Challenger tanks from the King’s Royal Hussars to storm the police station. The heavy armoured vehicles crushed through walls, driving over several British-supplied police cars. They found the SAS men’s weapons and equipment, but not the pair themselves. Meanwhile, elsewhere in Basra, the SAS squadron stormed the compound where the men were in fact being held, freeing them without firing a shot. Their captors had fled. It remains unclear whether Lorimer or PJHQ in London authorised the SAS raid.18

			There was outrage in Basra in response to the events. Governor Mohammed al-Waeli denounced the British as terrorists, demanded both Lorimer’s removal and that British troops stay out of the city, and ordered the police to stop cooperating with the British. The campaign of bomb and mortar attacks against British forces and vehicles stepped up, with apparent police complicity.

			The next brigade commander in was Brigadier Patrick Marriott.19 During his tour, Marriott organised extensive strike operations — raids designed to scoop up milita leadership — but the attacks continued. Large parts of Basra were inaccessible to British troops except during large-scale operations. A mortar barrage disrupted the British consul’s Christmas Eve party at Basra Palace. In January 2006, Governor Waeli temporary relaxed his policy of non-cooperation with the British in the run-up to the parliamentary elections scheduled for the 20th, but that move was temporary; the spring saw continued violence in the city.

			In May 2006, Major General Richard Shirreff, the commander of the 3rd (UK) Division, based at Bulford in Wiltshire, and the next two-star British officer to deploy to Basra, undertook his pre-deployment reconnaissance visit to Iraq.20 Shirreff was fifty years old, educated at Oundle and Oxford (where he had a university cadetship), and was also a cavalryman.21 He commanded his regiment in Northern Ireland in 1994–5 and was an ebullient, Lord-Flashheart type, who wore his heart on his sleeve. His chief of staff was James Cowan, who had commanded the Black Watch on Operation Bracken in 2004, and who by 2006 was a full colonel. Shirreff’s recce took place shortly after a British Lynx helicopter was shot down in Basra on 6 May. The crash proved a turning point, showing the militia the real vulnerability of the British position.

			Stuart Nicholson, a Fusilier major commanding a company in the 2nd Battalion of the Royal Anglian regiment in an exchange post, was in Basra at the time of the Lynx crash.22 His unit acted as the security sector reform battlegroup, formed on the previous Telic rotation out of 26 Regiment Royal Artillery. Pre-departure, the Royal Anglians’ view was that their tour was likely to be a dull one. That changed. Nicholson’s company was supposed to further the British exit strategy from the country by coaching, mentoring and training the Iraqi Army and police. Even at the start of the tour, when the situation was relatively calm, the mentoring was still gesture stuff; Nicholson’s entire company largely existed to deliver him to an Iraqi brigade headquarters a couple of times per week, where he chatted with commanders.

			On Saturday 6 May, just after midday, a missile shot down the Lynx as it lifted out of Basra Palace. In the Old State Building, just up the road from the palace, Major Dickie Head from B Company, 1st Battalion the Light Infantry, heard a huge bang, and crashed out the quick-reaction force. In his office at the palace, Stuart Nicholson looked out of the window: it was almost as though he could still see the remains of a missile contrail.23 The helicopter plunged down onto an empty building.24

			The scene at the crash site was chaotic. A mob surrounded the downed helicopter. Iraqis cheered in celebration. A sergeant from the PWRR, commanding a unit from 2 Royal Anglian, tried to secure the location; they needed a cordon to recover the bodies of the five Brits who were on board. When Dickie Head arrived around fifteen minutes after the crash, he found pandemonium. The crowd of cheering Iraqis turned into a rioting mob.25 The British troops faced bricks and petrol bombs; they responded with rubber bullets. As events escalated, they used live rounds. Iraqis fired RPGs and blast bombs. A video shot that day on a mobile phone shows a young man making petrol bombs and handing them out to younger children. ‘After an hour, it was very, very bad, and it got worse,’ Major Head later told the BBC. ‘I could smell burning kerosene in the house — it was dripping down from floor to floor — and the crowds were growing.’ Outside, the quick-reaction force tried to keep the crowds at bay while the bodies were retrieved. Two Warriors were set on fire. Five Iraqi civilians, including two children, died in the fighting.26

			That night, Stuart Nicholson was sent up to the cordon at the crash site with one of his platoons. His stated role was to co-ordinate Iraqi forces’ support to the cordon, but the only communication he had with them was via mobile phone, and the crash site sat in a bubble of interference created by electronic counter-measures designed to interrupt IEDs. Nicholson also had no interpreter.27 The situation at the crash site was still wild. The baseline formed up by British troops had been mortared; they were shot at. There were around four or five British infantry companies holding the ground by this point, as the body recovery went on; in the end, that process would take three days.

			The atmosphere had changed too. ‘That first day, you saw real venom,’ Nicholson says. Moreover, in this riot the Iraqis did not adhere to the rules that the British Army and the population of Northern Ireland had worked out over many years of fracas, the choreography of disorder that kept violence within predetermined levels. Here, when the British troops formed a baseline with shields, the locals shot at them. That was not in the Belfast playbook. ‘Fucking hell, fellows, you’ve not done the course!’ Nicholson thought. ‘You don’t do that.’

			It seemed to Major General Richard Shirreff that the militia had the upper hand. There were thousands of British troops in Iraq; Basra was a city of around 1.6 million. Yet, once all the self-sustaining tasks of force protection, administration and logistics were accounted for, Shirreff worked out that the maximum number of troops that could be deployed on the ground at any one stage was a mere two platoons: around sixty men. Due to the parlous security situation, any movement around the city was an operation in its own right. Major General John Cooper, the incumbent whom Shirreff would take over from, had mostly discontinued strike operations.

			In theory, there were two British battalions in the city, 1st Light Infantry in north Basra and 2nd Royal Anglian at the palace. In theory, too, the British were pushing on towards a moment when ‘Provincial Iraqi Control’, or PIC — their ticket for departure — could be declared. Yet to Shirreff, the British were clearly hunkering down: ‘There was some quite hard fighting, but, to be honest, it was all about getting out of trouble, rather than getting stuck in … I remember being struck by the fact that an awful lot of the citations for gallantry awards coming through were all about rescuing people rather than taking the fight to the enemy.’

			Shirreff went to Camp Abu Naji, the British base outside al-Amarah in Maysan Province. Abu Naji was a major battlegroup camp, but in Shirreff’s view, it was achieving nothing beyond tying down — or ‘fixing’, in military parlance — the Queen’s Royal Hussars, the unit there. Every time they tried to do anything in al-Amarah, a major battle took place. The camp itself was heavily mortared, by devices with a calibre of up to 240mm. There was rocket fire as well. Resupplying the camp was a significant undertaking: for Shirreff, the whole set-up resembled a ‘tethered goat’ — it kept British forces exposed, in one place, and vulnerable.

			Continuing his recce, Shirreff flew in a Merlin helicopter to Baghdad to see Lieutenant General Peter Chiarelli, then commander of Multi-National Corps — Iraq. On the flight Shirreff talked to the RAF pilots on the intercom: they too said the British were going nowhere. In Baghdad, Shirreff visited Task Force Black, the SAS operation in Baghdad.28 The SAS had laid on a formal briefing at their villa in the Green Zone, as Major General Peter Wall, the deputy chief of joint operations at PJHQ, was also visiting. In the villa’s garden, a couple of men emerged from under a tree. They proceeded to tell Shirreff what they thought of the British effort in Basra and the reputation of the British with the Americans. ‘The Brits are defeated,’ they said. ‘The Brits are not prepared to take the fight to the enemy.’ For Shirreff, this was not the army he joined or was proud of. In particular, the SAS soldiers mentioned an American CIA operation in Basra that had misfired. Instead of helping out, a British patrol bugged out, leaving Americans in the lurch.

			Shirreff was conscious of all that had gone on before: the smug complacency of the British vis-à-vis the Americans in 2003 and 2004. If the British were to implement PIC properly in the south, and exit with honour intact, they needed, he believed, to mount a major operation. He envisaged a facsimile of Operation Motorman, the huge undertaking in July 1972 when the British Army took back so-called ‘no-go areas’ in Londonderry, Belfast and elsewhere in Northern Ireland.29 In particular, Shirreff believed the Jameat police station situation exemplified the extent to which the British had completely lost Basra. The Jameat had become a centre of militia torture and repression, and symbolised coalition impotence.

			On the night of his return to England from his recce, Shirreff was invited to dinner by General Richard Dannatt, then commander-in-chief land forces, but in August due to supersede General Mike Jackson as chief of the general staff. Jackson was at the dinner in Wiltshire too.

			‘How is it?’ Jackson asked Shirreff, referring to Iraq.

			‘We’ve got to do something,’ Shirreff replies. ‘It’s shit. And we’ve got to mount a major operation.’30

			As the preparation for his deployment continued, the general shopped his proposal to mount a Motorman-style operation in Basra around Whitehall. He sensed little in the way of a strategy, and much in the way of confusion. Iraq was by now quite poisonous in British domestic politics.31 There was limited desire for further engagement of any sort. As 3 PARA began their wild summer in Afghanistan, it would soon be clear that Helmand Province had appetite to swallow many more British troops.

			At PJHQ in Northwood, Shirreff saw Lieutenant General Nick Houghton, another Oxford graduate, and newly in post as chief of joint operations. CJO Northwood was the individual to whom all British field commanders reported, and the man who supposedly directed their activities. ‘We’re going to need to mount a major operation because we’re on the back foot,’ Shirreff said. ‘I do not want to see a display of military testosterone on the streets of Basra,’ Houghton replied.32

			In London, the need to support the Americans was understood, but there was also an overwhelming sense of the requirement for a prompt exit. ‘That had coloured the British perception really from the start, in retrospect going back right to the end of combat operations in 2003,’ Shirreff believes. ‘From then on there was a sort of assumption that south-east Iraq was going to become very quickly a post-IFOR Bosnia.’33

			In Bulford, Shirreff, Cowan and their headquarters staff conducted an estimate. The general briefed his sub-unit commanders. The operation was to be called ‘Salamanca’.34 All the commanding officers and key staff from 19th Light Brigade, which was to provide the majority of troops for Salamanca, came to Bulford for a study week. Among them was Justin Maciejewski, in 2003 on the planning staff at 1 Div. Maciejewski was now a lieutenant colonel and commanding officer of the 1st Battalion of the Royal Green Jackets, due to deploy to Iraq in late 2006. After Shirreff spoke, Maciejewski’s notes read as follows: ‘The time has come to take the offensive against the enemy and challenge the defeatists who seem to pervade Whitehall and much of Northwood. The British Army was not going to lose its name in Iraq.’35

			Shirreff returned to Basra in July, and concluded that things had not changed. ‘The issue in Basra is the lack of security and until we establish this there can be no PIC,’ he wrote in his first weekly report back to London on 21 July, referring to Provincial Iraqi Control. ‘We can only generate freedom of movement by mounting specific operations, often up to company level, and we are effectively fixed by the lack of concentrated force.’36

			Shirreff pushed to have himself appointed as head of a fully-combined military and political operation. He referred to this as the ‘Templer model’, after Gerald Templer who, during the Malaya Emergency in the 1950s, served as both general officer commanding and high commissioner. DfID and the Foreign Office, fearing encroachment, refused that proposal. Instead, Shirreff had to co-lead with Rosalind Marsden, the British consul general in Basra, who was based with the beleaguered battlegroup at the palace.37

			Undaunted, Shirreff got to work, restarting strike operations. His predecessor had also stopped any tank movement, regarding it as provocative. Shirreff reversed that policy. The granular process of planning Operation Salamanca began. Nouri al-Maliki, newly installed as prime minister of Iraq, had established an entity called the Basra Security Committee, but Maliki’s attitude to the militia presence in the city was, in Shirreff’s view, ‘slightly schizophrenic’. Maliki needed both Shia support from Basra and political support from Muqtada al-Sadr. The JAM militia was the military wing of al-Sadr’s organisation. Shirreff believed Maliki did not really want JAM dealt with, but wanted it to look as though he was dealing with it.

			The pushback from London was significant: a major operation was not part of their script, and the aim should have been to reduce troop numbers as fast as possible. In teleconferences with Northwood, Shirreff had confrontational encounters with Major General Peter Wall, Houghton’s deputy. The fact that he knew both men reasonably well did not ease matters.38 After Wall39 flew out over a weekend to see the situation for himself, he became broadly supportive; it was still clear, though, that Shirreff would not get what he wanted in terms of resources. Instead, he generated whatever additional force he could in theatre. He decided to close Camp Abu Naji, and instead have a mobile cavalry battlegroup living in the desert to provide a screen to halt or reduce the flow of so-called ‘lethal aid’ — weapons and bomb parts — that were coming across the border from Iran. This move generated an additional armoured infantry battlegroup for Salamanca, and allowed him to get the Warriors and tanks back from al-Amarah. When Camp Abu Naji closed down in late August, it was immediately looted. Thousands of Iraqis carried out ‘everything from doors and window frames to corrugated roofing and metal pipes’, according to a Telegraph report.40

			The Salamanca concept was for so-called ‘Pulse Operations’. Basra was divided up using natural council or administrative boundaries, the intention being to surge in with coalition forces to establish security, then conduct ‘short-term immediate-impact projects’, such as levelling football pitches, as well as commencing medium- and longer-term projects like the establishment of water and electricity supply across the city. After one neighbourhood, they were to move to the next, the next pulse. This is the aspect that was to doom Salamanca to failure: even with the reinforcements, there were insufficient troops to secure areas once they had ‘pulsed’ into them.

			Even beforehand, the auguries were not good. One Iraqi battalion from Maysan province mutinied spectacularly when they were ordered to Baghdad to join an American operation. The name ‘Salamanca’ did not survive either: the Basra Security Committee suggested instead that they should call the operation ‘Sinbad’, given that Sinbad allegedly left for his voyages from the port of Basra. ‘Sinbad’ was a problematic name from the pun perspective — later, back at Northwood, rumour had it that Lieutenant General Houghton was to be overheard in a corridor referring to the operation as ‘Spinbad’; that term was widely taken up.41

			Shirreff talked to the other agencies required for the more ambitious plans. Royal Engineers could refurbish schools or level football pitches, but could not do last-mile distribution of electricity or other complex infrastructure tasks. The flagship project was to be the rehabilitation of date-palm farming in south-east Iraq; that depended on the civilian-led Provincial Reconstruction Team. Shirreff also needed authority from the other coalition nations providing troops. Finally, and posing the most significant challenge, Shirreff needed the authority of Iraqi Prime Minister Maliki, which required a trip to Baghdad with the Basra Security Committee. He got these men to the airport in Basra where he had procured a BAe 146, a small jet operated by the RAF. It was August; the temperature was pushing 45C. At the last minute, the Basra Security Committee refused to get on the plane. The standoff lasted for two hours. Shirreff phoned Baghdad; Chiarelli phoned his boss, General George Casey, the overall US commander in Iraq; Casey phoned Maliki. Finally, they took off.

			Maliki would not at first let the operation go ahead, so they recast it as a ‘reconstruction operation supported by security’. With this limited political support, as well as the restrictions on resources, there was now no way that Sinbad could resemble a Mesopotamian Motorman. Shirreff, however, felt it was still possible to achieve a result, even if they had to compromise. Sinbad went ahead.

			*

			At ground level, the operation proved a farce: in Stuart Nicholson’s words, ‘absolute bollocks’. Earlier in the summer, Nicholson’s Royal Anglian company had conducted a strike operation, in the process of which they discovered the biggest-ever weapons haul in Basra. That operation entailed an hour-and-a-half-long fighting withdrawal, and afterwards General Shirreff came to talk to them. ‘We discovered there this wasn’t OPTAG,’ Nicholson explained to the general, referring to the Operational Training and Advisory Group that had prepared the troops for Iraq. ‘This was Brecon.’ Brecon is the Infantry Battle School, which teaches conventional combat. At the time, Shirreff suggested that ‘the next time’, they would have no end of additional resources, including American Spectre gunships. Nicholson suspected that by ‘next time’ Shirreff was referring to Salamanca/Sinbad, for which planning was already in progress. But when the operation actually took place, things were very different.42

			Though they were still inadequate, troop numbers for the operation did seem lavish compared to the levels Nicholson had seen previously. Companies arrived from all over theatre. The first ‘pulse’ was into the al-Ashar area, just out of the front gate of Basra Palace. Nicholson’s infantry company’s task was to escort engineers ‘who were going to go and do nice things’. They took the Royal Engineers to a school, where they were due to meet with Iraqi engineers. The headteacher said the school was full of children and did not need painting. When they insisted, he pointed to a small area that they could paint, and said they could do the rest when the pupils had left. The British also presented the headteacher with a photocopier. ‘I don’t want a photocopier,’ he said. ‘Well, it’s yours,’ Nicholson replied. ‘Well, put it in that room with the last photocopier you gave me.’ The Iraqi engineers sat smoking and flicking paint at each other. The British sappers had to clear up after them. The effect was like a married quarter back in the UK.

			They next day, they were due to visit a hospital just opposite the front gate of Basra Palace, again to ‘go and do nice things’. Shortly before their departure, someone realised the hospital served as the casualty reception centre for JAM, and was full of people the British had shot. Going there was deemed to be a ‘a bit tricky’. The infantry motored around, again accompanying Royal Engineers. The sappers filled potholes on the roads. On a piece of wasteland, they put up goalposts with nets. The next day, JAM dug up the potholes. Someone stole the nets, probably for fishing. The man who owned the land where the new goalposts were complained about the British use of his property. ‘It was absolutely fucking ridiculous,’ Nicholson says.43

			The most depressing element of Sinbad for Nicholson, though, was not the pantomime activities out on the ground. Rather, it was at the end of each day, when all the company commanders were called into a briefing room at Basra Palace to get a ‘back brief’ on what had happened more widely. Nicholson heard it reported that his company — which had spent the day filling in potholes and putting up goalposts — had indeed conducted the original plan at the hospital. He realised that, rather than telling the troops what other units had really done, the chain of command was simply reporting their ‘sync matrix’, the plan for what was meant to take place. ‘The feeling was, all the way though, this was a bit cake and arse,’ says Nicholson.44

			Their next Sinbad tasking was to go to an area called al-Qibla; unlike the previous destination, this was a dangerous area to the west. The Royal Anglian soldiers were not keen. (One other officer who served on Sinbad did recall engineers in al-Qibla literally painting a school while being shot at.) The pulse was meant to be the next day. When they were told it had been delayed, one of Nicholson’s platoon commanders expostulated, ‘Oh thank fuck, there is a god.’

			The plan involved sending psychological operations teams in to assess local mood. The psy-ops team could not even enter al-Qibla; they were shot at and had to retreat. Yet here too, the system’s ability to generate fiction continued. ‘What came back from brigade was, “it had not yet been confirmed what the attitude to the British Army was in al-Qibla,”’ Nicholson recalls. ‘At every step up, an additional layer of wishful thinking … as if, if everyone really willed it, it would be okay.’

			Shirreff wanted his army to regain the aggressive spark he thought it had lost.45 But his grand operation, hampered from the start by lack of political will in London and Baghdad and insufficient resources in Basra, misfired. Sinbad became Spinbad. The reconstruction operations cost $80 million, born almost exclusively by the Americans out of their Commander’s Emergency Response Programme. One senior American commander said to Shirreff, ‘It’s all very well, you’re waltzing around Basra spending my money; when are you going to take action against the militia?’ Basra Palace was still being rocketed on a regular basis, and the Americans’ small diplomatic presence there meant that news was known to US commanders. When 19th Light Brigade arrived in November 2006, they took six killed in action in their first three weeks.46

			Despite the failure of Sinbad, as he approached the end of his tour Shirreff saw a way to at least appear to be taking back the initiative. He decided to take down the Jameat, the nexus of police and militia collusion, and home of the Serious Crime Unit (or SCU — wags claimed their name stemmed from this police outfit’s responsibility for committing ‘the particularly serious crimes’). On 22 December, the head of the SCU was arrested. Shirreff planned the main action for Christmas morning, to maximise press exposure. As well as an army Combat Camera team, there was a BBC crew in Basra led by Kate Silverton, filming a documentary. Shirreff saw an opportunity.

			Two weeks earlier, a patrol from the Staffords regiment had made a mentoring visit to the Jameat, allowing them to plan the raid. On the 25th itself, in an operation called ‘Thyme’, C Company of the Staffords led a convoy of nineteen Warriors towards the station in daylight, attracting small-arms and RPG fire. At the station, a watchtower opened fire — a Warrior returned it. A Royal Engineers armoured bulldozer smashed through the compound wall. Inside, the SCU had fled, leaving warm meals on tables. A search found a cache of forty-nine AK-47s and sniper rifles, nineteen grenades, seven 122mm shells and other IED components, four RPGs, body armour, drugs and a container of whisky. Material removed from the site filled two shipping containers, and 178 prisoners were recovered from ‘medieval conditions’.47 The Royal Engineers planted charges throughout the building and blew the roof high in the air.

			For Shirreff, the operation ‘sent a powerful message out about the Jameat being taken down’.48 This is questionable. Neither the Jameat raid, nor Sinbad, nor Operation Telic 8 in general, Shirreff’s tour in charge, changed the fundamentals in southern Iraq; to the local population, and the militia, the British appeared weak. General Shirreff had failed — although given the hand he had been dealt, failure may have been inevitable.49 Pete Mansoor, an American colonel who later served as executive officer to General David Petraeus, is blunter:

			Predictably, the ‘clear and leave’ operations did not achieve enduring security gains, as the Iraqi security forces to which the British quickly transferred control of cleared areas proved unable to keep them clear. As a result, Operation Sinbad was an exercise in futility, and Sadrist militiamen soon regained control of their safe havens in Basra.50

			Yet as far as the end of 2006, a half-cocked operation did not seem a disaster, at least from the perspective of coalition relations. In November, the Republicans took a righteous thumping in the US mid-term elections. Democrats took the House, Senate and a majority of governorships and legislatures at state level. The festering issue of Iraq was a major cause. By the end of 2006, US military deaths had surpassed 3,000.51 October 2006 was the deadliest month for US forces since January 2005, with 102 killed. Bush’s rump administration was left clinging on in the White House alone.

			The Iraq Study Group, a body of eminences grises commissioned to investigate the war, officially published its much-leaked report, subtitled ‘The Way Forward — A New Approach’, on 6 December. ‘By the first quarter of 2008, subject to unexpected developments in the security situation on the ground, all combat brigades not necessary for force protection could be out of Iraq,’ the report suggested.52 Three years after its arrival, the west, it seemed, was on its way out of Mesopotamia. For the British in the early autumn — indeed as far as Christmas 2006 — Operation Spinbad was therefore the kind of window dressing that fitted the wider situation. But that wider environment was about to change.




			Chapter 12

			Accommodation

			Richard Shirreff’s replacement on the next six-month tour rotation was Major General Jonathan Shaw. Shaw attended Sedbergh School, and then like Shirreff, who is two years older than him, went to Oxford.1 Shaw did not know Shirreff at university; he also did not look as if he was joining the army. He had a beard and long hair — in his own words, ‘like an IRA hunger protestor’. After graduation, Shaw started an accountancy job, but was bored within six weeks. He walked into the recruiting office in Great Scotland Yard and joined the army ‘for a laugh’.

			After Sandhurst, Shaw arrived in 3 PARA — the same ‘Gungy 3’ that would go to Afghanistan in 2006 — and a year later deployed with them to the Falklands. He fought at Mount Longdon, where his platoon alone took five dead and eight injured. Later, he passed Special Forces selection. As a troop leader at Hereford, he served in the same SAS squadron as the man who would later become ‘Andy McNab’; their squadron commander was Graeme Lamb. In the late 1990s, he commanded the 2nd Battalion of the Parachute Regiment as a lieutenant colonel. In 2003 he became Director Special Forces, and in that capacity was involved in the restructuring of the infantry, during which 1 PARA was recast as the Special Forces Support Group. Everything fitted together.2

			As a brigadier, Shaw’s tenure as DSF ran until the end of 2005. He spent 2006 at the Royal College of Defence Studies.3 It became clear in the summer of 2006 that he would deploy to Iraq in January of the following year, as Shirreff’s successor as the Basra major general. Shaw spent the autumn forming his headquarters, a new ad hoc unit. He invited in Charles Tripp, an academic from SOAS, to brief them, along with Mark Allen, a former MI6 officer with extensive experience in the Middle East.4

			Shaw was conscious of the convoluted command arrangements he was to face. At one stage in the autumn, having returned from a recce in Iraq, he went to the MoD and spoke to Chris Hughes, a brigadier responsible for overseas operations. ‘Go on, tell me who’s in charge here?’ Shaw said. ‘Because I’m getting input from here, input from there — who am I getting my orders from?’ ‘That’s why we appoint you and pay you so much money,’ Hughes replied. ‘To harmonise this lot and come up with a plan.’5

			In November 2006, Shaw called up Nigel Sheinwald, a career diplomat and Tony Blair’s foreign policy advisor, and asked if he could come and see him at Number 10. Shaw’s earlier tenure as Director Special Forces meant he knew Sheinwald; that job had placed him, as a relatively junior brigadier, in contact with numerous senior Whitehall figures. Shaw knew too that by this stage ‘everybody, the institution of Whitehall, had decided that Britain had had enough of Iraq’. At the same time, the ramp-up of the Afghanistan commitment meant extraction from the former theatre was an increasing imperative. Sheinwald made Shaw’s task very clear: his job was to get Britain out of Iraq.6, 7

			Following that directive, Shaw was to take a drastically different approach to that of Richard Shirreff in Basra. The two men’s distinct characters had a role here — but so did the system. The rotation of the entire command structure in theatre every six months — unlike Northern Ireland, where the headquarters at Lisburn was permanent — was to permit this rapid change of direction, and enable the madness that followed. Still, as Shaw left the meeting, Sheinwald’s directive appeared to dovetail with the wider world. Regardless of the rights or wrongs of getting out, the US seemed to be taking a similar approach. Three years after the invasion, the time had come to cut and run.8

			Over Christmas, Shaw went skiing. When he returned to London in early January, he found a different world. Over the holidays, George Bush had chosen to disregard the Iraq Study Group report. He had been briefed on another option involving a ‘Surge’ of additional troops — a promise that the conflict could still be won. There would now be no rapid American drawdown in 2007. Instead, the US was to commit up to five additional brigade combat teams — around 21,500 fighting troops.9 With their ‘enablers’ — personnel for helicopters, medevac, logistics, intelligence and other such roles — the total Surge commitment would reach about 30,000 troops.10, 11

			The US created a new Baghdad Security Plan. In Arabic, they called it Operation Fardh al-Qanoon, or ‘enforcing the law’. Rather than retreating to large bases, American soldiers were to go out and live among the people in small combat outposts. In January, General David Petraeus was announced as the replacement for General George Casey as commander of Multi-National Force — Iraq. During the initial invasion of Iraq in 2003, Petraeus commanded the 101st Airborne Division and administered Mosul with relative success. Later, at Fort Leavenworth in Kansas, he led a team that revised the American counter-insurgency doctrine. The result of their work, ‘FM 3–24 Counter-insurgency’, was published in December 2006. The manual referred to unsuccessful practices such as an emphasis on killing and capturing the enemy rather than making life safe for the local population, conducting large-scale operations as the norm and concentrating military forces in large bases for protection. As CNN National Security analyst Peter Bergen later pointed out, ‘this was, in fact, a good description of what the US military had been doing in Iraq for the past three years of the conflict and an explanation of why it was now losing the war.’12

			In the dark first days of a London January, Jonathan Shaw met Jock Stirrup, the air chief marshal who during the previous year had taken charge as chief of the defence staff, the professional head of UK armed forces and the prime minister’s chief military advisor, at the MoD’s main building. Stirrup came up as a fast jet pilot and flew combat missions in Oman in the Dhofar War of the 1970s, but had limited familiarity with ground operations.

			‘Things seem to have changed,’ Shaw said.

			‘Nothing has changed.’

			‘The Americans are surging?’

			‘What the Americans do is of no consequence to us. We’re going to continue on our plan.’

			‘Well, what will the Americans think?’

			‘I’ve spoken to Casey and Casey is very happy with British withdrawal plans.’13, 14

			Shaw arrived in Basra on Sunday 14 January 2007, taking a piano with him for relaxation on the tour. His first task was to fly up to Baghdad to see General Casey. He was confident, following the interview with Stirrup in London.

			‘I am told by CDS that you are happy with our plans,’ Shaw said to Casey.

			‘I am not happy with your plans,’ Casey boomed back. ‘And I am looking forward to hearing you explain your plans to the new Secdef, who is in Basra on Friday.’ ‘Secdef’ was Bob Gates, the freshly-installed US secretary of defence. Shaw, who had met Casey before on a recce and liked him, was grateful for the American general’s honesty. He was still sanguine, now he believed that his ‘top cover’ would be that Tony Blair would have spoken to Gates in London on the Sunday night or the Monday, and squared matters before the Basra encounter. His orders from London were to ‘work within American tolerances’, get force levels down according to a predetermined schedule, and finally, get out of all the bases in the city.15

			That Friday, 19 January 2007, in his headquarters at the airport in Basra, Shaw presented to Casey and Gates and their staff, and explained why the British were leaving. The rationalisation he gave for handing over to the Iraqis was, in Shaw’s view, the same one that the Americans had delivered before they started to surge. Shaw explained that he had to begin reducing numbers in advance of the deployment of 1st Mechanised Brigade later in the year, in order to furnish enough troops for the expanding Afghanistan commitment. The situation in Basra, he believed, was more akin to Palermo than Beirut — organised crime rather than the al-Qaeda-inspired violence in Iraq’s central belt.16 His second tenet was that, with 90 per cent of the violence directed towards the British, the UK was the problem, not the solution.

			The Americans were profoundly unimpressed. They had stopped believing the optimistic reporting on the state of play in Basra sent north by British headquarters. The British Embassy noted significant concerns within the US system that lawlessness was rife in Basra, and that the UK military were doing little to confront it. The diplomats added that the US was particularly concerned about the need to counter Iranian influence and militia control, and feared that an early UK drawdown would leave a security vacuum. In reality,17 the British bases at the airport and in the city were continuing to face near-constant mortar and rocket attacks. In time, there would be a plan, termed Operation Stonehenge, to construct individual reinforced sleeping spaces, but these shelters were not yet built. At the airport, the troops slept in naked Corimec shelters, with little blast resistance. The resupply runs into town had become vast gauntlet-style operations. Over Shaw’s tour, the British brigade would see forty-one troops killed, more than in any single similar time period since the invasion. Within the first month, Shaw had two staff from his headquarters ‘committed to a lunatic asylum’ — driven mad by the shelling. Graeme Lamb was now a lieutenant general and the senior British military representative in Iraq. In his weekly report on 21 January, Lamb observed, ‘… the situation we find ourselves in [in] Iraq is perhaps the most complex that I have ever seen in my thirty-five years of soldiering’. In London on 26 January, Simon McDonald, the director for Iraq at the Foreign Office, received a paper on the situation on the ground in Basra, copied to other government departments, including 10 Downing Street. ‘By nearly every measure, security in Basra has deteriorated in the past year,’ it read.18

			It was, in simple terms, a mess. In London, though, there was about to be a slight change of tack. On 5 February, David Petraeus flew out of Kansas City International Airport bound for London. On board the Gulfstream jet, his executive officer Pete Mansoor told his boss, ‘The hardest thing for you to do, should it come to it, would be to tell the president and the American people that this thing isn’t going to work.’19 In London, Petraeus met Tony Blair and Jock Stirrup,20 and told them of the intent of the Surge — to secure the Iraqi population. Blair asked Petraeus if there was anything he needed; Petraeus said the British could not draw down while the US was building up. ‘I’m just a soldier here, but your counterpart in the US is going all-in on the Surge,’ the American general said. ‘The sheer political optics of this would be disastrous’ if the British were to pull out now. According to Petraeus, Blair replied, ‘OK, got it.’ Blair also acceded to Petraeus’ request to extend Graeme Lamb’s tour, as senior British representative in Iraq. The American general had done well out of Blair. But in February 2007, Blair’s tenure as prime minster had not long to run.

			*

			Meanwhile, in Basra, Jonathan Shaw met Rosalind Marsden, the Foreign Office’s consul-general.

			‘What’s the political plan?’ Shaw asked.

			‘We don’t have a plan,’ Marsden replied.

			Shaw told Marsden that, unlike Shirreff, who had entered into a power struggle with the diplomat over his proposed ‘Templer model’, he did not believe in army primacy now.

			‘All the intelligence assets work for you,’ said Marsden. ‘I have no knowledge of what’s going on on the ground at all.’21

			Shaw contacted the head of the MI6 detachment attached to the division. ‘All I’m doing now is force protection,’ the station chief said. The British bases were being bombed — they were trying to stop the teams responsible for the mortar and rocket fire, to find the people trying to kill British troops. ‘Take people off that and find me someone to talk to in these terrorist organisations,’ Shaw said. ‘Who are the ones we’ve got to kill? Who are the ones we can actually do deals with?’

			The interlocutor the British found was Ahmed Fartosi, the JAM leader arrested in September 2005.22 By the beginning of 2007, Fartosi had been in British custody for sixteen months. Before Shaw arrived in January, Fartosi had already taken part in some negotiations.23 However, the talks moved to another level under the new major general. On 27 February, Graeme Lamb was briefed that the main effort of the talks was ‘to bring a limited number of high quality interlocutors to the table’, including Fartosi.24 Lamb was happy for the plan to proceed, and negotiations in earnest began in March. Throughout the spring, Shaw met repeatedly with Fartosi; the Iraqi spoke some English, but they also used translators. Other M16 operatives attended, and sometimes held their own meetings with Fartosi. Still, four years after the invasion, the whole matter of the British in Iraq had effectively narrowed to two men, one British, one Iraqi, sitting opposite each other in a military prison.25

			Shaw asked Fartosi what his objectives were for Basra. ‘It turned out his goals were exactly the same as ours: education for his kids, prosperity, and Iran not running it,’ Shaw says. The deal they cut was to be an exchange of prisoners held by the British for an end to the attacks on British bases. Above all, the British needed mortar fire on the bases to stop and the ambushes on the resupply convoys to Basra Palace to cease, to allow them to get out without appearing to be bombed out. The talks were highly secret initially. Negotiation was ongoing elsewhere in Iraq, too; in Baghdad, Graeme Lamb was expanding an ‘engagement’ team to push for reconciliation in Anbar Province, and meeting with support for that venture from David Petraeus.26

			On 10 May Tony Blair announced, first to Cabinet and subsequently to party members in his Sedgefield constituency, that he was standing down as leader of the Labour Party. He would resign as prime minister on 27 June. In Basra, the IDF attacks on the bases continued. In his weekly report on 17 May, Shaw reported the ‘grinding effect on morale’. The greatest risk, he thought, was that the contractors the army needed for ‘critical life support’ might elect to remove their personnel.27

			If talks with Fartosi were to continue, the British needed to establish whether the militia leader really did exercise the control over JAM that he claimed. Here, Shaw needed higher-level sign-off. On 13 June Simon McDonald received a missive seeking ‘policy guidance’ on contact with JAM.28 The letter explained that, with Jonathan Shaw’s agreement, there had been ‘exploratory talks’ for ‘some weeks’ with Fartosi in Basra. It stated that Fartosi had remained an influential figure in JAM in Basra and beyond, and had continued to communicate with the militia whilst in detention. Additionally, it claimed that during a series of interviews, Fartosi had expressed concern about growing Iranian influence over JAM. McDonald was told, ‘We assess that he is telling the truth in this respect,’ and that Fartosi was ready to work to reduce JAM attacks on coalition forces, focusing initially on indirect fire. McDonald was also told the price Fartosi wanted in return: a suspension of strike operations and the release of JAM detainees held by the British.29

			A trial two-day ceasefire was proposed for mid-June, in exchange for two prisoner releases.30 Fortunately for the British, two of the detainees requested by Fartosi were likely to be released anyway; if all went well, that could be presented to the Iraqi as a sign of coalition good faith.31 The trial, scheduled for 15 and 16 June, was a success. Between 11 and 14 June, there were indirect fire attacks every day against Basra Palace and Basra airport; on the 15th and 16th, there were no attacks at all. On Sunday 17th, there was only one attack, at 10.45 p.m. (albeit causing casualties). Attacks on the resupply convoy from the airport were also markedly down. From the 18th, attacks resumed. ‘So you really do have the wasta,’ thought Shaw, an Arabic term meaning ‘clout’.

			Reaction in London was mixed. Nick Houghton was supportive. McDonald at the Foreign Office was in favour, ‘but would like to have been informed at an earlier stage’. Margaret Aldred at the Cabinet Office wanted a meeting before further prisoners were released. Nigel Sheinwald at Number 10 had no objections, but wanted a submission on ‘where we have got to so we can get ministerial top cover’.32 This was partly about Basra, and partly about Baghdad and the Americans. But it was equally about what was going on in Britain. By the end of Jonathan Shaw’s tour in August, the British had taken their forty-one dead in 2007. More than 400 were injured too, around half of them seriously enough that they would not return to service.33 Highly restrictive media policies meant that much of the fighting in Iraq went unreported, but the army could not hide deaths. Through the year, the British tabloid press screamed about the violence, and the need to ‘bring our boys home’. In June, as Blair stepped down after a decade in Downing Street, a two-part Channel 4 Documentary claimed that the prime minister ‘agreed to commit British troops to battle in Iraq in the full knowledge that Washington had failed to make adequate preparations for the post-war reconstruction of the country’.34

			For Julian Free, who as the brigadier in Basra would have to clear up the results of the deal-making during the following year, what happened during the summer of 2007 was a result of a fundamental change of power calculus for Britain. As blood was shed in quantity in Basra in early 2007, and criticism of the government mounted at home, the deaths of British soldiers became an existential threat to the Blair government. ‘Prior to that summer I’d say that the relationship with the US was paramount … you asked us to do it, we jump,’ Free recalled. ‘During the summer that changed, because what happened was, the threat to the government of that relationship was they were going to be out of government.’

			On 20 June, two foreign office officials — Simon McDonald, and David Richmond, director general for defence and intelligence — received additional advice from intelligence officers.35 Following the trial ceasefire, the spooks now sought authority to attempt wider ceasefire negotiations with ‘key elements of JAM in Basra’. The deal was to be co-ordinated with Shaw and the consul-general in Basra, and approval was required urgently to maintain momentum. The letter described a meeting with Fartosi on 18 June, leading to an ‘outline plan to build confidence on both sides’. This plan involved the release of two further named prisoners, classified ‘orange’ (meaning ‘of some risk to the coalition if released’). The release was to happen at the end of the trial ceasefire, as a proof of coalition good faith. The letter also proposed a new month-long JAM ceasefire in Basra province, ‘matched by a continued suspension of strike operations by the coalition’.36 Depending on the effectiveness of the month-long ceasefire, the British would consider the release of two further prisoners; these were higher-level characters, classified ‘red’. Should the deal work, there was the possibility of an indefinite ceasefire, in exchange for which Fartosi was likely to demand additional releases. If London approved, Graeme Lamb would brief David Petraeus, and either Dr Mowafaq al-Rubaie, the Iraqi national security advisor, or Prime Minister Maliki himself.37

			At the Foreign Office on 21 June, Simon McDonald annotated the document, saying he supported the recommendations on the basis that only two ‘orange’ prisoners would be released initially, with further releases being decided against the effectiveness of the ceasefire. He added that the US and Iraqi governments should be briefed soon. McDonald’s colleague David Richmond agreed; the next day he confirmed that Des Browne, the secretary of state for defence, had also consented.

			On 27 June Tony Blair, the prime minister indelibly associated with the rotten Iraq project, stood down. At the start of his final Prime Minister’s Questions, Blair paid tribute to two individuals recently killed in Iraq and another killed in Afghanistan. He said:

			I am sorry about the dangers that they face today in Iraq and Afghanistan. I know that some may think that they face these dangers in vain. I do not, and I never will. I believe that they are fighting for the security of this country and the wider world against people who would destroy our way of life.38

			The Queen asked Gordon Brown to form a government. Blair’s old ally arrived at Number 10 on the same afternoon. Two days after Blair’s departure, two cars containing gas canisters, explosives and nails were found in central London, one outside a busy nightclub on Haymarket. The next day, two men drove a blazing car into the main terminal building at Glasgow airport. The airport was evacuated and flights suspended. After a meeting of COBRA, the Government’s emergency committee, the new prime minister raised the UK threat level for international terrorism to ‘critical’, its highest level.39 This was a home match now, too.

			In Basra, another meeting with Fartosi took place on 25 July. The militia leader noted the success of the trial ceasefire and said that he was still prepared to negotiate with the coalition to bring about further reductions in violence. However, he added that the stalling of negotiations since that ceasefire had cost him credibility with JAM, making additional prisoner releases essential to allow him to re-assert control.40 On 12 August, Fartosi sought to reassure Jonathan Shaw that the deal would work, although it would take some time to impose a full ceasefire. Fartosi warned that there were attacks planned against the convoys withdrawing from Basra Palace, an event due to take place shortly, and that it would take him ten to fifteen days to call them off.41 Fartosi made clear that, when violence reduced, additional prisoner releases would be his priority; he would need releases from ‘across the Basra political and militia spectrum to avoid other groups disrupting the process’. An account of the meeting produced the next day reported that it ‘figuratively signed and sealed the … agreement’. On 13 August, the British released the four prisoners nominated by Fartosi. The bombing stopped.

			The day after they were released, two of the former detainees gave radio interviews in Basra. One of them suggested that releases were part of a ceasefire agreement. This secret deal was going to be very hard to keep secret.42

			Initially, the ceasefire held; there was one IDF attack on Basra Palace, to which the British responded. Fartosi was surprised, but acknowledged that the response was within the terms of the agreement. On 14 August Jonathan Shaw, the architect of the deal, completed his tour as divisional commander in Basra. The implementation of ‘the accommodation’ was to be the business of his successor, Graham Binns — the man who led 7th Armoured Brigade into Basra in 2003, returning five years later as a major general.

			Once its results became clear, the deal Shaw struck in Basra in 2007 was effectively to terminate his career. Shortly before the end of his time in Iraq, he delivered a speech in Baghdad. He mentioned Northern Ireland where, after thirty-eight years, Operation Banner, the British Army’s activities in the province, were finally coming to an end. Word of the Basra accommodation was confined to the highest levels of the American command, but lower down in their system, officers knew that the British had preached about Northern Ireland and their apparent expertise in counter-insurgency for years, in parallel to losing control of Basra. Shaw’s speech was too much at this point. He never promoted further and left the army in 2012.43 In retrospect, Shaw thinks he should have ‘socialised British plans with the Americans better’ — and made clearer parallels between talking to JAM in Basra and efforts at reconciliation in Anbar Province and elsewhere.

			The American Surge of 2007 looks different from the vantage point of over a decade later, with Iraq being zipped up again after the massive rupture of ISIS. When quizzed today, one-time Surge enthusiasts suggest that military effort could only open the space for political dialogue. The subsequent disasters, some say, are the Iraqis’ own fault. Others point to the collapse of neighbouring Syria into civil war in 2011 as a contributing factor, creating ‘vast ungoverned spaces and lots of weapons’ just over the border which helped incubate ISIS.44 Still others point out that a key feature of the Surge — the creation of security through the empowerment, and in some cases explicit arming, of local Iraqi militia (in particular the ‘Sons of Iraq’ scheme that garnered such plaudits in Anbar Province) — doomed the project from the start. As British ambassador Dominic Asquith wrote far-sightedly in a report as early as summer 2007, ‘no scheme that relied on building up sectarian militia for short-term security could replicate that phenomenon long term.’ In its immediate aftermath, though, the Surge was portrayed as an act of military genius. Between 2008 and 2010, it appeared to have achieved the saving of Iraq. Books were written, reputations made, its architects scored academic jobs and preached the doctrine of counter-insurgency. It was partially the fact that Jonathan Shaw’s immediate subsequent career took place in that environment that meant his decision to take another path doomed him.

			There is a broader point here about generalship. Shaw’s deal-making venture in Basra was his own idea, but on a wider scale he was following orders. He stopped the violence so the British could get out of Basra Palace, and eventually out of the country — exactly what he was directed to do from London. The real question, though, is whether he should have followed that direction as acutely as he did.

			The accommodation, by any rational reckoning, was a Faustian pact. The only leverage the army had over Fartosi and Jaysh-al-Mahdi was their supply of prisoners — a finite resource. The British bet they could secure a ceasefire long enough to get them through PIC and out of Basra Palace before they ran out of human chips. And the deal infuriated the Americans. When the US found out about the true scale of the accommodation, which extended eventually to requiring the British to gain JAM ‘authorisation’ for any operations at all in Basra, many Americans viewed it as nothing short of capitulation.

			When its consequences had fully spooled out, a process that would take almost a year, the Basra accommodation damaged the standing of the British military in the eyes of its oldest and most important ally like nothing else before it in Iraq. Britain went to war in 2003 for the sake of its relationship with the US. Shaw, by following orders, seriously damaged that standing. But the situation in Basra in 2007 came about because a succession of generals — of whom Shaw was only the last — told politicians what they wanted to hear, rather than the reality of what was going on. The British Army’s determination to ‘crack on’ got the army into a terrible mess.

			Perhaps we should not be surprised that a system which rewards deference and obeisance with advancement towards the top of its hierarchy does not then expect those at that summit to answer back clearly — despite all the Sandhurst fixation on moral courage. But some still say that Shaw (and others) committed a military sin with a new name, but no less gravity than the old ones that preceded it: the giving of ‘politically aware’ advice.

			In his defence, Shaw points to mission command. As this doctrine suggests, he made the call on how to proceed as far forward as possible, in Basra rather than in London; he acted in the field, as the Germans once did with their Auftragstaktik. But Shaw insists mission command comes with responsibility, too: you can delegate decision-making forward, but the home hierarchy must back those decisions. Shaw believes those who gave him the orders that he dutifully implemented, and which eventually cost him his career, should carry a portion of the can. In that he is right; the problem is systemic as well as individual. Notably, in an interview in 2017, Nick Houghton referred to ‘the British’ as though they were a wholly separate organisation that he had no part of.

			‘People have assumed that if you delegate execution you also delegate responsibility,’ Shaw says. ‘I think that’s a huge mistake … Richard [Shirreff] was led to do one thing and then I come and turn it completely different. And yet both courses are sanctioned by the guys in charge. Yet in no case did those people in charge take any responsibility of the outcomes, of those zig-zags in policy.’

			‘The fault is the system’s,’ he added. ‘We banged on a lot about Northern Ireland and how we’ve learned the lessons of Northern Ireland. Actually, what Sinbad and what my accommodation show is that we hadn’t learned the lessons.’

			But that is jumping forward. In parallel to Shaw’s deal-making, and intrinsic to really understanding the consequences of that act, there was another story going on in Basra at that point. It happened at a single place, and it happened with a single, though massive, military unit. The story of the end of Basra for the British was also, inextricably, the story of the Rifles at the palace.




			Chapter 13

			Palace Guard

			The regiment that garrisoned Basra Palace during the last two turns of the British occupation were in the manner of their birth, and in the way they embraced amalgamation rather than resisting it, the anti-Scots Div. At the heart of what would become the Rifles were the Royal Green Jackets, formed in 1966 by an amalgamation of the Rifle Brigade, the King’s Royal Rifle Corps, and the 1st and 2nd Green Jackets. In their forty-one years of existence, the Royal Green Jackets (RGJ) became an acutely successful outfit, producing so many senior generals that they acquired the nickname ‘Black Mafia’ from the colour of their service dress buttons.1 Their success came, in their own judgement, from an open and thinking culture, among both officers and the ‘Thinking Rifleman’, a private soldier expected to use his brain rather than be just blindly obedient to orders. In the view of others, nepotism played a role, and careful jockeying to make sure their officers got the right — career-enhancing — jobs away from regimental duty.2 They were also a socially smart unit: the Rifle Brigade included numerous officers from grand public schools (in particular Eton and Winchester). That connection continued, although the RGJ were also less inclined to formality and bullshit than the other socially smart foot-soldiers, the Guards. In fact, such was their reputation for scruffiness of appearance that the regiment acquired the nickname ‘Slack Jackets’.

			As the infantry reorganisation gathered steam around 2004, a group of lieutenant colonels predominantly but not exclusively from the Green Jackets and the Light Infantry (LI), their sister regiment within the Light Division of Infantry, began to plan informally how they could approach this new world order. They met around every six weeks in Aldershot, at the Green Jackets Club in London, and in Warminster. Among these men, then mostly working in staff jobs in the MoD, were Justin Maciejewski and Ralph Arundell, a Light Infantryman of the same rank, who had been asked to write a paper on where in future to base units of the Light Division.3 Technically, neither the Green Jackets nor the Light Infantry were obliged to amalgamate with anyone else. Both had two regular battalions, and could stay ‘small-large’, in the vernacular of the time. But the lieutenant colonels believed there was an opportunity to create a new regiment with genuine scale and heft.

			The initial concept was for the Green Jackets to fuse with the Light Infantry. However, that vision expanded. Lieutenant General Cedric Delves, who commissioned into the Devon and Dorsets before serving with the SAS, approached the Light Infantry and asked if the Devon and Dorsets could merge with them. When the Royal Gloucestershire, Berkshire and Wiltshire Regiment, who as another single battalion regiment could not persist as they were, expressed an interest in joining the new unit too, there was initially little internal enthusiasm. Some say there was resistance as well from Green Jacket officer Brigadier Jamie Balfour, the director infantry, who believed the RGBW were insufficiently smart to join his old mob.4 However, others saw an opportunity: bringing the RGBW in with the Devon and Dorsets, the Light Infantry and the Royal Green Jackets would create a new unit whose recruiting area would effectively sew up England. The lieutenant colonels were conscious too that, given it must appeal to teenage recruits, they were creating a brand as much as a regiment. The regiments had heritage here: the Sharpe novels and TV adaptations, featuring an antecedent Rifle regiment in the Napoleonic Wars, helped; battle honours stretching back to the Peninsular War in the early nineteenth century and a slew of Victoria Crosses aided the story.

			Being a rifle regiment would be central to the new organisation; now they needed a name. Proposals were floated: the Royal Rifle Corps, the Royal Rifle Brigade. Eventually, in March 2006, Major General Nick Cottam, another Green Jackets officer then serving as military secretary (the officer responsible for personnel policy for the army), suggested, ‘Why don’t you just call it the Rifles?’7 The idea was well received.8 The date scheduled for the formation of the new super-regiment was 1 February 2007. By that time, two of its constituent units would be in Iraq, with another bound to follow them on the next tour.

			By late 2006, Justin Maciejewski was commanding officer of 1st Battalion, the Royal Green Jackets, which was due to become the 2nd Battalion of the new regiment, 2 Rifles. Arundell was commanding officer of 2nd Battalion, the Light Infantry, which would become 3 Rifles. After both units deployed to Iraq in late 2006, 1 RGJ was based largely at Basra Palace, while 2 LI had its sub-units split between different locations: one in Baghdad running protection for the embassy, one attached to the Staffords battlegroup, and another running the divisional detention facility. They took part in Operation Sinbad.

			The situation in Basra at the time was wild. Operation Howson (the resupply convoys to Basra Palace), only six months previously mere banal processions of supply vehicles, now involved epic fights every twelve to sixteen days. Tanks led the convoys, which also included Warriors and satellite vehicles. Helicopters throbbed overhead. The South Asian contractor drivers of the soft-skinned vehicles were often drunk — a situation that another British commanding officer thought was ‘understandable’. On one occasion, it was so hot that the convoy had to stop and return to base as armoured vehicle crews were going down with heat exhaustion. The route was not long, but it took all night, and in the words of Michael O’Dwyer, at that point commanding the Irish Guards, ‘one was a sitting target’.

			The size and frequency of the convoys was a function of the population at Basra Palace, where, alongside soldiers, there were the British consulate, the American Regional Embassy Office, the intelligence agencies and even the UN. They tried to vary the routes in from the airport, but there were only three possibilities: from the north and down, from the south and up, or straight across. On each Howson operation, all of Maciejewski’s battlegroup went out to provide security, mounted in Warriors, the new Bulldog vehicles (updated 432s with additional armour, a new drive train and a protected or remote weapons station on the top) and Snatch Land Rovers.9

			British command technology was improving; it was better than it had been in 2004, when the American marines at Dogwood marvelled at the Black Watch’s museum-worthy electronics. 1 RGJ planned on paper, and walked through a big model in the briefing room before each Howson operation, but by this stage they had digital chat systems for communications, and video downlinks from aircraft and helicopters.10 US drones had downlinks wired into the ops room too. Technology could not wholly change the situation, though. Maciejewski lined the route with troops for each resupply, but still they were under attack every time. There was extra armour on the outside of the cabs of the military trucks, but not on the civilian ones. Once the trucks reached the palace, unloading under fire in an area the size of Horse Guards Parade in London, they additionally had to run a mini internal resupply to another British base in the city at the Old State Building.

			The scale of Howson underlines the limitations of the British in Basra. ‘Strike operations’ were still conducted twice weekly, though. There was an SAS contingent under Maciejewski’s command, and sometimes Iraqi Special Forces joined in, but the Riflemen kicked in doors as well. Maciejewski remembers inspecting his troops and realising that you ‘could not notice a difference between Special Forces and the British infantry’. This may be a commanding officer’s understandable exaggeration, but it is true that regular soldiers were now doing jobs previously the preserve of the elite.11 Nonetheless, resupply and force protection still consumed vast resources. By early 2007, the British downtown in Basra were in many ways a ‘self-licking lollipop’ — all their efforts were concentrated on sustaining themselves rather than having an impact on the wider situation.

			Even when Howson was not taking place, the bases in the city faced regular mortar and rocket fire. At the palace and the Old State Building, Maciejewksi’s unit were in five contacts a day. They received 1,200 rockets in their camp, and took over a hundred casualties. The battlegroup as a whole took twenty dead; four were from the RGJ/2 Rifles. Subsequent forensic investigation would reveal that between March and June 2007, seven British soldiers in Basra were shot by the same weapon, a rifle firing 5.56mm rounds manufactured by American firm Lake City Arsenal.12 When Brigadier Julian Free, due to command the brigade bound for Basra in late 2007, flew into the palace on his recce, the landing site was mortared; he ended up with huge cuts on his legs, and had to find an excuse to justify them to his wife on his return.

			During Operation Sinbad, Iraqi units meant to be operating in Basra were denuded to send troops to the fight in Baghdad. Yet the violence in Basra itself was almost completely unreported back in the UK; the army wanted a narrative of improvement towards withdrawal, and there was precious little of that. When Sun journalist Tom Newton Dunn, accompanied by Andy McNab, visited Ralph Arundell’s battalion in Basra, he watched a rifleman on a sangar engage an RPG man. ‘Holy crap, there’s a war on here,’ Newton Dunn remarked.13 Arundell himself had fifty-three contacts — firefights, in army speak — during his tour; ‘you did not go out of the gate or come back into it without having a fight … we were in contact basically every day,’ he later said. During Maciejewski’s command, the three riflemen they lost comprised one from the Light Infantry, one from the Devon and Dorsets and one from the RGBW. The casualties, for all the misery they brought, played a role in binding the new regiment together.14

			Even before the formal transition to the Rifles took place, 1 RGJ at the palace began receiving replacements from the other units that were to fold into the new super-regiment: the Devon and Dorsets and the RGBW, as well as the LI. The night before the changeover, they held a dinner. On the 1st itself, Maciejewski held a parade at the palace. Given the regularity of incoming fire, that was a bold call; the CO was terrified of a rocket attack with 300 men in the open, but air cover from a friendly US carrier offshore was arranged.

			An exception to the media blackout occurred in the spring of 2007, when Kevin Stratford-Wright, the spokesman for the British in Helmand during the previous summer, and still involved in army media relations, invited the American freelance war reporter Michael Yon to visit Basra. Stratford-Wright believed that Yon, an esoteric character with a CV very different to that of most journalists even within the curious fraternity of war correspondents, could offer a novel take on British operations in Basra. Yon embedded with 2 Rifles at the palace in April.

			The British troops and their accents amused Yon — he was struck by the way the soldiers said ‘bloody hell’. Their walls were plastered with pornography, forbidden in US bases. When Yon explained that regulation, a British soldier remarked he would go AWOL if ‘I can’t have my porn’. Given the risk of indirect fire, and the requirement to go outside to smoke, the Riflemen joked that ‘smoking kills’.15

			There were trails of HESCO bastion everywhere as protection against IDF. Yon noticed that someone had written under a desk, ‘If you’re hiding under this desk it’s IDF time and this desk is not going to help you.’ One day, the base took some seventy incoming rounds. A pizza deliveryman had his legs blown off. Yon was surprised that the British would accept this level of fire; American bases did not. He asked the British if they had counter-battery radar, a device that assesses the impact of inbound shells in real time and calculates the firing points for a response; they did not, although a party of Americans arrived with one during his visit. Even with the arrival of the radar, Yon was still struck by the parsimoniousness of other British enablers — drones, or aerostats, balloons that carried surveillance cameras.16

			On 10 April, Yon accompanied troops from 2 Rifles on a strike operation named ‘Arezzo’.17 In one of the key differences between Yon’s gonzo coverage and conventional (or at least British) reporting of the war, the American had no hesitation in counting those dead at British hands. He noted British troops took video footage as they killed six ‘enemy’. In the immediate aftermath, other elements of Yon’s reporting stirred a more local reaction. He was summoned into the office of Major General Jonathan Shaw, who delivered a ‘briefing on British culture’. He was particularly perturbed by Yon’s report of a Challenger tank disabled by an IED. ‘You’re not going to believe this, but what you’ve written has now been discussed in parliament,’ Shaw explained. Then there was the additional matter of Yon’s upfront coverage of the nature of the driver’s injuries — the fact that he lost his legs. Shaw asked him to refrain from that in future. Yon did as he was asked; he had realised that the British were ‘big time, much more restrictive’ when it came to their treatment of reporters.18

			Shaw was in the process of beginning the negotiations that would lead to the accommodation, but no word of it had yet crept out. At the palace, Justin Maciejewski knew nothing about the deal-making, though he does recall saying to his men that the prisoners they were scooping up on their strike operations ‘will be important assets’.19

			In February, Daniel Marston, an American war studies academic teaching at Sandhurst, produced a report stating that the British were failing in Basra, and that they needed to clear the city or have the Americans ‘come south and clear the city for you’.20 Marston’s report made it all the way to Richard Dannatt, the chief of the general staff.21 Marston taught a week-long course for captains on counter-insurgency, dealing with Aden and Malaya, but emphasising that every campaign was different. Battalion commanders began asking him to brief them too. Marston sensed a real appetite to do things differently, to ape the American Surge in the north, which appeared to be reaping dividends. There were discussions at the level of lieutenant colonel; there was a feeling among British officers that what they were doing was not right.22

			In March 2007, the 2 Rifles battlegroup returned the Old State Building to Iraqi forces. The transfer was smooth; there were proper handover ledgers, and signatures. The original timetable for withdrawal from the palace was April 2007; this, however, was delayed. One more battlegroup would enter the palace after 2 Rifles — the fourth of the new super-regiment, formerly 2nd Battalion of the Royal Green Jackets, under the command of Lieutenant Colonel Patrick Sanders. As a child, Sanders had spent four years in Baghdad in the 1970s, where his father was defence attaché. A Royal Welsh officer who served with him in Iraq in 2007 described Sanders as an ‘archetypal Green Jacket officer’, wont to attend orders groups — meetings at which orders are disseminated — lolling back in his chair, picking at his fingernails with a knife and constructing rolled-up cigarettes with one hand. ‘You’ll love this, mainly because I’m talking,’ he once remarked to the officer as he arrived. To this individual, from another regiment and therefore outside the Green Jackets/Rifles family, Sanders’ demeanour seemed slightly contrived, but nonetheless he had ‘real charisma and X factor’. Sanders was what all the rest of them wanted to be.

			The new regiment formed with a parade at Kiwi Barracks in Bulford in Wiltshire. Sanders handed out new Rifles cap badges to his men. Handover in Basra took place on 20 May, and the new unit faced a brutal introduction to conditions with its first Howson convoy operation. As part of the handover, they conducted a joint planning cycle with 2 Rifles, but that did not constrain the violence. The convoy faced small-arms fire, IEDs and mortars. A 50-tonne crane broke down at the most dangerous point on the route and was only recovered by a REME corporal siphoning fuel through a small hose. A Warrior ended up in a ditch and could only be recovered by a CRARRV. In the operations room at the palace, the outgoing second-in-command of 2 Rifles, Major Bill Wright, mentored his counterpart with 4 Rifles, Major Tom Copinger-Symes. ‘It was difficult not to feel like an adolescent being watched by a kindly but concerned parent as one went through the necessary but painful process of growing up and experiencing the realities of adult life for the first time,’ the account in the regimental journal later stated.23

			Once the convoy reached the palace, it needed to run supplies up to the Provisional Joint Co-ordination Centre, before returning to the airport. The run to the PJCC was also used as an escort for the outgoing commander of 19th Light Brigade, Brigadier Tim Evans. A small convoy, under Major James Bryant, made it up to the PJCC in darkness without incident. The next afternoon the convoy, a mixture of Warrior, Bulldog and logistics vehicles, including a civilian fuel tanker and a low loader carrying a Saxon and a Land Rover, set off back to the palace. Coming through the city, the convoy slowed to take a corner and ran into a well-planned and complex attack. As his vehicle slowed, Corporal Jez Brookes, a Bulldog commander, was shot in the head. Almost simultaneously, the civilian tanker driver was hit by small-arms fire, while his vehicle was hit by an RPG, causing a significant explosion. Brookes was evacuated to Basra Palace, but could not be saved. The rest of the convoy managed to break through the ambush, but by that time a large crowd, from a militia funeral nearby, had formed around the burning tanker. They seized the civilian driver’s body from the cab. The British troops continued to fight their way towards the palace, but the low loader, hit in the initial contact, collapsed with a buckled front axle as it drove over a narrow bridge, blocking the route.

			Major Bryant diverted the rear of the convoy to another bridge, reformed his force at the palace, picked up a recovery vehicle, and returned to the fray. Securing the immobilised low loader proved fruitless, despite attempts by a REME mechanic in an unarmoured Foden recovery vehicle. Eventually, they decided to destroy the Saxon and the Land Rover on the low loader with 30mm rounds. The engagement lasted hours. Among the Warrior crews, men went down as heat casualties. A Bulldog was struck by an IED, blowing the driver out of his hatch. A quick-reaction force rushed him back to the palace while Bryant secured the stricken vehicle. Eventually the vehicles made it back after a bruising introduction to the streets of Basra. Before Corporal Brookes’ body was taken to the airport by helicopter, they held a ‘mini-repatriation’ ceremony by the landing site. Head torches lit up service sheets; the heat was so oppressive that you could not tell the sweat from the tears.

			This period in 2007 was the most violent three months faced by British forces in the entire Iraq campaign.24 Overall, 4 Rifles took 1,750 incoming mortar rounds25 during the tour;26 their seventy-one casualties represented 10 per cent of the battlegroup, and the most casualties of any similarly-sized British unit in the whole war.

			On 25 May, Abu Wissam Qadir, a JAM leader in Basra, died while resisting arrest by Iraqi security forces, stirring mayhem. At around 10 p.m., the garrison at the PJCC, mostly drawn from the Royal Artillery but with a stiffening of riflemen under late-entry officer Major Paul Harding, faced a significant attack. Fire came in from over twenty different points in a 360-degree arc. 10 Platoon from 4 Rifles fought for four hours from the roof, firing over 9,000 rounds. They resorted to cooking oil to keep their weapons firing.27 No one in the platoon was killed, although one rifleman was shot through the hand and the platoon sergeant took an AK-47 round in the middle of the back-plate of his body armour, leaving him bruised. He went on to wear the bullet around his neck as a charm.

			After the 25th, mortar attacks on the PJCC intensified. On 1 June, Rifleman Stephen Vause was seriously injured by a round that landed on his sangar position on the roof. He received shrapnel to the head and urgently needed an airlift to surgery. At the airport, Flight Lieutenant Michelle Goodman, a Merlin helicopter pilot, was asleep when a loud knock came at the door.

			‘Wake up, you’ve got a callout!’28

			Goodman got up, dragged on her flying suit, grabbed her weapons and ran to the aircraft. Others in her crew headed to the operations room with the medics to find out what was happening. They took off; even with night-vision goggles, visibility was poor. None of the crew had seen or been into the PJCC landing site before, and the last time it had been used was several years earlier. On the approach, Goodman saw several flashes but chose to continue. At about six metres, the dust was so bad that she could not see the ground, relying on another member of her crew to guide her safely down. Within minutes of landing, four mortar bombs exploded close to the helicopter, peppering its hull with shrapnel.29, 30 Within five minutes, the Merlin was airborne again, firing flares to ward off missiles. Above the rooftops, four RPGs were fired in their direction. Only fourteen minutes after the callout, they landed at the hospital at the airport. Rifleman Vause survived, though his brain injuries left him severely disabled, a wheelchair user with limited speech. Michelle Goodman became the first woman to receive the Distinguished Flying Cross.31

			Heat was an issue, too: inside the Warriors, temperatures as high as 72C were recorded. When Brigadier James Bashall, the new brigade commander, went out on an operation in a Warrior he almost went down with heat exhaustion. On one operation in July, the battlegroup was out for fourteen hours; the wind had shifted, bringing warm air in from the Gulf. The combination of heat and humidity meant the body’s natural cooling mechanisms failed; drinking water was no longer effective. Crews stood near-naked in their vehicle turrets; men collapsed, vomiting and delirious. Radio communications were almost impossible as everyone was slurring so badly. At one point, Patrick Sanders wondered if they would have enough functioning crewmen to drive the vehicles back to camp.32

			When Journalist Kitty Dimbleby, part of the great British journalistic and broadcasting clan,33 was flown in to the palace to write a piece for the Mail on Sunday about the work the battlegroup was doing with local orphans, she immediately experienced IDF. ‘I’d flung myself face-down in the dust while a series of mortars exploded nearer and nearer to where I lay exposed — the final one landing close enough to cover me, and my escort, in dust and debris,’ she wrote. Her subsequent piece described the palace as ‘a grim and dangerous place where the sound of mortar fire is more common than any laughter … Morale is often low.’ Dimbleby watched an orphan boy carefully colouring under the gaze of British soldiers, ‘taking care to replace the cap on each felt tip before picking a new colour’,34 but made it clear that the orphans had come to the palace as it was too dangerous for the British to visit the orphanage, even though that site was only a mile away.

			Patrick Sanders later questioned Dimbleby’s assertions on morale during the tour. ‘Her morale may have been low, ours wasn’t,’ he told an audience at the Royal United Service Institute in 2009. ‘It was the highest morale I’ve ever known in the army.’ During IDF strikes he would see small clusters of men hugging the ground, yet shouting encouragement and abuse to each other, and often laughing. He adds that routine — weapons inspections, debriefs, battlegroup services following a casualty — helped, and that, more controversially, alcohol also had a role. He drank a glass of whisky after each operation: ‘It helped me sleep.’35 Still, no one doubted the slogan on the back of the t-shirts the soldiers commissioned during the tour. ‘Probably the worst palace in the world,’ they read, nodding to the Carlsberg lager commercials.

			Then it ended. During the trial ceasefire in June, the troops at the palace noticed a lull in the rocket attacks. ‘We were told, right, we’re not doing anything for the next two days,’ says Fabian Roberts, a major commanding the Irish Guards at the palace. Roberts also remembers frustration at the reduced level of strike operations 4 Rifles conducted compared to their predecessors; he believes this was likely due to the ongoing militia negotiations.

			When the full ceasefire came into effect in August, the attacks dwindled dramatically. Michael O’Dwyer, based at the airport but heavily involved in the resupply operations, recalls the abruptness of the change; it was a ‘tour of two halves’. Alongside the mayhem of Operation Howson, for the first half of the tour the airport had also experienced repeated rocket and mortar attacks, with automated radar-guided guns originally designed for ship defence aiming to intercept the projectiles. By the end of the tour, soldiers at the COB finally had reinforced sleeping accommodation — ‘coffins’ built out of breezeblocks, steel plate and sandbags under the Operation Stonehenge programme — to provide protection. But by the end of the tour the mortar fire had also reduced abruptly.

			The primary purpose the ‘accommodation’ played was getting the British out of Basra Palace. Fabian Roberts saw G4 — military code for logistics — plans for drawdown from as early as the end of June. The Howson resupplies took out non-essential material, as well as bringing in food and other necessities. Roberts’ own company lost so many vehicles — around six Warriors — to IEDs, breakdowns, and accidents that attrition naturally made it a smaller force.

			On 16 August,36 an MoD official told the Iraq Senior Officials Group that handover of Basra Palace and the PJCC were both planned for 31 August, but a delay of a few days might be possible to ensure that the ‘Palace Protection Force’, an Iraq unit drawn from outside Basra that would inherit the palace, was properly equipped.37 On 21 August, Secretary of State for Defence Des Browne’s private secretary wrote to Gordon Brown’s private secretary:

			In presentational terms, our communications posture for the handover of Basra Palace will be low key … There will be no ceremony or media event at Basra Palace itself for the handover, but a facility for Iraqi media at the COB is planned, where our aim will be to emphasise the effective training and support provided by MND(SE) forces to the PPF (Palace Protection Force), which has made handover possible.38

			There was duly no press at the palace for the formal handover, as Patrick Sanders took the salute and handed over to Colonel Sadi of the Iraqi Army.39

			On the 21st, there was another meeting with Fartosi. The British told him, in the words of the subsequent Iraq Inquiry account, that it was ‘important not to be too fixated on detainee releases; the cessation of hostilities was, at least from the UK side, every bit as important’.40 Another ‘difficult’ meeting took place two days later, much of it concerning further releases. Fartosi insisted ‘there must be fifteen releases on 30 August; otherwise our agreement was off’ and Basra would become ‘another Fallujah’, further claiming that the slow pace of releases was damaging his credibility. The British explained that ‘we had a deal and must stick to it’. The month of agreed ceasefire was due to end on 13 September,41 long enough to get them out of the palace, which Fartosi had also promised JAM would not loot. If the violence continued to reduce, there ‘should be substantial releases’, but nothing could be promised.42

			On 29 August, Lieutenant General Peter Wall reported that after the British withdrew from a satellite Basra site called the ‘Warren’, ‘there had been some limited militia infiltration and looting … with the possible collusion or acquiescence of the Iraqi Police Service’. General Mohan deployed his entire reserve battalion to the site. For this reason, and the late arrival of some equipment, the withdrawal from Basra Palace was delayed from the planned date of the 29th.43

			The overall removal of four years’ worth of equipment and infrastructure from the palace was termed Operation Blenheim, and took eight weeks. The final pull-out, Operation Highbridge, eventually began on the evening of 2 September. In accordance with an elaborate ‘sync matrix’, at 11 p.m. the operations rooms was stripped out. At midnight, one company from the Royal Welsh and B Company from 4 Rifles both picked up five interpreters each. An armed Predator drone was stationed overhead from half past midnight. A convoy formed up at 1 a.m.; advance parties were already sweeping the route for IEDs. Departure times were staggered. One group left at 2.15 a.m., another at 3 a.m. The regimental sergeant major counted everyone personally through the battlegroup rendezvous.44 The lead elements arrived at the airport at 6 a.m.45

			It was all intensely organised; the British were good at retreat in Basra in 2007, just as they once were at Dunkirk and Gallipoli. The convoy flew Union Jacks and the Royal Welsh their red dragon passant on a green and white field. ‘It wasn’t meant to be triumphal but to show we’d fought and withdrawn on our own terms,’ Sanders said later. There was one IED strike on the way out, in which three soldiers received minor injuries, but in general the operation was peaceful.46 It was nothing like the estimates Sanders and his team drew up earlier in the tour, predicting that they would lose between five and ten vehicles, with up to ten soldiers killed, during the extraction.

			At the airport, the convoys of vehicles from downtown bore the marks of RPG strikes and bullet impacts received during the tour. ‘We have faced a lot of action while we were at Basra Palace and our guys have acted with immense courage,’ Patrick Sanders told the press. ‘I could have stayed on there for another six months, we would have been able to defend ourselves, and killed a lot of people in the process, but what would that have achieved?’47 On camera, Sanders’ response to the idea that the British Army had been defeated in Basra was, ‘Absolute bollocks.’ ‘What makes me a bit angry is that there have been soldiers dying out here,’ Leigh Pool, a 28-year-old lance corporal, told Kim Sengupta of the Independent. ‘There is so little notice taken back at home. It seems people have forgotten about the Iraq war.’

			No one told the journalists about the deal the British struck with the militia to buy their exit from Basra.48 No one told them about the local magistrate provided by the Sadrists who witnessed solemn oaths of good behaviour by the prisoners before they were released,49 nor how the military police drove them down to the main gate of the base at the airport, where they were met by other Sadrists to take them back to the city. No one told the press the fundamental problem with the deal: that the only leverage the British had was their supply of prisoners. Nor did they say what was obvious to others within the system — that the withdrawal from downtown meant that the British no longer had any real intelligence on what was really going on inside Basra. The accommodation bought the British an exit from the palace, but it would come back to haunt them.

			Asked on the Today programme on 3 September whether the withdrawal from Basra Palace signalled that the UK was pulling out of Iraq, Gordon Brown replied that it was a ‘pre-planned and … organised move’ and that the UK would ‘discharge all our responsibilities to the Iraqi people’. He said the UK was moving from a combat role towards ‘overwatch’, and retained the ability to re-intervene if required. He denied the accusation that Basra was being left to the mercy of the militia, pointing out that there were 30,000 Iraqi Security Forces in Basra who would maintain security there.50 This statement did not reflect the reality on the ground. General Mohan, the new head of the BOC, was a respected veteran of both the Iran-Iraq war and the Saddam-era army, and a capable and largely honest man. But he remained crippled by limited resources. The Iraqi security forces had few weapons, little fuel, and crucially (and unlike their counterparts working with the Americans to the north), no embedded British mentors to accompany them out on operations. Security restrictions forbade the establishment of a permanent British liaison cell at the BOC headquarters. Heavily infiltrated by the militia, the local security forces were unable to step up.

			The beleaguered British troops at the palace had provided only limited security for the citizens of Basra. Yet their withdrawal still made the situation worse. In December 2007, three months after the pull-out from the palace, BBC Panorama broadcast two reports on the city. The first used footage shot by soldiers to reveal the intensity of the combat experienced by the Rifles in Basra. The crew also filmed a convoy of Sadrist vehicles arriving at the British base at the airport to pick up released prisoners — more news of the accommodation was leaking out.51

			The second film, broadcast on Christmas Eve and titled ‘Basra — The Legacy’52 revealed that following the British withdrawal, women were being tortured and brutally murdered; Basra police records showed forty-seven murders of women in the past few months. Their crime: not dressing sufficiently modestly. Jane Corbin, a reporter with years of experience covering Iraq, could not go into the city, relying instead on locals to film. Footage showed Arabic graffiti on walls. ‘Beware of using make-up and prettifying yourselves,’ the signs said. ‘You will be punished for it. God is our witness that you have been warned.’ The graffiti was the work of an outfit cheerily calling itself ‘The Organisation Ordering an End to Abomination’, which Corbin described as ‘just one of many criminal gangs that terrorise ordinary people here’. ‘When a woman is murdered, her corpse is thrown into the streets,’ explained Major General Abdul Jalil Khalif, the Basra police chief. ‘They write notes on her body that she was an adulteress or some other excuse, sometimes they put shameful clothes on her after she has been killed so that they can prove she was without honour, as we say in our society.’53

			For Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq, the schoolgirl in 2003 whose brother befriended a British soldier and took him to market, things were very different five years later. She saw how, when the British pulled out, the militia groups, a variety of factions and organisations that fell for the British under the umbrella term JAM, were able to take more control. Harassment of women, police and the Iraqi Army increased, forcing many of them out of the public space. Abdulrazaq stopped attending university. The militia assassinated the head of the police in her area; other killings were happening ‘left, right and centre’. In particular Abdulrazaq remembers a militia attack on a university that left many students, both male and female, dead.54

			Gordon Brown said ‘overwatch’; the local view was very different. Astute elements within the British Army in Basra realised instead that, ‘if you’re not watching, it’s over’.




			Chapter 14

			Iron and Mohan

			Colonel Richard Iron arrived in Basra on 4 December 2007 as the second British mentor to General Mohan.1 By early 2007, Iron was serving in a NATO job in Norfolk, Virginia, south of Washington DC, and on his second full colonel’s tour, having missed out on promotion to brigadier.2 He was, in his own words, ‘no longer competitive for senior command’.3 He was, however, personal friends with a number of very senior officers, notably David Richards, who was Iron’s instructor at the staff college in 1989 when that institution was still at Camberley and army only,4 and who in late 2007 was about to become commander-in-chief land forces.5 In the same ‘syndicate’ or teaching group as Iron at Camberley in 1989, and then a direct contemporary of Iron, was Barney White-Spunner, who in 2008 would also arrive in Iraq, though as a two-star general rather than a colonel. Their careers had taken different directions; in Basra they would meet again.6

			For Richard Iron, the realisation that he was off the power curve proved oddly liberating. Iron wanted to go overseas, as he had not completed an operational tour for some time, but even the search for low prestige but interesting roles was a struggle. He had applied for various jobs in the Congo and UN, and for training roles, with no success. Eventually he saw a job advertised as mentor to the commander of the Iraqi 10th Division. Iron’s selection for the role with little fuss or competition shows just how the British Army’s enthusiasm for Iraq had withered by 2007, and speaks volumes about the deteriorating position of Iraq in the army’s internal prestige hierarchy. Afghanistan, now an ongoing commitment following the Paras’ escapades on Herrick 4, was the place to be. ‘It was a failing campaign, and it looked like a really grotty job, and I got it actually fairly easily, because nobody else wanted it,’ Iron recalls.7

			Before taking up his appointment in Basra, Iron met with two other men in England: Daniel Marston, the American war studies academic, and Alex Alderson, another British colonel five years Iron’s junior. Alderson had been intimately involved with military attempts to revamp approaches to counter-insurgency on both sides of the Atlantic, including a spell on the team that General David Petraeus assembled at Fort Leavenworth in Kansas to write the new US counter-insurgency doctrine. In 2007, Alderson was also about to deploy to Iraq, working for General Petraeus in Baghdad as a staff officer responsible for the campaign plan. Jointly, these three men determined that even if Iraq appeared to be teetering on the brink of dishonourable closure for the British, they would not treat their own deployments as box-ticking exercises. They would attempt to instigate some genuine reform, and to stay a full year, rather than the usual six-month deployment (much to the bafflement of the army’s personnel centre at Glasgow).

			For Iron, Basra under accommodation was initially ‘like the phony war of 1939’ — a state of declared hostilities, but little real action.8 By the time he arrived in the city, Operation Stonehenge was underway, along with an enormous programme of installing blast walls at the airport. These measures reflected the endless indirect fire received earlier, but with the ‘accommodation’ in effect, there were now very few attacks. The deal was discussed openly in the training package Iron conducted before deployment. The British divisional commander was Graham Binns, due to be replaced in February 2008 by Major General Barney White-Spunner. Under Binns and White-Spunner was Brigadier Julian Free. After his recce earlier in the year, when he was mortared at the palace, Free had initially assumed that he would be taking his brigade into a situation of violent war fighting, and modified their training package accordingly.9 However, as the accommodation came into play over the summer of 2007, Free realised that his troops would not be entering such an intense fight, and dialled their training down again; he needed to make sure they were not overprepared before deployment.

			British activity in Basra by this point was nugatory. There was a training team at Shaibah, working with the Iraqi Army, and the British battalions were still sometimes allowed to go out and operate, but the city itself was off limits. Major Ben Ryan, who arrived in November 2007, remembers particular grid references on their maps marking the limits to which they could move. It was clear to all parties that the training was now a game, the British marking time before withdrawal. In February, one squadron of the RDG was sent home early, slave to the ever-enforced requirement to reduce troop numbers.10

			Iron first met Mohan on his first recce in November.11 The Iraqi general was a small but powerful man, stocky and determined. He claimed to have previously run Saddam Hussein’s overseas network of spies. He was meant to be the great hope to make things right in the city, but once they came to know him, the British loathed Mohan. He was not the pliant client king they expected.12 The job Iron had applied for was mentor to the commander of the Iraqi 10th Division, but after Mohan was appointed Basra Operations Commander over and above that role, the mentoring post switched with him. The British were very keen that the new BOC should be at the airport, and they made a substantial investment in building infrastructure there for Mohan and his staff. That facility had just been finished by the time Iron arrived, but it became obvious that Mohan had no intention of ever using it.13 He wanted instead to work out of the Shatt al-Arab hotel downtown. ‘It was really important for him to be seen to be leading his troops in the city,’ Iron says. ‘Of course, the British wanted him at the airport, so we could keep some kind of control of him.’14 The hotel was a 1930s building on the site of the old officers’ mess of RAF Basra.15 As it was inside the city, deploying a British armoured column there would violate the accommodation.16

			Iron’s predecessor Andrew Sutcliffe had worked out that to be effective, the holder of the mentoring position needed to take a Janus-like, two-faced approach. He should appear to the British chain of command as firmly answerable to them, the reins by which they could control Mohan — yet he also needed to give the same impression of loyalty to the Iraqi side. Iron determined he could use semantics to help with this balancing. To the British, he styled himself as Mohan’s ‘mentor’. To the Iraqis, he described himself as the general’s ‘military assistant’, a respectable — and crucially subordinate — position that British generals also possessed. When he spoke to Mohan, he addressed him as Saidi, the Arabic honorific meaning ‘sir’.

			Julian Free arrived in theatre on 4 December; the first thing he was told was that he needed to send a battlegroup back to the UK. He refused to do so just before Christmas, reasoning that, counterintuitively, sending home troops who had already reconciled themselves to being away for Christmas would in fact damage morale. Eventually one battalion left in January. Free was also aware that the British stock of prisoners was dwindling fast. Shortly after his arrival, when his boss Graham Binns was away, the army lawyers told Free that he must sit on a board to discuss releasing Fartosi. Free asked the lawyers, ‘What happens when I review the evidence and I say I’m not going to release him?’ It was made clear that this was not an option. Free suggested that there was therefore no point holding the board; nonetheless, he sat on it. Meanwhile, the level of rocket attacks was creeping up again.

			Around this time, too, Lieutenant General Lloyd Austin, the incoming American commander of Multi-National Corps — Iraq, due to take up his post in February 2008, travelled to Basra on his recce. From Free’s perspective, it was clear that Austin and Binns had not ‘hit it off’. Free conducted most of the recce with Austin. The American was ‘absolutely vehemently opposed to the whole accommodation’, which had not been adequately explained to him by anyone.17 The Australians were pulling out, which complicated the situation in the south further. Austin pushed for the British to do more in Maysan, where ‘lethal aid’ — weapons and bomb parts — were percolating the border from Iran. Austin asked why the British were releasing Fartosi, what they were doing in Dhi Qar province, and why they were not stopping the lethal aid. All of Jonathan Shaw’s briefing and explanation of the accommodation had been with Petraeus and Lieutenant General Ray Odierno, Austin’s predecessor as the corps commander. No one had informed Austin of anything.

			Austin was in Basra for about twenty-four hours. As on all recces, his timetable was exhausting. Eventually, Free got the American general to supper with a couple of the commanding officers from units in his brigade. Austin was tired, but Free extracted a laugh from him. Travelling with Austin was the man who would be his deputy corps commander in Iraq in 2008, US Marine Major General George Flynn. Flynn and Austin’s recce also involved travel to as many of the divisions in Iraq as possible. When they got on the plane leaving Basra, Austin announced to his deputy, ‘We’ll probably have to come back here and fight.’ Brigadier Free argued afterwards that someone needed to brief the new incoming American corps staff about exactly what the British had done in Basra, and explicitly that someone should go to America and properly put Austin in the picture before he deployed. No one did so.

			On 9 December, Gordon Brown arrived in Basra for a flag-waving Christmas visit to the troops. At last, the goal the British had chased for so long was in sight: PIC in Basra, the ticket home and out of this toxic mess.18 Back in London, Brown reported on his visit to Iraq at Cabinet on 11 December. He stated that British troops would be transferring responsibility for the security of Basra on 16 December.19 Most importantly, the transition would enable force levels to reduce from 4,500 to 2,500 by March 2008, at which point the future position would be reviewed. Though the de facto transfer came in September with the pull-out from the palace, the 16th was still a major moment. David Miliband attended the ceremony for the UK; national security advisor Mowafaq al-Rubaie was there for the Iraqi government. Nine Iraqi provinces — half of the total — had now made the transition to PIC. After the ceremony, Miliband remained in Iraq, visiting Baghdad and Erbil in the north. He told Hoshyar Zebari, the Iraqi foreign minister, and Maliki that PIC in Basra would ‘not mean any diminution of our effort or commitment but did mark a new stage in our relationship’.20 The wiser heads in British headquarters, however, saw that PIC was becoming such an obsession that it was blurring longer-term thinking. There was scant clear strategy going forward.

			On 20 December, Christopher Prentice, appointed in 2007 as the British ambassador in Iraq, emailed Miliband’s private secretary to tell him that Ahmed Fartosi’s release was planned for the following evening. The move followed a recommendation by Graham Binns, which had been agreed by the Americans and Maliki.21 Binns met Fartosi on the morning of 21 December. The Iraqi claimed he had not wanted to go to war with the British, but they had ‘occupied his country and attacked his groups’. Now, it was time for reconstruction and reconciliation. Fartosi hoped that the process would be a model for the rest of Iraq to follow; there should be no further animosity against the British military, and he hoped that British soldiers would get home safely. These were noble words — but they were only words. It was agreed that Fartosi’s release should be brought forward by a few hours, because of security concerns. On the evening of 21 December, Ahmed Fartosi left the Divisional Internment Facility at Basra Airport.

			The final JAM prisoners were released on 6 January.22 That very day, IDF rained down on the airport. The British Army had been had, and now it had no leverage left.

			*

			In January 2008, Iron took Mohan to the UK. The trip was conceived as a confidence-building measure, a soft-power chance to show the Iraqi commander just how firm Britain’s trust in him was.23 Iron wanted to book Mohan into the Ritz, feeling it had the right blend of gilt and plush to impress an Iraqi potentate, but there was no availability. Instead Mohan was put up in the St Martin’s Lane Hotel, a boutique establishment of similar expense but with a younger clientele. It was here, in a hotel room close by Covent Garden, that Iron and Mohan first discussed in detail a plan to genuinely take back control of Basra. It was clear to both men that the accommodation was a sham, or had at least become one; the renewal of rocket attacks with the release of the final prisoners showed that security was only rented. Life for ordinary Basrawis was miserable.

			Iron suggested an operation based on British Army practice in Northern Ireland in the 1970s and 80s: a series of permanent vehicle checkpoints ringing the city and company-sized strongpoints. There were shades here of Sinbad, and indeed of Motorman, but this time Iraqi security forces would genuinely do the lion’s share of the work. The term Iron and Mohan used for the plan was simple: they called it ‘The Confrontation’.

			The UK programme for the visiting Iraqi general included an audience with the foreign secretary and the secretary of state for defence. Mohan wore a suit for the meetings and asked Iron why the secretary was more important than the minister. Iron took Mohan out for supper at a Moroccan restaurant in Seven Sisters. The general’s attempts to chat up a belly dancer made Iron realise that Mohan in fact spoke much better English than he had expected. After the meal, Mohan placed a hand on Iron’s knee. ‘Richard, you’ve got to understand, I’m not like you,’ he said. ‘I’m an Arab, I have needs.’

			Alongside the time in London, Iron organised a day excursion to Dorset. Their destination was the Tank Museum at Bovington, close by the barracks where armoured corps officers and NCOs complete their training courses. As they wandered between the vintage armoured vehicles, ranging in era from the First World War to Nazi Germany through to captured Iraqi vehicles of Soviet and Chinese origin from 1991,24 their mobile phones began to ring. There was trouble in Basra, as well as Nasiriyah, during the Shia festival of Ashura.25 On this January day, Iron and Mohan sat on top of ‘Little Willie’, the world’s first prototype tank, constructed by Britain in 1915 and said to be named after an uncomplimentary nickname for the German crown prince, and attempted to run the battle in distant Basra by mobile telephony.

			The Ashura uprising was swiftly contained. The clampdown, the British were relieved to see, was largely conducted by Iraqi forces acting on their own account and volition. The advocates of the step-up hypothesis, the idea that pulling out of Basra would make the Iraqi security forces rise to the task, and an argument that had been looking decidedly tenuous of late, saw a glimmer of hope. The Ashura chaos also, however, underlined British impotence to the Iraqis. They had asked for air support, but all the British could provide was a pair of Tornados conducting a low-level ‘show of force’ pass, without dropping any munitions due to the lack of forward air controllers embedded with Iraqi units. On the first pass, the shooting stopped. On the second the locals realised the planes could not fire; by the third they ignored them altogether. Mohan remarked to Iron, ‘Your aircraft are completely useless.’

			Events in Baghdad at the same time were also significant. On 22 January, JAM militants attempted to kidnap Mowafaq al-Rubaie at a mosque. ‘At last Maliki’s eyes were opened concerning the intimidation that was occurring outside the well-protected International Zone,’ Pete Mansoor, General Petraeus’ executive officer, later wrote in his book Surge. ‘The incident turned Rubaie and Maliki against the [Jaysh al-Mahdi] and particularly against its heavily armed Special Groups.’ Far away from England, the path to renewed fighting in Basra was opening up.

			The UK trip had been intended to last two weeks, but Iron and Mohan returned a couple of days early; following the uprising during Ashura, there was concern in Baghdad over the security situation in Basra. By now the British had released their last prisoners. Without this leverage, the IDF attacks on the airport had not only resumed but intensified. On 31 January, the base received its heaviest-ever strike. Within twenty-four hours there were four separate attacks, the most intense at 6.40 a.m., when a single salvo included twenty-three projectiles. They were heavier than usual — 130mm rockets rather than the regular 122mm or 107mm. The attack killed two civilian workers and wounded three soldiers; British guns also killed an innocent civilian. ‘Who’s firing the rockets?’ Iron wondered in his diary. ‘We think it’s an aberrant group that aren’t abiding by the accommodation we’ve made with the Jaysh al-Mahdi. Or at least we hope it is … it will be bad news indeed if the mainstream militia have decided to turn on us.’ The rockets are Iranian built, mostly, although some of that day’s looked as though they could have been locally manufactured. Fartosi claimed the attack was the work of a splinter group and not his supporters.

			On the afternoon of 1 February, Mohan called Iron’s interpreter to say he would be arriving at the base’s main entrance at the airport in twenty minutes. This was an unusual event, and triggered curiosity as well as some frantic arrangements to sort out an escort. It soon became apparent what the visit was all about when Mohan pulled from the boot a heavy blanket wrapping something ‘a bit larger than a standard sized fire extinguisher’.26 In the British general’s conference room, Mohan proudly unwrapped and presented to Iron an Iranian 107mm rocket, brand new and still in its original wrapping, together with its fuse.27 Mohan proposed a deal for the British to fund the purchase of a number of rockets to better understand the supply chain. Mohan spoke too of the battles one of his battalions had been having with coastal smugglers on the Shatt al-Arab waterway. The British agreed to help, culminating in a joint operation with the Iraqis on 15 February, which included the British firing a Javelin missile at a smuggling barge, disabling it.28 Julian Free termed it a ‘combined operation’, to get around the interdiction on embedding mentors with Iraqi units.

			On 4 February, Sir John Scarlett, the head of MI6, wrote to the Foreign Secretary. Some Sadrist hard-line militants, probably no more than 200 to 300 strong, were continuing to defy the accommodation and attack UK forces, he said: ‘IDF into the COB is showing a spike. If it ramps up significantly HMG has few levers of influence.’29 The accommodation was binding British hands, even as it fell apart. Iron remembers the atmosphere at the airport as one of ‘mostly denial’. When British troops went to patrol the border with Iran, they had to transit through the northern tip of Basra. In order to do that they informed JAM, which then picketed the route. The grimness of the situation downtown in Basra was underlined on 9 February, when Richard Butler, a British journalist working with the American network CBS, was kidnapped in the city along with his Iraqi interpreter.30 Iron heard about it the next morning, a Monday, at ‘GOC’s Prayers’ — the daily update of the general by the staff, summarising events of the previous twenty-four hours.

			On 12 February, Major General Graham Binns reached the end of his tour. In his last weekly report, he wrote that negotiations with JAM were ‘more successful than we dared imagine’. Although JAM remained capable of renewing hostilities, there was now ‘clear daylight’ between the mainstream and the Iranian-backed cells. As a result of the negotiations, ‘we now talk of how to stay, not when to leave’. Binns wrote of his frustration that he was not trusted with delegated authority, but ended saying, ‘I did not think I would depart feeling so optimistic about Iraq and its future.’ As with Fartosi’s promise to Binns on his release, these were fine words — but still just words.

			Binns’ replacement was Major General Barney White-Spunner. The notoriety White-Spunner would eventually acquire was in some ways unfair; he happened to be in the wrong place at the right time. Yet it is still striking that, ninety-two years after the Somme, with another — albeit vastly smaller — British expeditionary force facing another precipitous military disaster, the army still contrived to send a double-barrelled Etonian with a patrician manner and enthusiasm for field sports as its point man. One British officer then working in Baghdad says of White-Spunner that ‘the Americans were mystified by him, he had no obvious soldierly qualities, there was nothing obvious that marked him out as a strong commander’31 (though the same man added that within the British Army White-Spunner was ‘very highly regarded’). ‘I contend that he personified the US perception of the British being out of touch, complacent and lacking influence,’ Ben Ryan recalls of White-Spunner. ‘I always felt a tinge of embarrassment when attending meetings.’32 Iron, his old staff college contemporary, saw White-Spunner as different in style to Binns but ‘equally ineffective’.33

			After General Lloyd Austin and the new American command team arrived in Baghdad in February, Free flew up to see them. He took with him staff from Barney White-Spunner’s newly arrived divisional headquarters, but told them to say nothing as they were insufficiently acquainted with events in theatre. Free gave what he terms a brutally honest presentation to the Americans. He understood that they were angry with the British because they believed they were not protecting their people in Basra, most notably by interdicting ‘lethal aid’ from Iran. He explained that although MND(SE) was on paper a division, in reality it was little more than a brigade, and that he had already sent one battlegroup back home and been told to return another;34 Free’s entire division was comparable in size to the Provincial Reconstruction Team in Dhi Qar province. Free told the Americans there were some things he could not do — ‘When I tell you I can’t do something, what I’m telling you is I physically cannot do it’ — but other things he would not do, as he disagreed with them fundamentally; still others, he was prepared to do even though he did not have permission. ‘The one thing you can’t do is lie to an American,’ Free reasoned. Afterwards, Austin’s chief of staff rang him up. ‘General Austin and I both agree that we’ve never been in a more honest briefing,’ he said. ‘We’re not happy, but we’re very grateful for you being honest.’ Free believes the honesty he showed here helped matters later on, ‘when things went belly up’.

			On 14 February, Iron put together a document reflecting what he would like General Mohan’s strategy to be for the planned ‘Confrontation’ operation, including Mohan’s statements to him over the previous two months and a number of Iron’s own thoughts. Iron had the document translated into Arabic and gave it to Mohan, so he could agree, disagree, or amend as appropriate. ‘The main urban battles in Iraq since 2003 have all been fought by Americans,’ the document concluded. ‘This will be the last great urban battle in Iraq: it will be fought and won by Iraqis.’ ‘Although we would like to choose when this battle is fought,’ Iron added presciently, ‘it is possible that the battle may be forced upon us.’

			On 19 February, Mohan came to see Iron in a ‘tired and belligerent mood’. They discussed the Butler kidnap case, but for the first time since Iron had known him, Mohan also emphasised ‘the inevitability of a confrontation with Jaysh al-Mahdi’. He talked about the need for both the Iraqis and the British to throw everything they had into the fight, and stated that JAM had never been so divided; they were fighting themselves.35 Iron gave Mohan his version of his strategy in Arabic, in the car on the way back from the meeting. Mohan scanned it quickly and said, ‘Exactly right’. ‘Let’s see what he thinks when he’s reflected on it,’ Iron thought. The next step was to obtain additional Iraqi Army and Multi-National Corps support for the upcoming battle.

			Alongside the political machinations, there was low farce. During an evening rocket attack at the airport, the officer commanding the Provost Company (responsible for road safety) stopped his Land Rover and threw himself flat on the ground, just as they had been taught. Unfortunately, he left the vehicle in gear; it promptly ran him over, breaking both his legs. To gain attention in the dark, the wounded officer fired off a magazine from his rifle after the all-clear was sounded. First to find him was an RAF flight lieutenant, the brigade air liaison officer. He got out his morphine injector, pressed it against the policeman’s leg, and pushed hard with his thumb to make the auto-jet work. However, the injector was upside-down; the RAF man injected a full dose of morphine into his own thumb. ‘So the rocketeers scored two casualties from that attack, but they wouldn’t believe how they got them,’ Iron wrote in his diary.

			The next day an email arrived from Defence Intelligence Services in London, asking about Mohan’s future. Mowafaq al-Rubaie, the Iraqi national security advisor, had been in London stating that Prime Minister Maliki was going to replace Mohan very soon, perhaps at the end of March. Mohan was alleged to have accepted Iranian bribes, a charge Iron found hard to believe. In the headquarters in Basra, word was getting out that a confrontation with JAM might come soon. Muqtadr al-Sadr was due to announce whether the freeze on JAM’s military activity was to be continued. At a visit to an Iraqi naval unit at Umm Qasr, Mohan first berated Iron publicly for being British and never giving them anything, before telling the lunch table about the strategy Iron had written, stating it was perfect.36 Iron offered to send the document to Petraeus; Mohan was very keen. He thought that the best way to get it to the American commander might be via Bill Rollo in Baghdad, another of Iron’s senior officer friends.

			Iron gave the Iraqi general another draft briefing note, this time intended for the minister of defence. It was similar to the earlier document, describing mobilising, equipping and training the Iraqi 14th Division, completing the counter-insurgency infrastructure in Basra and controlling the border with Iran to prohibit enemy resupply as the key moves to be completed before ‘the Confrontation’ should take place. Ultimately,37 the document was a bid for resources from Baghdad.38

			On 28 February, Iron and Mohan travelled to Baghdad to make their case. Mohan was on the flight deck; on board were mostly soldiers from the new Mercian super-regiment, changing over the company based in Baghdad.39 On arrival at Baghdad International, there was a car waiting to take them to another VIP lounge; there, they waited the half-hour or so for Puma helicopters to take them into the Green Zone where they were staying. To Iron, the lounge was very American, lots of clean-cut US troops waiting. He was conscious of the dishevelled nature of his party; ‘I should have gone for that haircut this morning after all,’ he thought.

			Helicopters shuffled back and forth until all the Hercules’ passengers had been transferred.40 The flight to the Green Zone was ten minutes, over the lights of Baghdad. On landing Mohan was whisked away to his house, while Iron and his translator headed to Maude House, the residence of the senior British officer in Iraq (at this time, Bill Rollo). It was also, allegedly, the house that Saddam Hussein’s son Uday once used for sex trysts. From the outside, it was modest, with few but expansive rooms. Inside, the ceilings were eighteen feet high, and the rooms contained Italian chandeliers and gilt furniture. There were Arabic histories of Iraq in the bookcases, magnificent mirrors, marble floors and dados, marble bathrooms and exotic fittings. Iron’s room had been divided into six, but the partitions were only eight feet high, creating rooms that seemed like ‘hovels in the grandeur of Imperial Rome’.41

			Iron requested a meeting with General Petraeus, to lay out the strategy for the Basra operation.42 Petraeus was willing to meet Mohan as long as the entire US and Iraqi decision-making team were there. In the meantime, Mohan’s meeting with the minister of defence was a success.43 There no longer seemed to be discussion of removing him from Basra.44 The meeting with Petraeus took place over dinner at the Blackhawk convention centre, a complex of single-storey entertainment venues in a garden. Iron and his interpreter had spent two days working on their slides, getting Mohan’s agreement and corrections as they proceeded.45 Iron was therefore surprised — but given his experience of Mohan, not too surprised — when a mere seven minutes before they were due to start, Mohan pulled several handwritten notes from his folder, and, looking just a touch embarrassed, told Iron he was not going to use the slides. ‘Makoo mushkila,’ Iron said — no problem. It was Mohan, not Iron, who had to convince the audience; he had to find the way that was right for him.

			Mohan made his points forcefully, but in a rather rambling fashion, referring to two maps they had managed to hang from a wire alongside the screen, which was left throughout the presentation showing only the title slide. Iron consoled himself that the process of creating the presentation had helped Mohan structure his thoughts. The colonel had previously sent Petraeus a copy of the un-shown presentation, so the American general was well informed of what the strategy for Basra actually was. Petraeus began by stating that the strategy was good; they should not be in the business of telling Mohan exactly what tactics to use, but instead resourcing him so he could achieve success. The general suggested forming a committee to assess what resources the Government of Iraq could make available to Basra, and for Mohan then to analyse what impact this would have on his strategy.46 It was the result that Iron wanted.

			Back in Basra, Mohan and Iron spent a morning in a helicopter, conducting an aerial reconnaissance of the Iranian border with a Royal Engineer major to assess how they could build obstacles to help seal it off. Word was beginning to get out, though. On Wednesday 19 March, a number of visiting British journalists were taken to watch Iraqi Army training at Shaibah, where they had built a practice compound for urban warfare out of corrugated metal. Mohan delivered a lengthy speech in Arabic. The hacks, uncomprehending, looked bored. Iron, though, who had a grasp of Arabic, understood what Mohan was saying. Among the journalists was Kim Sengupta of the Independent. ‘He’s said to prepare for war, because they’re going to have to fight, very soon, to save Basra,’ Iron remarked to Sengupta. The journalist published a story the next day. The headline: ‘The final battle for Basra is near, says Iraqi general’. Iron and Mohan flew back to Baghdad, where they were told they would receive most of the equipment they had asked for — although the requested reinforcements would be less forthcoming. Mohan reacted petulantly, but that tantrum was about to be dwarfed by other events.

			On Friday 21 March, another meeting was planned in Baghdad to discuss the upcoming operation, still theoretically scheduled for months away. The night before, Mowafaq al-Rubaie was with Prime Minister Maliki until around 10 p.m. At around 2 a.m. — a time anti-social enough to upset his wife — al-Rubaie received a phone call from Maliki.47

			‘Abu Ali,’ Maliki said, ‘I’m going to go to Basra.’

			‘Well, we’re going to get briefed on the plan by Mohan and co.’ The briefing was scheduled for the next day.

			‘No, no, no,’ Maliki replied. ‘On Monday I’m taking over a military force and I’m going myself down there.’

			The next day al-Rubaie saw the prime minister.

			‘I’m determined to go,’ Maliki added.

			Only later did al-Rubaie find out that between his departure the night before and the late-night phone call, the prime minister received another phone call from Sayyid Abdulhakim, the representative in Basra of Ayatollah Sistani, the Najaf-based head of Iraqi Shia Muslims. According to al-Rubaie, it was Abdulhakim who encouraged Maliki to mount this prompt operation.

			Elsewhere, as Iron worked on his slides for the meeting, the news of the gun-jump was working its way out. Brigadier Aziz Swady, deputy commander of the 11th Iraqi Army Division in Baghdad, received a call from Maliki’s office summoning him to see the prime minister. Maliki asked Swady’s opinion about what was going on in Basra, given that Swady was from Muthanna, a southern province, and his parents lived in Basra.

			‘Sir, the situation is very dangerous,’ Swady said.

			‘How do you know that?’ Maliki asked.

			‘Every day they find more than fifty bodies in the street.’

			‘Yes, I know,’ Maliki replied. ‘Prepare yourself to come with me in the next three days.’

			Shortly afterwards, Swady encountered David Petraeus and his interpreter, the Palestinian Saadi Othman. ‘Please tell General Petraeus Maliki has yesterday asked me to come with him to Basra,’ Swady said.

			‘Go Aziz, go with him,’ Petraeus replied.

			By the time, therefore, that Mohan’s presentation started on the Friday, al-Rubaie was, in his own words, ‘listening and laughing inside’, knowing that none of this carefully-laid plan was in fact going to take place as its planners thought.

			During a break in the presentation, al-Rubaie took Petraeus outside and explained Maliki’s intention to jump the gun. ‘What?’ Petraeus replied. ‘You’re kidding me. This is not on. Absolutely not on. We don’t agree on that.’ The disbelief was not only due to the shock; it was also the changing objective. Everyone thought that the coalition objective was to clear the north, including Mosul, before moving on to other areas. While its minutiae were still being briefed, Iron and Mohan’s plan was undone.

			On Saturday morning, the 22nd, Petraeus and Ryan Crocker, the US ambassador to Iraq, went to see Maliki. Al-Rubaie, also present, recalls that he did the translating.

			‘This is madness,’ Petraeus said.

			‘David, I cannot translate this word,’ al-Rubaie interjected. The obvious Arabic translation is majnun — crazy. That is not something you can say to a prime minister.48

			‘This is wrong,’ Petraeus continued. ‘I don’t think this is right, this is like suicide.’ But Maliki was insistent. Petraeus left deeply unhappy.49

			The exact reasons for Maliki’s decision to bring the operation forward so dramatically remain unclear. Pete Mansoor points to a precedent from August 2007, when there was a gun battle in Karbala between JAM and the shrine guards during a major Shiite religious festival. After the Ayatollah cancelled the religious holiday — ‘this is like the Pope cancelling mass in the Vatican’, according to Mansoor50 — word went from Najaf to Baghdad that Maliki needed to get Karbala under control. A frantic series of phone calls ensued between Maliki’s office, Petraeus and Mansoor, before the prime minister jumped into a convoy with about sixty SUVs and his own private AK-47. He walked around the streets of the city rescuing people; for all the mad theatre of it, the act was successful, getting Karbala under control. Mansoor also believes that the prime minister had been spooked by unconfirmed reports of militia forces raping women in Basra and carrying out other violent actions, which dovetails with Swady’s account of his earlier meeting with the prime minister.51

			Regardless of Maliki’s exact motivations, his decision to jump the gun on the Basra operation had precipitous consequences, not least for the reputation of the British Army in American eyes. Richard Iron, the architect of the plan that was not to be, was not in Iraq to see what initially took place, though. After the Baghdad briefing he too was bound for England and leave. On Saturday 22 March, he flew from Baghdad to Basra by Hercules. Iron heard from a British brigadier in Baghdad that Maliki was planning to come to Basra on Monday and had ordered two battalions to move. In Basra, he nearly got off the plane with Mohan, before thinking, ‘I can’t do this to my family.’ Iron stayed on the Hercules for its next leg to Kuwait, and there caught a Tristar back to the UK.52

			That afternoon, the news broke that Maliki had decided to go immediately, and existing plans were out of the window. In Baghdad in the evening, Austin held a commanders’ supper, with his divisional chiefs, and no staff present. Free was also there. They drank Coke; the Americans did not offer alcohol at such events. That night, Free flew back to Basra. By Sunday, Iraqi troops were starting to turn up at the airport.




			Chapter 15

			Charge

			On Monday 24 March, Maliki flies in to Basra. Already the name of the operation is generally known: it is to be called the Charge of the Knights, Sawlat al-Fursan in Arabic. Later, Richard Iron is amused to read a blog suggesting that the westerners are still using imperialistic names for their military undertakings. The name, as with the advanced date of the operation, is the Iraqis’ own invention.

			In Basra, BBC correspondent Caroline Wyatt, based in Baghdad as cover in the bureau there, is completing an embedded visit to British troops.1 It is the fifth anniversary of the invasion, the army seeking to put something banal on air about what has been achieved. A troupe of journalists flies down from Baghdad. John Simpson is in Basra too. Unusually, the army moves the Baghdad contingent by helicopter rather than Hercules aircraft. Wyatt has been in Basra for about a week filming, asking soldiers what they believe has been achieved. On camera, the troops look at the positive side; off camera they are more mixed.2 Shortly afterwards, and before the embed is due to end, the BBC team is bundled onto a helicopter and flown back to Baghdad without explanation. When Wyatt realises that Charge of the Knights is happening in Basra and that the army tried to get her away just as a huge story — and a total contrast to the banality of the embed — was breaking, she is ‘incandescent’.

			On Monday 24 March, Iraqi Brigadier Aziz Swady is among those who fly down to Basra with Prime Minister Maliki. Also on board the prime minister’s jet are Abdulqader al-Obaidi, the defence minister, and other senior government figures. Before the plane lands, Ben Ryan’s RDG squadron are tasked to bolster the RAF regiment troops providing security to the perimeter of the airfield by parking their Warriors at the fringes. Ryan hears there are VIPs inbound and heads towards the terminal building. He is there when Brigadier Julian Free has his profoundly awkward encounter with the Iraqi prime minister.

			Before flying to the palace, Maliki briefs the Iraqi media at the airport, saying the aim of the operation is ‘to establish the rule of law’. Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq, in Abu al-Khasib outside Basra, remembers sitting with her sister, parents and four brothers around the television during the days that follow, as all Iraqi and international media focused on what was going on in the city.3 They were scared to leave the house.

			Meanwhile, at the palace on Monday, there is a meeting; Mohan is present, and Jalil, the chief of police. Maliki asks how the situation is. Mohan and Jalil assure him that it is well in hand. Immediately a barrage of IDF strikes the palace, dramatically putting the lie to those statements. The prime minister repeats his message from the airport: they are going to enforce the law and help Basra. Swady has sent a detachment of Humvees to the palace. He leaves with Mohan and Jalil for the Shatt al-Arab hotel, the headquarters of the BOC. They are attacked on the way by RPGs.

			Early fighting goes badly wrong for the Iraqi Army. In theory the 14th Division, based in Basra, has three brigades. All three have gone through the brigade train-and-equip process conducted at Basmaya. However, the division was at the end of the queue for kit. It is the only such formation with AK-47 rifles (all the others have M-16s), and it also has very few armoured vehicles. 3rd Brigade of 14th Division (later re-designated as 52 Brigade) has just come out of Basmaya a few weeks previously, so is the least experienced. It is also its misfortune to be located nearest the Shia ghettoes, and therefore the easiest for JAM to attack. The brigade collapses under severe attack on Friday of the first week. Mohan estimates that 1,200 soldiers desert that day.4

			At the airport, Ben Ryan receives impassioned telephone calls from the Iraqi commanders they have trained with. They have to make excuses; the word at ground level is that PJHQ is begging Whitehall for permission to go into the city and Downing Street is withholding it. There is tracer fire visible on the horizon in the city, and soldiers gather at the perimeter of the airport to watch. After all the game-playing and purposelessness of recent training tasks, here at last is a situation in which they could make a difference. Yet they remain leashed. The only silver lining is that the rocket fire has stopped — JAM has other things to do now.

			In the city, the Iraqis lose large numbers of soldiers. On the third day of the offensive, Aziz Swady is at the BOC watching a drone feed when he sees the militia attack the vehicle of an Iraqi lieutenant colonel. ‘We need your help, you are our partners,’ Swady implores a British officer. The officer replies that the British cannot enter the city.

			Iraqi logistics are in tatters. Forty-eight hours into the operation, Paul Harkness flies to Baghdad in an RAF Hercules with the logistics officer from his training team. There he bangs on doors at the headquarters of Multi-National Security Transition Command — Iraq, known universally as ‘Min-sticky’ (MNSTC–I), the body responsible for training Iraqi security forces. Harkness begs for ammunition and medical support. The Americans are fully backing events in Basra, even though there has not yet been time to deploy US units down there. MNSTC–I delivers an Iraqi medical team with equipment and pallets of small-arms ammunition. The RAF refuse to fly passengers and ammunition on the same aircraft, so Harkness hitches a lift back in a US Hercules with the supplies.

			Even though Petraeus had pushed back against Maliki’s decision to jump the gun, once it has been made, the US backs it to the hilt. If the operation fails, Maliki is dead, politically.5 And with no Maliki, the United States has no local face on its trillion-dollar adventure in Iraq. He must be supported.

			*

			In Habbaniyah, a city in between Ramadi and Baghdad in Anbar Province, Eric Whyne, a US Marine captain in his late twenties, walks in to a briefing room to see ‘The Battle of Basra’ written on a whiteboard.6 Whyne is on his second tour of Iraq, and part of an American ‘military transition team’ attached first to the Iraqi 341 infantry battalion. The work of Whyne’s fifteen-strong outfit — named ‘Team Razor’ — indicates profoundly how different American and British approaches to training the Iraqi Army have become. Unlike their counterparts in Basra, who commute to their Iraqis, Whyne’s team and others like it live with the roughly 1,000-strong battalion for months on end, creating the ‘shared risk’ so essential for such partnering to function. It can be frightening work: the risk of attack from the men they are ostensibly training is real. Initially based in al-Nasr wal-Salaam, a city 30km west of Baghdad, Whyne’s MiTT created their own segregated sleeping space, granting some security, and kept their vehicles outside, ready to go at a moment’s notice. The integration is not total. For health reasons, the MiTT creates its own area in the chow hall, but they often go out for meals in town with the locals. They shit in plastic bags — there is no working sanitation. They become experts in treating gunshot wounds to calves, caused by Iraqi soldiers knocking weapons with a round chambered slung over their shoulders, and firing by accident. They ensure the Iraqi troops get paid on time. They try to instigate some form of weapons accountability by recording serial numbers on rifles and holding them in a central armoury.

			Before Charge of the Knights, Whyne’s MiTT is transferred from 341 to 111, another Iraqi infantry battalion, based in part in Habbaniyah. The numbers are sequential — lower numbered units were formed first, and 111, trained early in the war by US Special Forces and with substantial combat experience, is a significantly more professional outfit than 341. It is better equipped and has a much lower proportion of ‘ghost soldiers’, who exist on nominal rolls but not in reality. 111 is earmarked as Maliki’s quick-reaction force.10 When the prime minister jumped the gun in March, 111 were part of the stampede of Iraqi troops that made for Basra; Team Razor travelled with them.

			On the morning that Whyne sees ‘The Battle of Basra’ written on the whiteboard, a major in his unit delivers a brief. They are on the move within twelve hours; the journey south takes thirty-six. The Iraqi battalions heading for Basra condense into long convoys comprising multiple units. From Fallujah onwards they sit in traffic — in Humvees, with one early four-wheeled MRAP, a mine-resistant pantechnicon with a V-shaped hull. The convoy is a combination of pickups, some of them Toyotas and some of them fancy, and Humvees. It is slow chaos — stop and go. Often soldiers get out; they can walk faster than the convoy moves.11 Whyne’s unit has been told that in Basra the local Iraqi Army has abandoned their units and equipment. Their battalion is to regain control of abandoned districts.

			As they move south, they must carefully co-ordinate their traversal of territory overseen by different military commands.12 After a day and a half, they reach the British base at Basra airport. They negotiate food for their Iraqi troops, and enter the British dining hall. The British are not expecting them; they are told they can eat, but only after the British soldiers are finished. Whyne meets with British officers who have been training the Iraqis; they do not have much useful information. After a brief spell there, 111 battalion and Team Razor head on into town, into the fight.

			The American MiTTs are going in. The British meanwhile, are still waiting at the airport.

			*

			The key interface in all of this, in the decisions at the endgame for the British in Iraq, is PJHQ, Permanent Joint Headquarters, at Northwood in Middlesex. It is an old Cold War bunker, the place where they ran the Falklands War, stood up as a new joint establishment in 1996. Much of it is still an underground warren: nuclear-proof doors, forced air, flights of stairs. There will be a grand renovation soon, and an end to troglodytic living, but in 2008 that is still to come. Unhelpfully, the chief of joint operations, the three-star officer who runs the place and who is in command of all British operations worldwide, is not based underground. His headquarters sits on the surface, in a building that resembles an old secondary modern school. CJO in March 2008 is still Lieutenant General Nick Houghton,13 who clashed with Richard Shirreff in the run-up to Operation Sinbad. In the operations stream under Houghton is the chief of staff, a major general, and below that multiple staff branches, J-1 to J-9,14 each headed by a brigadier. The most important of these is the one responsible for operations, the assistant chief of staff — J3 (Ops), also known as ACOS J3 Ops. In March 2008, the holder of that office is Brigadier Patrick Marriott. With the endless rotation of commanders in Iraq and Afghanistan, PJHQ is supposed to provide continuity, while also allowing deployed commanders initiative in accordance with the doctrine of mission command. In neither of these roles is PJHQ wholly successful.15

			During Charge of the Knights, the key interaction between the UK and Iraq is that between Patrick Marriott (ACOS J3 Ops) and, with Barney White-Spunner absent, Brigadier Julian Free in Basra. The summer before, while the negotiations for the accommodation were underway, Marriott wrote a memo to his two-star boss, the PJHQ chief of staff, criticising the deal:

			We’re on very uncertain ground as to where this could lead. The plan is too short term for my liking … the media aspects of families finding out that those who may have killed their next of kin are being released would have immense ramifications … a course of action that could return and bite the UK … I fully applaud the intent but not this construct; this is a gamble not a risk and we should not gamble.16

			Marriott’s recollection of the pivotal phone call during Charge of the Knights, in which Free explained the situation, is that he answered, ‘I’ll keep them off your back for as long as I possibly can. You just go for it, otherwise the British Army’s reputation with the Americans, and the Iraqis, and probably with a lot more people as well, will be trashed.’ Free also remembers informing Marriott of his plan to send British troops back into Basra. Marriott reports to the two-star above him, who he suspects calls Houghton, who then starts talking to the deputy chief of the general staff (commitments) in the MoD main building.17 Free’s recollection is that he told Lieutenant Colonel Gary Deakin, the commanding officer of 1 LANCS, to start assembling a force as early as Monday night (24 March).

			Ben Ryan, whose RDG squadron will be part of the package to re-enter Basra, is issued with a personal locator beacon, a device that resembles the personal role radios (PRRs) the soldiers wear on their chest rigs, and that can transmit their locations should they get into trouble — a sign that the move is really likely to happen. Tellingly, though, the Iraqi commanders in the city, earlier frantically calling for British assistance, eventually stop answering their phones.

			On Thursday 27 March, US President George Bush delivers a speech at the National Museum of the US Air Force in Ohio. ‘Prime Minister Maliki’s bold decision — and it was a bold decision — to go after the illegal groups in Basra shows his leadership, and his commitment to enforce the law in an even-handed manner,’ Bush states.18 On the same day, General Lloyd Austin makes his visit to Basra. Before Free travels to the palace with Austin, he visits the BOC in the Shatt al-Arab hotel with the minister of defence and General Mohan.19 There are rumours that the Iraqi authorities have entered into discussions with the militia groups, but Prime Minister Maliki is reportedly ‘determined not to do a deal’.

			The following day, Friday 28 March, Major General George Flynn flies to Basra and tells the British he is here to stop their failure, or the failure of their overwatch. Flynn subsequently flies to the palace on a British Merlin helicopter; there is a swift touch-and-go landing. It is chaos within. The palace is receiving occasional mortar fire, there are prisoners the Iraqi Army has taken, armoured vehicles stand in the compound. Flynn finds Rear Admiral Edward Winters, a US officer with a special-operations background who was travelling with Maliki when the prime minister’s entourage flew south on the Monday. Flynn and Winters sleep in a small room with their aides; they are the only Americans at the palace.

			Meanwhile, Barney White-Spunner has finally made it back to Basra. Previously in Austria on R&R, the first message he receives from his own office in Iraq, probably on Monday 24, said ‘Something’s happening, we’re not sure what.’ There seemed little urgency. Free’s recollection is he initially advised his boss not to come back sooner: given Maliki’s fractious mood, it was easier to have a one-star rather than a two-star British officer snubbed by the Iraqi prime minister. The call telling White-Spunner to return to Iraq came either on Tuesday or Wednesday, from Free or his military assistant. On or around Wednesday 26 March, White-Spunner travels from Zürs to Zürich in order to fly commercial to Kuwait. At Zürich, he at first has difficulty persuading the airline to let him on board as he does not have a visa to get an onward ticket from Kuwait. He asks for a military aircraft to be sent from Basra to Kuwait to pick him up. The Chilcot narrative reports that he arrives in Basra on the 28 March, although White-Spunner believes it was probably late the previous evening. He also believes George Flynn was not there when he arrived.20

			In Baghdad, David Petraeus speaks to Maliki by telephone. The prime minister tells the general that everything is going fine. ‘Prime minister, it’s not the way we’re seeing this thing,’ Petraeus replies. ‘We’re scrambling, we’re doing everything we can, we’re going to retrieve this and we’re going to defeat them in the end. But I need you to do anything you can to buy time.’ The violence in Basra has spilled over to Sadr City, the Shia district in Baghdad. Each day between twelve and fifteen volleys of rockets fly out towards the Green Zone, each volley averaging around twelve rockets. At US headquarters, no one can sleep in the shelters outside, even though they are sandbagged; several are hit (fortunately with no one in them). One day, despite the rocket fire, Petraeus deliberately accompanies his translator Saadi Othman on one of his smoking walks outside. ‘I just had to show myself, keep calm and carry on,’ Petraeus remembers. ‘The whole compound just exploded all around us.’

			*

			Back in Basra at the palace, the planning sessions are chaotic. George Flynn goes to see Abdulqader, the defence minister, and tells him ‘we had zero situational awareness of what was going on’. Flynn’s plan is to get that situational awareness from the Iraqi units now travelling south from Anbar with their US MiTTs, such as the battalion Eric Whyne is moving with, before clearing the city. American ANGLICOs, the air naval gunfire liaison units that can direct airstrikes, are also inbound. On Saturday, 29 March, Maliki makes a statement on Iraqi television. He says that he is trying to build a state governed by law and order, and accuses ex-Baathists and people with ‘influences from across the border’ of not wanting stability for Iraq. He has come to Basra to remove ‘gangs and thugs’ — as long as such people are around there can be no future — and reiterates his intention to stay in Basra ‘until all had subjected themselves to the rule of law’. There are reports in the Iraqi media that more than a hundred police officers have been sacked in Basra, apparently for losing their weapons or abandoning their posts during the clashes.21

			*

			The next day, Sunday 30 March, Flynn first meets his US MiTT team. He has priority on all the close air support he wants, and orders his first airstrike on the rocket and mortar teams attacking the palace.

			Eric Whyne’s Team Razor is among the American units fighting their way into the city. From the British base at the airport they move to a television station; there they stay for four days, facing intense direct and indirect fire. A reporter embedded with them is shot in the thigh on the first day of his assignment. There is no sign of any British military units. One day, Whyne is brushing his teeth as a mortar strikes a way ahead of him. A second round comes closer. Whyne hops in a Humvee and closes the doors. He fires the truck up, slams it into reverse, and as it starts to move another mortar impacts where he was moments before. Both tyres are flattened in the blast, the windshield is shattered; the engine is toast. Another marine faints. One of the Iraqi soldiers in the battalion is shot in the head. Whyne’s American commander tells him to send the casualty up for treatment. Whyne explains he’s dead. ‘I don’t care if you think he’s KIA [killed in action].’ Whyne is told. ‘Treat it and then send him up here.’ Whyne places gauze on the corpse’s head and sends him back.

			The situation is brutal for the Iraqi troops too. Lieutenant Colonel Abdul-Melhem Ayyoub, an engineering officer, is part of a bomb disposal unit in Basra during the operation. For him too, ‘JAM’ is far from a monolithic force, rather a collection of varied militia, some ideological, others criminal, still others aligned with the previous regime. Ayyoub served in the Saddam-era army; he lost his job when it was dissolved after the invasion, and when he was later taken back, he had a lower rank than he had before 2003. In 2007, his unit had undertaken several joint operations with British troops, and the partnership was close. The Iraqis noted with amusement how much the British fetishised timekeeping. But then the British had withdrawn to the airbase. Ayyoub’s unit still went to the foreigners for orders but the dynamic had changed. In the immediate prelude to Charge of the Knights, there was little support from the coalition; meanwhile, the IEDs they faced increased in sophistication.

			Ayyoub’s unit was around 120 strong; they rode in Honda and Mazda pickups, as their specialist vehicles would not arrive until the end of 2008. During Charge of the Knights, the BOC lent them Humvees. They did not have direct engagement with British or American forces — rather, they would get in touch with them when they were low on supplies. Ayyoub did not deploy out on every operation with his unit — whether officers were required depended on the complexity of the devices they faced. Later during the Charge, however, he did go out, and he and his men ran into trouble. On 2 April, they deployed into the al-Hayaniya neighbourhood to clear IEDs, barely 2km from the BOC at the Shatt al-Arab hotel. Intelligence suggested the population in the area would welcome an operation to clear the bombs, and so they deployed in an ambulance rather than a military vehicle. They stopped on the roadside, hoping to be in and out quickly. They disconnected an IED, only to be fired on with Kalashnikovs. Two of the party were injured; one died the following day. Ayyoub’s group was pinned down until another Iraqi unit came to their rescue. He found out later that a UK representative at the BOC suggested an airlift, but the Iraqis had said that there was no need, and that they had the situation under control.

			*

			The Americans are fighting. The Iraqis are fighting. Still, however, there is no sign of the British, on their own patch.

			The US airstrikes and assistance have a rapid effect, though. On Monday, 31 March, the British Embassy in Baghdad reports that Muqtada al-Sadr has issued a statement calling for a ceasefire.22 It asks for an end to armed demonstrations and to ‘illegal arrests’, and for the return of those who were displaced because of the violence.23 The embassy reports that the Iraqi government has welcomed the offer. In Basra, meanwhile, troops continue their operations.

			On 1 April, Barney White-Spunner sends a document to the chief of joint operations at Northwood titled ‘Deployment of Embedded UK MiTT into Basra City’:

			We are making this request because we believe that the changed situation brought about by Prime Minister Maliki’s ‘Charge of the Knights’ operation last week requires us to rethink our military posture at least in part. The US have already deployed their MiTTs into Basra, which were embedded in those ISF [Iraqi Security Forces] units sent rapidly to the city last week.

			White-Spunner’s document proposes four levels of assistance, one MiTT to mentor the headquarters of the 14th Division, one for the headquarters of 50 and 51 Brigades, three to work with battalion headquarters and one to work with the logistic chain for the Iraqi division. The note continues:

			Deploying the MiTTs is not without risk; however, given the changed circumstances in the city this risk is worth taking in a measured and proportional manner as the gains to ISF capability, UK military standing within the coalition and the security situation in Basra could be significant.24

			Agreement from London comes swiftly. White-Spunner is ‘gratifyingly surprised’.25

			The exact date on which British troops re-entered the city is hard to verify. The move definitely took place at night. White-Spunner’s letter to Northwood proposed that ideally UK MiTTs would be in a position to deploy by last light on Wednesday 2 April. White-Spunner believes that some troops entered earlier, on 1 April. Ben Ryan, who was in the initial move, believes they were meant to deploy at midnight on the night of 31 March/1 April, and were then delayed and deployed on the 2nd. Regardless, it is over a week after Maliki first launched the operation, and well after US troops got into the fight.

			The British move back into Basra is known as ‘Operation Warnock’. The initial detachment is about 120 strong; it includes Ben Ryan’s RDG squadron in their Warriors, a platoon from 1 SCOTS, snipers, Javelin missile operators, two men from the SAS and four from the SBS, whose role it is to co-ordinate air support. Lieutenant Colonel Charlie Herbert, the commanding officer of 1 SCOTS, is the senior officer present, but he delegates the organisation of the move into town to Ryan. The troops are deeply apprehensive. No British convoy has entered the city since the extraction from the palace in September of the previous year. There are rumours that Basra is girded with IED belts.

			Down on the tank park at the airport, Julian Free sees them off, while a padre blesses the party, escalating rather than alleviating Ryan’s anxiety. Outside the British base, they link up with a theoretical Iraqi Army escort from 51 and 50 Brigades. There are fast jets overhead and two Apache helicopters as outriders. They drive towards the Shatt al-Arab hotel. In front of Ryan’s wagon in the convoy is a recovery vehicle. They have to traverse a small bridge, and the recovery vehicle starts to tip. The convoy grinds to a halt. As with Guy Williams in 2004 on Operation Bracken, there is drowning potential here, but everyone gets out of the stricken Warrior safely. Still, they have to blow off a track and pull the vehicle out, retrieve people, weapons and electronic counter-measures equipment. Ryan’s heart beats ‘ten to the dozen’ — immobilised like this, they are a sitting target. The two SAS men riding in his vehicle keep asking what the intelligence picture is. ‘I have no idea,’ Ryan replies. They are driving in blind.

			By this stage, though, the Basra fight is largely done. The original intention was for the British to deploy to pair up with Iraqi units’ locations — at last, the British are taking up the practise of embedding advisors. However, as it is already daylight, Charlie Herbert decides to wait until the following night to move out. At the Shatt al-Arab, Ryan hears noise of torture: lines of blindfolded Iraqis who have been rounded up during the operation are being taken systematically through various rooms. After hearing cries Ryan asks them to stop — ‘like a school dormitory,’ he says, ‘knocking on doors saying, can you keep the noise down’.26 Ryan reports the events to the British chain of command.

			The following nightfall they deploy out to their MiTT locations in the city. Ryan takes his squadron headquarters, one troop and a group of snipers to an Iraqi battalion that is downtown, just above the restive al-Hayaniya district. For two days they remain there, mounting patrols, but making sure the Iraqis are seen to be in the lead. There is skirmishing, occasional exchange of fire, and some air support, but there is not intense fighting. Within days, someone in the Iraqi chain of command becomes nervous about armoured vehicles on the streets — it might suggest occupation. Ryan’s unit take their Warriors back out and reorganise, using the new wheeled Mastiff vehicles instead.

			Also arriving in Basra on 1 April is Alex Lemons, a US Marine Corps sergeant working as part of a three-strong team acting as a ‘long telescope’ for General Petraeus, travelling around the country largely outside the chain of command to feed ‘ground truth’ to the commander directly.27 Now Lemons’ crew, their enhanced M1151 Humvee painted the same chocolate-chip colour as the Iraqi vehicles, hitches a ride south from Diwaniya with a US Army National Guard unit from Texas. Their plan is to team up with the Iraqi 348 battalion, part of the 8th Division. On arrival in Basra, they head to the airport. Lemons’ team is used to frigid welcomes — the perception that they have arrived to report back sneakily to the commanding general — and this is no exception. They sense that General Flynn thinks they are cowboys, a finding not helped by their tendency to wear trainers rather than regulation boots, and to eschew badges of rank. Nonetheless, they jump on a British Merlin helicopter to the palace. The intelligence they have seen suggests significant fighting in the city, but Lemons suspects those reports are overblown. The chaos at the palace, though, particularly in terms of logistics, is real enough. There they find the Hillah SWAT, an Iraqi Police special operations team, without food. On 2 April, Lemons watches starving police throw fragmentation and flashbang grenades into a lake at the palace to kill or concuss fish. The best swimmer swims out, bites into a stunned fish, and returns with it in his mouth.28 To Lemons, too, the British appear to have ‘thrown in the towel’. Lemons’ team’s relations with their own countrymen are little better; General George Flynn eventually throws them out.29

			Charge of the Knights continues in distinct phases into April. It is now a deliberate clearance operation, and a relatively successful one. Iraqi forces with their coalition advisors seal off neighbourhoods; they put out leaflets, place water and food on the perimeter and say, in Flynn’s telling, ‘If you want to cooperate, it’s not going to be a bad day for you.’ Gradually, the city is prised from militia control.

			On 10 April, Barney White-Spunner reports that the Iraqi security forces have reasonable freedom of movement on Basra’s main routes, and in the centre and east, but less so in the north and west, where effective IED attacks against their patrols continue and small-arms fire incidents are commonplace. The second phase of the operation begins on 12 April, with house-to-house operations meeting little resistance and recovering weapons caches. Richard Iron watches in al-Qibla, the area renowned for JAM activism and frequent attacks on the British Army. The Iraqis concentrate the equivalent of one police and six army battalions in an area 3km by 4km. The zone has been surrounded for the previous two days, and the main road running through the centre has been gradually strengthened for the same period, with operations to clear the IED belts laid to protect the estates from the Iraqi security forces. Humanitarian aid was delivered for the preceding four days. They intend to conduct a massive search operation of the entire area, to clear it of weapons. ‘Of course we expected JAM to resist this incursion into one of the heartlands, so we needed to be prepared to conduct an offensive operation to clear it before we could start searching,’ Iron writes in his diary. However, it turns out the militia have already been largely defeated.

			At 6 a.m., Iron and his translator, Sergeant Nigel Preisner, deploy sitting in General Swady’s vehicle. They head to a road junction at the northern end of al-Qibla, a location which the Iraqi Army has already fortified: there are four tanks, three T-55s and one T-72, and about a hundred infantry in the area. The site is also serving as the main BOC operations room; an Iraqi officer has established a radio room in a small building next to a scrapyard. After a few futile attempts to get their own communications system working, Iron’s team settles down on the veranda of the Iraqi temporary headquarters to await events. A few snipers work against the security forces, but Iron’s men are well protected in the lee of the building.

			The Iraqi Army’s 1st Brigade moves into position, together with their US Marine Corps advisors. Within a few minutes, they have started their wake-up call to al-Qibla, using vehicle-mounted loudspeakers: ‘Do not be alarmed. This is the Iraqi Army. You have nothing to fear. Place your weapons outside your houses.’ The cry is repeated incessantly as they advance, street by street, through al-Qibla. They divide the area into six zones, a grid of three by two, split by a main bisecting road running roughly north-south. To the west of the road are the three areas where they expect the least resistance. 1st Brigade, probably the best brigade in the Iraqi Army, tackles the more difficult eastern sector; the south-eastern corner is expected to harbour the most resistance.

			As it is, there is virtually no resistance at all. A few diehards take some pot shots, but the preparatory work to dismantle the IED networks has effectively undermined their defences. Lots of weapons are found, however: IEDs, mortars and RPGs, as well as the paraphernalia of a guerrilla organisation — radios, written records, body armour. A sheikh proudly brings in a pile of weaponry, ‘which we all went to go and look at: a real scrum round all sorts of high explosive ordnance,’ Iron writes. ‘Mohan walked straight on top of the pile, including sensitive mortar fuses. At that stage I decided to keep my distance.’

			By early afternoon, the Iraqi Army has declared the operation a success; although it is still ongoing, and the difficult south-eastern corner has still to be cleared, it is clear that JAM has ceded control of al-Qibla. It is also clear that the local people are on the side of the security forces. There are lots of waves and cheery smiles, ‘as of a people relieved to be freed of the JAM yoke’. An impromptu press conference is held in the street, including a small celebratory dance by Iraqi soldiers, rifles uplifted in their right hands, left hands behind their heads, circling and singing in a way reminiscent of a native American tribal dance. Mohan makes Sergeant Preisner join in the dance. Subsequently it will be reprised many times, including to the defence minister, ‘to the utter delight of all Iraqis who see it’.

			*

			On 14 April, an Iraqi sergeant approaches Aziz Swady, bringing a westerner without shoes. ‘This guy — we find him, and he’s not speaking,’ the sergeant announces. It is Richard Butler, the journalist taken hostage months before. Butler tells Swady he was expecting to die or be taken to Iran. On the 19th, Phase III of Charge of the Knights targets al-Hayaniya, the traditional JAM stronghold. It goes smoothly; thirty-five large weapons caches are recovered, containing 1,000 mortar rounds (some marked ‘IRAN 2008’), over 500 rockets, 450 rocket-propelled grenades and a large number of IEDs, EFPs and small arms. On the 21st, a roadside bomb kills Matt Vandergrift, a US Marine first lieutenant serving with Eric Whyne. Vandergrift is the only American casualty of the operation. Charge of the Knights Phase IV launches on 24 April, in the Five Mile Market area, the largest of the three remaining JAM strongholds in Basra. The next morning Richard Iron is there; again, Iraqi troops go in at dawn with massive force. It is the first major search operation to encounter no resistance at all. Nobody fires at them. On the 28th, Phase V takes place in Jumariya. Basra is finally being cleaned out, just as in Baghdad US and Iraqi forces cleared the rocket teams from Sadr City. In planning meetings Barney White-Spunner now co-chairs with Flynn.

			In years to come, the architects of previous attempts to fix Basra will suggest that Charge of the Knights, in its execution, owed much to the theoretical plans of their own ventures. Justin Maciejewski argues Charge of the Knights ‘was exactly the same as Sinbad … Sinbad was a kind of an under-resourced precursor’. For Richard Iron, what happens is broadly the operation that he and Mohan discussed back in the St Martin’s Lane Hotel in London — if much earlier than planned. George Flynn holds a different view. ‘I can tell you Mohan wasn’t the great general that maybe people have told you he was,’ he said in 2017, pointing in addition to one occasion where he had to intervene with Mohan’s haphazard planning to prevent fratricide.

			On 6 May, Iron flies with Mohan to conduct an aerial reconnaissance of al-Qurna, the target of their next operation, roughly 80km north of Basra.30 They travel in Russian-made Iraqi helicopters; the machines look the part, Iron notes, ‘clean, well maintained, and the crew were well turned out and professional looking’. They are a far cry from the Ukrainian-crewed helicopters Iron flew in Sierra Leone. After about ten minutes of flying, the road they have been following peters out in the desert. Iron shows them their position on his map, 25km to the east of where they think they are. ‘It dawned on me I had the only map on the aircraft; no others were visible in the cockpit,’ Iron writes. Mohan promptly takes the map. ‘I thought it a bit rash to separate the map from the only person who could read it, so I perched myself behind Mohan in the open door of the cockpit and tried to navigate over his shoulder. I was worried for a while we were heading east straight for Iran, but then I realised the compass was in Cyrillic and we were going north after all.’ This navigational confusion is a fitting endnote for the two men’s months of curious collaboration.

			In the later stages of Charge of the Knights, Ben Ryan becomes, in his words, the ‘loosely named chief of staff’ of the BOC, where Richard Iron is in charge. There is tension between the two men, and between Iron and 1 SCOTS CO Charlie Herbert, given that Iron, as Mohan’s mentor, sits outside the British chain of command.31 Ryan believes that Iron, while effective, has gone somewhat native. The hotel, meanwhile, has been stripped of anything useful, right down to the wiring — it looks like a bombsite. By this stage, the Iraqi headquarters staff have been there for a while. They shit in the open; it stinks. There is an operations room, with a bedroom next door. The British place camp cots under mosquito nets and a guard on the door. It is stiflingly hot, and to begin with, their own toilet facilities are a bucket — bring your own plastic bag. An outbreak of paratyphoid takes out a number of British troops at the hotel for a while. The investigation requires a team of health advisors from the UK.

			The staff at the BOC are not the only ones in the shit in Basra in 2008. Although the operation is eventually largely successful in terms of clearing out the militia from the city, the manner of its execution — Americans descending en masse to bail out British forces who cannot, or will not, commit until after the crisis has passed — is an acute and lasting humiliation to the British Army. That summer, Prime Minister Gordon Brown flies to Baghdad. At Maude House, David Petraeus holds an hour and half’s meeting with the British prime minister. The general believes it has gone well; Brown seems engaged. He mentions nothing about withdrawal. At the press conference immediately afterwards, however, Brown announces a troop drawdown, ambushing Petraeus. ‘The bottom line was that he announced a drawdown, but hadn’t announced it to us,’ Petraeus recalls.

			Before the final withdrawal, two more British brigades cycle through Iraq. There is sensible behaviour from the British commanders on the last Telic rotations. There are no deals or false promises, and security in Basra remains better. The eventual flag-lowering ceremony takes place at Basra Airport in April 2009 (a naval training team will linger until 2011). 20th Armoured Brigade hands over to US forces. New Defence Secretary John Hutton attends a memorial service for the military personnel killed in the conflict. The focus is a memorial wall featuring the names of 234 UK and foreign troops and civilians who lost their lives under British command in Iraq. The names, including American, Danish, Dutch, Italian and Romanian troops, are read out before the Last Post is sounded and prayers said. There is a loud roar from a Tornado aircraft flying overhead.32

			The Iraq body count estimates the civilian death toll in Basra as between 3,302 and 3,766. Longer term, too, the outlook for the city is much less rosy. A decade on, both Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq and Abdul-Melhem Ayyoub speak damningly of the current situation. ‘In 2008 we were worried and scared but I saw Iraq as being quite beautiful,’ the former said in 2018. ‘It’s much more dangerous now; there’s much more fear, there are many militia, and security is worse due to constant protests calling for this dictatorship government to stand down. This government is worse than Saddam’s government. It is very, very difficult in Basra city. There is a broad range of militia.’33

			‘Before 2008, there were attempts to improve Iraq,’ adds Ayyoub. ‘There was a tremendous amount of investment, and many people were trained and capacity was built across different sectors in the country. The work gave us hope that the country was going in a positive direction. The battle — Charge of the Knights — was supposed to rid us of these militia, but the situation has been turned on its head between 2008 and 2018. We are now ten years on, and the only thing that has really changed is that the people we fought for have left us and the people we fought against are in power.’34

			In 2018, in the aftermath of federal elections in Iraq, protests erupted in Basra over water shortages, water contamination, and the lack of electricity, rubbish collection and jobs. The environmental degradation in the province is significant and cholera has broken out. Crowds shouted their opposition to continued Iranian influence. Although the province is heavily contested, there was no clear political force behind the intense rioting. Protestors blockaded and closed down the port at Umm Qasr, and the governor’s office, provincial council and other government buildings were burnt down, as were the Iranian consulate and headquarters for militia affiliated to the Popular Mobilisation Forces. The Sadrist militia headquarters was, however, spared. JAM lives on.

			In Basra, the idea that the British Army took to war in 2003 — that you could go abroad and simply do good with a rifle — came crashing down.

			*

			Even in the shorter term, when Charge of the Knights appeared to have been successful at purging militia influence from the city, for the British Army the operation was a humiliation, a shredder taken to the other real reason the institution went to war in 2003: its reputation with the Americans. The Americans do not forget that when they really needed it, their oldest ally was not there. Two years later Paul Harkness, a lieutenant colonel in Basra in 2008, is serving as chief of operations on the staff of David Petraeus, now overall commander of coalition troops in Afghanistan. Harkness is the only Brit inside an American team. One evening the two men are in the ‘situational awareness room’ in ISAF headquarters in Kabul. They talk about ‘those days back in Iraq’.35

			‘Basra — Charge of the Knights — was probably the single biggest humiliation the British Army has faced in many a generation,’ Harkness suggests. ‘I’m sure we can dig up some from the Second World War, but for those of us who were there it was so humiliating.’

			Petraeus’ initial response is diplomatic: ‘Well, no, of course, Paul, circumstances; you were unable to do anything else.’

			‘But still,’ replies Harkness, ‘we did nothing. We were sitting on an extraordinary combat power: armour, armoured infantry, artillery. It was eye-watering what we had, and we did nothing. An Iraqi unit came down with the Americans to sort it all out. That is humiliating.’

			Petreus seems to reluctantly agree. ‘It’s going to take a generation at least for us to forget this,’ Harkness adds.

			Petraeus’ final response is quiet, understated, but ultimately highly revealing. He suggests it will, in fact, take ‘slightly longer’.36

			*

			The system keeps what happened in Basra — both the explicit humiliation of Charge of the Knights and the rotten deal that preceded it — hidden for as long as possible. The impossibility, following Richard Butler’s kidnapping, of operating unilaterally as a western journalist in Basra helps that subterfuge. But it is never going to be possible to hide this shame forever. Nine years later, in an office in Washington DC, Aziz Swady was still full of fury when he spoke of it. ‘Want to understand please,’ he said in his threadbare English. ‘This deal between the British Army and the Jaysh al-Mahdi, the British prime minister he signs the agreement, this is shame, this is a criminal.’37

			After March 2008, drip by shameful drip, the broad details of what happened at the end in Basra start to appear. In August, the London Times runs a piece headlined ‘Secret Deal kept British Army out of Battle for Basra’. It quotes Eric Whyne, saying he was astounded that ‘a coalition force would make a pact with essentially their enemy and promise not to go into their area so as not to get attacked’.38 Inside the army, the institution knows that it failed in Basra, and did so considerably. The cloying shame will linger and follow the troops halfway around the world to Afghanistan. It is the senior British commanders, the architects of the Basra deal in particular, that the Americans really dislike. Some British junior commanders who were out on the ground in the latter stages of the Iraq campaign start to question their own bosses, too. In a direct reversal of the situation five years earlier, in the first flush of the American Surge’s success, many British soldiers begin to idolise the US military, and in particular the US Marine Corps.

			For Daniel Marston, it seems that in the years after 2008 the pendulum swings from one extreme directly to the other. After Charge of the Knights, the British Army enters into a deep bout of — admittedly covert — self-flagellation and shame. Marston wonders if there is some acutely British personality trait at play here, an ability to cultivate only two impressions of the self, both equally fantastical due to their extremity: only grandiloquence or self-hatred. That bipolar attitude indicates a further failure to look at the world as it really is. Marston points out, again and again, that for all its haphazard execution and messiness, Charge of the Knights was an operational success: it cleared the militia from Basra.

			Most of all, Marston thinks that the British Army’s self-loathing after Basra fails to reflect the fact that real change is afoot. Charge of the Knights is the nadir of the post-9/11 wars for the British. Crucially, in an institution where many young men have begun to question their elders, the transformation of the army is pushed through by a senior generation. To really understand what happened in Basra in 2008, you have to understand the parallel older men’s war.




			Chapter 16

			Reform

			As its campaigns continued, the army changed in multiple ways. This evolution encompassed physical things — equipment. It also took in processes, and in a more abstract realm, doctrine: the institution’s theory for how it should conduct itself out in the world.

			Change with kit accelerated at the same time as the beginning of the end in Iraq. In 2006 David Eadie, a lieutenant colonel, deployed to Basra as equipment advisor to the general, who at this stage was John Cooper, Richard Shirreff’s predecessor. The equipment advisor position had existed only for six months prior to his tour, and Eadie was the first officer to hold it who had a genuine understanding of how military equipment development and procurement works. He commissioned into the 16th/5th Lancers,1 then equipped with the early Scorpion variant of the CVR(T) reconnaissance vehicle. He deployed in 1982 to Cyprus with the 13th/18th Hussars with the primitive Ferret scout car, and went to Beirut in 1983–4 on the same vehicle. After completing the technical course at staff college, despite having failed his physics O-level and scored a very poor pass at maths,2 Eadie moved into the equipment world.

			The glacial scale, and stop-start nature, of normal peacetime military procurement is best indicated by the fact that one of the areas he worked on, the Challenger 2 midlife improvement package, was only implemented in 2018, fifteen years after Eadie’s involvement with it. Another, the Multi-Role Armoured Vehicle, was cancelled, before resurrection in a slightly different form.3 Eadie commanded the armoured corps training regiment at Bovington, before moving to instruct back on the technical course at the staff college in Shrivenham. There he drilled into the students that design of any military vehicle is always an act of compromise: more armour and a more powerful armament requires a more powerful engine for the same motive power, which in turn makes the vehicle heavier. He ran a simulation exercise so that his students could design their own vehicles, enabling them to understand these intractable relationships.

			Overall, this background meant that when Eadie was selected to deploy to Iraq in 2006, he had a deep understanding of how military technology was designed, built and delivered. It was also a significant deployment for him personally. He missed out on the first Gulf War in 1991 as he was at staff college, and had not been on an operational deployment of any sort since Cyprus in 1994–5. He was of a generation prior to that which conducted much of the actual fighting in the new wars.4 Yet Eadie, and a number of others in his peer group, would make their own contributions in a different way.

			The longstanding instrument to re-equip British forces at pace is the Urgent Operational Requirement — a vastly speeded-up variant of the traditional military procurement cycle. Significantly in 2006 UORs, once signed off, were still paid for completely by the Treasury out of their contingency funds, rather than by the MoD. They therefore represented, to the army, ‘free kit’.5 In the early stages of the Iraq campaign, UOR spending had concentrated on IED counter-measures.6

			In late 2003, Brigadier Bill Moore, who had commanded in Iraq on Operation Telic 2 under Major General Graeme Lamb, was posted to become director of equipment capability ground manoeuvre at the Ministry of Defence, a team of around thirty working on gear for the army, Royal Marines and RAF Regiment. Moore was posted there due to his recent operational experience, but found that ‘most of the ministry weren’t focused on Iraq at all’. It seemed the war was ‘getting in the way of their processes’.7 One civil servant in particular, the link between the MoD and Treasury, refused to let equipment requests through.8 Eventually the system sent the civil servant to spend a month with the SAS in Baghdad; on his return ‘he couldn’t get things through fast enough’. The problems were systemic, though, and wider than any one individual. In particular, urgent kit requests were sometimes shot down for not representing value for money — a key factor in normal, slower procurement cycles, but less of a factor if the need is truly immediate.

			By the time Eadie arrived in Basra in 2006, he too found little real attention paid to equipment. There was no regular briefing on the subject in headquarters, and his predecessor, partially occupied with a different role, had concocted only around four to six UORs. By the end of his six months in Basra, Eadie, with his knowledge of the system, had written seventy-seven. That same system determined that to qualify as a UOR, the equipment must be in service within six months. Eventually, with more complicated requirements, the timeframe expanded, but in 2006 it restricted purchases largely to off-the-shelf kit. In Basra, Eadie visited battlegroup commanders and their staff, asking what they were doing and what was difficult. On other occasions, people knocked at his door unannounced. Individuals explained particular problems to him: they wished to be able to detect wires under the sand used to trigger IEDs, or to detect non-linear junctions such as the diodes used in some bomb triggers, or they needed a better weapon, or a system to allow armoured vehicle to cross myriad small ditches, or a miniature unmanned aerial vehicle that did not require tasking the RAF, that they could simply throw into the air. Not all of the ideas were feasible, but bright suggestions did originate from the floor, from soldiers as well as officers.9

			Kit had been a sore point for the army since the alarums of 2003, when it did not have sufficient time to purchase adequate gear needed for the initial Iraq invasion. By 2006, much of the criticism had come to focus on the Snatch Land Rover, brought over from Northern Ireland. In 2005, a spike in bombings in Iraq destroyed twelve Snatches and killed nineteen soldiers, with dozens more injured.10 For Eadie, much of the media coverage — the references to the Snatch fleet in Iraq as ‘mobile coffins’ — was unfair, and based on technical ignorance. The vehicle was designed for use in Northern Ireland and to withstand blasts. It is true that when in Iraq insurgents began to use EFP IEDs, those devices would easily penetrate a Snatch. However, even Warriors were not fully EFP-proof, and as the Snatches were made of composite armour rather than steel, when the EFP — which in motion Eadie describes as something ‘that looked like a flying squid’ — passed through the Snatches’ armour, it did not create ‘spall’, the lethal metallic shards generated when one metal passes through another. EFP strikes on metal-framed American Humvees could easily, through spall, kill everyone inside. In Snatches, they tended to kill only those directly in the projectile’s line of passage. But still, it was evident to Eadie that the Snatch was not fit for purpose. In response, in Basra in mid-2006 he wrote a staff requirement for a protected patrol vehicle.

			There were already new vehicles coming in — or rather, new old vehicles. By September 2006, the Bulldog was operating on the streets of Basra: a 432, the ancient armoured personnel carrier from the 1960s,11 granted a new drive train, suspension and armour, and a protected weapons station on top. The Bulldog worked, but the extra weight from the weapons and protection rendered its performance lacklustre; it struggled to ascend inclines. Back in the UK, much of the impetus for a new protected patrol vehicle came from Paul Drayson, the wealthy businessman and Labour donor, who became minister for defence equipment and support in 2005.12, 13 Drayson told the Chilcot Inquiry that the army was reluctant to seek a Snatch replacement, and that the real impetus came from politicians.14 With an engineering background and past business success in bioscience and pharmaceuticals, the new minister was staggered at how long it took for the army to buy new vehicles — Challenger 2 took a twelve-year run from staff requirement to implementation. Drayson was certain this lead time could be shortened drastically. Bill Moore was at this point still the brigadier running the Directorate of Ground Manoeuvre. He remembers explaining the proliferating IED situation to Drayson, the increasing frequency and severity of attacks. According to Moore, while Eadie in Basra might have written a requirement, the real impetus for what became the Mastiff originated in London.15

			Regardless of exactly where the push for the purchase began, much of the original expertise in blast-resistant vehicles originated in South Africa, which developed machines with V-shaped hulls to deflect explosions during their wars in Angola and elsewhere. After his meeting with Drayson, Bill Moore travelled with advisors from the Defence Science and Technology Laboratory to Johannesburg to visit the local branch of BAE Systems. On an earlier visit to the UK, Moore had explained to their managing director that in Iraq, troops were facing EFPs striking vehicles from the side as well as underneath; any new vehicle therefore needed to have protection in that quarter. In Johannesburg, Moore visited a factory and watched a demonstration in which a V-shaped hull vehicle was blown up, but it was clear that the South Africans had ignored his earlier recommendation. There was no option to add side armour to the product. Moore decided the South African candidate was not an option (although the Americans would eventually buy some of these vehicles).

			In parallel to Moore’s trip to South Africa, and as the other part to the same initiative, Nick Fox, a civil servant who joined the MoD as a sixteen-year-old and had been active in vehicle procurement since the early 1990s, found himself standing in a car park in Charleston, South Carolina with Lieutenant Colonel Charles Clee, formerly commanding officer of the Household Cavalry armoured regiment and by then senior lead for close combat urgent operational requirements in the MoD in London, working in Bill Moore’s department. Fox and Clee were visiting Force Protection, a young firm that had gained a contract with the US Marine Corps to supply a mine-protected vehicle called the ‘Cougar’. As foreign nationals, Clee and Fox were not allowed into the factory, and so Force Protection staff brought a Cougar into the car park for them to examine. It was a hulking machine, 26 tonnes in weight, with six massive tyres and a V-shaped hull. Unlike the vehicle Moore saw in South Africa, the Cougar could also take side armour to counter EFPs from that direction.

			Back in London, Moore returned to Drayson. ‘I’ve got a solution for you,’ he said. ‘I’ll get you the money,’ the minister replied. ‘But politically you have to be able to deliver in six months.’ By military procurement standards, that is an incredibly short timescale; even though the Force Protection option was an existing vehicle, they still had to integrate radios and other kit, train the people who would maintain it, and build an infrastructure to train the troops who were to use it in theatre.

			Using political capital accumulated when the UK provided counter-IED expertise to the US early in the Iraq war, Major General Dick Applegate, the master general of the ordnance and the senior officer responsible for the army’s equipment, persuaded the US to allow the British to add a rush order for 108 Cougar vehicles onto a contract Force Protection was delivering for the US Marine Corps under a Foreign and Military sales contract.16, 17, 18 On 20 July 2006, a letter from the MoD to the Treasury requested funding under UOR for the new vehicles.19 Named ‘Mastiff’ in British service, the first vehicles did not even go to the UK, receiving their fit with British radios and other equipment in Cyprus — work done by NP Aerospace of Coventry — before immediate deployment to Iraq. The first vehicles flew out on 31 December 2006, just meeting Drayson’s mandated timeline.

			Initial response in Basra was muted. Given the purchase was largely driven from London, there was a feeling in Iraq that the vehicle was too big and unwieldy for the tight streets of Basra and the close countryside surrounding the city. Eventually, however, the Mastiff, which moved through numerous iterations, would become the transport of choice in both Iraq and (later) Afghanistan. It was vastly more resistant to IED blasts than other vehicles (although in one incident in 2013, three soldiers travelling in a Mastiff still died in a blast).

			*

			Following his tour in Iraq and his prolific authorship of UORs, David Eadie was approached by the manning branch at the army personnel centre in Glasgow and told the best career step for him was to go to PJHQ at Northwood, to become the person there responsible for UOR. That job was previously held by a major, but now they wanted a lieutenant colonel, as a reflection of the increased volume of business. In time, Eadie was to spend almost three years working underground in the PJHQ bunker on equipment.20 In late 2006 or early 2007, Lieutenant General Nick Houghton told Eadie he needed to expand his shop further, and asked what he needed in terms of resources.21 Eadie wrote a paper stating the job should be done by a full colonel, aided by a grade 1 staff officer, a lieutenant colonel equivalent, and two or three majors assisting him. Houghton accepted the proposal, granted Eadie the staff, and informed him he had been promoted to run the expanded department.

			With the UOR machine up and running, these became crazy years in the equipment world. The six-wheeled Mastiff’s enormous turning circle led to a requirement for a similar but smaller vehicle that could use narrower streets; this twin-axled contraption became the ‘Ridgback’.22 A flat-bed to transport supplies became the ‘Wolfhound’. A requirement for an even lighter machine to supply recce and support echelons led to the ‘Husky’, made by International Truck, and the requirement for a more rapidly deployable and agile vehicle than the now heavily up-armoured CVR(T) spawned ‘Jackal’ and ‘Coyote’, open-top ‘light strike’ vehicles manufactured by Supacat in Devon. The ‘Warthog’, designed by Singapore Technologies, was a twin-cabbed articulated tracked vehicle that superficially resembled the BV206 the Royal Marines used in the Arctic and in the early stages of the Iraq War, but was vastly more robust. The ‘Foxhound’ was another four-wheeler that aimed to give protection comparable to the Mastiff on a much lighter frame. The numbers purchased were large: most common was the Mastiff, of which the British Army bought about 750.

			Collectively, given their names, these vehicles became known as the ‘Dogs of War’.23 Their resistance to IED blasts saved lives in large numbers in both Iraq and Afghanistan, but they were not without problems. There was parts commonality between those built on the Mastiff/Cougar chassis, but not with the others. ‘Field Service Reps’ from the manufacturers deployed to Iraq and Afghanistan to help the REME learn how to maintain them. Their electronically-managed engines confused military mechanics, who came up on simpler systems.24 It took a while to get them fitted with British radios and other devices. The Warthog, designed to be crewed by petite Singaporeans, was a squeeze inside for hulking British soldiers; its running gear, too, was troublesome and labour-intensive to maintain until better shock absorbers were fitted. UOR initially paid only for equipment for use in operational theatres, so there was difficulty securing extras for pre-deployment training in the UK. Meanwhile, getting sufficient numbers of drivers trained on the plethora of different vehicles became a huge task for brigades deploying to Afghanistan. The Defence School of Transport at Leconfield in East Yorkshire ran almost twenty-four hours a day to push the required numbers through courses. And, while they were theoretically separate, some believe the funds spent on the new protected mobility fleet contributed to the eventual demise of the army’s long-running FRES (Future Rapid Effects System) programme to provide a new general medium-weight vehicle.25

			UORs came from Afghanistan and Iraq to David Eadie’s shop at PJHQ. There was a set template for the documents, but harried individuals in theatre often lacked time to fill it in properly, so there was work at Northwood to smooth the requests, before sending them to ‘town’ (as Whitehall was known at PJHQ). There was also an art to the documentation; Eadie found it best not to define requirements too tightly, as it risked constricting thinking.

			At the MoD, the UOR was passed to the relevant ‘Requirements Branch’: Ground Manoeuvre for patrol vehicles, Air Manoeuvre for helicopters, Expeditionary Logistic Support for resupply equipment. It also went to a team of cost scrutineers. Technical and operational analysts checked that the new gear would work, and a team including naval officer Bill Biggs entered the delicate dance with the Treasury to get them to pay for it. If the Treasury signed off, the UOR then went to Abbey Wood, the huge MoD installation in Bristol that housed the Defence Equipment and Support organisation, created through mergers of other departments in 2007, the organ of the Ministry that buys everything from socks to nuclear submarines for all three services. DE&S also oversees support to all equipment in service and the UK’s logistic supply chain. The Treasury did not always sign off, though. Throughout the high period of the wars, it stuck to a public promise that it would never turn down a UOR on cost grounds. However, it found numerous other ways to derail the requests, questioning the number of objects needed, or the capacity delivered.26

			Those involved in this work were, like Eadie, often older than the majority of troops out on the ground in Iraq and Afghanistan. Nick Wills, another Lancers officer who led the protected mobility team at Abbey Wood (the outfit that went out on the market, assessed the options and purchased the protected mobility fleet), was another lieutenant colonel. Charles Clee was of the same generation. These men worked extremely long hours for long periods of time; the work was hard, but it was also acutely satisfying. All three promoted to full colonel after their tours and Eadie earned a CBE. ‘It was the most gratifying, satisfying work I’ve ever done; you really felt you were making a difference,’ Eadie recalls. Nick Fox adds that it is also worth noting the huge effort that industry played in the delivery of the equipment.27

			Eadie and Wills are both adamant that, while timelines were stretched to the limit to get kit to theatre on time, there was still scrutiny in the process, and competitive biddings were used.28 Eadie also pushes back on the idea that UOR offered the army a great opportunity to go shopping on someone else’s dime for all the equipment it had wanted for a long time but had been denied. He suggests many of the vehicles the army bought under UOR were not those they had long coveted; rather, they were specific responses to the requirements of the moment: ‘Not Mastiff and Ridgback. Jackal and Coyote — yes, possibly — but they were absolutely needed at that time.’29

			Other were not so sure. Stuart Nicholson, the company commander with the Royal Anglians during Operation Sinbad in 2006, worked at Abbey Wood at ‘the height of UOR world’, as the requirements manager for a programme called FIST — Future Integrated Soldier Technology30 (the job description required a company commander with recent experience on operations). There Nicholson found that the claim ‘don’t ask that question — there’s men dying out there’ was enough to justify the purchase of almost anything, however outlandish, and that UOR purchases saw a ‘miss rate’ of around 25 per cent, with items bought that did not fulfil the tasks they were meant to. ‘The brakes were taken off,’ Nicholson says. ‘You could just fucking go shopping.’31

			FIST was not UOR; it was a traditional core programme. But someone in Afghanistan wrote a UOR for ‘something that looked a lot like FIST’, leading to the rapid deployment of a device called ELSA — Enhanced Local Situational Awareness — which was meant to allow infantry soldiers to see the location of their comrades, each of whom would carry a GPS device, on a digital screen. There had been cases of soldiers in Afghanistan being shot in poppy fields and bleeding out before they could be found in the tall vegetation; hence, the decision to field ELSA under UOR. The technology, though, was premature. The mapping was on an inch-square screen on a device that resembled a ruggedised mobile phone; cables ran everywhere. ELSA was to be fielded with 16 Air Assault Brigade on their return to Afghanistan on Herrick 8 in 2008; Nicholson’s team recommended its delay to the next brigade so there would be time to train with it, but they were overruled. The Paras were handed ELSA on arrival in Afghanistan — in Nicholson’s words, ‘a snake’s wedding of fucking cables and pouches and complex electric things’. They had never been trained on it. They dumped everything apart from the radios. ELSA failed.

			Ally — the army’s perennial fondness for items that look cool despite their practicality or otherwise — surfaced once more in kit world too. Under UOR, the army procured itself a combat shotgun, the semi-automatic Italian Benelli M4, renamed the ‘L128A1 Combat Shotgun’ for British use. If the point man of a patrol were to be contacted while going through ‘complex terrain’, the theory ran, he could use the shotgun to put down a heavy rate of fire. That argument was shaky: the shotgun only carried eight rounds in its magazine, as opposed to thirty in a rifle, and the rifle could fire much further. ‘No one could understand what it was for,’ says Nicholson. ‘What it was for was the infantry had always wanted a shotgun, because shotguns are fucking cool.’ The L128AI made it to Afghanistan, scene of so many other ally misadventures. It was not widely deployed there, however, as it was of little real use.

			*

			The ally aspect of the kit bonanza exists beyond weaponry, too. In 2009, a Royal Engineer lieutenant colonel named Matthew Tresidder becomes the chief of staff of the Defence Clothing Team, based in Bath. On his arrival, Tresidder finds a venture underway called ‘Project Peacock’ which is meant to replace uniforms, body armour and load-carrying equipment for British soldiers. Peacock, with its suggestion of preening and display, is an appropriate term, but the programme under that name is stalled within a year and its funding cut.32 At about the same time, though, requests begin to filter back from troops deployed in Afghanistan, stating a requirement for new camouflage. Soldiers are undertaking patrols that move from the irrigated Green Zone around the Helmand River into desert and urban areas. While British two-tone desert camouflage was very effective in Iraq where the colour-scape was more uniform, it is problematic in the Green Zone. Troops are going out in an improvised mix of camouflage, pairing some desert items with others in the temperate camouflage pattern the army has used since the 1960s for its main uniform.

			In Bath, Tresidder launches a project in this area. They take photo surveys of the predominant colour schemes in Afghanistan, and working with the Defence Science and Technology Labs (DSTL) at Porton Down, come up with a range of options. They compare these against the current desert and woodland patterns in British service. UK Special Forces — influenced by their American counterparts — have started using a different camouflage, ‘Multicam’. The material was designed by the American firm Crye Precision, founded in 1999 by Caleb Crye and Gregg Thomson, two young graduates of the Cooper Union, a small New York college teaching art, architecture and engineering.

			In the past, the army has trialled camouflage by lining up soldiers dressed in it against a range of backgrounds, but that approach was rife with problems: there are numerous other factors beyond the fabric itself, such as shadows and sunlight, that impact visibility. To avoid that, DSTL now comes up with a computer-based programme. A picture of a camouflaged jacket is overlaid on shots of various different terrains; the system measures the reaction time from when the object appears to when the user identifies its location. Other variables are eliminated. That time varies from less than one second, regarded as instantaneous, to thirty seconds, ‘which meant to all intents and purposes invisible’.33 Crye Multicam performs consistently well among the dozen or so materials on trial — including new designs developed in-house and the existing in-service camouflage. Desert and woodland patterns are the best options in their natural environments, but drop to the worst when removed from them.

			The testing so far has been scientific. However, science can only go so far, and science cannot adequately address ally. Having identified the top camouflage contenders, Tresidder’s team, with the help of army headquarters, organises a literal fashion show at Warminster in the summer of 2010. Around ten soldiers model simple trial uniforms — basically pyjamas — in the different patterns, in front of an audience of around 200 drawn from several infantry cap badges, the RAF and the Royal Marines, and ranging from junior soldiers to senior NCOs. ‘If these guys have to wear the camouflage, they have to have confidence in it,’ Tresidder explains. ‘They have to feel they look good in it.’34

			There is an age split in the audience. Senior NCOs are more in favour of keeping the old patterns. The Disruptive Pattern Material, or DPM, was introduced in 1968; they have worn it for their entire careers. Tresidder’s team find that digitised options — pixelated camouflage as worn by the Americans and Canadians, and which senior British Army officers expect to be popular — is pretty much universally rejected. The young soldiers, raised on a video game diet showing troops in pixelated patterns, think such garb is old hat. The clear winner of the fashion show is a special, UK-specific variant of Multicam developed by Crye35 — deemed ‘ally-est’ by the soldiers — and so that was the one introduced. It is possible that the Special Forces link played a role, but Tresidder points out that SF’s use of Multicam was not that widely known within the army at the time. He christens the fabric ‘Multi-Terrain Pattern’, which pleasingly condenses to initials he can pass off as ‘Matthew Tresidder Pattern’. Production of the new uniforms begins, and the first sets are delivered to troops in Afghanistan in mid-December 2010. Only after production starts does Caleb Crye inform Tresidder that he has inserted the initials MT into the fabric pattern. ‘I can claim that I have literally left my mark on the army,’ Tresidder says.36, 37

			Initial reports from the field are promising; the first deliveries are limited and there are not enough uniforms for everyone to have one, so soldiers go out on patrol in Helmand in mixed dress, some in the old uniform, others in the new. Tresidder’s team hears that those going out in the old apparel are shot at more. Communications intercepts also show a Taliban commander asking why kill rates against British forces have dropped off. ‘Well, since they’ve changed their camouflage we can’t see them,’ comes the answer.

			*

			Not everything a soldier carried into the field proved to be so neatly fit for purpose, however. In April 2011, Stuart Nicholson arrives as the officer commanding the senior division of the Infantry Battle School at Brecon in Wales. In 1996, as a young subaltern fresh out of Sandhurst, he had completed the Platoon Commanders’ Battle Course, then based at Warminster. The 1996 army, seven years after the fall of the Berlin Wall, was still training to fight the Russians.38

			When Nicholson runs the Platoon Sergeants’ Battle Course at Brecon sixteen years later, times have changed; he is training NCOs whose entire military careers have been contained in the Afghanistan and Iraq period. All have done at least three tours. Every course has ‘a slack handful’ of military crosses, another of ‘blokes with a bit missing’. These men have done more fighting than any British military generation since Korea, but Nicholson now sees the narrowing that came with that experience, and the role that the new, UOR-purchased weapons play in creating problems.

			By 2011, platoons are full of belt-fed weapons. Each of the three constituent sections has two FN Minimi light machine guns, a Belgian-designed 5.56mm device largely unknown in the 1990s — and one GPMG, a weapon long in British service but now proliferating in numbers. The army obtained these extra weapons to bring down an overwhelming rate of fire in Helmand on short patrols out of permanent bases. That was all part of the desire to reduce the risk of friendly casualties, but with their voracious ammunition appetite, such weapons would be impossible to provision when a patrol is not a day hike from a helicopter-supplied forward operating base.

			‘Through Afghan and Iraq, the tactical objectives were never politically worth the potential casualties, and so at the lowest tactical level the main effort became casualty avoidance,’ Nicholson says. ‘We were equipped for suppression, not for assault. And actually, I’d go further than suppression: it was for prophylactic fire … If something went wrong you could just hand out a load of fire whilst you got out of it. Or you could just pin someone down until someone dropped a JDAM [a laser-guided bomb] on them. But what you couldn’t do was a series of platoon attacks.’

			New defensive kit creates difficulties, too. Osprey body armour, also procured under UOR and designed to stop two 7.62mm rounds in the same place, and in full incarnation heavier than a sack of coal, is impossibly cumbersome. On Brecon exercises Nicholson finds soldiers can either spend a week doing platoon attacks or they can wear Osprey; they simply cannot do both. There is no possibility, with the new gear, of going in fast, getting the job done, and getting out, finding safety margins through speed.39 Soldiers cannot even climb ladders on exercises that simulate fighting in built-up areas.40

			With combat equipment marching order (CEMO) — a Bergen rucksack with sleeping bag and so forth alongside specific military supplies — troops are carrying more than their body weight. In Afghanistan, operating out of FOBs, troops never really carried CEMO, but even the supposedly lighter CEFO there — combat equipment fighting order — averaged 55kg. ‘The British Army Mule Pamphlet states that a mule must not carry more than 25 per cent of its body weight,’ Nicholson writes in a presentation in which he proposes a scheme to reduce loads, referencing a document published in 1928. ‘Currently, the average infantry soldier carries 82 per cent of his body weight in CEFO.’

			*

			The equipment of the British army was transformed during the Iraq and Afghan wars, and, overall, much for the better. But the costs of the UOR programme in particular were eye-watering. Nick Wills estimates his team spent £1.8 billion buying protected mobility vehicles. In four years, David Eadie processed 377 UORs worth £3.6 billion. A National Audit Office report in March 2009 put the total UOR spend for Iraq and Afghanistan by that stage at £4.2 billion41 — around 10 per cent of the overall UK defence budget for a single year. According to figures published by the BBC in 2016, sceptically probing the usual ‘how many hospitals would it pay for?’ question, a more reliable unit than the highly variable price of a hospital is an MRI scanner, which comes in at £895,000 in 2016 prices. On that basis, the Iraq/Afghan UOR spend to 2009 (admittedly not inflation adjusted) could have paid for 4,693 MRI scanners.42 And in 2009, Afghanistan still had another five years to run.

			The kit bonanza also began to make a travesty of the idea of what a UOR should be. By late in that war, as Stuart Nicholson puts it, ‘there were men in Afghanistan driving around in UOR boots in UOR clothes, wearing UOR body armour and helmet, talking on a UOR radio with a UOR rifle in a UOR vehicle. And the Treasury could reasonably say, what the fuck were they equipped for before Afghanistan? Every thing on the man was UOR.’ In the end, that is exactly what the Treasury does. When it comes to Foxhound, the last of the ‘Dogs of War’ programme of protected mobility vehicles, the army is forced to cover a proportion of the cost from its core budget. After that, the Treasury pulls the plug completely. Today, UOR spend has to come from the military’s own budgets, not from ‘free’ Treasury money. Iraq and Afghanistan turned the money tap on for equipment, but in the end, they turned it off too. ‘The consequences of this decision if we have to deploy on serious operations have yet to be seen,’ says Dick Applegate. ‘The contingency fund within MoD originally created to cover for the surge at the start of new operations has all but disappeared.’

			*

			Reform runs beyond tangible objects to the realm of doctrine, the intellectual underpinnings of how an army goes to war. Here, too, it is the older men who push matters. In June 2008, three months after Charge of the Knights, Alex Alderson leaves Baghdad, bound for Oxford University as a defence fellow on the Changing Character of War Programme. In his last period in Baghdad, Alderson faced extensive American leg-pulling about the recent operation in Basra, much of it ‘pretty barbed’. At Mansfield College, Alderson’s aim is to finish his PhD, which will eventually be published under the title ‘The Validity of British Army counter-insurgency doctrine after the war in Iraq, 2003–9’.43 However, around a month into his fellowship, a major general Alderson worked for in a previous life tells him he is to write a new counter-insurgency doctrine for the British Army. Alderson is given a draft to work with. In six weeks in Mansfield College library, he takes this to pieces and re-assembles it to include lessons from Iraq: the needs to secure the population, to have sufficient troop numbers and intelligence, to take the long view and to integrate cultural awareness.

			The MoD believes that doctrine is a joint rather than single-service issue, and therefore should be written not by the army, but rather by the Development, Concepts and Doctrine Centre at Shrivenham. Traditionally, all sorts of senior figures contribute — and often interrupt — such productions. In Oxford in 2008, Alderson short-circuits the usual agonising approval process by getting David Richards, now commander-in-chief land forces as a lieutenant general, to sign up to it. Richards, new in post, also institutes an undertaking called Operation Entirety, making Afghanistan (rather than planning for a hypothetical other war) the army’s main effort. They are careful to produce the work as a glossy book, with lots of photographs. Lieutenant General Bill Rollo, then responsible for army doctrine, encourages Alderson to make sure that the lessons of Basra are apparent in the first chapter. Alderson writes part of the final product; specific ‘subject matter experts’ produce the more tactically-focused chapters. The team is about a dozen in all.

			‘There’s no point in us just publishing this, we need an organisation that’s going to teach it,’ David Richards says. The general sends Alderson to set up a new Counter-insurgency (COIN) Centre, a brand-new organisation at Warminster created as part of Operation Entirety. On staff Alderson has three lieutenant colonels and five majors; they are the pick of the promotional list, all with recent operational experience.44 They produce additional doctrine notes on everything from working with the Afghan National Police to cultural awareness and new tactics. The COIN Centre starts to organise study weeks for brigades deploying to Afghanistan on Operation Herrick — five days of conceptual training. The audience runs to over 200, all officers and senior NCOs. There are presentations on geopolitics, culture, strategy, the development of the campaign, lessons learned and intelligence. ‘We were there to help, not to lecture,’ Alderson says. ‘To give them something to think about and a baseline of understanding for what was going to be quite a complicated little problem, whether they were going to be force engineers or they were going to be battlegroup commanders.’

			During the study weeks, they hold a videoconference with the British deputy force commander in Afghanistan and have somebody recently back from Helmand talking about the situation on the ground. This work makes an impact. In October 2010, 16 Air Assault Brigade, architects of the mad summer of 2006, are due to return to Afghanistan for their third tour of Helmand (they deployed also in 2008), under Brigadier James Chiswell. Before the deployment, Alderson’s team heads to their base at Colchester to deliver briefings. Alderson talks about counter-insurgency, the campaign and different approaches. Afterwards, senior NCOs and captains in the audience collar him. ‘That’s just crap,’ they tell him. ‘We’re going to go in there, kick doors in, have some quality trigger time.’ Chiswell, who won a Military Cross in Sierra Leone as a major, and is from the macho paratrooper tribe, interrupts his men. ‘I’m sorry, you’ve got this completely wrong,’ he says. ‘The way we’re going to do this is the way Colonel Alderson’s described.’

			Alderson’s new doctrine is published in December 2009. By this stage the Counter-insurgency Centre has also started to gather attention. The past summer had seen Operation Panther’s Claw in Afghanistan, during which eight British soldiers died within a twenty-four-hour period. Panther’s Claw is now widely considered a misconceived operation, applying a manoeuverist, Cold War approach to Helmand with little understanding of the realities on the ground. It pivoted on the hope that a canal could be used to block Taliban movement, when in fact they could easily wade it, and in places even transfer vehicles at clear crossing points.

			The summer of 2009 nearly broke the political will of Gordon Brown’s government to continue with the war. The day after the new counter-insurgency doctrine is published, Alderson is summoned to Number 10. He sits down with the prime minister’s parliamentary private secretary and Nicholas Beadle, an MoD civil servant seconded to Number 10 as Brown’s ‘Mr Afghanistan’. ‘We talked about what things, what lessons from Iraq they should be focusing on, given that Panther’s Claw had been such a disaster,’ Alderson says. This is an army that is changing.

			*

			The final component of the reform is training. In February 2008, Andrew Kennett, a brigade commander in Basra in 2004, was appointed, as a major general, as director general land warfare.45 The role was responsible for preparing British troops for operations. Reform here had already begun under Kennett’s predecessor, Graeme Lamb, and now accelerated under the Operation Entirety programme instigated by David Richards. Kennett received a budget of around £65 million over twelve months to transform training. The dramatic cutting of the purse strings reflected the fact that Iraq had proved, in Kennett’s words, ‘harder than people anticipated, and we bogged down’. Ultimately, too, the money reflected casualties; between 2003 and 2011, the British lost 179 service personnel and three government staff in Iraq. In Afghanistan, following thirty-nine deaths in 2006, another forty-two died in 2007.46

			With the resources tap turned, training changed in both the UK and abroad. At BATUS in Canada, they moved from using pop-up tank targets to three-dimensional villages constructed from improvised buildings knocked up by the base workshops. They introduced drone technology, added battle-casualty simulation, made soldiers fight through several stages when they de-bused from their armoured vehicles, changed the order of advance so it was not always tanks in the lead, and shifted the enemy so they were not always armoured. ‘We turned it into a much more fluid, realistic type of environment,’ Kennett says.47

			Dramatic change took place too at the Operational Training and Advisory Group, the specific UK organisation that prepares soldiers for theatre and whose heritage ran back to NITAT, the Northern Ireland Training and Advisory Team. Richard Westley, the Worcestershire and Sherwood Foresters officer who conducted the Helmand recce in 2005, planned to leave the army after commanding a battlegroup in Afghanistan in 2007 as a lieutenant colonel. However, the personnel department in Glasgow contacted him and asked if he would be interested in taking command of OPTAG. Westley went through the OPTAG sausage machine in 2005, when his battalion, then on public duties at Hounslow, was warned off for Afghanistan at short notice and had eight weeks to convert to Bowman radios and prepare to deploy. He found OPTAG then under-resourced and poorly focused, though flexible. The opportunity to change that was an appealing one — evidently the task required someone with recent operational experience — and Westley decided to extend in the army.

			By the time Westley took command of OPTAG, based at Shorncliffe in Kent, in October 2007, the organisation was putting through 40,000 troops per year for Iraq and Afghanistan. On arrival, a number of factors struck Westley. Firstly, there were instructors teaching troops going to Afghanistan who had not served themselves in that theatre; he regarded them as unqualified. Meanwhile, at the personnel centre in Glasgow, OPTAG was not regarded as a prestige posting. The best NCOs went to the Infantry Battle School at Brecon in Wales, or to Sandhurst.

			Westley secured agreement from Glasgow that OPTAG would be given more weight than Brecon; he accepted that Sandhurst would probably still edge both, but he needed to change the mindset of NCOs. He travelled around units conducting a major marketing drive with commanding officers, disseminating the message that OPTAG was now a top-drawer job. His staff was mostly infantry, although as Royal Armoured Corps units increasingly dominated the Brigade Reconnaissance Force in Afghanistan, he ensured there were always a few cavalry soldiers among his team.

			After instructor quality, Westley’s next task was to construct representative training areas. When Westley’s battalion went through their pre-Afghanistan package, they went to Sennybridge in Wales and practised clearing ‘compounds’ built out of hay bales. Westley estimated the cost of better facilities would be around £20 million; securing those funds would take work. He wrote a training requirement for specific projects at Lydd and Hythe on Romney Marsh in Kent, long the scene of Northern Ireland training, and at Thetford in Norfolk. In 2008, Westley presented his case to a group of civil servants at army headquarters in Wilton. He took with him Derek Derenalagi, a Fijian who was serving as the gunner in Westley’s WMIK Land Rover in Afghanistan in July 2007 when the vehicle reversed over an IED. The explosion hurled Derenalagi almost 30m through the air; he landed on rocks. His left leg was blown off and his right was left hanging by a thread of flesh and bone. Evacuated back to Camp Bastion, Derenalagi was pronounced dead. Medical staff were preparing to put him in a body bag when one of them detected a faint pulse. (Derenalagi lost both his legs, but would eventually compete in the 2012 Paralympics with the discus.) At Wilton, the budgeteers were hard-nosed until Westley (literally) wheeled out Derenalagi. Several of the civil servants began crying. A woman whose civil service grade was equivalent to a brigadier in the military system said, ‘They must have this.’ Westley received his money.

			At Lydd and Thetford, they start to build. Among Westley’s staff is a sergeant major from the Parachute Regiment who is, in Westley’s words, ‘a complete freak for designing training areas’. He put together a concept for a series of Afghan-style compounds at Thetford — eventually called Sindh Kalay, or ‘Green Village’ — and another facility more akin to Iraq. The construction firm Mechel builds them. The facilities are imperfect. For health and safety reasons, the concrete used has to have metal reinforcement inside. When it comes to practising advanced IED clearance, they cannot use the Vallon metal detectors live, and instead must fit them with a simulation mechanism. But still, this is all much better than hay bales. There are tunnels, too, as used in Afghanistan, as well as above-ground construction.

			A human element also follows. An expatriate Afghan called Fazel Barea, working as a cultural advisor to OPTAG, recruits a workforce of security-cleared Afghans to act as a ‘local population’. They live in the village for the duration of the exercise, while contracted Gurkhas serve as ‘Taliban’. ‘Afghan compounds surround a busy marketplace where the smell of cooking wafts over stalls,’ writes Terri Judd, a visiting writer from the Independent, in March 2010.48 ‘Meat vendors and mechanics vie for space with livestock. The sound of a call to prayer is drowned out by the noise of an Apache attack helicopter while a team of British soldiers patrols slowly through the crowds.’ Amputees impersonate IED victims. An ammunition technical officer — an army bomb disposer — and two Royal Engineer Search Advisors simulate IEDs.

			There is an emphasis on integrating the latest information from theatre. Westley sees one of his instructors interrupt a lesson on IED search to take a phone call from Afghanistan, before informing his students of new information on what level to calibrate their Vallon metal detectors to for best results. OPTAG has two sergeant major advisors from the Small Arms School Corps; in discussion with them, Westley reduces the usual risk margins that limit the arcs of troops firing live rounds during training to around 580 mils — a military unit of angular measurement that equates to 32.6 degrees. They push it to 500 or as low as 480 mils — 27 degrees — so that troops get used to rounds ‘winging over them’.

			Those going through the system sometimes feels it places them in too high a state of readiness — that troops who have completed the OPTAG serials embark on their first patrol in Afghanistan convinced that every footfall will trigger an IED, that every local is going to shoot at them. Some even find the pre-deployment training more exhausting than operations themselves. Westley is unrepentant. ‘It’s a command responsibility to take you down from where we are, but it’s our responsibility to leave you up there,’ he says.49 ‘I didn’t mind if every soldier was expecting an IED or a shoot on every patrol; I didn’t want them to be frightened of it.’

			Overall, with its emphasis on creativity, acceptance of ideas from the bottom up, and rapid response to reactions in the field, OPTAG represents the best of military organisations. It shows how, when people start to die — and, really, in no other circumstance — armies can adapt and change without losing their necessary rigidity. Yet eventually, it will also be a training establishment that shows a parallel phenomenon: the narrowing that can come when an army prepares in detail for a particular conflict — in particular one as peculiar as Afghanistan, where avoidance of casualties has become so important.

			When Stuart Nicholson completed his own infantry training post-Sandhurst in the mid-1990s he was taught on exercise to conduct an attack, afterwards to reorganise — husbandry of ammunition, dealing with prisoners — and subsequently to go back to deal with any friendly casualties. Arriving at Brecon in 2012, Nicholson saw that his students, this hyper-experienced generation who had experienced more combat than any British military cohort since Korea, had very different ideas.

			The first time they had an injury simulated on exercise, they immediately went into casualty-in-contact drills, preparing helicopter landing sites as they had in Helmand. They were behaving as they had been taught, as an army behaved when reducing casualties was an absolute imperative, and also as it could when it had equally absolute command of the air, as the coalition had in Afghanistan.

			At Brecon, Nicholson and his staff yelled at these Iraq and Afghan veterans, ‘Fucking leave him and come back for him.’ In general war, you could not call time out and bring in the casevac helicopter. But Britain had not been fighting a general war; and in so doing, the army had arguably forgotten some key skills needed for one.

			*

			The full picture, then, in the aftermath of Charge of the Knights and the Basra debacle of 2008, is immensely confused. On the one hand, with its equipment, doctrine and preparation for operations, combined with a substantial boost to resources, the British Army enters a process of massive reform. But there is only so much that reform can do unless you acknowledge what — and specifically, who — caused the problems in the first place. When Alex Alderson brings out his new counter-insurgency manual, he carefully illustrates the cover with a photograph of dreary, already-unsexy Iraq, rather than hot, contemporary Afghanistan. Yet all those who ran that blighted campaign continue to move up the promotional system unimpeded.

			While the disgrace of Basra lingers in the private military sphere, and the army rebuilds its procedures, there is still, in the pivotal years of 2009, 2010 and 2011, no stomach to look squarely without fear or favour at what happened in Iraq — and indeed, in early Afghanistan — and why things went so badly wrong in both. In many ways, that is understandable. People have died, and they are still dying. It is all still very raw. But the good initiatives that follow, and in some cases pre-date, 2008 are hampered by one key oversight. The British Army fails to implement a culture of genuine accountability.

			That truth is best indicated by the afterlives of the participants of the Iraq endgame. Richard Shirreff becomes a four-star general and deputy supreme allied commander Europe; after leaving the army he writes what he describes as ‘a trashy novel’ warning of potential war with Russia. Jonathan Shaw does not promote beyond major general, but still serves until 2012. Nick Houghton, CJO during Charge of the Knights, becomes chief of the defence staff, the overall head of the British military. Peter Wall, Houghton’s deputy at PJHQ, becomes chief of the general staff, head of the army. Jock Stirrup, CDS in 2007, sees his tour extended by Gordon Brown in mid-2008 and eventually receives a peerage. Patrick Marriott becomes a major general and commandant of Sandhurst. Julian Free and Barney White-Spunner promote to major general and lieutenant general respectively. By spring 2018, Simon McDonald, director for Iraq at the Foreign Office in 2008, is permanent under-secretary, the civil service head of that establishment. Meanwhile, Tony Blair returned from hobnobbing with dictators to speak loudly on Brexit.

			No one who ran Iraq faced any genuine sanction for how it all went wrong; that is a simple and largely undeniable point. Why that happened, though, is much more complicated.




		
			Part 5

			Blame Game

			The glut and void of accountability

			AFGHANISTAN, NORTHERN IRELAND, IRAQ, WILTSHIRE, OXFORDSHIRE, LONDON
MARCH 2003 — MAY 2018

			It is quite gratifying to feel guilty if you haven’t done anything wrong: how noble! Whereas it is rather hard and certainly depressing to admit guilt and to repent.

			Hannah Arendt, Eichmann in Jerusalem (1963)

			To us, courage, discipline, respect for others, integrity, loyalty and selfless commitment are much more than words on a page, they are what the British Army stands for, and what sets us apart from society.

			The Army Leadership Code — An Introductory Guide (2015)

		




			Chapter 17

			Man Down

			Nad-e Ali North, Southern Afghanistan, 15 September 2011 

			The 30mm cannon under the nose of the Apache helicopter, the weapon whose movements are slaved to movements of the gunner’s head, makes a low, basso noise; there is an echo to it. The sound comes in two bursts.

			Down among the marines on the ground, on the dry earth under the parched vegetation, a man shouts, ‘Yeeeah’. It sounds slightly ironic, as though he is yelling as he imagines a man should do in such a situation.1

			Out in the cornfield beyond the treeline where the marines are sheltering, one man falls. Another is seen to escape.

			‘They’ve got fucking Hellfires, for fuck’s sake,’ says a marine, referring to a type of missile carried by the Apache in parallel to its cannon. ‘Why don’t they use a fucking rocket?’ The speaker sounds frustrated; he emphasises each syllable. ‘Fuck me, mate; it’s just error after error after error.’

			Bushes stand over dusty ground. There is taller foliage that looks like reeds. The head of a Vallon metal detector emerges from a marine’s pack. They are tasked to head out into the cornfield to one of the men hit by the helicopter, to conduct the grisly task known as a ‘Battlefield Damage Assessment’ — a BDA. The aim of a BDA is to see what is there, or what is left, after the weapon the pilots call ‘30 Mike Mike’ has been and gone. It can involve swabbing skulls to take biometric data.

			Now, from one of the marines, come the words that mark the start of all that is to follow.

			‘I don’t think he’s dead,’ he shouts.

			*

			42 Commando, the unit from which this ill-starred patrol is drawn, is based in the north of an area known as ‘Nad-e Ali’, in the south-west of Helmand Province.2 Their centre of gravity is at a forward operating base named Shazad; long gone now are the days of naming camps after eighteenth-century battle honours, just as there are no more ‘Objective Pussies’ in 2011. Beyond Shazad lie smaller outstations, termed checkpoints.3 These include checkpoints Talaanda and Omar. The commander at checkpoint Omar, and the man in charge of the patrol on 15 September, is a 37-year-old sergeant. He has served for over thirteen years in the Royal Marines, with previous tours in Iraq in 2003, 2004 and 2006, and in Afghanistan in 2007. His name is Alexander Wayne Blackman. He is part of 42 Commando’s J, or Juliet, Company. Both Blackman and his company sergeant major, WO2 Andy Plaice, joined J Company just before the tour and did not complete pre-deployment training.

			Also in 42 Commando is Major Matthew Parker; he commands a different company to that of Blackman, but knew him from a previous role when they had worked together eight years earlier. Parker remembers Blackman then as a junior NCO who required ‘close supervision’, needing ‘to be monitored and given clear direction’ — not in a tactical sense, but rather to stop him cutting corners. The sergeant is also a big man physically, ‘with the leadership prejudices that are associated with size,’ Parker says. People look up to him.4

			In March 2011, shortly before Blackman’s deployment to Afghanistan, his father died of Parkinson’s disease. On 27 May, during a patrol in the Loy Mandeh area, an IED killed two men in Blackman’s company, Lieutenant Oliver Augustin, a 23-year old Blackman had mentored, and Marine Sam Alexander, who had won a Military Cross on a previous Afghan tour. After Augustin’s death, Blackman became the commander of the ‘multiple’, or half-troop,5 operating at checkpoint Omar. On 24 July, during his mid-tour R&R, Blackman scattered his father’s ashes. His wife Claire, who works in communications for the ambulance service, noticed he looked at the ground ‘a lot’ while walking in the country; he said he had to be alert while looking for IEDs in Afghanistan. During that furlough in England, Blackman also played golf with a warrant officer; the warrant officer thought Blackman was a ‘husk of his former self’, and his mood seemed flat.

			Though only 2km as the crow flies from FOB Shazad, Omar is isolated and difficult to reach safely. The chaplain — a man who has completed the same demanding training as the marines in his flock, albeit carrying a cross rather than a rifle — has not visited Omar, as it is deemed too dangerous. The previous holders of the checkpoint had twenty-five men; Blackman has sixteen.6 They patrol between five and ten hours per day in temperatures that approach 50C, carrying a minimum of 45kg. They wear the new ‘Multi-Terrain Pattern’ camouflage, which has just come into service.

			Blackman’s multiple sometimes conducts patrols both in the morning and evening. Ambushes and the threat of IEDs are constant. There is an IED explosion on average every sixteen hours. The troops call going out on patrol ‘Afghan Roulette’. By this late stage in the six-month tour, they have begun to refer to themselves as ‘walking Figure 11s’, after the cardboard target used for shooting at on rifle ranges at home.

			The Taliban treat dead bodies callously and hang them from trees. A month earlier, someone threw two grenades at Blackman while he was talking to Afghan civilians outside the camp. The grenades fell into a drainage ditch, funnelling the blast upwards and saving the sergeant’s life. Blackman isolates himself in the container that serves as a control room at Omar, and has become increasingly irritable, in particular with those beyond the checkpoint that defines his world.

			*

			On 15 September, insurgents attacked checkpoint Talaanda with small-arms fire. At Shazad, the operations rooms observed through PGSS — the permanent ground surveillance system, tethered balloons with cameras — two individuals ‘believed to be armed insurgents’7 in the region of checkpoint Talaanda. They called the Apache helicopter from Camp Bastion; its callsign is ‘Ugly-51’. It located the apparent insurgents in an open field, and fired 139 rounds of 30mm ammunition. Those watching the operation, including the helicopter’s pilot and those at Shazad, believed the target could not have survived.

			But he did.

			In the morning, Alexander Blackman’s multiple at checkpoint Omar had conducted a routine patrol. In the afternoon, a foot patrol of around eight marines, led by Blackman, crashed out to carry out another unconnected search. They were on their way back when they were asked to investigate the effect of the helicopter strike. Meanwhile, the Apache was ordered to stay in the vicinity to provide top cover and look out for other insurgent activity.

			Men from Blackman’s patrol, conducting their BDA, find the insurgent in the middle of the field. Blackman and one other marine approach the wounded man; they take his AK-47, two magazines and a hand grenade. The second marine guards the wounded fighter with his pistol. When other members of the patrol join Blackman and the guard, the insurgent is clearly still alive. The marines swear at him. ‘Why couldn’t just be fucking dead,’ someone says. The pronoun is implied, unspoken. One of the marines starts to drag the insurgent towards the side of the field. Ten seconds later, he is dropped. His clothes are bloodied; his eyes are open. A marine leans towards him.

			‘You’re browners, fella,’ he says. The slang is brown bread — dead.

			They drop and move him multiple times with increasing impatience and decreasing care. ‘Right,’ Blackman says. ‘Get him closer in so PGSS can’t see what we’re doing to him.’

			They move the insurgent a few more feet, throwing him down on his back at the side of the field, close to the treeline. He winces in pain. The marines take up positions around the man in a semi-circle. ‘Anybody want to do first aid on this idiot?’ Blackman asks.

			‘No,’ the others respond. The guard continues to point his pistol at the Afghan.

			‘I’ll put one in his head if you want,’ someone says. There is laughter. A few seconds pass. Blackman comes closer and stands over the body.

			‘No, not in his head,’ Blackman says. ‘Cause that’ll be fucking obvious.’

			A minute or so later, Blackman is speaking on the radio, explaining that the insurgent has a sucking chest wound, when air is sucked into the thoracic cavity through a puncture in the chest wall instead of into the lungs through the airways. The helicopter can still be heard, buzzing in the background.8

			The insurgent is lying on his front. His shirt is lifted; there are wounds on his back, which is smeared with blood. ‘We’ll patch him up with an FFD,’ a marine says, referring to a first field dressing, the standard bandage that consists of a pad of absorbent cloth with an attached strip of fabric to bind it in place, like a bastardised sanitary towel. ‘That’ll do, won’t it?’

			‘Where’s that — where’s that Ugly now?’ a marine asks, referring to the hovering Apache. ‘He’s over there and he can fucking see us,’ Blackman replies.

			The marine guarding the insurgent stands over him and points his pistol at him. Blackman speaks on his radio — they are equipped with Bowman 354 sets and also the shorter-range PRR. Blackman suggests the insurgent may already be dead. A marine refers again to the helicopter. ‘He’ll be on — be behind those trees in a minute.’

			Someone bends down to the insurgent with a first field dressing. ‘For fuck’s sake, I cannot believe I’m doing this.’ ‘Wait a minute, just pretend to do it,’ another marine replies. ‘’Til he’s behind them trees.’ Again, he is referring to the helicopter.

			‘Al,’ another marine says, to Blackman, ‘just strangle him.’

			‘Yeah, that might …’

			Another five seconds pass.

			‘Yeah, he’s passed,’ Blackman says. ‘Fuck it, he’s passed.’ Blackman reports on the radio and promises to collect biometric data. The marine with the dressing begins to apply it. The guard brings his pistol closer to the insurgent’s body. ‘Wait, Jack,’ the marine with the dressing says. For eight seconds the insurgent moves his head.

			There is a discussion between the marine with the dressing and the guard with the pistol about the fact that the insurgent had a grenade in his possession. They swear at the man. ‘Yeah, maybe we should pump one in his heart,’ one of them says.9

			They turn the insurgent over on his back. His body and face are covered in dry grass. His eyes are open.

			‘Er, he’s dead,’ Blackman says. ‘Don’t waste your fucking FFDs on the cheeser. Take it off him. Right, get the — get the HIIDE camera out, see if you can get a picture of him.’ HIIDE stands for Handheld Interagency Identity Detection Equipment; it can establish and verify iris, fingerprint and facial recognition.

			Blackman’s pistol is in his holster at his waist. The helicopter can no longer be heard above — it has been tasked to turn its attention to a compound. Blackman speaks on the radio. The insurgent’s right arm moves. He is visibly breathing. Blackman has drawn his pistol and is looking up at the sky. ‘Where is the CAT, Ugly callsign?’

			‘It’s gone that way,’ the marine who was applying the first field dressing replies. ‘Went south, mate.’

			Blackman crouches down. He aims his pistol at the centre of the insurgent’s chest. He fires once, at point black range. He stands back up. The insurgent’s legs, which are bent at the knee, begin to move left and right. His upper body and arms start to writhe. His head shakes back and forth. His breathing starts to become laboured.

			Blackman watches for fifteen seconds. He adjusts his backpack.

			‘There you are,’ he says. ‘Shuffle off this mortal coil, you cunt.’

			Blackman kneels down to get something from his backpack. Ten seconds later he addresses his party. ‘Obviously this doesn’t go anywhere, fellas. I just broke the Geneva Convention.’ As Blackman speaks, the insurgent continues to writhe.

			A marine replies, ‘If anything gets heard, mate, it’s as a warning shot went down.’

			Blackman gets back on the radio. ‘Fully dead now.’

			Blackman did not know that Chris Watson, one of the marines in the patrol, was wearing a camera on his helmet throughout. It is, after a fashion, the ultimate YouTube war film.

			*

			The Alexander Blackman killing becomes perhaps the best-known scandal of the Afghan War, and one of the biggest outrages of the entire post-9/11 conflict period for Britain. However, to understand the chain of events that followed Blackman’s actions requires the examination of a wider issue: the entire subject of military accountability. In the Iraq and Afghan Wars, Britain developed a globally unprecedented web of accountability measures for individual malfeasance on the battlefield. Yet it did so while establishing almost zero accountability for the high-level decision-making that led to the prosecution of two deeply troubled campaigns.10

			At no point in the ten years that passed between the planes striking the World Trade Centre in 2001 and Sergeant Blackman’s patrol leaving his Helmandi checkpoint in September 2011 did the conflicts in Iraq and, later, Afghanistan become existential matters for the British state. They rated, at highest, as the third or fourth crocodile out from the canoe; there was always something more important, be it a looming election, a scandal, or a prized domestic reform. The military stakes were low, and so accountability for strategic failure was similarly not a priority. Meanwhile, the prosecution of junior individuals — sometimes, although by no means exclusively, in a vexatious and unjustified fashion — was aided by the same lack of gravity and the small numbers involved.

			*

			Afghanistan in 2011 is not the same war as it was in 2006. The summer heat is the same, the Helmand moondust is the same; everything else has changed. Camp Bastion is no longer tents around a rough airstrip in the desert. Construction of a tarmac runway and hospital was underway by 2007. By 2011, the main runway is 3,500m long, and there are 600 fixed and rotary air movements each day. The base has swollen to become a 26km2 conurbation — newspapers compare it in size to the town of Reading. It has its own water-bottling plant, hospital, police force and even Pizza Hut. The full Bastion-Leatherneck-Shorabak complex (the US and Afghan bases within the broader site) accommodates 28,000 personnel.11 Three huge dining facilities are each capable of feeding around 7,000 troops. Inside Bastion, life can seem utterly removed from the world, and the war, beyond the high perimeter wire fence. The camp’s position in open desert means it receives nothing like the IDF attacks that bases garnered in Iraq. Bastion seems effectively UK-level in terms of safety.

			On 15 September, therefore, Alexander Blackman’s ‘Bad Lands’ in the north of Nad-e Ali and Camp Bastion, some 15km apart, are distinct universes. A single strand called the ‘wire’, a hermetic perimeter of cable, reinforced with dogs, sangars, optics and searchlights, divides safe bases from the ulu — a Malay term that once seeped into British military usage to mean remote country — beyond. There is a strong caste divide between those who are within the wire and those who patrol without. For men like the marines at checkpoint Omar, the soldiers at Bastion are camp rats, or an older term — REMFs (Rear Echelon Motherfuckers). A war without a frontline, that old saw about insurgency, has become a war with a very clearly defined frontline.

			The combat outside the wire is not same as it was in 2006, either. After the initial mayhem of the Herrick 4 deployment in 2006, the Marines followed the Paras into Helmand. One of the company commanders with 42 Commando on that deployment was Major Ewen Murchison. He led a ‘Mobile Operations Group’ out in the desert, engaging in firefights with the Taliban. Their actions were violent — ‘kinetic’, in military parlance. Matthew Parker, who on that 2006–7 tour was working in 42 Commando’s headquarters, described Murchison’s behaviour as ‘very dynamic; quite unfettered’. Murchison, a thickset rugby player, was the ‘alpha male of the organisation’. ‘If you were on his team in a tent with him it was brilliant; his loyalty to his people was very impressive,’ Parker added. ‘If you were in brigade headquarters with him as a CO, I’d imagine he was pretty challenging: he fought hard for what he believed would best serve his people and their mission success as he interpreted it.’

			‘I concur with Matt,’ writes another Royal Marines officer who served with 45 Commando in 2011. ‘I know several people who were fiercely loyal to Murchison. That happens when a leadership style creates a strong inner circle. Unfortunately, it also ostracises outsiders and creates a two-tier team. Several officers who were attached to 42 Commando as specialists [in 2011] struggled to fit in and have reflected on quite a bullish atmosphere.’ Another senior Royal Marine officer described Murchison as a ‘Neanderthal’. In 2007 Murchison was awarded an MBE; not for the first time, the honours and awards system rewarded intense fighting, regardless of whether that was in fact the most sensible approach. By 2011, Ewen Murchison is a lieutenant colonel and Alexander Blackman’s commanding officer on Operation Herrick 14.12

			After the Paras and the Marines, the United Kingdom’s traditional two forms of shock troops, had shot their respective bolts on Herricks 4 and 5, and it was clear that Afghanistan was to be an enduring commitment, the remainder of the infantry joined the rotation en masse; earlier they had served as additions to the elite units. That process began with the Royal Anglians, the Worcestershire and Sherwood Foresters and the Grenadier Guards on Herrick 6 in April 2007. Other units followed. By this stage, the notion of Afghanistan as a venue for ally, and for licensed mayhem and violence — promulgated through YouTube clips and racks of accumulated gallantry medals — was well established. Understandably, the regular foot soldiery of the British Army wanted to get in on this. Soap-star-turned-war-correspondent Ross Kemp embedded with the Anglians. Kemp’s breathy coverage — ‘I want to know what it’s like for a British soldier in combat, and so I’ve joined my dad’s old regiment, 1 Royal Anglian’ — was first broadcast in January 2008. For some watching, it cemented this kind of misguided action as a form of behaviour to be emulated.

			There is nuance here. Emile Simpson, a former Gurkha officer who completed three tours of Afghanistan and subsequently wrote the acclaimed study War from the Ground Up, points out that in the early stages of the Helmand campaign the entire campaign was ‘enemy-centric’, so the abundance of killing on these tours was ‘not a case of a rogue/misguided unit, even if, in retrospect it was misguided’. Simpson adds that the desire to engage in extreme violence was not universal. ‘What you have is a fragmented culture in which some units did, and others did not, both at battalion and company, even platoon level,’ he writes. Robert Johnson of the Changing Character of War Programme at Oxford also suggests that implying units’ behaviour at this stage in the campaign reflected a conscious choice overstates the case: ‘Mostly it was doing patrols, trying not to step on IEDs or get taken out by a sniper,’ he says. ‘The rest of it was questioning locals, checking compounds. Deliberate ops were rare.’

			However, with the benefit of hindsight, it does seem that there was a consistent portion of the British Army who really wanted to ‘get stuck in’ in Helmand, at both the junior and more senior levels. That had a considerable shaping effect on the campaign as a whole, in particular in the early days.

			Change of a sort came on Herrick 7, the tour that started in late 2007. By a quirk of the army’s manning plot, 52 Brigade in Helmand that year was led by Andrew Mackay, a brigadier whom the system had originally determined should command a ‘regional brigade’, an administrative formation, rather than a deployable ‘operational brigade’. Command of an operational brigade is more prestigious, so it is a reasonable inference that Mackay was graded less highly than some of his military contemporaries.13 It is telling that it took Mackay, whom the army did not classify as at the leading edge of his peer group, to dial down the level of violence across the province.14

			In Mackay’s commander’s note to the task force at the start of the tour, he stated that ‘body count was a corrupt form of measurement’ and would not be tolerated. Those using it would be sent home. He ditched the then-current British counter-insurgency doctrine — this was before Alex Alderson had rewritten that document — and asked David Petraeus, with whom he had previously worked in Baghdad, to send a draft of the emerging US doctrine, which he circulated to the brigade. The British started to gain a better knowledge of the province, though the tendency for signature operations — stunts conceived so that the current brigadier, a six-month king here as in Iraq, could demonstrate major command — continued.

			When the Paras returned in 2008 for a second rotation, they had tempered their bloodlust somewhat, but they still engaged in a huge and, in hindsight, poorly conceived undertaking. The brigade sought to move a £3.4 million turbine to the Kajaki Dam, a structure built in the north of Helmand in the 1950s, during America’s first push to make Afghanistan a modern country and an ally. The US turned Kajaki into a hydroelectric power station in the 1970s, but abandoned the project before completion when the Russians invaded in 1979. In 2004, USAID, the American aid agency, restarted the hydroelectric project with great fanfare. ‘The agency successfully refurbished two turbines that were nearly inoperable after decades of neglect, and the dam eventually began producing some power,’ a subsequent ProPublica investigation later reported. ‘But its true success hinged on installing a third, modern turbine that could vastly increase that power throughout the area, including to the city of Kandahar, a strategic and populated urban centre one province to the east.’15 The new turbine was intended to produce electricity for an additional 1.9 million people. In 2008, the British would bring it.

			A convoy of a hundred vehicles took five days to move seven massive sections of turbine, each weighing between twenty and thirty tonnes, a total of 180km.16 The operation was code-named ‘Oqab Tsuka’ — ‘Eagle’s Summit’ in Pashtu. By 2008, operation names were indigenised, but the army could only push that trend so far; the troops call it ‘T2’. The huge load is delivered safely — but it is not used. Eight years later, at the start of 2016, the turbine still sat, unassembled, in rusting containers at Kajaki, unable to be installed without 700 tonnes of concrete. Finally that year a USAID project connected it up. By that point the British had been gone from Helmand for two years.17

			The Kajaki Dam became a symbol of countless other botched reconstruction projects in Afghanistan. In 2011, US General David Petraeus described it to the BBC as a classic case of ‘over-promising but under-deliver[ing]’. The British brigadier who led Operation Eagle’s Summit was Mark Carleton-Smith, an Old Etonian and former commanding officer of 22 SAS. The next year he received a CBE for services in Afghanistan. In 2018, he became chief of the general staff. Carleton-Smith’s story, like so many others, speaks to the great difficulties armies have in holding senior people to account when things go wrong, and also the complex question of where exactly blame should be placed. There is an argument that the failure to subsequently plumb in the turbine he audaciously delivered to Kajaki is not Carleton-Smith’s fault at all; that responsibility there lay with a corrupt and dysfunctional Afghan government, or a misfiring aid industry. Another school of thought would suggest, though, that ensuring there were resources to connect the turbine within a reasonable timeframe was a basic part of his responsibility as a commander; that, bluntly, there was no point at all in mounting Operation Oqab Tsuka unless one could be certain the turbine could be used. These questions of responsibility are not straightforward.

			*

			In 2009, the nature of the war in Afghanistan changed again. In the early years of the campaign, IEDs were few and far between. Paul Hollingshead, the Gurkha lieutenant in Now Zad in 2006, saw a handful of primitive devices that year. Legacy Russian mines sometimes appeared in parallel with newer, improvised bombs. That relatively permissive environment allowed mobile gunfights with the Taliban, of the kind Ewen Murchison prosecuted on Herrick 5. By 2009, this had changed. IEDs proliferated. In Helmand, they would never reach the technological sophistication seen in Iraq, with passive infrared detection systems triggered by vehicles and explosively formed penetrator warheads that could punch through armour. Instead, the Afghan IED campaign relied on industrial-scale deployment of cheap, primitive devices, often yellow palm-oil containers filled with homemade, fertiliser-based explosive, relying for detonation on command wires or pressure plates. A soldier’s footfall or a vehicle’s wheel would cause two electric contacts, such as saw blades, to touch each other, closing the circuit and firing the charge. Simple and cheap to make, these devices could not be foiled by electronic counter-measures in the way remote-controlled detonation could be.18 By 2009, in particular in contested areas such as Sangin, IEDs were present in such numbers as to turn full areas of the town into low-density minefields.

			Military doctors at Camp Bastion and Selly Oak Hospital back in Birmingham saw new trauma. Instead of an open-fracture tibia from a legacy mine under a vehicle, they began to encounter ‘people who were basically cut in half’, losing both legs above the knee, with open pelvic fractures, and severe abdominal wounds.19 Improved medical care meant that previously fatal injuries could now be survived; several triple amputees emerged from the conflict, and one Gurkha survived for eighteen months in Birmingham with his abdominal wall reconstructed with pigskin. However, the quality of life faced by this new troupe of foreshortened and limbless men was less clear, despite the emerging trend of amputees competing in sporting and adventure events.

			2 and 3 Rifles, only two years after their exploits in Basra Palace, faced the new IED threat on those tours. In one hellish incident in July 2009, five men from the same 2 Rifles patrol died in a series of blasts in Sangin. On 10 July, as they left a disused compound, an IED exploded. One soldier was killed outright; six others were injured. A reserve force scrambled to help their injured colleagues, but as the walking wounded set off for base they triggered a second ‘daisy chain’ of connected devices. A further three soldiers were killed, with a fourth dying later at Camp Bastion. Another soldier who was back at base when the injured were brought in killed himself two years later. The July 2009 incident took the number of British soldiers killed in Afghanistan above the total lost in Iraq.20

			The system reacted; new counter-measures were rushed into action, and fleets of mine-resistant vehicles, the Dogs of War programme, arrived in theatre, vastly more resilient than the Snatch Land Rovers and WMIKs they replaced. But the troops could not take their vehicles everywhere; sometimes they had to walk. The army tried — with some, but not complete, success — to bridge the cultural divide in the bomb-disposal community between the Royal Logistic Corps and the Royal Engineers. From four ‘explosive ordnance disposal’ teams in Afghanistan in 2009, the British aimed to field twenty, supported by high-risk search teams to find the bombs to be neutered. Significant progress was made, although by 2012 this requirement had not been completely fulfilled.21 But still, the IED became the signature weapon of the Helmand conflict. No longer could troops move freely; instead, they adopted the ‘Afghan snake’, painstakingly walking in line behind a young soldier holding a Vallon mine detector.

			In mid-2009, as casualties mounted during Operation Panther’s Claw, the Afghanistan conflict began to threaten the survival of Gordon Brown’s government back in London, just as Iraq in early 2007 had threatened the last days of Tony Blair’s premiership. Discussions about apparent kit adequacies, and in particular a shortage of helicopters, filled the media in the UK. Once again, as they had in Iraq during Charge of the Knights, the Americans came to the rescue. After his election in late 2008, President Obama, who had ridden into office in part on his opposition to the Iraq War, announced a troop surge for Afghanistan, which would eventually amount to 30,000 extra American troops, although for a limited period of time. US Marines poured into Helmand, allowing British forces to concentrate in a smaller area.

			On Wednesday 6 May 2009, over a dinner at Camp Eggers, the Kabul headquarters of the Afghan training mission, US Secretary of State for Defence Robert Gates fired General David McKiernan, the commander of the International Security Assistance Force in Afghanistan.22 Three days later, McKiernan choked up when he broke the news to his staff. The Washington Post noted that it was ‘the first sacking of a wartime theatre commander’ by the US since General Douglas MacArthur was fired by President Truman at the height of the Korean War.

			McKiernan’s replacement was General Stanley McChrystal. Like David Petraeus, McChrystal made his name in Iraq. From 2003 to 2008, he ran the US Joint Special Operations Command (JSOC), overseeing the development of a huge kill-or-capture operation aimed at taking down al-Qaeda in Iraq, which included killing its leader, Abu Musab al-Zarqawi. McChrystal’s supporters pointed to the commander’s successes, personal courage, innovation and inspiration, and argue that in Iraq, his JSOC organisation broke the al-Qaeda offensive in the country, saving the lives of countless Iraqis and coalition troops. Its critics, by contrast, described it as an industrial-scale assassination programme: vastly more Iraqis were killed than captured. The general’s detractors point out, too, that McChrystal had played a role in covering up the death of Pat Tillman, a professional American football player who enlisted in the US Army after 9/11 and died in Afghanistan in 2004. The US authorities initially claimed Tillman had been killed by enemy fire; in fact, it was a friendly-fire incident. McChrystal was also embroiled in allegations of torture and abuse at secret prisons in Iraq. However, in 2009, well before the advent of ISIS, post-Surge Iraq still looked like a success story, and those men who had made their military name there — notably Petraeus and McChrystal — were favoured sons. Stan McChrystal got the Afghanistan job.

			McChrystal was a spare man who kept himself obsessively fit.23 In Afghanistan, he represented a new breed of commander, an individual who had come up through the hushed world of Special Forces but now led a vast army. He remodelled his headquarters in Kabul on the Bloomberg office in New York. He abhorred the cushy standards he found, banning alcohol and attempting to close a TGI Fridays outlet at the base. He hand-picked his staff at great speed, bringing on board the British general Graeme Lamb, who had been involved in negotiations with Sunnis in Anbar in Iraq in 2006, and likewise had come up through the Special Forces world. Lamb, who had recently retired, cancelled plans to take a snowboarding course in Chile and came on board ‘Team America’, as McChrystal’s staff called themselves. One staffer bought a set of nunchucks with four stars on them and gave them to McChrystal, their own four-star general.

			In August 2009, Karzai won re-election in an enormously fraudulent poll that cost $300 million.24 A second-round run-off vote, pushed for by the international community and scheduled for November, was cancelled before it could take place. Karzai was declared president for another five-year term. That autumn, the Washington Post published a resignation letter by Matthew Hoh, a former US Marine and State Department employee in Afghanistan. ‘I fail to see the value or the worth in continued US casualties or expenditures of resources in support of the Afghan government in what is, truly, a 35-year old civil war,’ Hoh wrote. ‘Our support for this kind of government, coupled with a misunderstanding of the insurgency’s true nature, reminds me horribly of our involvement with South Vietnam.’25

			In Kabul, however, McChrystal did not buy the Vietnam comparison. Instead, he disseminated a new set of directives; he called for ‘courageous restraint’, for troops to limit their use of violence, and to ‘suppress the desire to close with and kill the enemy’. Like Petraeus before him, McChrystal was an avid student of theories of counter-insurgency, a reader of the writings of David Galula, a French officer who had served in Algeria, of Australian David Kilcullen, who had experience in East Timor, and John Nagl, a US Army officer who had published on the British campaign in Malaya. As Michael Hastings, the Rolling Stone journalist whose profile of McChrystal would eventually cause him to be fired from the Afghanistan job in mid-2010, points out, these ideas were not in fact new in Afghanistan. With regard to McKiernan, McChrystal’s predecessor, Hastings writes:

			The accusation that he doesn’t get COIN [counter-insurgency] is both damning and false. McKiernan had been employing a counter-insurgency strategy for his entire tenure, setting up local police forces and pushing his soldiers to live among the population. McKiernan, though, doesn’t know how to suck up to the media, doesn’t pucker up to the senators, doesn’t play the bureaucratic game as well as his rivals.26

			And so in 2009, McKiernan was fired, and it was McChrystal who became, for the British, indelibly associated with ‘courageous restraint’.

			Exactly how much of a change this meant for UK forces is disputed. One Royal Marines officer present in Afghanistan in 2011 suggests that, right from the start of the Helmand deployment five years earlier, there were always some commanders who understood the ‘need for a calibrated use of force’; there just weren’t enough of them:

			The term ‘courageous restraint’ was nothing more than an acknowledgement that the campaign had been undermined by force being used too easily, too liberally and often inappropriately. Courageous restraint was not a new approach (and shouldn’t have been), it was simply an attempt to recalibrate the use of force because leaders at all levels had lost sight of the ‘context’ they were operating in. Regardless of whether it should have taken four years to realise this — the point is that everyone should have understood this in 2011 … Anyone who fought without discipline in 2011 wilfully chose to do so.

			Mike Martin, the origins of whose book An Intimate War: An Oral History of the Helmand Conflict are discussed later in this section, adds that while McChrystal came in and spoke about counter-insurgency — COIN, in military jargon — he continued in the background to run the kind of kill-or-capture operations he had led in Iraq, with problematic results.

			‘He kept to his colours,’ Martin says.

			In theoretical/conceptual terms you can have assassination strikes while you are doing COIN. The assassinations (especially when they are done by units in a different chain of command) fuck up all the delicate ‘protect the population and win them’ stuff … he did the worst thing possible — which was force all the ground holders to be COIN people while he had a separate JSOC organisation killing everyone in the background.27

			Regardless of exactly what role the new catchphrase of ‘courageous restraint’ played, it is undoubtedly clear that the incentive set faced by British commanders in Afghanistan 2011 was different to that of five years earlier. Officially it was no longer meant to be about tonnage of ordnance expended, or body counts, or ally, or getting stuck in, or any of the factors that, to a greater or lesser extent, had motivated much British activity in the province in the early years. Now, it was about COIN, with the loyalty of the indigenous population as prize. The influx of the US Marines also allowed the British to increase their force densities to something that might make these new strategies feasible. Yet inevitably, what it was officially about and what it was still really about for the individuals at the sharp end did not exactly correlate.

			*

			The major activity under the new McChrystal regime was Operation Moshtarak, in early 2010. Again, the name was local: ‘Moshtarak’ means ‘together’ in Dari.28 It involved more than 15,000 NATO and Afghan troops; the British component included the Grenadier Guards, the Royal Welsh and the Scots Guards. The British commander was none other than James Cowan, commanding officer of the Black Watch in 2004 as a lieutenant colonel, and chief of staff to Richard Shirreff on Operation Sinbad as a colonel. By 2010, Cowan was a brigadier, the favoured man chosen to set up a completely new brigade headquarters to allow Britain’s stretched army to keep atop its twin commitments in Iraq and Afghanistan.

			The Moshtarak plan was steeped in the doctrine of counter-insurgency: the US Marines were to lead the main thrust, focusing on the town of Marjah, a site south of Lashkar Gah known for insurgent activity and drug-smuggling. British forces, in support, would secure the nearby Nad-e Ali district, where Alexander Blackman would be deployed the following year. Moshtarak aimed to clear the area of insurgents and ‘allow forces to work with local institutions to bolster reconstruction and provide support for the rule of law’. Stan McChrystal boasted of a ‘government-in-a-box’ ready to roll into Marjah once military operations were over. Publicly, there was no attempt to keep the push secret. ISAF warned local people what was to come so they could protect themselves and stay away from the fighting.

			Just before the start of the operation, James Cowan walked out in front of his polyglot troops to the sound of bagpipe music. ‘There is no more poignant moment for a soldier than the eve of battle,’ he said. ‘But tomorrow is not the eve of battle, nor are we alone. Our aim is not to crush the Taliban, but to win the people, and that is why this is not a battle. We stand here today not alone, but as partners with our Afghan friends.’ Cowan deployed the mantras of counter-insurgency. ‘Where we go we will stay, and where we stay we will build,’ he said. ‘We will establish security, so that the people are free once more.’ The operation was one the like of which had not been seen since the start of the campaign, he said. And Cowan used McChrystal’s most powerful mantra: ‘Above all else, protect the people. Defeat the enemy by avoiding civilian casualties. Hold your fire if there is a risk to the innocent, even if this puts you in greater danger. That kind of restraint requires courage: courageous restraint, and this you have shown throughout our time in Afghanistan.’29

			On an improvised stage in Helmand, James Cowan showed he had moved with the times: that he had become, in the jargon of the times, an ardent COINdinista. Yet in other matters, he had moved less. It was now almost four years since the creation of the Royal Regiment of Scotland, but James Cowan did not wear the cap badge of the new regiment on his tam o’shanter, nor that of the general staff; instead, he stuck with the Red Hackle of the Black Watch. He was still a tribal man, and the British Army remained in parts a tribal institution.

			*

			For all its grand intentions, Operation Moshtarak was less spectacular in execution. The coalition failed to install a functioning government in Marjah. Ninety days into the push, McChrystal described the town as ‘a bleeding ulcer’. Nonetheless, for the British, Moshtarak had two important effects. Firstly, it established that the sacred doctrine of counter-insurgency was now the official party line. Secondly, it swept through the Nad-e Ali district, pushing, some claim, insurgent activity from the south to the north of that zone.

			Stan McChrystal’s regime as ISAF commander came to a precipitous end in the summer of 2010. Michael Hastings’ Rolling Stone profile was entitled ‘The Runaway General’, and dropped on 22 June. It was based on time spent with McChrystal and Team America as they rolled madly through Europe during the aviation shutdown precipitated in spring 2010 by ash from the Icelandic volcano Eyjafjallajökull. It reported one of McChrystal’s aides describing a dinner with French officials as ‘fucking gay’. There was another exchange about US Vice President Joe Biden: ‘Are you asking about Vice President Biden?’ McChrystal says with a laugh. ‘Who’s that?’

			‘Biden?’ suggests a top advisor. ‘Did you say: Bite Me?’30, 31

			Hastings described McChrystal’s staff as ‘a handpicked collection of killers, spies, geniuses, patriots, political operators and outright maniacs’. He wrote of a visit by McChrystal to a combat outpost where US troops were near-mutinous about their commander’s focus on courageous restraint; they believed limits on their use of force were putting them in danger. ‘We aren’t putting fear into the Taliban,’ one soldier said.

			Hastings was in Afghanistan when the story was published, working on another assignment about the crews of Kiowa helicopters for Men’s Journal. He agreed with a public affairs officer at Kandahar Air Base that it was best he left. On the flight back to Kabul, three soldiers were reading print-outs of his story. On 23 June, President Obama accepted McChrystal’s resignation. His replacement: David Petraeus.

			*

			On 1 June 2010, a few weeks before the Rolling Stone piece was published, the new British Prime Minister David Cameron assembled his military chiefs, foreign policy experts and security officials at Chequers, his country residence in Buckinghamshire. Cameron also invited some Afghan experts, known for unorthodox views; the prime minster called them ‘wild men’. Among these were journalist James Fergusson, Graeme Lamb and Rory Stewart, who had once walked across Afghanistan and was now a Tory MP. (Like the prime minister, Fergusson and Stewart were both Old Etonians). According to a later account by Theo Farrell, Fergusson declared it was ‘pointless to put in more troops’. Lamb vigorously disagreed with him. For Stewart, the ‘NATO mission in Afghanistan was a deeply misguided and “humiliating mess”’.32 The British War was expected to cost £26 billion by 2015.

			The US had already decided to reduce troop levels and Cameron planned to follow their lead. In early July, talking about British counter-insurgency operations in Afghanistan, Cameron said, ‘This is something we won’t be doing in five years.’ At a conference in Kabul on 20–21 July, Hamid Karzai ‘outlined his vision for the phased transfer of all responsibility to Afghan security forces to be completed by the end of 2014’. In November, at a NATO summit in Lisbon, the North Atlantic Council endorsed the timeline: all combat forces would be withdrawn by the end of December 2014.

			There was now an approximate end date to the Helmand venture. That infuriated some military commanders, who felt the West had broadcast a message to the Taliban that all they had to do now was wait for the foreigners to depart. As the phrase that had crept into British military argot ran, ‘you have the watches; we have the time’. But for now, the war was still on. And although Stan McChrystal was gone, his doctrine of courageous restraint lived on in Petraeus. By the summer of 2010 in Helmand, therefore, it seemed as if some British commanders were competing as to who could apply themselves to this doctrine with the most enthusiasm. Johnny Mercer, an artillery captain who had grown up in a strict Baptist household, served in the Nad-e Ali district in 2010, commanding a fire support team, responsible for calling in artillery and airstrikes. Under the new regime, with its concentration on minimising civilian casualties, deployment of both such assets was now taboo. British troop numbers had also peaked at 9,500.33 ‘There was a nasty air around theatre at the time,’ Mercer later wrote.

			The rules of engagement were there to protect our troops as much as anything else, but commanders became obsessed with analysing secondary and tertiary effects of almost every engagement… British commanders — seemingly unable to think for themselves and now heavily deferent to the Americans after our early exit from Iraq — were falling over themselves to be the one who instigated [McChrystal’s] directive to the strictest degree.34

			That September British troops pulled out of Sangin, where over four years more than a hundred soldiers had died, a third of all UK Helmand casualties. They handed over the town to US Marines.

			Courageous restraint was a contrast to previous British tours in Helmand, in particular the early ones. Yet not only did the new policy have to contend with soldiers’ understandable desire to keep themselves safe, it also had to address their own notions of the kind of behaviour that was aspirational — of what they went to Afghanistan for. Much of a military generation had concluded that what conflict in the first decade of the twenty-first century represented — what its purpose was, really — was a chance to engage in extreme violence. The 2010 change in approach left some individuals feeling short-changed, while others, who had been rewarded for a very different kind of behaviour in a previous time, were reluctant to embrace the new world.

			The case of Alexander Blackman, therefore, was as much about what the British Army wanted to be doing in Afghanistan by 2011 — as opposed to what it should have been doing — as it was about the individual morality of battlefield murder. And the greatest irony is that neither of the units centrally involved were in the British Army at all.




			Chapter 18

			Lee Way

			Stephen (‘Steph’) Moran arrived as the new regimental sergeant major of 45 Commando in mid-2010.1 Moran, forty-five years old, had completed three previous tours in Afghanistan. In 2002, as a sergeant, he served on Operation Jacana, part of the immediate post-9/11 intervention. He deployed on Herrick 5 in 2006–7 as a colour sergeant, and again on Herrick 9 in 2008–9 as the company sergeant major for W (or ‘Whiskey’) Company in 45 Commando. Now he was back in the same unit as regimental sergeant major, the most senior non-commissioned officer in the commando, a Royal Marine unit roughly equivalent in size to an army infantry battalion. 45 Commando was due to deploy to Afghanistan the following spring on Operation Herrick 14. By now, the deployment plots and pre-deployment training were worked out well in advance.2

			The Royal Marines are the navy’s infantry, product of a crossing of purposes in the structure of the British military that sees the army and the navy both operate aircraft, and the navy and the RAF — the latter organisation in the form of the RAF Regiment — field soldiers. The Marines’ continued survival owes much to the fiefdom structure of defence, but they are also an acknowledged elite. Though originally formed in 1664, the present-day lineage of the Royal Marines runs to the Second World War, when the first British ‘commando’ units were raised to undertake raiding duties, training at Achnacarry in Scotland. Today, their thirty-two-week basic training programme, conducted at the Commando Training Centre at Lympstone in Devon, is the longest infantry-training scheme in NATO. The ‘Commando Tests’ recruits have to pass, like the Paras’ P Company, originate from the Second World War. They include a nine-mile speed march in ninety minutes, a six-mile endurance course (comprising a series of tunnels, including one underwater), an assault course and, most totemic, a thirty-mile speed march across Dartmoor. If they pass all the tests, recruits receive a Green Beret.

			In 2011, the Royal Marines numbered roughly 8,000. Just over half of them served within 3 Commando Brigade, the operational formation, which included three ‘manoeuvre commando units’, 40, 42, and 45, along with a selection of other units, including some from the army, that provided artillery, logistical support and other services.

			The Royal Marines are elite, and not just physically: almost half of their recruits meet the educational standards required to be an officer, and they are determinedly egalitarian about officer recruitment (at least, in comparison with stuffier sections of the army). One military doctor who served as medical officer with a commando in the mid-2000s remembers that his officers’ mess included both Oxbridge graduates and former scaffolders; unlike army units he had served with, they never wore suits, sticking with chinos and shirts in the mess. When that commando was paired with the Light Dragoons, an army cavalry regiment, as part of build-up training for an earlier Afghanistan tour, the two units played home-and-away rugby matches against each other. The marines found the cavalry officers, in the doctor’s words, ‘with long hair, and slightly overweight’, hilarious.

			The Royal Marines are also exceptionally aggressive. They pride themselves on an alternative attitude to the Paras — a more considered and cerebral approach — but retain the same factors of elite physical-entry standards, and a history infused with actions in the Falklands — in 1982, 42 Commando fought at Mount Harriet, and 45 Commando at Two Sisters — as well as rugged previous Helmand tours. When the Marines followed the Paras to Helmand on Herrick 5 in late 2006, it is said they ended up topping the Paras’ half-million-strong expenditure of bullets.

			When Steph Moran arrived at 45 Commando in 2010, the unit was still reeling from its previous deployment to Afghanistan on Operation Herrick 9 in the winter of 2008–9. Based in Sangin, including the same Pharmacy Road area in which 2 Rifles would the next summer experience their lethal daisy-chain IED strike, 45 lost eight men and had over fifty wounded. Afterwards, Moran found many marines ‘asked the question: is this a basket case, is this in vain? And then a lot of guys were looking forward to coming back, to get in the fight.’

			During their build-up training for Herrick 14 in 2011, however, 45 Commando tried to prepare itself for a very different form of campaign, one in line with the new theories of counter-insurgency and courageous restraint. The key mover for this transformation was the commanding officer, Lieutenant Colonel Oliver Lee. Brought up in Birmingham, the son of a barrister who later became a Queen’s Counsel and a judge, Lee had undertaken a gap-year commission in the Royal Marines in 1991–2, during which he passed the commando course, before studying geography at Jesus College, Cambridge. While at Cambridge, he was rusticated prior to his finals for damaging a college house during a late-night game of indoor cricket, although he was allowed to return to sit the exams.3 The incident also caused him to go through disciplinary proceedings with the Royal Marines, as they were sponsoring him through university and he was bound to return to them after graduation. He would be ‘on warning’ for the duration of his training.

			Lee overcame that unpromising start. After gaining a 2:1 in his finals, he won both the Sword of Honour and the ‘Commando Medal’ awarded for top-rated recruit on his training course. As a young officer, he became the first marine to serve as aide-de-camp to the chief of the defence staff, at that time naval officer Admiral Sir Michael Boyce. Among the four players in Boyce’s outer office was Richard Shirreff. The military world is a small one, in particular for those on the career power curve.

			After junior staff college, Lee served as operations officer in 42 Commando during the initial invasion of Iraq in 2003. He became a company commander in 45 Commando, and went off to the staff college at Shrivenham. Ironically, given what was to happen with Blackman in 2011, Lee wrote his Shrivenham thesis on battlefield atrocity. ‘The modern strategic environment makes ethical failure by military forces the cause of disproportionate strategic damage,’ the abstract to the paper stated. ‘It demonstrates that such mistakes undermine our own strategy whilst enhancing that of the enemy. Concurrently, it notes that the increasingly complex battlespace generates abundant opportunities for moral error to occur.’4

			Lee gained a top grade at Shrivenham and deployed on Herrick 5 as the brigade operations officer — a key staff role — with 3 Commando Brigade. He received an MBE for that tour, promoted to lieutenant colonel, and spent two years working in the MoD as military assistant to the minister for the armed forces and the secretary of state, as the political controversy over Afghanistan escalated. He was appointed again as chief of staff to 3 Commando Brigade, in the Marines (unlike the army) a lieutenant colonel’s job. However, he never took up the role, as in the summer of 2009 he was instead — one year rather than the usual two after promoting to lieutenant colonel — appointed commanding officer of 45 Commando.

			Lee was regarded in many quarters as the star of his generation of Royal Marine officers. Matthew Parker, who would later serve as a company commander in 42 Commando on Herrick 14, did not know Lee personally prior to 2011 but suggested perception of his character evolved as he spent longer in uniform, from a ‘slightly unpleasant thruster’ to someone who had concluded ‘it was much nicer to be pleasant in order to climb the tree. He had the talent and ability, as well as the political nous, to get to the top without the unpleasant thrusting piece; there was a point at which he became a different person.’ (Parker added that both Lee, and he himself, remained intensely ambitious.)5 A naval doctor who served with commando units described Lee’s reputation as ‘stellar’, recalling that on Herrick 5 when Lee came to visit his unit from the brigade headquarters he had an aura of celebrity about him, even as a major. ‘His reputation was 100 per cent positive,’ the doctor added.

			When Lee took up command of 45 Commando in the summer of 2009, the unit had just come out of Sangin on Operation Herrick 9 and, as Steph Moran would later see, was ‘hugely damaged’. In Lee’s first week in command, a Conspicuous Gallantry Cross, the second-highest gallantry medal in the British military lexicon, almost went to the wrong marine after he was confused with another man with the same last name in his company. In Lee’s opinion, this poor administration reflected a unit in disarray after its previous tour. There were issues of how to handle men in rehabilitation, and the families of the bereaved. More regular aspects of military life, such as inspection regimes, had been neglected — ‘rightly in my view,’ Lee says, given the tour’s aftermath — and needed to be restored. 45 was due back in Afghanistan inside two years; Lee sought to build a path to get them there.

			Throughout the late spring and early summer of 2010, and into the early part of 2011, Lee and his regimental sergeant major Steph Moran took 45 Commando through pre-deployment training — now a well-oiled machine, following reforms to OPTAG. By this stage in the campaign, deploying brigades operated in pairs, with one placing the main body of units into the field and the other responsible for putting them through training, providing capabilities the deploying unit lacked and backfilling vacant staff jobs in headquarters. Cynics suggest this system was introduced to maximise the number of officers who could put career-significant appointments on their confidential reports, but it did make the preparations run more smoothly.

			For the Herrick 14 deployment, 3 Commando Brigade’s paired formation was 7th Armoured Brigade, the same unit with which the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards had deployed on Telic 1 eight years previously. SCOTS DG would also deploy on Herrick 14 with Warthog vehicles. From 3 Commando Brigade itself, alongside 45 Commando, 42 would also deploy, under Ewen Murchison, now also a lieutenant colonel. They would be joined by the 1st Battalion of the Rifles, under Lieutenant Colonel James de la Billière, nephew of General Sir Peter de la Billière, and the 4th Battalion of the Royal Regiment of Scotland. 4 SCOTS’ commanding officer was Alastair Aitken, a company commander on Operation Bracken in 2004.

			Throughout the pre-deployment training, Lee and Moran attempted to turn their commando into a unit that would operate within the rules of counter-insurgency warfare. It was in some ways an uphill battle. The marines were young, supremely fit and aggressive, raised on stories of fighting on previous Herrick tours and the longer Falklands legacy. Moran says they ‘were absolutely gutted’ when it became clear the approach this time would be different, ‘especially the young lads who were on their first tour’.6 Lee put together ten ‘key principles’. ‘It is an Afghan counter-insurgency and we must keep Afghan needs at its centre,’ ran the first one. ‘Kill the enemy when necessary but remember body count will not always indicate success,’ was number four. ‘Have the courage to use absolute minimum force,’ read another.

			In his ‘Operational Design’, dated February 2011, Lee wrote, ‘However justifiable our kinetic actions, they result in Afghan funerals which generate brothers and cousins bent on revenge.’ He also noted, ‘We will maintain our discipline always and in every eventuality; there is no place, for example, for feral soldiering because of austere conditions. High standards will win.’7

			There were several study days and a reading list for the entire unit. It featured John Nagl and David Kilcullen, alongside An Unexpected Light, an account of travels in Afghanistan by the British writer Jason Elliot. Before the tour, in March 2011, Lee drew up his men in a hollow square at Lunan Bay, a beach a few miles from their base at Arbroath in Scotland, looking out over the North Sea. The chaplain blessed the men; then the commanding officer spoke. ‘We will give those who seek to oppose us an honourable way to become part of the legitimacy of Afghanistan,’ Lee said. ‘But if they refuse that and become irreconcilable, we will fight them hard and ruthlessly as 45 Commando always does. And we must look after the people who have known nothing other than war and oppression in their lives to date. It is about Afghans before it is about anybody else, ourselves included. We must and we will, I know, deep in my heart, get this right. I wish you good luck, Godspeed and I will stand at your shoulder throughout.’8

			*

			After the Blackman incident had unfolded, the Marines commissioned a Brigadier, Ian Huntley, to look into the circumstances around the case, in an internal review known as ‘Operation Telemeter’. Among those Huntley talked to were those who had taken the units through their pre-Afghanistan training. According to Huntley, they reported that 42, who trained at around the same time as 45, had taken a very different approach. They did not want to do finessed counter-insurgency. They wanted to go toe-to-toe with the Taliban, to be aggressive, to see who blinked first.9 A company commander in 45 in 2011 said one of his peers in 42 described their approach as ‘one that sought to “blunt” the insurgency. To hit him hard so he wouldn’t want to get up again’. 42 Commando wanted to do what they had done before — what Ewen Murchison had done as a major on Herrick 5 in 2006–7.

			Early in the tour, Chris Terrill, a filmmaker with a long association with both the Royal Marines and the navy, and one who had personally completed the commando course despite being a civilian, embedded with 42 Commando to make a documentary for Channel 5. He spent several months with them, not at Blackman’s checkpoint, but in the near vicinity. At Camp Bastion in May, he filmed men from J Company from 42 loading onto helicopters for an operation in Nad-e Ali North. Blackman was in J Company but was not on this particular operation, instead being already deployed at a checkpoint in the field. ‘We’ll take over a compound, establish a temporary checkpoint, and then from there for a period of seven to ten days conduct fighting patrols and lure the insurgents onto our location as best we can,’ explained Major Steve McCulley, the officer commanding J Company. Terrill asked McCulley how he was feeling. ‘I’d be lying if I wasn’t slightly apprehensive. It’s a cheeky operation, we’re there to disrupt the insurgents,’ McCulley replied.10 ‘It’s a high level of risk but that’s the name of the game.’

			Within a week, two of the marines from 42 Commando who had flown out of Bastion were dead, along with a local interpreter. An IED had also seriously injured Steve McCulley. The blast tore his chest apart, damaging his ribs and his right lung, and breaking his femur. The doctors at Bastion cut open McCulley’s ribcage, dug out the shrapnel, stapled him back together, put him on an induced coma and flew him back to England on a ventilator. McCulley would survive, but he was out of the fight in Afghanistan. His replacement was another Royal Marines major, Aaron Fisher. Fisher was already in 42 Commando as a major in the unit’s headquarters; he moved across to take charge of J Company. The move now meant that both the officer commanding Alexander Blackman’s company and the company sergeant major had missed out on specific pre-deployment training for the tour.

			At the outset of the 2011 tour, when a company from 42 reported at Camp Bastion for ‘Reception, Staging and Onward Integration’, the final training package all troops arriving in theatre have to undergo, every member of the company, including the major in charge and the company sergeant major, refused to acknowledge their names in a roll-call because they were playing a game called ‘don’t talk to females’ — the NCO trying to register them for training was a woman. Eventually, a Royal Marines colour sergeant on the training team had to intervene. Chris Terrill’s footage, too, is similarly telling for some. The marines lounge at their combat outposts in colourful boxer shorts, sometimes firing their weapons in that attire. They openly express hatred and disparagement for the local Afghans. They shoot a local who is ‘dicking’ them — watching, in military jargon, a term from Northern Ireland. Terrill films an officer, topless, briefing marines before a patrol. ‘That’s what it’s all about, engaging them on our terms when they think they’re okay. Key thing is to try and kill them, if you get the chance, that’s the priority,’ the officer says. This is not counter-insurgency as its advocates traditionally frame it.11

			42 Commando was in the north of Nad-e Ali. 45 Commando was in the south of the area. The topography of both north and south is broadly similar — flat, farmed and criss-crossed by man-made irrigation dating from a USAID programme decades earlier. Around 120,000 Afghans live in Nad-e Ali. In both the 42 and 45 Commando areas, each constituent rifle company had a defined area of operations. On a map, these are not all neat shapes; rather, they follow local features. The overall boundary between 42 and 45 was not a straight line running east to west either; the situation was complicated. W Company of 45 occupied an L-shaped block around the village of Zarghun Kalay, bordering on their west B Company, 2 Royal Gurkha Rifles (also under 45’s command), and to their north both J Company of 42 Commando, Alexander Blackman’s unit, and M Company from 42 Commando, the unit commanded by Matt Parker.

			For Chris Terrill, in the northern zone where 42 was located conditions were fundamentally different. Today, he argues that Nad-e Ali North was a much more difficult and greatly more hostile area than the south, due to the fact that previous coalition operations had swept insurgents up there while clearing the south. (Another senior Royal Marines officer also points out, giving an example from Northern Ireland, that it is possible in counter-insurgency situations for the dynamics to be completely different across tiny distances — almost from one side of the street to another.12)

			One day during his embed in May 2011, Terrill wrote in his diary:

			Nad-e Ali North is Helmand’s own ‘Heart of Darkness’. It is so ravaged by war and stripped of any sense of humanity that the soldiers stationed in this hell-hole have had to twist and contort their morality just to survive. Ethics out here can’t be rigid or absolute but flexible, pliable, mercurial even; something few at home would understand or endorse but it’s a sinister pragmatism born of brutality and the relentless strain of kill-or-be-killed combat. For the brave but roughened men in British uniforms who tread these God-forsaken killing fields, the line between a court martial and a Military Cross becomes thinner by the day.

			On either side of the north-south boundary, a demarcation created by the British (indeed, previously the British had regarded the entirety of Nad-e Ali as a single area of operations), and not recognised by the local population, very different things were going on. In Ewen Murchison’s 42 world, companies were using their own weapons extensively and calling in gun runs from Apache attack helicopters. Lee says a company commander in 42 was walking around carrying a sniper rifle that had belonged to a dead marine, a practise that suggested an unhealthy preoccupation with revenge. Another 45 Commando officer said that in J Company, Alexander Blackman’s sub-unit, he saw a senior NCO responsible for stabilisation projects carrying a 66mm rocket inscribed with the words ‘FUCK COIN’ (counter-insurgency), along with compensation notes given to locals to allow them to claim money for damages to property with the words ‘Fuck off you gay cunts’ written on them. (He adds that although the locals could not read English, the abuse still pointed to a wider problem. According to him, members of 42 Commando, ‘J Company in particular, had become victim to “otherisation” or “dehumanisation” — a key factor that history has proven time and again will, if left unchecked, lead to atrocity.’)

			By contrast, the entirety of W Company of 45 Commando, whose area of operations directly bordered J Company of 42 Commando where the Blackman incident would take place, passed their full seven-month tour without firing a shot in anger, including sending patrols across the boundary into J Company’s territory. While J Company encountered many IEDs, W Company had no incidents with bombs at all, beyond finding one cache of bomb-making materials of uncertain age.

			Overall, 45 Commando saw an 86 per cent reduction in the number of violent actions in the south compared to the previous deployment.

			As a W Company officer says, ‘The difference between the areas, as several groups of local elders and Afghan security force leaders often told me, was not topography but the way ISAF forces were viewed. The Afghans have a unique code and they will treat groups very differently depending on the respect they have for them. Where honour and general decency is disrespected the locals will ‘allow’ or even encourage certain activity in their patches.’

			During their tour, W Company hosted Ross Kemp, returning to Afghanistan to make another film. Regimental Sergeant Major Steph Moran sat the filmmaker down and said, ‘What’s happening here is a different campaign from the last time you were here.’ In places in his subsequent film, Kemp’s disappointment at missing out on violence and mayhem is almost palpable, yet even he appears to accept the changed dynamic and coalition approach compared to his previous visit to Afghanistan, two and a half years before.

			‘The game has changed,’ Kemp remarks. ‘It’s not as simple as saying the enemy are over there, let’s go over and contact them, get into a fight and hopefully defeat them … it’s far more intelligence-based, far more a detective role, policing role, rather than dropping 2,000lb bombs.’

			One night, Kemp, wearing body armour inscribed ‘Kempy’, accompanied W Company as they aimed to apprehend a suspected trainer of suicide bombers. The troops cordoned a compound; Afghan forces knocked on the door. Marines swabbed suspects for explosive residue. There was no shooting. It looks like police work, not ally mayhem,13 although on another occasion several young marines would also tell Kemp that the schedule for coalition drawdown meant their work might be for nothing. ‘There’s one eye on the exit already and we’ve not really completed what we’ve set out to do,’ said one. ‘We don’t want to target the playground weaklings as all we’re going to do is piss off their family, their brothers, their nephews and create even more insurgency,’ W Company commander Major Paul Maynard remarks on camera.

			During the tour, David Petraeus, the overall ISAF commander in Afghanistan by that point, visited 45 Commando. In front of the brigade commander, Brigadier Ed Davis, he described the unit’s work as ‘PhD level counter-insurgency’.

			*

			Seven years on, at the time of writing, the exact truth of the distinction between what was going on in 42 and 45 Commando’s areas of operations on the 2011 tour remains difficult to uncover. Speaking in 2018, Chris Terrill emphasises that although differences in approaches between 42 and 45 were apparent during the tour, the distinction at the time was not as clear as it was made out to be after the Blackman incident had come to light. Nor was the subsequent bad blood between Murchison and Lee noticeable at that stage; that all emerged post-Blackman. Ewen Murchison and Aaron Fisher, at the time of the incident the commanding officer and Blackman’s company commander respectively, remain serving officers, and are therefore not in a position to talk.14 (Both Murchison and Fisher were promoted after the tour.) Steve McCulley, Fisher’s predecessor as company commander who was injured in a bomb blast, has left the military but declined a request to be interviewed for this book. Ed Davis, the former commanding officer of the SBS who was the brigade commander on the tour, is likewise still serving as governor of Gibraltar, and declined a request for comment. (Davis promoted too, becoming a lieutenant general.) At the other end of the rank spectrum, Paul Vice, a corporal injured while Chris Terrill was filming with 42, also refused to talk.

			From 42, Matt Parker’s area of responsibility was to the west of J Company, Blackman’s unit. Parker says his own patch was also relatively permissive, and he made a point of walking to meetings rather than taking armoured vehicles. Parker adds he was concerned about some of the behaviour elsewhere in his commando. ‘My eastern boundary with J Company [Blackman’s company] was fine 500m my side and was not fine 500m on the other side,’ he says.

			Bear in mind the locals didn’t recognise our company boundaries. You can’t dismiss that as just history or topography; that must also be a difference in approach of the interlopers … without fully understanding the pressures exerted on him, it’s difficult to say, but I think had I been faced by the same problems as Ewen [Murchison] was faced with, I might have dealt with them differently. Ollie [Lee] would have gone one step further.

			However, Parker emphasises that Lee was not in the same place, and Lee’s understanding of the situation would have been every bit as incomplete as Parker’s own.

			Some on the northern side of the boundary believed that Oliver Lee had become literally obsessed with courageous restraint, in particular demonstrated by his reluctance to use mortars. (Lee denies obsession.)15

			Regardless, it is clear that the leadership of 45 were willing to take drastic steps to ensure their notion of the correct counter-insurgency approach was promulgated through the unit. Lee, working with his RSM Steph Moran, levied £30,000 in fines on his own men during the deployment, charging sums, in Moran’s words, for troops not wearing uniform correctly, for being ‘handsy’ with Afghans, and for not showing respect to local people.16 During the tour, Lee fired the major commanding Z Company, one company sergeant major, and two troop sergeants, sending them home to England in a move that would have had serious implications for their subsequent careers.17

			Some observers regarded 45’s obsession with sartorial standards on the tour as trivial, but others pointed to the lax field discipline of 42 Commando as fundamentally connected to what happened later. They saw ally, which by 2011 the army had generally tried to put back in the bottle, as a possible path to misbehaviour. One former Royal Artillery officer recalls reading during his young officer training around 2008 a directive that suggested that sideburns of more than regulation length were part of a slippery slope that lead inexorably to war crimes.18

			*

			In June 2011, both Lee and Murchison were selected to go into the promotional pool for full colonel. Lee was several years younger than Murchison. Lee was selected for promotion; Murchison was not. During the tour, Lee made his concerns about 42 Commando’s behaviour across his northern boundary known to the chain of command. According to a later court submission he made, doing so ‘was not an easy decision for me. First, it involved me being disloyal to a peer — Lieutenant Colonel Murchison — for the first time in my career. Second, it required me to use my tactical headquarters protection group and drivers to travel considerable distance at some risk just to get to see Brigadier Davis at all.’19 Lee would later state that he:

			… discussed the inadequacies of 42 Commando’s leadership and conduct dozens of times with each of Brigadier Davis’ senior staff officers. Sometimes these discussions were initiated by me and sometimes by the staff officers. Often daily, I routinely spoke to these men who represented Brigadier Davis’ inner circle of closest advisors. Each of them reassured me many times that Brigadier Davis was very well aware of the concerns surrounding Lieutenant Colonel Murchison in particular, and 42 Commando in general.

			Eventually, on 7 August 2011, Lee went to see Davis in person. He told the brigadier that 42 Commando in Nad-e-Ali North was ‘operating counter to his intent and at odds with the interests of the campaign’. Lee also told Davis that he feared ‘something grave was going wrong in Nad-e-Ali North’. ‘I know that Brigadier Davis’ staff officers were alerting him to similar concerns of their own, as I had been discussing this with them for at least two months,’ Lee added.

			In the August meeting, Brigadier Davis told Lee that he knew Murchison was difficult, but said he felt things were broadly OK. Davis added that, in his view, much of Murchison’s behaviour was driven by jealousy of Lee, and that he would keep a careful eye on things in Nad-e-Ali North. The brigadier described how he himself had lost friendships when he had been promoted.

			Lee struggled to see his superior officer’s logic. ‘I frankly found Brigadier Davis’ response to my concerns unsatisfactory,’ Lee wrote in his court submission. ‘I had not gone to see him to talk about personal jealousies but instead, after much anxious deliberation, to discuss the grave threats I saw to the mission for which he was ultimately responsible. I made this point to the extent I felt reasonable to do so to my superior commander … I made my case strongly but I did not feel I could push it any further, and so I accepted his reassurances and left the headquarters.’ This meeting lasted just over an hour.

			*

			These concerns could have stopped there, had another apparently unrelated sequence of events not taken place, in connection with the closure of the campaign (planned for 2014). On Wednesday 6 July 2011, Prime Minister David Cameron announced the withdrawal of another 500 troops from Afghanistan over the next year, contrary to the advice of military commanders. Cameron committed to reduce force levels from 9,500 to 9,000 by the end of 2012.20, 21 Planners at PJHQ in Northwood, Kabul and in Helmand scrambled to work out what this reduction would mean on the ground. One early impact was to collapse the boundary between Nad-e Ali North and Nad-e Ali South. Certain force elements that had been in the north went off elsewhere, but in simple terms, the two areas became one. Conceptually, the development was not an earth-shattering one, but the move did create a host of personality issues on the ground. After much debate, the rifle companies, or ‘force elements’, of 42 Commando remained in place, while its headquarters was disbanded. 42’s constituent companies now fell under the command of 45 Commando’s headquarters. Lee and his tactical headquarters party drove up into Nad-e Ali North. The atmosphere was tense. After an initial meeting, Lee and Murchison stepped outside, alone. ‘I’m mortified by this,’ said Murchison. According to Lee, Murchison felt the move should have been postponed until the end of the tour, which was only a matter of weeks away.

			The unification took place on 7 September 2011. Oliver Lee now had three additional companies under his command, including J Company, Alexander Blackman’s unit. Lee’s overall command increased in headcount from about 1,400 to roughly 2,100. When Steph Moran went up to visit the new units following the amalgamation, he felt that ‘some of the guys had lost the will’. Lee considered removing Aaron Fisher, J Company commander, whom he thought ‘had completely lost all sense and perspective’, but due to the toxic nature of the amalgamation was warned against doing so by brigade headquarters.22

			No one in the chain of command will know about the Blackman incident until a year later; on the day itself, they are oblivious. Ewen Murchison, his previous command cut from beneath him days before, is at Bastion on the 15th, where he is photographed with former Girls Aloud singer Cheryl Cole, who is in theatre on a morale-boosting trip. Murchison’s smile looks slightly forced as Cole stands in front of him, a combat jacket knotted around her midriff.23 ‘I’ve learnt so much from such a little experience, and what they actually do,’ Cole says in a film of her visit. ‘You just can’t even imagine, let alone express, what it is that they go through.’24 Murchison will later be pilloried by the Daily Mail for his presence at Bastion on the day the Blackman incident takes place. That is unfair: he was no longer in command of Blackman by this stage.25

			Between the takeover and the end of the tour, then, nothing much happens. Yet everything happens, too. And the change of personnel means that Alexander Blackman, a man Oliver Lee has never met, is officially under his command on 15 September — even though Lee has previously raised his concerns, and seemingly had them ignored, about the behaviour of his unit. The conclusion of the Blackman case will come at the end of the saga of British Iraq-Afghan military accountability. To understand it, though, and to see where it fits into the bigger picture, requires going back to the beginning.




			Chapter 19

			New Rules

			One evening in Belfast in 1996, Captain Nicholas Mercer,1 a 34-year-old army lawyer, addressed a group of soldiers from the Royal Irish Regiment. The issue at hand, as it had been for much of Mercer’s tour in the province, was the case of Lee Clegg. In September 1990 Clegg, a private in the Parachute Regiment originally from Bradford, was one of a group of soldiers manning a checkpoint on Upper Glen Road in West Belfast. The soldiers opened fire at a stolen Vauxhall Astra that passed through their checkpoint at high speed. Four of the bullets came from Clegg’s rifle. The last of them killed a passenger in the car, eighteen-year-old Karen Reilly. The driver, seventeen-year-old Martin Peake, also died at the scene. The third passenger, Markiewicz Gorman, escaped with minor injuries. According to one account, in the immediate aftermath the Paras celebrated the deaths with a montage erected in Palace Barracks:

			After the shooting paratroopers built a large model of the car, together with a papier-mâché model of a bloodstained head. A notice read: ‘Vauxhall Astra — built by robots, driven by joyriders, stopped by A Company’.2

			Officially, Clegg said he opened fire because he feared for the safety of his fellow soldiers. At Belfast Crown Court in 1993, he was convicted of murdering Reilly and wounding Peake; he had fired his final shot through the back of the car, when the joyriders no longer presented a threat to the paratroopers.

			Nicholas Mercer regards the Clegg case as the incident when accountability finally caught up with the British Army. The case became acutely politically sensitive. In 1994, the Daily Mail launched a campaign to clear his name. Under pressure from Tory backbenchers, the then Northern Ireland secretary, Sir Patrick Mayhew, used his powers to free Clegg on licence in 1995, sparking widespread rioting in nationalist areas.3 Rupert Smith, who as a major general commanded 1st (UK) Armoured Division in the Gulf in 1991, and who in 1996 as a lieutenant general took up the position of GOC Northern Ireland, allegedly found it hard to understand the fact that a soldier had been convicted of a crime for doing his job.

			In Northern Ireland by this point, there was a long tradition of parallel legal battles alongside the physical confrontations between the army and the Provisional IRA. Any incident involving Republicans led to a three-cornered fight between the British Army trying to protect its soldiers, the IRA looking to exploit it legally and politically, and the Royal Ulster Constabulary caught in the middle, attempting to indicate its even-handedness. This heralded the start of ‘lawfare’ and the subsequent battles that were to come in Iraq and Afghanistan. Yet for Mercer, the Clegg case demonstrated overall that things were changing. One could no longer just go out on an operation and hope everything would be covered up. Nevertheless, there was as much scepticism of that idea at grassroots level within the army as there was from high command. On the night in 1996 when Mercer visited the Royal Irish, he asked the assembled soldiers who had heard of Lee Clegg. Everyone put their hand up. ‘Who thinks he committed a crime?’ Mercer asked. No one responded. The army lawyer asked why.

			‘He was in a nationalist area,’ responded a soldier.

			*

			Five years later, Mercer had coffee in Strasbourg with a legal academic based at the University of Essex named Françoise Hampson. Based in Heidelberg in a NATO job, Mercer periodically travelled south-west to watch the ongoing case of Banković and Others v. Belgium and 16 Other States at the European Court of Human Rights. Hampson had attended one of the conferences Mercer had organised, and Mercer had given a presentation with her at another conference on ecclesiastical law, of all things. The two met regularly; Hampson was one of the lawyers working on the Strasbourg case, which stemmed from the April 1999 NATO airstrike on one of the buildings of Radio Televizija Srbije, a broadcaster in Belgrade, during the Kosovo War. Twenty-four targets were hit in the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia that night, including three in Belgrade. Two of the four floors of the building collapsed, and the master control room was destroyed. Sixteen people died and another sixteen were seriously injured. Under the first Geneva Protocol of 1977 — an instrument only ratified by the UK in 1998, due to caution about some of its provisions4 — belligerents are meant to give their enemies a warning of what they will hit in advance, a measure called ‘precautions in attack’.

			Slobodan Milošević, the Serbian ruler, was given warning prior to the strike on RTS, but nonetheless put in the night shift. The Banković case stemmed from relatives of those killed, and one of those injured, claiming that the raid breached their right to life enshrined in Article 2 of the European Convention on Human Rights, as well as Article 10 (Freedom of Expression) and Article 13 (the Right to Effective Remedy). The European Convention on Human Rights was by now almost fifty years old: it was signed in November 1950, and effective from September 1953. However, the advent of the British Human Rights Act in 1998 under Tony Blair’s New Labour government meant that, for the first time, one could plead European Convention rights in British courts.

			The key issue was whether the Convention applied in the circumstances of a bombing raid — a question of jurisdiction. Article 1 of the Convention states that if you exercise jurisdiction over a territory, then Convention rights apply. In Banković, which concluded in 2001, the European Court determined that a country whose aircraft are flying over the target does not have jurisdiction over the territory; Convention rights did not apply to those killed. The Balkan plaintiffs lost their case.

			Yet the issue of jurisdiction — of where the rules and rights enshrined in the law, which is now for the first time applicable in the British court system, apply — was still far from clear. Those who framed the Human Rights Convention in the 1950s, their minds coloured by the great violence seen on European soil in the previous decade, believed its main focus was within European territory itself. But inevitably, there were grey areas. Inside a ship or an aircraft from a signatory country, Convention rights did apply; Banković suggested, though, that on the ground below aircraft they did not. Much of the complexity of the next ten years would arise as the courts attempted to work out to what extent Convention rights applied to agents of signatory governments when out on the ground elsewhere, not in the clearly defined spaces of embassies or naval ships.

			Already, as Mercer and Hampson drank their coffee in Strasbourg in 2001, potential contradiction was clear. The framers of the law said that Convention rights did apply during military occupation; they had to, in order to take into account the Turkish occupation of Northern Cyprus. The question therefore arose of what would happen during a military occupation by another signatory state.

			Another case, Isa v. Turkey, concerning Turkish forces who entered Iraq, captured Iraqi shepherds and executed them, provisionally held that Convention rights applied there too — although in no way could the Turks be argued to be ‘in occupation’ of northern Iraq. The situation post-Banković appeared to be, in Mercer’s words, ‘If I invade by land I trigger it; if I attack by air, I don’t.’ Banković also put the lie to all the jibes that would follow in later years about how the European Convention on Human Rights would have prohibited the Battle of Britain: that was in the air, the air does not count. But as Hampson pointed out to Mercer, there was now a rich line of contradiction.

			*

			By 2003 Mercer, then a lieutenant colonel, was the legal advisor to 1st (UK) Armoured Division, the British contribution to the invasion of Iraq. After the ground war began, he received a call from one of the majors working for him, mentioning a problem in the prisoner-of-war camp. It was to do with so-called Article 5 tribunals, meant to determine who was, and who was not, a combatant. That distinction was proving difficult: many Iraqi soldiers had changed into civilian clothes. By this stage, the British were handling whole pens of prisoners that the Americans had taken; there were over 4,000 in all at Umm Qasr. Shortly before the war, the Americans had explained that they would not, in fact, handle all prisoners of war, leaving the British holding this particular baby at the last moment. The commandant of the camp, overwhelmed, was trying to release as many as possible without due process.

			Mercer visited the camp. The facility was homemade: there was some existing infrastructure, around which the British had put up fencing and big marquee-type tents to keep the elements off the prisoners. There were pit latrines, and the space was far too small. By chance Mercer glanced into the ‘tactical interrogation facility’, which was ‘bolted on’ to the main camp. ‘Bloody hell, what’s going on in here?’ he thought. When he had finished his initial business at the camp he returned to the interrogation centre. He found about forty Iraqis, hooded and in stress positions. He took issue with the officer commanding the unit, from the Intelligence Corps. When asked what he thought he was doing, the officer replied that the treatment of the Iraqis was part of UK military doctrine. When told to stop the mistreatment, the officer answered, ‘We don’t report to you, we report to London.’ A standoff ensued.

			That night, Mercer reported the matter to Major General Brims. Brims replied that they must apply the laws of armed conflict.5 Mercer explained that the intelligence corps officer had stated that what they were doing was in accordance with UK doctrine. The J2 chief — the officer who did all the intelligence work for the divisional headquarters — showed Mercer a document indicating that hooding and stress positions were UK doctrine.

			The dispute continued until the International Committee of the Red Cross became involved. They stated they had seen abuse of prisoners, and submitted a report that made it to ministers’ desks in London. A one-star civil servant, a civilian ranked equivalent to a brigadier in army terms, flew out to Basra to meet a representative of the Red Cross. Mercer was not allowed to speak to her. Eventually, he was told that the interrogators were divisional troops, and therefore that the division should decide how they wished to deal with this situation. The division banned hooding; they thought that was the end of the story. But it was really only the beginning.

			*

			The Geneva Conventions are very clear that prisoners of war are not to be humiliated. Footage of the Second World War does not show columns of hooded prisoners. The tactic’s lineage runs back to Northern Ireland, and the brutal end-of-empire conflicts preceding it. In November 1971, following the exposure of the use of five brutal interrogation techniques — prolonged wall standing, hooding, subjection to noise, deprivation of sleep and deprivation of food and drink — during the first two years of British soldiers’ presence in the province, the Irish government announced that it was bringing a case against the London government for breaches of the European Convention on Human Rights.6 On 2 March 1972, Prime Minister Edward Heath told the House of Commons that the techniques would ‘not be used in future as an aid to interrogation’.7 The European case continued. The Ministry of Defence initially refused to allow any of its witnesses to attend the hearings in Strasbourg, claiming the building in which they were taking place was insecure. Eventually they relented, and the witnesses, identified by ciphers, gave evidence from behind a screen.

			The verdict came in January 1976. The British had ‘denied that the Techniques amounted to torture, or to inhuman or degrading treatment’. The Commission dismissed this defence, stating, ‘The Five Techniques applied together were designed to put severe mental and physical stress, cause severe suffering, on a person in order to obtain information from him.’ They deemed the British authorities in breach of Article 3 of the Convention, which prohibits torture. An appeal in January 1978 concluded by thirteen votes to four that the use of the Five Techniques ‘fell short of the aggravated form of cruel and inhuman treatment that could be described as torture’. However, the court ruled that the UK government was in breach of Article 3 nevertheless, because the Five Techniques amounted to ‘inhuman and degrading treatment’.

			Officially, therefore, the British government had renounced these techniques. Yet, thirty-one years later, Mercer appeared to be seeing them in use in southern Iraq. Alongside the hooding and the stress positions, generators were running at the interrogation unit, he suspected in order to subject the prisoners to noise in a deniable fashion.

			Mercer was told the techniques were doctrine — but the document he was shown was never seen again. Journalist Ian Cobain argues that a deliberate government sleight of hand in the 1970s allowed for the deniable preservation of the techniques.8 Another suggestion from Mercer is that the techniques were used by those who had carried out ‘Conduct After Capture’ training, designed to prepare British troops for acts they might experience as prisoners of an enemy that did ‘not comply with international humanitarian law’. CAC courses did include acts such as stress positions and hooding, carefully regulated and with the support of psychiatrists; in 2003, army policy allowed those who had attended CAC courses to conduct ‘Individual and Tactical Questioning’. That policy was changed in 2005 when the army determined that ‘exposure to illegal I&TQ methods was not a sensible way to prepare an individual for conducting lawful I&TQ.’9

			In Iraq in 2003, Mercer felt there was an issue over the European Convention and whether it applied to British troops in Iraq. He described it to Brims as a ‘grey area’. He explained the Banković case, and advised that if they did not hold to Convention obligations, they were placing the division at legal risk. Brims told him to make a judgement. Mercer’s decision was that the Convention did apply in occupation. Mercer’s team also sent its justification to PJHQ in the UK. They did not believe, as some argued later, that the Convention applied in a war framework, as ‘you’re fighting trench to trench’ — it would be impossible to exercise jurisdiction in such circumstances. Instead, the issue was one of occupation, control over territory, which arises once you are in occupation. The coalition forces were authorised to run occupation courts, and a court cannot be run without jurisdiction. That suggests the Convention does apply in this circumstance. Occupation, according to Mercer’s view, was a rolling thing: as and when you gain control over territory. Clearly it would apply within a prisoner-of-war camp, and at some point, too, there would be jurisdiction over the entire territory.

			PJHQ did not agree with this interpretation. Mercer received a ‘very sharp mail’ back from the government lawyers in London, telling him not to go ahead with his interpretation; they were not to apply the European Convention on Human Rights in Iraq. That decision was to be portentous.

			*

			The war fighting came to an end. Mercer and the divisional headquarters arrived at Basra Airport. The Paras were in the north; there were Marines down on the al-Faw peninsula and 7th Armoured Brigade in the middle. The divisional lawyers began to receive reports of prisoners being abused and held by units, rather than moved to central handling facilities. The law was clear-cut here: these were prisoners of war. Mercer gave the directive that if prisoners were captured, they were to be delivered to the prisoner-of-war facility at Umm Qasr within a set number of hours (depending on distances), and designed a system to minimise the potential for abuse.

			Still, though, there were problems. One night, the Special Investigations Branch of the Royal Military Police reported to Mercer that it was investigating nine deaths (later reduced to five). The reports were interim, and there was no certainty of foul play: a dead prisoner could be the result of a heart attack, without culpability. Yet there were also allegations beginning to emerge of fairly serious abuse. It seemed likely that the old military chestnut of the ‘legitimate infraction’, an issue that goes right back to buckshee kit and the necessary breaking of rules to smooth life in an authoritarian institution, was re-emerging. The rules were unclear to many British soldiers in southern Iraq in 2003, although the rules — the law — were unequivocal when it came to protection of prisoners.

			Mercer deployed a lawyer to 16 Air Assault Brigade, and another of his team full time to 3 Commando Brigade. He placed a third in 7th Armoured Brigade headquarters. But there were five lawyers and 25,000 men in the division; 7th Armoured Brigade alone was 7,000 strong. Orders went out concerning the transportation of prisoners to the central depot. Mercer told commanders they could not abuse prisoners without risking a court martial. When Major General Peter Wall took over from Robin Brims as the divisional commander, Mercer wrote him a draft memo; it stated that Wall needed to be clear to commanders that a doctrine of command responsibility applied, and that if they did not get a grip on their troops, there would be consequences. Wall decided not to send the order out.10

			Before Brims’ departure, Mercer also discussed with him the possibility of bringing out a civilian UK judge to oversee detention in Iraq, or one of the military judge advocates who was legally qualified. Again, London was jumpy. They suggested instead the appointment of a suitably-vetted Iraqi judge to oversee the prisoner element. Given the chaos of post-invasion Basra, the practicality of that idea was questionable; nonetheless, a lawyer flew out from London to argue for this proposal. It never got off the ground. ‘I don’t think the MoD ever wanted a UK judge,’ Mercer recalls. While military lawyers could be overruled, this would be much harder with a UK judge. There was also a danger, Mercer adds, that a UK judge would find out what was really going on with prisoners.

			Mercer left theatre at the end of July 2003. Three months later, on 14 September 2003, Baha Mousa was arrested at the Ibn al-Haitham Hotel in Basra, along with nine other Iraqis, by members of 1st Battalion, the Queen’s Lancashire Regiment. Mousa was hooded for nearly twenty-four of the thirty-six hours he spent in British detention. He was punched and possibly kicked. After his death on 16 September, there were ninety-three injuries on his body.11 ‘Of course, Baha Mousa is the great denouement of the MoD,’ Mercer says.

			One legacy of the early stages of the Iraq war, embodied by the Baha Mousa case, is the idea of British soldiers as perpetrators of abuse. The other is that of British soldiers as victims — of their own command, or the equipment with which they are issued, or of the situations in which they find themselves. And the irony is that the expanding notion of what the European Convention on Human Rights is, and where it applies, allows both the idea of the perpetrator and the victim to develop in parallel.

			*

			On 25 March 2003, Corporal Stephen Allbutt, along with Lance Corporal Daniel Twiddy and Trooper Andrew Julien, were serving with the Queen’s Royal Lancers as part of the Royal Regiment of Fusiliers battlegroup during the fourth day of the offensive by British troops to take Basra. They were in one of a number of Challenger 2 tanks, which had been placed at a dam in ‘hull-down’ positions — with just their turrets exposed — to minimise their visibility to the enemy.

			Just after midnight, a Challenger 2 tank of 2nd Royal Tank Regiment, which had been assigned to the 1st Battalion Black Watch battlegroup and was commanded by Lieutenant David Pinkstone, crossed over onto the enemy side of a canal to take up a guarding position some distance to the south-east of the dam. At about 00.50 a.m., Pinkstone identified two hotspots through his thermal imaging sights, which he thought might be personnel moving in and out of a bunker. He described the location to a Sergeant Donlon, who was unable to identify the hotspots for himself from the incorrect description of the location with which he was provided. Donlon thought that Pinkstone had seen the hotspots close to a university compound, which was far away from the dam. After Pinkstone identified a further four hotspots in the same area, he was given permission to fire by Donlon.12

			Pinkstone’s tank fired a first round, a high-explosive squash-head projectile, at about 1.20 a.m., and a second round shortly afterwards. The hotspots that he observed were in fact men on top of Corporal Allbutt’s Challenger 2 tank at the dam. The first shell landed short of the tank, but the explosion blew off the men who were on top of it, including Lance Corporal Twiddy. The second shell entered the tank and killed Corporal Allbutt, injured Trooper Julien and caused further injury to Lance Corporal Twiddy. It also killed Trooper David Clarke. Pinkstone did not know of the presence at the dam of the Royal Regiment of Fusiliers battlegroup. He did not realise that he was firing back across the canal; he was disorientated, and believed that he was firing in a different direction.13

			Two years later, in 2005, Phillip Hewett, a private in the Staffordshire regiment, was also deployed to Iraq on Operation Telic 6. During his R&R break, in the middle of his tour, Hewett seemed a little different, but his mother Susan Smith put that down to the fact that the men were on edge ‘over there’.14 Only later did she find out that during that break he had talked to his sisters to arrange his funeral, asking for white lilies and the song ‘Ghetto Gospel’ by Tupac, and for everyone to be happy.

			Shortly after his return to Iraq, when Susan was at work in Tamworth, where she had a business supplying staff for palliative care facilities, she saw breaking news that three men from her son’s battlegroup had been killed. A patrol of three Snatch Land Rovers from the Staffords’ C Company was on patrol in al-Amarah in the early hours of the morning when an IED detonated. The blast instantly killed Second Lieutenant Richard Shearer and his top-cover sentry, Private Leon Spicer. Two others in the vehicle were injured. Phillip Hewett, the driver, died of wounds at the scene.

			These two incidents, two years apart, were to become the raw material for one of the greatest-ever changes in the legal status of British troops on the battlefield. However, they would never have got there without the actions of two women: Corporal Stephen Allbutt’s wife Deborah Allbutt, and Phillip Hewett’s mother Susan Smith.

			In May 2003, Debi Allbutt was thirty-seven years old.15 She had been with her husband Stephen for fourteen years, and they had just celebrated their tenth wedding anniversary. The couple met in a pub in Hanley, a Staffordshire town long absorbed into Stoke-on-Trent. The regiment was based in Germany, but their eldest son was registered blind, and there were not the right facilities for him on army bases, so the family lived separately: Stephen with the regiment, Debi and the children in Sneyd Green, an area in the north-east of Stoke-on-Trent. It was around 5.30 in the afternoon, and Debi had just picked the children up from the childminder’s, when an army casualty notification officer came to her house. She was told that her husband had been killed in Iraq; the initial information was that they were in a sandstorm and had not slept for six days. No mention was made of friendly fire. Later that evening, she received a phone call; the friendly fire aspect had been leaked to the press.

			The army’s line was still that it was just an accident; they mentioned again the sandstorm, the fact that the troops had not slept for six days. While shocked, Allbutt took the news at face value, and went as far as to write a letter to the crew of Pinkstone’s tank saying she would support them. Her view at this stage was that if it was an accident, there was really no one to blame. Debi later learned that the military authorities photocopied that letter and gave it to all of her husband’s friends.16

			After the invasion, the troops returned home. A number of them came to visit Debi, and to see Stephen’s grave. Debi had wanted him buried in their hometown, not in a military cemetery, although he did have a military grave there. Stephen’s comrades sat Debi down in the bar of the Moat House hotel in Stoke-on-Trent. Using salt and pepper pots to indicate the positions of the different tanks, they explained their view of what had really happened.

			According to the soldiers, earlier on the day the incident took place (the 25th), there had been a swap between two units, with the Black Watch and Royal Tank Regiment taking over from the Queen’s Royal Lancers. Accidentally, the other units had gone forward of a marked limit of exploitation, placing them in the line of fire from Allbutt’s tank and that of a colleague. They had sent a liaison officer over to the Black Watch to explain they were too far forward and in the wrong place; they were meant to swap co-ordinates, but Lindsay MacDuff, the Black Watch company commander, had missed a previous briefing during which updated boundaries had been set.

			As a result, MacDuff worked off an old map trace, confusing a boundary line with a supply route. He decided to change the supply route to put his men forward. He was bound for another meeting that night, and was meant to have communicated the position of the QRL tanks, but forgot. He later said he had passed the message on but — and this Allbutt was only to find out later — all the radio logs went missing. Now, the widow’s views changed; she was shocked and angry, and believed that her husband’s death had been due not to an accident, or the fog of war, but rather to negligence.

			It took months for the various military reports to come through. First was the LAIT report, from the Land Accident Investigation Team. This arrived around the end of 2003 or in early 2004, and included photographs of the area of the incident. It reported that Stephen’s tank was in a perfect hull-down position. These new materials were given to the board of inquiry, but that event was delayed, and delayed again. As it was deferred, Allbutt’s mood plummeted; some days she could not get out of bed. Eventually, her local MP, Labour’s Joan Walley, contacted her, saying that she would send ‘some ladies who I meet for coffee morning round’ to psych her up. Debi Allbutt felt she was repeatedly being hit and knocked to the floor.

			When the board of inquiry at last met, it did so at RAF Stafford. The inquiry was held in a big hall with seats in rows; there was a projector and a screen. Debi attended the panel. They referred to her husband’s death as an ‘accident’, which infuriated her; by this point, she believed the correct term should be ‘incident’. She had heard nothing yet about the missing radio logs. It was the first time that she heard the name ‘Pinkstone’ as the man who had fired the shots that killed her husband. She was told Pinkstone was new to the Royal Tank Regiment, and fired backwards over the back decks of his wagon.

			Debi found the report inadequate. The Special Investigations Branch of the RMP had interviewed Pinkstone under caution, but had failed to do the same to Lindsay MacDuff. They had not investigated how the pivotal radio logs could have gone missing between Iraq and Germany. MacDuff’s statement was only a page long; Debi worked in a shoe shop, and noted that she had seen ‘bigger statements from a pair of shoes being nicked’. Most infuriatingly for her, though, the board announced that they would not take any disciplinary action, though they said they would train the men more. She stood before the board — the room was packed. She was unaccompanied; at this point she had no solicitor representing her. ‘You’re not going to take any action whatsoever?’ she asked, incredulously. ‘Mrs Allbutt, Mrs Allbutt,’ the army men said.

			‘I’m not going anywhere,’ Debi replied. ‘I’m fighting this [until] the day I die.’

			Debi returned home, where Joan Walley came to see her. That night, the two women went through all the documents from the case; Walley offered her support, telling Debi that she needed to find a solicitor. As an MP, she could not provide a direct recommendation, but gave Debi a list of possibilities. One name was that of Leigh Day, a firm established in 1987 that had built a reputation for bringing high-profile cases against institutions.

			Debi and Walley travelled to London to see Geoff Hoon, then secretary of state for defence. He was rude. Debi had prepared a booklet with information about the case — one for Joan Walley and one for Hoon. The politician’s initial handshake was ‘dead hard’, she thinks deliberately to intimidate her. She gave the minister the document and tried to go through it with him. He turned round, saying, ‘I can read,’ and started flipping pages rapidly.17 That afternoon, Debi Allbutt had her first meeting at Leigh Day’s offices in Clerkenwell, meeting Martyn Day and his colleague Sapna Malik.

			*

			Susan Smith, meanwhile, felt she was being treated as if her son’s death was not her loss — almost as though Phillip was not a human entity, just a soldier — and she had to accept whatever she was told. She was forty-four, with four daughters, but Phillip was her only son. In the immediate aftermath, it felt as if she was head-butting a wall much of the time.

			The inquest took eighteen months to happen; the rash of soldiers’ deaths had created a backlog. It was finally held in early 2007. Smith did not see the files until the day of the hearing, and when she did, it seemed that everything significant had been redacted. She had expected the hearing to last for five days, but it was over in three hours. Peter Wall, at this stage a major general and deputy chief of joint operations at PJHQ, spoke as an expert witness for the MoD. One of the soldiers who was involved in the incident was deemed unfit to give evidence. Someone else said that the lightly-armoured Snatch vehicle in which Phillip Hewett died was, in his mother’s recollection, ‘the best thing since sliced bread’. It seemed to Susan like a stitch-up.

			She did not, though, know where to turn. She had been in touch already with Rose Gentle — whose nineteen-year-old son Fusilier Gordon Gentle was killed by a roadside bomb in Iraq in 2004, and who the following year contested the Scottish seat of Armed Forces Minister Adam Ingram — and also with Reg Keyes, whose son Tom was one of the Royal Military Police killed in al-Majar al-Kabir in June 2003, and who had similarly stood in 2005 in protest, this time against Tony Blair in his Sedgefield constituency. Smith was not a natural fit with that crowd; Gentle and Keys were strongly opposed to the war itself, but Smith was not, just to the conditions in which her son had died. Yet her anger meant she also did not fit with the other tribe of the bereaved, who were strongly on-side with the MoD.

			Smith continued making inquiries. She was told that there was nothing that could have been done to mitigate the blast that killed her son, as it was a new kind of device: an explosively formed penetrator, the sophisticated armour-penetrating IED that caused such concern in 2005. Yet the suggestion it was new did not seem credible. She had heard that another platoon in the battalion had found ten such devices daisy-chained together, and that there had already been two fatalities prior to her son’s death. Smith’s father had been in the army, and Phillip’s father as well. The latter deployed to Northern Ireland in the early 1980s; back then, they could not use soft-skinned vehicles due to the risk of roadside bombs. It seemed inexplicable to Susan Smith that Phillip had died from the same means in the same type of vehicle in Iraq, two decades later.

			In a television interview, Smith mentioned EFPs; the journalist went to the MoD for additional information, and Smith received a D Notice, the instrument used to prevent media discussion of issues pertaining to national security.18 Increasingly frustrated, around six months after the inquest Smith emailed Terri Judd, a defence correspondent at the Independent, asking if she could recommend a lawyer. Judd suggested that Smith contact Jocelyn Cockburn, a human rights lawyer at Hodge, Jones and Allen, who at the time was bringing a legal challenge on behalf of Catherine Smith, the mother of a soldier who had died from heat injury while serving in Iraq.

			In retrospect, Smith just wanted someone to listen to her. When she had approached the MoD on the issue of the Snatch vehicle, she had received a letter back saying, in her recollection, ‘better people than me make decisions about vehicles’. Cockburn met Smith, and explained that because of the amount of time that had passed, they might not be able to take the case on. In the end, though, it proved possible, and Smith received legal aid. The case was joined with two other similar Snatch cases relating to the deaths of Kirk Redpath and Lee Ellis — also brought by Cockburn — and the whole package began to move.

			Leigh Day, acting for Debi Allbutt, had retained the services of Richard Hermer QC, a human rights barrister at Matrix Chambers. The doctrine of combat immunity holds that the MoD could not be held to account for actions taken in the heat of battle; it had been upheld in a court case from the first Gulf War when a soldier was injured by a British artillery piece firing. Hermer reasoned that this meant that there was no recourse for damages from contesting the decisions made in Iraq in 2003 around the time of the friendly-fire incident that killed Stephen Allbutt, even though the inquest had strongly criticised the actions of Black Watch officer Lindsay MacDuff. However, Hermer believed that there was another possible line of legal advance, arguing that failures of preparation and training that took place before the battlefield, such as the failure to install better friendly-forces monitoring equipment, could be argued to lie outside the doctrine of combat immunity. Given that they both involved combat immunity, the QLR friendly-fire incident was eventually sandwiched together by the MoD with the Snatch Land Rover cases such as that of Susan Smith. Over a period of years, they ascended the rungs of the English legal system: the High Court and Court of Appeal.

			In 2013, they arrive at the summit, the Supreme Court, which had started work in 2009, assuming the judicial functions of the House of Lords. The deputy president of the Supreme Court is Scottish judge David Hope, Lord Hope of Craighead. Born in 1938, between 1957 and 1959 Hope had served as a National Service officer, based in Germany with the Rhine Army, within easy reach of Celle and the training areas in that region.

			More than half a century later, Hope, following a career as a lawyer and judge, ends up back in the military world when the Smith v. MoD case reaches the Supreme Court. Initially, all the justices see is the judgment from the Court of Appeal, the rank below them in the legal system. In the Smith case, the MoD is applying for the case to be struck out. The first relevant question for the court is whether the cases involved — the Snatch Land Rover and the tank friendly fire — should proceed to trial. Unlike the Scottish system, in which Hope built his career, and where a claim is written up fully in pleadings, the English system is much more skeletal. There is a statement of claim that sets out, as Hope puts it, ‘almost in telegraphic form’ the points which the barristers had made; it was brief, about a page long. This document refers to the Snatch Land Rover and its limited protection, the problems with the counter-IED equipment and the alleged inadequacies of training.

			There are twelve judges in the Supreme Court: nine from England, two from Scotland, one from Northern Ireland. Depending on the gravity of the case, increasing numbers of them sit, though always in odd numbers to ensure that a vote is not tied. For this case, there are seven justices sitting. First a panel of three determine that, out of fairness to the deceased, the claimants should be given permission to appeal, thereby letting the case proceed to a full hearing. Now, they receive more detailed paperwork: in addition to the Court of Appeal judgment exposing the basis of the appeal they receive, in Richard Hermer’s words, ‘the detailed written submissions of the parties and intervenors, the key underlying documentation and the relevant case law’.

			The first issue relates to the European Convention on Human Rights: whether there could be a claim under Article 2, the right to life, for something that happened outside the geographical area of Europe. This is the question of jurisdiction, or territoriality, the same issue with which Nicholas Mercer wrestled in 2003. It is a long-established precedent that a national embassy counts as sovereign territory. A case known as ‘Al-Skeini’, heard in the House of Lords in 2007, determined that a detention centre would also count. But the Snatch Land Rover and QLR friendly-fire incidents took place on the open battlefield, in very different circumstances. Hope and his colleagues examine a Strasbourg case that relates to these issues. In the end, the seven justices are unanimous on the first point: they determine that in these cases, ECHR law did apply to the soldiers involved.

			The second point concerns equipment and training. The soldiers killed were provided with equipment and asked to do things under the direction of the MoD. It is now that Hope thinks back over fifty years to his own experiences as a National Service officer, to the gear they were given for crossing rivers and conducting operations at night. ‘You did rely on the people who set up all these things to have taken some care for your safety,’ he remembers. Hope feels there is a case to answer here, but again the issue of combat immunity arises: there is a question mark as to whether it applies to the operations in Iraq. In the case of the Snatch Land Rover claims (though not the QLR tank case), the incidents took place after the initial fighting phase, with troops acting in support of civil power. The MoD has suggested that post-invasion Iraq really was combat. The majority of the Supreme Court justices, however, take the view that these events were not combat, and that this ground for striking out the case does not apply. The Supreme Court deliberations revert to whether there is enough in the skeletal arguments before them to indicate negligence with kit or lack of training.19

			Over four days in February, the hearings take place in the Supreme Court building opposite the Palace of Westminster, on the other side of Parliament Square. After that, the judges process up to the ‘retiring room’. In accordance with tradition, the most junior justice presents his view, and proceedings ascend in seniority to the president (or if the president is absent, the deputy president), who decides who will start writing the judgment. No one wears robes in the Supreme Court. Each justice is completely free to express their views, and also free to change them. They spend all morning from 10 a.m. until lunchtime in discussion. There is a distinction in views. On one side, with a majority, stands Lord Hope, in favour of the claims, along with Lord Walker, Lady Hale and Lord Kerr. On the other side, in the minority, are Lord Mance, Lord Wilson and Lord Carnwath.

			Hope writes his judgment in his study at home in Edinburgh; his routine is to travel to London on Sunday evenings and back on a Thursday night. In the past, he wrote longhand and dictated to a typist, but the House of Lords lacks the secretarial support, so he has changed his methods. There is a delay of several months before the judgment is finally promulgated on 19 June 2013.

			‘At the stage when men are being trained, whether pre-deployment or in theatre, or decisions are being made about the fitting of equipment to tanks or other fighting vehicles, there is time to think things through, to plan and to exercise judgment,’ Lord Hope’s judgment reads.20

			These activities are sufficiently far removed from the pressures and risks of active operations against the enemy for it not to be unreasonable to expect a duty of care to be exercised, so long as the standard of care that is imposed has regard to the nature of these activities and to their circumstances.

			Lord Mance’s dissenting opinion is published at the same time; it makes extensive reference to military history:

			The relevant question for present purposes is therefore whether the state owed a duty of care to avoid the death or injury during the course of active service which actually occurred. It will often not be difficult with hindsight to point to different decisions that might have been made or preparations made. Would the disaster of Isandlwana have been avoided had the army command equipped Lord Chelmsford’s forces with the heliograph? Or was the cause the failure to form a laager? Or the deployment of troops over too wide a perimeter? Or the lack of screwdrivers to open the ammunition boxes quickly enough? … Was the fall of Singapore to numerically inferior forces, with the ensuing slaughter and torture, due to culpable failures to fortify the Malay peninsular or landward side of Singapore, or to provide armoured vehicles or aircraft to protect both? Or was it due to failures of military commanders on the ground? Or was it inevitable in the context of what Churchill described as ‘our bitter needs elsewhere’?

			Despite these rhetorical flourishes, it is Hope’s view — that the British Army does have a duty of care to soldiers on the battlefield — which prevails on that summer’s day in 2013.

			Debi Allbutt is sitting in the public gallery; she is staying, as she always does on these legal trips to London, in the cheapest hotel she can find. It has been a long journey: the inquest, the years of hearings: the time when she saw David Pinkstone, the man whose tank fired the round that killed her husband, and he would not meet her eye. Allbutt has not married again. She put herself through college and university, but there was a period when doctors thought she had a brain tumour, after endless headaches. She was off work for six months; she lost all her confidence and suffered memory loss. She always had to stop herself from shouting in court. She particularly disliked James Eadie, the ‘Treasury Devil’, as the first counsel to the Treasury is known, who was acting for the government, finding him vicious. When the verdict is announced, Allbutt cries in the public gallery, sitting behind her solicitors.21

			Sue Smith is there too. Likewise, her journey has been long. She, by contrast, does not feel anything at all; sitting behind her barristers, it is just relief, as if something has switched off.22

			*

			From the start, the Smith v. MoD verdict is obviously a major legal change — though just how much of an act it is of judicial door-opening is not immediately clear. One lawyer involved in the case summarises the result as follows:

			The argument in Smith was that it would [be] fundamentally unfair for emanations of the state like soldiers to be restrained by, and conduits for, Human Rights Act (HRA) rights and protections for those who were under their control and authority, but completely unable to be beneficiaries of those same rights and protections. It seemed a clear corruption of the balance of both rights and responsibilities that we might traditionally be seen to hold as citizens. The ruling in Smith corrected this inconsistency, ruling that British troops were both beholden to and beneficiaries of the rights enshrined in the HRA. From that breakthrough in principle came the more mundane question of whether their HRA rights had indeed been breached (with the added potential defence of ‘combat immunity’).

			In a debate shortly afterwards in the House of Lords, an admiral expostulates that the new ruling means that he would never have been able to defend his ship against Exocet missiles as he did in the Falklands War. To Lord Hope, listening, that argument is nonsense: this judgment does not allow for second-guessing decisions made on the field of battle itself; instead it allows the criticism of those back in Whitehall involved in preparations, beforehand, in slow time.

			The septuagenarian justice had tried to explain this, but many do not hear his side, or do not want to. A report published that year by the centre-right think tank Policy Exchange, and titled ‘The Fog of Law — An introduction to the legal erosion of British fighting power’, refers to ‘Smith and Others v. the Ministry of Defence: the apogee of judicial encroachment’. The authors are Tom Tugendhat, a reservist who served as military assistant to General David Richards, and who will be elected as a Tory MP in 2015, and Laura Croft, a retired US Army lieutenant colonel who had worked as a lawyer in the Judge Advocate General’s Corps. Lord Justice Moses adds a tub-thumping foreword:

			None have succeeded in defeating the armed forces of the United Kingdom. Napoleon, Falkenhayn and Hitler could not. But where these enemies failed, our own legal institutions threaten to succeed. So argue the authors of this stimulating, well-reasoned and important paper. They recall that in 2009, soldiers carried twice the weight of the loads born by their predecessors during the Falklands. Now they demonstrate the even greater weight of judicial intervention imposed on the armed forces following the decision of the Supreme Court in June 2013 in the Smith case.

			There is significant irony here: Lord Justice Moses was one of the judges in the Court of Appeal when Debi Allbutt’s case was heard there. At that time, he found, forthrightly, in her favour.

			*

			The afterlives of the players in the Smith v. MoD saga are mixed. Debi Allbutt helped instigate the case that became the legal watershed. After that verdict, though, she never received any compensation herself. When the MoD refused to disclose certain key documents to her solicitor on the grounds of national security, their estimated chance of winning damages fell from seventy-thirty to sub-forty per cent; they could no longer get insurance to cover their costs in case they lost. There was no way forward. ‘I was heartbroken; because I’d give my life to fighting for it and I’ve always believed in justice,’ Allbutt says.23 ‘All I did is open the doors to allow people to sue the government, which doesn’t stop any incidents from happening.’

			Sue Smith had more success. After the Chilcot Inquiry into the Iraq War was established in 2009, she talked to the commissioners about the problems with the Snatch vehicles. When the Chilcot Report was published in July 2016, the report’s criticisms of vehicle issues were stark. The MoD had known about the Snatch’s vulnerability for years, but had failed to provide more heavily-armoured vehicles.24 After that, the MoD settled for damages with Smith for an undisclosed amount. In August 2017, she also received a letter of apology from Defence Secretary Michael Fallon.

			‘I am fully aware of the struggle you have had to bring this matter to court over the last decade and I recognise that this has had a significant impact on you and your family,’ Fallon wrote. ‘The government entirely accepts the findings of Sir John Chilcot in the Iraq Inquiry in relation to Snatch Land Rover … I would like to express directly to you my deepest sympathies and apologise for the delay, resulting in decisions taken at the time in bringing into service alternative protected vehicles which could have saved lives.’ Fallon adds that lessons have been learnt, and ends by saying, ‘The government must and will ensure that our armed forces are always properly equipped and resourced.’25

			For Smith, the apology is ‘bittersweet’; the Conservative government that apologised was not the Labour administration that sent her son to Iraq. She is right to be sceptical too. In parallel to Fallon’s apologies, his MoD was also exploring plans, announced in October 2016, for the military to opt out of sections of the European Convention on Human Rights during future conflicts, and to channel complaints into an internal MoD scheme. ‘The Ministry of Defence wants to make it impossible for soldiers and their families to bring claims against it to court when these relate to actions in combat,’ Robert Bourne, president of the Law Society, told the Guardian in February 2017. Regarding the proposed internal complaints scheme, he added, ‘This means cases would not be heard by an independent judge, facts would not be independently investigated, responsibility would not be established and a state institution, if liable, would not be held to account.’

			*

			There is an unwritten, and perhaps unwelcome, message in Susan Smith’s endgame. Her apology from Michael Fallon came at the end of twelve years of legal wrangling, and at enormous personal and emotional cost. Like most of the individuals who brought cases against the MoD in the Iraq and Afghanistan period, she was the relative of a soldier, not an officer. Some argue that these cases represent unhealthy obsession, a failure to move on. For the families of dead officers, an alternative approach emerged: give one tight-lipped interview, establish a grant-giving organisation in your child’s memory. In part, that speaks to different ideas of social and military responsibility, but it also speaks to social capital. Smith only heard from Fallon twelve years on from her son’s death. By contrast, after Margaret Evison, a south London consultant psychologist, lost her son Mark Evison, a 26-year-old lieutenant serving with the Welsh Guards, in Afghanistan in 2009, and threatened to abandon the traditional bereaved-officer-parent playbook by releasing his diary to the Telegraph, numerous senior generals and other military figures contacted her (though she herself questions whether she received special treatment).26

			It is also true that the actions of individuals like Allbutt and Smith were not always appreciated by the soldiers. Late in the Afghanistan conflict, some British troops write in their wills that if they should die, as Grenadier Guards officer turned barrister Patrick Hennessey summarises it, ‘I don’t want my name to become associated with some six-year long legal campaign, the upshot of which is, no one’s allowed to go out on patrol without wearing a booster seat and safety belt.’27

			How Phil Hewett and Stephen Allbutt would feel about the case their relatives started is of course an impossible question to answer. And it is true, too, that while the lawyers who represented them framed these cases as improving conditions for soldiers, ideologically they often came from an old hard-left anti-war tradition that was, de facto, opposed to anything and everything the army did. It could seem as if they were merely hanging onto the idea of soldiers’ welfare to criticise the institution — taking advantage of relatives’ grief as ammunition. But it is also true that women like Susan Smith and Debi Allbutt, soldiers’ mothers and wives, were not listened to in the same way that officers’ relations were. And so it is not surprising that they were the ones who took cases, who engaged in obsessional quests.

			Smith v. MoD, concluding in 2013, is a major part of the accountability story. But it is not the only part: equally crucial is the story of the lawyers themselves.




			Chapter 20

			Lawfare

			In February 2008, a joint press conference took place in London. The speakers were two lawyers, Phil Shiner of Birmingham firm Public Interest Lawyers, and Martyn Day of London-based Leigh Day, which also represented Debi Allbutt. Shiner and Day claimed British troops had executed as many as twenty Iraqi prisoners after an incident in Iraq four years earlier known as the Battle of Danny Boy.1

			‘We would be very surprised if [the evidence] did not shock the nation,’ Shiner said. The lawyers published written statements from five alleged survivors, claiming that while in detention they heard men screaming, moaning in pain and choking, and the sound of gunfire, and that they were forced to wear blacked-out goggles. ‘I believed people were being killed,’ read one statement by Attiya Sayyid Abdulreza. ‘I have never heard anything like that sound ever before in my life … It shocked me and filled me with such terror.’ The lawyers said the five witnesses were labourers from al-Majar al-Kabir with ‘absolutely nothing’ to do with the Jaysh al-Mahdi insurgents who were fighting the British in Iraq.

			At the 2008 press conference, Martyn Day also showed images of corpses from the battle. ‘The nature of a number of the injuries of the Iraqis would seem to us to be highly unusual in a battlefield,’ he said. ‘For example, quite how so many of the Iraqis sustained single gunshots to the head and from seemingly at close quarters, how did two of them end with their eyes gouged out, how did one have his penis cut off [and] some have torture wounds?’

			‘There is the clearest evidence available of systematic abuse and systematic failings at the very highest levels of politicians, the civil service and the military,’ added Shiner.

			Shiner acknowledged that the bulk of the evidence relied on the five local men’s interpretation of what they had heard while blindfolded, and that no post-mortem examinations had been carried out on the bodies of the twenty dead. But he believed his clients were telling the truth. ‘It may be that none of this happened,’ he said. ‘We need a public inquiry to establish the facts.’

			*

			In connection with Britain’s post-9/11 wars, ‘lawyers’ often meant two institutions: Leigh Day and Public Interest Lawyers, the two represented at this 2008 press conference. They were not the only outfits involved: Susan Smith’s lawyer Jocelyn Cockburn, for example, worked for a different firm, and there were others involved also, but Leigh Day and Public Interest Lawyers became the entities publicly most associated with the Iraq cases.

			Established in 1987 by Martyn Day and Sarah Leigh, Leigh Day had built a reputation for developing group actions, often against corporations. Day had lived abroad as a child, in Zambia and Zimbabwe, and in the 1990s sat on a working group established by Lord Woolf, who served as master of the Rolls from 1996 to 2000, and changed legal processes to make group claims more feasible. Along with another partner at the firm, Richard Meeran, Day was interested in using the group action structure ‘in relation to bringing justice for people in the developing world’. They brought a case in South Africa involving around 3,000 workers exposed to asbestos, and at the turn of the millennium began to bring claims on behalf of Kenyans injured by munitions from British Army training exercises; that case involved between 1,300 and 1,400 claimants who had primarily been injured as children. As Leigh Day’s practice became increasingly international, the firm began to bring more cases against the British government or large multinational corporations. All the actions were brought on the basis of no-win, no fee, their clients being in Day’s words, ‘poor as church mice’.2 Success in one case would provide funding to pursue another.

			Martyn Day started his career with a trade union law firm, from which he was sacked ‘for causing trouble’, and went on to London law firm Bindmans, where he went on strike for a day over what he thought was the clerks’ low pay. ‘I was a bolshie bastard. My skill in life is as a troublemaker,’ he says. In Day’s telling, when the Iraq war started he was not ‘particularly anti-war’. He thought Saddam should be removed; he was a Labour party man, and thought Tony Blair was right. Day also had a longstanding relationship with Phil Shiner, a Birmingham lawyer who had founded Public Interest Lawyers in 1998. Prior to establishing PIL, Shiner had run ‘something akin to a law centre’, the Birkenhead Resource Centre, and had been a partner at the legal aid firm Tyndallwoods.3 The two men knew each other partly through environmental circles: Day had once been chair of Greenpeace and Shiner had run environmental cases, in particular relating to nuclear power. He had advised the Nuclear Information Service on a challenge to the decision to replace Trident, and represented women peace activists contesting a bylaw that would ban protests outside the Atomic Energy Establishment at Aldermaston. Shiner’s particular expertise related to public law — bringing judicial reviews and challenging principles. Yet it would be for his work pertaining to Iraq that Shiner — described in one profile as ‘an intense, even obsessive character’ who once ran a marathon in two and a half hours and went on an annual religious retreat — would become best known (not to say notorious).4

			In January 2003, two months before the Iraq invasion, Public Interest Lawyers wrote to Defence Secretary Geoff Hoon. ‘The purpose of this letter is to put the UK Government on notice,’ the missive read:5

			From the outset of the use of force, various NGOs working in the field will be collecting evidence as to whether the use of force against Iraq adheres to the fundamental requirements of the international humanitarian law … In due course, either before the end of the use of force or shortly after its end, NGOs’ written and oral evidence will be presented to a tribunal.

			Shiner also acted for the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament in its legal challenge to the war. Yet it was with the Baha Mousa case that he really sprung to prominence.

			Following Mousa’s death in September 2003, the Special Investigations Branch of the Royal Military Police commenced an investigation. Seven individuals from 1 QLR were eventually charged: Private Wayne Crowcroft, Staff Sergeant Mark Davies (a tactical questioner), Private Darren Fallon, Lieutenant Colonel Jorge Mendonça (the commanding officer), Corporal Donald Payne, Major Michael Peebles (the Battlegroup Internment Review Officer) and Corporal Kelvin Stacey. Their alleged offences ranged from inhuman treatment of a person protected under the Fourth Geneva Convention to manslaughter, assault, actual bodily harm and battery.6

			The court martial took place at Bulford Camp in Wiltshire. The prosecution case closed on 14 February 2007, forty-one months after Mousa had died. The Judge-Advocate ruled that Mendonça, Crowcroft and Fallon had no case to answer; the charges against them were dismissed. Likewise, the remaining charge of battery against Stacey, and the charges of manslaughter and perverting the course of justice against Payne, were also dismissed. However, at the outset of the trial Payne had pleaded guilty to inhuman treatment. On 13 March 2007, Peebles and Davies were found not guilty by the Court and discharged. On 30 April, Payne was sentenced to twelve months’ imprisonment, dismissed from the army and reduced to the ranks. The 35-year-old corporal became the first British soldier ever to be convicted of a war crime.7

			If the court martial was meant to put a close to the matter of Iraq abuse, it signally failed to do so. In its wake, the MoD instituted its own inquiry into events in Iraq, headed by Brigadier Robert Aitken, the director of army personnel strategy. That report, titled ‘An Investigation into Cases of Deliberate Abuse and Unlawful Killing in Iraq in 2003 and 2004’, was published in January 2008. Alongside the Mousa case, the report examined five other incidents, ranging from prisoner abuse at Camp Breadbasket in May 2003, to a riot in al-Amarah in April 2004 when British troops were filmed beating youths, to occasions when locals drowned in the Shatt al-Arab waterway. The report examined how the ‘Five Techniques’ had resurfaced, and referred to the problematic way in which, in 2003, attendance on Conduct After Capture courses could qualify soldiers to conduct interrogation of prisoners. It said that troops had received only ‘scant’ information on how to treat prisoners and said forces needed ‘a better understanding of what our values and standards actually mean in practice’.8

			The Aitken report was not a whitewash, although in its summary the brigadier did write:

			We can be assured that the great majority of officers and soldiers who have served in Iraq have done so to the highest standards that the army or the nation might expect of them, under extraordinarily testing conditions. There is no evidence of fundamental flaws in the army’s approach to preparing for or conducting operations: we remain the envy of our allies for the professionalism of our conduct.9

			Yet the Aitken report, a slight production of thirty-seven pages, also failed to close the issue. By the time it appeared, Baha Mousa’s father, Colonel Daoud Mousa, had instituted judicial review proceedings, seeking a public inquiry. His lawyer was Phil Shiner.

			Martyn Day’s recollection is that he contacted Phil Shiner on the Iraq issue around 2005 or 2006. Day pointed out that Shiner only had a small firm in Birmingham, and limited resources, most of which were occupied with his public-law challenges. Day proposed that Shiner and PIL should concentrate on public law, while Leigh Day could do the private law in parallel. Shiner agreed, and so the partnership began. PIL and Shiner, for the most part, became the conduit of cases referred through fixers working on the ground in Iraq. ‘Clients would go to his people on the ground in Iraq, and they would then pass the public law case on to Phil and the private law case on to us,’ Day says. Leigh Day started taking cases on from about 2006. In the end there would be around 1,000.

			After the Baha Mousa court martial, Leigh Day was instructed by Mousa’s family and a number of other Iraqis captured in the same raid. The MoD had at first denied that any wrongdoing had taken place, but in the end entered mediation under Lord Woolf, the former chief justice. Eventually the MoD agreed to a £2.83 million settlement, with the press at the time reporting the majority was bound for Mousa’s family. Lieutenant General Freddie Viggers, then the adjutant general, also delivered an apology for treatment received at the hands of the army. ‘The appalling behaviour of British soldiers made us feel disgusted,’ he said.10

			Daoud Mousa’s judicial review, brought by Phil Shiner, was one of six claims that reached the House of Lords in the case of Al Skeini and Others v. Secretary of State for Defence. The verdict, confirming that ECHR law applied to British troops abroad, was published in June 2007. As a result of an agreement reached between the claimant and the secretary of state, the latter agreed to hold a public inquiry into the death of Baha Mousa. The inquiry was set up on 2 August 2008 with Sir William Gage, a retired court of appeal judge, as its chairman.

			It was not the only public inquiry. The origins of the other, which would be called Al-Sweady, and which would also be the matter at stake at the 2008 press conference, was the ‘Battle of Danny Boy’ on 14 May 2004, when Iraqi insurgents ambushed vehicles belonging to the Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders at the vehicle checkpoint known as Danny Boy, around 5km north-east of al-Majar al-Kabir. The battle that followed also involved soldiers from 1 PWRR. After the battle, contrary to usual procedure, the British troops transported twenty bodies back to Camp Abu Naji in order to see if, among them, was an individual suspected of involvement in the murder of RMPs in al-Majar al-Kabir the previous June. Soon afterwards, rumour began to circulate that not all of the Iraqis had died on the battlefield, and that the British had murdered a number of them at Camp Abu Naji.

			Again, Shiner led a claim for judicial review, with private claims for compensation handled by Leigh Day. The following year, judicial review hearings took place between April and August. They were a mess. Three high court judges slammed the MoD’s lacklustre disclosure, describing Colonel Dudley Giles, a senior Royal Military Police officer, as an unreliable witness. ‘If Colonel Giles continues to be put forward as a principal or even a significant witness in judicial review proceeding[s] or if he is in any way responsible for disclosure, it is our view that any Court seized of those proceedings should approach his evidence with the greatest caution,’ the judges wrote.11

			Leaked emails suggested that Giles had requested that his staff change their witness statements, asking them to remove claims that they were so overworked that they sought support from additional military police investigators. In one email, Warrant Officer Paul Terry, of the military police, wrote, ‘I am not sure what it is I am supposed to be clarifying/explaining without being economical with the truth.’ He is reported to have added, ‘I will happily do as ordered, but will not subsequently lie on oath.’12 It also emerged during the hearings that James Rands, an army intelligence officer, threw laptops that contained photos of the dead Iraqis into the English Channel. He initially claimed only one computer was involved; later, he acknowledged he had in fact disposed of two, one in 2006 and the other in 2007.13

			Eventually, in a letter in July 2009, Bob Ainsworth, the secretary of state for defence, conceded that the poor disclosure processes would prevent the court from making a satisfactory ruling on the case. Four months later, Ainsworth announced that there would be a public inquiry. Its name came from Khuder al-Sweady, an Iraqi national who, at the High Court judicial review in 2009, had claimed that his nineteen-year-old nephew, Hamid al-Sweady, was unlawfully killed while in the custody of British troops at Camp Abu Naji.14

			*

			These public inquiries were extensive, time-consuming and expensive. Baha Mousa cost almost £13 million; Al-Sweady would run to £31 million. Much of the work involved trawling documents, but they also called witnesses. They were, in their way, extraordinary triumphs of collective investigative journalism, or perhaps national inquisition: an indication of how, with the application of resources, a democratic state could strip away layers of myth and determine, with reasonable accuracy, what had really happened long ago and far away.

			They did not, though, address the fundamental legal question of the Iraq war, which was the decision to invade in the first place. For the soldiers caught up in them and other accountability proceedings over the years of Iraq and Afghanistan, too, the experience was often a frightening and bizarre one.

			David Falconer was a company sergeant major with the PWRR on the 2004 tour during which Danny Boy occurred. The tour was difficult; the afterlife more so. When fellow PWRR NCO Chris Broome, his mind scrambled by Iraq, was convicted of forcing recruits to eat boot polish and lick dirt in 2006, Falconer was away on his honeymoon. Falconer received a phone call from a friend telling him to read the Sun. The newspaper showed a group photograph, including Falconer with a circle around his head — a case of mistaken identity, they had assumed he was Broome. Falconer spoke to regimental headquarters, who told him not to worry about it. Ultimately, he decided to go to a civilian law firm, who took the paper to court. The Sun paid out.

			That instance was easier to negotiate than the years of inquiry processes that followed Danny Boy. Falconer was there first for the internal military inquiry. In 2009 he was back, giving a statement at the Royal Courts of Justice. By this stage, he was out of the army, having promoted and spent his last two years in uniform as regimental sergeant major of 3 PWRR, one of the regiment’s reservist battalions. When it became clear that a public inquiry would take place, Falconer and others were told there was a law firm that the system would pay to support them if they got dragged into it.

			Some soldiers from the 2004 tour were badly traumatised; it seemed unfair to have to relive it all over again. ‘You go out there to do the job, you do your job, and the next minute you’re put in front of a court for it,’ says Falconer. But he and others had little choice in the matter. When he heard that the public inquiry was indeed to take place he felt ‘sick to the core, knowing that we’d have to go back through it all again’. Falconer was conscious in particular of one soldier who had to crawl through a Warrior carrying bodies taken from the Danny Boy battlefield after the back door jammed shut, and who was intensely traumatised by that experience.

			By the time the public inquiry took place, Falconer was abroad, working in the Middle East as a military advisor. He took part in multi-hour phone calls, and the investigators examined his statement. When he first handed the document in, it was around five pages long; by the end, it was thirty-five. The Treasury Solicitor’s Department were acting on behalf of the MoD and went into tiny details. Falconer testified live to the Al-Sweady Inquiry via video link from IBM’s headquarters in Dubai.

			Andrew Kennett, the brigade commander during Danny Boy in 2004, also testified at Al-Sweady. A pivotal question for him was who had given the order to move the bodies back to camp. Kennett said he never gave it. The brigade operation officer, though, who had been with Kennett during Operation Barras in Sierra Leone in 2000, was convinced that Kennett had done so; Richard Holmes (then colonel of the PWRR) wrote in Dusty Warriors, his book about the regiment’s 2004 tour, that Kennett had given the order; and Matt Maer’s earlier statement, referring to Holmes’ book and repeating this assertion, became part of the evidence to the inquiry. Kennett saw Holmes’ book in draft and wrote to him; the published version omitted that information. Yet during the sessions, a lawyer still cited the book as evidence of Kennett having given the order. Kennett referred them to the published version, and the lawyers saw the distinction. While the inquiry devoted significant resources to the issue, it could not find definitively from whom the order had come,15 although Kennett offered to take responsibility for it. It appeared that a desire to photograph the dead morphed into a direction to move the bodies, when commanders thought — incorrectly, as it turned out — that there were no cameras with the soldiers on the battlefield.

			Kennett says today that his major concern during the process was for the soldiers involved — as for Falconer, particularly those who had been affected by traumatic events on the battlefield. He felt he was fairly and reasonably treated by Al-Sweady, and that in no way did his appearance in the inquiry have an impact on his career. In retrospect, he reserved his strongest vitriol for the venue, ‘some stinking former MoD civil service building, somewhere near Covent Garden. It was ghastly’.16

			*

			The first public inquiry, into the Baha Mousa case, delivers its findings in September 2011. They are devastating. Mousa died after suffering ‘appalling episode[s] of serious gratuitous violence’ in a ‘very serious breach of discipline’ by UK soldiers.17 Gage, the chairman, blames ‘corporate failure’ at the Ministry of Defence for the use of banned interrogation methods in Iraq. In response, Prime Minister David Cameron states that such an incident should never happen again. ‘The British Army, as it does, should uphold the highest standards,’ he says. ‘If there is further evidence that comes out of this inquiry that requires action to be taken, it should be taken.’ In the Commons, Defence Secretary Liam Fox acknowledges that the army has been guilty of systemic failures. ‘What happened to Baha Mousa and his fellow detainees in September 2003 was deplorable, shocking and shameful,’ Fox says.

			Gage is adamant that Mousa’s death could not be explained as the actions of a few rogue soldiers. Gage says a ‘large number’ of soldiers assaulted Mousa and the other detainees, and that many others, including several officers, must have known what was happening. Both an army chaplain and doctor visited the facility where Mousa was held and took no action; the General Medical Council eventually struck off the doctor. ‘It was avoidable and preventable, and there can be no excuses,’ Gage says. ‘There is no place in our armed forces for the mistreatment of detainees. And there is no place for a perverted sense of loyalty that turns a blind eye to wrongdoing or erects a wall of silence to cover it up.’ Gage also condemns members of the battalion for their ‘lack of moral courage to report abuse’. The report finds no evidence of a wider culture of entrenched violence, although its terms of reference preclude any wider investigation. But it does make clear that the training given to British soldiers on prisoner handling and questioning was patchy, and crucially does not carry any reminder that the ‘Five Techniques had been banned’.

			The Mousa inquiry, with its unequivocal evidence of wrongdoing, would shape the climate around the Iraq abuse allegations in the medium term. Three years later, however, in December 2014, the Al-Sweady probe delivers a very different set of findings, and will in turn invert the public narrative. At the end, Thayne Forbes, the retired judge who leads the probe, sits in front of a panelled background in a dark suit before the cameras. ‘The work of this inquiry has established beyond doubt that all the most serious allegations made against British soldiers involved in what has become known as the battle of Danny Boy and its aftermath, and which have been hanging over those soldiers for the past ten years, have been found to be wholly without foundation and entirely the product of deliberate lies, reckless speculation and ingrained hostility,’ Forbes says.18

			It is not a complete exoneration. Forbes finds that on the night of 14 May 2004 there had been instances of ill-treatment during ‘tactical questioning’ of the detainees at Camp Abu Naji. These included blindfolding the prisoners, depriving them of food and sleep, and using threatening interrogation techniques contrary to the Geneva Convention. The detainees should have been given some privacy while being strip-searched, and should have been given proper food when they were first detained. They should not have been deprived of sleep before they were questioned or shouted at during interrogation. They were made to wear blacked-out goggles for prolonged periods when this had no security purpose. Other examples of ill treatment included an interrogator banging a tent peg on a table and walking around a blindfolded detainee, blowing on the back of his neck.

			Forbes rules, though, that the allegations of murder and torture made against British soldiers were ‘deliberate lies’. The ex-judge says that removing the bodies from the battlefield led to ‘rumours, stories and speculation’ being spread among the local population. The ‘most significant lie of many’ is that Hamid al-Sweady — after whom the inquiry was named — was alive when he was captured: ‘Such assertions as that undoubtedly played a part in the persistence of the completely false allegations that Iraqi men had been detained alive and then in effect murdered at Camp Abu Naji.’

			Grislier details — in particular, how the Iraqi bodies could have got into such a condition that locals believed they had been abused — are buried in the text of the inquiry itself. The British soldiers had to return to Camp Abu Naji in the same vehicles as those used for transporting the dead insurgents. It was necessary to provide top cover because the convoy of vehicles had to travel through an area of considerable enemy activity, and was subjected to a significant amount of hostile fire during the return journey. This necessitated at least some of the soldiers standing on some of the bodies for some of the time. ‘It is probable that some of the dead Iraqi bodies suffered further damage as a result of being stood upon by some of the soldiers in this way,’ the inquiry reads. ‘It seems to me likely that the extent of any existing wounds or fractures could well have been exacerbated by a body having been stood on, particularly over a period of time and whilst the vehicle was in motion. Furthermore, it also seems very likely that the soldiers’ boots would have left marks and imprints on the bodies. However, I have no doubt that any such additional damage caused to the bodies in this way was not deliberate and was not the result of any disrespectful treatment. It was entirely due to force of circumstances.’

			Later, before being handed back to the Iraqi community, the bodies were wrapped in sheets and blood samples were taken from them. That was because concern had been expressed that the soldiers might have become infected with Hepatitis B as a result of exposure to blood from the dead Iraqi bodies the previous day. Initially, the procedure adopted to take the blood was to insert a long needle into the heart, known as ‘heart stabbing’. When that procedure proved to be unsuccessful, Major Kevin Burgess and Captain Claire Royston took samples from the blood and bodily fluids that had collected in the body bags overnight. ‘I accept that it is possible that the heart-stabbing procedure left marks on the bodies and that, if seen by relatives of the deceased or other members of the Iraqi community, that may well have caused some suspicion and uncertainty as to what had caused the marks,’ the inquiry text records.19

			The Al-Sweady Inquiry has cost £31 million and lasted five years. The reaction to its verdict is swift. ‘I don’t think it’s for me to apologise for the situation which arose,’ John Dickinson of Public Interest Lawyers says defensively to a questioning cameraman. ‘I’d be cautious about using the word “fault” in the light of the criticisms made by the chairman … to a large extent I think the MoD were responsible for this delay and this cost.’ Dickinson’s argument goes unheeded.

			In the Commons, standing in a dark suit and a Tory-blue tie, Michael Fallon, five months in post as secretary of state for defence, stands up and thunders, ‘The Iraqi detainees, their accomplices and their lawyers must now bear the brunt of the criticism for the protracted nature and the £31 million cost of this unnecessary public inquiry,’ he says. ‘This is not another Baha Mousa or an Abu Ghraib — no one died in British custody.’20

			An article in the Financial Times21 a few days later reports that Fallon has also complained about the ‘lodging of claims on a virtually industrial scale’ and noted that the conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan have now spawned three public inquiries, 200 judicial reviews or applications for them, and 300 personal injury claims from Iraqis or Afghans, costing about £87 million. Some £11 million has been paid in fees to solicitors and counsel for Afghan and Iraqi personal injury claims.

			A particular point of contention is now ‘a potentially explosive document’, which had been on file at Leigh Day, suggesting that the Iraqi detainees involved in Al-Sweady were in fact members of JAM, the militia that was fighting US and British forces in Iraq. Had the Legal Services Commission been aware of the document in 2008, it would have refused legal aid for a judicial review brought by Public Interest Lawyers in 2009, Fallon says. That would mean the Al-Sweady public inquiry that followed might never have been set up. The one-page Arabic document, known as the ‘militia document’, was handed to Leigh Day during a 2007 trip by its lawyers to Syria, but the firm said it failed to recognise its significance. It was handed over to the inquiry by Leigh Day along with a typed English translation. A handwritten English translation was shredded. Leigh Day said there was no dispute about the ‘accuracy of our typed translation’ but ‘in retrospect, we now recognise that the document should not have been thrown away’. By December 2014, in the immediate aftermath of the Al-Sweady verdict, the Solicitor’s Regulatory Authority says it is examining potential breaches of professional conduct at Leigh Day and Public Interest Lawyers, the two firms involved.22 It will eventually take three years for these claims to reach their conclusion. (Although the SRA investigated Leigh Day’s conduct, ultimately the firm was cleared of any wrongdoing.)

			The Al-Sweady probe clearly showed that the allegations of torture and murder after the Battle of Danny Boy were specious. To many in the army, that was no surprise. As Nicholas Mercer points out, a battlegroup headquarters is just too crowded an environment for such obviously taboo activities as killing prisoners to take place without a slew of witnesses of multiple ranks. Yet the British Army had indeed beaten Baha Mousa to death, and there were numerous other claims in play for misbehaviour in Iraq that had much firmer foundations. Given this, the great achievement of the military system in the years following December 2014 would be to use the Al-Sweady Inquiry as an inflection point to bend the public narrative in a new direction, away from potential atrocities by British soldiers and instead towards a new trope: bent lawyers.

			‘Shame of the lawyers’23 runs the Daily Mail headline after the Al-Sweady verdict, setting the tone for the coverage to come. In Birmingham, staff at Public Interest Lawyers receive death threats by email and over the phone. The firm installs a security gate and CCTV. ‘We felt as if we were under siege,’ Bethany Shiner, Phil Shiner’s daughter, who was working at the firm, later told Samira Shackle of the Guardian.24

			In February 2010, Phil Shiner had begun additional judicial review proceedings seeking investigation into further claims of death or alleged ill-treatment of Iraqis. As Bill Rammell, then minister for the armed forces, later told Shackle, ‘We were at risk of having a public inquiry for every allegation … That would take years — and in the intervening period, the whole reputation of the armed forces would be besmirched.’ The response of the MoD was to create a body called IHAT — the Iraq Historical Allegations Team, a legal entity that would investigate allegations of crimes, and where appropriate, pursue prosecutions of individual soldiers. The intention was to draw a line under the continued legal challenges. The idea was signed off by Gordon Brown and announced publicly in March 2010. ‘IHAT was a concerted attempt to pull all the allegations together, throw resources at them, and process them as quickly as possible,’ Rammell said in the same Guardian interview. IHAT was in theory fully independent, but was overseen by civil servants employed by the MoD. It did not have the power to prosecute crimes, so if an investigation gathered sufficient evidence, the case would be passed to the Service Prosecuting Authority.

			The new coalition government, elected in May 2010, was as hostile towards Shiner and PIL as its Labour predecessor had been. But it had little choice other than to proceed with IHAT. In 2011, the European Court of Human Rights ruled that the UK had a duty to investigate allegations of deaths and ill treatment involving British service personnel in Iraq. If it did not, Britain might have a case to answer in the International Criminal Court (ICC). ‘The view within government, both under Labour and in the coalition, was that IHAT would show Britain was taking responsibility by punishing the worst cases of abuse, while simultaneously proving that there were relatively few serious incidents,’ Samira Shackle wrote in her later Guardian piece.

			On its launch in 2010, the intention was that IHAT would conclude its work within two years. However, it barely got started until 2012, as Shiner repeatedly took the government to court to dispute its structure and independence. A bid to have it replaced by a full public inquiry, which would allow scrutiny of systemic issues and orders given from above, as well as the low-level actions of individuals, was rejected in 2011. More successful was a challenge over the investigators. IHAT’s investigative team were at first mostly drawn from a branch of the military police that had been active in Iraq during the occupation. Shiner successfully argued in court that they had a conflict of interest; in 2012 IHAT was restructured and re-staffed with civilians, mostly retired police detectives, provided by a recruitment company called Red Snapper. The new aim was completion in 2019, with a budget forecast of £57 million. As it turned out, by 2019 IHAT would already have been dead for two years.




			Chapter 21

			Johnny and the IHAT

			A key force behind the closure of IHAT is Johnny Mercer, who as a Royal Artillery captain in 2010 served as a fire-support team commander in Nad-e Ali, the year before Sergeant Alexander Blackman killed his insurgent, and who five years later was elected as a Tory MP. Mercer’s maiden speech in the house — in which he ignored advice to new MPs to talk about their predecessors and their constituency, and keep things light and funny, and instead laid out two main areas he wanted to concentrate on, mental health and provision for veterans — made a major impact. Mercer starts to receive a sizeable postbag from all ranks of the military. Towards the end of 2015 he is receiving letters, largely from junior soldiers, about the IHAT process, describing soldiers leaving the military and getting on with their lives; then ‘somehow this civvy, not a copper, a civvy would turn up and ask them questions’. It seems to Mercer that the targets of this process are often junior ranks, sometimes vulnerable individuals who could not take care of themselves the way better-connected seniors and officers could.

			Around this time too, Mercer receives a visit from a solicitor named Hilary Meredith, who had long experience in bringing cases against the MoD. For a while, after the establishment of IHAT, Meredith had been contacted by Northern Ireland veterans concerned that they could be next in the firing line for such past-raking investigations. Then, in December 2015, Robert Campbell, a serving major, got in touch.1 Campbell had gone to Sandhurst three days before 9/11, commissioning into the Royal Engineers and deploying to Basra just after the initial invasion in April 2003.2 He was one of three soldiers from 32 Engineer Regiment on the dockside of the Shatt al-Arab waterway on 23 May 2003 who observed two Iraqi men who appeared to be stealing electrical cables. Both men ended up in the water; one of them, Saeed Radhi Shabram Wawi al-Bazooni, drowned. The allegation, which they denied, was that Campbell and two other soldiers forced Shabram into the water. Campbell stated that the men jumped in to get away from a mob that was threatening to lynch them, and they had in fact made extensive efforts to rescue the one who could not swim, spending forty minutes in the water looking for him.

			From 2003 onwards, Campbell faced a dizzying round of investigations. He reported the incident to his chain of command, who treated it with limited gravity. Basra was in chaos at the time; they had seen two men hanged in a market the day before, and reported that too. Lots of people were dying. There were rumours of mass graves; Royal Engineers were digging holes in factories to look for non-existent weapons of mass destruction. A few weeks later, the Military Police came to talk to Campbell and his men, but it appeared to be just another piece of accounting; no one was particularly moved by the process. Several weeks later still, the RMP came to search the vehicles that had been involved — a 432 armoured personnel carrier and a Spartan CVR(T) variant — poking around in the ammunition boxes and the boiling vessel used to make the tea. Campbell paid the matter little attention.

			Over the following year, though, the environment began to change. Tim Collins, the commanding officer of 1 Royal Irish, whose charismatic eve-of-battle speech before the invasion became known worldwide, was accused of pistol-whipping a Baath Party official. Though Collins was later cleared, suggestions of other misbehaviour by British troops began to rumble.3 In January 2004, Campbell was back in the UK on the recce troop commanders’ course in Warminster when he was told to return to his unit in Germany. His CO appeared grim-faced, and told Campbell he was going to be investigated for manslaughter. Nothing came of that immediately; Campbell and his men were told the case had been dropped, and he was advised to put the issue out of his mind.

			However, in June 2004, the RMP interviewed them under caution in Germany. Now things were properly serious. Other courts martial into Iraq misbehaviour were in the offing. In January 2005, the Camp Breadbasket case came to trial, which saw three soldiers jailed for mistreating Iraq prisoners. The Baha Mousa case began in July 2005. These cases had involved largely junior soldiers, and to Campbell it seemed the system was concerned lest it appear that ‘officers get away with it and the lads get charged’.4 Rather than conduct a court martial in Campbell’s case, the military prosecuting authorities decided instead to hold a ‘Formal Preliminary Examination’ in Basra. Campbell and his soldiers retained their own lawyers (paid for by the MoD), and flew out to Iraq. The FPE proved a non-event; the witnesses did not give coherent testimony. The prosecutors once more decided to wrap matters up, returning to Germany. Yet again, Campbell was told to get on with his life, that the matter was closed.

			The final turning-point for Campbell was the publication in January 2008 of Brigadier Aitken’s study into ‘Deliberate Abuse and Unlawful Killing’ by British troops in Iraq in 2003 and 2004, the army’s own probe into the allegations early in the campaign. Campbell’s incident featured among the six the report examined, along with Baha Mousa, Breadbasket, and an event in April 2004 when British soldiers beating youths in a riot in al-Amarah were filmed (the footage was later published by the News of the World in 2006). Campbell’s incident, the ‘Death of Sa’eed Shabram’, sat in the middle of the table on the third page of the report. The summary read, ‘Shabram drowned in the Shatt al-Arab. Three soldiers were investigated, and no charges were preferred.’5 To Campbell, this phraseology was misleading. As far as he was concerned he had been exonerated, and the evidence did not support a charge. But on its appearance in early 2008, the report put Campbell back in the frame. ‘I thought, someone else is now going to use this as an admission of guilt by the army,’ he says. ‘And Phil Shiner did.’

			Campbell tried to get his own chain of command to raise the point that the report was factually inaccurate. They were not sympathetic; the entire climate of the army had been coloured by the Baha Mousa case. By this stage, too, Campbell had moved to a new regiment, working in explosive ordinance disposal (EOD). He was told not to discuss the issue with anyone, and to keep quiet about it. ‘Not to worry, no one’s going to read it anyway,’ was the line.

			That assumption was wrong. The Aitken report spurred a civil case, brought by Leigh Day against the MoD, in 2010. Campbell was in Afghanistan, working out of NATO headquarters, when he received an email from one of his soldiers from 2003, saying he had just received a letter from the Treasury solicitors telling him to make another statement. Campbell called the solicitors to inquire what this was all about, what was wrong with his 2004 statement and why he had to produce another one. The solicitors told him that the MoD wanted to argue that he had done nothing wrong, and the case was all lies. To Campbell, it seemed that the Ministry’s position between 2003 and 2006 was that ‘we were dirty villains’ — yet now with the civil case against the Ministry itself, rather than an individual soldier, they had reversed that stance. Campbell called his own lawyers from Kabul; they advised him not to engage, although he told his investigators they were welcome to refer to his statement from 2004. The Treasury solicitors, however, insisted; they had been tasked by the MoD. Eventually the case was settled out of court.

			Campbell’s physical and mental health had both deteriorated by this point. He had done two demanding explosive ordnance disposal tours, in 2006–7 commanding all bomb disposal assets in Helmand, with Danish and Estonian platoons as well as British troops under his command. He went back to Afghanistan in 2010, and in 2011 was twice injured physically, firstly in a car accident in Kabul and again in Khost when he had to jump off a rooftop in a firefight. His back and hips were damaged, and he had PTSD. Only on his return from Afghanistan in 2011 did he begin to hear about IHAT. In December 2014, he received a phone call from a former girlfriend, also in the army, announcing that ‘there’s two coppers here asking about you’. They said they were from IHAT, and inquired whether he had beaten her, and was he an alcoholic or a racist? She refused to cooperate. Finally, in January 2015 Campbell was sitting in the Churchill lecture theatre at Shrivenham when he received a text from his syndicate leader, as instructors on the staff college course are known. At the end of the lecture, his syndicate leader entered with the chief of staff of the army division of the course, and explained that IHAT were coming to Shrivenham the following week to arrest Campbell.

			Campbell went to see the commanding officer of the staff college, an RAF wing commander, who was supportive. Two investigators had already turned up in his office in civilian clothes explaining they were from IHAT. They had introduced themselves using their police ranks, but as they were retired, they had no arrest powers. The wing commander refused to sign off the detention. Campbell went back to his lawyers. They wrote a letter to IHAT emphasising that they had no arrest powers. Eventually, Campbell conducted an interview under caution at Abingdon police station. He was presented with an album of photographs allegedly pertaining to the case; some showed equipment that was incorrectly captioned. At his lawyers’ recommendation, he answered all questions with ‘no comment’. The investigators asked why he was mentioned in the Aitken report if he had done nothing wrong, and why he had decided to settle the 2010 case? Campbell nearly burst with frustration. His lawyer cut in, pointing out that it was not Major Campbell who had chosen to settle the case, but the MoD.

			By February 2016, Campbell has been back in psychological therapy for nearly a year, signed off permanently sick with PTSD as well as the problems with his back and hips, as well as mild traumatic brain injury caused by exposure to explosions. He cannot function in his staff job. He is told a decision regarding prosecution is on its way.

			*

			When Hilary Meredith hears Campbell’s story, she is ‘so incensed’ she asks him if it is OK to discuss his case with Johnny Mercer. She shows Mercer Campbell’s statement, and points out that there is no support available for former soldiers who find themselves under the scrutiny of IHAT; the chain of command will provide support to serving soldiers, but most of those in the frame have left the army. The MoD suggested soldiers could telephone Veterans UK, an organisation at Norcross in Lancashire that deals predominantly with pension issues. Meredith points out that Veterans UK is not in a position to send a duty solicitor to, for example, a prison cell in Plymouth, and that there is no number soldiers can call for legal support. About twenty soldiers in all approached Meredith, but at time of writing, Campbell is the only one who has chosen to go public with his name and story.

			At the beginning of 2016, Johnny Mercer speaks to Julian Lewis, the Tory MP for New Forest East who chairs the Defence Select Committee, on which Mercer sits. Mercer wants to conduct a sub-committee inquiry into the work of IHAT. As a new MP, Mercer has never conducted such a probe before. In January, David Cameron asks the National Security Council to produce a plan to stop ‘spurious claims’ against British troops.6 The move is widely reported. Leigh Day partner Martyn Day — in the middle of an alcohol-free ‘Dry January’ — is walking up the hill towards his house in Blackheath in south-east London, listening to Radio 3, when he hears the prime minister heavily criticise his firm. At home, Day opens a bottle of wine.

			Five months later, at the first session of Johnny Mercer’s select committee, Hilary Meredith gives evidence. The soldiers under investigation are not allowed to speak, and so Meredith aims to explain the experiences of men like Robert Campbell. Nicholas Mercer gives evidence in the same session. Two months later, at the end of August 2016, Public Interest Lawyers shuts down, after it is told by the Legal Aid Agency (LAA) that it will no longer receive funding from them. The LAA rules the firm has breached contractual requirements, and Defence Secretary Michael Fallon says the firm’s closure is the ‘right outcome for our armed forces’.7 Meanwhile, the Solicitors Regulation Authority’s inquiry into the actions of PIL and Leigh Day, instigated after the Al-Sweady Inquiry delivered its verdict, continues.

			The following month, Johnny Mercer’s select committee resumes its hearings. Other witnesses include Martin Jerrold, the group managing director of Red Snapper, the firm which has been contracted to undertake IHAT investigations, and Mark Warwick, IHAT’s director. The inquiry hears that a female soldier under investigation received an email from an investigator’s civilian email address asking her out for a drink. Contrary to MoD policy, IHAT investigators are turning up at workplaces and homes unannounced, rather than giving prior warning. They hear about IHAT investigators impersonating policemen. Neither Leigh Day nor Public Interest Lawyers agree to attend the hearings in person; Leigh Day submits written evidence, while PIL does not engage in any way. Mercer writes to Michael Fallon, the secretary of state for defence, saying that he wants to see him and the chief of the defence staff, then RAF officer Air Marshal Stuart Peach, at the final hearing scheduled for December 2016. Mercer is no longer in the army, but as a junior officer in 2010, he was of the generation that, in his words, ‘stagged on on some pretty horrific operational tours and completely lost faith in leadership in the military, and politically’. Now he is summoning the grown-ups to talk about their actions (admittedly, a small section thereof). He also makes two films on the subject for the Victoria Derbyshire show on BBC 2.

			After the hearing with Fallon and Peach, Mercer takes the train back to Plymouth with Gary Streeter, the MP for South-west Devon, who has become Mercer’s mentor at Westminster. Mercer does not really know what to do; he suspects he is going to end up falling out in public with Fallon and the chief of the defence staff. ‘I’m not scared,’ Mercer says. ‘But I’m in completely unknown waters.’

			‘You’ll work out sooner or later in politics you’ve got to fall out with people sometimes to get things done,’ Streeter replies.

			In the meantime, Mercer has been feeding material about IHAT to Robert Mendick, a reporter at the Daily Telegraph. In the autumn and into the winter of 2016, the paper keeps up a steady drumbeat of coverage. ‘British soldiers who fought in Iraq and Afghanistan face having legal fees docked from their pay’ runs a story by Mendick on 22 September.8 ‘Revealed: Iraqis paid to travel abroad by UK taxpayer to give evidence against British war veterans’ says another on 15 November.9 ‘Iraq “witch hunt” fixer paid with public cash’ follows on 10 December, with the strongest allegation,10 that IHAT paid an Iraq fixer, ‘Jamal’, upwards of £110,829 for three years’ work — even though Jamal was also working for Public Interest Lawyers to ‘drum up business’ with cases of alleged abuse. It is not just the Telegraph; Mercer ends up on the front page of the Daily Mail as well.

			At the Tory party conference in Birmingham in October 2016, both Theresa May, the new prime minister, and Michael Fallon, the secretary of state for defence, mention IHAT, saying they plan to stop the hounding of servicemen and women by lawyers. Mercer, still less than two years in post as an MP, thinks, ‘we’re off’. As he writes up his report, though, he hears nothing further. The sense of isolation increases. He receives text messages in the middle of the night from special advisors in the MoD saying, ‘really disappointed with what you’re doing’ and ‘this is really bad’. The first time he replies, suggesting such conduct is unprofessional. The second time he ignores it. The third time he tells Robert Mendick. ‘Revealed: MoD officials sent Tory MP night time warning over criticism of Government’s treatment of Iraq war veterans’ the Telegraph announces on 17 December.11

			On 2 February 2017, a panel from the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal strikes off Phil Shiner, after twelve charges of misconduct are proved against him.12 Shiner had admitted acting recklessly by publicly claiming UK troops unlawfully killed, tortured and mistreated Iraqis. In five of the charges he is also found to have acted dishonestly, including agreeing to pay ‘sweeteners’ to a fixer — named only as ‘Z’ in tribunal papers but reported to be called Mazin Younis — to persuade him to change his evidence to the Al-Sweady Inquiry. Shiner had also previously admitted nine allegations of acting without integrity, including the fact that he had made unsolicited approaches to potential clients. Shiner does not attend the hearing. Andrew Tabachnik, representing the SRA, accuses Shiner of being ‘in a state of avoidance’ to prevent proceedings from going ahead in full. The hearing finishes earlier than expected as a result of Shiner’s absence. ‘The beginning of the end?’ Johnny Mercer writes on Twitter at 2.32 p.m. that day, with an image of a Telegraph front page. ‘I will relentlessly pursue Shiner and his type in the same manner he pursued UK soldiers.’13

			A week later, Mercer is ready to publish his own report. Its title, nodding to the line Quis custodiet ipsos custodes from the Roman poet Juvenal, is ‘Who guards the guardians? MoD support for former and serving personnel’. ‘The Iraq Historic Allegations Team (IHAT) was set up in 2010 to investigate allegations of abuse by Iraqi civilians against UK armed forces personnel that were said to have occurred between 2003 and 2009,’ it reads.

			It was expected to take two years to complete its work. Exploited by two law firms in particular, IHAT’s caseload rose from 165 to over 3,000 over subsequent years. It is now expected to complete its work in 2019 and will cost the taxpayer nearly £60 million. A large number of those claims were taken up by IHAT despite a lack of credible evidence and the investigations have taken years to complete. As a result, those under investigation have suffered unacceptable stress, have had their lives put on hold and their careers damaged. They have been, and in some cases continue to be, treated in an unacceptable manner as a result of serving the United Kingdom.

			The response is immediate. Pre-publication, Mercer lets the MoD see the report. It is released to the press on Thursday 9 February, under embargo for the Sunday papers. The following day, the Friday, attempting to take the wind out of the story, Michael Fallon announces the closure of IHAT. ‘This will be a huge relief to hundreds of British troops who’ve had these quite unfair allegations hanging over them; they’re now being freed of that and we will put in place new measures now to ensure this never happens again,’ Fallon says on camera, standing in front of an aircraft hangar in his Tory blue tie.14 IHAT will close in the summer, and around twenty remaining cases will be given to the Royal Navy Police, a reduction from the 3,000 handled by IHAT.

			On the same Friday Johnny Mercer tells the press the embargo is broken; his report is out.

			*

			In February 2017, therefore, the narrative shift to bent lawyers, begun with the Al-Sweady verdict twenty-six months earlier, is complete. In reality, though, the situation is more complicated.

			The SRA investigation into Leigh Day concludes in June 2017. It does not follow the Shiner precedent. Martyn Day, and his colleagues Sapna Malik and Anna Crowther, are cleared of any wrongdoing.15 The main tribunal charge concerns Leigh Day’s failure to disclose the document identifying the Iraqi detainees as insurgents and members of a militia that had attacked British forces. Other charges alleged the firm continued to seek damages for its clients when it was improper to do so, and authorised prohibited payments for cases to be referred to it. Leigh Day had previously acknowledged its failure to disclose the document was a human error, but denied any professional wrongdoing. At a pre-trial hearing, the firm suggested the SRA had been leaned on by the government to pursue the case. The SRA categorically denied the suggestion. In June, Day and Malik are each cleared of sixteen misconduct charges; Crowther is cleared of four, including an allegation of destroying the key document. The firm is cleared of eleven counts. Following a twenty-two-day hearing, Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal panel chairman Simon Tinkler says that they have found that none of the allegations made had been proved (one member of the panel dissents on some verdicts).

			In a statement, Day says:

			We are pleased that the tribunal has cleared us of all the charges, and confirmed our view that we did not act improperly or dishonestly in these legal claims … For nearly forty years I have battled on behalf of the ordinary man and woman in this country and abroad to ensure they get access to justice not least when they face the might of British multinationals or government … I am very pleased that I and my colleagues can now get back to doing the work we love.

			One human rights lawyer points out that, while Phil Shiner had only a couple of character references to his name in his SRA procedure, Day and Malik were able to produce sheaves of them, including from parties they had litigated against.

			In August 2017, in an interview with the Financial Times, Day says there had been a ‘strong political tinge’ to the SRA’s decision to prosecute Leigh Day. ‘There is no question Leigh Day has ended up being a thorn in the side of government in many different guises over many different years and to be frank whether that was Labour or Tory [government] actually it has made no difference,’ Day says. ‘I think it was rather depressing for the government to take this sort of stance in such a political way.’16 The FT reports that Leigh Day has brought more than 900 cases against the MoD on behalf of Iraqi citizens, around 600 of which are still under way. The firm had settled 320 cases, and lost or discontinued about another fifty. Leigh Day has collected £9.5 million in fees on various legal claims relating to Iraq.

			After IHAT is shut down, of the roughly 600 Iraq cases remaining, four claims are tried as ‘lead cases’. The abuse alleged in the cases includes British soldiers making prisoners lie face-down on the ground and running over their backs, intrusive physical inspections involving sexual humiliation, and beatings. In a judgment handed down on 14 December 2017,17 Judge George Leggatt concludes many, though not all, of the allegations were true, and awards four individuals upwards of £80,000 in damages. Leggatt is careful to write in his December 2017 judgment that with these test cases, ‘There is no assumption that these cases are typical or representative of others.’ He adds, though, that ‘most of the legal issues which they raise and some of the same factual issues are likely to arise in other cases’.

			Leigh Day, unsurprisingly, makes hay with the judgment. ‘High Court finds MoD breached the Geneva Conventions during the Iraq War,’ their statement reads. ‘These trials took place against an onslaught of political, military and media slurs of Iraqis bringing spurious claims, and strident criticism of us, as lawyers, representing them,’ says Sapna Malik. ‘Yet we have just witnessed the rule of law in action. Our clients are grateful that the judge approached their claims without any preconception or presumption that allegations of misconduct by British soldiers are inherently unlikely to be true.’

			The December 2017 verdict does not fit at all with the new prevailing opinion. Appropriately, Samira Shackle’s in-depth investigation into IHAT, published in the Guardian six months later, is titled ‘Why we may never know if British troops committed war crimes in Iraq’. Shackle speaks to Johnny Mercer, but also to several IHAT investigators, who talk to her giving only their first names. They suggest that the unit was hobbled by a refusal to look beyond the actions of individual soldiers to systemic issues; the elephant in the room here is how in 2003 and 2004 the army came to be using techniques it had publicly disavowed in Northern Ireland decades earlier. One, under the moniker Paul, says that he wanted to investigate the chain of command; in one case, he requested permission from IHAT’s leadership to interview a senior army officer in relation to an alleged unlawful killing. This was refused. Every time he tried to pursue this line of inquiry, he claims that it was shut down by IHAT’s leadership or MoD lawyers. Another investigator, Jonathan, says that his colleagues were frustrated; ‘many complained that they had gathered what they thought was enough evidence to prosecute, and then they’d have an MoD lawyer go to the senior leadership of IHAT and tell them to drop the case.’ The MoD denied these claims. In public, the fact that IHAT never brought a single prosecution is wheeled out again and again. It is a messy situation.

			A year later, in November 2019, Panorama and the Sunday Times published their own joint investigation into IHAT, based on interviews with former investigators. They claimed that a probe into plausible allegations of brutality committed by British troops in 2003 had been quashed. ‘Prisoners were allegedy punched, kicked, stamped on, rifle-butted in the face, beaten with a pick-axe handle and struck over the head with a concrete block,’ the paper reports. ‘Knowing what evidence we gleaned from those investigations and the fact that nobody’s taking it forward, they’re not getting justice,’ a former IHAT investigator is quoted as saying. The regiment involved: the Black Watch, a year before their deployment to Dogwood.18

			Equally messy is the afterlife experienced by Robert Campbell. After going sick in February of 2016, he never returns to work. It takes the prosecutors more than a year to make their decision; in September 2017, they at last report that they are not going to prosecute. This is the sixth time that he has now been cleared. A week later, he receives another letter saying the case has now gone to a ‘right to review’, and another prosecutor will look at it. A wait of a further three months follows, before that prosecutor too says he will be dropping it. The same month, without any apparent sense of irony, the army gives Campbell his long service and good conduct medal. There is no ceremony; it is simply handed to him. In February 2018, Campbell is informed that Sir George Newman, a retired high court judge and the head of the Iraq Fatalities Investigation, will be looking into the case. The IFI had been set up in 2014 following a High Court ruling that ‘a publicly accountable investigation into the specific and wider circumstances of death, with participation from the families of the deceased, was in certain cases required under Article 2 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR)’.19 The IFI structure was adopted to ‘satisfy the state’s investigatory obligations without the duration and expense of a statutory public inquiry.’

			The IFI was not concerned with determining civil or criminal liability. Even so, this is now Campbell’s eighth investigation.20 Campbell receives letters demanding he attend a private meeting with his lawyers, to be followed by a public hearing. He refuses, threatening to apply to the High Court for an injunction to stop the authorities harassing him. He also decides, having spoken to Robert Mendick at the Telegraph anonymously via Johnny Mercer, to go public with his story. He has already sent his medals ‘back to the Queen’. He is still in the army, and therefore officially not allowed to talk to reporters. Seemingly facing another investigation, he speaks to his fiancée. ‘Look, I think it’s important they have a face,’ he says. ‘A name they can quote.’

			On 22 February 2018, Robert Mendick names him in a Telegraph story headlined ‘Decorated British Army major cleared seven times facing new Iraq inquiry’.21 ‘Major Robert Campbell said he had been “broken” by the discovery that yet another official inquiry had been launched into his conduct over the death of an Iraqi in May 2003,’ the piece reports. Still on sick leave, for administrative purposes Campbell is attached to a ‘Personnel Recovery Unit’. After the Telegraph story runs, Campbell rings the colonel at the PRU. He asks if he has received any feedback. ‘I’ve had nothing,’ the colonel replies. ‘Not even an inquisitive email.’ By going public, Campbell has called the bluff of the MoD and his prosecutor persecutors. Yet his position remains complex; he now sees his case championed by right-wingers whom he dislikes — individuals like Katie Hopkins.22 On 4 May 2018, he is medically discharged from the army. The day comes and goes without any official marking whatsoever; there is no phone call, email or letter.

			*

			Nicholas Mercer, as the legal advisor to 1st (UK) Division during the invasion of Iraq in 2003, right there at the start of the question about where the limits of ECHR law lie, had an equally uncomfortable time of it. In December 2006, Mercer gave evidence at the Baha Mousa court martial, stating he was ‘shocked when I witnessed the use of hooding and stress positions’ by the Joint Forward Interrogation Team and relating his other experiences in 2003. After the court martial, he was posted to Cyprus. Two weeks after the trial ended, his new commanding officer there received a letter seeking to remove him from his post, suggesting he was not suitable to work at NATO and making other allegations against him. A subsequent letter goes from the MoD to the head of Army Legal Services, also suggesting Mercer should be removed from post. Mercer was duly removed from the Cyprus job and placed in a training post in England — effective limbo. He challenged the decision, taking it right the way up to the Army Board in 2011. It seemed odd to him that such efforts were in play to freeze him out, given he was only a relatively junior colonel.

			In 2005, Mercer had applied to be ordained into the church, and by the time the fallout from the Mousa court martial was underway, he had already embarked on that process. With little to do in his training job in the UK — a ‘euphemism for, give you a few years doing nothing,’ he says — he started his other, theological training. His family imploded; his mother had a stroke and his father developed dementia. He read spiritual writings — The Orthodox Way by Kallistos Ware — at his army desk at lunchtime to find some solace. His challenge to his rustication by the army took until 2011. That year, he leaves the army and is ordained. In October 2011, he gives an interview to Channel 4 News in which he speaks of an attitude of ‘moral ambivalence’ about Britain’s human rights obligations, going right to the top of the MoD.

			‘I think the millions of pounds that are spent by the Ministry of Defence trying to extract itself from the European Convention of Human Rights was extraordinary,’ he says. ‘It’s an absurd position — and in fact what’s wrong with giving people human rights?’23 In the years that follow, Mercer continues to speak out. ‘Why is the MoD settling these claims and paying out on so many and then at the same time maintaining that everyone behaves to the highest standard when clearly the settled civil claims suggest that they don’t?’ he says in an interview with the Independent in January 2016:24

			This cannot be characterised as ambulance-chasing lawyers, there are plenty of lawyers who believe that the highest legal standards should apply to the way the state conducts itself, and it’s important that, not only is this the benchmark, but if we fall short then that’s properly addressed.

			In 2017, Mercer takes up a post as rector of the Falkland Islands. His exile is complete, in the place where the legends of redemptive violence for the Paras and the Marines were born.




			Chapter 22

			Hear No Evil

			In the interim between the Al-Sweady verdict and the conclusion of the SRA’s probes into the actions of Leigh Day and PIL, a third, and entirely separate accountability instrument for Iraq also comes to maturity. These are the non-legal, but nonetheless sweeping investigations into the conduct of the war, both inside and outside the army. They are theoretically about learning lessons, and in some cases holding people to account. But they end up reinforcing the same problematic situation — an excess of accountability measures at the bottom, and a vacuum at the top.

			On either Thursday 11 or Friday 12 June 2009 — he cannot remember the day exactly — Roderic Lyne, a retired diplomat whose last job, as British ambassador in Moscow, came to an end in 2004, received a telephone call out of the blue at his flat in London. The caller was Peter Ricketts, the permanent under-secretary at the Foreign Office.1 Until that week, Downing Street had indicated that no announcement on an inquiry into the British war in Iraq would be made until August, after the formal withdrawal of all British troops, which was scheduled for the end of July.2 However, during the second week of June, Prime Minster Gordon Brown, during a tense meeting of the Parliamentary Labour Party where he faced calls for his own resignation after a week of cabinet resignations and a drubbing in the recent European elections, indicated it might be held sooner.

			The exact machinations that went into the establishment of the inquiry would not become clear until years later. Documents released in 2016, after a two-year Freedom of Information act battle by campaigner Chris Lamb, showed that the inquiry from the start was designed to ‘avoid blame’ and reduce the risk that individuals and the government could face legal proceedings.3 Many of the officials involved in setting up the inquiry also took part in the events that it investigated. In a memo to Gus O’Donnell, then cabinet secretary and head of the civil service, Cabinet Office official Ben Lyon advised that the format, scope and membership of the inquiry could be designed to ‘focus on lessons and avoid blame’. Lyon noted that politicians and campaigners, including Plaid Cymru and the SNP, were seeking other types of inquiry, with some advocating ‘a full public inquiry that would place blame on individuals’.

			Lyon’s memo stated that former foreign secretary Lord Hurd had suggested a parliamentary inquiry, but that this would ‘attract a daily running commentary’, like the 2003 Hutton probe into the death of Iraq weapons inspector David Kelly. In a subsequent note to Brown, O’Donnell repeated the ‘daily commentary’ warning, and advised against a full public inquiry for other reasons, including cost; the threat of ‘legal liability for individuals’; and the fact that it would ‘take a long time’. O’Donnell also advised against appointing judges or lawyers, who would adopt a ‘legalistic’ focus to proceedings. He recommended using the inquiry’s terms of reference to prevent it reaching ‘any conclusion on questions of law or fact, which create circumstances which expose organisations, departments and/or individuals to criminal or civil proceedings or judicial review’. None of this was made public in the summer of 2009.

			Peter Ricketts was asked to call Roderic Lyne by the Cabinet Office. Lyne had no specialised expertise in the Middle East, and his Moscow role meant that during the run-up to the Iraq War he was well away from central decision-making in London. Earlier though, for three years in the 1990s, he had been John Major’s foreign affairs advisor, working on, among other issues, Bosnia and the ratifications to the Maastricht Treaty. In the five years since leaving government, Lyne had held a portfolio of various jobs — non-executive company directorships, consultancy, writing and lecturing, along with a fair amount of pro bono work. The permanent secretary now asked if Lyne would be interested in serving on a new inquiry into the conduct of the Iraq War; there was a desire for an ex-diplomat to be on the panel.

			Lyne considered the offer, though only relatively briefly — Gordon Brown was due to announce the inquiry early the following week. He could see that the job, if he took it, would be extremely demanding and involve a subject of which he knew very little. ‘I know a poisoned chalice when I see one,’ he said to his wife. He knew he had been asked as he was not implicated himself, nor did he sit publicly on either side of the arguments to be examined. Accepting the role would certainly require him to drop some of his other commitments, even though Ricketts had said that the work would only be part-time — a day and a half, or two days, per week for a year, perhaps. However, the opportunity also presented a significant challenge at a time when his other work tended to the nugatory. The real clincher, though, was that he was being asked to do this as ‘a matter of public duty’ — that was the phrase Peter Ricketts used on the phone. That meant something to Lyne; he had spent his entire career in public service. He did not have illness or family commitments that would make him recuse himself; he knew he could create the space for it in his life. And so Roderic Lyne, ex-diplomat, said yes to the Iraq Inquiry, at the age of sixty-one.

			Lawrence Freedman, a professor of war studies at King’s College London, also received a call that summer. As a historian, his credentials were very different to Lyne’s. Following the Scott Inquiry, a probe led by Judge Richard Scott lasting from 1992 to 1996 into arms sales to Iraq by British companies in the 1980s, Freedman had published an article criticising the inquiry, suggesting that the investigators did not understand the environment of defence exports. Freedman advocated for more qualified individuals, and in particular historians, to be involved in such processes in future, as the experts in explaining sequences of events and why they took place — which is what he felt inquiries should do, rather than dividing individuals between theoretical categories of guilty and not guilty. In 2005 Freedman had also published two volumes of official history of the 1982 Falklands campaign; from that work he was familiar with the Franks Report, the inquiry produced into the South Atlantic war in 1983.4

			Freedman’s phone call came on Friday 12 June, direct from Gus O’Donnell. They discussed the upcoming inquiry, and the terms of reference. Freedman suggested that it was necessary to look back to 2001 rather than just 2003, as the plan suggested, and that in his view the inquiry should not be held in secret. He asked who else would be on it; he was not told.

			On Monday 15 June, late in the morning, Freedman received another phone call from O’Donnell. Later that day, Gordon Brown made a statement in the Commons regarding the inquiry into Iraq. Hearings would take place behind closed doors, but Brown insisted that the investigation would be ‘fully independent of government’ and ‘unprecedented’ in its scope.5 The probe would be based on the Franks Inquiry, but would go further in its remit, to look at the run-up to the conflict, the conflict itself and the reconstruction in Iraq, to ensure lessons are learned in ‘each and every area’. The terms of reference were to run from September 2001 to July 2009, when the last British soldier was due to come home. ‘With the last British combat troops about to return home from Iraq, now is the right time to ensure we have a proper process in place to learn the lessons of the complex and often controversial events of the last six years,’ the prime minister says. ‘The committee of inquiry will have access to the fullest range of information, including secret information.’ In other words, the investigation could, in theory, range across all papers, all documents and all material, and could ask any British citizen to appear.

			Brown named the committee: Roderic Lyne would be there, and Lawrence Freedman. Joining them was Usha Prashar, a cross-bench peer in the House of Lords with a background running public and voluntary organisations, and Martin Gilbert, another historian who had worked on a vast biography of Winston Churchill. The chair, and the man who was to lend his name to the general term used for the inquiry, was Sir John Chilcot — a seventy-year-old retired career civil servant who formerly served as permanent under-secretary of state at the Northern Ireland Office and held other posts in the Home and Cabinet offices. Chilcot also sat on the Butler review, which examined evidence for Iraqi weapons of mass destruction and reported in 2004.6 All the committee would become privy councillors.

			The prime minister said he had been advised that the work of the inquiry would take one year. That proved to be a spectacular understatement.

			*

			Lawrence Freedman immediately faced pushback. On the afternoon of 15 June, Michael Crick, then Newsnight’s political editor, published a post on his blog entitled ‘Is historian the best judge of Iraq War history?’7 Crick referred to Freedman’s role in the creation of Tony Blair’s 1999 speech in Chicago, in which he outlined his principles of liberal intervention. Meanwhile, Richard Ingram remarked that there were two Jewish historians on the panel — Freedman and Martin Gilbert. To Freedman, that comment was not only slightly anti-Semitic but also ill-informed. It suggested that he and Gilbert were co-conspirators, yet they had barely met each other before, and their work records were very different: Gilbert worked on Churchill and the Second World War, while Freedman’s field was post-Second World War; Freedman had done significant work on Iraq, which Gilbert had not. Moreover, Ingram’s comment made presumptions based on religion and ethnicity, but Freedman had in fact written a book called A Choice of Enemies on US policy in the Middle East, published the year before, which was critical of the Iraq War project — he was no Zionist hawk. Eventually David Miliband, the foreign secretary, went on the radio to defend the choice of Freedman for the inquiry.

			The selection of committee members, though, was easier to justify than the plan to hold hearings in private. ‘The government must not be allowed to close the door on this war as it opened it — in secret,’ said Nick Clegg, then leader of the Liberal Democrats. Protesters angry at the decision to hold the inquiry in secret gathered in Parliament Square. ‘We’re here today because they have announced the inquiries will be in secret, which I think is an affront to democracy in this country,’ Ben Beach, a nineteen-year-old architecture student from east London, told the Guardian. ‘And it’s an affront to British democracy that this war went ahead despite the overwhelming majority of people being against it.’ Lindsey German of the Stop the War Coalition weighed in too: ‘It is what I expected, another whitewash. It’s another inquiry that will take over a year and cost millions of pounds … It will bring us no closer to apportioning blame and finding out what happened in this disastrous war in Iraq.’

			Others who denounced Brown’s decision to hold hearings in secret included Lord Butler, the former head of the civil service, former prime minister Sir John Major, senior military officers, families of soldiers that served in Iraq, and even Brown’s closest ally in the cabinet, Ed Balls, then children’s secretary.8 On 23 June Chilcot wrote to Brown on the issue, saying, ‘I believe it will be essential to hold as much of the proceedings of the inquiry as possible in public, consistent with the need to protect national security and to ensure and enable complete candour in the oral and written evidence from witnesses.’9 There was a potential get-out here for those who did not want to testify in public, but it was clear that Chilcot wanted his inquiry to take place, as much as possible, in the open.

			Faced by this pressure, Gordon Brown caved in. By the evening of the 23rd, the Guardian reported that Blair and Brown themselves would face public hearings.10

			*

			The wheels began turning. Freedman had a long phone call with John Chilcot. A secretariat was appointed, headed by Margaret Aldred, a Whitehall official who chaired the Iraq senior officials group during the period the inquiry was to investigate. That was a potential conflict of interest, but such matters had been smoothed by another memo from Ben Lyon to O’Donnell. The memo advised that the secretariat, although drawn from the civil service, ‘should not have been involved in Iraq policy since 2002’. Lyon conceded, though, that appointing staff with ‘understanding of the nature of the business to be addressed’ also had advantages; that rhetorical sleight-of-hand paved the way for Aldred’s appointment.11 Freedman knew her very well from work in the MoD. The inquiry gained an office; eventually, its permanent home would be in Great Smith Street.

			The commissioners met for the first time. They would be paid £565 per day, with a little more for the chairmen. It was clear the work would be hectic. There was to be a general election within the next year, and therefore hearings would have to start before the end of 2009. There were to be no lawyers involved — a move that was to render the inquiry, despite its eventual great length, much cheaper, at just over £13 million, than the Al-Sweady probe, despite its much greater remit. Lyne girded himself mentally. He knew that he would be hearing evidence from people he knew and had worked with — and liked, in some cases. He would also be passing judgment on them.

			The Chilcot Inquiry hearings began in November 2009. Between June and that date, two other instruments looking at Iraq began their work; both were internal to the military — the lessons-learned exercises. The first, run by the army itself, examined tactical issues. The second, produced on a tri-service basis higher up within the military world, examined operational and strategic choices.

			The architect of the first of these reports was Ben Barry, a former Light Infantry officer and brigadier, who commanded a battalion in the Balkans in the mid-1990s. After a series of staff jobs, by 2009 Barry was coming to the end of his military career. In the spring, he was approached by General Simon Mayall, then assistant chief of the general staff, and asked if he could carry out an Iraq study. The terms of reference were short — two pages long. Previous studies had examined the initial invasion of Iraq and the period from 2003 to 2005. Barry’s remit was from January 2005 to the British withdrawal, which at that time had not actually taken place. The brigadier was told he would be given a small team of assistants, officers between jobs. Chilcot had not begun, but Gordon Brown had announced that there would be an independent inquiry of some kind. General Bill Rollo, then the adjutant general, had space in his headquarters at Upavon; Barry was given an office by the Land Warfare Centre. His office was in the same corridor as the Land Lessons Exploitation Centre, established in 2003, which maintained an archive of post-operational tour reports from battalion level and higher, and the new Afghan Counter-insurgency Centre, established by Alex Alderson. At Warminster, Barry met a retired brigadier who for years had run an interview programme with key commanders from each brigade returning from Iraq. Barry claims that he received ‘considerable encouragement’ from the senior leadership of the army.

			Barry arrived at Upavon in June 2009. He visited Operation Brockdale in Kuwait, the logistics withdrawal exercise as the British were pulling out of Iraq. He decided that if he saw a lesson relevant to the ongoing campaign in Afghanistan, he would report it up the chain immediately. And then he began to read: all the interviews, all the post-operational tour reports, a number of books. That process took two months.

			In the meantime, the higher-level lessons-learned exercise for Iraq was also getting underway. Here, the architect was Lieutenant General Chris Brown, an artillery officer, who served as the last Senior British Military Representative in Iraq from January to July of 2009, working for General Ray Odierno, the American commander of Multi-National Force — Iraq.12 Earlier in his career, Brown had served as the chief of staff for ISAF in Afghanistan in 2006; he had done lessons-learned exercises there. He was also chief planner for the Allied Rapid Reaction Corps in Bosnia and Kosovo, where as a colonel, he wrote the lessons-learned documents for both of those campaigns from a ground forces perspective. ‘I believed in the lessons-learned process,’ Brown says. ‘I believed in expending quite a lot of effort.’

			At the start of Brown’s 2009 Baghdad tour, the expectation was that the UK would continue to be in Iraq for the foreseeable future. There had been considerable drawdown but, at least as far as the Americans were concerned, no suggestion of pulling the plug. There was also a British commitment to train the Iraqi Navy. However, that plan was derailed when the UK Status of Forces agreement, the legal instrument that allowed British troops to operate in the country, came up for renewal. The US had previously renewed their own agreement on a bilateral basis, but the Iraqis would not replicate those terms for the British, bringing an end to any sort of coalition in Iraq.

			The negotiations began in the spring of 2009 and ran into the summer, involving Brown and Christopher Prentice, the British ambassador in Baghdad. The Americans had secured a deal whereby their troops were immune from prosecution in Iraqi courts. The British pushed for the same measure, but the Iraqis would not concede. From Chris Brown’s perspective, this appeared to be the straw that broke the camel’s back, granting British Prime Minister Gordon Brown a rationale to pull troops out of the country, and out of his predecessor’s war, with which he wanted no more association than absolutely necessary.

			During the status-of-forces negotiations, Brown and Prentice faced off with both Iraqi Prime Minister Nouri al-Maliki and General Mohan al-Furayji, the Iraqi commander in Basra during Charge of the Knights the previous spring, who was now working in Baghdad. It was clear to Brown that neither Maliki nor Mohan liked the British. Maliki ‘appeared to have a chip on both shoulders’. Mohan thought that the Iraqis did not really need the British, and so there was no incentive to ‘bend over backwards’. He also had a firm belief that the ‘Brits were weak’. To Brown, it was apparent that the events in 2008 had shaped perceptions of the British Army for a generation of American officers. Brown noticed the widespread use of the term ‘Abu Naji’ to refer to the British, drawn from a legend that Iraqi monarch Ghazi bin Faisal, who died in a car crash in 1939, had in fact been murdered at the behest of the British by his driver, Abu Naji, in a faked car accident.

			When no status-of-forces deal was forthcoming, a pre-made withdrawal plan for the British went into action, with the exception of a small naval training team. Everyone was out by September 2009, with Basra effectively handed over to the Americans. That month, General Brown returned to London to find that Nick Houghton, by this stage vice chief of the defence staff and a full general, had secured the agreement of the chiefs of staff for a lessons-learned exercise for Iraq. As with Ben Barry at the tactical level, this strategic-level probe was to follow on from the earlier reports into the initial invasion and up to 2005. Chris Brown was appointed to run the project, and attached to the Directorate of Operational Capability, the MoD’s internal assessment unit, as ‘Iraq Lessons Report Writer’.

			Brown too received a small staff — two lieutenant colonels or equivalent. Their remit was twofold. First, they were to pull together the key lessons learned from Iraq — essentially a trawl through the earlier lessons-learned reports already completed, picking out the key points, to ensure they were learnt for the future, and in particular for Afghanistan. The second part, and the element that more than anything was to jinx Brown’s project, was for his report to form the MoD’s contribution to the Chilcot Inquiry, which was by then underway. The general was given six months, a timeframe that aimed to dovetail with the initial — and hopelessly optimistic — notion that Chilcot would be done within a year.

			Brown began with the already-completed lessons-learned reports, both British and American. He flew to the USA, visiting Washington and Tampa in Florida, site of the US Central Command. He spoke to David Petraeus in Tampa, and in Washington to Lloyd Austin. Brown had known Austin since both men were lieutenant colonels in the 1990s, exercising together at Fort Bragg in North Carolina. He went back to Iraq, and spoke to Ray Odierno and the residual US forces there. Brown knew that to many Americans, the British in Iraq were viewed as the best of a poor bunch. But he found that the American commanders were very reluctant to say that in public. This had an impact on what he was able to say in his report, and in his view, did not do the British military any favours: he was of the opinion that the army needed to know frankly what had really happened, not for it to be all swept under the carpet. He also found it curious, given the American willingness to be brutally frank within their own organisations. The only official answer he received as to British military performance in Iraq from the Americans was, ‘We think you’re a great ally.’

			*

			During the same period, working at the lower, tactical level, Ben Barry read all the reports on Iraq produced by the International Institute for Strategic Studies. He talked to people informally, from senior leadership to a Royal Engineers officer he encountered in the gym at the Land Warfare Centre. The team set up an organised programme of interviews, of officers ranging in rank from major to general. Barry went twice to the USA, once to a US Marine Corps conference on counter-insurgency. In the US, he made contact with the military history office at Fort Leavenworth. As he worked, he sensed ‘considerable unease among [a] considerable number of people’ about the sequence of events beginning with Operation Sinbad, the war against the JAM militia, the ‘accommodation’ and then Operation Charge of the Knights. Some saw the accommodation, and Charge of the Knights in particular, as the ‘greatest British military disgrace since the fall of Singapore’. Barry spoke to officers who rolled through Iraq with their units, and went also on brigade or divisional staffs. He deduced that it would be necessary in his report to explain and analyse what really happened during that sequence of operations, from Sinbad to Charge of the Knights, as well as to draw lessons. He felt it was not his job to apologise — rather to explain.

			Barry also decided to hold a conference. He recalled how the army that he grew up in, in the Cold War and the 1990s, had held fairly big senior officer conferences to examine knotty problems. The Land Warfare Centre backed the idea, and offered to provide funding for some outside experts to come in, and for food. So it was that the ‘Operations in Iraq — Lessons for Afghanistan and Beyond’ conference was scheduled for 6 and 7 January 2010. The joining instructions referred to it as a ‘workshop’.

			Before the conference took place, the Chilcot hearings began, in November 2009. They were to run until February 2011, with over a hundred sessions held, in two rounds, in the Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre in Westminster, beamed live by webcam to the world. None of the commissioners were experienced public interviewers. Roderic Lyne was constantly concerned that he would put his foot in it or make a fool of himself, get his facts wrong or make another slip. They were under considerable pressure from the press, who wanted them to behave like an inquisition. They ran successive morning and afternoon sessions, requiring participants to bone up for the next session as soon as they had finished the previous one. It was exhausting work: late nights and early mornings. Lyne was sixty-one when the process began; Baroness Prashar and Lawrence Freedman were about the same age, Martin Gilbert and John Chilcot ten years older. If the Iraq War itself was, in some ways, the revenge of old men on the young, then this was the revenge on the old of even older individuals.

			From the start, ‘the pent-up frustrations of diplomats and career civil servants over the way Tony Blair and George Bush secretly plotted to oust Saddam Hussein, bypassing the “official channels” in which they operate, has been there for all to see,’ the Guardian reported on 29 November.13 Early on, Sir Christopher Meyer, UK ambassador in Washington from 1997 to 2003, went for Blair. ‘I’m not trying to make a party-political point here whatsoever, but quite often I think about this: what would Margaret Thatcher have done?’ Meyer asked. ‘I think she would have insisted on a coherent political and diplomatic strategy and she would have demanded the greatest clarity about what the heck happened if, and when, you removed Saddam Hussein.’ The following day Sir Jeremy Greenstock, Britain’s former ambassador to the United Nations, weighed in. ‘I regard our participation in the military action in Iraq in March 2003 as legal but of questionable legitimacy,’ he said.

			Meanwhile, documentation was flowing into the inquiry from government departments. The Cabinet Office wrote to all government departments concerned and told them they were under strict orders to cooperate. Each department established liaison officers to communicate with the inquiry, and assembled internal units responsible for gathering documentation. The files came in hard copy, in vast quantities, mostly bog-standard lever arches. The secretariat to help manage all this material varied in size over the years, and only two people remained on staff throughout; the median was about twelve full time and two or three part time staff members. They sorted the documents into subject-specific files. The office was secure enough to keep the most secret material there; there was an extra-secure zone inside, too, to which only the commissioners had access. The Cabinet Office provided their budget, but the commission had full editorial independence. In an ideal world, the commissioners would have held the hearings later, giving them time to work through the written material first, but the public pressure was such that it was not feasible.

			The hearings concentrated at the top level: generals, not colonels, and the equivalent in the civil service. There was a question as to whether they should talk to individuals outside government — MPs, journalists, experts, lawyers and so forth. They decided not to; however, they did invite such individuals, in particular experts in international law, to provide written submissions. They held a few seminar-type meetings with academic experts.

			Certain hearings were held in private because of the sensitivity of matters under discussion, such as those with senior intelligence and Special Forces officers, and a hearing from MoD civil servant Jon Day on the Basra ‘accommodation’. Lyne soon acquired a reputation as the toughest questioner on the panel.14 The big hitters attracted major audiences; when Tony Blair appeared in February 2010, the Guardian described it as ‘the TV political event of the year’15. The paper ran an analysis of the most-used words in Blair’s testimony, topped by ‘think’, with 305 occurrences, and ‘people’ (121 occurrences). Sir John asked Blair whether he had any regrets about the Iraq war. The former prime minister replied, ‘Responsibility but not a regret for removing Saddam Hussein. I think that he was a monster. I believe he threatened, not just the region, but the world.’ Two months later, it was Gordon Brown’s turn. He expressed ‘sadness’ for the deaths of British soldiers and Iraqi civilians, but denied starving the UK armed forces of equipment while he was chancellor.16 Generals Mike Jackson and Richard Dannatt, successive chiefs of the general staff, followed in July 2010.

			Early on in the process, the commissioners travelled around the country to meet the families of the bereaved — to Bristol, and to Scotland. At Tidworth, they held a meeting with less senior military officers — majors and colonels. Freedman sensed anger among the more junior echelons of the army, anger at their seniors, and a desire for the inquiry not to pull its punches. With the bereaved, the commissioners believed it was important that the families should feel they had been heard, but their testimony was not regarded as official evidence. They also visited the MoD’s rehabilitation centre for the wounded at Headley Court.

			The commissioners travelled to Paris and Washington, and to Iraq as well. Lyne visited Basra with Freedman, and then met with Chilcot and Baroness Prashar in Baghdad, in 2010. From there they moved on to Erbil. They met a cross-section of Iraqis and Brits involved in reconstruction. The trip was organised by the Foreign Office; the army had pulled out by this stage, and protection came from private security firms. Lyne spent two days in Basra and two or three in Baghdad. He had not been to the country before; they were kept inside armoured vehicles as the security situation did not permit them to walk around. He saw the oil flares, and that the desert was a nasty grey colour — not beautiful, like the Sahara.

			*

			The Chilcot process took years. By contrast, the production, and subsequent repression, of the army’s own lessons-learned documents was a much swifter act. Ben Barry’s conference was held, according to plan, at Warminster in early January 2010. It anticipated around 200 attendees, and was due to start on a Wednesday morning — 6 January. Unfortunately, the conference coincided with the longest cold snap since 1981; that morning, there was a major dump of snow, and a third of the hoped-for attendees were unable to make it to Warminster. Barry determined there were still enough for a critical mass.

			The first day was workshops; the second day was devoted to ‘syndicate discussions’.17 Military historian Hew Strachan gave a presentation on ‘campaign perspective’. The panels were scheduled to include the ‘US campaign view’, early British operations between 2003 and 2005, Operation Sinbad, the US Surge, the withdrawal from downtown Basra, Charge of the Knights and ‘the UK endgame’. Panellists included Bing West, a former US Marine Corps officer who served in Vietnam and later in the Reagan administration, Robin Brims, who commanded 1st (UK) Division during the invasion, Ben Barry, Julian Free, Graham Binns, Bill Rollo, and Hilary Synnott, who led the coalition provincial authority effort in southern Iraq in 2003. General Peter Wall, who was to become chief of the general staff in July, was to give the keynote at the end of the day. That was the plan; the snow disruption meant it could not be followed exactly.

			This event, this snowy January in Warminster, twenty-two months after Charge of the Knights, gathered — or at least tried to gather — those men who ran the Iraq War for the British Army. Ben Barry found that, despite the huge numbers who served in Iraq, due to the short length of tours it was difficult to find individuals with an overall perspective of the campaign. As the conference progressed, more attendees arrived; Barry heard stories of individuals finding Land Rovers to replace their staff cars, rendered useless by the snow. Barry estimated that between one third and a quarter of the attendees were of the view that Charge of the Knights was a disgrace.

			Not all the attendees were convinced by the conference as a lesson-learning process. This was not the first time Hew Strachan had been involved in such matters. He earlier sat on a review of Telic 1, the initial invasion, conducted by what was then the army’s doctrine centre. ‘There are a number of failings which we thought needed to be addressed, but we were told by CGS that it was a good news story for the army and we were not to muddy the issues,’ Strachan recalls. Now, at Warminster, Strachan found that ‘each battlegroup commander told his own story, and unsurprisingly they were all wonderful!’18 Richard Iron was meant to attend, but was snowed in at his Oxfordshire farmhouse; Alex Alderson therefore read out Iron’s paper. Daniel Marston was asked to fill in for a speaker who was delayed by the snow. Ben Barry recalled Marston’s talk as a ‘very critical view’; Robert Johnson says Marston wanted the army to do COIN, counter-insurgency.19 Marston also acknowledges that after his talk, ‘a bit of a firestorm then occurred, as a major debate erupted as we went for lunch’. Bing West’s most vivid recollection of the conference was the surprising amount of snow, but there were other atmospherics as well. ‘I do recall there was general unease about being pulled back and plunked into a fortress outside Basra,’ he says. ‘Ordered by politicians to absolutely minimise risk. There was resentment about that order because rockets hit the fort, and because the British military believed it was wrong to cut them off from the political scene and the witch’s brew of Shiite intra-party plotting and mischief-making.’20

			Following the conference, Ben Barry and his team got to work on their written report. He showed various chapters in draft to individuals he thought could comment, and formed a reference group of serving and retired generals with Iraq experience, including Jonathan Shaw, Adrian Bradshaw, Barney White-Spunner, John Kiszely and Robin Brims, giving them a month to look at the text. Some of them sent long emails in response; with others, there were short telephone conversations. The only person to whom Barry showed the complete draft was Alex Alderson. The writing was done by the end of May or beginning of June. Barry sent the draft to key individuals at army headquarters, and to David Richards, who was in his last weeks as chief of the general staff. Richards changed one phrase in the foreword, where Barry had written that the British Army had allowed itself to become ‘overconfident’ in Desert Storm and the Balkans; Richards added Sierra Leone to that list.

			In July, Peter Wall succeeded Richards as CGS, and Richards moved to become CDS. Barry sent his report to Wall, who decided that Richard Barrons, the assistant chief of the general staff, would sign the report and provide the foreword. Barry suggested that he and his team should do a roadshow to take it around the army; they had gone as far as working up an outline core script, and slides, when he was told that it would not be happening, as that process had not taken place for previous such reports. Instead, around a thousand copies were printed, and the report was posted on the British Army intranet. Barry was asked to speak about it in various venues, including at staff college. The document, though, was classed as ‘restricted’, a notable contrast to the American ‘On Point’ lessons-learned reports into Iraq, which were openly available online.21

			This level of restriction, though, is minimal compared to the fate which awaited the other parallel Iraq lessons-learned inquiry, Lieutenant General Chris Brown’s joint report into higher-level, strategic issues. By early 2010, around the time of Ben Barry’s conference in Warminster, Brown and his team had a first draft ready. It included criticism, pointing out that while the UK operational process was meant to be initiated by the chief of the defence staff, the last CDS directive relating to Iraq dated from 2005. The draft went out in extremely tight circulation to the chiefs of staff, a body chaired by CDS Jock Stirrup, who had been in post since April 2006. In contrast to the earlier support he received, Brown now sensed official dissatisfaction. His report was still intended to be the MoD’s official input into Chilcot, so the sensitivity was not just military, but also at the permanent secretary and ministerial level. Senior civil servants and minsters wanted to ensure that the MoD’s submission to the inquiry was something they were happy with. Brown began to sense that the chiefs felt they should not have agreed in the first place to his report happening.

			Brown was told to rewrite elements; the report went through a second draft, and a third, with endless MoD mandarins weighing in. Eventually, it was deemed not to be acceptable as the MoD’s input to Chilcot. Brown’s ‘overriding impression’ was that ‘no one wants to end up holding the baby when the blame is being distributed around Whitehall’. By late January and early February of 2010, it was clear that ‘various people’ were not happy with the report as it stood. Eventually, another version was procured within the MoD, which then went forward to the Chilcot Inquiry. By this stage, matters were out of Brown’s hands; he left the army in April 2010. His report was suppressed. But the news of that silencing did not stay secret: ‘Defence chiefs gag damning Iraq invasion findings,’ read a Guardian headline in May 2010. ‘Brown’s criticisms were so harsh that they have been suppressed following the intervention of Air Chief Marshal Sir Jock Stirrup, chief of the defence staff, and other officials, who considered them too embarrassing even for internal consumption at the MoD,’ the Guardian piece, by Richard Norton-Taylor, went on to claim.22

			In 2018, Jock Stirrup says:

			The problem [with Brown’s report] was not that it was embarrassing, but that it had two key failings: the first was that it looked at too many things from a tactical perspective without considering the strategic objectives and the measures needed to achieve them; the second was that in places it substituted personal opinion for clear analysis. Neither of these was appropriate in such a report.23, 24

			That these two reports — by Ben Barry at the tactical level for the army, and by Chris Brown at a higher level from a joint perspective — ever became public at all is owed to the Freedom of Information Act, passed in 2000, and in the latter case, to the dogged enthusiasm of one young campaigner. In April 2010, when Richard Norton-Taylor’s piece on the suppression of the Brown report ran in the Guardian, Michael Bimmler,25 originally from Switzerland, was an undergraduate at Merton College,26 Oxford. Bimmler had developed an interest in both British politics and the potential application of Freedom of Information law, which he had used in Switzerland before coming to the UK, initially as part of a high-school project on hate-speech laws. The Guardian article struck a chord with him; it seemed that the only reason the Brown report was not being disseminated or published was embarrassment, and that did not seem a legitimate reason to restrict it, in particular under FOI.

			On 27 May 2010, the same day that the Guardian piece appeared, Bimmler filed an FOI request to the MoD. ‘Dear Ministry of Defence,’ he writes. ‘I would like to request access to a study prepared by Lt Gen Chris Brown and commissioned by the Ministry of Defence concerning the invasion of Iraq. Yours faithfully, Michael Bimmler.’27

			The subsequent correspondence, reproduced in full on the website whatdotheyknow.com, was an extraordinary, Kafka-esque exchange, lasting eleven months. Bimmler wrote to the MoD on at least nine occasions, corresponding with at least four different officials, and eventually formally complained to both the information commissioner and the permanent secretary at the MoD about the department’s foot-dragging. He continued this campaign in between his commitments as an undergraduate student. ‘It was certainly a nice distraction from my studies,’ he says. The complaints at last got the wheels moving; on 7 February 2011, Bimmler received an email from the assistant private secretary to permanent under-secretary Ursula Brennan, agreeing that ‘on this occasion it is clear that our performance has fallen short of meeting the standard required under the FOI Act, for which I apologise.’28 On 25 March, the information commissioner issued a notice mandating the MoD to respond within the next thirty-five days. Finally, on 6 April, Bimmler received a letter from an MoD official named Robert Beevor, informing him that a redacted version of the report was being published. Bimmler estimates redactions ran to about 10 per cent of the document. He wrote to Richard Norton-Taylor, and the Guardian ran a piece on how a ‘Guardian reader fought year-long freedom of information battle to disclose contents of report so critical it was kept under wraps’.29

			After the report was released, Bimmler, his enthusiasm for FOI undented by the previous marathon case, made ‘a combined Subject Access Request’ under the Data Protection and Freedom of Information Acts for data related to the processing of his original request for General Brown’s report. This time the turnaround was admirably quick: the MoD provided Bimmler with hundreds of pages of internal emails and notes about the processing. These showed how discussions about how to deal with this request, and whether and how much to disclose, were taken up to the very top of the ministry, even appearing on the agenda of a so-called ‘Gang of Four’ meeting, comprising the chief of the defence staff, the vice chief of the defence staff, the permanent under-secretary and the second permanent under-secretary. The delay stemmed too from the fact that it took a long time for them to get a minister or the secretary of state to read through the entirety of the Brown report, and to come to a decision on it. ‘It was for me quite a fascinating insight of the struggle between the information rights professionals, who time and time again reminded everyone that they were in breach of the act by not responding, and the substantive senior civil servants, who seemed to play for time,’ Bimmler says.

			The release of Ben Barry’s report was less painful, but more delayed, running until 2016, six years after its completion. Here the FOI instigator was Barry himself, who by this point had long left the army and was working for the International Institute for Strategic Studies, the military-focused think tank in London. ‘I don’t believe that there is anything in it that would aid our actual and potential enemies?’ Barry writes in his application for the release of his own report under FOI. ‘And the candour of the report and the support and encouragement I was given by the senior leadership of the army stands testament to its willingness to learn hard lessons.’30 Barry offers a carrot too: ‘Of course many of the relevant lessons were then applied to Afghanistan. I would be willing to say so in public, when it was made publicly available.’ The MoD explained they had committed to release Barry’s report within three months of the publication of the Chilcot Inquiry, which came out in June 2016.

			In the forms eventually published, the Brown and Barry reports are not sugar-coated. The former states that ‘the MoD is good at identifying lessons, but less good at learning them … In comparison with the US, the UK military was complacent and slow in recognising and adapting to changing circumstances.’ The Brown report adds that assumptions within the MoD that the armed forces should train and equip for high-intensity conflict, and then quickly adapt for ‘peace support’, were discredited in Iraq. Such an expectation ‘proved illusory … very significantly, we were not prepared for counter-insurgency’. The report adds, ‘A widespread sense that Operation Telic was a temporary distraction from normal defence business was reinforced by a mistaken belief that the campaign would be short-lived and compounded by the limited engagement of other [Whitehall] departments.’

			While it criticises the MoD for being ‘slow to adapt’, the report notes that the invasion and its aftermath ‘highlighted the paucity of training in cross-Whitehall teamwork at ministerial level’. The absence of any British strategy for Iraq undermined the UK’s ability to provide support for the emerging Iraqi government and was compounded by a ‘paucity of military Arabic speakers’, forcing commanders at all levels to rely on contracted interpreters. It would have been better for British troops to have bought off-the-shelf and more reliable US communications equipment rather than British kit. Shortages of up-to-date equipment meant service personnel had to ‘revert to obsolete equipment in training’.

			In the published Barry report, the redactions made with wavy pen line and pieces of tape include the faces of those in the photographs on the front cover. In its foreword, the report quotes Rudyard Kipling’s poem ‘The Lesson’, written around the time of the Boer War: ‘We have had no end of a lesson: it will do us no end of good.’ ‘As professional soldiers, we owe it to ourselves to be honest about what went well on operations and what could have been done better,’ the report states.31

			When it came to the most pivotal section, analysis of Charge of the Knights, some punches are pulled, though:

			Opinion is divided between those who think of the events of 2007/8, particularly the ‘accommodation’ and Op Charge of the Knights, as military failures, and those who regard them as the best that could be achieved in an extremely unfavourable strategic and operating environment. On balance this report favours the latter interpretation.

			However, at the end of the same section sits a line in bold type. ‘It is only by demonstrating that we have learned the lessons of Op Telic that are of wider relevance to Afghanistan and beyond, as well as by competence, fighting spirit and enduring success on future operations, that [we] can lay this ghost to rest.’

			There is a convincing argument to be made that all institutions, not just military ones, need to take time to do their own mirror-staring in private, to draw their own hard lessons, before exhibiting the results in public. Yet in the case of the British Army in Iraq, both the Brown and the Barry reports indicate that a collective desire to avoid embarrassment and awkward questions appears to have sat higher than a desire for a full and effective post-mortem. Neither report, nor the Chilcot Inquiry that was churning in the background as both were under preparation, was ever intended — or even allowed — to really point fingers. As Richard Iron, so involved in the final days in Basra, says of the Barry report:

			The [January 2010] conference as a whole and Ben’s resultant report were anodyne. Ben’s terms of reference restricted him to the tactical level, to avoid embarrassing anyone senior, and he never really got to the heart of why we failed. And the majority of those attending the conference had invested too much emotionally to accept that we had failed or that our own performance may have contributed to that failure. As a result, few people were asking the really searching questions.32

			Julian Free’s last job in the army is as the commander of the staff college. On arrival at Shrivenham, he finds that Charge of the Knights is not taught there. Once, he is conducting a closing session with a course and asks them what they want him to cover: Charge of the Knights or ‘top tips for command’. He asks, on the spur of the moment, for those who think Charge of the Knights was ‘a good thing’ to raise their hands, and likewise those who think it was bad to do the same. The response, heavy on the latter, annoys him; he determines to tell ‘the real story of Charge of the Knights and why it was a good thing, why it had been wiped from the army’s consciousness and why this is a profoundly bad thing’. He institutes a voluntary evening event on the operation; in retrospect, he says he should have done more.33




			Chapter 23

			Speak No Evil

			The extraordinary determination to cover up even the army’s own probes into its activities extends into Afghanistan. In 2008, Mike Martin, an Oxford biology graduate serving as a reservist officer, signed up for permanent military service under the FTRS programme — full-time reserve service.1 FTRS is a longstanding scheme, allowing reservists with all sorts of trades to spend a period full time in the army. Martin, though, was enlisting for a specific cause: a new venture the army had set up to train Pashtu speakers to help with the campaign in Afghanistan. The deal was for three years: the army would teach Pashtu at the Defence School of Languages at Beaconsfield; in return, you were to commit to two tours in Afghanistan.

			Martin first went out as an interpreter in late 2008, but it soon became clear that role was a waste of trained British personnel; the Beaconsfield linguists were more useful in a kind of political officer role, establishing relationships with Helmandis and attempting to influence them. Martin pioneered this ‘cultural advisor’ programme at battlegroup level, working with 2 PWRR in 2008 and 2009. In 2009, after Martin had delivered a briefing in Helmand on his work to General David Richards and had written an article in the British Army Review, the scheme gained official backing, with the establishment of the Defence Cultural Specialist Unit at RAF Henlow in Bedfordshire.2

			On his second tour later in 2009, Martin acted as an advisor to the brigadier (at that point James Cowan) and trained additional British linguists. Towards the end of the tour, he delivered a briefing to General Bill Rollo, then the adjutant general, on language and culture in the army. Martin told it as he saw it — the army was very poor at language and culture — and listed problem after problem. Over coffee afterwards, Rollo asked what Martin planned to do next. Martin replied that he was going to leave; the alternative, transferring to the regulars and ending up training recruits in Pirbright, had little appeal. Martin wanted to do a PhD, to produce an oral history of thirty-five years of conflict in Helmand, from the start of the Russian invasion in 1979 to the present. ‘I’m sure we can find a way to finance that,’ Rollo replied.3

			Not for the first time, the army’s status as a patronage organisation despite its formal structures was clear. There was no box in the official structure for ‘PhD student’, but the army worked out how to make it work. They employed Martin in random jobs such as watch-keeper, or other desk tasks that did not require him to be there, and sourced the money for his PhD fees at King’s College London from the lessons-learned budget. Martin went to work in jeans and a t-shirt, in Helmand accessorised with a pistol. For two years, he spent 50 per cent of his time working for the Army and 50 per cent on his PhD. He ran seminars for individuals deploying to Helmand on tribal politics and history; he worked as a ‘red team advisor’, picking holes in British plans. He completed his PhD, handed it in to his supervisors at King’s, and then spread it around the army. By this point, the army had published one book of Martin’s, entitled A Brief History of Helmand,4 which was made required reading for all commanders and intelligence staff deploying to the province. Martin folded some of that material into his PhD, too. He finished his FTRS in 2013, went back to being a reservist, and took a job with a risk-management company in Burma. As he signed off, he wrote to Rollo’s successor to thank him for the sponsorship, adding that he had accepted a book contract with the publisher Hurst for a title based on his PhD.

			Martin was back on reserve service, on a training course, when he received a call from someone within his chain of command. He went to see his commanding officer, who was relatively sympathetic. ‘Have a look at this email chain,’ he said, inviting Martin around to his side of his desk. A lowly corporal had been tasked to read the book manuscript; his verdict: there were no breaches of operational security (military secrets) or personnel security (individuals’ details), the usual reasons for the army to want to censor publications. Nor was the Official Secrets Act involved. The corporal concluded, though, that the book was ‘really embarrassing for the Brits and the Americans’. Martin had constructed a narrative tracing tribal affiliations, feuds and disputes from before the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan, through the 1980s, the rise of the Taliban in the 1990s, and the US intervention in 2001, to the return of the ‘Angrez’, as the Helmandis referred to the English, in 2006, and on to the US re-engagement in 2010. It was a dense text — not the most readable of books — but for those that persisted, its conclusion was devastating, suggesting the US and the UK had completely failed to understand the socio-political environment in Afghanistan:5

			The British view of the conflict (and therefore their actions) was so far removed from the Helmandi understanding that Helmandis considered them to be trying to destroy the province through an alliance with the Taliban, rather than their purported aim of reconstruction …6 Helmand actors and factions have exploited the lack of detailed knowledge of Helmand politics (and doggedness in sticking to official narratives displayed by outsiders), to manipulate them into funding their continuing conflict.7

			Martin suggested that the determination of outsiders to frame the conflict through a narrative of religious-inspired insurgency comprehensively failed to appreciate that much of the violence in Helmand was linked neither to the Taliban nor to the Afghan government, but instead was ‘driven by local dynamics between groups and individuals on the ground’.

			It is February 2014. Martin is told to submit the book to the MoD media team. He agrees to do so, and says if they can find OPSEC or PERSEC breaches he will happily change the text, but if their objection is just that the book is embarrassing, he is not going to change it. If pushed, he will resign his commission. Martin is now dealing not with the flexible, operational army but rather the sclerotic inner organs of the MoD. He receives an email saying he cannot publish the book as it breaches the Official Secrets Act; he has already seen a different email chain stating that the book does not, in fact, breach the Official Secrets Act. He writes back, saying the book is due to appear in two weeks and has already been printed, but reiterating his invitation to the MoD to point out where exactly the issues are. His publishers pause the print run.

			Nothing is forthcoming until the Friday before the week in which the book is due to launch. Martin flies back to the UK, and later receives a phone call that goes to his voicemail. It is the assistant chief of the general staff, ordering him not to publish. On Sunday evening, he meets his friend Tom Coghlan, then defence correspondent of The Times, for a pint, and explains the situation. Coghlan wants to write about it. On Monday, Martin resigns his commission by cutting up his military ID card and dropping it off at his TA unit. He informs Coghlan he can move with the piece now; it runs on Wednesday. It is a slow news day and it makes the front page. The Guardian, Newsnight, Vice and the Telegraph all pick up the story. Martin is on the Today Programme and Newsnight. It even lands on the front page in Denmark.

			To Martin, the episode is redolent of the MoD’s failure to understand news management. He had advised the Ministry that the best approach was for them to acknowledge that the book was uncomfortable reading, but accept that ‘we paid for it, and we believe in learning hard lessons’, and allow him to publish. Had that been the approach, Martin suspects, An Intimate War would have been a non-story. Robert Johnson at Oxford suggests that Martin is not as innocent as he implies, and that there were other, less confrontational ways for him to put his point across. However, the army’s perennial reluctance to wash any of its dirty laundry in public does humiliate the institution. The Vice headline is brutally frank: ‘The Ministry of Defence Has Been Trying to Ban Mike Martin’s Book — which is weird, given they asked him to write it in the first place.’8 ‘MoD tries to pulp its own Helmand lessons book,’ says the Telegraph.9 An Intimate War is published with a cover blurb by General David Richards, who has also now left the army and is free to contribute.10 He describes it as ‘quite simply, the book on Helmand. I sincerely wish it had been available to me when I was ISAF Commander in Afghanistan. Military, diplomatic and development professionals involved in Afghanistan — and elsewhere, for that matter — read this and take note.’11

			Two years later, in February 2016, Mike Martin receives an email from the office of General Nick Carter, by now the chief of the general staff, asking him to come in for a coffee. Martin accepts; he knows Carter from Afghanistan, where the general served as both regional commander (south) and deputy commander of ISAF.

			‘Why aren’t you in the army?’ Carter asks.

			‘We had the thing with the book …’ Martin begins.

			‘Don’t worry,’ Carter replies. ‘That’s a mistake. You didn’t want that and we didn’t want that. I just want you back in the army.’

			A central truth is now clear to Martin: the army is not in fact a single organisation at all, but rather an awkwardly organised collection of warring tribes, inadequately co-ordinated and often fighting each other. ‘That ship has sailed,’ Martin says.12

			*

			The Chilcot Inquiry does not report until the summer of 2016, seven years after its establishment. The road to publication is tortuous. The hearings end in 2011. June 2013 is forecast as the date for the process of ‘Maxwellisation’ — the offering of a right to reply pre-publication to individuals criticised in the report — to begin.13 In November of that year, Sir John tells David Cameron it is ‘regrettable’ that the Government and his inquiry have failed to agree on the disclosure of ‘difficult categories of documents’. By April 2014, the inquiry admits that Maxwellisation has yet to start; the Independent reports that discussions between the inquiry and the Cabinet Office remain deadlocked, and are unlikely to be resolved before the end of the current parliamentary session. The report may now appear in 2015, a year for which a general election is scheduled. Peter Mandelson warns that this would be a ‘very difficult minefield’ for Labour leader Ed Miliband.

			But even 2015 proves a chimerical aspiration. In April, a month before the election, it emerges that the report may now be delayed until 2016, as those facing criticism, including Tony Blair, former foreign secretary Jack Straw and the former head of MI6 Sir Richard Dearlove, are to be given the chance to respond.14 On 15 June 2016, Chilcot writes to the prime minister, stating, ‘Only when all responses are in our possession and have been evaluated will I be able to [set] a realistic timetable for completion.’15 Much of the writing of the report, especially of the factual (as opposed to judgemental) sections is done by Margaret Aldred, the civil servant chairing the secretariat, and her staff. While other staff change, Aldred has been present throughout the process. The commissioners then suggest changes to each successive draft, and on occasion submit their own texts, in particular when it comes to commentary and recommendations. They guide the shape and direction of the report and focus particularly on the judgements it makes, for which they will take responsibility. As the Maxwellisation process commences — in Freedman’s words, ‘putting the worst possible criticism’ on the grounds you ‘can tone down a criticism but you can’t tone it up’ — the historian feels ‘a little frisson’ when he runs into individuals involved at conferences or dinners.

			In mid-2015, delay of the report stirs legal action. Matthew Jury,16 a partner at McCue and Partners, a London law firm specialising in representing victims of terrorism in litigation against state sponsors and financiers of such crimes, takes on pro bono a case brought by the Iraq Families Campaign Group, a collection of families of soldiers killed in Iraq, looking to force publication. Jury’s view is that the Maxwellisation process is being abused by those subject to it, spinning it out to give clear blue water between the actions under scrutiny and the publication of the report. Jury issues a legal challenge and starts pre-action on a judicial review. The story makes the front page of the Daily Mail. In the piece, Reg Keys, who lost his twenty-year-old son Lance Corporal Thomas Keys in Iraq, describes the continued delays as an ‘open sore that can’t heal’. He says, ‘We want to draw a line under this Iraq War so we can move on, but before that we need to know what it was all for. We want to know why Blair went against the UN and took us into Iraq while other European allies refused to join the war.’ ‘Sir John doesn’t seem to understand that these are real people that have lost loved ones,’ adds Valerie O’Neill, whose 27-year-old son Kris was killed by a roadside bomb in 2007. ‘We’ve waited long enough for this report into an illegal war.’

			The legal action is successful. The day before they go to court, a date is set for both the end of the Maxwellisation process, and the publication of the report itself. Chilcot writes to the prime minister on 28 October 2015, announcing that the text of the report should be completed in the week starting 18 April 2016, at which point the process of national security checking will begin.17 Such checking is ‘normal and necessary’ with inquiries handling large amounts of sensitive material, he says. ‘I consider that once national security checking has been completed, it should be possible to agree a date for publication in June or July 2016,’ Chilcot adds.

			In the late morning of Wednesday 16 July 2016, Sir John stands in front of a blue background at the Queen Elizabeth II conference centre, wearing a dark red tie. The inquiry itself is 2.6 million words and twelve volumes long, but given that is an unfeasible amount to read in a short time, Sir John’s 2,500-word statement and the 145-page executive summary set the tone of the event and the coverage. The statement is robust.18 ‘We have concluded that the UK chose to join the invasion of Iraq before the peaceful options for disarmament had been exhausted. Military action at that time was not a last resort,’ Sir John says. He does not pass a view on whether the military action was legal, but states, ‘We have … concluded that the circumstances in which it was decided that there was a legal basis for UK military action were far from satisfactory.’ He moves to the military action itself:

			The British military contribution was not settled until mid-January 2003, when Mr Blair and Mr Hoon agreed the military’s proposals for an increase in the number of brigades to be deployed; and that they would operate in southern, not northern, Iraq … There was little time to prepare three brigades and the risks were neither properly identified nor fully exposed to Ministers.

			Chilcot states that Blair told the Inquiry that the difficulties encountered in Iraq after the invasion could not have been known in advance. ‘We do not agree that hindsight is required,’ adds Sir John.

			There is less here on the army’s actions than on the decision to go to war, though that which there is remains unforgiving. ‘We have found that the Ministry of Defence was slow in responding to the threat from improvised explosive devices and that delays in providing adequate medium-weight protected patrol vehicles should not have been tolerated,’ Sir John says:

			It was not clear which person or department within the Ministry of Defence was responsible for identifying and articulating such capability gaps. But it should have been. From 2006, the UK military was conducting two enduring campaigns in Iraq and Afghanistan. It did not have sufficient resources to do so. Decisions on resources for Iraq were affected by the demands of the operation in Afghanistan.

			Finally, Sir John mentions the denouement in the south:

			By 2007 militia dominance in Basra, which UK military commanders were unable to challenge, led to the UK exchanging detainee releases for an end to the targeting of its forces. It was humiliating that the UK reached a position in which an agreement with a militia group, which had been actively targeting UK forces, was considered the best option available. The UK military role in Iraq ended a very long way from success.

			The lessons section of the inquiry is equally frank:

			In any undertaking of this kind, certain fundamental elements are of vital importance. The best possible appreciation of the theatre of operations, including the political, cultural and ethnic background, and the state of society, the economy and infrastructure; hard-headed assessment of risks; objectives which are realistic within that context, and if necessary limited — rather than idealistic and based on optimistic assumptions; and allocation of the resources necessary for the task — both military and civil.19

			‘A “can do” attitude is laudably ingrained in the UK armed forces,’ the report adds, ‘a determination to get on with the job, however difficult the circumstances — but this can prevent ground truth from reaching senior ears.’20

			This public statement, and the 145-page executive summary, form the version of the report that drives the media cycle. But there is a great deal more within the 2.6 million words: specific sections focusing on military equipment, and security sector reform, and chronological narratives of events during the occupation. The report’s focus, as Ben Barry later points out, is Whitehall decision-making rather than events in theatre. ‘This is a perspective removed from the ebb and flow of the campaign as it unfolded in Iraq in general, and in the British-occupied south in particular,’ Barry writes. ‘The report lacks a simple, single narrative of Britain’s military role in Iraq. It is not an authoritative account of the British military effort, nor of the country’s diplomatic, development or intelligence work. This makes it harder for a general reader to understand than it should be.’21 Nonetheless, it is not the palliative many observers predicted. In Freedman’s view, Chilcot ‘lanced the blister’, and in part did so through the report’s significant length, laying out, in page after thousandth page, exactly what happened. As such, it is an extraordinary resource for historians.

			There remains, however, a failing to the Chilcot Inquiry, and that failing is in essence by design. Individuals are criticised in its account: just regarding the early days of the campaign, Admiral Michael Boyce, CDS until May 2003, is reported as having given ‘no instruction on how to establish a safe and secure environment if lawlessness broke out as anticipated’ and no rules of engagement for dealing with rioters in Basra and southern Iraq, which British troops controlled. Meanwhile, by the end of August 2003 ‘a deterioration in security could and should have been identified’ by Lieutenant General John Reith, chief of joint operations at Northwood, and by the autumn he should have concluded that ‘the underlying assumptions on which the UK’s Iraq campaign was based was [sic] over-optimistic’ and instigated a review. Later, in May 2006, the inquiry reports that Air Chief Marshal Sir Jock Stirrup, chief of the defence staff, said Britain should ‘press on’ with its withdrawal from Basra, even as Iraqi forces looked unable to take up the slack and the country headed for civil war.

			Yet none of these individuals face credible sanction. That finding is not just suggested in the report — it is legally proven. Within weeks of the publication of Chilcot in July 2016, the same Iraq War Families Campaign Group that issued the legal challenge to publication delay sets up another objective. They establish a crowdfunding campaign to raise £150,000 for legal work, including analysing the twelve-volume report to assess whether people who made mistakes, such as Tony Blair, can be pursued in civil courts. The crowdfunding campaign is successful; the legal analysis is not. In December 2017, the group puts out a statement indicating that ‘the combination of the UK’s underlying constitutional arrangements, and recent significant judgments of the higher courts, have closed off any possibility of such proceedings being commenced. As such, having explored every possible legal avenue, our campaign — both a public and personal search for justice and truth — is at an end.’22 No one is going to the wall on the back of the Chilcot Inquiry, no matter how badly Iraq went wrong.

			*

			There is another way in these situations. In July 2006, after two of its soldiers were abducted by Hezbollah, Israel launched a thirty-four-day military campaign against the Lebanese Shia group. The conflict began with airstrikes and artillery fire, before escalating to a ground invasion of Lebanon and a naval blockade. Israel lost 121 soldiers and 44 civilians and failed to rescue the abductees; its ground troops similarly failed to reach their objectives (estimates of Lebanese casualties run up to approximately 1,200, with at least 700 belonging to Hezbollah, the Lebanese Army and other militias). The Israeli enterprise stank of failure; there was a sense that the vaunted Israeli Defence Forces had underperformed.

			The subsequent Israeli probe into the war was called the Winograd Commission, after Eliyahu Winograd, the retired judge who chaired it.23 Formally, it was a ‘Government Examination Commission’, a step below a full legal inquiry. The commission was a response to public pressure by reserve soldiers and media, claiming that the mistakes made during the war required more than the usual ‘lessons-learned’ teams that the IDF deployed. The Examination Commission had legal consequences only if it became clear that someone had actually broken a law, as opposed to making a bad decision. So far, so like Chilcot. The difference, though, was the outcome.

			The final commission, alongside Winograd, included two former generals in the IDF, Menachem Einan and Chaim Nadel, Yehezkel Dror, an academic who specialises in policy decision-making, and legal academic Ruth Gavison, who was a known critic of the Agranat Commission held after the 1973 Yom Kippur war. As with Chilcot, there was a secretarial team backstage.

			Compared to Chilcot, the Israeli process was much briefer. The commission issued an interim report on 30 April 2007, looking at the background and early part of the 2006 war. The brutality of the Winograd findings makes Chilcot look like a bureaucratic cuddle. ‘The Commission was appointed due to a strong sense of a crisis and deep disappointment with the consequences of the campaign and the way it was conducted,’ a public statement read.

			The primary responsibility for these serious failings rests with the prime minister, the minister of defense and the (outgoing) chief of staff [the overall head of the IDF]. We single out these three because it is likely that had any of them acted better — the decisions in the relevant period and the ways they were made, as well as the outcome of the war, would have been significantly better.

			Each of these figures was, in turn, excoriated. The prime minister ‘made up his mind hastily, despite the fact that no detailed military plan was submitted to him and without asking for one’. The minister of defence ‘did not have knowledge or experience in military, political or governmental matters’. Finally, the chief of staff, the head of the IDF, ‘did not alert the political echelon to the serious shortcomings in the preparedness and the fitness of the armed forces for an extensive ground operation’ and ‘did not clarify that the military assessments and analyses of the arena were that a military strike against Hezbollah would with a high probability make such a move necessary.’24

			The final report, issued in January 2008, was equally savage, stating that ‘a semi-military organisation of a few thousand men resisted, for a few weeks, the strongest army in the Middle East, which enjoyed full air superiority and size and technology advantages.’ Pointedly, Winograd also made a tub-thumping defence of the necessity of accountability when things go wrong in war. Point 34 bluntly stated:

			A description of failures in the conduct of war may be regarded as harming Israel. There will be those who may use our findings to hurt Israel and its army. We nonetheless point out these failures and shortcomings because we are certain that only in this way Israel may come out of this ordeal strengthened.

			Heads also tumbled, although here public and media criticism played a role as well as the inquiry. Dan Halutz, the Israeli Air Force lieutenant general who served as chief of staff — overall head — of the IDF during the 2006 war, resigned as early as January 2007, before the report had even been published. The commander of Northern Command and the commander of a reservist armoured division did the same. Prime Minister Olmert himself narrowly avoided resignation.

			The circumstances in Israel are different to those in the UK. Since the country’s foundation in 1948, its military readiness has been a matter of existential importance. Its heavy reliance on reservists means that within its armed forces, there are individuals unbound by full-time officers’ consciousness about their own careers and reticence concerning speaking out angrily when things go wrong. But the distinct fates of Dan Halutz and Jock Stirrup, who served as British chief of the defence staff from 2006 to 2010, are marked. Halutz resigned. Stirrup stood down a few months before his intended retirement date, but now sits in the House of Lords. No British general was fired or resigned over Iraq and Afghanistan. When it really matters, a country can hold its political and military leaders accountable for a botched war. Yet Iraq — and Afghanistan too — never mattered sufficiently for Britain to do the same. The continued existence of the British state was never at stake, and so, while there was a glut of new accountability measures at low level, at altitude there remained a void.




			Chapter 24

			Marine A

			It is in the light of all this that the Alexander Blackman case reaches its conclusion. On 15 September 2011, the day of the killing, Blackman’s patrol returns to its base. Callsign Ugly-51, the Apache helicopter, flies back to Bastion. Cheryl Cole returns to England. It is a year before the video surfaces.

			According to reporting by Chris Terrill, at 11 a.m. on a Saturday morning in September 2012, there is a knock on the door of Blackman’s terraced home in Taunton in Somerset.1 On the wall is a large black-and-white photograph of the Blackmans’ wedding at Compton Bishop, a village at the foot of the Mendip Hills. At the door are two uniformed policemen and three members of the Royal Military Police.

			Blackman offers his visitors a cup of tea. They chat in the kitchen before the police conduct a brief search of the house. The police lead the man whom his wife calls Al, and who the rest of the world will soon know as Marine A, out of the house for questioning. Blackman comes back later that night. ‘Nobody quite knew what was going on,’ Claire Blackman later says.2

			Weeks pass; normal life resumes. Alexander Blackman goes on a training exercise to Folkestone. A month later, while Claire is attending a work conference, her phone rings. It is the Royal Military Police saying her husband has been arrested on suspicion of murder. The clips from the helmet camera had bounced around various laptops after the 2011 tour. The police came across them while investigating an unrelated claim that a marine possessed contraband pornography. The police found a series of clips showing the build-up to the shooting. The last one, depicting Blackman actually pulling the trigger, was missing, but those that existed suggested something amiss was about to happen. The police were able to forensically recover the final clip from a memory card. They charged Blackman.

			*

			In the autumn of 2011, Oliver Lee and Ewen Murchison participated in the obligatory post-operation lecture and debriefing circuit. The honours and awards came out. The London Gazette in March 20123 announced that Murchison would receive the Distinguished Service Order, whose rubric states, ‘Awarded for meritorious or distinguished service by officers of the armed forces during wartime, typically in actual combat, serving under fire, and usually awarded to those above the rank of captain.’ Lee, whose tour, at least in part by design, had involved far less fighting than Murchison’s, received at a ceremony in July an OBE, regarded in the military as a less prestigious gong. According to one account, after the award Lee rounded on Murchison, telling him not to forget that he received the DSO ‘on the behalf of his unit’ (Lee denies this, saying he has never spoken with Murchison about his DSO).

			Lee is a full colonel by this point, running one of the courses at the Defence Academy at Shrivenham in Wiltshire. He is around six months into the job when news of the Blackman incident starts to filter out. He works out that the incident took place on his watch, after Blackman’s company had fallen under his command. He informs the chain of command that he takes a dim view of the fact that no one has contacted him, while he knows that Murchison has been approached. Eventually Lee receives a phone call from Ed Davis, the brigade commander on Herrick 14, who is now a major general and, since December 2011, the commandant general of the Royal Marines, the professional head of the organisation.

			Davis says he had not worked out that the incident happened under Lee’s command, and apologises that he had not spoken to him about it.4 For Lee, this ‘didn’t wash’; given their earlier discussions in Helmand about the actions of 42 Commando, he believes the matter to be serious, and wishes to have a full and proper part in any subsequent process, as he would expect of a commanding officer. The fact that Blackman had only been on his books for a handful of days when the incident took place, and that during the entire preamble he was under Ewen Murchison, is irrelevant to Lee. Command responsibility is absolute; there is no such thing as ‘technical command’, he believes.

			Lee periodically checks in; he expects to be brought into the looming military legal process around the Blackman case. However, by the time the court martial takes place in the autumn of 2013, two years after the incident itself, Lee has not been contacted. It appears to him that the system is trying to approach the incident through the most narrow of prisms — that Blackman was a lone bad apple, and that there are no wider issues at stake.

			In November 2013, a court martial at Bulford in Wiltshire finds Blackman guilty of murder with a five-to-two majority. According to Claire Blackman, members of the panel break with the rules and salute the condemned man.5 After the verdict, Oliver Lee and his wife spend a weekend — which happens to be Armistice Day weekend — in discussion. On Monday morning, Lee resigns from the Royal Marines. He would later tell a naval inquiry:

			My view was that a serious breakdown of the sacrosanct relationship between command and commanded had occurred and that the chain of command was not only responsible for this but, more gravely, had wilfully failed in its obligations and thereby been complicit in bringing the breakdown to pass.6

			At the moment of resignation Lee asks that he be allowed to speak at Blackman’s sentencing hearing, which he knows lies ahead. That request is also denied.

			In early December 2013, Blackman is sentenced to life, and told he will serve at least ten years in prison. Three judges at the High Court, serving as the Court Martial Appeal Court, also lift an anonymity order, allowing Blackman to be named. Sentencing him, Judge Advocate General Jeff Blackett tells him he has disgraced the name of the British armed services and put troops’ lives at risk by his actions. ‘This was not an action taken in the heat of battle or immediately after you had been engaged in a firefight,’ Blackett says. ‘Nor were you under any immediate threat — the video footage shows that you were in complete control of yourself, standing around for several minutes and not apparently worried that you might be at risk of attack by other insurgents.’7 Blackman is dismissed with disgrace from the Royal Marines. The organisation puts up Brigadier Bill Dunham, the deputy commandant general, to face the cameras.

			‘Today saw a Royal Marine found guilty of the murder of an unknown male,’ Dunham says:

			The Naval Service respects the verdict, which was reached in full accordance with UK law, to which all service personnel are subject, and in the name of which many thousands of Royal Marines have fought the Taliban in Afghanistan since 2001. The naval service takes seriously its responsibility to train its sailors and marines in the standards of conduct applicable to combat operations on land, at sea and in the air. It is a matter of profound regret that in this isolated incident, one marine failed to apply his training and discharge his responsibilities. What we have heard over the last two weeks is not consistent with the ethos, vales and standards of the Royal Marines. It was a truly shocking and appalling aberration.

			They are pushing the lone-bad-apple line, even though the academic literature on atrocities in war shows that bad apples are almost never the issue, and instead poor leadership is the culprit. As one Royal Marines officer says, ‘the analysis and lessons from My Lai, Somalia, Abu Ghraib, Black Hearts, Baha Mousa etc. highlight a surprising consistency in the combination of factors that lead directly to atrocity. Indeed, it is often said in the army there is no such thing as a bad soldier — only bad leaders.’ Ed Davis, Dunham’s boss as overall head of the Royal Marines, and the brigade commander on Blackman’s tour, is also absent from the public discussion in 2013.

			Oliver Lee turned forty in the summer of 2013. In his appraisal for the 2011 tour, Ed Davis had described Lee as ‘the top commanding officer out of the thirteen Royal Marine and army officers on whom I have reported on Herrick 14’. Major General Francis ‘Buster’ Howes, his second reporting officer, in the same document referred to how ‘his inspirational leadership, brilliant “field” diplomacy, and unyielding moral courage on Herrick 14 irreversibly transformed the nature of the counter-insurgency campaign in Nad e-Ali.’ Admiral Trevor Soar had described Lee as ‘by some way, the top performing OF4 [NATO grade for lieutenant colonel] Royal Marine officer in command’. Now, the great white hope of the Royal Marines, the youngest colonel since the Second World War, had resigned his commission. Aaron Fisher, Blackman’s company commander at the time of the incident, Ewen Murchison, the commanding officer of 42 Commando, and Ed Davis, the brigade commander, all promoted.

			Five years on, some question whether the Blackman case really was, as Lee claims, the sole reason for his resignation. They point to the fact that, rather than a ‘joint’ appointment in Northwood or Whitehall, the kind of prestigious billet shared between all three services, he was about to be posted to a dull and very ‘dark blue’ (i.e. navy-focused) job as ‘Captain of the Portsmouth Base’, essentially running the naval installation there. The move would have had an impact on schooling for his children.8 Another 45 Commando officer describes Lee’s decision to resign as ‘self-inflicted accountability — the type that is encouraged and inspired in all the UK’s officer training centres’. Johnny Mercer, meanwhile, says that ‘no one ever leaves the military for a single reason’. Lee denies this; his resignation letter does refer to the fact he was ‘surprised and disappointed’ to be given the Portsmouth job, but maintained that was not the reason for his resignation — rather, it was Blackman. After leaving the military, he takes up a position as chief executive of The Challenge, a youth and community charity based near Waterloo station in London. Prior to leaving the Royal Marines, he says now, the saddest thing ever to happen to him was his brother’s death. ‘Leaving the marines felt similar to this,’ he adds.

			*

			Alexander Blackman goes to prison. But it is not over for him. John Davies, a former marine who served from 2000 to 2007, and spent time in 40 Commando when Blackman was also in that unit, starts a social-media campaign. Another early mover is the Conservative MP Richard Drax, a former Coldstream Guards officer who was elected for the South Dorset constituency in 2010. After the Blackman verdict in 2013, Drax, who did three tours of Ireland in the 1980s, felt ‘there was something inside me’.9 He rang up Claire Blackman, and asked if he could meet her husband, who by this stage was in Lincoln Prison, a category B facility. He visits in 2014 and speaks with Blackman for ninety minutes, emerging ‘pretty convinced at that stage that something had seriously gone wrong’.

			Another MP has proposed a parliamentary debate on Blackman, but says he cannot carry it through. Drax picks up the project. He holds a meeting at the House of Commons in 2014 with Claire Blackman and a handful of other MPs, including William Cash, the Tory member for Stone in Staffordshire, and Bernard Jenkin, another Conservative who represents Harwich and Essex North. They conclude that without a proper plan, ‘waffling about Al in Westminster Hall would not get him out’. Drax suggests they should get a team together. Claire keeps mentioning ‘Freddie’. Drax asks who this is. ‘Freddie Forsyth,’ she replies.

			In 2014, Frederick Forsyth turns seventy-six years old. Forty-three years — more than the full span of Oliver Lee’s lifetime — has passed from the publication of The Day of the Jackal, his thriller that imagined the killing of French President Charles de Gaulle, and which made him famous. Forsyth became interested in the Blackman case after seeing coverage of the appeal in May 2014; Blackman lost a bid to have his conviction quashed, although his sentence was cut from ten to eight years.

			Lord Chief Justice Lord Thomas, giving the judgment of the Court Martial Appeal Court, finds that Sergeant Blackman ‘acted entirely out of character and was suffering from combat stress disorder’.10 Forsyth sees the rejection of the appeal. He too feels something is amiss. He gets in touch with the Blackmans.

			At the meeting in Westminster, Drax asks Claire Blackman if he can meet Forsyth. The meeting takes place at the Special Forces Club in Knightsbridge, where Forsyth is a member. They discuss a way forward. Forsyth contacts a minister in David Cameron’s government; within a matter of weeks, Blackman is moved from category B Lincoln Prison to Erlestoke, a category C facility in Wiltshire, closer to his wife. Category C, the third of four categories of British prisons, is for those who are unlikely to escape but cannot be trusted in an ‘open’ prison.

			There is an online petition demanding ‘The immediate release of Marine A’. ‘Release Marine A & quash his murder conviction. Marine A has defended his country from a terrorist,’ reads the subheading. By November 2014, the petition has received 107,261 signatures, above the threshold of 100,000 required to be considered for parliamentary debate.11 In January 2015, the debate is postponed while Claire Blackman takes further legal advice. It finally takes place after the general election, in September 2015. ‘I have no doubt from everything that I have read that Sergeant Blackman was an extraordinary junior commander who had the welfare of his troops completely at heart,’ says James Heappey, who served with 4 Rifles in Basra in 2007 before becoming Tory MP for Wells in 2015. ‘For month after month the huge weight of responsibility bore down on Alexander Blackman as he tried to maintain morale,’ Drax adds. ‘This man was tried by a military court,’ weighs in Sir Roger Gale, Tory member for North Thanet. ‘As I understand it, it did not even reach a unanimous verdict. If it had been an ordinary court, where the case was tried in an ordinary way by twelve good men and true, I do not believe this man would ever have been found guilty.’12

			The same month, under pressure from the press, the government publishes the executive summary and recommendations of Brigadier Ian Huntley’s Operation Telemeter review.13 Huntley was picked for the job as a senior Royal Marine who was outside the immediate circumstances of what went on during Operation Herrick 14.14 At the time he was asked to complete the probe, he was heading the leadership centre at the Defence Academy at Shrivenham. Vice Admiral Philip Jones, the navy’s Fleet Commander — the equivalent of the job in the army variously called commander land forces or commander field army — briefed Huntley on his task. The initial assumption was that Telemeter would be a fairly quick job, concluding that better training was required on rules of engagement. As with the much larger Chilcot Inquiry, the purpose was not to attribute blame, but rather to find out how to stop something like the Blackman incident happening again. Evidence would not be taken under oath; it was not a legal process.

			Huntley began work in March 2014, conducting interviews. He soon concluded that there was more to the issue than met the eye, and discovered that a number of individuals, not just Oliver Lee, had had concerns about the behaviour of 42 Commando, ranging from pre-deployment training through to the deployment itself. Huntley was initially meant to submit his report in May 2014. He decided that in order for his review to be fair, he needed an occupational psychologist to help him; he chose a civilian woman already on his team at the Defence Academy. Together they used an approach called ‘Human Factors Analysis’, an approach initially developed to investigate aircraft crashes, which examines four levels of ‘active errors and latent failures’; these include unsafe acts, preconditions for unsafe acts, unsafe supervision and organisational influences.15 The British had already used the human factors approach to look at a friendly-fire incident at Kajaki Dam in Helmand.

			Huntley and his civilian psychologist colleague conducted around thirty interviews, speaking to individuals from 42 and 45 Commando. Those from 42 — with some exceptions, in particular Matthew Parker — tended to be of a view that matters within the unit on the tour were as they should have been. Those from 45 thought they themselves had done the right thing, and a more sophisticated approach had been required on Herrick 14. More revealing to Huntley were interviews with people on the pre-deployment training teams who had worked with the units, staff officers from brigade and people who took over from the units afterwards. They generally accorded with Oliver Lee’s version of events. Huntley was particularly alarmed by how often ‘Vietnam’ came up as a point of reference for 42 Commando’s behaviour.

			Operation Telemeter now had a problem. The navy had set out a review with no legal background; they could not now flip it, and start accusing individuals and taking disciplinary action. In his discussions with the fleet commander, Huntley warned Jones that his review was going beyond its remit because of the evidence being gathered and requested instructions. Legal representatives were present at these meetings. Huntley was reassured, and told to continue with the review.

			Huntley believes in retrospect that when it first appeared that individuals had made errors of judgement, they should have stopped the Telemeter process and convened a more formal board of inquiry, with a more robust legal framework that could apportion blame if required. That did not happen, and arguably that is the real failure in the Blackman saga.

			The intention was that the Telemeter report would be kept on a close hold inside the navy, and all that would come out in public would be the lessons from it. Copies of the executive summary went to the air force and the general staff of the army. ‘The Nad-e Ali North area of Helmand, where 42 Commando were operating, and the Nad-e-Ali South area, where 45 Commando were operating, posed different challenges,’ the executive summary read. ‘But there is significant evidence that 42 Commando’s culture was perceived by many outside 42 Commando to be overly aggressive.’16 Another point read: ‘A number of those involved in this incident both directly and indirectly felt that the chain of command had failed to provide them with adequate support before, during and after the court martial.’

			The report leaks; names start to get into the public domain. Ewen Murchison puts in a formal ‘service complaint’. In September, the Daily Mail published the fact that Oliver Lee had resigned, and reported on the navy’s press strategy with regard to the Telemeter report. ‘The Mail has obtained a damning internal letter making clear the inquiry found failings in the chain of command. It also reveals a “media handling strategy” to release only a single page, in heavily redacted form,’ a piece published on 11 September reads.17

			When the navy does publish the executive summary and recommendations of Telemeter on 16 September, it prefaces them with a note, reflecting Ewen Murchison’s complaint:

			The Internal Review which led to this report went beyond the remit of its original Terms of Reference: an Internal Review meant to look at broad culture and ethos … It was not sufficiently robust to allow conclusions to be drawn as to the appropriateness of individual operational decision making in the chain of command … therefore statements containing specific criticism of individuals within the chain of command cannot be relied upon as the investigative process did not have sufficient veracity for such judgements to be made.

			Filmmaker Chris Terrill, who had embedded with 42 Commando in 2011, will later describe Telemeter as ‘highly questionable’. However, the court martial appeal court judges who later reduced Blackman’s sentence to manslaughter had a different conclusion. They described Telemeter as ‘a very impressive and well-written report powerfully supporting the conclusions it reached’. They noted that the navy’s issues with the report stemmed from the process that led to it, but the wording of the caveat subsequently attached to it went ‘significantly beyond that’, suggesting the findings, rather than the method, of the report were flawed. The judges suggested that the caveat should be therefore ‘be read narrowly’, and stated, ‘We cannot see any basis on which such a carefully written report as the Telemeter Report was can be criticised in respect of the conclusions it reached on the conditions under which the appellant operated.’

			*

			The 11 September coverage in the Mail was not an aberration. The paper is by now involved in the case in a major way, and puts out a crowdfunding appeal, which launches after the September parliamentary debate, to pay for new legal counsel for Blackman. More than 30,000 readers eventually contribute £800,000. This money is intended to get Blackman a new legal defence team.

			The new lawyer is a QC called Jonathan Goldberg, who Forsyth, bizarrely, knows because he once successfully defended Roger Levitt, a fraudster to whom Forsyth lost an enormous amount of invested money in the early 1990s. Forsyth chooses Goldberg over two other candidates who seem to him ‘very establishment’ people. ‘This is a gross miscarriage of justice,’ Forsyth says when he meets Goldberg to discuss the case. ‘Come on, Freddie, you always say that,’ Goldberg replies. Forsyth persists, saying that Blackman has been hung out to dry for the failure of the Afghan campaign. Goldberg explains that now that Blackman has exhausted his appeal processes, there is only one possible route — the Criminal Cases Review Commission. The chances there are slim; only about one in every hundred cases referred to the CCRC succeeds. Goldberg suggests the task is an impossible one. Forsyth asks the lawyer to look at the material nonetheless.

			It was ‘quite long, and my eyes popped out on stalks,’ Goldberg says. The lawyer noted that Blackman’s previous defence, led by Anthony Berry QC, had not obtained a psychiatric assessment or pushed for a manslaughter verdict on grounds of diminished responsibility, instead running with the somewhat far-fetched idea that Blackman thought the insurgent was already dead. (Berry says that Blackman made ‘unequivocal and consistent instructions that he did not want to consider obtaining a psychiatric report’, and that the idea that Blackman thought the insurgent was dead also represented his client’s ‘firm instructions’.18)

			Goldberg takes the case. The Daily Mail fund pays for him and two junior barristers, Jeffrey Israel and Senghin Kong. Goldberg now claims the remuneration was well below his usual rates, and bemoans the fact that the Mail closed the fund at an arbitrary (to him) level of £800,000. In December 2015, Blackman’s new legal team hands 1,100 pages of new evidence to the Criminal Cases Review Commission in an attempt to have the conviction sent back to the Appeal Court.19 The new evidence includes a psychiatric assessment; it also includes statements from Oliver Lee and Steph Moran, his regimental sergeant major in 45 Commando. Lee, out of the marines now, finds himself in a complex position. He has no time for the argument that what Blackman did was an act as old as war, and not something for which he should be held culpable — an attitude that certain members of the wider Blackman campaign, and some individuals commenting in the media, seem to espouse. But he does feel that the wider issues in the case need to be examined.

			A year later, on 6 December 2016, the CCRC announces its decision: the case will indeed be referred back to the Court Martial Appeal Court. In a statement, the CCRC says the referral is made on the basis of a number of issues including ‘new expert evidence acquired by the Commission, relating to Mr Blackman’s mental state at the time of the offence’, and ‘the fact that an alternative verdict of unlawful act manslaughter was not available to the board when it considered the case’.20

			There is a sharp difference in the feedback Goldberg receives from retired military figures and those still serving. He is offered support by a slew of high-ranking retired officers, including Major General Julian Thompson, who led 3 Commando Brigade in the Falklands in 1982, and Major General John Holmes, who was Director Special Forces during the Sierra Leone operations in 2000. By contrast, the feedback from serving individuals is often the opposite: they feel Blackman acted badly and disgraced the military, and it is correct that he should carry the can. Undoubtedly, during the trial, much opinion within the regular army is profoundly uncomfortable with the ‘this has always happened’ arguments put forward in certain corners of the press. That perspective is embodied in January 2017 when the Times runs a piece in which Neal Ascherson, who served in Malaya as a National Service officer in the 1950s, and later became a distinguished journalist, remembers killing two injured insurgents after an ambush. ‘I went forward and found two men hideously wounded, unconscious but still just moving,’ Ascherson writes:

			One had his brains flowing out of his skull. The rib cage of the other had been blown away so that his heart and lung were hanging out. I don’t remember a moment’s hesitation or doubt about what to do: I pointed my carbine and put them both out of their misery … Through the gun-deaf whistling in my ears, I heard a marine say: ‘You wouldn’t leave a dog like that.’ Still less two young men.

			‘Nobody said a word about it later,’ Ascherson continues. ‘But I now know that this was legally murder. “Mercy killing” isn’t a category recognised by military law, although soldiers have always done it and — I don’t doubt — still do almost daily in wars across the world.’21

			Ascherson’s sentiment does not, in general, reflect the views of those who fought in the Iraq or Afghan campaigns. ‘I don’t know anybody who served who does not think Al Blackman should have gone to prison,’ says Johnny Mercer. ‘It’s a very sad case, but that is a line and it’s about professionalism.’22 ‘It’s absolutely incredible you had ex-military figures coming out and saying he should be let off,’ adds Mike Martin. ‘He was on tape joking about the Geneva Convention.’ ‘Blackman is the end of the soldier as hero,’ says Tom Tugendhat, another former army reservist who operated extensively in Helmand and is now, like Mercer, a Tory MP. ‘You may have noticed that a lot of us didn’t say a word,’ he added. ‘The Telegraph tried to get me to write an op-ed supporting Blackman and I had a long chat with the editor, saying why I wouldn’t do it, and they dropped the campaign.’

			Others are more sceptical. One former army officer, who served in Iraq and completed two tours in Afghanistan, says it is fantastical to think that incidents such as Blackman’s did not occur on multiple occasions in the recent campaigns — just off camera — given the fact of young patrols with junior leadership going out in situations of enormous stress and limited supervision. ‘Hard to expect much else if you’re routinely sending out eight-man patrols with a lance jack [lance corporal] in charge,’ he said. In his view, those who suggest the 2011 incident was an aberration are deluding themselves.23 That view accords with that of Former First Sea Lord Admiral Lord West, whom Chris Terrill quoted in a Telegraph piece in 2015. ‘If there had been helmet cameras on every soldier during the Second World War, we would have thousands of cases like this — tens of thousands of cases,’ West said. Watching the scene outside the courts as the process came to an end in the spring of 2017, however, as aged demonstrators, many of whom had never fought, expressed seemingly unconditional support for a man whose actions had appalled many of the younger generation who had fought in Helmand, it was hard not to see an example of another broad generational divide thrown up by the recent war.

			The appeals process concludes in March 2017. At the Royal Courts of Justice, Blackman’s murder conviction is quashed and replaced with one of manslaughter on the grounds of diminished responsibility. The judges rule ‘the appellant suffered from quite exceptional stressors … during the time of that deployment which increasingly impacted on him the longer he was in command at CP Omar.’ They declare that Blackman had been suffering from an ‘adjustment disorder’, a recognised psychological condition characterised by the development of emotional or behavioural symptoms in response to an identifiable stressor (or stressors) occurring. ‘There can be little doubt that on 15 September 2011 the appellant was angry and vengeful and had a considerable degree of hatred for the wounded insurgent. On prior deployments, similar emotions had been controlled by him,’ the judges state. ‘The appellant’s decision to kill was probably impulsive and the adjustment disorder had led to an abnormality of mental functioning that substantially impaired his ability to exercise self-control.’

			During the appeal, Neil Greenberg, a psychiatrist, tells the court that everybody has their ‘breaking point’. ‘There is no such thing as a Rambo type, an Arnold Schwarzenegger soldier, who can face all sorts of stresses and appear to be invulnerable,’ Greenberg says. ‘That sort of person only exists in the cinema.’ The other factors the judges take into account include the fact that Blackman had not received full pre-deployment training — he had to take time out of training because of his father’s death — and that Blackman regarded himself as easily identifiable and targeted by the insurgents.

			Outside court, Blackman’s wife, Claire, says she is delighted by the result, saying it ‘much better reflected the circumstances that [her] husband found himself in during that terrible tour of Afghanistan’. Emerging on to the steps of the courts to applause from a crowd of veterans — including three cheers for her — and the honking of taxi horns, she says, ‘We must now hope to secure a significant reduction in the sentence.’ Oliver Lee is there that day, with Steph Moran and both their wives, despite his discomfort with associating himself in public with the Drax-Forsyth-Goldberg axis. But he feels that the ultimate verdict is the right one. Blackman is not innocent, but a manslaughter charge takes into account the external factors that went overlooked before.

			Blackman’s sentence was originally life with a minimum of ten years, subsequently reduced to life with a minimum of eight. As soon as the conviction moves from murder to manslaughter, there is no longer a mandatory life sentence. The judges have discretion and give him a ‘determinate’ seven-year sentence, meaning it is fixed in duration. The general rule is that you are released — absent good reason — ‘on licence’, a set of conditions, at the halfway point. The three and a half years Blackman has already served meet this requirement and he goes free the following month. On 28 April 2017, Blackman and his wife are whisked away to a country hideaway, after he is smuggled out of prison in Wiltshire hiding under a blanket in the back of a police car.

			It is a suitably shabby end to a decade and a half of Britain trying, haphazardly, imperfectly, and often simply unsuccessfully, to impose accountability for things that happen in — and the decision to undertake — twenty-first-century war.




		
			Part 6

			Home and Away

			If the army is serious about having an officer corps that is adaptive, it needs to try to carry out a major cultural shift that enables it to embrace accountability, rather than shun it. This is not as difficult as it might sound.

			Thomas E. Ricks, The Generals — American Military Command from World War II to Today (2012)

			They knew they had been ‘had’ and they were in a hurry to tell the world about it. Those who had been fooled most were the young men who had fought and survived the war; the literature of that time in consequence is predominantly masculine, revolving around a theme which may be called ‘The Clever Young Man and the Dirty Deal’.

			Cyril Connolly, Enemies of Promise (1938)

		




			Epilogue

			War Games

			Maidstone, Kent, 10 March 2018

			One Saturday morning at the end of winter I find myself in Mote Park in Maidstone, some 50km south-east of London. The grass is damp and patchy. Gulls fly overheard. A group of men and women of varied ages gather around a Ford Transit that bears the logo of a prancing animal in stylised red. ‘You’re following the undisputed leader in outdoor fitness,’ reads text in block capitals.

			In charge is a shaven-headed man named Andy Hawkett. He is dressed in a blue sweatshirt with the same logo on his left breast, and red piping running down from the collar. Below the sweatshirt are a pair of British Army Multi-Terrain Pattern trousers, the camouflage introduced in 2010. He wears an Apple watch. Hawkett joined the army as a private soldier in 1991, serving in the Royal Engineers for twelve years. After signing off, he worked as a carpenter on building sites, but became bored. In 2009 he re-joined the reserves, hoping to deploy to Afghanistan. He went the following year, on Operation Herrick 12, the summer tour in 2010. Hawkett had previously completed operational tours to Bosnia, Kosovo, Macedonia and Northern Ireland. Those, though, were nothing like late Afghanistan.

			The experience was, he says, ‘horrific’. As a corporal, but much older than his peers, Hawkett worked as part of an IED search team. They worked with the Gurkhas and Rifles, both units that took intense casualties. Hawkett’s unit were tasked with searching a route where the Royal Engineers planned to build a road. The ground was littered with IEDs; every day, they were shot at. There were seven men in his unit, under a staff sergeant. The team included a full corporal, Hawkett, a lance corporal, and four searchers, with an ammunition technical officer (ATO) from the Royal Logistic Corps attached to disarm bombs. The ATO was blown up. Back at the patrol base that evening, a search dog called Jake, a springer spaniel, came up to Hawkett and started licking him. Hawkett broke down.

			Hawkett returned to the UK on 9 October 2010. Eventually he would adopt Jake. But by December, he knew something was wrong. He could not sleep; he could not focus. He was working in London, rising at the crack of dawn to commute from Kent. He fell out with his wife; they split up. He swung at his son. He was angry all the time; he just wanted to punch people. He experienced flashbacks. The army, conscious that Hawkett, a reservist, was experiencing problems, kept him on full time for a year. In December 2011, he was diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder.

			Hawkett went for cognitive behavioural therapy and a range of other treatments. Nothing seemed to work; the only thing that calmed him down was physical exercise. He had damaged his back, meaning going back to carpentry was unfeasible, but he could still work out. He contacted an organisation founded in 1999 that offers a simulacra of army PT to civilians. He sat his level 1 and level 2 personal trainer exams and started to work peripatetically, in his free time from his day job, at parks in South London and Kent — Canterbury, Croydon, Tunbridge Wells. When a role came up as park manager for British Military Fitness (later rebranded as Be Military Fit) in Maidstone in 2012, he took it.

			The Maidstone participants, some of whom have been attending for a decade, and whose backgrounds range from wealthy London barristers to individuals with much humbler jobs, wear tabards of varying colour depending on their fitness level. Green is the highest, blue the lowest, red the middle. Everyone works together, though — the greens just do more repetitions. There is a warm-up that involves running in random directions while high-fiving each other and kicking one’s legs up behind. Other exercises follow. At the end everyone is tired and slicked with sweat, but there are smiles.

			This is British Military Fitness, c. 2018. I enjoy it, but it is not as I remember British Military Fitness c. 2003. No one gets abused, for a start. ‘I can’t swear at the members; I wouldn’t anyway, because they’re the general public,’ Hawkett tells me afterwards. ‘It’s very different to the army.’ It is a positive experience, clearly, both for Hawkett, who has used his training to temper the demons from his time in Afghanistan, and for his clientele. But it is the British Army packaged and resold to an interested, if somewhat bemused, British public. That speaks to where the institution is in these post-Iraq and Afghanistan days.

			*

			By 2014, the British had been in Afghanistan for thirteen years, twice as long as the Second World War. It was time to go. In Helmand, the man who struck the enormous base at Camp Bastion was Laurence Quinn. A bespectacled lieutenant colonel in the Royal Engineers, Quinn supervised the great deconstruction, interspersing his duties with practice sessions on the bagpipes. The effort was mammoth. In forty-degree heat, troops wearing reflective jerkins over shorts pressure-washed armoured vehicles to meet bio-safety standards stipulated by the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for their repatriation to the UK. Once cleansed, the six-wheeled Mastiffs and tracked Warriors backed into the bellies of bulbous RAF C-17 transport planes, where loadmasters chained them down for the flight west. The roads out, via Pakistan, were not safe. Meanwhile, at a facility called ‘Warlike Scrap’, logisticians dealt with equipment that was to be left behind and could feasibly be repurposed by the Taliban. They sliced up confiscated knives with oxy-acetylene cutters, trimmed electrical cables to lengths of less than 30cm to prevent their use in the detonation of IEDs, and heated unused small-arms ammunition in a sealed vessel nicknamed the ‘popcorn machine’ until the rounds exploded harmlessly.

			I flew into Afghanistan in April 2014. That first morning at Bastion, I saw the curious architecture of contemporary fortification. Even within this protected place, the compounds were walled with HESCO bastion anti-blast barriers. I was officially on assignment for the Economist, a privileged form of journalism about which a certain type of officialdom — World Bank country directors and African presidents et al. — experience palpitations, mainly at the prospect of quotation. But the exercise was not exclusively reportorial. It was an emotional reckoning. Part of me wondered what it would have been like to go back to the army, after university, instead of becoming a journalist and then, maybe, a writer. Many I knew did go. Many people died. I had begun to question the elevation of the martial I knew in adolescence.

			Army coffee was still rated in kilotons. I buzzed over breakfast in the cookhouse. I was struck by visual changes. The ‘Combat 95’ uniform I remembered, alternate fatigues for temperate and desert conditions, was gone. The new grey-green ‘Multi-Terrain Pattern’ camouflage was everywhere. A pilot told me it was a nightmare to iron. Then there was weaponry. Even there, in the heart of Bastion, everyone carried loaded firearms to deter insider attacks; the Afghans we were there to help periodically decided that they would rather we were dead. But this arsenal did not comprise the same weapons as in the past. There was a new ‘Picatinny Rail’ — a standardised mounting system, under the barrel of the SA80, the main infantry rifle, to attach accessories such as a laser sighting system. (I later learned that a plan to paint the rifle brown to make its holder harder to spot faced massive resistance; a brown rifle just did not look as ‘ally’ as a black one.) The magazines were no longer pressed metal but polymer, with a window to reveal how many rounds were loaded. Boots once leather were now suede. You can judge a man by his shoes. This was not the same army.

			That first afternoon, my minder drove me around Camp Bastion. In the evening I visited the biggest of local bigwigs, Brigadier General Daniel Yoo, American chief of regional command (south-west), and his British deputy Brigadier Rob Thomson. The entrance to their headquarters was walled with photographs of soldiers who died in Helmand. It was like a chantry. That night, Yoo and Thomson presented tight transatlantic cooperation. ‘I think your countrymen have done just an extraordinary job,’ said Yoo. ‘From my observation the coalition would not have been able to sustain itself without the UK being part of the framework.’ It was staged, obviously, but I wondered whether it spoke to a broader reality. Things between the British and the American militaries were clearly not as they had been a decade before either, not after Basra.

			Thomson, the British brigadier, was tall and slightly stooping. In 2009, he commanded the 2nd Battalion of the Rifles regiment in the Afghan town of Sangin, a tour with one of the highest casualty tolls of the previous decade. I called it difficult. He said ‘courageous’. I was told later Thomson still snapped round whenever Sangin was mentioned. 13 riflemen were killed on that tour, 11 from one company.1 Many others received life-changing injuries. I wondered how Thomson felt in 2014, in front of his maps, with the British long gone from Sangin and even the Americans pulling out by then. Writing this several years later, I wonder how he feels about it all now.

			Thomson’s ADC — aide-de-camp, a personal assistant to a senior officer — was a captain, his rank indicated by three pips on his uniform. Yet, by some unfeasible cosmic accident, he also appeared to be a child. Back in 2004, three pips on a uniform had meant a proper grown-up: intimidating individuals who ruffled newspapers in the mess and pronounced grandly on the behaviour of subalterns. But of course, you typically promote to captain three years after leaving Sandhurst; newly-minted three-pippers are in their mid-to-late twenties. That seems old when you’re eighteen. It is not when you’re twenty-eight. Here, seeing this new youthfulness, I realised that just as the army had changed, so had I. There was no static vantage point.

			The following day, they flew me to Kabul. The plane was a Hercules, matte black and more martial than the Voyager that had brought me out from Britain, with webbing and exposed wiring inside. Already army slang was seeping back into my lexis. I found myself saying ‘squared away’ for ‘organised’ and ‘piece’ to mean ‘element to be organised’, as in the ‘infantry piece’. There were changes, though. The 9/12th Lancers were next to my regiment in Germany in 2003–4. Here in late Afghanistan, they still had a jovial nickname, but it seemed to be ‘9–1-2 Ghost Recon’ rather than the ‘9–1-2 Formation Recon’. (Both, of course, riffed on old scorn for the Americans.) ‘Mexicans’ was a term of art for the Mercians, a regiment that did not exist when I was eighteen, before the Cheshires, Staffords and Worcestershire and Sherwood Foresters amalgamated in 2007 in the infantry reorganisation. And everywhere, of course, there was that simplest condensation: ‘Afghan’ for ‘Afghanistan’. Afghan. Afghan. Afghan.

			It was dark in the Hercules, and with the soldiers were ‘locally employed civilians’, Afghans in flak jackets that appeared substantially less robust than the ones the westerners were wearing. I inveigled myself into the cockpit. Here was the battered in-use military kit I remembered, scuffmarks and tattered folders and a boiling vessel to make the ubiquitous ‘brew’. The pilots explained the airframe was far from old, but it had been ragged all over Afghanistan.

			We flew north-east over serried snow-capped peaks — magnificent, but what a fundamentally stupid place to pick a fight. Soon Kabul was below, dun and massive. The Hercules can fly a ‘tactical’ approach, the steep descent used when someone may be shooting at you. We plunged downwards. At the military terminal, the topography was striking. The city is up at almost 1,800 metres. In April, the higher peaks were fluted with snow and indecently beautiful. The air was cool, not roasting like Helmand. It was wonderful to be in Kabul now that spring had come, and the Coldstream Guards met us. The Coldstream were the Kabul Support Unit, infantry to take British officials around the capital. At the airport, a lieutenant with a public-school accent delivered the pre-departure spiel — actions in the event of suicide IED attack, which medical facility would receive us in the event of a serious injury. I was nervous now.

			The vehicle they put us in surprised me. It was a Foxhound, the very last of the Dogs of War programme to join the protected mobility fleet. We were strapped down in the back in helmet-body-armour-gloves-ballistic-glasses-blast-resistant-boxer-shorts, all items specified by the embed paperwork. This was not a British Army vehicle as I remembered it. Beyond arthritic tanks, I recalled tottering CVR(T) command vehicles older than their crews and soft-skinned Land Rovers. The Foxhound was a wholly different level of sophistication. There were screens relaying external camera feeds, integral night vision for steering without lights, air conditioning. It was so much better than my memories.

			From the airport, we travelled to Camp Souter. Inside, the flak jackets came off. There was confusion; it transpired the lieutenant was not meant to take us to Souter, but instead to some huge headquarters elsewhere in the city. Back into the Foxhounds and ‘zero alpha radio check over’ and down the road and through more sets of blast barriers. At the airport once more, we met another army press liaison officer, at a café at the terminal that only served crepes. He was white, this man, literally white with rage. I’m not going to name him — though I’m already using his individual foibles to explore the fissures of an entire institution. I said it did not matter; an extra Foxhound jaunt was no drama, please don’t worry. He listened politely. I’m sure, though, that when my troublesome notepad and I were out of earshot he tore that that Coldstream lieutenant a new orifice for taking us (‘A JOURNALIST TOO’) to the wrong place.

			It is important, this point.

			To swear gratuitously might indicate a paucity of vocabulary. In this context though, in the army, ‘to fuck up’ is a technical term. This blanched-with-unnecessary-rage press officer at KAIA airport, back in 2014, made it dramatically clear to me that the British Army still believed, strongly, in the concept of crucifixion for minor mistakes at junior levels. As a late teenager, I used to find that very strange. Anyone with a passing familiarity with British military recruitment materials will remember talk of ‘taking responsibility’ and ‘junior leadership’. Yet much of what I remembered from the army was the opposite, the endless search for ‘top cover’, for someone else to sign off on a decision, so that if fucking up occurred, it was someone else’s fault.

			It is a basic truism of military institutions, in particular in peacetime, that individuals face greater sanction for fucking up than the rewards they can gain for doing a particular task well. Not-having-fucked-up is also a state comparable to virginity: all you can do is lose it. This incentive set cripples initiative. And yet, here it still was in 2014. And alongside it existed that which I had seen at the book launch in London the year before: the complete lack of accountability for those at the top who had made the decision to — and the decisions how to — prosecute the wars in the first place.

			We drove the next morning all the way across Kabul to the Afghan National Army Officer Academy at Qargha. Sandhurst-in-the-Sand was set below craggy hills. There was a briefing with an academic from real-Sandhurst and an Irish Guards colonel who was clearly very smart. They pointed out that the chief of the Afghan Army went to real-Sandhurst back sometime in the early Pliocene era. I asked if he was termed a Floppy, as Fucking Lazy Overseas People, or Future Leaders Of Potential Enemies, are traditionally known down in Camberley. Everyone looked embarrassed and said absolutely not.

			Four months later, US Army Major General Harold J. Greene would become the highest-ranking American officer to die in an overseas conflict since Vietnam when a rogue Afghan soldier shot him during another visit to Qargha.2 At least fifteen other people were hit in the same incident. No one shot at us that day in April, although everywhere we went we were accompanied by fully-armed western ‘Guardian Angel’ troops, as a precaution against insider attack. It was like a school trip, and when it was done we headed back in the Foxhounds to Camp Souter. There, going off on mid-tour R&R, was a British infantry officer with blondish hair, carrying a mysterious bubble-wrapped package. He explained it was two Lee-Enfields and a Martini-Henry, rifles developed in the nineteenth century, found in Afghanistan. He was taking them home as souvenirs.

			I flew back to Bastion from Kabul. In the great cantonment they took me to a battle school where they were training the Afghans. But by far the most interesting stuff came by night. In a former life, the year after I left university, and by which point I had already decided I was not going back to the army, I lived with a friend in pre-revolutionary Cairo, in an apartment on an island on the Nile thick with girls and parties and the deep disapproval of the religionist doormen who sat downstairs. My friend was there on his furlough abroad from Edinburgh University, studying Arabic. I was learning Arabic because I wanted to be a foreign correspondent. Later, like everyone else, he joined the army. Here in Afghanistan, seven years on, he persuaded my minders to let him take me out. And you could do that here; we were in the fleshpots of Bastion, after all.

			We drove to a PX, as the Americans term the shops on their bases. We talked over elaborate hot chocolate; there was nothing harder to drink. His unit was bored, running orientation and shooting ranges for newly arrived troops. They had never been out beyond the perimeter wire, and with final withdrawal barely six months away, they never would. The jokes about the ‘punchy war stories’ the men would not be able to tell were bitter. I began to see what much of the previous decade had really been about for the western military participants, and perhaps too those they had been fighting: a test of the idea that there is individual strengthening to be achieved by exposure to hazard. That — and I do not think this is too grand a way to state it — redemption can be achieved through violence. This may seem foolishly boyish as a shaping factor for the behaviour of an entire national institution. Perhaps by now you will agree, though, that in many ways, the British Army is just a great big band of boys. And it shows too, that the motivations of the young men in their Multi-Terrain Pattern overalls were not far from those of the equally young men who blew themselves up as suicide bombers while trying to kill the foreigners in their countries. Those boundaries are much less clear than we might think.

			I flew home from Afghanistan on the same flight as the infantry officer with the bubble-wrapped rifles. We sat up half the night waiting for the plane. The RAF paused in the Gulf, Cyprus and Germany before England. We were on board for most of a day. We talked. He was a flier, no doubt about that. He had been a platoon commander at Sandhurst — one of the most prestigious captain’s jobs in the British Army. He was about my age, then twenty-eight, and he seemed to me — and perhaps I to him — an example of a road not taken. He had abandoned a nascent archaeological career to go for a soldier. We meandered slowly by jet across half a hemisphere. I explained this trip had made it clear to me that I was right not to go back to the army. I needed to be creative and write, and not be institutionalised. He said he was glad of his own choice because it gave him what he craved — an opportunity to test himself in extremity. In 2009, he had participated in Operation Panther’s Claw. One of his men was shot in the initial stages. Journalists clogged the vehicle needed for evacuation, but he got his man back, and he survived. Other men of his became casualties.

			I looked at his eyes; they flashed a little too brightly. That is no more than my impression. But I was not convinced these experiences had strengthened him, that maybe they had left him damaged. Or perhaps they did both — and that is the hardest thing of all to understand.

			I think again, as I write this now, of another experience that had taken place the summer before, in 2013, when I was first considering writing this book. I dined in the mess in St. James’s Palace with a Guards officer friend. It was all that I remembered: silver, paintings and soldier-servants toting elaborate cocktails. Yet on the other side of the room was a young man with no legs, blown asunder in Afghanistan in 2009. This phenomenon did not exist — or at least, not in the same numbers or with the same degree of relative youth — ten years earlier. He wore black tie sewn over his prostheses; I saw he wore bright blue socks on his fake feet, in a version of Sloaney colour-contrast fashion. I listened to his brave stoicism, but came away violently angry, with an impression of male culture extended far beyond what it could cope with. Then, I thought that perhaps this idea that there was glory in the profession of arms was not just an inevitability of adolescence, but a violent trick, the revenge of old men upon the young. There is little redemption through violence to be had in foreign fields, and legs blown off are gone for good. It was then that I knew I needed to write this book.

			My exposure to late Afghanistan was fleeting. I was glad I went, but this book is not a work of war correspondence. The narrative you have just finished is pieced together from interviews and documentary sources. I was not present for the events I have written about. But just as things had continued in my absence previously, so they went on after I returned from that brief visit. As the Bastion drawdown continued through the summer of 2014, conditions for the remaining troops became increasingly austere. Notices in the cookhouse advised the dates when supplies of such coveted foodstuffs as Rice Krispie squares and Nutrigrain bars would be exhausted. Media officers pushed a line about ‘pulling out in good order’. In a carefully choreographed ceremony, British Brigadier Darrell Amison, commander of 102 Logistic Brigade, handed the giant dummy ‘key’ to the camp to Afghan general Abdul Qayum Totakhil. The army sought to present the exercise as both a logistical triumph and a well-managed conclusion.

			Not everyone agreed. Six weeks before ‘B-Day’, the October date for the final departure of British troops, Laurence Quinn gave a tour of Bastion to a bearded Afghan colonel who would inherit the property’s management. Surrounded by a clutch of their respective aides, and with a translator to intercede, they visited an electricity generating facility. A cameraman recorded all that followed.3 Quinn explained that the dynamos were only connected to their immediate surroundings, not to the whole camp. ‘Perhaps we’ll do that next time we come back,’ he said jokingly.

			On the surface, the Afghan colonel played the game of rapport. ‘We’ll keep it like that for when you come back,’ he replied, smiling, via his translator. Privately though, his opinions differed. There was some awe — ‘have you ever seen such a workshop in your life?’ he remarked in his own language to a colleague as they entered one huge hangar — but scorn followed. ‘They should have built some essential infrastructure — a hydroelectric dam,’ he commented. ‘At least the revenue would have come back to us.’

			‘Should I translate those words?’ the translator inquired.

			‘No, don’t tell him, this is just between us.’

			‘But they’re looking at me.’ The translator’s reply was the plaintive complaint of the servant with two masters.

			‘Tell him some rubbish, like, you’ve spent a lot here, cheers.’

			The beleaguered interpreter did as he was bid. Later, the Afghan colonel vented on a mobile phone: ‘I swear they’ve spent all the money on themselves,’ he expostulated. ‘They’re taking all the important things.’

			At 10 a.m. on Saturday 26 October, John Lilley, a 43-year-old Scots Guardsman and the most senior non-commissioned officer on the base, lowered the Union Jack. At 5.30 a.m. the following day, 200 Afghan troops relieved the last British soldiers on the perimeter. Officers had previously inspected thirty-six guard towers to make sure they were free of pin-ups before the nudity-conscious Afghans arrived. Finally, as Apache attack helicopters circled overhead to provide security, the final British elements climbed into waiting Chinooks. The last man out was a Royal Air Force wing commander, Matt Randall. He carried the Union Jack that had come down the day before. After Randall had lifted off, one of the watching Apaches bounced on the apron, the pilot’s own personal farewell. He jettisoned his flares on the flight out. And with that, the British were gone from Helmand.

			Barely a week later but half a world away, on 5 November 2014, the British Army opened another facility at Kerry Town outside Sierra Leone’s muggy capital of Freetown. Here, over 8,000km from Camp Bastion, other Royal Engineers had constructed an emergency centre to fight the world’s largest-ever outbreak of Ebola virus. Adjacent to villas intended for the beneficiaries of an interrupted local minerals boom, the troops had cleared a rectangle of bush, exposing reddish laterite soil. White tents and firmer structures roofed with corrugated metal provided separate facilities for suspected and confirmed cases, and health worker decontamination. Plastic sheets sheathed mattresses on wheeled frames. There were eighty beds for local patients; military medics from 22 Field Hospital operated another twelve to treat any expatriate medics who were infected.

			West Africa posed a very different prospect for the British Army than Afghanistan. After a few days, soldiers locked away their rifles. They faced no threat of violence. Yet Kerry Town also represented a return to familiar territory. Fourteen years previously, in 2000, the British had intervened in Sierra Leone to end a bloody civil war and rescue a UN peacekeeping mission about to be pushed into the blue waters of the Atlantic. That West African adventure did not just predate Afghanistan. Instead, along with the other short, sharp operation in Kosovo in 1999, it prefigured it, suggesting to Tony Blair that overseas war-making was both feasible and politically expedient.

			The Ebola response of 2014–15 was not an unequivocal success for the British Army. Oliver Johnson was a British doctor in Freetown during the outbreak and country director for the King’s Sierra Leone Partnership, which aimed to strengthen health care provision in the country. Johnson subsequently co-authored a book on the Ebola outbreak, and describes the army’s activities at the time as a ‘heavily-qualified success at best.’ He writes:

			Although there were several things that were done very well — including impressive logistics and scale up of burials, improved coordination of national and districts, and provision of high quality care at Kerry Town — there were a number of things that have been widely criticised — including extremely slow construction of Ebola Treatment Units, inappropriate ‘no-touch care’ training and poor coordination of the National Ebola Training Academy, overly-restrictive eligibility criteria for national health workers to access their Kerry Town Emergency Treatment Unit (empty beds while people were dying on the street outside), an excessively militaristic style of decision making (which made critical feedback and nuanced discussion more challenging) and an initial lack of cultural consideration on issues of quarantine and burial.4

			Ultimately, however, the army’s Ebola response achieved its objective, and the outbreak was eventually brought to an end. As this book has shown, the two huge preceding operations, in Iraq and Afghanistan, were markedly less successful. Afghanistan, and Iraq before it to a lesser extent, also bent the British Army dramatically both into, and out of, shape. In almost every respect, the institution that pulled out of Bastion in late 2014 was, compared to the army which lined up in Kuwait in 2003, more professional, better-led, less racist, sexist and drunken, and far better equipped. It had also, though, lost two wars back to back, and haemorrhaged the trust of the politicians who commanded it — and vice versa. There is a case, as the title of Theo Farrell’s Afghanistan history suggests, that the wars there and in Iraq were ‘unwinnable’. Others are even blunter. As the narrator remarks in War Machine, Netflix’s fictionalised take on Rolling Stone’s defenestration of US commander Stanley McChrystal in Afghanistan, ‘the thing about counter-insurgency is that it doesn’t really work’.5

			Regardless of outcome, the wars changed the army. As the German report into the Boer War from over a century earlier, the document quoted at the opening of this book, once presciently pointed out, with regard to another British Army:

			All those long Colonial campaigns, much as they demanded from the troops in the way of exertions and of supporting privations, great as were the difficulties of War Office administration which they involved, had also this great disadvantage that they were prejudicial to the understanding of war on a large scale.

			This was as true in 2014 in Helmand as it was on the veldt, as seen from Berlin, in 1904.

			And yet there were good points too. In the inevitably schizophrenic world of soldiering (where you can spend a working lifetime without ever doing it for real), recent conflict made many things much better. The experience of Stuart Nicholson at Brecon in 2011–12 is worth briefly revisiting here. For military generations before the Iraq and Afghan wars, with no real combat available to act as a ‘man-test’, the Infantry Battle School there had to serve as a substitute within the army. As a consequence, courses were made pointlessly grim so they could serve as rites of passage. Entire military cohorts had been scarred by angry men shouting at them at Brecon, by being made to crawl up streams and other indignities; in turn, as with the bullying in the mess of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards, but rather more physically demanding, they had then determined to inflict the same on those that came after them.

			Now that there were real things to do on operations, that bullshit went out of the window. There was little point making someone crawl up a stream when the man had a Military Cross. The tension which Paul Hollingshead encountered at Brecon in 2006, when instructors who had not done it for real were talking big (and which Richard Dannatt, head of the Army from 2006 to 2009, had also encountered as a junior officer back from a bloody Ulster tour in the 1970s when Ireland was first starting but the instructors had never been there), was now absent. ‘Iraq had finished, Afghanistan was winding up a bit,’ Nicholson says. ‘Nobody didn’t have a war story at Brecon, and as a result of that, there was no bullshit about it. You couldn’t wave your dick at anyone at Brecon, because who knows what he’d done?’

			Yet that time of high experience was inevitably brief. Due to the extraordinarily fast half-life of the institution — soldiers on average do not serve for long, and regimental soldiering is perennially a young person’s game — the experience load so apparent at Brecon in 2012 was a brief flowering. By 2018, outside Special Forces, only senior NCOs and officers at the rank of senior captain or above had residual combat experience. The generational gap opened up again as quickly as it had done at the beginning of the wars — just in the other direction.

			The residual Afghanistan deployment, Operation Toral in Kabul, ferrying British officials around the Afghan capital and training Afghan cadets, is not the same experience as Herrick was for those who undertake it. And neither are the multiple other bit-part deployments the army has invented for itself in the years since then, such as sending troops to Estonia or focusing on building expertise for certain regions. Russian expansionism is real, but Operation Cabrit — the name of the Estonia deployment — and the like are still exercises in work creation, to prove that the army still has a role.

			The reality of recent military denial — the fact that no one wants to accept what really happened in Iraq and Afghanistan — was most clear to me in late June 2016, when I attended the annual ‘Land Warfare’ conference organised by the Royal United Services Institute (RUSI), a military think-tank. It took place at Temple House in Westminster, in Dean’s Yard adjacent to Westminster School, less than a week after the Brexit referendum. The atmosphere was, under the surface of coffee and chatter, tense. Someone made a joke about a coup. There were endless officers in attendance; they wore a summer formal uniform with shirts and brown shoes, obviously highly polished. There were faces among them I knew from a dozen years before.

			The conference lasted for two days. In fairness to the organisers, on paper the programme did suggest an attempt to grapple with recent events. The theme was ‘The Importance of Adaptability’. There were sessions on military adaptation in action and ‘Theories and Practices for Adaptability’. Perspectives from ‘the generation that matters’ was a stated priority. They had invited sensible outsiders — someone from management consultants McKinsey, the economist Tim Harford. The talks were largely anodyne, though, an indication of the extraordinary regulatory hold the army has over the institutions that should supervise and scrutinise it. RUSI and its counterparts can seem more like comfy clubs funded partly by arms manufacturers — friendly forces, in the forces’ jargon — than rigorous external overseers.6

			There were interminable speeches by visiting generals of various nationalities. One remarked on an anniversary: it was a hundred years, almost to the day, since the opening of the Battle of the Somme. The speaker did not remark on a more telling parallel between this latest punch-pulling conference and that wretched battle. As a young officer, Sir Archibald Montgomery-Massingberd had served as chief of staff of Fourth Army at the Somme. Two decades later, as chief of the imperial general staff from 1933 to 1936, he suppressed a lessons-learned report into the First World War.7 The British Army has been failing to properly look itself in the mirror in order to preserve the reputations of its senior commanders for a very long time. At the 2016 RUSI conference, in an ostensible indication of the army’s newfound willingness for internal debate, a panel of fresh lieutenant colonels appeared, intended to show the senior command the view from the valley. The half-colonels’ obvious trepidation, their awareness that a foot put wrong in this august company could black-mark them from further career progression, showed the difficulties of such a venture, however laudable, in an authoritarian institution.

			But then someone cracked the ice. I do not know who it was — they sat far forward and to the left of me, and they did not give their name — but an army officer certainly; I imagine he was a senior major or junior lieutenant colonel, very much of the Iraq-Afghan generation. I cannot even remember the exact phrasing of what he said, in a question to some panel, but the subtext was clear: it was all very well gathering here in Temple House and talking about ‘Unpacking the Deductions from Uncertain Threats’ and ‘The Defence Extended Enterprise’, but we’ve really fucked things up twice in a row, and should we not be working out why that happened so it does not again, rather than pretending none of it happened at all?

			Three years had passed since that book launch at the International Institute for Strategic Studies in 2013, referred to in the opening to this book. Then Robert Fox of the Evening Standard had punctured another atmosphere of fantastical self-congratulation, Now, at the RUSI conference, someone was again pointing out the militarily obvious. Friends within the army suggest there is now internal discussion of what went wrong in the recent conflicts: on career courses, the mistakes are now openly discussed. But in the public realm, from where I was sitting, nothing really appeared to have changed in 2016. Two years later, General Nick Carter was replaced as chief of the general staff by now-General Mark Carleton-Smith — who in 2008 devoted his command to moving the huge turbine to the dam in Helmand.

			During the five years I spent researching this book, I became fascinated with the afterlives of the men who had run the Iraq and Afghan wars. I conducted some 260 interviews. I spoke to individuals ranging in rank from junior soldiers to senior generals. Alongside former British Army personnel, I spoke to their families; to journalists who had embedded with British units; to Iraqis, ranging from a general to a housewife; to the British politicians that commanded the army; and the prostitutes who slept with its soldiers. I accumulated four and a half metres of books.

			In interviewing the senior men who ran these wars, some specific locations came up again and again. In London, I would repeatedly be directed to the Army and Navy Club, between the southern interstice of St James Square and Pall Mall. There, I made sure I wore a collar and tie in accordance with the dress code; Terence Cuneo’s ‘The Tragedy of Ulster’ — a 1976 painting showing an upturned car burning, a mob hurling projectiles and two soldiers crouched behind a barricade — stared down on the entrance hallway.

			The locations that lingered with me most, however, were the palaces. In a basement at Buckingham, passing through tunnels that looked as if they had not been repainted since the Blitz, I interviewed Charlie MacDermot-Roe, a squadron second-in-command with SCOTS DG in 2003, who was running HR for the Royal Household. MacDermot-Roe’s position there was clearly below stairs; others were not. In 2013 I had breakfast with David Richards, then newly retired as chief of the defence staff, in his graceful apartment in Kensington Palace. Four years later, I spoke to Nick Houghton, Richards’ successor as CDS, at the Tower of London, where he was serving as its ‘Constable’. Houghton met me at the gate in maroon trousers and took me in to an elegant sitting room featuring yellow and white striped wallpaper, tasselled curtains and a stuffed fox.

			The other places I went to interview senior men were the sites of their commercial afterlives, the places they had gone to work after leaving the military. Stuart Tootal, who led the 3rd Battalion of the Parachute Regiment during its wild summer in Afghanistan in 2006, I found among the glass-walled towers of Canary Wharf; he works as head of security for Barclays. Ed Butler, the brigadier on the same deployment, and before that commanding officer of the SAS, I found at the wonderfully named ‘Equitable House’ just north of London Bridge. The equipment men, those involved in the purchases of the ‘Dogs of War’, I generally spoke to on the telephone, but they universally had passed through the revolving door either to work in defence firms themselves or as consultants to the arms trade.

			They were not the only ones to have set up consultancy shops. Such ventures seemed a go-to for a certain type of senior ex-general; on hanging up their boots, they established little boutiques dispensing ‘strategy advice’. I found the names of these operations fascinating: Richard Shirreff, general officer commanding in Basra in 2006, later set up ‘Strategia Worldwide’ under the slogan, ‘Protecting companies from risk in complex, volatile and uncertain environments’. Peter Wall, chief of the general staff from 2010 to 2013, runs Amicus: ‘Amicus promotes great leadership,’ reads its spiel. ‘We enable you to achieve strategic goals, faster and with more certainty, by focusing on the effectiveness of your people.’ Jonathan Shaw, who as a major general in Basra in 2007 negotiated the deal with the Shia militias to secure the exit of the British, now runs Optima, which ‘brings together a unique grouping of skill-sets to protect people, communities and organisations from explosive threats’. A decade on, Jonathan Shaw is still dealing with things that can blow up in your face.8

			As I worked on this project, the sheer scale of how badly awry Britain’s military adventures had gone post-9/11 became inescapably clear. The grandiose notion of capability at the millennium, embodied by the idea of the ‘Best Little Army in the World’, proved hubristic. This view is widely accepted within the military, even if rarely spoken about in public. ‘Even though looking back on it, it’s very difficult to extol the virtues of what we did — what we achieved — in Iraq and Afghanistan, over all those years we were incredibly bullish, enthusiastic and determined. We were not deterred from any of this, neither were the soldiers,’ General Sir Peter Wall, the former head of the army, told me when I interviewed him in spring 2018.

			Not all of those who ran these wars ended up in palaces.9 But I was rather surprised that any of them had.

			As I spent time with these men (and they were all men, at the top level), I was struck by their idiosyncrasies, the markers that showed that for years they had been part of a closed and curious society. Although they were out of uniform, retired by the time I met them, they tended to dress similarly, their shoes highly polished, evidence of that terrible military truism that if you stand tall and speak clearly, and have sharp creases in your trousers, people are quite likely to follow you, regardless of the material merits of whatever it is you are in fact saying. The most defining markers came with communication. The generals invariably addressed emails ‘Simon,’ — without ‘Dear’ or other term of address, in accordance with the strictures of defence writing. Some of them parroted commercial-ese to refer to the jobs they now did, terms which I was sometimes unsure they really understood. They were more fluent in their own language, Army English. Some of that vernacular is actual words — ‘crunchy’ to mean tough or violent or prestigious, ‘square away’ to sort out. They also had an extraordinary knack of referring to extreme violence in the phraseology of the playroom; one commander memorably referred to the chaos of pre-accommodation Basra as ‘a right old ding-dong’.

			There were other tics, too, notably a sound several made with some arrangement of pursed mouth and tongue to indicate that an event rolled out as planned — a kind of plopping noise to indicate that yes, the armoured brigade moved west just as it was meant to. And of course, there was the alphabet gazpacho of acronyms: from ISTAR and CVR(T) to JTAC and OMLT.10 It was due to my fluency in this verbiage, decent originally but ever improving as I worked, that this project was feasible at all. I knew the difference between Officer Commanding (OC), a major who commands a sub-unit such as an infantry company or armoured squadron, and a commanding officer (CO), a lieutenant colonel who commands a battalion or regiment. I knew the difference between that major’s badge of rank — a crown — and the lieutenant colonel’s, a crown atop a pip. I knew where on their uniform those insignia would be worn.

			Not only did I know the terminology, I imagine I sounded familiar, friendly too. My accent was appropriate. While I tended to push my interpretation of ‘jacket and tie’ to the furthest ends of Army and Navy Club acceptability, I did keep my hair fairly short. Given this apparently friendly plumage, in retrospect I wondered if I should have warned them, these men who ran the Iraq and Afghan wars, about what I was finding out. I wondered if I should have read them some kind of journalistic quasi-Miranda rights, that I was bound to my job and obligations as a reporter, not to the management of their historical reputations; to have said explicitly that anything they said could and would be checked against other parties. But these were grown men. They were not civilians.

			As Tom Ricks argued in his 2012 book The Generals, the practice of ‘relief for cause’, removing military commanders for underperformance, went in the US from standard procedure in the Second World War to effectively unknown by the time of Iraq. The only ‘reliefs’ that took place there were by politicians of the top individuals, a less effective solution than an army prepared to cleanse its own ranks. That is also true for the British. One former officer friend who left the army a few years ago recently said to me angrily, ‘I can’t believe Stuart Skeates is still in the army.’ Stuart Skeates was the British brigadier on watch when Taliban fighters raided Camp Bastion in 2012. After this grievous breach of camp security, the Americans forced two generals from their side to retire. Skeates was promoted. ‘It is amazing to me that after the horrific events of September 14th and all that is learned from this US report, the UK thinks it can get away with a quick review and take no further action,’ the mother of one of the Americans killed in the raid later wrote. (‘If you’re talking about accountability, there’s really only one group to be held accountable for that attack in September, and that’s the 15 insurgents who attacked the camp,’ Skeates himself told reporters in 2013. ‘And, 14 of those were killed, and one of those is in prison.’)

			What took place in the last nineteen years was not general war — it was discretionary. When that is the case, everything is different; the stakes are simply too low. In the Iraq and Afghanistan conflicts, it was hard to tell who was winning until it was clear that we had lost. There therefore needed to be other systems of accountability. Instead, business continued as usual.

			Firing people is not about creating scapegoats. It is necessary, because if the expectation is that it will never — can never — happen, a culture of imperviousness permeates the whole institution. There were people I met in researching this book, the fusty denizens of the Cavalry and Guards Club and Wellington Barracks, whom I wanted to reach out and touch, as if to confirm that, in the year of our lord 2015, 16, 17 they, with their extraordinary Victorian demeanours, were truly real. The generals were, in general, not like that; they seemed intelligent, hard-working, and relatively unpretentious. However, the more I worked on this project, the more I came to see that the way institutions work is often more a function of incentives than individuals. By giving senior individuals free passes, we had set up the wrong incentives. The politicians were equally culpable and had hardly taken their portion of responsibility. The task of modern generalship is also extraordinarily complex. Nonetheless, the generals had supervised failure on a grandiose scale and faced no accountability for it; that hypocrisy had trickled down into the institution below them and was souring it.

			To me, too, the way these men sloped their shoulders also seemed to travesty the ideological notions the army had promulgated: the brute notion of military responsibility, the way you can lock a man up, in extremis, for failing to shave, the way you hold literally, in command, the fate of other men’s lives in your hands. I thought of Paul Yingling, a US army lieutenant colonel who, in the darkest depths of the Iraq War in 2007, published an article in which he stated, ‘As matters stand now, a private who loses a rifle suffers far greater consequences than a general who loses his part of a war.’

			Given the generals could always be blamed — fairly or otherwise — and given they did not have another military layer above them to which they could pass the blame, it was in some ways natural they blamed each other. Still, I was surprised at how enthusiastically, and with what vitriol, they sometimes did this. The insults were varied, imaginative, and again, occasionally redolent of a militarised schoolyard: ‘staff officer down to his fingertips’, ‘vile fat self-interested RTR [Royal Tank Regiment] officer who has never done anything in his life’. Listening to those expostulations, I realised that, while success has many fathers, failure truly is an orphan. And, for the recent wars, the orphanage of this failure was the Army and Navy Club and the palaces.

			*

			On a personal level, I found more comprehensive closure. In 2017, I travelled to Dorset by train. There I met Ben Simmons, a schoolfriend who, like all the others, had become an army officer, and goes by the nickname ‘Bags’. He had left the army some years previously and now runs a company, called Bare Arms, offering firearms training to actors and stuntmen, as well as other services to the theatrical industries.

			For two days, I watched a course run by his team. We stayed in a stone-flagged manor house that seemed like a hippy commune: there was racked devotional literature and they made their own butter. The actual instruction took place in a nearby shooting range, housed in a converted road tunnel. In a classroom upstairs with foam mats on the floor, I watched as my friend and his business partner, an RAF Regiment officer now teaching at Sandhurst, took four young men and a woman through the drills to operate a Short Magazine Lee-Enfield (SMLE) rifle, the weapon associated indelibly with the First and Second World Wars and the latter days of the British Empire.

			The principle the course adhered to was that if you could operate a firearm for real, it would look real when done onscreen. They used the SMLE as their first weapon, before ascending to more complex automatic devices and pistols. The other indigenes of the shooting range were notably weird, including a glutinous man, not part of the Bare Arms course, who one afternoon came to fire an enormous Barrett M82 sniper rifle. Yet within the course, the teachers were impressive. They had the easy mien of men who had been taught to teach by the military, but had adjusted their tenor for luvvies, just as Andy Hawkett had done for British Military Fitness in Maidstone. And both of them had done it for real in Afghanistan. After the classroom sessions we ended up on our bellies in the dark, in the range itself, firing live at targets.

			The man who ran the course and I at fifteen, sixteen and seventeen had crawled through Thetford Forest on the same escape-and-evasion exercises with the school cadet force. We had paraded on the same car park masquerading as a drill square with the same history teacher, AJ, on Monday afternoons, back when it was all pretend. In August of 2017 we were at it again, as he taught his actors to do something pretend convincingly. The army had come around in circles for us.

			AJ had got more military return from my friend than from me. Post-university, he signed up for real. In Afghanistan in 2011, he made a decision to take out a Husky, a protected mobility vehicle on which he was not trained (though he was qualified to command a much more complicated Challenger 2 tank), for an emergency task. They were blown up, and though uninjured, he was judged to have made the wrong decision; his career prospects withered. His final job was working as an assessor at the Army Officer Selection Board, as the facility in Wiltshire that determines entry to Sandhurst is now called. He continued there after voluntary discharge in 2015, working as a reservist.

			At Westbury, Simmons witnessed the extraordinary antics that took place as the army’s recruitment collapsed now that there were no longer wars to fight, and following the outsourcing of the recruitment process to a private-sector company. Desperate to put bums on seats at Sandhurst, the academy sent back to the selection board forty-eight candidates who had previously failed; some had sat and failed assessments as many as four times, trialling without success for Welbeck, the army’s sixth-form college, at sixteen, for an army scholarship at the same age, then making the two allowed attempts at the main board. They were not promising material, and all had even spent six weeks at Sandhurst on a remedial development course attempting to get marginal candidates to pass. Despite this, most of the candidates’ originally-identified flaws and issues were still evident, including some who would still panic and become irrational under stress, despite being coached. My friend and his fellow assessors changed events round so things would not be too familiar to these Westbury veterans; they gave the re-sitters new assessors so that bias was reduced as much as possible. They ran them through the tests again; they eventually decided some twenty-five of the forty-eight could — just — be put through. That was not enough for the system, though; they were told to go back and scrape the barrel, to look at even those they had failed. They managed to justify passing another ten or so. Sandhurst, desperate for manpower, finally took all but the eight worst of the forty-eight, even the ones who had completely failed the selection board. My friend resigned his commission the next day. He left the reserves, having left the full-time army already.

			In November 2015 and early 2016, I also went back to my old school twice. The first time was for a dinner in AJ’s honour as he zoned in on retirement. I was uncomfortable and scratchy, as I have been every time I have returned to the Perse as an adult. Each time I go back through those Cambridge gates, I am fifteen again, and trying to stick it to the man. The second time, I visited AJ to talk about the book in person. I sat with him in the staffroom. He still did not drink coffee. I have a better sense now of the kind of things that may have led him to those choices. I knew from the hundreds of times I had done this as an adult that he was a nervous interviewee. He explained he only had thirty minutes. We looked out over the cricket pitch in its winter garb with the covers on the wicket. I asked him how it all came to be, this thing of him and the army.

			Though AJ’s interest in military history ran back to his own schooldays, he had no interest in the CCF until the Falklands in 1982. That conflict served as progenitor of a thousand aspirations, both official and individual, to British military elitism. After the Falklands, AJ decided he wanted in; he wanted, far-fetched as he admitted it sounded now, to do his bit in the Cold War. He went away on the cadet officer training courses at Frimley Park in Surrey, an event modulated carefully in its shoutiness, as the attendees were both adult schoolteachers and volunteers. There, as he ironed his uniform, drilled, learnt to fire a rifle and received tea in the morning from a batman, he fell in love with it all.

			He came back and served in the cadet corps at Haberdasher’s Aske’s in Elstree, his old school and the school in which he was teaching when he first went to Frimley Park. When he moved to the Perse, he continued in the role. As a cadet officer in the 1980s, back when the Perse still had a few boarding pupils, AJ did all that he could. He went to Germany and visited the British Army of the Rhine in its state of high Cold War dudgeon. He ran countless summer camps and field days. He applied to the CCF his magnetic, nuclear enthusiasm, which is surely the greatest of all pedagogic virtues. The old World War II-style vintage battledress, heavy khaki trousers and short tunic-like tops, which cadets wore when he was at school in the late 1960s and early 1970s, had gone. Now it was camouflaged smocks and lightweights. You could look like a commando. It had sex appeal.

			It would be easy, with my pen, platform and adulthood, to crucify AJ. To cast him as another paper tiger dragged from history, like David Niven in that 1975 film or Kantorek, Erich Maria Remarque’s teacher in All Quiet on the Western Front. That read would be easy. It would also be wrong. AJ was a fantastic teacher of history, and I think also a good man — an honourable man, even. When I did not get into university the first time, it was AJ who in that bleakest of Januarys in 2003 sat me down and said, of course you should reapply. I still remember that.11 AJ was an outstanding teacher. And no one from school died.

			But still … a lot of other people have died.

			The dinner in the autumn of 2015 took place in a space carved off the old gymnasium labelled the Keith and Beryl Barry Room, after some long-vanished school teacher and his consort. Afterwards, I leafed through the photo albums AJ had brought. They showed all those cadet force generations. One, I believe from the late 1980s, captioned with an irony I found almost impossible to bear as ‘the reality of army life’, showed an adolescent swinging through an assault course, probably at nearby Bassingbourn, deep in the peace. There was no death, or prospect thereof, and no sand either. When a moment presented itself that night, I got AJ alone. I asked very gently how he felt about having enthused all those young men to the army, and by consequence — though unknowingly at the time — to the wars, over all those years. He was suddenly very serious, and a little embarrassed, as teachers sometimes are when they speak to their once-troublesome ex-charges without the disciplinary levers or age and power discrepancy that they once had. ‘Thank god no one got killed,’ he said simply, and in a manner completely genuine.12

			Of those militarised old boys, though, many did see things in Iraq or Afghanistan they would perhaps rather not have seen. Peter was there in the IED summer of 2009 when, as he bluntly put it in a pub afterwards, ‘a lot of people were getting blown up’. Ben Simmons was in that RTR squadron on Herrick 10 in 2009 that had three killed out of a total headcount of somewhere between eighty and 110. Dan, mobilising as a reservist, had on his tour in Helmand to address his boys’ — not unreasonable, given all that had happened — concerns that they might be prosecuted if they opened fire. AJ himself, in this after-dinner conversation, mentioned another man named Guy. He was, I believe, a sixth-former when I was a first year, so I barely knew him as anything other than a very senior grown-up indeed. AJ said Guy had told him he had seen some very bad things in Afghanistan; one of his men had a leg blown off.

			Throughout that meal, I sat next to an older old boy, ten years beyond me perhaps, who had come to this ceremonial supper with his wife. He had soldiered too, in a cavalry regiment. He had not gone to university, rare for the Perse even in his time. He said that for him, the school was the pinnacle of his academic experience in life. He was out now, working for a security firm in London like many another ex-officer. He seemed to be comfortable in both the service demobilised tribe and this funny little town in the Fens.

			I explained I was writing about how the army had changed. He said it hadn’t at all. He drank a little and ate more, and said then, ‘It’s changed beyond all recognition.’ As his wife discussed the relative quirks of Cambridge girls’ schools, he turned to me in response to some oh-so-leading question — of the sort you learn after a certain time served in the disreputable profession of journalist. I had asked about the emotional impact of all this war-making.

			We sat in the little room to the left of the hall, oblique to those bike sheds now equipped with fixed-gear models, and across the old astroturf where I had seen boys mill about in their sports kit, with the same overloud adolescent voices so familiar from long ago. And the school had much changed, but was still the same place, and the army had lost the wars, but was still the same army, and this ex-soldier said:

			‘I’ve killed thirty-two people.’

			He added context, explaining that one of them was eight years old. I thought of what AJ had said. It was true that no one from school had got killed. But that moral reckoning — that path to individual relief — was wrong. It was not just about being killed. It was about killing as well.

			I looked out at the school, now twice the size, with girls throughout, but in many ways the same. It was still, in 2015, a place built — or at least a provincial ex-direct-grant variant of places that were built — to train boys to run the Empire, or pass army officer selection boards. Here we were with the Empire fifty years gone, and the recent wars both, by any sensible judgement, defeats. I wondered why they were still at it. Why had we stuck to the old ways when the old ways had so palpably not worked? I wondered, among the remembered voices of adolescence, if this thing of British institutions struggling with both change and a new century ran well beyond the army.

			London, June 2013 — May 2020
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			Notes and References

			Introduction: Over the Top

			
					The struggle was in fairness temporary; my brother is now a neuroscientist and at twelve he was largely just bored. But that had consequences.

					The practice was finally abolished in 1871.

					Used to indicate that the names of those who have committed a misdemeanour will not be mentioned in order to spare them punishment — and a construction which I would never hear in the real army. Robert Johnson of the Changing Character of War Programme at Oxford also points out that the phrase refers to closing ranks against outsiders, an act that the army still often engages in.

					Three were military doctors, two regular officers.

			

			Chapter 1: Canada

			
					Orr recalls the 17th as the date these events took place, but cannot be completely sure.

					Interview and written correspondence with Stewart Orr.

					They are issued the standard Bergen rucksacks, but most choose to remove the side pouches and zip them together — calling the result ‘rocket pouches’.

					His actual rank was sergeant but he was holding the local rank of staff sergeant.

					Interview with Charlie MacDermot-Roe.

					At Bovington, the sixteen and seventeen-year-olds in the Junior Leaders’ Regiment were too young to drive Class H tracked vehicles, and so their training did not involve vehicle driving and maintenance. Instead they focused on gunnery on a Mark 1 Chieftain and signals on the old Larkspur radio system. Orr received the news his mother had died during a ranging gun stoppage drill lesson.

					In July 1971, in a ceremony at Holyrood Palace in Edinburgh, the Royal Scots Greys, the old 2nd Dragoons, amalgamated with the 3rd Carabiniers, themselves an earlier merger of the 3rd and 6th Dragoon Guards. Throughout its history, the size of the army has oscillated widely, though the multi-million twentieth-century peaks in 1918 and 1945 were particularly high. Originally, regiments were simply disbanded when they were no longer needed; the practice applied first to the most ‘junior’ or recently established ones. After the First World War, however, amalgamation superseded disbandment, leading to the kind of fractional joinery (e.g. 9th/12th Royal Lancers, 4th/7th Royal Dragoon Guards) that took place in 1971. Amalgamation, which technically saw no unit’s actual demise, was meant to be fairer. Measures such as staffing the hierarchy of newly merged regiments with a careful mix of the two previous organisations aimed to ensure a mixed DNA. But merging was not always an equal process. In the years after 1971, many would say that in the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards, the Scots Greys, the more famous, smarter regiment, simply ate the Carabiniers, swallowing them whole until there was little trace left beyond the crossed carbines behind the eagle on the cap badge. (Interviews with multiple SCOTS DG officers.)

					Allan Mallinson, The Making of the British Army (Transworld, 2009), p. 425.

					https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/694179/20180327_UK_Armed_Forces_Operational_deaths_post_World_War_II-O.pdf

					The former was originally an unfamiliar dish for Meier; after he learnt of it, he drove to London to buy 1,000 litres of malt vinegar, a condiment then unavailable in West Germany. He sourced the correct flour for batter from France. (Interview with Wolfgang Meier.)

					Orr is not entirely sure of the number of gun tanks in the initial delivery but thinks it was five.

					Orr’s 22 years of service expired in May 1999, but Lieutenant Colonel Andrew Phillips, the SCOTS DG’s then commanding officer, spotted that there was no one at regimental duty to fill his role with the regiment’s Pipes and Drums. Orr went onto extended colour service, meaning he could serve for an additional year at a time, up to a maximum of five, at the commanding officer’s discretion, and providing there was a need. That move allowed him to linger in service into his forties, the coldest warrior in NATO, like a breathing repository of the British Army’s recent history. His appointment and full title in 2002 was staff sergeant drum major. (Correspondence with Stewart Orr.)

					Interview with Charlie MacDermot-Roe.

					Known as jirgas in regiments that had maintained their Anglo-Indian traditions.

					The mandarins in the Ministry of Defence had to look elsewhere for a replacement. Britain, crowded and small, was a non-starter. In Germany, there were big (by European standards) training estates at Bergen-Hohne and Sennelager, but these were still inadequate. Even with the withdrawal east of Suez, British military facilities remained global. The army trained in northern Kenya, where allegations of mistreatment and abuse of the local Samburu population would rumble for decades. It was Australia that had hosted the experimental detonations that midwifed Britain’s domestic nuclear weapon programme into existence back in the Bakelite 1950s. But after Gaddafi closed Libya it was to Canada that the army returned.

					The exercising troops roll through BATUS for a training season that generally runs from April to October. During the brutal winter there is no activity on the prairie; all equipment is brought into workshops for refurbishment or return to Europe. Following the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards, other units in 7th Brigade will cycle through as the 2002 season continues. Orr’s escapade took place during the final day of Exercise Totalise, the final portion of the training using the laser system. The name was chosen by Colonel Simon Caraffi on a previous posting at BATUS as a major in 1995. Caraffi was the commander of BATUS in 2002, and sought World War Two battles that involved the antecedents of both his own regiment, the Royal Tank Regiment, and that of his then boss, who was a Scots Dragoon Guard. The original operations Totalise and Tractable took place in Normandy in August 1944. (Interview and correspondence with Simon Caraffi.)

					Interview and written correspondence with Simon Caraffi.

					It will require the advent of YouTube in 2005 and several subsequent years to pass for the inevitable BATUS Downfall parody to surface. In this production, Hitler screaming in his bunker is subtitled to the outraged response of an officer to the news that he will be posted to BATUS. ‘You’ll be in Suffield. It’s basically a Siberian gulag,’ reads one frame. (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wkov0U8Uwa4).

					Correspondence with Robert Johnson of the Changing Character of War Programme at Oxford.

					The troop carrier variant of the CVR(T) range of light armoured vehicles.

					The RDG had recently returned from the huge Sair Sareea II exercise in Oman.

					Major Allen received a battalion commanding officer’s Warrior vehicle, which was better suited to his task than a tank. The recce troop remained as standard — eight vehicles. The third troop was created through another bodge: there were not enough CVR(T)s to make up their complement, so they were joined by the squadron sergeant major and the regimental sergeant major, who both had Spartans of their own. Overall, the set-up was a compromise, but by the time the training started the intent was that they would form a version of the old Soviet-style combat recce patrol, with the lighter CVR(T)s forward and the tanks behind and out of sight, but ready to offer assistance if needed. (Correspondence with Stewart Orr.)

					At home in Germany the 9th/12th are garrisoned at Hohne, next to brigade headquarters. Due to military quirk, they are divisional troops and not part of the brigade as a deployable entity, and thus are free to play enemy in 2002. Though their officers’ mess, a German manor house absorbed by the training area called Schloss Bredebeck, is an object of envy, the 9th/12th are often an object of ribbing across the armoured corps. They are known pejoratively as the ‘Three-quarter Recce’. Even more damningly — in another example of the contempt of all Americanism pervasive in the army at this time — another nickname is ‘9–1-2 Formation Recon’.

					Interview and correspondence with David Richards.

					Called Iron Hammer and conducted by 12th Brigade with the headquarters of 3rd (UK) Division, the exercise was the first time since the end of the Cold War that a British brigade had exercised with a full complement of battlegroups below them and a divisional headquarters above them. (Correspondence with Chris Brannigan.)

					The face-off occurred in Kosovo in 1999 over an incident at Pristina Airport, and through it Jackson constructed a whole new way to be a British general. (https://www.theguardian.com/world/1999/aug/02/balkans3).

					The position has subsequently changed name several times. The current equivalent is ‘commander field army’.

					Interview and written correspondence with Chris Brannigan.

					The house was in Ralston, the village where married British BATUS staff live, attached to Canadian Forces Base Suffield.

					Brannigan also recalls as present David Rutherford-Jones, the divisional chief of staff, and Mark Goldsack.

					Another example here are the black coveralls favoured by the Royal Tank Regiment. These latter-day enthusiasts invented a notion of Second World War finesse at arms that does not necessary correlate to German 1940s reality. But the ideology is still potent.

					Antony Beevor, D-Day (Penguin, 2009), pp. 191–2; Max Hastings, Overlord (Pan, 1999), pp. 157–9.

					His nickname is sometimes also spelt ‘Loony’.

					Interview and written correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Today, the first level of staff college, the Intermediate Command and Staff Course (Land) is compulsory for all army officers. In the past attendance was contingent on passing exams.

					Interview with SCOTS DG officer.

					In so doing they discovered numerous failings with their kit: boots melted, tanks lacked the right air filters, the A1 version of the SA80 rifle jammed and the old Clansman radios proved almost useless; tanks had to pull up next to each other to pass on orders. (https://www.nao.org.uk/report/ministry-of-defence-exercise-saif-sareea-ii/).

					https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20171123122728/http:/www.iraqinquiry.org.uk/media/243761/2002-07-28-note-blair-to-bush-note-on-iraq.pdf

					The PWRR’s full name is spelt in that manner, with apostrophes like that, though as Justin Featherstone says, ‘it defies standard grammatical rules’.

					At BATUS Parker also makes battlegroups do replenishments in the field and actually deploy their logistic trains out onto the prairie with them. That move is a profoundly unpopular. Likewise he makes battlegroups practise their response to missing small vehicles such as REME or medical callsigns, to ensure headquarters grip the small leakers. It is often the fringe, small unit elements that get lost or in the wrong place, with serious consequences, such as the Royal Signals pair once killed after blundering into a Belfast IRA funeral. (Correspondence with Chris Parker.)

					Interview with Simon Caraffi.

					Beyond a brief initial interview, Allfrey refused to comment on any fact-checking inquiries for this book.

					Colonel David speaks differently to his soldiers; none of the direct-entry officers in the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards have Scottish accents.

					Interview with Simon Caraffi.

					A properly networked system will arrive later. (Correspondence with Simon Caraffi.)

					Interview and correspondence with Stewart Orr.

					Another account has the unveiling taking place after lunch, outside.

					Even in the army it is not fine if others see, as Prince Harry will find out. At this 2002 juncture the future Officer Cadet Wales is still making heavy weather of AS-levels in art, geography and history of art at Eton. In three years time though, a few months before starting at Sandhurst, Harry will be photographed in a brown shirt with a swastika armband at a ‘colonial and native’ fancy dress party in Wiltshire.Harry will be pilloried by the press; Labour MP Doug Henderson will say the image shows the prince is ‘not suitable’ for Sandhurst. Harry will though still go to the academy. Arguably, his Nazi dress was only a problem because it seeped out into the world beyond the army. (http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/4170083.stm)


					Written correspondence with Parker and Binns.

					Interviews with multiple SCOTS DG officers.

					An earlier individual to hold the same role was Tsar Nicholas II, colonel-in-chief of the Scots Greys from 1894 to his death at the hand of the Bolsheviks in 1918. (https://www.scotsdgmuseum.com/the-colonelcy/)

					Binns says he does not recall the particular incident but ‘is not the type of person to feel the least bit slighted by such conversation’; Allfrey refused to comment.

					Born in Hull in May 1957, and educated at the city’s Hymers College, he first joined the army as a soldier in September 1975, having failed officer selection. He undertook basic training with the Royal Artillery at Woolwich, was selected for officer training in 1977 and commissioned in December of that year. He joined the Prince of Wales’s Own Regiment of Yorkshire, a non-smart unit. (Correspondence with Binns.)

					Or the chavalry, or, in rhyming slang to point out the fact that the RTR actually had a bar in their mess rather than a soldier with a silver tray to bring drinks, cash bar. In return RTR officers would sometimes use these terms, and the additional ‘People’s Cav’, ironically to describe themselves. (Author’s recollection, correspondence with former RTR officer.)

					Interview with Tim Brown.

			

			Chapter 2: Germany

			
					Interview and correspondence with Detlef Gieseke.

					Author’s recollection.

					Interview with SCOTS DG NCO.

					In turn each squadron is subdivided into four troops of three tanks, topped with a tank for the squadron leader and another for his deputy. Each squadron is also augmented with REME recovery vehicles to provide ‘intimate support’ to the mission in hand.

					The first prototype CVR(T) was completed in 1969.

					Author’s recollection.

					Robert Johnson suggests the vehicles may in fact have been over-maintained. ‘In 1990 we ran ours and had few issues. But when “track mileage” limits were introduced they failed more frequently.’

					Interview and written correspondence with Dean Gibbs.

					Interviews with numerous SCOTS DG officers and soldiers.

					Interview with William Gilchrist.

					Interviews with Nicole Behre and Robin Gowland, written correspondence with the latter.

					Interview with Chris Parker.

					Anthropologists call these actions ‘legitimate secondary adjustments’.

					HESH — High-Explosive Squash Head and FIN — Armour-piercing Fin-stabilised Discarding Sabot are different kinds of tank rounds.

					Interview with two women who worked in the Pink House. They said they also smoked marijuana.

					Though they can all imitate them at least passably, and in some cases uncannily, behind their soldiers’ backs. (Author’s recollection.)

					In the loos (never toilets) are framed cartoons of vanished officers. There are hairbrushes backed with engraved silver. Adjacent lies the ‘night tray’, which is in fact a room stocked with cigarettes, pork scratchings and alcohol for sign-off out of hours when the mess sergeant major is off-duty. In a sign of the positives that exist amid this arcane system no one would ever consider taking refrigerated champagne without signing a chit. Likewise no one would ever deem it necessary to lock their rooms. There is a trust here that is occasionally remarkable, amid the dysfunction. There are almost no books in the mess, bar the big scrap volumes holding photographs of the glory days of the 1980s. 

					Here too mythmaking occurs. There is a story that in the wild old Cold War days they used to play ‘shotgun bike’. In this pastime Party A disassembles a shotgun and Party B has to reassemble it while Party A has to put the chain back on a bicycle and pedal away until Party A shoots at him when he can. But no one seems to have actually witnessed this firsthand, or played it themselves.

					Author’s recollection.

					Just as there are rules about etiquette so there is a whole other set of strictures concerning dress in the mess. The officers are usually out of uniform in the evenings but their civilian suits are a form of uniform as closely monitored, if not more so than their combats, or the cavalry jodhpur-boots-white-shirt-lightweights get-up. These suits come bespoke from the same tailors as the uniforms, tucked tight at the waist with ticket pockets on the right abdomen. They are built in a state of high fust, sometimes in pinstripe, worn over chunky ribbed, coloured socks seated in full wingtip brogues or Oxfords. The shape of your shoes matters as an officer. Shirts must come with double cuffs and no pockets from Jermyn Street. Silk squares can erupt from the top pockets of jackets. (Author’s recollection.)

					In time, portaloos would appear in the new campaigns too. But their presence was redolent of permanent camps, not the intial chaos of war.

					Hastings, Overlord, p. 55.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Interviews and written correspondence with Chris Parker and Graham Binns.

					Binns’ recollection is uncertain here. Parker thinks it may have been General Mike Jackson the brigade commander had just heard from.

					https://nsarchive2.gwu.edu/NSAEBB/NSAEBB328/II-Doc14.pdf

					The idea is borrowed from industry, from Toyota that pioneered it and western firms from Hewlett-Packard to General Electric that adopted it. These commercial bodies replaced their huge and expensive warehouses — stocked with goods for all eventualities — with the idea that, supported by information technology systems, they would only order that which they needed, when they needed it. They would gain supplies ‘just-in-time’ and thereby save millions in storage costs. The prospect of frugality appealed to the ever cash-strapped MoD.

					Sir John Chilcot, Report of the Iraq Inquiry (2016), 6.3, p. 22.

					Interview and correspondence with Chris Parker.

					At BATUS HQ Simon Caraffi sees the extraordinary sight of fitters from the REME stripping spare parts off the Chieftain tank mounted on a plinth outside the range control building — though the Chieftain is no longer in army service as a tank in 2002 the combat engineering vehicles use its chassis, and they need parts for it. (Interview with Simon Caraffi.)

					Correspondence with Graham Binns.

					Correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Interview and written correspondence with Justin Maciejewski.

					Interview and written correspondence with Robin Brims.

					This system provides structure for an endeavour that is always done in practice and much more rarely for real. Level One training means individual skills and drills, from annual personal weapons tests to the dreaded time in the NBC simulator with the tear gas. Level Two is troop and platoon training (these terms are arm-specific: infantry battalions have platoons and companies. Cavalry regiments have troops and squadrons): low-level exercises on the local ranges. Level Three is squadron or company work. Level Four is battlegroup manoeuvre as practised in Canada.

					There is uncertainty among sources about when exactly the Poland TEWT took place.

					Correspondence with Graham Binns.

					The overall number of Challenger 2 tanks could be kept the same as a square 7th Brigade, by generating only three squadrons from each armoured regiment rather than four.

					Correspondence with Chris Parker and Graham Binns.

					Alpbach lies some two hours from Salzburg. The peaks here, summits with names like Standkopf and Wiedersberger Horn, are lower than the Bernese and Pennine Alps to the west — under 2,500m. The village itself sits at 975m. A regulation enacted in the 1950s mandated new developments adhere to the traditional architectural style, and Alpbach has been voted the Austria’s ‘most beautiful’ village. 

					Interview with SCOTS DG officer on ski team.

					Jackson denies this. On 19th Brigade, he says, ‘I don’t have a memory of them either being in the order of battle or being shoved out of it.’ Jackson is not the only possible candidate; there are other ex-Para and Special Forces senior officers in decision-making roles who could have pushed for the inclusion of 16 Brigade.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Interview with Emma Silvester.

					Interview with Justin Simons.

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), p. 8.

					Parker will later hear that the 9th/12th major holds him personally responsible for the fact that he did not get to go to war. (Correspondence with Chris Parker.)

					Interview with SCOTS DG officer.

					Interview with several SCOTS DG officers.

					Interview with Justin Simons.

					Interview and correspondence with Stefan Diepold.

					Interview with Guy Couper-Marsh, officer in 32 Engineer Regiment.

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), p. 9.

					Interview with Wolfgang Heer.

					Interview with Nadine.

					Wolfgang once chased an absconder half way across the tank ranges in his car to get his money. Wolfgang is not a man you do not want to pay. (Interview with Wolfgang Heer.)

					Triple for three.

					Author’s recollection.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Interviews with Harry Jameson and ‘Sally Thirlwell’.

					Interviews and correspondence with Robin Gowland and Nicole Behre.

			

			Chapter 3: Invasion

			
					Interview and correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Intended for soft targets like buildings.

					Multiple interviews.

					Correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (Penguin, 2011), p. 2.

					The brigade plan is for the first battlegroup in the advance into Iraq to be the Fusiliers, with two tank squadrons from the Queen’s Royal Lancers. Their position is deliberate; the political framework is so late that Binns and Parker are concerned that not all of their troops will arrive in time for D-Day. Their rationale for the Fusiliers going first is partially structural; an infantry battlegroup is bigger than an armoured one — and has more firepower. It also reflects perceived competence; the Fusiliers had converted into the armoured role then done a training year, a double dose of experience. Parker feels that the Fusiliers just shade the Black Watch in terms of ability. Binns is conscious that they have an experienced leadership team while SCOTS DG have a new CO. SCOTS DG, to their chagrin, begin the war as the brigade reserve.The regiment has another view. Seen through the lens of paranoia and suspicion that now clouds relationships between the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards and brigade, the call to put the Fusiliers first is self-evidently another example of anti-cavalry prejudice.


					Interview and correspondence with Ali Gemmell.

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), p. 10.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur. Johnny Biggart, who at the time of writing is still a serving army officer and therefore not allowed to speak to the press without permission, did not respond to fact-checking inquiries.

					The whole up-armouring system is confined to the tanks. When Justin Simons arrives in his CRARRV recovery vehicle the fitters point to a few spare oojits. Simons is told that is all there is for him. There is no up-armour process for the REME. (Interview with Justin Simons.)

					Brannigan does not recall the specific conversation but says: ‘my probable response to broken equipment is that it can be replaced. Unlike dead soldiers.’

					Interview and correspondence with Robin Gowland.

					http://www.gettyimages.co.uk/detail/news-photo/lieutenant-general-jeff-conaway-commanding-general-of-the-news-photo/1853337

					http://www.ibtimes.co.uk/chilcot-report-photographic-timeline-britains-role-iraq-war-1569158

					Interview and correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Such has been done before, in war. Wehrmacht General Heinz Guderian used cannibalisation on his thrust into France in 1940, along with aiming to capture fuel dumps to allow vehicles to ‘live off the land’ as much as possible.’ (Correspondence with Chris Parker.)

					Interview and correspondence with Guy Couper-Marsh.

					These engineer tractors are lineal descendants of Hobart’s Funnies — the mechanical curiosities of the Second War that included ‘Duplex Drive’ tanks that could ‘swim’ and others with dozer blades. (Interview with Guy Couper-Marsh.)

					As mentioned above, in 2003 the AVREs are still built up on modified Chieftain chassis; the proposed Challenger 2-based variants are yet to come into service.

					Interview and correspondence with Emma Silvester (now Emma Keane).

					The institutional set-up of women in the army was changing in 1994. Previously they all had to be badged WRAC (except the Queen Alexandra’s Royal Army Nursing Corps) and were merely ‘attached’ to the units they served with. Now they would officially belong to them. They could wear the uniform, cap badge and insignia of their actual respective regiments rather than drab WRAC-female olive. (Interview and correspondence with Emma Silvester.)

					http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk_politics/2862325.stm

					https://www.cbsnews.com/news/ex-cia-officer-on-the-strike-that-could-have-averted-iraq-war/

					BBC Fighting the War documentary, 2003, http://www.bbc.co.uk/pressoffice/pressreleases/stories/2003/05_may/30/fighting_the_war.shtml

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), pp.10, 20.

					Ibid., p. 14.

					Interview with Tim Brown, Eagle and Carbine (2004), pp. 10–11.

					Ibid., p.14, correspondence with Chris Brannigan.

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), p. 20.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), p. 20.

					Brannigan recalls: ‘This was immensely frustrating. We treated it like a military exercise not a military operation. It seemed sensible to wait for the QDG to extract but it was more imperative to push the Challenger squadrons and infantry companies over. Our objectives were time critical and the QDG’s extraction was not. Politeness seemed to get in the way of military expediency.’ (Correspondence with Chris Brannigan.)

					Correspondence with Chris Brannigan.

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), p. 11.

					Correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Interview with Tim Brown, Eagle and Carbine (2004), p. 11.

					According to Brannigan, Shaibah, once a British RAF base, is a curious combination of original brick-built single-storey 1930’s Air Ministry-designed buildings, the type you would see on an original RAF airfield in Wiltshire, and vast concrete bombproof shelters for Iraqi air force fighter planes.

					Brannigan says: ‘B Squadron set up in an abandoned Iraqi hanger, and reorganised, replenished and recovered while awaiting their next orders. Most hadn’t slept for 48 hours, and tanks needed fresh stocks of ammunition and fuel. Troops would be asked to undertake tasks, as were platoons from No. 2 Company Irish Guards, but most of the time was spent planning for contingency operations and dealing with the unsettling nature of being in reserve. Troops have to be ready for almost every conceivable contingency and work on either lengthy planning procedures or react with virtually no notice, taking notes by radio orders as they depart from the main base.’

					Correspondence with Chris Brannigan.

					Correspondence with Justin Maciejewski.

					It added frictions and layers of decision-making that impacted on the flexible use of helicopters for the whole force. (Correspondence with Justin Maciejewski.)

					Page did not respond to a request for comment.

					Jackson disputes this: ‘I don’t recall this. I was the CGS. I wasn’t a tactical commander in theatre.’ (Interview with Jackson.)

					The divisional commander, Robert Brims’, take on this event is as follows: ‘My recollection is that PJHQ (Permanent Joint Headquarters) proposed the Qalaat Siker option quite early (Jan/Feb 03) in planning as an operational optic of British intent and contribution. Later in March ’03 CGS (chief of the general staff, the professional head of the army) was keen that if there was ‘catastrophic success’ we should have a UK presence in Baghdad as soon as possible. London and Coalition agreed. We would have done this but there was no ‘catastrophic success’. Later, and once we had completed the invasion CGS again proposed British presence on the ground in Baghdad but this did not gain support in London.’ (Correspondence with Robin Brims.) Chris Parker meanwhile says: ‘Div. ran all this but we all felt it was a Para “justify our role job” and very unwelcome distraction from our pressing, dangerous tasks about to capture Basra.’ (Correspondence with Chris Parker.)

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), pp. 16–17.

					Interview with Tim Brown.

					Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (2011).

					Interview and correspondence with Robin Brims.

					This is how Brims described it in an interview. When contacted by email later for fact-checking, his account of the chief of staff’s response was: ‘after consideration they responded positively’.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Interview with Justin Simons.

					Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (2011), pp. 125–242.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Back at Shaibah Richard Gaisford, the 31-year old GMTV correspondent embedded with the battlegroup, receives a call on his Thuraya satellite phone from his news editor in England asking him to confirm details and supply pictures of the apparent battle. He has heard nothing. At the airfield no one seems to know a thing. Days later, when C Squadron return, Gaisford senses embarrassment among the returning troops that their endeavours have been overblown, and humour among the officers at Shaibah that this had happened, though he does not believe the misunderstanding was a deliberate construct by the SCOTS DG. But the elaborated story is out, and permanent now. (Interview and correspondence with Richard Gaisford.)‘Tank you and goodnight,’ the Sun splashes on its front page on Friday 28 March. ‘Our boys have a well-earned kip on their tanks after wiping out an entire Iraqi attack force yesterday.’ ‘Dragoons win major tank battle,’ runs the BBC. The Guardian has the details of the attack more accurately: ‘Early yesterday 14 Challenger 2 tanks of the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards destroyed a squadron of ageing Iraqi T-55 tanks and three armoured personnel carriers’ its report announces. However, the headline commits a subtle yet grave error of nomenclature of the sort that enrages soldiers. ‘Scots Guards destroy 14 Iraqi tanks in confrontation,’ it reads. The Scots Guards are a wholly different regiment, infantry, wont to conduct public duties in red tunics and bearskins. The Royal Scots Dragoon Guards fought the battle. They are not the same at all. The paper later runs a correction, but another error remains in the text: facts are attributed to Simon Houston of the Daily Record, who is with the Royal Scots. The Royal Scots are themselves different from the Royal Scots Dragoon Guards and the Royal Dragoon Guards. It is very confusing. But still, the broader point stands:
Narrative has beaten truth, and it is only a matter of days since the battlegroup crossed the border into Iraq.


					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Interview with Justin Simons.

					Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (2011), pp. 125–242.

					It is not going to last, this thing of naming operations and objectives in an adolescent fashion. It is another indication of the raggedness of the move out of peace and into war. The realisation is yet to surface that someone might have to explain to someone’s mother that their son died while assaulting Objective Pussy. Here in the dawning of the day in 2003 though the practice endures, just as its cousin, the practice of naming far-flung outposts overseas after eighteenth-century battle honours remains, no matter how baffling Ticonderoga or Waterloo may be to the local population. In time that too will cease, undone by this complex thing of war among the people. For the time being the false naming of the parts endures.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur. This is how Le Sueur described the dialogue. It is possible that the marines would have said ‘yomp’ rather than ‘tab’, their preferred term of art for walking.

					Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (2011), pp. 125–242.

					This is likely to have been a British anti-tank munition plundered from the abandoned Pinzgauer: a MILAN or a LAW (light anti-tank weapon). Justin Simons says he later found its guidance wire wrapped around the tank. (Interview with Justin Simons.)

					Interview with Justin Simons.

					Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (2011), pp. 125–242.

					Interview with Guy Couper-Marsh.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					The barrels can be swapped over inside the turret but that is a delicate and potentially dangerous operation involving tongs to handle the hot metal.

					Interview with Justin Simons.

					Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (2011), pp. 125–242.

					Beside the tracks, the commander’s and gunner’s sights are destroyed, along with the met sensor, the commander’s rear episcopes, the driver’s periscopes and sights, one smoke grenade discharger, the front headlights and horn, and the side tool bin. (Niall Edworthy, Main Battle Tank (2011), pp. 125–242).

					The damage to the men involved is harder to ascertain. Simons is concerned about Garrett, who had his body out of the CRARRV to man the GPMG. Garrett fired thousands of rounds during the recovery, in a situation that justified such expenditure of ammunition. In contacts that follow Simons believes Garrett’s use of force is excessive. He tells his colleague that. (Interview with Justin Simons.)
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					Interview and correspondence with Guy Couper-Marsh.

					Nickname for the Irish Guards, of obvious etymology.

					Couper-Marsh: ‘It could have been more of a case of them having a little play around with one or two of the machines rather than an all-out free for all. There were in excess of 50 pieces of plant in the yard, and most were untouched so any messing around was probably fairly minimal.’ (Interview and correspondence with Guy Couper-Marsh.)

					Couper-Marsh: ‘I felt … like we already had no clear objective/aim beyond securing Basra. No one had thought, or at least communicated to us what would happen next. This was shown a few days later (after Basra was captured) when the city was looted and we just watched on.’ (Correspondence with Guy Couper-Marsh.)

					BBC, Fighting the War.

					Interviews and written correspondence with Emma Silvester and Billy Gilchrist, written correspondence with Craig Pope.

					After describing these features, Craig Pope added: ‘The point of which is to demonstrate the hard work, improvisation, and organisation of all of those within the Medical Group.’ (Correspondence with Craig Pope)

					Interview and written correspondence with James Johnston.

					Craig Pope, the regimental medical officer for the battlegroup, recalls as follows: ‘The first I heard of the incident was shortly after we had finished an O-Group in battlegroup headquarters. We were conducting after O-Group work and discussions when the nearby watch-keeper in BGHQ called me over. “Seven casualties.” I waited around for a short while hoping for a little more information, then returned to the RAP to brief the team. We rapidly came up with a plan of how we should proceed based on the loose plan that we had discussed previously. We formed two treatment teams, one in each of the bays. Outside the door the casualties would be triaged by their medical need — most sick first — and then transferred into bay 1, bay 2 and the rest would need to wait.’ (Correspondence with Craig Pope.)

					According to Pope, it is likely that she was a Royal Engineer from 32 Regiment or if a medic from 1 Close Support regiment. (Correspondence with Craig Pope.)

					Later she will track the man down far back in a field hospital and give him the metal that was formerly within him as a souvenir. (Interview and correspondence with Emma Silvester.)

					He later received a mention in dispatches for treating an Irish Guard in the centre of Basra whilst under fire. (Correspondence with Craig Pope.)

					Pope: ‘During that period I had seen a reasonable amount of trauma including GSWs, meaning that although anxious, [I] had more recent experience [than Burgess] to fall back on. The aim was to create a trauma team to assess, diagnose, treat and evacuate the casualties as accurately and swiftly as possible.’ (Correspondence with Craig Pope.)

					‘I don’t specifically recall this event,’ Pope says, ‘but that is not to say that there wasn’t a degree of communication breakdown — everyone was stressed.’ (Correspondence with Craig Pope.)

					Pope disputes this, saying, ‘Whilst we certainly had a greater emotional attachment with our own casualties we made every effort to ensure that any Iraqi casualties received the same level of care as British casualties. I know that the hospitals being further removed emotionally took even greater pains to ensure equality of treatment.’

					Interview and correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Interview and correspondence with Chris Parker.

					The second-in-command of the Fusiliers protests to Parker on a secure line about this ‘fastball’ coming when they are repairing and overhauling their vehicles. ‘Do the Fusiliers want Basra as a battle honour or do you want to sit this one out?’ Parker replies. (Correspondence with Chris Parker.)

					Facilities abbreviated by the British to GOSP.

					Parker: ‘The paratroopers lost a lot of respect from us all for trying to claim honour when we had taken casualties to deliver the great city in the hour before.’ (Correspondence with Parker.)

					Interview and correspondence with Chris Parker.

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2010/jul/05/chilcot-inquiry-iraq-humanitarian-clare-short

					BBC, Fighting the War.

					Interview with Richard Gaisford.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					Interview with Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq.

					Interview with SCOTS DG officer.

					Interview with Ralph Lucas.

					Interview and correspondence with Guy Couper-Marsh and numerous others.

					BBC, Fighting the War.

					Interview and correspondence with David Rowlands.

					The divisional chief of staff calls Parker and assures him he will keep most visitors at the airport to give the Desert Rats space to manage the huge tasks within the city boundary. (Correspondence with Chris Parker.)

					According to former army officer and novelist Barney Campbell, ‘When talking about “recovery” it is spelt “recy” but pronounced the same as the “recce” that refers to reconnaissance.’

					Interview with Mike Jackson.

					Interview and correspondence with Chris Parker.

					Eagle and Carbine (2004), pp. 52–53.

					Ibid.

					Interview and correspondence with Detlef Gieseke.

					Interview with Wolfgang Heer.

					Interview and correspondence with Billy Gilchrist.

					Interview with Daryn Lucas.

					Interviews with Wolfgang Heer, Nadine.

					Interview with Nadine.

					Interview with Patrick Trueman.

					Correspondence with Guy Couper-Marsh.

					Correspondence with Stefan Diepold.

					Author’s recollection.

					https://www.gov.uk/government/fatalities/corporal-gordon-alexander-pritchard-killed-in-iraq

					It was Palmer who drove the author to Germany when he made his potential officers’ visit to SCOTS DG in 2003. (Author’s recollection.)

					https://www.gov.uk/government/fatalities/craftsman-andrew-found-killed-in-afghanistan

					Finding during author’s reporting trip to Fallingbostel, 2016.

					Interview and correspondence with David Rowlands.

					Interview with Rick Le Sueur.

					http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-dorset-40447073

					http://www.forces.net/news/army/reckless-court-martial-officers-who-started-fire-drunken-party
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					Interview and correspondence with ‘Tom Foulds’.

					Correspondence with Foulds.

					In his account of the operation in the Red Hackle regimental journal James Cowan, the Black Watch’s commanding officer, addresses the naming issue as follows: ‘History does not relate why the Americans called the area Dogwood — there was not a tree for miles around, and certainly not any Dogwood. The area was, however, infested with wild dogs. The 3rd Infantry Division had based part of its logistic echelon there in the early months of the occupation and the Stryker Battalion had been based there for five days a month earlier.’ (Red Hackle, May 2005, p. 30.)

					Interview and correspondence with Guy Williams.

					They are not tanks, though the Rarden cannons on the two-man turrets make them seem tankish to the uninitiated. Their status as ‘Infantry Fighting Vehicles’ differentiates them from earlier ‘armoured personnel carriers’ too; they have heavier weaponry and are used in a different way.

					Robert Johnson says the Warrior’s air-conditioning ‘had to give way to the forced air environment’ system for NBC protection.

					Interview and correspondence with Foulds.

					Red Hackle (May 2005), p. 32.

					Ibid., p. 32.

					Bravo Company meanwhile provides area protection around Dogwood.

					Driving with hatches open provides much better situational awareness, though also less protection than going ‘closed down’.

					The anodyne name for British operations in the country was inevitably repurposed — Telic, it was suggested, could also stand for ‘Tell Everyone Leave is Cancelled’ or the more inflammatory ‘Teaching Every Living Iraqi Christianity’.

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/jul/04/senior-british-officers-knew-of-wetting-of-iraqi-civilians-inquiry-told

					https://www.theguardian.com/world/2006/jan/08/iraq.military

					Unless otherwise referenced, this narrative is sourced from Tim Ripley’s authoritative Operation Telic (Telic-Herrick publications, 2016).

					Heat is a major concern; they spend 12 days in a tented camp in the Kuwaiti desert acclimatising, with soldiers ordered to stay in their tents for the first four days. Air-conditioned buses sit on standby as recovery facilities. Heat will continue to be a major factor throughout their tour, with 1,227 casualties from that means between July and November, of whom 150 will be evacuated to the UK. (Tim Ripley, Operation Telic (2016), pp. 174–177)

					Ibid., p. 176.

					An earlier court martial in 2006 saw seven soldiers tried and one imprisoned. The QLR’s commanding officer, Jorge Mendonça, was acquitted but later resigned from the army. See Part 5 of this book for more details on the public inquiry and other fallout from the incident.

					Aitken says: ‘I joined the battalion straight from being chief of staff of 20th Armoured Brigade in Basra and had been in charge of the estimate and planning for the original requirements for the deployment. It had originally been based on sending a larger force to cover the withdrawal of the Multi-National Division — Centre-South which covered the Shia heartland of Najaf and Karbala. When we conducted the planning for both covering this task and the growing tasks in the south, the answer was always an armoured infantry battalion equipped with Warrior. The issue was that all planning showed that we still needed the same or perhaps more in the south so the brigades rotating through were always planned to be kept together, so the Land Warfare Centre battlegroup [The Black Watch at Warminster] was the obvious choice. (Correspondence with Alastair Aitken.)

					A smaller British regular unit operates in Baghdad, running convoys for embassy staff in the capital. In the meantime the SAS integrates with US Special Forces.

					Hew Strachan, The Politics of the British Army (Oxford University Press, 1997), p. 198.

					Regimental history drawn from interview and correspondence with Victoria Schofield, the Black Watch’s official historian, and correspondence with a former Scottish infantry officer.

					Another suggested etymology is that their Gaelic name Am Freiceadan Dubh, the dark or black watch, comes from the colour of their treachery when they agreed to keep the Highlands down.

					‘In 1872–3 the pairs were allocated to a district, and were attached to the two militia battalions of the same locality so that the four could constitute a brigade.’ (Strachan, 1997, p. 200.)

					Ibid., p. 205.

					The 73rd of Foot had ceased to be a Highland regiment in 1809. Based in England, their choice as consort for the Black Watch was made to avoid the vexed issue of which tartan the regiment should wear. (Strachan, 1997, p. 205.) This was far from the last time tartan would be an issue in the restructuring of the Scottish infantry.

					Victoria Schofield said in correspondence: ‘Although this is the figure traditionally given it’s a misleading statistic to give because some of these battalions were second and third line — some were amalgamated and then counted as another battalion.’

					Correspondence with former Scottish infantry officer.

					The 1960s sees the creation, among others, of the Royal Anglian Regiment from the four battalions of the East Anglian Brigade, the Royal Green Jackets from two rifle regiments and the Oxfordshire and Buckingham Light Infantry, and the Royal Regiment of Fusiliers from the four English Fusilier Regiments. (Richard Holmes, Soldiers, HarperPress, 2012, p. 423.)

					Both those forged by amalgamation of two regiments, such as the Devon and Dorsets, created in 1958, and those with an undiluted lineage, such as the Cheshires, the old 22nd of Foot.

					Strachan (1997) gives a figure of thirty-eight battalions post–Options for Change, including two of Gurkhas. (p. 225). However, other sources indicate the size of the infantry by 1997 as 40 battalions.

					In 1992 Sir John Chapple, a Gurkha, was succeeded as chief of the general staff by Sir Peter Inge, a Green Howard. The commander-in-chief, land forces, was Sir John Waters, a product of the Gloucestershire regiment

					Again, there is considerable nuance here. One former Scottish infantry officer summarised the issue as follows: ‘Regimental fashion is variable, the First of Foot [The Royal Scots] think they are very grand (but they are Edinburgh types so obviously aren’t), and KOSB certainly weren’t, but the distinction is really a Highland vs. Lowland one, so the old highland regiments (Royal Highland Regiment [the Black Watch], Gordon, Cameron, Seaforth [from 1994 jointly the Highlanders], Argyll and Sutherland) always saw themselves as completely distinct from the Lowland Regiments. All have at various times been fashionable (the Seaforths and Argylls have definitively looked down on RHR at various points, remember just as the Queen Mother was involved with the RHR, the current Queen is involved with the Argylls, whereas the Seaforths were fashionable in the ’30s as their CinC was Edward VIII). Best way to think about it is that, if a regiment is your brothers, then the Highland Division were like cousins, different branches may come in and out of prosperity, but are fundamentally family.’ (Correspondence with former Scottish infantry officer.)

					Correspondence with former Scottish infantry officer.

					Interview with Neil Tomlin.

					http://www.nytimes.com/1998/01/17/world/fort-george-journal-wherein-is-revealed-the-answer-to-an-old-inquiry-about-kilts.html

					Later 9/11 also changes the situation in Northern Ireland. Almost overnight, Republican ability to fundraise for the Provisional IRA in the US dwindles. Now that America had experienced large-scale terrorism on its own territory cloth caps passed around in Irish pubs in Boston no longer come back brimming with dollars.

					David Richards, in his autobiography, gives the original figure as 26. Richards also says he was involved in managing ‘to talk this back up to 36’. David Richards, Taking Command (Headline, 2014) p. 180.

					Mike Jackson, Soldier (Corgi, 2008) p. 424.

					Interview and correspondence with Alistair Irwin.

					Lieutenant General Sir Alistair Irwin, ‘What is best in the regimental system?’, The RUSI Journal, 149:5 (2004), pp. 32–36.

					‘To an entity which has an existence; a past, present and future of its own.’

					‘By which is meant the opportunity for individuals to keep returning to the regiment or corps in which they began, to their individual benefit and to the benefit of the units.’

					And, in the case of commonwealth entrants, from outside the UK.

					Irwin suggests the most famous names should be preserved at the expense of others, that, while individual traditions are less important, an environment that can foster tradition is essential and that esprit de corps, essential for military success, is more easily fostered in smaller units.

					‘Does it make sense, in a small and highly active army, to select an officer who has proved himself to be a brilliant armoured company commander to command his battalion, now in the light role, simply because that is the regiment to which he belongs? Probably not.’

					‘This can lead to a significant number of people who repeatedly move house and station once a year or even more frequently.’

					Interview and correspondence with Mike Jackson.

					Interview and correspondence with Irwin.

					Interview and correspondence with Foulds.

					Victoria Schofield, The Black Watch — Fighting in the Front Line 1899—2006 (Head of Zeus, 2017) p. 561.

					Interview with Michael O’Dwyer.

					Later recruiting was outsourced to Capita. (Correspondence with O’Dwyer.)

					Alistair Irwin, quoted in Holmes (2012), p. 435.

					Holmes (2012), p. 433, quoting Dannatt’s autobiography.
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					The same ex-artillery officer writers: ‘I lived alongside the US Marines in Afghanistan for a while. They had myriad quasi-religious military traditions. One in particular that struck me was at mealtimes — there was always an empty place laid on a table underneath a shrine for those who were missing in action. They also had copies of their “creed” pinned up everywhere. The US Marines, in my experience, are proactive “thinking soldiers” — more so than their regular units. They demonstrate this in their approach to problem-solving at a tactical or operational level rather than questioning their underlying (quasi-religious) assumptions on the political level, however.’

					One from D Company, the Royal Marine Troop, and another from the Welsh Guards.
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					Red Hackle (May 2005), p. 42.
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					James Cowan declined to respond in detail to fact-checking inquiries for this book. Instead, he wrote the following email. In the interests of fairness I include it here in full, and also point out that the extracts of text he saw were early rough drafts rather than the material as published.Dear Simon,
I’m sorry I haven’t replied earlier but I’ve been busy with work and have only now found the time.
When we met two years ago I liked you and thought your project had a great deal of merit. I helped put you in touch with quite a few people in The Black Watch, many of whom felt the same and cooperated in an open and friendly way. I imagine the same is true in other regiments.
I’ve read now read these extracts and I hope you don’t mind me saying that you have quite a bit of work to do to get your draft into the right form and meet its potential. Because it would take me an age, I’m not going to comment in detail on your text — there are just too many observations. To take a small example, you of course know that PIRA stands for Provisional not Provincial Irish Republican Army. I’d also be wary of the present historic tense which will test the patience of the critics. I will instead provide some broader comments.
As a general observation, I fully accept that I am not seeing the complete book, but from what I can see I think that you do run the risk of hurting a generation of soldiers who fought difficult and unpopular wars in the most testing of circumstances. Undoubtedly the army of 2014 was different from the army of 2003, it would be a sad indictment if it wasn’t. Of course, all of us made mistakes, but most of us tried our best to learn and change.
I think that you focus too much on the debate about the regimental system and miss a golden opportunity to examine something much more interesting, namely the ways in which institutions like the army learn from experience. If I were to try to encapsulate your argument, it is that some people in the army sought to defend an outdated regimental system that should have been consigned to the history books years before. I think you could present a more nuanced analysis.
In the case of my regiment, the Black Watch of 2003–05 was an organisation interested in learning and adapting. We thought hard about our tactics and I believe we pioneered much that has subsequently become standard practice:
The need to use force precisely
The need to orchestrate soft and hard effects
The need to work with indigenous forces
The need to respect local people
As a brigade commander in Afghanistan at the height of the fighting in 2009–10, I drew heavily on my experience of Iraq and was very focused on finding new and better ways to prevail.
You make much of Operation Tobruk which was really just one operation among many. You describe it as an anti-climax. But of course, the idea behind counter-insurgency is not to have a climactic fight — this would have resulted in needless civilian casualties. The proper metric of success in counter-insurgency is when you can dominate the battlespace without killing people needlessly. The fact that, after our first few days of casualties, we achieved that dominance and did not kill or be killed is evidence of a professional battlegroup doing its work without a thirst for blood.
As a brigade commander, I applied the same principles in Afghanistan and my brigade’s biggest operation (which was itself part of a much bigger divisional and theatre operation), Operation Moshtarak, delivered success through the avoidance of casualties. That desire to win the consent of the local population should surely be at the heart of your book.
I also believe the Black Watch during my time was a nursery of talent for the army. My predecessor in command became a major general; I went on to command the army’s only warfighting division; three of my company commanders went on to command brigades. An unprecedented number of my subalterns are now commanding major units, including 22 SAS, three regular infantry battalions, two reserve battalions and three training units.
This wasn’t just about the officers: I have an intense and lasting affection for the other ranks of The Black Watch, some of the finest, funniest and nicest people I’ve ever known. We were a genuine band of brothers bound together by a sharing of the dangers, the horrors and, occasionally, the black humour of war. It would be great if your book could get at the camaraderie between all ranks that informed so much of the experience of the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan.
It’s also an inconvenient truth that The Black Watch was better manned in the period 2003–5 when compared to the rest of the infantry, a result of hard work to recruit and retain soldiers. You describe an inefficient, old-fashioned and Victorian style of recruiting. I’d argue that there are ultimately only four ways for an army to recruit: first, to pay the market rate; secondly, to introduce National Service; and thirdly, to recruit from abroad.
If the first three options are politically unacceptable (which they clearly are) then it is unsurprising that commanding officers like me sought to promote all that was attractive about the regimental system. It’s worth asking how, if the big regiment model is so much better at recruiting, one accounts for the present manning woes of the army. As an aside, I would also review the ease with which further cuts to the army are likely to be made. Mrs Thatcher’s army of 156,000 is now below 80,000 and may well soon be 70,000. Is there any floor below which it would be wrong to go?
But this is not to say that the old regimental system was without fault. It wasn’t going to work in the era of a UK-based army and it didn’t allow enough cross-posting. So when the decision was made, I obeyed orders and encouraged my battalion to accept the amalgamation. I fully supported, and still support, the Royal Regiment of Scotland and the subtle way in which its naming convention retains the golden thread with the past. I was Colonel of the Royal Regiment of Scotland and put my heart into making it a success.
There is another important dimension, which I strongly recommend you explore. In focusing your story on the experience of individual units you are vulnerable to the same myopia that you see in the old regimental system. War is fought at unit and sub-unit level. But the conditions for success are set at formation level, whether that be at the lower tactical level in a brigade headquarters, at the interface of the tactical with the operational in a division, at theatre level and, ultimately, at the strategic level. If you do not examine the way in which the British mistakenly crammed these levels into a task force–sized brigade headquarters in Helmand, then you miss the true cause of many of the problems of that campaign. Similarly, if you don’t explore the relationship between the MoD, the PJHQ and coalition headquarters then your story will not be rooted in its proper context.
You have a chance to explore the story of how the army learnt and to write something of profound interest. I would therefore avoid a descent into tittle-tattle — your reputation as a serious writer deserves that. For instance, the ‘savoir faire’ letter of fifteen years ago was not mine, but General Irwin’s. Its aim was to engender a spirit of kindness and consideration and to overcome some of the heaviness and pomposity that sometimes characterises military life — I agreed with him. My email of 2014 parodied that same heaviness and pomposity. The army is full of lengthy and sometimes dull dinners and other events that lack the lightness of touch and intelligence that should be the mark of a civilised organisation. But to cut to the chase, what does it have to do with a book about two tough campaigns?
I also don’t think my reasons for leaving the army are really relevant to your book but since you ask, there are two: in 2009 when I took command of Task Force Helmand, my wife got into medical school and began her training as a doctor. I’m incredibly proud of all that she has since achieved, but when the army asked me to go back to Afghanistan in 2015 for a year, we realised that we couldn’t both be so committed to work and look after our children. Secondly, I was 51 and was head hunted to lead the Halo Trust, the world’s largest NGO clearing the debris of war. I did not want to leave the army at 55, an awkward age to start a meaningful second career.
It’s for others to judge whether I had further potential in the army, but I was lucky to have such an interesting career and I look back on it with nothing but pleasure. But despite my enjoyment of the army, I’m glad I made the move and have helped the Halo Trust grow from 6,000 to 8,000 staff in two years, as well as increasing its turnover by a third.
I hope you don’t mind me being straight with you — I do so partly because this is a subject that involves people’s lives and partly because you are intelligent enough to take on board a more sophisticated argument. I’m abroad with work next week and will then be focused on family so I’m afraid that I won’t be able to give you more time, but good luck with your book.
Yours ever,
James
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					Correspondence with Doyle.

					Interview with Tom Newton Dunn.

					Interview with Newton Dunn.

					Mills turned down a request for an interview for this book.
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					This may not be so: in the aftermath of the Second World War two American sociologists, Edward Shils and Morris Janowitz, interviewed German veterans of the eastern front. Their task was to reveal why the Wehrmacht in Russia had fought with such extraordinary tenacity, even long after the final outcome of the war was clearly pointing to catastrophic German defeat. They published their research in a paper titled ‘Cohesion and Disintegration in the Wehrmacht in World War II’ in the journal Public Opinion Quarterly in the summer of 1948. Along with Men Against Fire, another US military sociological study by SLA Marshall into the inverse phenomenon — why western democracies appeared unable to create troops able to withstand the rigour that their totalitarian opponents could — Janowitz and Shils transformed the accepted idea of why soldiers fight (it was Marshall in Men Against Fire who gave the widely disseminated, and subsequently also disputed, statistic that only 25% of US infantry soldiers engaged in combat in the Second World War actually fired their rifle at the enemy for the purpose of killing).Janowitz and Shils’ conclusion was that political ideas, even the twin ideologies of communism and fascism that had stoked the World War, played little role in motivating men and creating the phenomenon that military theorists began to term cohesion — the reason units stayed together in combat rather than fleeing, which, from a perspective of personal preservation, was the logical act.
Instead they argued cohesion stemmed primarily from small group bonds, the connections in an infantry squad, or section or platoon, and that the primary driver was in fact a desire not to let the man next to you down. This thesis gained rapid acceptance and widespread promulgation. Part of the reason for its enthusiastic uptake was its attractive nature. Janowitz and Schils argued that soldiers did not fight — and kill — because of bloodlust or indoctrination. Rather they did so through a translation — almost indeed a transubstantiation — of friendship and platonic love between men onto the battlefield. The Australians called that idea ‘mateship’ and developed an entire national cultural history around it.
In the 1960s and 70s, as western militaries professionalised and sought a model for how to act and be as non-conscript forces, the Janowitz-Shils cohesion model helped detoxify the German Army of World War Two. It strengthened the Legende von der sauberen Wehrmacht — a German term meaning ‘myth of the clean Wehrmacht’ — an organisation heroic on the battlefield and largely without implication in the atrocities of the Nazi project. Embrace of the small group bonds theory allowed the US and Britain, and even Israel, to lionise German feats of arms in the 1940s while abhorring, ostensibly, Hitlerian ambition.
As the mass conscript armies of the twentieth century drew down — in the West at least — the prospect of conventional war faded. Iraq commenced and Afghanistan progressed and scholars, notably the sociologist Anthony King, who had made extensive studies of the Royal Marines, began to question the small group bond theory. He suggested that the civilian ‘bands of brothers’ that formed the mass participation armies of the First and Second World War had tended to perform poorly, even the much-lionised Wehrmacht. They relied on appeals to masculinity, nationality and ethnicity to unite their troops and encourage them to fight. (Janowitz and Shils had already faced other challenges). King found that in professional armies training and drills were much more important in building cohesion. Professional soldiers also had a very different, and often more enthusiastic, attitude to war than their predecessors of the 1940s. Anthony King, The Combat Soldier (Oxford University Press, 2013).
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			Chapter 9: Enter Helmand
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					As one former paratrooper wrote in correspondence with the author:‘The essence of P Company is its focus upon “directed aggression”. Its events are relatively short and require a candidate to direct his energy and focus towards the completion of a set task. This makes sense when one considers what an airborne soldier is expected to do; go from standing in an aircraft, removed from a battlefield, to suddenly jumping into it. From relative calm to sudden combat. Invariably he will be outnumbered and need to fight hard.
When you look at it like that events such as “milling” are appropriate tests; if you can suddenly direct all-out aggression against a colleague and then turn it off on orders, you are displaying the necessary aggression and importantly the self-discipline to control that aggression.
The downside of these qualities in Paras is that it can tend to make them too quick to fight; good when storming Goose Green, less good when one considers Sunday Bloody Sunday.
You are right, it is an egalitarian culture. If you are a good, reliable soldier who can be relied upon when out-numbered, you will fit right in. I always knew that even if you were stronger than another Para, it was a nightmare fighting one as they always got back up when knocked down.’
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					Both Butler and Tootal dispute this characterisation. Butler suggests the idea he was looking for a fight is ‘gross naïveté’, pointing out that he personally had significant experience of combat, so had nothing to prove in that department, and that intelligence reports before the tour indicated that the Taliban were always going to resist.
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					Johnson continues: ‘There had been months of booby traps, IEDs, assasinations and widespread intimidation. Local Afghans who refused to assist the Taliban were threatened, “disciplined” and eventually shot.’ Robert Johnson, The Afghan Way of War — Culture and Pragmatism: A Critical History (Hurst, 2014), p. 271.
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					Hollingshead also recalls the thrill of having American-style word-based callsigns as opposed to traditional banal British alphanumeric ones. His unit in Now Zad was ‘Shiva 98’. Mayhem 33, Widowmaker and Kryptonite were also at large in Helmand that summer. (Interview with Hollingshead.)

					Major Will Pike, who was leading the Para contingent on Mutay, gives a somewhat different account of the operation: he suggests it is misguided to describe it as an arrest or cordon and search op, on the grounds that signals intelligence had told them the Taliban were there — therefore their presence was not a surprise. ‘This wasn’t a Bosnia-style piffwick operation at all and never was, and it was designed,’ he says. ‘We knew it might go kinetic quickly; not as aggressively as it did and not as fast as it did, but we knew.’ (Interview and correspondence with Pike.)
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					The female RAF pilot declined to comment on the incident. However, Sean Bell, who was the commander of the Joint Harrier Force at the time, said that airpower was the ‘primary asymmetric advantage’ for British and coalition troops in Afghanistan, and that the delivery of so-called ‘Close Air Support’ is one of the most challenging undertakings for the military. ‘Delivering ordinance in close proximity to friendly forces requires pin-point accuracy, world-class training and the highest degree of professionalism,’ he wrote, adding that the RAF Harrier Force was the most experienced and capable British Close Air Support force available at the time. Bell said that it was due to that professionalism and courageous restraint that lives were not lost due to friendly fire.Bell acknowledged the frustration of soldiers on the ground in the 2006 incident, but emphasised that ‘when operating over two miles above from the target, at speeds up to 600mph, and with friendly forces and insurgents operating in very close proximity, the pilot carries immense responsibility and needs to discharge that professionally and with great care. Unless the pilot is absolutely confident that his weapons will not kill friendly forces — with all the dreadful tactical and strategic implications of such action — they are obliged to exercise “courageous restraint”, however frustrating that is for all parties.’
Bell added that the pilot’s gender had no status on her competence. (Correspondence with Sean Bell.)
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					Sample: ‘This morning in northern Helmand Province UK forces have been involved in an operation,’ he says in an Associated Press film datelined 1 August. ‘During that operation in one of the incidents a pair of UK vehicles came under fire from insurgents using rocket-propelled grenades and a heavy machine gun. I regret to say that two UK soldiers have been killed, a third UK soldier is unaccounted for currently and is feared dead and a fourth soldier was wounded. That last soldier has already been taken to hospital where he is receiving treatment.’ (http://www.aparchive.com/metadata/youtube/d771b2b8f21752cce1c1ec8a306c247e)
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			Chapter 10: Feedback

			
					Soldiers’ criticism of the air force, couched often in blue language, runs back at least to Dunkirk, when soldiers on the beaches wondered where the Spitfires were (in fact, many were just beyond visual range). In Afghanistan in 2006 and for years afterwards there is a plausible case to be made that British soldiers hated the RAF more than the Taliban; in particular for the perceived lethargy and incompetence of the ‘air bridge’ from the UK, which appeared — from the soldiers’ perspective at least — to have all the logistical simplicity of commercial transport aviation and none of its slickness. As Jamie Loden says: ‘100 per cent accurate and an issue that grew worse as the British presence in Afghanistan ramped up through 2007–08 and beyond. I was doing a staff job in Kabul in December 2009 and there were troops in Kandahar waiting for two to three days for a flight back due to delays. I was told as someone in a staff job that I would have to wait until January (from December 15) to get back as priority would be rightly given to combat troops going on leave. Thankfully I was able to get a lift to Dubai with a general going to a NATO briefing in Germany on his light aircraft whereupon I paid for my own Virgin flight from Dubai to London. Fine for me as a major but not something the vast majority had access to.’ (Correspondence with Loden.)
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					Each staff college course at that time was approximately 650–700 students of whom approximately fifty were foreign students and the remainder split a third navy, third RAF, third army. (Correspondence with Loden.)

					Richard Dannatt, then CGS, says: ‘I recall I spoke to Glen Torpy and said it was very unfortunate but that we really appreciated the support that the RAF gave us on the ground. I said much the same in the media.’

					Loden: ‘For me the issue was this exposed a real shortcoming in our training and approach for both RAF and army. Many RAF officers I met, including Harrier pilots, agreed that while the way the information came out was unfortunate, the issues raised could not be ignored. The RAF was a victim of reduced training budgets etc. and needed to sharpen their edge on the close air support and this included using munitions appropriate for the theatre and operations. Some RAF officers even privately thanked me. This was in contrast to a broader number of others who preferred to turn the issue into an inter-service squabble. The decision to kill off our proposed visit to recognise the affront caused to the wider RAF staff at the station was symptomatic of this attitude, rather than learn the broader lessons of combat for the benefit of others.’ (Correspondence with Loden.)

					Some video made it out even earlier: ‘Shocking footage shows British troops in Afghanistan firefight,’ ran the headline on a Daily Mail story on September 8. (http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-404148/Shocking-footage-shows-British-troops-Afghanistan-firefight.html#ixzz568yn7cUT).
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					Neither Richard Bird nor Bob Jammes, his successor as guardian of the medals system, agree that honours and awards incentivised unnecessary violence.
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					The wife of a friend of his transcribes the tapes; she has a sophisticated ear and can interpret the broad range of accents, from Geordie to Glaswegian.
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					Grey disputes this account, saying, ‘With all deference to Kevin, who I loved working with, the suggestion that Snakebite was in any way cut is a load of old tosh,’ and describing it as ‘probably the least censored of all accounts of the British Army in Helmand’.

					The other new form of book to be invented, or rather revitalised, around this time, is the general’s autobiography, a genre dormant since de la Billière’s Looking for Trouble. In 2007 Bantam Press, Transworld’s hardback imprint, published Mike Jackson’s autobiography Soldier. It was a bestseller, and they followed up with Leading from the Front by Jackson’s successor as CGS Richard Dannatt. Dannatt was a less colourful individual and that book did not do as well. ‘Sadly that whole genre became a law of diminishing returns,’ recalls Bill Scott-Kerr. Notably lacking from the military books that came out post-2006 were more literary memoirs — Patrick Hennessey’s The Junior Officers Reading Club from 2009 being the notable exception. This may be a broader function of contemporary war; without conscription there is not a mechanism to inject into uniform a personality such as an Anthony Powell or Evelyn Waugh, who would never join a peacetime army but who were collectively responsible for some of the most vivid depictions of the British Army in print in the Second World War.

					Rhys Crilley, Legitimating War in the Digital Age, Introduction, p. 1 (unpublished draft shared with author).

					By 2017, alongside maintaining a YouTube channel, and its Facebook page, which dates from 2009, the army also maintains official Twitter, Instagram, Wordpress, Google+, LinkedIn, and Pinterest accounts. Further to these official pages that represent the British Army as an institution, there are 272 social media profiles representing individual army divisions, regiments, squadrons, generals and army career centres. (Crilley, p. 2.)
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					In 2016 an investigation board stated that Kemp’s visit was a ‘contributing factor to the overall focus of the crew’ of an Apache helicopter that crashed in Helmand in September 2008. (http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/defence/12166945/Ross-Kemp-visit-a-contributory-factor-in-Afghanistan-helicopter-crash.html)
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					Bellringer was one of the most seriously wounded British casualties to survive the Afghan campaign.

					Interview with Ken Bellringer.
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					It retains something of its amateurish beginnings. In January 2018 users trying to visit the site found a note reading: ‘ARRSE — Offline for software upgrade. Please try again after some time in the future … we have no idea when at the moment as it has all gone Pete Tong so far!’
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					‘I can cateogorically refute that I was involved at all in the decision on whether Ed Butler should become DSF,’ Richards says. ‘… I always recognised that he was a talented tactical commander and had many qualities. He was also badly commanded and supported by PJHQ and the MoD.’ Butler himself says he felt his army career still offered potential, and he left for domestic reasons. On his potential for further progression within the army, he claims that the military secretary, responsible for career management, said he could either command a division or become director of Special Forces, only for Jacko Paige to receive the SF job. Butler was then told he could wait three years, perhaps attend the Royal College of Defence Studies in the meantime, and then take up DSF, but he felt that was not a reliable offer. He left the army.
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					This story is widely told but the exact identity of the American is difficult to ascertain. The suggestion that it was Ronald Neumann, US ambassador to Afghanistan between 2005 and 2007, is incorrect. (Interview with Ronald Neumann.)

					Interview with Toby Harnden; correspondence with Charlie Antelme.

					2004 had for Harnden also clearly indicated the distinction between American and British policies regarding journalists. In Fallujah he had been fully embedded with the US Army, literally clearing houses with troops. In al-Amarah with the Welsh Guards, where there was ‘probably a tenth if not a twentieth of what was going on’, he found himself during house raids held at the outer perimeter, three hundred metres back. (Interview with Harnden.)

					Charlie Antelme remembers that ‘the Estonians were very unhappy at the senior level … not least because they have laws that differ from ours in terms of what can be revealed on the reporting of casualties … this was not MoD bungling — what Toby was told on the ground and what the Estonian government wanted to see in a book were potentially at odds.’

					Correspondence with Antelme.

					Two years later, in 2013, the same issue surfaced again in the further public row between the MoD and Oxford prior to the publication of British Generals in Blair’s Wars, the upshot of a series of seminars held at the Changing Character of War Programme at the university. This was perhaps the most sanctioned and bounded form of official debate that could take place, and still the army blocked all contributions from serving officers. Throughout Iraq and Afghanistan the MoD sought to stifle debate that could have improved performance on the battlefield, both internal and external. Saving face was more important than saving lives.

					Fergusson (2009), pp. 20–21.

					The Blues and Royals themselves forged from an earlier amalgamation between the Royal Horse Guards, known as the ‘Blues’, and the Royal Dragoons in 1969.

					Indisputable though is the Household Cavalry’s continued use of the ‘confirmed cadet’ system for recruitment, a method that allows the regiment to offer commissions to chosen young men, often sons of ex-officers, before Sandhurst and to take them on regardless of how they actually fare during officer training. The Household Cavalry’s acceptance of a confirmed cadet despite his miserable performance at the academy formed a focus of the BBC 4 fly-on-the-wall documentary on Sandhurst that broadcast in 2011.

					The diversity objective was not known to all participants: ‘At the time it really didn’t feel like a conscious exercise in presenting an image of ourselves — rather just as a fun way to commemorate a very happy mess full of some great characters,’ said one other officer who appeared in it.

					Correspondence with Ed Olver.

					Freud died in 2011.

					The Brigadier sold for almost $35 million at Christie’s in New York in 2015. (https://www.theguardian.com/artanddesign/2015/nov/11/lucian-freud-portrait-of-camillas-ex-husband-sells-for-nearly-35m)

			

			Chapter 11: The Bad Day

			
					Maliki’s spokesman did not respond to a request for comment for this book.

					Despite multiple attempts, contact could not be made with General Mohan in research for this book.

					Free: ‘I was determined we — the Brits — were not seen to be embarrassed, intimidated or confused by the situation we found ourselves in rather that we were prepared to act as required.’ (Correspondence with Julian Free.)

					Interview and correspondence with Ben Ryan.

					Lloyd Austin did not respond to fact-checking inquiries for this book.

					That is Free’s recollection. Marriott’s recollection is that he said, ‘Right, I’ll keep them off your back for as long as I possibly can. You just go for it, otherwise the British Army’s reputation with the Americans, and the Iraqis, and probably with a lot more people as well, will be trashed.’ (Correspondence with Marriott.)

					Interview and correspondence with George Flynn.

					There is uncertainty here about dates. Friday 28th is listed as Flynn’s arrival in written accounts. Flynn did not keep a diary of events and so is unable to provide confirmation. The Chilcot Report gives the date of White-Spunner’s return to Basra as the Friday, too; however, White-Spunner believes he probably arrived the previous evening, the 27th. Harkness is certain that on Flynn’s initial arrival there was a meeting at which Flynn and Free were present and White-Spunner absent. Harkness writes in full:‘White-Spunner’s arrival in Basra would almost certainly have occurred during the evening as there tended not to be any UK military aircraft movement during daylight hours. The threat from IDF resulted in all UK aircraft movements occurring during the hours of darkness. Of note, once COTK started IDF attacks against the COB ceased.
I recall a distinctly uncomfortable and confusing meeting at which Julian Free was present with Flynn, but White-Spunner was not as he hadn’t arrived back by then. It was uncomfortable because there was a sense of failure and humiliation pervading through the Brits (mixed with anger and frustration) at being held back by a Whitehall leash. It was confusing as we couldn’t figure out who was “in command” as we now had a US two-star [officer] in the mix. It was either at that meeting or a subsequent meeting that Flynn did his best to diffuse the tension with humour by suggesting that they copy [the] formula used in Baghdad and create the “Sons of Basra”… or SOBs!
I remember the confusion as to where Flynn’s office was going to be located (top floor of the main building initially) as I had to go and brief him on the state of readiness (train & equip) of the Iraqi divisions in the South.’ (Correspondence with Harkness.)


					Flynn says, ‘My initial message [to] my UK counterparts and one that I tried to convey was that I was there to help, to work as a team and to achieve the missions assigned. Clearly, what was being done at the time was not working and … a new approach was needed. Part of that was getting engaged with Iraqi counterparts and units on the ground to achieve the overwatch, situational awareness and mission success. The main point I am trying to make here is that I needed to build a team and I needed all the help I could get. Current approach to [the] issue, teaming with Iraqi counterparts, was not working.’ (Correspondence with Flynn.)

					Interview with Paul Harkness.

					Photograph of graffiti provided by Eric Whyne.

					There was also a small British unit in Baghdad conducting moves for the embassy, and, later on another regular company did operate with Americans in Baghdad.

					Ripley, Operation Telic (2016), p. 239. As earlier in the book, Tim Ripley’s authoritative book is the primary source for the chronology of events here.

					Fartosi declined a request to be interviewed for this book. Ahmad Fartusi is another spelling used.

					https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/we-will-spill-british-blood-warns-sheikh-ahmad-fartusi-66tdg0c3lj9

					Operation Telic (2016), p. 267.

					http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/4269672.stm

					Richard Williams did not respond to a request for comment on this point.

					Marriott had earlier served as chief of staff to then Major General Robin Brims at 1 (UK) Div. during the initial invasion.

					Interview with Richard Shirreff.

					He commissioned into the 14th/20th King’s Hussars, a regiment that folded into the King’s Royal Hussars in 1992.

					Interview with Nicholson.

					Nicholson added: ‘Some of my guys claim to have seen a contrail moving towards the helicopter and then the helicopter dropping. I ran out and saw quite a bit of smoke in the sky — one bit looked like a trail to the large bit of smoke where the aircraft had been hit. It could conceivably [have] been left by a burning bit of the aircraft, but my guys had nothing to gain by inventing the story. We all just assumed it had been hit by a SAM [surface-to-air missile] or a very lucky RPG.’

					The flight was intended to brief John Coxen, a 46-year-old RAF wing commander arriving to take command of the helicopters supporting British troops. Coxen died in the crash, along with four others, including Sarah-Jayne Mulvihill, a 32-year-old flight lieutenant who becomes the first British service woman to be killed in action for more than 20 years. (https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2006/may/09/military.iraq) The earlier death of a British woman, Staff Sergeant Denise Rose, in Iraq in late 2004 was believed to be suicide. (https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2004/nov/02/iraq.military).

					http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/8014318.stm

					According to one officer in Basra at the time, the following exchange took place on a British radio net during the riot at the crash site.General: ‘… you will need to be patient. There’s a lot of moving parts which need to be factored into the extraction plan.’
Junior officer: ‘I’ve been on the ground five hours. They’ve mortared me twice, I’ve got three T3s and a T2 [types of casualty], and my water ran out an hour ago … factor that into your fucking extraction plan.’


					To make communications work with the Iraqis, and to talk to the Provisional Joint Operations Centre in Basra, Nicholson has to walk out of the ECM bubble and call them up on his cell phone.

					When he was commanding 7th Armoured Brigade (as predecessor to Graham Binns, before the 2003 invasion), Shirreff’s chief of staff was Richard Williams. As mentioned earlier, by this point a lieutenant colonel, Williams had returned to 22 SAS as the commanding officer.

					The largest operation the army had mounted since the Suez Crisis in 1956, Motorman saw armoured bulldozers crashing through barricades and troops flooding into the Bogside and Creggan estates in Londonderry, and other sites in Northern Ireland.

					Jackson says, ‘I don’t remember the dinner, but I have no reason to doubt Richard Sherriff’s account.’ (Correspondence with Jackson.)

					Tony Blair’s succession plan is looming. Within 13 months Gordon Brown will finally be able to collect on the pact supposedly made in 1994 at the Granita restaurant in Islington, and will become prime minister. For the time being, however, Tony Blair remains PM, and Iraq remains Blair’s war.

					When contacted to fact-check Shirreff’s account of these events here, Houghton said, ‘The Houghton-Shirreff exchange is about right.’

					For Shirreff the scratch headquarters arrangements in Basra, rather than a proper bespoke set-up, and the army’s parallel distracting restructuring of the infantry, had intensified these issues.

					Named after the battle in the Peninsula Campaign when Wellington turned the tide against the French, and a battle honour for the 3rd Division, Shirreff’s command.

					Shirreff tells commanding officers to ensure that their battalions are infused with the required offensive spirit before they arrive in Iraq. They are to focus on low-level tactics skill, to include combined arms integration and the use of tanks. ‘All those in the hall that sunny May day in Bulford were inspired by what they heard,’ Maciejewski later wrote. ‘It was refreshing to approach an operational tour with a sense that we were not merely going to manage events, but actually go onto the offensive and set the tactical agenda to deliver conditions that resembled mission success. There was, I recall, also a degree of scepticism among some Iraq veterans about whether this success could be delivered.’ (British Generals in Blair’s Wars (Ashgate, 2013), p. 162.)

					The report continues: ‘The lack of security means that we cannot conduct the SSR needed to transform the police, nor apply the economic inducements needed to isolate the militants from the majority of militiamen who are only there because the militia can pay them. Thus the enemy, militant JAM and the death squads linked to the Basra police … are able to operate with relative impunity … In my view, the only way we will achieve mission success is by winning the battle for Basra and defeating militant JAM and the death squads, whether by capturing, or, if necessary, by killing them in accordance with our ROE.’ (Chilcot 9.5, p. 20.)

					Marsden did not respond to a request for comment.

					Shirreff was at staff college with Peter Wall, and he first met Houghton when he was a colonel working in Land Headquarters in Wilton during the George Robertson Defence Review of 1997–8.

					‘The body language from PJHQ and Peter Wall was very, very blunt about the prospect of me doing this,’ Shirreff recalls. ‘The overwhelming culture, zeitgeist of PJHQ was draw down, draw down, draw down. I’m afraid I think that ministers were being told that all was well … we had generals telling ministers what they wanted to hear, rather than what they needed to hear.’ (Interview with Shirreff.)

					As news spreads through Amarah that the British have gone, locals rush onto the streets shouting, ‘God is great’ and drivers sound their horns in celebration. Hundreds gather around the local offices of Muqtada al-Sadr. A loudspeaker repeatedly broadcasts the triumphant message: ‘This is the first Iraqi city that has kicked out the occupiers.’ Major Charles Burbridge, the British military spokesman in Basra, says the scale of the looting has been a ‘disappointment’ but attributes it to the average Iraqi being ‘extremely impoverished’. The Telegraph report gives this additional narrative: ‘First indications of what would follow came a few hours later as a crowd gathered outside Camp Abu Naji. Iraqi soldiers positioned inside the base dispersed them with shots into the air. But the following morning a mob of between 2,000 and 5,000 returned, hundreds of them armed with machine guns and rocket-propelled grenades. After sporadic fighting the Iraqi troops retreated to a corner of the camp as the base was stripped. By nightfall, said Lieutenant Rifaat Taha Yaseen, of the Iraqi Army’s 10th Division, “everything” had been taken. A memorial to the 22 British soldiers killed in Maysan since the invasion of March 2003 had already been removed and is re-erected at the British military camp in Basra airport.’ (http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/1527327/Jubilant-Iraqi-looters-strip-military-base-after-British-forces-pull-out.html)

					‘The Spinbad comment is completely news to me,’ Houghton says. ‘Understand, however, that this operation was as much about perception/information ops as kinetic action, so the term is not necessarily derogatory.’

					Shirreff says, ‘I don’t recall promising Spectre gunships. However, the point is that I had certainly hoped to be able to generate much more support in future. The lesson is to beware of raising expectations which can’t be fulfilled.’

					Another plan has the use of retina scanning equipment by Royal Military Police teams at Iraqi Police Stations, to produce a record that can confirm who is, and who is not, a legitimate police officer. Nicholson talks to an RMP, who confirms that this too is an ‘absolute waste of time’. They are only at the stations for a day; if everyone agreed to have the process done, a requirement for such a database to be of any real use, then the scanning for it would take five days, and besides there is no compulsion for anyone to be scanned at all. In the end, ‘a couple of folks volunteered to have their retinas scanned, that was done, nothing else happened’. (Interview with Nicholson.)

					Shirreff says he was ‘not conscious of anything along these lines’.

					Shirreff: ‘The system was operating in Basra as it had operated in Northern Ireland, so when there was a shooting incident in Northern Ireland the forensics got all over it, the empty cases were isolated, all the forensics were sorted out, the investigations were done as if it was a sort of crime scene. Well, this was a bloody war, you couldn’t do that. These were major punch-ups with thousands of rounds being exchanged, and I remember the guys needed to be let off the leash really, a little bit. They had to operate within the rules of engagement — of course they did — but there was an issue of respect I think. And Arabs, particularly the militia, weren’t going to respect a negative attitude.’ (Interview with Richard Shirreff.)

					Ripley, Operation Telic (2016), p.331.

					Ibid., p. 332.

					In his weekly report to London on 4th January, Shirreff defends the Jameat operation: ‘If I had left this up to the Iraqis to do it the Iraqi way (as we did in October) there would have been no operation. I judged that there was an operational imperative to carry out the operation; hence my decision to go for it … I wanted to send an unequivocal message two ways: to our US allies that we are serious about conducting decisive, kinetic operations against the SCU [Serious Crimes Unit] and corrupt police if PIC [Provincial Iraqi Control] in Basra is to be credible; and a similar message to the Iraqi domestic audience and the people of Basra … If the Sadrists and their fellow travellers have had their noses put out of joint, then so be it. Above all, it is seen locally as a major defeat for JAM and a significant victory for MNF in achieving a secure environment in Basra.’ (Chilcot 9.5, p. 70.)

					‘Those serving in Basra during Sinbad believed that, for PJHQ and the MoD, operations in Basra during late 2006 and mid-2007 were more about creating a credible narrative for exit rather than creating credible results,’ Justin Maciejewski later writes. (British Generals in Blairs Wars, 2013, p.163)

					Pete Mansoor, Surge: My Journey with General David Petraeus and the Remaking of the Iraq War (Yale University Press, 2013), quoted in Chilcot 9.5, p. 177.

					http://icasualties.org/

					It continues: ‘The United States must not make an open-ended commitment to keep large numbers of American troops deployed in Iraq.’ The report’s findings are not one dimensional — its also suggests the US should increase the number of military personnel embedded with Iraqi units. But nonetheless, it reads like an attempt to draw a line underneath a disastrous intervention. (https://online.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/WSJ-iraq_study_group.pdf)

			

			Chapter 12: Accommodation

			
					Their succession as major generals indicates how, a quarter of a century after the first graduate officers entered the army in quantity, Oxbridge is gripping the upper end of the promotional hierarchy, as it does in so many other British institutions. Justin Maciejewski is a Cambridge graduate. Nick Houghton went to Oxford. Shaw’s chief of staff in Iraq in 2007 and another major in his divisional headquarters are both Oxford graduates too.

					As DSF Shaw had felt, on occasion — and on a smaller canvas — the paralysing conflicts of interest that overall heads of armies feel, for Special Forces was a world within a world. Shaw felt a duty to protect his black-masked empire that sometimes conflicted with his professional knowledge of how to make best use of it. (Interview with Shaw.)

					The institution at Seaford House in Belgravia designed to prepare senior officers for senior roles.

					He makes Allen’s newly published book Arabs compulsory reading for his staff. Shaw will later write from Iraq. ‘When this HQ arrived we came with a thesis based on the work of the historian Charles Tripp … that Iraqi power had been split since the 1920s between the official and the shadow states; that the official state had been degraded by the Iran-Iraq war, sanctions and then the 2003 invasion and subsequent CPA [Coalition Provisional Authority] decisions; and that the 2005 elections were more of a census than a democratic election — people voted on sectarian lines. The result is an official state (political structures and parties) populated by the shadow state (militias), much of it backed by their own dark state (death squads, secret cells). The removal of Saddam removed the major unifying factor in Iraq; now there is competition within and between these layers of power. After three months … this analytic prism [is] the only one that makes sense of what is going on here.’ (Chilcot 9.5 p. 134.)

					Chris Hughes could not be reached for comment.

					Nigel Sheinwald initially declined a request for an interview. When subsequently presented with Shaw’s account of the 2006 meeting, he wrote as follows: ‘Having declined an interview, it’s difficult and a bit unfair to intervene now; and I don’t remember the content of the meeting. But that doesn’t sound right. First, important as Jonathan was, it was never going to be “his task” to get Britain out of Iraq. That responsibility lay a bit higher up the chain of command! And second, the question was never whether we wanted to withdraw, but how to do it, what conditions — political, security etc. — could be put in place to make withdrawal feasible and defensible, and on what timetable. I am more likely to have briefed him on all that, and the picture will have been more complex than you imply.’ (Correspondence with Sheinwald.)

					In retrospect Shaw’s reading is that Blair had to get out of Iraq in order to sustain the support of the Parliamentary Labour Party; success had become defined as simply getting Britain out of theatre.

					Earlier in 2006 the American author Thomas Ricks, a former Pentagon correspondent for the Washington Post and the Wall Street Journal, published a highly-praised account of the run-up to the invasion of Iraq and the first years of the occupation. His title was Fiasco. The system appears to agree with that interpretation.

					Half by mid-February and the rest at a rate of about 3,500 each succeeding month.

					Bob Gates, Duty — Memoirs of a Secretary at War (WH Allen, 2014), pp. 45–46.

					To find numbers Bob Gates, newly installed as US secretary of state for defence, extends all combat tours for the US Army in Iraq, Afghanistan and the Horn of Africa from 12 to 15 months. The move means deployed troops now risk missing two, rather than one significant family event, such as a child or partner’s birthday or wedding anniversary.

					https://edition.cnn.com/2012/11/10/opinion/bergen-petraeus-legacy/index.html

					Stirrup disputes Shaw’s account of this meeting. He writes, ‘You start by implying that as an RAF officer I was somehow hampered in judging the strategic implications of ground operations. Apart from my own extensive experience in joint operations, this ignores the fact that I had an army vice-chief, an army director of operations and an army chief of joint operations at the Permanent Joint Headquarters, all of whom were intimately involved in the decision-making process with regard to Iraq. The quote also talks about “British withdrawal plans”; when I took over as CDS in mid-2006 the existing plan was indeed to draw down our forces in Iraq, but within months I had advised the government that this was inadvisable, and that we should maintain force levels as they were through 2007. In 2007 we had decided that the Iraqis needed to assume the lead for security in Basra as soon as they could, and that we would need to redeploy our forces accordingly once this happened.’ (Correspondence with Stirrup.)

					On 5 January 2007 the British Iraq Strategy Group meets and remarks that ‘the contrast between a US surge and the UK plans for drawdown could be problematic’. They have a plan though: ‘this could be mitigated by explaining that Basra and Baghdad were in different places in their security development, and Operation Sinbad represented an earlier equivalent surge in the South’. Margaret Beckett, the Foreign Secretary, is more shameless. She tells Cabinet ‘that Op Sinbad had been more successful than she had dared to hope’. For her too, the answer to any questions about UK withdrawal while the US surges is the same: conditions are different in Basra. (Chilcot 9.5 pp. 70–71, 78.)

					Presented with Shaw’s account of these interactions with him, Houghton said, ‘They sound accurate.’

					Shaw will later write ‘there were almost no attacks on the oil infrastructure or the energy systems in the south. No one had any interest in the south not working; they just wanted to have as large a slice of the cake as possible’. (British Generals in Blair’s Wars (2013), p. 177.)

					The American Forces Press Service reports a press brief by the Multi-National Division — South-East spokesman who says: ‘Our political leaders are saying that if the conditions here continue to improve, we will have a reduction in force in the spring.’ (Chilcot 9.5 p. 84.)

					It continues: ‘Only a decline in sectarian murders in mid-2006 was a heartening indicator, illustrating the gulf between the sectarian position in relatively homogeneous Basra and the much worse situation in mixed Baghdad. Most Basrawis live in fear, including the civic leaders to whom we would look for the rebirth of economic, social and political activity in the city. All are subject to intimidation by Jaysh al-Mahdi (JAM) and to a lesser extent, other militias … They do not feel that they can look to the CF [coalition forces], Iraqi Police (IPS) or Army (IA) for protection … [F]or all the time, money and effort poured into the Basra IPS, they are undermining, not guaranteeing security.’ (Chilcot 9.5 p. 92.)

					Mansoor, Surge, p. 63.

					Petraeus will come in and out of London almost every time he transits from Iraq, and in time he will build a routine, staying at Grosvenor House Hotel close by the US Embassy, which not only has good access to Downing Street and the MoD but also to parks where the general can go running. Petraeus will have a front row seat on British political-military interaction; sometimes brought in by helicopter to land at Horse Guards, sometimes at Chevening, the country house in Kent used by the Foreign Secretary. On one occasion he will even meet the prime minister in Scotland. But all that is in the future in February 2007. (Interview with Petraeus.)

					As per previous note, Marsden did not respond to a request for comment.

					The Chilcot Inquiry will later refer to him anonymously as ‘JAM1’.

					The Chilcot Inquiry narrative, attributing here to ‘a senior government official specialising in the Middle East’ — the rubric by which it refers to British spies — says that in late 2006 officials ‘began to look again at [JAM1] as a man of violence who might develop a more political role as … he had growing doubts about the impact of JAM’s attacks on MNF-I [Multi-National Force — Iraq]. (Chilcot 9.5 pp. 81–82.)

					Chilcot 9.5, p. 117.

					Ibid., p. 118.

					Ibid., p. 140.

					Shaw continues: ‘At present, and despite a number of individuals choosing to leave in April, contractor support remains firm. However, thinking ahead, should at any stage FCO, DFiD or MoD decide to remove its civil service personnel from theatre, the IO [information operations] message that this would send to contractors would need to be factored in.’ (Chilcot 9.5 p. 158.)

					The minute is copied to Graeme Lamb, Vice Admiral Charles Style, a Royal Navy officer serving as deputy chief of the defence staff for commitments, Martin Howard, director general for operational policy at the MoD, and others including Tony Blair’s Private Secretary, Dominic Asquith, the British ambassador to Iraq and Richard Jones, new British consul-general in Basra. The document is not copied more widely in the Cabinet Office.

					Chilcot gives this additional information on the talks with Fartosi: ‘In a summary of the negotiations with JAM prepared in November 2007, a senior official specialising in the Middle East (1) explained that early talks with JAM1 had focused on: “The release of Basra detainees, which would help JAM1’s local standing. The relationship between JAM and the Iranian-backed Secret Cells. JAM1 was adamant that he could bring the Secret Cells into line with his policy. MND(SE) and government officials working closely with the military insisted on a broad right to self-defence and the need to counter Iran. The risks of US intervention. [JAM1] feared a US takeover of MND(SE) and the transfer of detainees to US custody. The risks of Shia against Shia political conflict. From the start [JAM1] talked of the necessity of an accommodation with Badr, Fadilah and the other Basra parties. He wanted Fadilah detainees released as well as JAM. The need for development work to continue. Although [JAM1] wanted the military occupation to end as soon as possible, he requested an acceleration of visible development work and later provided a list of priority projects to improve quality of life in Basra.”’ (Chilcot 9.5, p. 172.)

					Fartosi accepts the British right to self-defence and to continue to intercept smuggled arms supplies during this period, but rejects a British right to target JAM secret cells, arguing that it is for JAM to control its own people. The British do not concede that last point. Shaw is happy to go ahead. He will briefly halt strike operations.

					Chilcot 9.5, p. 168.

					The submission is to be drafted in London, but government officials will work with the military in Iraq to provide details. It will need to include ‘the ‘back story’; levels of indirect fire on British bases before and after the three-day cease-fire, and casualties, and details of the next phase proposed — i.e. the release of the next two detainees Fartosi has asked for, and what the British will get in return, an idea of ‘where we might go next’, and American views.

					Chilcot 9.6, p. 221.

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2007/jun/17/iraq.iraq

					The advice is for onward submission to Margaret Beckett, and is copied to Desmond Bowen, policy director at the MoD.

					The British will retain the right to fire in self-defence, to interdict arms shipments and to intervene when asked to do so by the Iraqi government.

					The paper to London identifies risks, among them the fact that the US might view contacts with JAM as undermining their approach in Iraq. Graeme Lamb says he does not think that likely.

					Chilcot 9.5, p. 180.

					An MI6 officer later tells the Chilcot Inquiry that one threat to the UK ‘came from people, from a range of backgrounds, who had been radicalised and motivated by what they had seen reported about Iraq’. In this spy’s view, the attacks in London and Glasgow in June 2007 fell into that category.

					As well as the two ‘orange’ detainees whose release he has previously requested, he therefore asks for two ‘red’ detainees to be released, adding that this is a pre-condition for the start of the month-long cease-fire. A British report reads: ‘Despite this hardening of his position [he] maintained he was still committed to a negotiated de-escalation of violence with MNF-I in Basra Province.’ (Chilcot 9.6, p. 208.)

					In his own record of the discussion Shaw writes: ‘The meeting exceeded my expectations and left me more optimistic about his intent and the potential scope of the success this proposal might engender.’ (Chilcot 9.6 pp. 217–8.)

					On 15 August Fartosi receives a note saying it is unwise for the released individuals to adopt a media profile and asks ‘please could they tone it down a bit’. A telephone conversation follows. Fartosi agrees that media appearances are not helpful and advises ‘that they should exercise discretion’.

					On the issue of his failure to promote further, Shaw says Jock Stirrup thought him ‘too awkward and independent minded’. Stirrup denies this, writing, ‘Your quote from Jonathan Shaw on his non-promotion implies that I had some influence on this. The chief of defence staff had no part in decisions on army promotions; these were entirely the provenance of the chief of the general staff. In fact I supported the stance that Shaw had taken in Basra, although it is true that he alienated his American superiors.’ (Interview with Shaw and correspondence with Stirrup.)

					See this American National Public Radio report for details: https://www.npr.org/2015/12/19/459850716/fact-check-did-obama-withdraw-from-iraq-too-soon-allowing-isis-to-grow

			

			Chapter 13: Palace Guard

			
					In his account of the army at the end of the 1980s, Antony Beevor describes both a Royal Navy admiral needling a gathering of senior army counterparts by inquiring ‘are you all Green Jackets, or are you just army?’ and, in Gibraltar, another admiral visiting in hospital a Green Jacket major who had fractured his skull after falling off a human pyramid one boisterous night in the mess. ‘As you’re a Green Jacket, I can hardly say I’m surprised you were scrambling over other people’s backs to get to the top,’ he remarks, ‘And I am equally unsurprised that when you tumbled nobody made an effort to break your fall.’ Antony Beevor, Inside the British Army (Corgi, 1991), p. 341.

					One Royal Welsh officer who served with the Rifles in Iraq in 2007 also pushed back at the entire ‘Thinking Rifleman’ idea, pointing out that the Royal Green Jackets and their successor regiment received recruits who scored no higher on the army’s BARB (British Army Recruit Battery) aptitude tests than the rest of the regular infantry — given that recruiting was largely determined geographically — and the infantry tended to receive those with the lowest intellectual scores anyway.

					The group also included another Green Jackets officer, Harry Emck, David Bland and David Brown of the Royal Gloucestershire, Berkshire and Wiltshire Regiment (RGBW), Ted Shields of the Light Infantry, and Toffer Beattie of the Devon and Dorsets.

					Balfour denies this, pointing to a series of meetings he had to bring the RGBW on board with General Kevin O’Donoghue, the senior Royal Engineers officer who served as their colonel, including one in an M4 service station car park chosen to avoid attention.

					Balfour’s full response is as follows: ‘It was not a question at all that they were insufficiently smart. The core issue was where to find them a home once the decision was made that their recruiting was not sufficient to maintain them as a viable battalion long term. There were a variety of options, the first of which was to see whether they could merge with one of their geographically adjacent regiments, including the PWRR and the WFR. This was partly due to the Berkshire and Wiltshire links adjacent to the PWRR, and the Gloucestershire link to Worcestershire, but neither of them wanted to merge with the RGBW. As Nick Parker has said, as a Green Jacket I had to be impartial as director infantry, and to ensure balance across the infantry recruiting areas to sustain the future of all the planned large regiments, so could not be seen to be pushing the case for them becoming part of the Rifles as this could be seen as a takeover over the entire south-west, but a merger into the Rifles was clearly one of the options. The final option was to completely disband them and divide up their areas between others, but this would have destroyed the golden thread of their regimental history, and the Army Board were very keen to avoid this. So given the reluctance of their immediate neighbouring regiments the PWRR and the WFR, and their Prince of Wales’s Division, to take the RGBW in, Lieutenant General Anthony Palmer, colonel commandant of the Light Division, and I had separate meetings with General Kevin O’Donoghue, the colonel of the RGBW, to find a way forward, one in a M4 motorway service station car park to avoid attention as we made a plan!The D and D had from the outset always wanted to leave the Prince of Wales’s Division and join the Rifles. Once it was clear that the golden thread must be preserved, and that neither the Mercians to be, or the PWRR, wanted to merge with the RGBW, a merger into the Rifles became the obvious solution. From a Rifles perspective this gave the regiment complete coverage in the south-west, a very welcome addition to their area, and given the other regiments reluctance to merge with the RGBW, it then received little opposition. Hence the two-phase approach, also driven by operational commitments, for the RGBW to merge first with the D and D to become a Light Infantry battalion and then full integration into the Rifles when it formed. The great thing is that this is all history, and the success of the Rifles from the start subsequently has more than proved the value of a large regiment with its own ethos, indeed it has to be said at times in complete contrast to the Scottish Division.
I hope that this clarifies my position, and from a personal perspective as director infantry and given my overview of all the infantry, I knew that the RGBW had some very high grade and forward-looking officers. It would be fair to say that their views were not necessarily shared by some of the Old and Bold ex-RGBW officers, who at times had a negative impact, not least on the views of their neighbouring regiments.’


					The lieutenant colonels needed support at higher levels. As ever, the army was acutely a patronage organisation. They persuaded Lieutenant General Anthony Palmer, a senior Green Jackets officer who was serving as deputy chief of the defence staff (personnel) that such a move to create a truly large-large regiment was a good idea. They lobbied another Lieutenant General, Kevin O’Donoghue, the Royal Engineer who was the honorary colonel of the RGBW. Robin Brims, the Light Infantry officer who commanded 1 Div. in 2003, and who was by then a lieutenant general, was on board with the concept from the start.

					Robin Brims recalls the name being confirmed earlier, in late 2005.

					Cottam’s position, in Maciejewski’s recollection, is: ‘I know we’ve got the name Royal … but we should re-earn the right to be royal as the Rifles.’

					Usually an escort group came from the airport and Maciejewski’s men met them on a bridge on the outskirts of Basra. The commanding officer went out on the ground in his Bulldog while his second-in-command remained in the operations room in the palace.

					The Royal Welsh officer who served with the Rifles in 2007 pointed out that, just as some architects today continue to draft with a pencil rather than on a screen, so planning on paper can be a personal, rather than equipment-driven choice, though he added that at this time in Iraq, British headquarters were still largely analogue. He added that the most elaborate technology will not render the physical model redundant as a device to brief soldiers. (Interview with Royal Welsh officer.)

					The Royal Welsh officer disagreed, stating you could always tell the difference between regular troops and Special Forces.

					https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-558473/Same-crack-sniper-rifle-killed-SEVEN-British-soldiers-Basra-American-bullets.html

					In Arundell’s recollection. Newton Dunn says, ‘I remember the visit well, but not that remark. It’s likely I would have said something like that though.’

					‘I think it did a tremendous amount to put us on the map, in that sense, in terms of the soldiering and the casualties,’ Ralph Arundell says. ‘I think forged in battle would be a fair description.’ Later Major General Euan Loudon, who succeeds Alistair Irwin as honorary colonel of the Royal Regiment of Scotland, remarks to Arundell ‘just how torrid the whole Scottish thing had been’. ‘He just wished that they could have taken a leaf out of the Light Infantry/Green Jacket book,’ Arundell recalls. (Interview with Arundell)

					Unlike in Afghanistan the year before, the ‘ally’ phenomenon of beards and flip-flops does not fully take off here. ‘My view was we haven’t come here to look like Islamic fundamentalists,’ Maciejewski recalls. ‘We’ve come here to look like British soldiers, and British soldiers shave. We have standards that we uphold. We have a clean camp; we have a clean uniform; we shave. That’s what we do. That’s what these people expect to see of Brits. So I was quite ruthless about maintaining those basic standards.’ There was though no running water at the palace and the shower block got mortared. (Interview with Justin Maciejewski.)

					In an interview Yon drew comparison between how, with British air support, a Harrier would come on station and explain they had ‘32 minutes of fuel and one GBU-12’ — a type of laser-guided bomb, while an American Strike Eagle package could linger longer, refuel in the air, and it would ‘take them about five minutes’ to reel off a list of the much more extensive ordinance they carried. (Interview with Yon.)

					Named for a Tuscan city that was the site of a British victory in July 1944.

					Shaw says he has no memory of this particular interaction. ‘But my concern for the corrosive effect on UK morale back home, i.e. Yon doing JAM’s work for them, was real. My point was not to hide the truth so much as to point out to Yon that he was a player in this operation; his reporting was part of the conflict and he could not hide behind the factual nature of his reports to claim he was neutral. In what was an influence operation where the mindset of the opponent was the key target (the endstate was decided — we would be gone — what was in doubt was the manner of our leaving) I wanted to bring home to Yon that he was a player doing JAM’s work for them. Hence my request.’ (Correspondence with Shaw.)

					Interview with Justin Maciejewski.

					Interview with Daniel Marston.

					Via Richard Iron; see later sections.

					Some dispute the idea that British twentieth-century counter-insurgency supplied a model for twenty-first-century conflicts. The Royal Welsh officer in Basra in 2007 suggests there were four key differences that meant lessons from Malaya, Kenya and other such late imperial conflicts could not be transferred; the ubiquitous media presence in modern theatres, the smaller numbers of troops involved than in the past, the lower threshold to tolerate casualties and the higher priority on human rights and the international rule of law, prohibiting behaviour, such as torturing detainees to provide information, that was tacitly acceptable in the earlier conflicts.

					The Bugle (Autumn 2007), p. 57.

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/1580476/Basras-last-battle-the-untold-story.html

					https://www.slideshare.net/RUSI_online/colonel-patrick-sanders?type=powerpoint

					Meanwhile 452 fall on the airport, 118 on the PJCC.

					Bugle (2007), p. 58.

					https://www.rafmuseum.org.uk/research/online-exhibitions/women-of-the-air-force/women-in-the-raf-today/michelle-goodmans-biography.aspx

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/1580476/Basras-last-battle-the-untold-story.html

					For those watching on screens at the British Army headquarters, the casualty extraction seemed to take an eternity,’ a Telegraph account later stated. ‘My screen went white from the intensity of the flash, and at that point I thought I had sent ten of my guys to their deaths — it was a horrible moment,’ Brigadier Bashall recalls. (https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/1580476/Basras-last-battle-the-untold-story.html)

					It went on. During the early hours of 7 June, Corporal Will Wilson was killed in a search operation. Less than two weeks later, on the evening of 19–20 June, Major Paul Harding was killed at the PJCC by a mortar round. On the 22nd, Corporal John Rigby died in an IED attack. Not all deaths were caused by the enemy. On Friday 6 July, Rifleman Edward Vakabua, a 23-year-old Fijian who drove Stephen Vause through the mortar fire to the helicopter landing site when he was injured, was sleeping on a bunk in the palace. Aarron Kendrick, a 20-year-old rifleman, picked up an L96 sniper rifle, cocked it, aimed and fired it, shooting Vakabua in the head. It was an accident: Kendrick later told a court martial he had not been trained to use the weapon and he thought it was broken. Still, Vakabua was killed.

					He will later point out to his RUSI audience that, while you can treat a gunshot wound in the back of an armoured vehicle, you cannot do the same for a heat casualty.

					Richard’s daughter and David’s granddaughter. Unlike her elders though she does not usually cover foreign news or conflict — her usual area of reporting is fashion and lifestyle.

					http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-476234/British-squaddies-help-orphans-war-rediscover-childhood.html

					Contacted in 2018, Dimbleby stood by her comments on morale at the palace. She also recalled that, while she had decided that on her trip to Iraq she would make no effort to see her partner, an army officer then deployed in Basra, as to do so would be unprofessional, a Rifles officer told her that she should go and see him, pointing out that people were dying everyday.

					The next day the British hold another meeting with Fartosi — he complains that he had only 10 minutes to speak to the four detainees recently released, rather than the agreed one or two hours. (Chilcot 9.6 pp. 223–4.)

					Chilcot 9.6, p. 221.

					Ibid., p. 227.

					Bugle (Spring 2008), p. 53.

					In their report back to London, the spies advise transferring future authority for prisoner releases at the end of each month’s ceasefire period (should the process survive) from the secretary of state for defence to the major general in Basra. (Chilcot 9.6 p. 228.)

					Ibid.

					The next day General Jack Keane, a retired US general serving as an envoy in Iraq, and intimately involved in the creation of the Surge, spoke on the Today programme on Radio 4 in the UK. He expressed ‘frustration’ at ‘general disengagement by UK forces in Basra’. Stephen Biddle, an advisor on foreign policy to George Bush, warned the British would have to fight their way out of Basra in an ‘ugly and embarrassing’ retreat.

					Chilcot 9.6, pp. 231–2.

					Sanders, RUSI presentation. https://www.slideshare.net/RUSI_online/colonel-patrick-sanders?-type=powerpoint

					Ibid.

					http://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/middle-east/basra-the-soldiers-tales-5329181.html

					‘Some of the militias fighting us are nationalists and they do not like foreign troops in their country, and that is probably a healthy thing,’ he adds. ‘Ninety per cent of the violence in Basra City was directed at foreign forces and by us leaving that violence should go down, so it was probably time for us to leave.’

					On 31 August Des Browne’s private secretary provides Downing Street with an update: ‘Although the operation had ‘undoubtedly saved lives’, presentational risks remained: ‘Some of those involved in the release process are potentially linked, on the basis of intelligence information, to attacks against UK personnel (although in no cases do we have sufficient evidence to initiate legal proceedings through the Iraqi justice system and indeed many would likely have been released in the near future through our standard procedures for managing our internee population). And we face risks of accusations that we have done deals with terrorists, which may reinforce some of the negative comments emerging from the US in recent weeks alleging that we are not in control of events in south-east Iraq and are seeking an early exit.’ The update also recorded media coverage alleging the UK had negotiated a cease-fire with JAM but ‘these have been inaccurate on the detail and have not yet been more widely followed up’: ‘But it does seem likely that it is a matter of when, not if, the story will break. We will consider whether there is scope to be more proactive in media handling of this process in the aftermath of the reports to Congress by Petraeus and Crocker. In the meantime we do not intend to comment on any negotiations that we may have held with JAM or other militia groups.’ (Chilcot 9.6 p. 234.)

					Interview with Richard Iron.

					Chilcot 9.6 p. 236.

					http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b008h42d

					http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b008kxml

					Sometimes women have been slaughtered in front of their children, and sometimes children who are with them have been murdered.’

					Interview with Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq.

			

			Chapter 14: Iron and Mohan

			
					The initial mentor, for the first six months of Mohan’s tenure following his appointment in July, was a Royal Signals colonel called Andrew Sutcliffe.

					Until the age of 50 he is still theoretically in with a chance of reaching one-star rank, but he will not progress above that, nor, as a putative brigadier, would he ever be given a deployable brigade to command.

					Interview with Iron.

					Before its move to Shrivenham and its transformation to become a tri-service institution.

					Richards will take up that position in February 2008.

					White-Spunner said that Iron was once considered at the leading edge of his military generation but something happened post-staff college that blunted his career prospects. Iron did not respond to a request to provide clarification on what had or had not occurred.

					Interview with Iron.

					Interview with Iron.

					Free gets his troops into the US training facility at Baumholder, west of Frankfurt in Germany. There they have access to a ‘shoot house’ where they can practise house raids, a facility the British lack.

					According to Iron, when David Richards came to Basra to visit just after his appointment as commander in chief land forces in early 2008, he remarked that there was ‘a world of difference between the battalions in Afghanistan who are worked up, really excited, doing stuff, really up for it and there’s a buzz’ and those in Basra. ‘They’re all putting on a good show, and the commanding officers give a good briefing, but you can tell the battalions are just wasting away, there’s nothing to do.’ (Interview with Richard Iron.)

					Alongside his own knowledge of the language, in Iraq in 2008 Iron has access to one of the few British — as opposed to Iraqi or Kuwaiti — interpreters in theatre. Nigel Preisner dropped out of university to participate in the initial 2003 invasion as a yeomanry reservist. He picked up colloquial Arabic at that time, and ended up as his squadron leader’s driver and de facto interpreter. He impressed sufficiently to be sent on the long Arabic course at Beaconsfield. He worked as an interpreter for the SAS team in Baghdad for a year before coming to Basra. (Interview with Richard Iron.)

					Before his departure for Iraq, as part of his pre-deployment training, Iron was taken to PJHQ at Northwood and briefed on his role. ‘We must rely on you to get a measure of the ground truth, what’s happening downtown in Basra, because now all of our sources have disappeared,’ he is told. This is the drought of intelligence engendered by the pullout from the palace. The British can no longer intercept calls and it is difficult for them to run agents. (Interview with Iron.)

					According to Iron, although he would subsequently disparage it, Mohan did initially believe that via the accommodation the Basra militia could be brought into the political process. ‘Part of what was interesting in early 2008 was seeing his journey from do what the British were doing, which was ignoring the signs of trouble, in the hope that the political solution is going to happen, to realising that he was going to do something about it.’ (Interview with Iron.)

					Interview with Iron.

					Later Iron will in his diary describe the Basra Operations Command as ‘akin to a feudal court, with the medieval king (Mohan) surrounded by courtiers whose sole aim is to please their lord. They may have individual responsibilities, such as communications or finance, but they are mere secretaries or ciphers to Mohan who rules all. All is based on personal trust; patronage is handled in a way we do not understand; we do not know who wields influence.’ (Iron’s unpublished diary.)

					Iron is not allowed to travel in Iraqi armoured vehicles as they lack electronic counter-measures to counter roadside bombs. ‘I could fly by helicopter, but only by night and with a specialist-trained close protection team,’ he later writes in his diary. ‘Although I trust Mohan’s protection people, the risk is of kidnap by Iranian-backed militia members who almost certainly have penetrated the security infrastructure at the BOC. As the Secret Intelligence Service man said to me “if you do go, save the last bullet for yourself. You have no idea how much paperwork would be caused if you were kidnapped”.’

					Interview with Free.

					During the visit Brown speaks by telephone to Iraqi Prime Minister Maliki and congratulates him on the decision to move to PIC in Basra. Brown promises that the UK ‘would continue to act sensitively in Basra’ and that Foreign Secretary David Miliband will visit soon, for the launch of a ‘Basra Development Forum’. (Chilcot 9.6, p.306)

					Brown maintains that the number of violent incidents targeted at British forces has reduced by 90 per cent since September. ‘Their main role would be training the Iraqi Security Forces, although they would re-engage if necessary,’ Brown says. (Chilcot 9.6, p. 306–7)

					In his visit report to Gordon Brown, Miliband says that ‘Iraqi press coverage [of the handover] was on the whole favourable, characterising the event as a restoration of national authority.’ Miliband adds: ‘In spite of some of the recent press reporting, security has undoubtedly improved, not just in Basra but in Iraq as a whole. Attacks of all sorts have remained for 10 straight weeks now at levels last seen consistently in the middle of 2005.’ That may be the case in December, but in Basra, it is not going to last. (Chilcot 9.6, p. 310.)

					The next day officials at the Ministry of Defence advise secretary of state Des Browne of the ‘probable imminent release’. Their advice says that every effort has been made to make sure the British retain a link to Fartosi after his release. The key idea is that they will have more leverage with him — a leash, as it were — if he is not the last prisoner to be let go and there are still men inside relying on him to get them out. On the 22nd Des Browne marks the advice ‘Noted.’ (Chilcot 9.6, p.313.)

					Interview with Iron.

					It is not Mohan’s first visit to England — he came for medical treatment after he was injured during the Iran-Iraq war, when he was a brigade commander and Britain was supporting Iraq. In January 2008 Iron had some administrative support from the FCO, granting him several evenings off, but he organised much of the programme himself. (Interview with Iron.)

					http://www.tankmuseum.org/about-us/history

					On the 18th and 19th clashes break out between Iraqi security forces and a Shia group calling itself the Jund al-Samaa or Soldiers of Heaven, a millenarian outfit that believes spreading chaos will speed the return of the 12th imam. Dozens die. (Chilcot 9.6, p.320.)

					Iron, diary.

					‘There was no indication that the thing was Iranian-built: it looked like any other professionally manufactured munition; painted a greenish grey with markings, batch numbers and safety information all stencilled in English,’ Iron writes in his diary.

					Iron, diary.

					Chilcot 9.6 p. 324.

					Richard Butler did not respond to multiple requests for an interview. Some sources additionally give the date of his kidnap as 10 February.

					Interview.

					Correspondence with Ryan.

					White-Spunner challenges the notion that he was poorly regarded by the Americans, pointing out he received an American decoration at the end of his tour, claiming that he received a glowing written report from them on his performance, and adding that he subsequently stayed as a guest of George Flynn, Lloyd Austin’s deputy, in the United States. He acknowledged, however, that at the start of his tour the collective British position was indeed both ineffective and embarrassing. (Interview and correspondence with White-Spunner.)

					On troop numbers Free has clashed with PJHQ. He was told, ‘which part of 5,000 don’t you understand?’ (Interview with Free.) 

					He also says that Iran had done great damage to them, but it is not clear how. Iron speculates as to what may have caused this sudden burst of belligerence on Mohan’s part. The previous evening the British in Basra received a request for information about the accommodation. Lloyd Austin called White-Spunner and asked why Mohan will not confront JAM. Iron is called by the military assistant to Lieutenant General Bill Rollo, now the three-star British officer in Baghdad, asking about Mohan’s future, and intimating that he may be moving on very rapidly in the near future. ‘We know that Prime Minister Maliki has been pressurising Mohan to attack Jaysh al-Mahdi for some time. I can only suppose that pressure from Baghdad has built up to the extent that he has been threatened by removal unless he acts against the militias,’ Iron writes in his diary. (Iron, diary.)

					‘A nice endorsement,’ Iron writes.

					While details for the fight itself are still under development, the document does describe the likely trigger for it. ‘We will probably initiate it by announcing that all weapons in Basra are to be handed to the ISF, followed by seizures of JAM weapons caches. This will provoke an armed response from radical JAM groups. Simultaneously, we will close down JAM’s illegal economic activity, such as corruption at Umm Qasr port.’ (Iron, diary.)

					In particular, it asked for an additional brigade to free up troops from current operations for training, one or preferably two mechanised battalions, and a heavy mortar company to counter JAM rocket attacks.

					‘All C-130 journeys are the same; the only thing that varies is the length of the flight,’ Iron writes in his diary.

					Iron has not been in a Puma for years — it is like a return to military childhood. He remembers in the dark days in Northern Ireland when the Puma was the large and comfortable helicopter compared to the Wessex and Lynx. Now it seems cosy compared to the spacious Merlin. (Iron, diary.)

					As the flamed mahogany and giltwork loo seats break they are replaced by plastic. The operations room in Maude House has a magnificent domed ceiling with light blue Arabic motifs; but underneath stands installed standard British office furniture.‘I’ve always been fascinated by the process of how a great civilisation decays, or at least how its physical remains decay,’ Iron writes in his diary. ‘After 410AD in Britain, did people continue to live in Roman villas, repairing the roads and aqueducts? Or did they quickly become feral, creating hovels amongst the ruins of Imperial Rome?
‘We coalition soldiers, like the Goths in ancient Rome, live amongst this glory but it is not our glory. We live in the buildings that are still intact but we do not repair those that are damaged. As something breaks we repair it, but using our materials and methods, not the materials and methods of the original construction. We use the gilt rococo furniture, but as it breaks it is discarded and replaced by western utilitarianism.’
‘We are Goths: enjoying using the trappings of wealth but not prepared to make it ourselves.’ (Iron, diary.)


					In his written request, he referred to the same trigger mechanism that went into the note for the defence minister: declaration of a weapons amnesty and searching suspected JAM caches. He also provided dates, suggesting the prime minister should announce the amnesty on 15 April, with a deadline of 1 June before beginning searches.

					Billed as a 10-minute presentation, it eventually lasts nearly three hours. Mohan is also later a dinner guest at the minister’s house. (Iron, diary.)

					Mohan states wryly that nobody else would accept the job. (Iron, diary.)

					It is a challenge fitting both English and Arabic text onto the same slide without losing the pictures which break up the text, but they get there eventually. (Iron, diary.)

					He appoints Lieutenant General James Dubik, the commanding general of Multi-National Security Transition Command — Iraq, to be one co-chair. Al-Rubaie appoints an Iraqi general from the prime minister’s office to be the other. (Iron, diary.)

					Interview with al-Rubaie.

					‘Majnun means you need to go to hospital, to one of these mental institutions,’ al-Rubaie recalls. (Interview with al-Rubaie.)

					Petraeus’ recollection is that Maliki said, ‘General, I just wanted you to know I’ve ordered two divisions south. I’m going to go down there with the cabinet and myself this afternoon to do some political discussions.’ Petraeus replied, ‘I’m your soldier, and we will support you. But this is a little bit quick.’ When it was clear that Maliki was not for turning, Petraeus asked if so, could they have some time to complete the marathon task of shifting assets down to the south? ‘The truth is it was highly impulsive,’ Petraeus added in retrospect. (Interview with Petraeus.)

					Interview with Mansoor.

					American journalist and author Tom Ricks also suggests that Maliki ‘had been watching and learning many things from the Americans. One of those things was how to roll dice and take risks. He was ready to gamble.’ (Ricks, The Gamble — General Petraeus and the Untold Story of the American Surge in Iraq, 2006–2008 (Allen Lane, 2009), p. 277.)

					Interview with Iron.

			

	


			Chapter 15: Charge

			
					Interview with Caroline Wyatt.

					One soldier, filmed standing outside in the sand, breaks party line on camera and says the campaign in Iraq has all been a waste of time; he mentions too how frustrating it is to be endlessly mortared yet not to be allowed to go out and hit the insurgents. There is a media minder with them and he asks Wyatt if they will cut this — here too the minders always see the journalists’ product before it is put out. A long argument ensues, and in the end Wyatt refuses to remove the interview — there’s nothing here about operational security, the soldier has merely gone off-piste. After a debate with her producer as to whether to do so would be ethical they do use the footage — it goes out in a bulletin in the UK. Wyatt frames the debate as follows: ‘Is it ethical to get some bloke in trouble? Would he lose his job? No. Would he get a ticking off? Yeah. Would he actually be privately supported by most of the people around him? Er, yes. Including quite possibly his commanding officer.’ (Interview with Caroline Wyatt.)

					Interview with Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq.

					Correspondence with Iron.

					Mowafak al-Rubaie recalls encountering Petraeus around this time in Baghdad, and the American general remarking to him, ‘Well your prime minister is committing suicide.’ Similarly Ryan Crocker, the US ambassador, told al-Rubaie ‘he is fatally injured … politically he’s dead’. (Interview with al-Rubaie.)

					Whyne believes the day of the whiteboard was probably 28 March.

					Interview with Whyne.

					When rotated out as a group of three to the detachment of the 341 guarding Abu Ghraib prison, scene of abuses earlier in the war, there are none of these safeguards, and those men are much more exposed. When Whyne pulls this duty, thoughts of an incident in Baghdad when a vehicle checkpoint was overrun, and nine American soldiers killed, often occupy his mind. It is ‘the scariest thing I’ve ever done in my life.’ (Interview with Eric Whyne.)

					They give their Iraqi interpreters nicknames like Mongoose, Scorpion and Rico. With 341, as the Surge and the so-called Anbar Awakening has taken hold, MiTT team Razor have run clearance operations and presence patrols as well as more conventional training. They have sat on the same cordons when there are weapons finds. (Interview with Eric Whyne.)

					Whyne believes his MiTT may have been transferred to 111 as there was a desire to give this unit American support that had already cut their teeth elsewhere; theirs is a particularly high priority MiTT. (Interview with Eric Whyne.)

					The Iraqis troops wear their green camouflage uniforms; the American advisors have taken to wearing one-piece tan flight suits, which are cooler and fire retardant, and they have equipped their interpreters with the same. (Interview with Eric Whyne.)

					Each with their own radio channels and ways to communicate, and distinct medivac procedures. (Interview with Eric Whyne.)

					A Green Howards officer, Houghton has chosen to remain based in Yorkshire and commute to Northwood, where he lives in the five-bedroom house on a suburban street reserved for the CJO. He is lucky to get home two weekends per month — the job is relentless. (Interview with Nick Houghton.)

					J1: personnel, J2: operational intelligence, J3: current operations, J4: logistics/medical, J5: crisis and deliberate planning, J6: communication and information systems, J8: finance and human resources, J9: policy, legal and media operations (https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/the-permanent-joint-headquarters).

					Barney White-Spunner writes, ‘US commanders had far greater freedom of action in Iraq than Brits by this stage in the campaign. Whereas early on other operations in that decade we had more latitude, by 2008 Iraq was being tightly controlled from PJHQ & MoD. Actually I think the PJHQ model was showing its flaws — trying to retain operational command whilst a couple of thousand miles away is odd, and it is something that needs questioning.’

					By contrast, Nick Houghton, who in time would become the chief of the defence staff, still backed the accommodation in 2017: ‘at some point in conflict resolution you’ve got to talk to your enemies, you’ve got to have confidence building measures, you’ve got to have prisoner releases, you’ve got to have a route to normality,’ he said. ‘Because it’s finite you’re careful to pace what residual leverage you have got over the period of time that you physically need to achieve things to put yourself in a better position.’ (Interview with Nick Houghton.)

					Presented with Marriott’s account of events, Houghton wrote, ‘His first para rings true (but is written by someone who probably didn’t pass through the hard-school of the IRA amnesty!). His second para accurately (though somewhat dramatically) reflects the need to permit the local commander (Free) freedom of imperative action, whilst retrospectively clearing things up the chain of command.’

					Chilcot 9.6, p. 342.

					The Chilcot Inquiry will subsequently state that at this stage ‘the Iraqi Special Forces had failed to take any of their targets and suffered a number of casualties before retreating. UK forces were on standby to provide “emergency support” but were not deployed. The militias remained “in control of the majority of the city” and attacks on the Basra Operational Command, where Generals Mohan and Jalil were based, were described as “intense”. (Chilcot 9.6, p. 343.)

					White-Spunner says: ‘I don’t recall George Flynn being there when I got back. I think he came down either later that day or the next. He came and went a bit. Key point was that his presence allowed us to use substantial US assets as we discussed.’

					Chilcot 9.6, p. 344.

					Chilcot 9.6, p. 347.

					Additionally, it appeals to the Iraqi government to give a general pardon to and to release all those held in detention, particularly Sadrists. It disowns all who own weapons and use them to target government buildings and institutions and makes a commitment to cooperation with the Iraqi government and institutions in establishing law and order and working to restore public services. (Chilcot 9.6, p. 347.)

					Document shown to author by Barney White-Spunner.

					White-Spunner’s perspective was that the deployment of MiTTs back into the city was clearly sanctioned by London. Free, by contrast, states categorically that a letter seeking permission was not sent to London in advance of him making the decision to deploy MiTTs into the city. He believes the letter could have been sent subsequent to the MiTTs going into the city, as a retrospective attempt to seek permission, although other evidence suggests that British troops went in at least after the date that White-Spunner’s letter bears. Free writes, ‘I was certainly not aware of any permission granted when I spoke to Austin and made my promise and I was never rung up and told I had permission, which would have been odd if it had come as I had not asked for it. I had told Patrick Marriot what I was doing and that was it. The system would want to set out the reasons for why we did what we did in case anything went wrong, hence the need for the note, even if it was after the event.’ (Correspondence with Free.)

					Ryan keeps a diary of these events and later submits up the chain; eventually Flynn raises the torture issue with Mohan.

					On previous assignments the team, which also includes Seth Moulton, a Marine Corps captain who will in due course become a US congressman for Massachusetts’ 6th District, has spent time with the Polish headquarters in Diwaniyah, another coalition unit that had retreated to its bases. The Americans’ opinion of the Poles is further damaged by their propensity to abscond with large quantities of dollars meant for reconstruction projects. (Interview with Alex Lemons.)

					There is another Iraqi unit at the palace who have dark blue uniforms but no weapons — it appears they were raised merely to march on television, get in trucks and head to Basra. To Lemons it looks like Maliki sent a phantom army south. (Interview with Alex Lemons.)

					Flynn’s account of this episode is as follows: ‘I believe the unit was called Team Phoenix. A key part of getting the operation going was to have unity of effort as well as unity of command. I did not ask for this unit to come south and based on where we were in mission execution I did not need the help of folks who really did lack the situational awareness to help in the mission assigned. They did have an unconventional appearance but that was not the reason I had them leave the area of operations.’ (Correspondence with Flynn.)

					Where the Euphrates meets the Tigris to form the Shatt al-Arab Waterway.

					On the question of whether he was aware of tension, Iron says, ‘Not really. I’m aware of the accusation but think it irrelevant. I can’t recall tension between Ben and myself.’

					http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/8026136.stm

					Interview with Iman Adnan Abdulrazaq.

					Interview with Abdul-Melhem Ayyoub.

					Interview with Paul Harkness.

					Petraeus did not respond when presented with Harkness’ account of this conversation.

					Interview with Aziz Swady.

					https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/secret-deal-kept-british-army-out-of-battle-for-basra-kdz5qbbhwlx

			

			Chapter 16: Reform

			
					The 16th/5th amalgamated with the 17th/21st Lancers to form the Queen’s Royal Lancers in 1993. In May 2015 the QRL amalgamated with the 9th/12th Lancers to form the Royal Lancers.

					Eadie claims this was ‘undoubtedly as a result of very poor teaching’.

					Eadie was also responsible for a £36 million annual research budget for armour and anti-armour, during which he developed the Advanced Composite Vehicle Programme, building a prototype Warrior out of glass fibre — it weighed 30 per cent less than the conventional steel version for the same level of protection, but the cost of fitting metal sleeves to carry the track rods was prohibitive. When hit with a long rod penetrator, like the uranium darts fired by modern tank guns, the glass fibre also went through a phrase shift, becoming brittle and at risk of shatter. The project did not proceed further. (Interview with Eadie.)

					The generational divide was not rigid. Bill Moore writers: ‘David Eadie and Nick Wills were not too old to fight in Iraq or Afghanistan. I fought as a brigadier (aged 44/5) and as a General (aged 51); there is no frontline and I certainly had to use my personal weapon during these tours. A much better phrase would be “was too senior to serve at regimental duty in Iraq and Afghanistan”.’

					Dick Applegate writes: ‘In the general cut-and-thrust of equipment priorities in MoD the army generally takes third place after the larger, less malleable naval and air programmes, each of which is backed by strong political and industrial lobbies. Army programmes are easier to cut and delay when major and complex capital programme costs (normally submarine programmes at this time) overrun. UORs also recognise the reality that planning can only take one so far as the crisis or conflict routinely takes place in a location and with allies which were not predicted and are of a character — or where predictions were not acceptable to central planners, or lacked political priority and attention. The need is to shape and resource a force quickly which is suitable to the unique character of the particular operation against opponents who are constantly seeking weaknesses, and who are usually less constrained by parliamentary progress and scrutiny — a highly dynamic environment of move and counter-move. The challenge is compounded by having to mount the operation at very short notice outside of UK, over long supply routes, in difficult locations, always at risk of interference (political or violent) and normally with varying demands on the procurement and logistic systems — none of these problems confront a Tesco or Lidl.The UOR process resulted in a very close relationship with industry, with much work being undertaken before any contract signature. The relationship between industry, the research base (DSTL) and the military user was more of a challenging partnership rather than transactional, with routine discussion on the art of the possible. This placed a priority on a can-do attitude among all parties, with each focused on outcomes rather than process. Bernard Gray’s subsequent review led to a criticism of this ‘can-do’ approach with only a cursory examination of recent operations, leading to a more rigid, transactional and risk-averse approach less suited to fast-moving events — a process designed for peace, not operations. UORs were also reactive: i.e to meet a specific threat; I eventually managed to create a willingness to acquire for an emerging threat — a push — for example in improvements to body armour. The period in which the solution could be delivered was also extended.’


					The US, facing a proliferation of roadside bomb attacks in 2004, approached the UK, whom it perceived as better versed in how to respond to such weapons due to the Northern Ireland experience. The UK provided them with technology, and sent experts to help the Americans establish an IED task force. In turn a British UOR to develop improved electronic counter-measures for Iraq was issued in November 2003, launching a project known as Locksmith. ‘This initially had a budget of £73 million and eventually evolved into a suite of counter-measures that was designed to jam the radio and mobile telephone devices being used to activate IEDs,’ Tim Ripley later wrote. (Operation Telic, 2016, p. 297)

					Interview and correspondence with Bill Moore.

					Dick Applegate writes: ‘Even when there was recognition of the need to fight ‘the war’ it took about a year to really have an effect and even then there was much resistance due to the perceived threat to the major capital programmes and the peripheral role some of the services played in both operations compared to the army and Special Forces.’

					Dick Applegate remarks: ‘It is of note that there was an extremely well-founded and slick equipment intelligence and acquisition organisation and process in support of operations in Northern Ireland. Much of this was abandoned with little analysis after the withdrawal of troops. The MoD and the military are not really learning organisations.’

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/06/17/chilcot-mod-and-army-too-slow-on-snatch-land-rovers/

					The 432 is also the vehicle that Richard Gaisford, the television correspondent with SCOTS DG in 2003 thought resembled an exhibit from the Imperial War Museum. (Interview with Richard Gaisford.)

					Drayson did not respond to a request for an interview.

					According to Dick Applegate, ‘Des Browne was also applying pressure within MoD (including on Drayson) often through a particularly (and unusually) effective and mature SPAD, Matt Cavanagh.’

					On this point, Dick Applegate agrees with Drayson, writing, ‘This was a result of a mix of factors: arguments about the best tactics, fear of separation from the population if cocooned in heavily-protected armoured vehicles, and a short-termist view resulting from six-month tours and a lack of a long-term operational plan.’

					Charles Clee, another officer intensely involved in this activity, also suggests the lead came from London rather than Basra. (Interview with Charles Clee.) Dick Applegate’s assessment is as follows: ‘Absolutely a push from London. Just couldn’t get a clear demand from theatre and Drayson had to keep pushing for a definitive statement from theatre and from PJHQ, which he eventually got after demanding Nick Houghton give a definitive view. Without this unambiguous statement he would not have got the necessary money. Bill was one of those urging a solution and he applied his usual energy and determination in driving matters forward, supporting Charlie Clee who was really “on point”.’

					Presented with a draft of this narrative to comment on his role, Applegate writes: ‘Although you concentrate on “The Dogs” and the team involved, all the DECS who worked for me were dealing with UORs, some of them much more complex. DEC Special Projects under Colonel Ed Davis (Royal Marine, ex-SBS and now governor of Gibraltar) was just as busy. To give an idea of scale, in 2010 (by which time I had moved to DE&S as the first chief of materiel (land) and was on the verge of leaving) I believe there had been some 1,600 UORs meeting the needs of all services. This represented some 700 new equipments to the value of over £5 billion. In DE&S, over 1,000 people had been redeployed to meet these demands.’

					Applegate says: ‘My real authority came from being the capability manager battlespace manoeuvre, a joint appointment and Bill Moore’s two-star boss (I had a number of one-star DECs, each managing a range of UORs plus their routine longer-term programmes spanning RAF, Special Forces, army and navy. The MGO post was a hang-over from a different age. Importantly I took on and was recognised as being responsible for driving forward the delivery of most UORS — I’d apply myself when the very good DECs had a problem. I also used to visit Iraq and Afghanistan with a team to monitor emerging threats, check on the delivery of UORs and to try and ensure various parts of the MoD machine were “joined up”.’

					Applegate says: ‘We initially diverted USMC vehicles to UK, adding numbers later.’

					Drayson, witness statement to Chilcot inquiry, p. 6.

					Initially his work fits into the J5 — planning — stream but as the volume expands further it is moved to J3 — operations. (Interview with Eadie.)

					Dick Applegate says: ‘Up until this date, PJHQ was a real choke point in progressing UORs, despite the herculean efforts of Eadie.’

					Spelt thus, without an ‘e’.

					Technically the Warthog was not one of the Dogs of War vehicles. Eadie also points out that it came into service much later in Afghanistan. (Correspondence with Eadie.)

					Ironically here many of the best mechanics are reservists used to plugging diagnostic laptops in at the garages where they hold civilian jobs. (Interview with Eadie.)

					Eadie disputes this, writing: ‘This is simply incorrect. FRES is what has become AJAX and this is about to enter service. What was cancelled was the MRAV programme, but this was done before Iraq began. The Infantry Fighting Vehicle programme was turned into the Warrior Mid-Life Improvement Programme, so technically that could have been part of this, but I am not convinced. What you may mean is that the FRES programme variants may have been dialled back due to Treasury funding, but this was more to do with Hammond making the services live within their budgets. I do not think that you can say that the UOR protected mobility fleet caused the demise of any major programme — it was the total money spent on Iraq and Afghanistan that caused the Treasury to tighten its belt and review the amount given to all departments.’ 

					Dick Applegate writes: ‘When a one-star DEC, I made a comment to this effect to the House of Commons Defence Select Committee, much to Treasury’s annoyance. I refused to retract my comment but others assuaged the Treasury’s collective ire and I think my comment was removed from the record.’

					Dick Applegate writes: ‘These represented the very best sort of can-do officers and civil servants, focused on getting the right kit to those on operations — quickly. There were many more doing equally valuable work, often of a classified nature and more complex in their challenges e.g. the anti-rocket defence system in Basra. They were largely based in the ECC organisation, in Eadie’s PJHQ team, an innovative group in DSTL and in a few areas of the acquisition organisation e.g. special projects teams. Impatient with those who focused only on process, they relished the freedom and authority to produce good-enough solutions at pace, improving the systems based on operational feedback. They didn’t need my detailed oversight, but pointing in a general direction, setting the broader conditions for success, support when needed and top-cover to deal with those who were standing in their way. I’ve yet to be convinced that the dissolution of the ECC organisation under the Levene reforms will prove to be an adequate replacement.’

					Dick Applegate says this was ‘true 95 per cent of the time, albeit there were occasions — for example in change-over of aircraft types — when the rationale was, shall we say, weak. These few examples annoyed the Treasury and weakened the case for the remainder.’

					Eadie adds: ‘Their future incorporation into the army’s ORBAT (Order of Battle) came about only because people saw what they had the potential to do on Light Force operations.’

					FIST had its origins in the late 1980s and early 1990s; a documentary from its early days shows, in Nicholson’s words, ‘a load of terrible DERA [Defence Evaluation and Research Agency] boffins walking around Salisbury Plain with incredibly cynical Para colour sergeants.’ (Interview with Stuart Nicholson.)

					Interview with Nicholson.

					The body armour, helmet and load carriage elements are moved to another project team and clothing renewal is shelved as a centrally funded programme, with the responsibility moving to frontline commands. (Interview with Matthew Tresidder.)

					Interview with Matthew Tresidder.

					As a counter example they are conscious of the case of the photographic reconnaissance Spitfires from the Second World War, painted pink on scientific advice to blend against cloud cover at sunset and sunrise, but unpopular with their pilots who felt instinctively that the shade made them stand out. (Interview with Tresidder.)

					Tresidder had asked Caleb Crye if his firm could take some of the patterns and shapes from the old British DPM and put it into Multicam. Numerous discussions ensued on what pattern to use — even though pattern actually makes little difference to the effectiveness of camouflage above 20 or 30 metres, with the mix of colours being much more important. Multicam, with seven colours, including a cream that reflects back local terrain, is more versatile than British temperate DPM with three and the desert variant with two. Multicam was originally based on the US ‘Tigerstripe’ camouflage developed during the Vietnam War. For the UK bid Crye paired that tendency for horizontal stripes with UK DPM swirl patterns, and overlaid typical Multicam black and cream shapes over the top, creating a unique design. (Interview with Tresidder.)

					The reform was often thought to be pushed on cost grounds, replacing two sets of uniforms with one, but that is untrue. The new uniform was still produced in two weights, one light one for warm conditions, a thicker one for colder climes; any saving in that area would come more from ancillaries like body armour and helmet covers, where only one product would have to be produced rather than two. (Interview with Tresidder.)

					Crye Precision did not respond to a request for comment.

					Nicholson had also instructed on the mortars course of the School of Infantry in 2000–2002, also at Warminster.

					The ‘Survivability Onion’ traditionally taught at Brecon, with its sequential layers peeling back (hence the onionskin metaphor) of: try not to be seen, if seen try not to be be hit, if hit try not to be penetrated and if penetrated try not to be killed, with actions available to mitigate risk at every level, did not apply now. All Osprey did was stop penetration; and Osprey made mitigating the other levels of the onion very hard indeed. (Interview with Nicholson.)

					Each Platoon Sergeants’ Battle Course had a man from 22 SAS in it, a Special Forces paladin. In 2012 one of these men was ‘the fittest man’ Nicholson had ever met; he had spent a lot of time doing urban raids in Baghdad, kicking in doors. On the day they did the big company attack on Cilieni Village on Sennybridge training area, one of the directing staff said, ‘let’s watch the master at work’. And yet, once the SAS soldier got on a ladder, he began pivoting on its rungs on the front plates of his Osprey, unable to move. If it was too heavy even for him, a Special Forces superman, the fat Welsh Guardsman standing next to him did not have a hope.

					https://www.nao.org.uk/report/support-to-high-intensity-operations/

					Using the other proposed cost the BBC gives, the UOR spend could have paid for 700,000 hip replacement operations at £5–6,000 each. (http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-37383918)

					https://dspace.lib.cranfield.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/1826/4264/100126-Alderson-PhD%20Thesis.pdf;jsessionid=CECB2EB6ECAADB42FFBD314090356D90?sequence=1

					David Richards agrees with Alex Alderson’s account here.

					A position formally known as Director General Training Support. (Interview with Kennett.)

					Overall military deaths in Afghanistan will rise to 456 by 2015. (http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-10629358)

					Interview with Kennett.

					https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/this-britain/welcome-to-afghanistan-no-norfolk-1919462.html

					Interview with Westley.

			

			Chapter 17: Man Down

			
					Footage and audio from headcam, shown in ‘Marine A: The Inside Story’, BBC Panorama (2017).

					Alexander Blackman judgment, Royal Courts of Justice, 15 March 2017.

					Shazad was the 42 Commando HQ location. In each sub-unit area (i.e. those occupied by J, L, and M Companies there was a company patrol base (slightly smaller than a standard forward operating base), and around each patrol base were a series of much smaller check points. This was the laydown created for ‘ground-holding’ operations. (Correspondence with Royal Marine officer.)

					Initial attempts to contact the Blackmans via their supporters went without response. Late in the reporting process for this book Claire Blackman, Alexander’s wife, contacted the author, and subsequently said earlier attempts at contact had not been received. Claire Blackman initially said she and her husband would prefer not to comment for the book. The author then offered her the opportunity to comment on the draft text of this section as it pertained to Blackman. Presented with the text, her only response was with regard to this comment made by Matt Parker. She contested Parker’s assessment, pointing out that in 2003 Blackman was promoted from the fleet protection role where Parker knew him to a role supporting Special Forces. ‘Something that very few achieve, particularly in such a short time,’ Claire Blackman wrote. ‘He was then quickly promoted to the rank of Sergeant … clearly not someone who “requires close supervision”.’ She had no other comments on other sections of this text.

					Royal Marine equivalent of a platoon.

					One Royal Marine officer disputes the claim, given in court documents, that they were undermanned. He writes: ‘A half-troop is 16 men. 25 is just less than a full troop. Spreading forces across more checkpoints was part of the ground-holding strategy. 16 men in a checkpoint was not uncommon across Nad-e-Ali.’

					Blackman judgment.

					Rob Driscoll, another sergeant in 42 Commando, is at this moment around 500 metres from where Blackman is, with his own detachment of men. Driscoll will later state that ‘everyone that was speaking on that radio was sending out a signal to Al, everyone wanted that guy to be dead’. Driscoll will suggest there was an ‘implied tasking’ on the radio, to avoid the risk that calling in medevac would entail.

					Jack Hammond, another member of the patrol, will later write in his diary: ‘So there I was, pistol drawn, waiting for the sergeant to get off the net, so I could pop this little wanker and be done with it.’

					To understand how this came to be also requires comprehension of a fundamentally vexed concept: the imposition of rules and limitations on an organisation that has repudiated a tenet at the heart of most civilian codes of behaviour. Accountability becomes complex when ‘Thou Shalt Not Kill’ is no longer sacrosanct or absolute.

					https://www.gov.uk/government/news/bye-bye-bastion

					Murchison himself, at the time of writing, is still a serving officer, and therefore restricted in his interactions with the press. When presented with a draft text for this chapter, he did not respond to a request to comment; the navy also turned down a formal request for an interview with him or to provide a statement. The navy press office did, however, provide a number of factual points on the draft manuscript, which are reflected in the published text.

					On this point, Mackay’s response is as follows: ‘You are first graded for promotion to brigadier. They then determine what job you go to. Getting command of an operational brigade is clearly highly coveted but for many getting command of a regional brigade is much coveted as well. In terms of prestige and going on to be a major general and beyond then of course an operational brigade is a bigger step up. Both though are commands. In the same way you can be selected for command of regular battalion, a TA battalion, a training battalion etc. You get promoted to lieutenant colonel first and then get allocated a command. And yes — you can be promoted to brigadier and not command a brigade of any nature at all — it’s very common for those with a strong technical/procurement/specialist background.’

					Mackay writes: ‘On promotion to brigadier I was initially selected for command of a regional brigade. The distinction is that a regional brigade does not have a formal operational role. Well before I was due to take up that command I was instead asked to command 52 Brigade. At that point 52 Brigade was a regular infantry brigade with no regional component — only regular infantry units. A consequence of “switching brigades” is that I spent nearly a year in Baghdad with Petraeus etc. before assuming command of 52 Brigade. On assuming command of 52 Brigade I made the case that it should become an operational brigade but with a very specific role of deploying on operations in a capacity building role — i.e. security sector reform, post-conflict reconstruction etc. This was then accepted and 52 Brigade became an operational brigade. At that point there was no sense that Afghanistan was on the cards. I was in Lebanon in 2006 during the summer conflict with Israel (as part of the new role) when I was called and given the news that we would be the task force for Herrick 7.’ (Correspondence.)

					https://www.propublica.org/article/afghanistan-waste-kajaki-dam-more-than-300-million-spent-still-not-done

					It was the largest route clearance operation the British military had carried out since the Second World War. Around 1,000 other Nato troops from the US, Australia, Denmark and Canada were involved; 1,000 Afghan soldiers protected the turbine through one of the most dangerous parts of the journey. Canadian forces took the convoy on the first leg late at night on Wednesday, 27 August. They moved out from Kandahar airbase along the main highway and up the Helmand valley to a meeting point in the desert. There British forces took over responsibility. It was slow going from there, with the road little more than a dirt track. Hundreds of British and American Special Forces troops went in first, sweeping through the ‘green zone’ of trees, fields, deep irrigation ditches and high-walled compounds where the Taliban concentrated. British commanders estimated that they killed more than 200 insurgents — without any losses or injuries to Nato soldiers. Heavy fighting included artillery fire and airstrikes. The British had aimed to convince the Taliban that the convoy was heading straight up the valley, but then went instead through the desert on a track used by local people. Fifty Viking armoured vehicles drove alongside the main convoy, which stretched 4km. It included fuel trucks and the eight heavy equipment transporters carrying a crane and the Chinese-made turbine. The sections were surrounded by layers of steel to make them look like ordinary containers and to offer some defence against small arms fire, or rocket-propelled grenades. Protection from the air was provided by British Harrier jump jets and Apache helicopters, as well as French, Dutch and American aircraft. Unmanned drones watched the area ahead of the convoy for any impending attack. Infantry troops from all three battalions of the Parachute Regiment covered both sides of the route — leapfrogging ahead of each other in 13 British Chinook and ISAF helicopters, as the slow-moving load edged towards the Kajaki lake at the head of the valley. Royal Engineers stayed out in front, clearing improvised bombs and strengthening the road as they went along. There was a risk of attack or roadside bombs, so reconnaissance troops were sent ahead weeks before and discovered the alternative route. They took, and held, high ground to protect the vehicles and called in airstrikes. There were many breakdowns along the way with tyres blowing out and air brake pipes being damaged on the bumpy road. The REME did the rolling repairs and kept the convoy moving as quickly as possible, which at times was only 4km per hour (http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/7593901.stm)

					https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1871/Installation_of_Turbine_Generator_Unit_2_at_Kajaki_Dam_Hydropower_Plant_Kajaki_Unit_2_-_July_2017.pdf

					Understandable secrecy surrounds technical details of IEDs and it is likely there was more nuance here, but the mass nature of the Helmand IED campaign is undisputed.

					Interview with military doctor.

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-21010174

					Interview and correspondence with Jonathan Welch, who commanded 29 EOD and Search group between 2009 and 2012.

					Michael Hastings, The Operators — The Wild and Terrifying Inside Story of America’s War in Afghanistan (Phoenix, 2013), p. 36.

					At West Point in the early 1970s McChrystal had organised a raid on a campus building using old weapons borrowed from the academy museum, including a French MAT-49 submachine gun. He wrote seven short stories, verging between fiction and satire, for the academy magazine The Pointer.

					The Operators (2013), p. 99.

					Ibid., pp. 118–119.

					Ibid., pp. 37–8.

					Correspondence with Mike Martin.

					http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/south_asia/8500903.stm

					https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H089oEgYXLg

					https://www.rollingstone.com/politics/news/the-runaway-general-20100622

					Robert Johnson suggests that the liability here lay not with McChrystal but rather with his staff, and that they were frustrated by Obama’s failure to prosecute their policy or support it publically.

					Theo Farrell, Unwinnable — Britain’s War in Afghanistan 2001–2014 (Bodley Head, 2017), pp. 370–371.

					Ibid., p. 351.

					Johnny Mercer, We Were Warriors — One Soldier’s Story of Brutal Combat (Sidgwick and Jackson, 2017), pp. 132–133.

			

			Chapter 18: Lee Way

			
					Interview with Steph Moran.

					On his arrival at the base at Arbroath in Scotland, Moran was invited up to the officers’ mess; there he found the journalist James Fergusson, the same writer David Cameron had brought to his summit at Chequers earlier in the year.

					Lee says: ‘I had certain scrapes with the authorities at Cambridge, all for silly behaviour after sporting and drinking events.’

					‘The 21st century operational environment makes ethical failure by western militaries a strategic issue. How might armed forces adjust to this situation?’ Joint Services Command and Staff College, Defence Research Paper, by Maj O A Lee RM, Advanced Command and Staff Course, Number 9, September 2005-July 2006, p. 3.

					Lee said: ‘I do not recognise his comments about the thrusting earlier part of my career. I do know that many people who did not know me viewed me as such because I was moving fast and being appointed to unprecedented jobs. This attracted much commentary. However, whilst they might say many things in criticism of me, I do not think that any of those who have really known me longest would ever have viewed me as a thruster. A number of things that happened earlier in my career prove this. I shall not elaborate on them here but you might want to know for example that the Commando Medal is awarded on the basis of a vote of all of one’s peers. I am absolutely certain — other than of course developing as normal — that my macro approach to being a Royal Marines officer never changed over the entire course of my career.’

					Robert Johnson disputes the idea that Moran and Lee were imposing their ideas from above on reluctant marines: ‘Ollie actually got each of his troops to come up with ways to operate to fulfil the principles. The commando then collated them. Bottom-up leadership to build stake or buy-in.’

					Oliver Lee, Herrick 14, ‘Operational Design for Combined Forced Nad-e-Ali South’ (2011), pp. 2–3.

					https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZBuSJw3J7xE

					Interview with Ian Huntley.

					Chris Terrill, ‘Royal Marines Afghanistan’, Channel 5, 2012, Panorama, Marine A — The Inside Story, March 2017.

					Contacted during the reporting process for this book, Terrill pushed back at the notion that the marines he filmed were out of control or feral. He said the stripping to boxer shorts occurred after returning from five-hour patrols in extreme heat, and that with the campaign coming to a close the coalition was engaged in a war of attrition, so body counts mattered. He added that the marines he was with never failed to go out on patrol despite the great hazards of their surroundings, unlike some other British units in Afghanistan, and that they were doing a very hard job under terrible circumstances. Of the men that Terrill spent time with, two, a junior officer and an RAF dog handler, were later seriously injured by bombs, alongside McCulley. Terrill filmed another brief in which a marine discussed the threat: ‘Actions on contact IED,’ he said. ‘Go firm, treat yourself, if you’ve got any arms and legs left. I’ll call in the helo; you should be at Bastion within twenty-one minutes.’ Terrill also says that although differences in approaches between 42 and 45 were apparent during the tour, the distinction at the time was not as clear as it was made out to be after the Blackman incident had come to light. Nor was the subsequent bad blood between Murchison and Lee noticeable at that stage; that all emerged post-Blackman. (Interview and correspondence with Terrill, Terrill’s film.)

					Interview.

					Kemp did not respond to a request for an interview for this book.

					As with Murchison, the author also sent a draft version of this chapter directly to Aaron Fisher, but received no response.

					Lee says: ‘I wasn’t at all obsessed with courageous restraint, which by this point had become an unhelpful and confusing buzzword. Instead, I was absolutely determined that 45 Commando would prosecute Herrick 14 in a wholly professional and effective way. I had spent the previous 18 months preparing 45 Commando to do precisely this … I did expect those who worked for me on Herrick 14 to calibrate their use of violence extremely carefully. This is because violence mainly lay in the interests of the insurgency, which it assisted, as opposed to the campaign and mission success, which it did not. I certainly did not favour the use of mortars, an indiscriminate, area weapon suited to war fighting.’

					Lee suggests Moran is mischaracterising the reason fines were levied: ‘The fines were to address any sign of unacceptable professional standards in order to maintain the highest standards such that a hugely difficult and complex operation would be effectively pursued. Examples of the fines include: men not wearing the correct protective kit; men sleeping on sentry; and men having negligent discharges with their weapons. I felt that this maintenance of standards was key both to the campaign and to keeping as many people as I possibly could alive.’ On process, he adds: ‘The way it works is that the formal legal power, courtesy of Queen’s Regulations, is vested in the commanding officer (me). This allows one to fine, to send to Colchester etc. But one of the RSM’s responsibilities (taught on their course) is to run the administration associated with all this. The so-called “orderly room” process. I made it clear in my operational design before the tour — which you have seen — that I would neither accept slippage of standards nor feral soldiering … Moran knew this — as did the whole of 45 Commando — and I think it worked. Everyone came home alive and there were no civilian casualties and no collateral damage. So Moran was ruthless as I had asked him to be in drawing transgressions to my attention. The fining and sending to Colchester was then done by me, as only I could. As I always said, it was 80 per cent carrot and 20 per cent stick.’

					Lee says: ‘As has always been my way, prior to the tour I made it clear that the greater the seniority (rank) the greater the responsibility. I made it clear that I would not accept senior behaviour that set an inappropriate example and thereby jeopardised all we were seeking to achieve. Sadly but inevitably it was not perfect in spite of this beseechment.’

					One 45 officer writes: ‘Ill-discipline such as dress standards or not shaving, etc., may seem like trivia but as soon as you start eroding standards on the battlefield soldiers lose their reference points that ground them in a sense of moral reality. Without reference points, they easily and quickly start to morally disengage. I know your book isn’t a deep analysis of battlefield atrocities, but I’m surprised you don’t make the causal connections.’

					Oliver Lee, court submission.

					There is debate about what the exact nature of the announcement in the summer of 2011 was: Lee and another officer from 45 suggests the main announcement of upcoming withdrawal came during the Herrick 14 tour, however as early as November 2010 Cameron had given a ‘firm commitment’ that British troops would be out of Afghanistan by 2015. It seems likely in retrospect that it was instead this specific July statement that led to the amalgamation in Afghanistan.

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2011/jul/06/afghanistan-troop-withdrawal-david-cameron

					Lee says: ‘As a result, I warned Fisher, albeit in no uncertain terms. I wish now that I had been stronger willed.’

					http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-3249722/Sgt-Blackman-s-commander-posing-Cheryl-nightmare-day.html

					https://vimeo.com/33194797

					According to the navy press office, after the amalgamation Murchison ‘remained in theatre and in command of his unit albeit with a number of force elements detached. He commanded a new area of operations with his remaining force elements between Geresk [sic] and Sangin.’

			

			Chapter 19: New Rules

			
					Interview with Nicholas Mercer.

					https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/soldier-gets-life-term-for-joyrider-murder-ruc-constable-provided-key-evidence-of-west-belfast-1489714.html

					The Court of Appeal granted Clegg a retrial after new ballistics evidence challenged the evidence used in his original trial. In 1999 Clegg was acquitted of murdering Karen Reilly but was again found guilty of the offence against Martin Peake. In 2000 he was finally cleared of any legal wrong-doing. He continued to serve in the army as a physical training instructor and deployed to Afghanistan as a medic in 2008. (https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2000/feb/01/northernireland.nicholaswatt3, https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/newstopics/onthefrontline/2546776/Lee-Clegg-returns-to-frontline-duty-for-first-time-since-prison-release.html)

					The US has still not ratified it.

					Contacted during the reporting process, Brims gave the following account of this event and also referred the author to his testimony to the later Baha Mousa inquiry. He said he made a routine commander’s visit to the prisoner of war camp in late March, pointing out that the status of those held by coalition forces changed from prisoners during the warfighting phrase to ‘detainees’ later. On this visit, all seemed fine, though he did see an Iraqi with a hessian bag over his head. He could see the rationale; the prisoners were being processed and there was paperwork around, and the prisoner did not seem distressed. However, he was uncomfortable with the idea of them being treated like that, even though the media were officially not allowed to photograph prisoners of war. ‘Hooding did not fit the type of operation we were doing,’ he said in his evidence to the Mousa inquiry. He held a meeting at his headquarters. They discussed the legal position. Eventually, Brims said that debate could continue but regardless of the legal position he wanted hooding to stop. He ordered that to happen. He then thought nothing further of the matter until the Baha Mousa situation arose. He was not aware at the time of the use of stress positions, suggesting that he may not have seen a letter Mercer wrote to him at the time which mentioned them. (Interview with Brims.)

					Ian Cobain, Cruel Britannia (Portobello Books, 2012), p. 159.

					Heath continues: ‘The statement that I have made covers all future circumstances. If a government did decide — on whatever grounds I would not like to foresee — that additional techniques were required for interrogation, then I think that … they would probably have to come to the House and ask for the powers to do it.’

					In May 1972 the Joint Intelligence Committee decided that there should be two parts to the new directive on interrogation. In a memo written at the MoD by the assistant under-secretary to the general staff, it was explained that Part I would be published, if the government came under pressure to do so. Part I would contain no reference whatsoever to Part II, however, and Part II would never be published. Moreover Part II would be considered to exist only in draft form, which would, the official noted, ‘of course, enable us to say that no further instruction about detailed methods of interrogation had so far been approved’.Part I merely laid down general guidelines about the treatment of those being interrogated, it did not ‘deal with the detailed methods of questioning to be adopted’. Part II dealt with ‘the actual conduct of interrogation’ and was ‘quietly and informally passed to the Joint Services Interrogation Wing at Ashford’. 36 years later, in February 2008, when the MoD declassified most of its documents relating to the use of the Five Techniques, it still refused to release the ‘highly classified Part II guidance,’ deeming it too ‘sensitive’ to be covered by the Freedom of Information Act. Eventually the MoD would be forced to hand it over to the public inquiry into the death of Baha Mousa. Cobain suggests that the loose phrasing revealed when the document was made public, such as ‘subjects must be given sustenance not less than that consistent with an adequate prison diet’ and ‘it is not possible to lay down rules for the length of time an individual may be interrogated’, were deliberately vague to allow the continued use of the Five Techniques. (Cobain, p. 164.)


					The Aitken Report, ‘An Investigation into Cases of Deliberate Abuse and Unlawful Killing in Iraq in 2003 and 2004’, 25 January 2008, p. 13.

					Wall says: ‘I don’t recall the detainee handling issue in any detail. All commanders would have been fully aware of their duty on detainee handling and the legal implications of getting it wrong so I’m not sure what point Mr Mercer is making.’ (Correspondence.)

					http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-14825889

					That is the narrative given in the eventual Supreme Court judgement. Amended Particulars of Claim filed on behalf of Debi Allbutt give a slightly different account. Shubhaa Srinivasan, a partner at Leigh Day, summarised it as follows: ‘On the night in question, Pinkstone observed hotspots through his thermal imaging sights. Those hotspots were Allbutt and his tank crew, which Pinkstone was unaware of at the time. Thinking they were the enemy, Pinkstone first tried to raise his platoon commander over the radio. The platoon commander did not respond and was probably asleep. Pinkstone then contacted Sergeant Donlon who was in a Warrior tank [sic]. Unfortunately, Sergeant Donlon could not see the hotspots to identify them for himself because his Warrior tank was not fitted with thermal imaging sight[s]. Pinkstone gave Sergeant Donlon a description of the location of the hotspots which later transpired to be wrong. When Pinkstone saw the hotspots again he sought permission to fire from Sergeant Donlon, who gave it based on the location provided to him by Pinkstone (thinking the location was by the university compound, which was far away from where Allbutt’s tank was located).’

					JUDGMENT Smith and others (FC) (Appellants) v. The Ministry of Defence (Respondent) 19 June 2013, p. 2.

					Interview with Susan Smith.

					Interview with Debi Allbutt.

					Given that the reactions of relatives to the news of bereavement is often profound, and can be directed at the messenger, the army has a two-stage process when a soldier is killed. A notification officer breaks the news of a death, then leaves immediately, never to be seen again. They are followed by a ‘casualty visiting officer’, who becomes the longer-term contact. Allbutt’s first casualty visiting officer did not last long, however. Around a week after she had received the news, a new one was appointed — a retired colonel from the Queen’s Royal Lancers.

					Hoon denies his behaviour was rude: ‘I met a number of people in a similar situation. I was never rude and certainly never set out to intimidate anyone. I remember the meeting in particular because I was very concerned about what had happened to her husband.’

					Now formally a Defence and Security Media Advisory.

					Jocelyn Cockburn says: ‘The Snatch case raised the issue of human rights as well as the negligence case, which the Allbutt one did not.’

					http://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKSC/2013/41.html

					Interview with Debi Allbutt.

					Interview with Susan Smith.

					Interview with Allbutt.

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-40958686

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-40958686

					Contacted during the reporting process, Evision replied as follows: ‘These are difficult questions. I think it was quite simple in a way — neither officers or soldiers were allowed to speak in public when they got back from Helmand. Serving senior soldiers liked what I had to say, and they felt someone should say it — there were a large number of deaths in 2009, and the guys did not have the numbers nor the kit they needed. As I was a soldier’s mother (with inside knowledge), I could not be constrained by the MoD. I think that Mark being an officer probably made no difference — those serving just wanted the situation in Helmand and the shortages to be made more public. Others also spoke out — e.g. Christina Schmidt, wife of a killed soldier, and I suspect she got the same treatment as me. I tried very hard to be fair always, and so I got a good reputation, and people would listen to me. But I was basically just in a particular position at a particular time.’ (Correspondence.)

					Interview with Patrick Hennessey.

			

			Chapter 20: Lawfare

			
					http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk/7258374.stm

					Interview with Martyn Day.

					https://www.lawgazette.co.uk/analysis/phil-shiner-top-human-rights-lawyer-shows-no-sign-of-slowing-down/51148.article

					Shiner did not respond to an interview request for this book.

					http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-4199504/Lawyer-plotted-w-Holocaust-denier-2-hound-troops-PRE-war.html

					The full list was as follows: Crowcroft — Inhuman treatment of a person protected under the Fourth Geneva Convention. Davies — Negligently performing a duty. Fallon — Inhuman treatment of a person protected under the Fourth Geneva Convention. Mendonça — Negligently performing a duty. Payne — Manslaughter; inhuman treatment of a person protected under the Fourth Geneva Convention; perverting the course of justice. Peebles — Negligently performing a duty. Stacey — Assault occasioning actual bodily harm or in the alternative, battery. (Baha Mousa Inquiry, p. 6.) https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/279190/1452_i.pdf

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2006/sep/20/iraq.military

					http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2008–0229/DEP2008–0229.pdf

					http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2008–0229/DEP2008–0229.pdf

					https://www.scotsman.com/news/mod-pays-out-ps3m-and-issues-grovelling-apology-iraqis-tortured-british-army-2464644

					http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2009/2387.html

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2010/nov/12/british-colonel-giles-iraq-inquiry

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-25217175

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-21740286

					Al-Sweady Inquiry, Chapter 4, The Iraqi deceased. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/388261/43358_03d_Part_2_Chapter_4.pdf

					Interview with Kennett.

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-14825889

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-30515369

					Al-Sweady Inquiry, executive summary, pp. 36–7. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/388320/44542_00_Al_Sweady_Exec_Summ_PRINT_READY.pdf

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-30515369

					https://www.ft.com/content/f8f2864a-8794-11e4-bc7c-00144feabdc0

					Leigh Day’s involvement was less than PIL’s. The firm represented several Iraqis who claimed that they had suffered abuse during and following the battle of Danny Boy in their civil claims. However, in agreement with the MoD, these claims were ‘stayed’ whilst the Al Sweady Inquiry took place. PIL represented the Iraqis at the inquiry and Leigh Day did not have an official role in the proceedings. Following the findings of the inquiry they discontinued the claims.

					http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-2877320/Allegations-murder-torture-against-British-soldiers-Iraqi-detainees-deliberate-lies-rules-war-crimes-inquiry.html

					https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/jun/07/british-troops-war-crimes-iraq-historic-allegations-team

			

			Chapter 21: Johnny and the IHAT

			
					Interview with Robert Campbell.

					So chaotic was the supply situation at that time that, although he arrived in theatre wearing desert combats his sergeant major told him to take them off and don green temperate kit, so as to match everyone else. (Interview and correspondence with Campbell.)

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/1440333/Army-officer-praised-by-Bush-is-cleared-of-pistol-whipping-Iraqi.html

					Interview with Campbell.

					http://data.parliament.uk/DepositedPapers/Files/DEP2008–0229/DEP2008–0229.pdf

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/jan/22/david-cameron-calls-for-action-on-spurious-claims-against-iraq-veterans

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-37084030

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/09/22/british-soldiers-who-fought-in-iraq-and-afghanistan-face-having/

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/11/15/revealed-iraqis-paid-to-travel-abroad-by-uk-taxpayer-to-give-evi/

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/12/10/iraq-witch-hunt-fixer-paid-public-cash/

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/12/17/revealed-mod-officials-sent-tory-mp-night-time-warning-criticism/

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-38841544

					https://twitter.com/johnnymerceruk/status/827283468270727168?lang=en

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-38937053

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-40220366

					https://www.ft.com/content/aad664b6–791a-11e7-a3e8–60495fe6ca71

					https://www.matrixlaw.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Alseran-Ors-v-Ministry-of-Defence-2017-EWHC-3289-QB.doc

					https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/revealed-the-evidence-of-war-crimes-ministers-tried-to-bury-6x2fb63ts

					https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/iraq-fatality-investigations

					There was one in between. Robert Campbell writes: ‘The director service prosecutions (DSP) declined to press charges (#6), but then the family, or their representatives, who I believe are now Leigh Day, insisted on the victim’s right of reviews. This led to another six months of a new prosecutor investigating the case (#7) in which they came to the same conclusion as all the other investigations: that there is no evidence of any wrongdoing and no case to answer.’

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2018/02/22/broken-says-decorated-british-army-major-told-must-face-eighth/

					Campbell says: ‘I hate them. I hate UKIP, Hopkins, Farage, Tommy Robinson or any closet or overt racists or anti-immigration or islamophobic types.’

					https://www.channel4.com/news/top-army-lawyer-slams-mod-over-human-rights-abuses

					https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/lieutenant-colonel-nicholas-mercer-says-it-is-beyond-question-that-british-soldiers-tortured-iraqis-a6803281.html

			

			Chapter 22: Hear No Evil

			
					Interview with Roderic Lyne.

					https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2009/jun/15/iraq-war-inquiry

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/nov/20/chilcot-inquiry-designed-to-avoid-blame-secret-cabinet-office-documents

					Political commentator Hugo Young described Franks as ‘a classic establishment job. It studiously recoiled from drawing the large conclusions implicit in its detailed findings’. Freedman’s own sense was that the Franks Inquiry was hobbled by an unofficial deal to ensure easy treatment of Margaret Thatcher in return for easy treatment of James Callaghan, Thatcher’s Labour predecessor as prime minister. He also knew that the intelligence community’s own inquiry into the Falklands, which fed into the Franks report, was similarly hobbled, this time by an erroneous claim that the Argentinian decision to launch a task force to invade the island was a last-minute one. This claim allowed the spies to let themselves off their failure to predict the invasion and supported the view that the invasion was a response to internal events in Argentina. The decision was actually taken a few days before the invasion and as a response to British moves. Freedman therefore knew the usual tricks that Whitehall could bring to bear when it looked itself in the mirror.

					https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2009/jun/15/iraq-war-inquiry

					John Chilcot declined a request to be interviewed for this book; Usha Prashar did not respond to an inquiry; Martin Gilbert died in 2015.

					http://www.bbc.co.uk/blogs/newsnight/michaelcrick/2009/06/is_historian_the_best_judge_of.html

					https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2009/jun/22/iraq-war-public-inquiry

					https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2009/jun/22/iraq-war-public-inquiry

					https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2009/jun/23/public-iraq-inquiry-blair-brown

					The Guardian coverage of Lamb’s FOI disclosures also mentioned that ‘Many others who helped design the inquiry had also been closely involved in the issues it would investigate. They included current cabinet secretary Sir Jeremy Heywood, who was Tony Blair’s parliamentary private secretary until 2003, and John Scarlett, former chairman of the joint intelligence committee who had become chief of MI6 in spite of his central role in producing the notorious dossier on Iraq’s non-existent weapons of mass destruction.’ (https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/nov/20/chilcot-inquiry-designed-to-avoid-blame-secret-cabinet-office-documents.)

					Interview with Chris Brown.

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2009/nov/29/iraq-war-inquiry-chilcot-blair

					http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk_politics/8449384.stm

					https://www.theguardian.com/news/datablog/2010/feb/03/tony-blair-iraq-inquiry-testimony-chilcot

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-12349205

					Land Lessons Workshop 6–7 Jan 10: Operations in Iraq — Lessons for Afghanistan and beyond, confirmatory instruction.

					Correspondence with Hew Strachan.

					‘I find the comment, “I had a negative view”, an interesting one,’ Marston responded when queried about this. ‘I was trying to make the case in Warminster, that the war in Iraq did not go well for the British Army. There were some nice parts, but overall, it was not a good war. Does Ben think the war went well?’

					Correspondence with Bing West.

					In 2018, Wall said the Barry report was ‘an excellent piece of work,’ but made reference to the political sensitivity over Iraq at that time, and the fact that the Chilcot Inquiry was still unfolding alongside the numerous legal cases running against the army, some of them concocted falsely by Phil Shiner. ‘It was certainly not in the army’s gift to publish the report as an open source document,’ Wall said. ‘So I’m not sure what point is being made here. The report had the necessary circulation around the army.’ (Correspondence with Wall.)

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2010/may/27/defence-chiefs-gag-iraq-report

					Correspondence with Jock Stirrup.

					Shown Stirrup’s point, Brown responded as follows: ‘I find Lord Stirrup’s comments interesting from someone who was responsible for the strategic direction of the campaign, but who did not issue any strategic directives during his extended time as CDS covering the majority of the Iraq campaign (Paragraphs 201b, 201c and 202 of the published version of my report). If strategy is not effectively articulated, it is difficult to place the recommendations of such a report in strategic context; nevertheless, most readers of the report have commented that the early chapters were the only attempt to address some of the key strategic issues prior to the Chilcot Report itself. Lord Stirrup’s second comment misses the point that all of the lessons had been raised in previous MoD reports. If you then invite a three-star officer to make recommendations on those lessons, some reliance on 36 years of personal experience in eight different operational theatres should not be unexpected. Moreover, throughout the drafting of the report, the style and content had been cleared with Lord Stirrup’s own vice chief.’

					Interview with Michael Bimmler.

					Originally from Zürich, the Swiss student had been to a bilingual high school, and his parents had lived in the USA for a year. After attending a language course at Oxford post-high school, and keen to get out of his ‘small landlocked country’, he decided to pursue his further studies in the UK.

					https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/study_on_iraq_invasion_by_lt_gen

					Ten days later the same man, Mike McLellan, wrote again to Bimmler stating he could not get a response before 4 March. On 7 March Bimmler received another mail from McLellan’s replacement Lydia Manns promising a response within seven days. By 17 March, he had received nothing.

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2011/apr/06/iraq-suppressed-report-damns-uk-military

					https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/557326/20160831-FOI07003_77396_Redacted.pdf

					Operations in Iraq, January 2005 — May 2009 (Op Telic 5 — 13) An Analysis from a Land Perspective, p. ii.

					Correspondence with Richard Iron.

					In correspondence on this point, Free said the following in full: ‘I was doing a closing session with the course and asked them what they wanted me to cover — I gave them two options: Charge of the Knights (COTK) or top tips for command. I then paused and asked them on the spur of the moment who thought COTK was a good thing “raise your hands” and then who thought it was a bad thing “raise your hands”. The response hacked me off so I told them I was going to tell them the real story of COTK and why it was a good thing, why it had been wiped from the army’s consciousness and why this is a profoundly bad thing. Then I launched in and told them a similar tale as I told you with some more pointed remarks about the army’s learning process and our lack of ability to dissect mistakes as well as the Americans and why this compromises our ability to learn and then took questions. Iraq/COTK was not covered or taught when I arrived. We addressed this by making it an evening voluntary event — I should have done more — a failing I regret and cannot explain as I am passionate about it and what it can/should teach us. My post-op report was not necessarily that well received by some though it was very well received by Lieutenant General Newton who discussed it in detail with me when he took over as commander force development & training (Comd FDT) and I was commander collective training group putting in place the lessons I had learned in Iraq as there were concerns we were not preparing individuals and formations for complex operations in Iraq and Afghanistan well enough. He described it as the most honest report he had ever read and was keen the lessons were learnt and our training amended to ensure the lessons were embedded. (Correspondence with Free.)

			

			Chapter 23: Speak No Evil

			
					Interview with Mike Martin.

					Its aim was to to take officers, train them in a language and give them a number of other skills such as basic anthropology or interviewing, and set them on their way. As an institution it was only partially successful — the three years required to learn the language then deploy did not fit with the military’s two-year posting cycles, and much of the work was personality dependant rather than something that could be instilled by training. The DCSU acquired an alternative nickname: the ‘Defence Careers Suicide Unit’.

					Rollo says: ‘I remember Mike and the outline of the first conversation very clearly. I’m glad I was able to help in his case though take no credit for the ingenuity of the solution — my overall aim was to try to find a home within the institution for Mike and those like him, which took another turn of the wheel.’ (Correspondence with Rollo.)

					https://books.google.co.uk/books/about/A_Brief_History_of_Helmand.html?id=L1bpqRFsGtgC

					https://www.kcl.ac.uk/people/dr-mike-martin

					Michael Martin, An Intimate War — An Oral History of the Helmand Conflict (Hurst and Company, 2014) p. 225.

					In a subsequent piece in the Telegraph Martin summarised his argument as follows: ‘I would argue that our performance — in terms of achieving our objectives — has been very poor. In the case of Afghanistan, and specifically Helmand Province, where the majority of our forces have been based, we have failed to understand the Helmandis. We have also failed to understand their culture, their history and their motivations. Most importantly, we have singularly failed to understand the Helmandi conflict. And to paraphrase Clausewitz, the most important thing to do in war is understand what type of war you are fighting. Many non-Helmandis view the violence through the narrative adopted by the international community. According to the “insurgency narrative” widely espoused by Western governments, a legitimate Government of the Islamic Republic of Afghanistan (GIRoA), which is recognised and supported by the international community, is violently opposed by a movement of insurgents, called the Taliban, who have sanctuary in Quetta, Pakistan.Thus, the Taliban are religiously inspired insurgents who are opposed to the democratic and women’s rights that the GIRoA embodies and promotes. But this “insurgency narrative” does not fit with my experiences as an officer. I went to Helmand several times (in and out of uniform), with appropriate gaps between visits for study and reflection, and this analysis seemed further and further from the events that I was observing and participating in. In my view, the Taliban are not the main drivers of conflict; and earlier periods, including the Soviet, the civil war and the Taliban eras, have been similarly misconstrued.
Today, much of the violence is mischaracterised as “Taliban” insurgent violence, when in fact it is not linked to the Taliban or the GIRoA, but is driven by local dynamics between groups and individuals on the ground. The Helmandis describe the conflict as pshe-pshe. This literally translates as “leg-leg”, but refers to the different legs of a tribe or clan (the English term would be “branch”). So, metaphorically, the phrase pshe-pshe means group-on-group warfare. It is a (micro) civil war.
Over the past few years in Helmand I have seen many foreigners struggle with the portrayal of the conflict as an “insurgency”. The words “Taliban” or “government” would often come with a caveat: “but of course there are many different types of Taliban”, or “but government officials also smuggle drugs”.
This conflict is about the “but”: the reason the “policeman” is in the “government” is to protect his other business interests; “government” in Helmand is a temporary label and implies little presumption of genuine ideological affiliation. In the outsiders’ world, however, even with the caveats, we would continue to use “government” and “Taliban” as concepts around which strategy could be planned, or ideologies computed. We often made the conflict worse: this was usually as a result of Helmandis manipulating our ignorance.
There may be local factors that make Helmand an extreme case; it has been particularly violent for a particularly long time. However, this can be explained by the hyper-factionalisation of society (partly caused by the high levels of illiteracy), which has been compounded by the quantity of resources (opium revenue) available at ground level, and the degree of outside interest because of its geostrategic location.’ (https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/asia/afghanistan/10755057/Britain-didnt-understand-the-enemy-in-Helmand.html)


					https://www.vice.com/en_uk/article/nnyj8k/mike-martin-interview

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/defence/10754344/MoD-tries-to-pulp-its-own-Helmand-lessons-book.html

					Richards says: ‘I would have written whether still serving or not. The “MoD’s view” was rarely mine and would almost certainly not have influenced me anyway.’ (Correspodence.)

					Martin (2014), back cover.

					Another damning reminder of accountability failure in Afghanistan is sharper still. In September 2012, a Taliban raiding party breaches the perimeter at Camp Bastion. They kill two US Marines, and destroy or severely damage eight US Marine Corps Harrier aircraft. It is the worst loss of US airpower in a single incident since the Vietnam War. The Taliban claim the raid is a response to the anti-Islamic film Innocence of Muslims, and also to the presence at Bastion of Prince Harry, deployed as an Apache helicopter pilot. (Harry is of equal interest to female members of the US Marine Corps; according to one British helicopter pilot, there is a constant procession of them into the ‘Very High Readiness’ tent when Harry is on duty there.) After the raid, two US Marine Corps major generals, Charles Gurganus, the head of Regional Command (South-West), responsible for base defences, and Gregg Sturdevant, the head of the aviation wing at the base, were forced to retire. In Britain, the House of Commons defence committee published its own investigation into the raid in April 2014, concluding that ‘only eleven out of twenty-four guard towers on the base had been manned’, and that ‘British commanders must bear a degree of responsibility for … systemic failures and associated reputational damage’. No British commander, however, is fired.

					https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/politics/iraq-inquiry-deadlock-leaves-labour-fearing-report-ahead-of-2015-election-9257826.html

					https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/apr/25/chilcot-iraq-war-inquiry-blair-straw-dearlove-lib-dems-farron

					http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-3195686/Families-Iraq-war-victims-launch-unprecedented-legal-challenge.html

					Interview with Matthew Jury.

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-34665607

					http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20171123124608/http://www.iraqinquiry.org.uk/the-inquiry/sir-john-chilcots-public-statement/

					Chilcot, Executive Summary, p. 134.

					Ibid., p. 135.

					Ben Barry, ‘Britain’s Difficult War in Iraq’, IISS, September 2016.

					Iraq War Families Campaign Group, press release, 17 December 2017.

					Interview with Eitan Shamir, correspondence with Eado Hecht.

					https://www.ft.com/content/7888c6ba-f744–11db-86b0–000b5df10621

			

			Chapter 24: Marine A

			
					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/defence/10517273/Marine-A-wife-Al-is-ashamed-of-what-he-did-but-I-dont-think-we-should-be-where-we-are-now.html

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/defence/10517273/Marine-A-wife-Al-is-ashamed-of-what-he-did-but-I-dont-think-we-should-be-where-we-are-now.html

					https://www.thegazette.co.uk/London/issue/60095/supplement/5848/data.pdf

					Davis turned down a request for comment.

					http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-3231319/A-shameful-injustice-reveal-brass-plot-cover-vital-evidence-vindicate-Marine-given-life-murdering-Taliban-heat-battle.html

					Lee continued: ‘My reasons for taking this view were: there was more than sufficient evidence before and during Herrick 14 reasonably to be able to foresee something serious going wrong in 42 Commando. Nothing was done about this, the first failure by the chain of command. Sergeant Blackman’s investigation, court martial and sentencing authority remain unaware to this day of the context within which he was being commanded when he acted as he did. This represents the second failure by the chain of command, which failed in its duty to ensure adequate contextual transparency was in place for one of its people to be treated justly (not leniently) by due legal process. My attempts to bring proper transparency to this process were denied by the chain of command in its third failure. Sergeant Blackman was therefore sentenced by an authority blind to facts that offered serious mitigation on his behalf. The cause of this is a failure of moral courage by the chain of command, the burden of which is carried by the man under command.’

					https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-25266206

					Regarding the Portsmouth job, Lee says: ‘The job I was appointed to (and did the handover for) was called: captain of the Portsmouth base. It essentially saw me running the Portsmouth naval base. This was extremely unexpected to me. The rationale given was that if I was to achieve unprecedentedly high Royal Marine rank (four-star) in the Royal Navy then I needed to be “marinised”. I had never heard this concept before and so it came as a surprise. I was also aware of the capricious nature of very senior appointing. As a result, I felt that by being “marinised” I might well pay the penalty of a subsequent Royal Navy world that did not want a Royal Marine as a four-star in their cloth. I had hoped and expected to continue in “joint” appointments in Northwood or Whitehall where one can make one’s case with a relative lack of any service politics at play. I had done two such jobs before and so was quite used to them.’ Another 45 Commando officer says: ‘Blackman was the sole reason. Those that don’t wish to accept this have tried to spin the fact Ollie didn’t get a preference appointment. They fail to recognise that the navy had bigger plans for Ollie and had determined a career path for him that required a move to a “Dark Blue” job to build his experience. Ollie and his wife understood and accepted this well before the Blackman conviction.’

					Interview with Drax.

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/uknews/defence/10848575/Marine-A-sentence-cut-by-two-years-as-he-loses-appeal-to-have-it-quashed.html

					https://petition.parliament.uk/archived/petitions/56810

					https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201516/cmhansrd/cm150916/halltext/150916h0002.htm#15091640000376

					https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/operation-telemeter-internal-review

					Interview with Ian Huntley.

					https://www.skybrary.aero/index.php/Human_Factors_Analysis_and_Classification_System_(HFACS)

					https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/576817/Op_Telemeter_internal_review_-_Executive_summary_and_recommendations_-_Appended.pdf

					The article continues: ‘Written to military chiefs in July by the Fleet Commander of the Royal Navy, Vice Admiral Sir Philip Jones KCB, and seen by the Mail, the letter states: “The full review will remain a controlled document. Unsurprisingly, however, knowledge of the review is in the public domain and there have been requests under the Freedom of Information Act for it to be published.’ (https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-3231232/Truth-censored-brass-Evidence-backs-jailed-Marine-Alexander-Blackman-cynically-suppressed.html)

					After the author contacted Berry, this information was passed on via a third-party professional indemnity lawyer.

					https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2016/12/23/jailed-marine-alexander-blackman-set-sueformer-legal-team-claims/

					https://ccrc.gov.uk/commission-refers-the-murder-conviction-of-alexander-blackman-marine-a-to-the-courts-martial-appeal-court/

					https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/mercy-killing-is-not-a-legal-defence-but-we-had-to-do-it-5d59lnwqr

					Interview with Johnny Mercer.

					Interview with former army officer.

			

			Epilogue: War Games

			
					https://www.iwm.org.uk/history/remembering-wishtan

					https://www.nytimes.com/2014/08/06/world/asia/afghanistan-attack.html

					Billion Pound Base: Dismantling Camp Bastion (Scorpion TV, 2014).

					Correspondence with Oliver Johnson.

					The quote continues: ‘We tried it in Vietnam — that went well. The British and the French gave it a shot trying to hang on to their crumbling empires. It just hasn’t worked. To me it would seem kind of simple why. You can’t win the trust of a country by invading it. You can’t build a nation at gunpoint.’ Robert Johnson of CCW does not agree with this notion. His point on the army and counter-insurgency is; ‘I don’t think they ever got around to it.’

					According to RUSI’s website, its ‘Platinum Corporate Members,’ who pay £15,000 + VAT, include BAE Systems, Lockheed Martin UK, and Northrop Grumman. ‘Major Corporate Members,’ who pay £5,000 + VAT, include General Dynamics UK Limited, HESCO, Raytheon and Thales UK. ‘RUSI rejects funding that is incompatible with its independence or honesty,’ the organisation states. In 2015–16 74 per cent of its funding came from research; subscriptions provided 10 per cent.

					There is historical debate about just how significant Montgomery-Massingberd’s personal actions were here. But less about the institution’s overall attitude to lesson learning at the time, and how that contrasted to the approach of its former, and latter opponent: As Martin Samuels writes in Command or Control: Command, Training and Tactics in the British and German Armies 1888–1918 (Frank Cass Publishers, 1995), ‘whereas the German Army made every effort to glean the maximum experience from the First World War and identified the break-out as the vital problem to be solved, the British Army all but turned its back on the vital campaigns of 1914–18’. (p. 281).

					In another bizarre twist, Jonathan Shaw also ended up in 2013 as military advisor to a production of Othello at the National Theatre that was staged in British military uniform. This production, along with one of Henry V in 2003 with the same black actor, Adrian Lester, in the lead, bracketed the Iraq and Afghan wars. Director Nicholas Hytner says that the first time he and Shaw met, for lunch on the South Bank, the general, who had never got his third star after the Basra debacle, said he could identify with Iago. ‘I, like Iago, would be pretty pissed off if the wrong person was promoted above me,’ Hytner recalls Shaw suggesting. Iago’s rage comes because he has been passed over for promotion by Cassio.

					In 2012 the Evening Standard reported that David Richards would be the last CDS to live in Kensington Palace, and that in the future the head of Britain’s military will live in a mansion block. A senior military source stressed that the change was symbolic, rather than just a cost-cutting measure.It aimed to send a signal that the chief of the defence staff is among the ranks of military officers, rather than part of a privileged few who live in palaces. (https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/exclusive-army-chief-to-lose-kensington-palace-home-8211818.html)


					Respectively: Intelligence, Surveillance, Target acquisition and Reconnaissance; Combat Vehicle Reconnaissance (Tracked); Joint Terminal Attack Controller; Operational, Mentoring and Liaison Team.

					A friend of mine also recalls how, after he was suspended at the end of our GCSE year in 2001 for a muck-up day prank, AJ ‘took me under his wing the next year, put me in his tutor group and gave me some tough but very helpful “love”’. That friend is now a high-flying banker. ‘I am sure lots of others will have experienced the same care from him,’ my friend said. I am sure he is right.

					When I raised this again in our later interview AJ replied in more detail: ‘Yes, it did concern me that somebody might become a casualty, and could that be traced back to the fact that they wouldn’t have joined if they hadn’t been in the CCF, if I hadn’t been quite so enthusiastic. Now people tend to say, forget it, people will go and do what they want to do; you can’t take any responsibility for that. Nevertheless it’s still in the back of your mind’.

			

	

OEBPS/_images/COTG_Afghanistan_Map_FA.gif
AFGHANISTAN oIS TAN

UZBEKISTAN A
TURKMENISTAN )

-

S e

Mazar-i-Sharif <

s
5

-
Herat i K

AFGHANISTAN Idamabad

P o )
<7 { '
[ ansabar e/ Lahores

HELMAND -

PROVINCE|

PAKISTAN

*Quetta

Musa
Nowzads  Qleh

Camp Cereskh

Bastion

Lasthkar
Gah

HELMAND
PROVINCE

Hoimand, Soutometres






OEBPS/_images/cover.jpg
QJM
= 74
THE
lCHAN ING
AoF
GUAR

THE BRITISHY RM\‘ e

. SINCE 9/1 ! :;






OEBPS/_images/COTG_Iraq_Map_FA.gif
.
A

i —

B

Kirkuk

" Black Watch
Fallujah operation site at
1l Camp Dogwood

Ramadi,

IRAQ

Karbala °Hillah

Najaf.

sakaka

SAUDI ARABIA

Coalition
Operating Base
(COB)at
Basca Airport, (T

Basra,

Basra
Shaibah ® Palace

Airfield
A al-zubayr

IRAQ
Medina
M AL-FAW
PENINSULA

KUWAIT






OEBPS/_images/title.jpg
SIMON AKAM
THE
CHANGING

OF THE
GUARD

THE BRITISH ARMY
SINCE 9/11

ssss





